
 
 

 
 
 
13 January 2023 
 
 
To: Councillors Brookes, Campbell, Farrell, Hobson, Hugo, Smith, Taylor and L Williams  

 
The above members are requested to attend the:  
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

Monday, 23 January 2023 at 6.00 pm 
in Committee Room A, Town Hall, Blackpool 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 
doing so state:  
 
(1) the type of interest concerned either a 
 

(a) personal interest 
(b) prejudicial interest  
(c) disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) 

 
and 
 
(2) the nature of the interest concerned 
 
If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
2  BLACKPOOL LOCAL PLAN PART 2: SITE ALLOCATIONS AND DEVELOPMENT 

MANAGEMENT POLICIES - ADOPTION  (Pages 1 - 256) 
 

 To consider and recommend to the Council for adoption the Blackpool Local Plan Part 
2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. 
 
(once approved by Council this document will form part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework). 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
3  COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2023/2024  (Pages 257 - 448) 

 
 To receive an update on the impact of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme since its 

introduction in 2013/14 and to recommend to Council the proposals for the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2023/24. 
 
(once approved by Council this document will form part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework). 

 
4  COMMUNITY FLOOD RESILIENCE POLICY 2023-2025  (Pages 449 - 498) 

 
 To seek approval for the adoption and implementation of Blackpool Council’s 

Community Flood Resilience Policy 2023-2025.  
 
(once approved this policy will form part of the Executive Policy Framework.) 

 
5  DEPARTMENT FOR EDUCATION SAFETY VALVE PROGRAMME  (Pages 499 - 508) 

 
 To seek support for the principles that will form the basis of the Safety Valve 

agreement between Blackpool Council and the Department for Education, and to gain 
approval for the Council to enter into such an agreement. 

 
6  SHARED PROSPERITY FUND  (Pages 509 - 542) 

 
 To provide an update on the Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) Investment Plan submitted 

by 1 August 2022 under the terms of delegation agreed by the Executive at its meeting 
on 16 May 2022(EX20/2022) and the subsequent approval received from the 
Government on 5 December 2022. 

 
 

Venue information: 
 
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 

For queries regarding this agenda please contact Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory 
Manager, Tel: (01253) 477157, e-mail lennox.beattie@blackpool.gov.uk 
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


 

Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Alan Cavill, Director of Communications and Regeneration,  

Relevant Cabinet Member: 

 

Councillor Lynn Williams, Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Tourism, Arts and Culture 

Date of Meeting: 23 January 2023 

 

BLACKPOOL LOCAL PLAN PART 2: SITE ALLOCATIONS AND DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT POLICIES - ADOPTION 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

The purpose of this report is to: 

 

a) to appraise members of the findings of the Inspector’s Report on the Blackpool Local Plan  

Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (LPP2) including the 

Inspector’s recommended Main Modifications to the LPP2 to make the document sound 

and an appropriate basis for the planning of the Borough (refer Appendix 2a); and 

  

b) to appraise members of the Additional (minor) Modifications to the Local Plan Part Two 

set out in Appendix 2b to this report; and 

 

c) to seek Executive to recommend to Full Council to adopt the Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: 

Site Allocations and Development Management Policies including the Modifications 

referred at a) and b) above.  A text version only of the Adoption version of the LPP2 is  

   presented at Appendix 2c(i) along with the amended Policies Map (Appendix 2c(ii));  

   and 

 
d)   to inform members of the next stages. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To recommend to Full Council: 

 

(i) to accept the Inspector’s findings and his recommendations including the Main 

Modifications as set out in Appendix 2a; accept the additional (minor) modifications 

to the Local Plan Part Two as set out in Appendix 2b and adopt the Blackpool Local 

Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies with the Main 

Modifications and additional (minor) modifications as set out in Appendix 2c(i) and 

the amended Policies Maps at Appendix 2c(ii); 

 

(ii) to authorise the Director of Communications and Regeneration to undertake the 

necessary steps for the adoption process to be completed and that delegated powers 

be given to Head of Planning Strategy to make any final modifications to improve 

readability; correct any factual matters or typographical errors; and the final 

presentation of the document. 

 
 

 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

To progress Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management 

Policies which forms part of the statutory planning framework, to adoption to support 

Blackpool’s future regeneration and growth. 

 
3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 

Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  The Local Plan has been produced in line with the planning regulations. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is both: 
 

 “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool” 

 “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience” 
 
 

Page 2



 
6.0  Background information 

 
6.1  The Council is now at the Adoption Stage in the plan making process following receipt of the 

Inspector’s report and his recommendations (Appendix 2a refers).  As members will be 

aware, the Local Plan Part Two is a key document and forms part of the statutory planning 

framework for Blackpool which will facilitate the physical, economic and social change which 

is seen by the Council and its partners as essential to Blackpool’s future.    

 

6.2  The Local Plan Part Two aligns with strategic policy set out in the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: 

Core Strategy (adopted January 2016) and allocates sites for development, including for 

housing employment, and mixed use including retail; and sites for protection; as well as 

setting out a suite of development management policies to guide appropriate development.  

The Local Plan Part Two covers the period to 2027 and will be used to determine planning 

applications.  It replaces in full the ‘saved policies’ in the 2006 Blackpool Local Plan. 

 

6.3  In developing the Local Plan Part Two there were a number of stages that we were required 

to go through, each stage providing an opportunity for the community and other 

stakeholders to be involved in choosing the right planning policies for Blackpool. 

 

6.4  Earlier stages of the Local Plan Part Two included a Regulation 18 Consultation on a Scoping 

Document during June/July 2017; informal consultation on proposed site allocations and 

draft development management policies early in 2019; and the Publication Version 

(Proposed Submission) Regulation 19  document consulted upon during February through to 

April 2021. 

 

6.5  As part of the Local Plan Part Two preparation a significant amount of evidence and 

supporting documents have been produced including:   

 

 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) which is a legal requirement under the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  The SA evaluates the likely social, economic and 

environmental effects of the policies and proposals in the plan.  The SA is produced 

throughout the preparation process and has informed policy at every stage of the 

preparation process. 

 

 Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) screening which is required by Law to protect 

European Sites of Biological Importance in the region. Again like the Sustainability 

Appraisal the Habitat Regulations Assessment screening process has informed policy in 

Page 3

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Blackpool-local-plan/Saved-policies.aspx
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Final-Consultation-Draft-15-May-17.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Final-Consultation-Draft-15-May-17.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Blackpool-Council-Part-2-SA-and-Policies-Paper-FINAL-CONSULTATION-VERSION.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Blackpool-Council-Part-2-SA-and-Policies-Paper-FINAL-CONSULTATION-VERSION.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Local-plan-2021/CONSULTATION-VERSION-Publication-merged-with-Appendices.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Local-plan-2021/CONSULTATION-VERSION-Publication-merged-with-Appendices.pdf


the Local Plan Part Two to ensure that there are no significant adverse effects likely to 

occur. 

 

 An updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) which identifies the infrastructure required 

to support the delivery of the Local Plan Part Two.  

 

 Background evidence documents which develop a detailed understanding of key issues 

to inform and justify policy in the plan. 

 

Supporting documents to the Local Part Two can be viewed on the Council website at the 

following link:  Blackpool Council planning | Local plan part 2 submission 

 

6.6  The Council formally submitted the Local Plan Part Two Publication Version (Proposed 

Submission) (Regulation 19) and supporting documentation for independent examination to 

the Secretary of State in June 2021.  In approving the Proposed Submission document back in 

February 2021, Full Council formally requested that the Inspector appointed to examine the 

plan  recommend any necessary modifications to the Plan to make the Plan satisfy the 

appropriate requirements and soundness pursuant to the section 20 (7CC) of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

6.7  Planning Inspector Luke Fleming was appointed to hold the Examination and the formal 

hearings took place between 6 and 10 December 2021. 

 

6.8  The hearings were structured around the ‘Matters and Issues’ (Documents EL1001a and 

EL001b refer) published by the Inspector following his scrutiny of the Plan prior to the 

Examination, as well as his consideration of relevant representations received from public 

and private sector organisations, the development industry, landowners and the local 

community. 

 

6.9  Arising from the discussions which were had at the Examination hearings, the Inspector 

requested further justification for removal of land from the Green Belt at the Blackpool 

Airport Enterprise Zone; an update to the Employment Land evidence base and the 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 4

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Blackpool-local-plan/New-Blackpool-local-plan/Local-plan-part-2-submission.aspx
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Blackpool-SADMP-Preliminary-Matters-150721.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Preliminary-Letter-addendum-220721.pdf


 

6.10  The Inspector also suggested some wording amendments to various policies and some 

supporting text to provide further clarification and explanation.  The wording amendments 

formed the proposed main modifications to the Plan and were subject to Sustainability 

Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment screening followed by further public 

consultation along with the aforementioned documents for a period of 6 weeks from 27 July 

to 7 September 2022. 

 

6.11  Following the consultation on the Main Modifications the Inspector considered the 

representations to the Main Modifications in the context of all representations and evidence 

heard at the Examination hearings before producing a draft report for fact checking by the 

Council.  Having responded to the fact checking report, the Council received the final report 

on the examination into the Local Plan Part Two on 4 November 2022.  The report was 

published on 11 November 2022 in accordance with the regulations.  

 

6.12  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Inspector’s Findings and Recommendations 

The findings and recommendations of the Inspector are set out in detail in Appendix 2a to 

this report including a number of Main Modifications.   

The report contains the Inspector’s assessment of the Local Plan Part Two in terms of Section 

20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).  The Inspector states 

that his report deals with main issues. It does not respond to every point or issue raised by 

representors,  nor does it refer to every policy, policy criterion or allocation in the Local Plan 

Part Two. 

In the Assessment of the Duty to Cooperate (Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act section 33A) 

the Inspector considers that where necessary, the Council has engaged constructively, 

actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation of the Plan with Fylde and Wyre Borough 

Councils, Lancashire County Council (LCC) and all prescribed bodies and that the duty to co-

operate has therefore been met. 

In the Assessment of Other Aspects of Legal Compliance the Inspector recommends that in 

the interests of effectiveness and legal compliance main modifications MM01, MM02 and 

MM44 are needed which add an appendix to the plan to list the replaced 2006 ‘saved 

policies’; include additional text to the introduction clarifying the Local Plan Part Two does 

not include any strategic policies; and reference to the Climate Change Emergency Action 

Plan. 

 

Page 5



 

6.13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

In the Assessment of Soundness1 in summary the Inspector report states the following: 

 Housing - overall the distribution of housing proposed in the Site Allocation and 

Development Management Plan accords with the Core Strategy.  However main 

modification MM03 is necessary to update the site allocations table in Policy HSA1 to 

reflect the most up to date evidence on site capacity and supply.  The Inspector is also 

satisfied that subject to some site-specific modifications set out in MM35 to MM43 

(pages 17 to 18 of the Inspector’s report), the housing allocations are soundly based, 

capable of being developed and provide a sufficient supply of homes. 

 Employment Development, the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone and the Green Belt - 

having considered the evidence, the Inspector considers exceptional circumstances exist 

to justify altering the Green Belt boundary to facilitate the proposed employment, 

housing and infrastructure development in the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (EZ).  

However main modifications are necessary to Policies DM72 and DM83 and their 

associated justification with MM10 and MM11 explaining why it is essential to remove 

land from the Green Belt to facilitate economic development; and to clarify how much 

land has been removed from the green belt.  In addition MM11 also clarifies the 

relationship with the Enterprise Zone Masterplan; specifies the dependence on critical 

infrastructure; and specifies green belt compensatory improvements.  With the 

modifications the allocation is considered effective and consistent with national policy.  

Overall the Inspector considers that the Site Allocation and Development Management 

Plan provides a sufficient supply of employment land to achieve the objectives of the 

Core Strategy and the Enterprise Zone. 

 Other green belt proposals – Policy SLA1: Land Safeguarded for Future Development 

Needs seeks to remove land from the Green Belt at Faraday along with other proposed 

changes to the green belt boundary to address some anomalies (paragraph 2.23 of the 

SADMP). However the Inspector considers that exceptional circumstances do not exist to 

justify these changes. Therefore Policy SLA1 and the justification text is not justified or 

consistent with national policy. MM05 is therefore necessary to delete Policy SLA1 and 

paragraphs 2.20 to 2.24 as they are not sound.  

 

                                            
1 In order to be sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with   
   national policy. 
2 DM7 – Provision of Employment Land and Existing Employment Sites 
3 DM8 – Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone 

Page 6



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Retail -  the mixed-use allocation in Blackpool Town Centre (the former Syndicate Site)  

for new retail development, a car park and other uses appropriate for the Town Centre 

location, is justified. 

 Allotments - Policy ASA1 allocates land for an allotment north of the Golf Driving Range 

accessed from Fleetwood Road to address a deficiency identified in the Open Space 

Assessment evidence base.  However MM04 is necessary in the interests of effectiveness 

to ensure the policy makes reference to the geographical application on the policies map. 

  Gypsy, Travellers and Travelling Show People - the Inspector concurs that the need 

identified in the 2016 study for such sites have been met through planning permissions 

and there is no need to allocate a site in the Local Plan Part Two. 

With respect to the Development Management Policies the Inspector considers that  subject 

to the recommended modifications, (Appendix 2a refers) the Local Plan Part Two sets out 

positively prepared development management policies which are consistent with the Core 

Strategy, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  The modifications 

recommended by the Inspector can be summarised as follows: 

- DM1: Design Requirements for new Build Housing Development – MM06 clarifies that 

the requirement for 20% of new build houses to meet nationally described standards 

(NDSS) should only be applied to sites of 5 dwellings and above and subject to site specific 

viability; 

- DM3: Supported Accommodation and Housing for Older People – MM07 is needed for 

effectiveness to clarify with respect to property within a block; the determination of 

accessibility and how 400m is defined; 

- DM4: Student Accommodation – MM08 clarifies what is meant by a public transport 

route; how 800 metres would be measured; how a sequential assessment would be 

undertaken; and to ensure developments provide internal spaces which through their 

layout and size lead to acceptable living conditions; 

- DM5: Residential Conversions and Sub-divisions – MM09 requires proposals to provide 

internal spaces which through their layout and size would lead to acceptable living 

conditions; and to have ‘regard to’ Nationally Described Space Standards and the 

Council’s adopted floorspace and amenity standards; 

Page 7



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- DM9: Blackpool Zoo – MM12 requires the supporting text to recognise the adjacent 

Stanley Park is a Registered Park and Garden; 

- DM10: Promenade and Seafront – MM13 is necessary for effectiveness and includes 

clarification as to the definition of a landmark feature and to ensure wording is consistent 

with NPPF; 

- DM13: Betting Shops, Adult Gaming Centres and Pawnbrokers in the Town Centre – 

MM14 clarifies that 400m will be measured as the crow flies; 

- DM16: Hot Food Takeaways – This policy seeks to promote healthier communities by 

restricting new hot food takeaways in or within 400 metres of wards where there are 

more than 15% of year 6 pupils or 10% of reception age pupils which are classified as 

obese by Public Health England.  Policy DM16 is considered to be justified by the unique 

challenges facing Blackpool subject to MM15 and MM45 which provide a clear 

monitoring approach and clarify how 400 metres will be measured; 

- DM17: Design Principles and DM18: High Speed Broadband – MM16 is needed to ensure 

DM17 has regard to heritage assets and their setting and is consistent with NPPF; and 

MM17 clarifies the reference to commercial development in DM18; 

-  DM19: Strategic Views – MM18 is needed to clarify in policy and supporting text what is 

a strategic view; to remove reference to other features; and remove repetition which is 

considered to be dealt with by other policy; 

- DM21: Landscaping – MM19 removes the reference in policy to the Greening Blackpool 

Supplementary Planning Document as the document does not form part of the 

development plan; 

- DM22: Shopfronts and DM23: Security Shutters – MM20 and MM21 are recommended 

to fully recognise the advertisement consent regime in both these policies and their 

justifications; and to clarify what is meant by principal signage in part 1 d of Policy DM22; 

- Policy DM25: Public Art – MM22 recommends the addition of a viability and feasibility 

clause to the policy to provide flexibility to ensure that the delivery of development is not 

prejudiced; 

- DM27: Conservation Areas, DM29: Stanley Park and DM30: Archaeology – MM23 to 

MM25 are needed to ensure consistency with national policy and legislation regarding 

heritage assets; 

Page 8



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- DM31: Surface Water Management – MM26 ensures the maximum surface water run-

off rates which are development requirements are set out in the policy as opposed to the 

supporting text; 

- DM32: Wind Energy – MM27 is needed for effectiveness to ensure criteria d and g 

require mitigation if any harmful impacts are identified following assessment; 

- DM33: Coast and Foreshore - MM28 is needed for legal compliance and effectiveness to 

reference the geographic application and the relationship with the Marine Plan; 

- DM35: Biodiversity – MM29 makes reference to the best and most versatile agricultural 

land and biodiversity net gain to ensure consistency with national policy and legislation 

and for effectiveness; 

- DM36: Controlling Pollution and Contamination – MM30 and MM47 address 

effectiveness making reference to biodiversity impacts off site; and clarifying that impacts 

must not be to unacceptable levels after mitigation;  

- DM37: Community Facilities  - MM31 adds detail to the justification explaining the type 

and detail of evidence required to demonstrate there is no longer a need for the facility 

and is necessary for Policy DM37 to be effective; 

- DM41: Transport Requirements for new Development – MM33 introduces flexibility on a 

case-by-case basis so as to ensure the policy does not prejudice the delivery of 

development in the interests of effectiveness; and  

- DM42: Aerodrome Safeguarding – MM34 to ensure that account is taken of 

consultations with the Ministry of Defence; and that there should be no adverse impact 

on safety or interference with communication systems. 

 

 

Other Matters 

With respect to infrastructure, the Inspector considers that overall, the Council’s approach 

makes sufficient provision for infrastructure and is justified, effective and consistent with 

national policy, particularly paragraph 20(b) and (c) of the National Planning Policy 

Framework 

Page 9



With respect to monitoring, subject to MM45 which adds additional indicators necessary to 

monitor the effectiveness of Policy DM16, the Inspector considers the Council’s monitoring 

framework for the plan to be effective. 

With respect to viability, the Inspector considers that the Council’s viability assessment 

robustly demonstrates, based on reasonable and available information, that the cumulative 

impact of the policies in the Site Allocations and Development Management will not 

compromise development viability.  Subject to flexibility on site-specific requirements where 

necessary and the Council being proactive in seeking public sector funds, the Inspector is 

satisfied the development sites proposed in the Local Plan Part Two could be viably 

developed over the plan period. 

 

 Additional (minor) Modifications 

In addition, a list of additional (minor) modifications to the plan considered necessary, have 

also been prepared.  These additional (minor) modifications are set out in Appendix 2b to this 

report.  These modifications were not required to be formally considered by the Inspector 

and relate to typographical errors, accuracy and to reflect current position and clarity. 

 

Appendix 2c(i) to this report provides a text only draft of the adoption version of the Local 

Plan Part Two incorporating the Inspector’s modifications along with the minor (additional) 

modifications.  The introduction to the document has also been redrafted to reflect the 

adoption stage of the document.  Following adoption by Full Council the final formatting and 

presentation of the document will be completed. 

 

6.14 Next Stages 

As required by legislation, once the Local Plan Part Two is adopted it needs to be made 

available as soon as reasonably practical by publishing on the Council’s website and a printed 

copy needs to be made available for inspection. 

 

6.15 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 
 

No 
 

7.0 
 

List of Appendices: 
 

7.1 Appendix 2a     – Inspector’s Report to Blackpool Council including Main Modifications 
in the  Appendix to the Report 

Page 10



                               
Appendix 2b      – Additional (Minor)Modifications 
 
 
 
Appendix 2c(i)  –  Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 
Management  Policies  Adoption version including Main Modifications and Additional 
(Minor)   Modifications (text version) 
Appendix 2c(ii) – Policies Maps (including Modifications) 
                       

8.0 
 
8.1 

Financial considerations: 
 
The work is being undertaken within existing budgetary provisions. 
 

9.0 
 
9.1  

Legal considerations: 
 
The Local Plan Part Two when adopted by the Council will be a key spatial document forming 
part of the Council’s statutory Local Plan.  The Local Plan Part Two satisfies the requirements 
of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets the criteria for soundness in the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 The Local Plan Part Two is a key document which forms part of the statutory planning 
framework to enable and assist the delivery of Blackpool’s future development requirements.  
Without its progress acquisition, land assembly and planning approval for key regeneration 
and development projects will be undermined and delayed.  It is an imperative to progress 
the Local Plan Part Two through to adoption as soon as possible to ensure the Council has a 
planning framework that is directing development within the borough which reflects the 
community and elected members priorities and needs and to avoid national policy being the 
principle basis for making decisions.  The latter could lead to an increase in appeals if 
applications are received proposing development which is not in line with the priorities and 
needs of Blackpool 
 

11.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1 An Equality Analysis was undertaken for Local Plan Part Two to ensure the document takes 

account of all relevant and appropriate equality considerations. 

 
12.0 Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 

 

12.1 It is a requirement of the plan making process as set out in National Planning Policy 
Framework that planning measures are included to address climate change mitigation and 

Page 11

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Local-plan-2021/Final-Equality-Impact-Assessment-January-2021-Accessible.pdf


adaptation. The Local Plan Part Two will assist in implementing the Blackpool Council Climate 
Change Strategy and Action Plan. 
 
 
 

13.0 Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1 Extensive consultation has taken place during the preparation of the Local Plan Part Two as 

required by the Planning Regulations and in line with the Statement of Community 

Involvement.  The outcome of the consultations has informed subsequent iterations of Local 

Plan Part Two. 

 
14.0 Background papers: 

 

14.1 The Examination Library and various submitted documents can be accessed on the Blackpool 

Council Website under the following links: 

 

Evidence base (blackpool.gov.uk) 

 

Blackpool Council planning | Local plan part 2 submission 

 
 
15.0 Key decision information: 

 
15.1 Is this a key decision? 

 
Yes 

15.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

2/2023 

15.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.31 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0 Call-in information: 

 
16.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2 If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 12

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Local-plan-2021/Final-SCI-Adpoted-September-2020-Accessible.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Local-plan-2021/Final-SCI-Adpoted-September-2020-Accessible.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Blackpool-local-plan/Evidence-base.aspx
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Blackpool-local-plan/New-Blackpool-local-plan/Local-plan-part-2-submission.aspx


 
 

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 13 January 2023 Date approved: 
 

      

18.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.0       
 

19.0 
 
19.1 
 

Summary of Discussion:  
 

20.0 Executive decision: 
 

20.1       
 

21.0 Date of Decision:    
 

6.13        
 

22.0 Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1       
 

23.0 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1       
 

24.0 
 
24.1 
 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 

25.0 Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1       
 

26.0 Call-in:   
 

26.1 
 

      
 

Page 13



 
 
27.0 Notes:   

 
27.1        

 
 

Page 14



Report to Blackpool Council 

by Luke Fleming B.Sc. (Hons) MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Date: 4 November 2022 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

Section 20 

Report on the Examination of the 
Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site 

Allocations and Development 

Management Policies 

The Plan was submitted for examination on 18 June 2021 

The examination hearings were held between 6 and 10 December 2021 

File Ref: PINS/J2373/429/7

Appendix 2(a)

Page 15



Contents 

 

Abbreviations used in this report ........................................................ 3 

Non-Technical Summary .................................................................... 4 

Introduction ..................................................................................... 5 

Main Modifications ............................................................................ 5 

Policies Map ..................................................................................... 5 

Context of the Plan ........................................................................... 6 

Public Sector Equality Duty ................................................................ 7 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate ...................................................... 7 

Assessment of Other Aspects of Legal Compliance ................................ 7 

Assessment of Soundness .................................................................. 9 

Main Issues ..................................................................................... 9 

Issue 1 - Is the overall approach to housing, economic growth, the  

Green Belt, Retail, Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation and Allotments  

in the SADMP consistent with the CS and national policy? ...................... 9 

Issue 2 - Are the sites allocated for employment and housing justified  

and deliverable and do they provide a sufficient supply? ...................... 14 

Issue 3 - Are the SADMP’s development management policies justified, 

effective and consistent with national policies .................................... 18 

Issue 4 - Is the SADMP based on a robust assessment of required 

supporting infrastructure, does it set out effective mechanisms for 

monitoring and implementation and is it viable? ................................. 27 

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation ........................................... 28 

 

  

Page 16



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

3 

 

Abbreviations used in this report 

 
BAEZ Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone  
CS  Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2012-

2027) 
HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 

LCC Lancashire County Council 
MM  Main Modification 

NDSS National Described Space Standard   
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

PPG Planning Practice Guidance 
SA  Sustainability Appraisal 

SADMP Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies (Proposed 

Submission) Regulation 19 January 2021  

 
  

Page 17



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

4 

 

Non-Technical Summary 

This report concludes that the Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations 

and Development Management Policies (Proposed Submission) Regulation 

19 January 2021 (SADMP) provides an appropriate basis for the planning 

of Blackpool, provided that a number of main modifications (MMs) are 

made to it.  Blackpool Council has specifically requested that I 

recommend any MMs necessary to enable the Plan to be adopted. 

Following the hearings, the Council prepared schedules of the proposed 

modifications and carried out sustainability appraisal (SA) and habitats 

regulations assessment (HRA) of them. The MMs were subject to public 

consultation over a six-week period.  I have recommended their inclusion 

in the Plan after considering the SA, HRA and all the representations 

made in response to consultation on them. 

The MMs can be summarised as follows: 
 

 Deleting land safeguarded for future development needs in the 

Green Belt, deleting other minor Green Belt boundary alterations 
and reducing the amount of land released from the Green Belt for 

development at the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (BAEZ).  
 Rewording policies to ensure they are positively prepared, effective 

and consistent with the Council’s Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); and  

 A number of other modifications to ensure that the Plan is positively 
prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 

  

Page 18



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

5 

 

Introduction 

1. This report contains my assessment of the SADMP in terms of 

Section 20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

(as amended).  It considers first whether SADMP’s preparation has 

complied with the duty to co-operate.  It then considers whether the 

SADMP is compliant with the legal requirements and whether it is 

sound.  Paragraph 35 of the NPPF makes it clear that in order to be 

sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective 

and consistent with national policy.  

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the 

local planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a 

sound and legally compliant plan.  The SADMP, submitted in June 

2021 is the basis for my examination.  It is the same document as 

was published for consultation in February 2021.   

Main Modifications 

3. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council 

requested (EL1.002a) that I should recommend any MMs necessary 

to rectify matters that make the SADMP unsound and /or not legally 

compliant and thus incapable of being adopted.  My report explains 

why the recommended MMs are necessary.  The MMs are referenced 

in bold in the report in the form MM01, MM02 etc, and are set out 

in full in the Appendix. 

4. Following the examination hearing, the Council prepared a schedule 

of proposed MMs and carried out SA and HRA of them (EL5.002 to 

EL5.006).  The MM schedule was subject to public consultation for 

six weeks.  I have taken account of the consultation responses in 

coming to my conclusions in this report.  

Policies Map 

5. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates 

geographically the application of the policies in the adopted 

development plan.  When submitting a local plan for examination, 

the Council is required to provide a submission policies map 

showing the changes to the adopted policies map that would result 

from the proposals in the submitted local plan.  In this case, the 

submission policies map comprises the plans identified as Blackpool 

Local Plan 2012-2027 Publication Policies Map Blackpool Borough 

Page 19



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

6 

 

(SD002) and Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 Publication Policies 

Map Blackpool Town Centre (SD003). 

6. The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan 

document and so I do not have the power to recommend MMs to it.  

However, a number of the published MMs to the Plan’s policies 

require further corresponding changes to be made to the policies 

map.  In addition, there are some instances where the geographic 

illustration of policies on the submission policies map is not justified 

and changes to the policies map are needed to ensure that the 

relevant policies are effective.   

7. These further changes to the policies map were published for 

consultation alongside the MMs (EL5.004).  When the SADMP is 

adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give effect to 

the SADMP’s policies, the Council will need to update the adopted 

policies map to include all the changes proposed in that document.   

Context of the Plan 

8. The SADMP is a Part 2 Plan, its purpose is to meet the aims of the 

strategic Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2012-2027) 

(CS) and deliver the development identified within it.  The CS sets 

out the level and distribution of development in the borough.  As 

this is a Part 2 Plan, I am not required to re-examine the strategic 

issues addressed by and found sound in the CS.  The SADMP 

supersedes all of the saved policies of the Blackpool Local Plan 

(2006) and will be used to assess development proposals in the 

borough.   

9. Located on the northwest coast, the Plan area comprises the 

Blackpool resort, Promenade and Town Centre with adjoining urban 

areas and with relatively small areas of countryside and Green Belt 

on the inland edges of the borough.   

10. Blackpool has good road, rail and air connections with Blackpool 

Airport located on the southern borough boundary with Fylde.  

Rapid growth after the arrival of the railway, led to a rich variety of 

Victorian architecture including the Blackpool Tower, Blackpool 

Piers’ and areas of terraced housing.  However, decline in tourism in 

more recent years has led to significant economic challenges and 

high levels of deprivation in parts of the borough triggering the 

need for a number of policy interventions.   

Page 20



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

7 

 

11. The BAEZ, designated just after the CS was published under 

regulation 19 is one such intervention.  It represents a significant 

opportunity to enhance the economic prospects of the borough and 

the wider Fylde Coast.          

Public Sector Equality Duty 

12. I have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the 

Equality Act 2010. This has included my consideration of several 

matters during the examination including amongst other things the 

approach to gypsies and travellers and accessible and adaptable 

housing. 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate 

13. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether 

the Council has complied with any duty imposed on it by section 

33A in respect of the SADMP’s preparation.  The SADMP seeks to 

implement the spatial vision, goals and key objectives of the CS.  As 

such, the strategic matters have already been appropriately 

considered within the CS (where the duty to cooperate was found to 

be met). 

14. The SADMP has been prepared through constructive, active and 

ongoing engagement with Fylde and Wyre Borough Councils, 

Lancashire County Council (LCC) and all prescribed bodies.  The 

Council’s Duty to Cooperate Statement of Common Ground (DC001) 

includes an agreed Memorandum of Understanding which has 

guided on going cooperation on agreed strategic priorities which 

have informed the SADMP.   

15. I am satisfied that where necessary the Council has engaged 

constructively, actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation 

of the Plan and that the duty to co-operate has therefore been met. 

Assessment of Other Aspects of Legal Compliance 

16. The SADMP has been prepared broadly in accordance with the 

Council’s Local Development Scheme (SD013).  This was updated 

(EL4.005) after the examination hearing to provide a more accurate 

timetable for the adoption of the SADMP and the review of the 

Council’s Development Plan, particularly its strategic policies.  

Page 21



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

8 

 

17. Consultation on the SADMP and the MMs was carried out in 

compliance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement 

(SD012).  This was updated to reflect challenges and new 

regulations associated with Covid-19.   

18. The Council carried out a SA of the SADMP, prepared a report of the 

findings of the appraisal, and published the report along with the 

SADMP and other submission documents under regulation 19 

(SD005 and SD005a).  An addendum to the SA was produced to 

assess the MMs (EL5.005). 

19. The Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment Screening Report 

May 2021 (SD006) has considered the implications of the SADMP’s 

policies and allocations on European sites in the vicinity of the 

borough.  It sets out why an Appropriate Assessment is not 

necessary concluding that none of the policies or associated 

allocation sites would have a likely significant effect on any of the 

relevant European sites alone, or in combination.  Natural England 

are satisfied with this position.  

20. The Development Plan, taken as a whole, includes policies to 

address the strategic priorities for the development and use of land 

in the borough.  It also includes policies designed to secure that the 

development and use of land in the borough contributes to the 

mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change.  

21. CS goal one seeks to achieve sustainable regeneration, 

diversification and growth.  This is supported by key objective six 

which seeks to address climate change issues by managing flood 

risk, protecting water quality, reducing energy use and encouraging 

renewable energy sources.  Specific CS Policies which seek to 

respond to climate change include CS5, CS6, CS9, CS10, CS13.  

Relevant SADMP Policies include DM1, DM8, DM17, DM21, DM31, 

DM32, DM33, DM35 and DM41.   

22. However, in the interests of effectiveness and legal compliance main 

modifications (MM01, MM02 & MM44) are needed to add an 

appendix to show how the saved policies will be replaced and 

include additional text to the introduction which makes clear the 

SADMP does not include any strategic policies and also make 

reference to the Climate Change Emergency Action Plan.  The 

SADMP complies with all other relevant legal requirements, 

including in the 2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 Regulations. 

Page 22



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

9 

 

Assessment of Soundness 

 

Main Issues 

23. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and 

the discussions that took place at the examination hearing, I have 

identified four main issues upon which the soundness of this Plan 

depends.  This report deals with these main issues.  It does not 

respond to every point or issue raised by representors.  Nor does it 

refer to every policy, policy criterion or allocation in the SADMP. 

Issue 1 – Is the overall approach to housing, economic 

growth, the Green Belt, Retail, Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation and Allotments in the SADMP consistent 

with the CS and national policy? 

 

Changes in circumstances since the adoption of the CS (the BAEZ) 

 

24. The BAEZ is located in South Blackpool and centred around 
Blackpool Airport.  It became operational in 2016 after the CS was 

published under regulation 19.  As such its implications and 
opportunities are not fully reflected in the CS.     

 
25. However, the BAEZ Topic Paper (EL4.002a) notes it is one of the 

largest enterprise zones in the UK.  With business incentives such 
as rate relief and enhanced Capital Allowance, it provides a major 

opportunity to encourage existing business expansion and attract 
new businesses to the area.    

 

26. The BAEZ aims to be the premier business location in the northwest 
as part of the Lancashire Advanced Manufacturing and Energy 

cluster as noted in the Northern Powerhouse Industrial Strategy.  It 
is expected local business growth at the BAEZ will deliver much 

needed local long-term sustainable employment opportunities 
positively transforming the overall economic prospects of Blackpool 

and the Fylde Coast.   
 

27. If this is to be achieved, accessible high-quality buildings with large 
footprints are needed (EL4.002a).  However, suitable serviced 

developable land for such buildings is not currently available in the 
borough or the BAEZ.  The evidence (EL4.002a, EL4.002b, 

EL4.002c, EL4.002d and EL4.003) also shows that significant access 
and highway infrastructure improvements are needed to relieve 

congestion and improve overall accessibility in and around the BAEZ 

Page 23



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

10 

 

to enhance its attractiveness to enterprise.   
 

28. The Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (EL4.003) and EL4.002a 
shows that accessibility issues could be overcome by a number of 

local highway upgrades.  However, the most substantial of these is 
the provision of a new link road connecting Amy Johnson Way with 

Common Edge Road.  This would create a new BAEZ Eastern 
Gateway which would improve connectivity to the strategic road 

network.   
 

29. Highway infrastructure investment and the associated provision of 
new suitably sized accessible serviced employment land in a timely 

manner are both integral to achieving the aims and objectives of 

the BAEZ and boosting the Blackpool economy.    
       

CS, National Policy and the SADMP’s Approach 
 

Spatial Strategy 

 

30. Policy CS1 of the CS makes clear that development will be focussed 
on inner area regeneration with supporting growth at South 

Blackpool.  The justification text of Policy CS1 of the CS, states that 
the town centre must be a focus for future economic growth, 

development and investment in order to successfully position it as 
the first-choice shopping destination for Fylde Coast residents and 

an attractive place to visit and do business.   
 

31. CS Policy CS3 identifies land in South Blackpool as a strategic 

priority and opportunity.  Policy CS24 of the CS promotes 
employment development in South Blackpool focussed on 

development at the Blackpool Airport Corridor which is now part of 
the BAEZ.  It identifies the opportunity for the redevelopment of 

existing employment sites within South Blackpool to provide high 
quality modern business / industrial facilities and proposals for 

major new business / industrial development to support sub-
regional economic growth.    

 

Housing 

 
32. Between 2012 and 2027, CS Policy CS2 requires the provision of 

4,200 new homes on sites in the urban areas and within the South 
Blackpool Growth Area.   

 
33. Policy HSA1 of the SADMP allocates a range of sites to deliver 1,419 

dwellings up to 2027.  Nine of the Council’s housing allocations are 
located in the inner areas, with three allocations in South Blackpool.  

Page 24



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

11 

 

These are added to by other sites in the urban area which became 
available since the CS was adopted, such as surplus public open 

space and commercial and educational sites which are no longer 
needed for those purposes.  Overall, the distribution of housing 

proposed in the SADMP accords with the CS spatial strategy.   
 

34. However, a number of the sites allocated and listed in Policy HSA1 
have now either been completed or have had permission granted for 

a different capacity.  Thus, MM03 is necessary to amend the table 
in Policy HSA1 and the justification for effectiveness, to remove 

sites which have been completed and to reflect the most up to date 
evidence on site capacity and supply generally as detailed in the 

Council’s latest Housing Topic Paper (EL4.006).   

 

Employment Development, the BAEZ and the Green Belt 

 

35. CS Policy CS3 seeks to strengthen the local economy by 
safeguarding around 180 hectares of land in Blackpool for 

employment use.  Informed by the Employment Land Study (2013) 

31.5 hectares of employment land was found to be needed for 
development up to 2027.  This was based upon a take up of 1.75 

hectares per annum (including a 20% flexibility allowance).  
However, the same evidence found the realistic supply in Blackpool 

was only around 17.8 hectares.  This left a shortfall of around 13.7 
hectares which was met in neighbouring Fylde.  

 
36. Policy CS6 of the CS makes clear that national policy will be used to 

protect the Green Belt and states that there will be no planned 
strategic review of the existing Green Belt boundary during the plan 

period.  However, as set out above, the BAEZ was not operational at 
the time the CS was published and the BAEZ boundary adjoins and 

overlaps the Green Belt to the south of Blackpool.   
 

37. Policy DM7 of the SADMP identifies the sites which would meet the 

need for employment land set out in the CS.  Those sites provide for 
around 21 hectares of available land and are located in accordance 

with the spatial strategy.  However, the sites include an allocation of 
9 hectares of employment land in the BAEZ, in addition to that 

planned for in the CS and that provided for in Fylde.   
 

38. This proposed employment land allocation of 9 hectares is dealt with 
in detail in Policy DM8.  It is directly linked to an adjacent housing 

allocation of some 1.4 hectares (HSA1.13).  Both form part of a 
wider 14 hectare parcel of the land which is within the BAEZ which 

is proposed to be removed from the Green Belt to facilitate its 
development as part of the overall delivery objectives for the BAEZ.   

 

Page 25



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

12 

 

39. Paragraph 140 of the NPPF states Green Belt boundaries should only 
be altered where exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and 

justified, through the preparation or updating of Plans.   
 

40. The additional 9 hectare of employment land would compensate for 
the losses of employment land to other uses in Blackpool over the 

plan period. It would also provide land for serviced plots in a 
desirable location and of a size not available anywhere else in the 

borough or the BAEZ having the potential to increase annual 
employment land take up for the remainder of the plan period 

(EL4.002a).   
 

41. Furthermore, the specific parcel of land is essential to facilitate the 

creation of the link road connecting the BAEZ to Common Edge 
Road and the creation of the new Eastern Gateway.  The proposed 

1.4 hectare housing allocation is necessary to support the viability 
of the required infrastructure investment.        

 
42. Therefore, without this specific proposed release from the Green 

Belt of land at the BAEZ for employment, housing and associated 
infrastructure, the ability to achieve the overall aims and objectives 

of the BAEZ would be significantly compromised.  This would have 
significant negative economic consequences for Blackpool, one of 

the country’s most deprived boroughs and the wider Fylde Coast.  

43. Therefore, in the absence of reasonable alternatives, and given the 

benefits associated with local housing and economic growth at this 

particular location, it is concluded that exceptional circumstances 

exist in principle to justify the release of land from the Green Belt at 

the BAEZ.  I go on to consider environmental capacity and site-

specific exceptional circumstances under issue 2 below.   

44. However, part of the land proposed for release from the Green Belt 

at the BAEZ would not deliver housing, employment or highway 

infrastructure and instead would accommodate sports facilities, 

which already have the benefit of planning permission and are 

under construction (discussed in detail under issue 2).  There are no 

exceptional circumstances for this land to be removed from the 

Green Belt, instead this should remain part of the Green Belt and 

form the new permanent Green Belt edge of the settlement.     

45. Therefore, overall, I am satisfied, having considered the evidence, 

exceptional circumstances exist to justify altering the Green Belt 

boundary to facilitate the proposed employment, housing and 

infrastructure development in the BAEZ although it’s necessity 

should be more explicitly explained in the SADMP.  However, the 

Page 26



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

13 

 

same exceptional circumstances do not exist with regard to the land 

proposed to be used for recreational purposes at the BAEZ.     

46. MMs are therefore necessary to Policies DM7 and DM8 and their 

associated justifications to explain why it is essential to remove land 

from the Green Belt to facilitate the delivery of economic 

development at the BAEZ and reduce the amount of land to be 

removed from the Green Belt at this location from around 14 

hectares to approximately 10 hectares.  MM10 and MM11 would 

address these issues and are necessary in the interests of ensuring 

consistency with national policy, appropriate justification and 

effectiveness.    

47. The adjusted Green Belt boundary at the BAEZ as reflected in the 

EL5.004 will need to be detailed on the Council’s policies map.  

Furthermore, in the interests of clarity and effectiveness, the extent 

of the Green Belt release and its relationship with the BAEZ should 

also be detailed on a map appended to the SADMP (MM46). 

Other Green Belt Proposals 

48. Policy SLA1 seeks to remove land from the Green Belt for it to be 

safeguarded for development beyond the plan period.  However, 

neither the SADMP nor the evidence in the Council’s Local Green 

Belt Review Assessment (EB021) demonstrates what it would be 

safeguarded for.  The exceptional circumstances identified above 

are specifically related to the BAEZ.  EB021 is not a comprehensive 

strategic review of the borough’s Green Belt and contains no 

justification for why this location has been selected when considered 

against other areas of the borough’s Green Belt.  Thus, the selection 

of this location for removal from the Green Belt is not justified 

without fully considering other alternatives and how they compare 

in terms of the Green Belt purposes.  The same applies to the 

proposed Green Belt boundary changes referred to as “several 

minor anomalies” in paragraph 2.23 of the SADMP.  Exceptional 

circumstances also do not exist to justify these changes.    

49. Therefore, Policy SLA1 and the justification text is not justified or 

consistent with national policy.  MM05 is therefore necessary to 

delete Policy SLA1 and paragraphs 2.20 to 2.24 as they are not 

sound.  The Council will need to reflect these changes on its policies 

map.   

Page 27



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

14 

 

Retail 

50. The SADMP allocates a mixed-use site in Blackpool Town Centre for 

new retail development, a car park and other uses appropriate for 

the Town Centre location, following the recommendations in the 

Council’s retail study (EB017), and subject to an impact assessment 

(EB015) which found no harmful impact on Blackpool Town Centre 

overall.  This allocation is justified.   

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation  

 

51. The Fylde Coast Authorities agree that the need identified in the 
Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Assessment Update (2016) (EB008) has been met by granting 
planning permissions and there is therefore no need to identify a 

site for such purposes in the SADMP.  I concur.  
 

Allotments 

52. The Council’s Open Space Assessment (EB022) identifies a 

deficiency in allotment provision to the north of the borough.  Policy 

ASA1 addresses this by allocating land for this purpose and in that 

location.  However, MM04 is necessary in the interests of 

effectiveness to ensure the policy makes reference to the 

geographical application on the policies map.   

Conclusion 

53. In summary, it is concluded that subject to the above MMs the 

overall approach to housing, economic growth, the Green Belt, 

retail, gypsy and traveller accommodation and allotments in the 

SADMP is consistent with the CS and national policy. 

Issue 2 - Are the sites allocated for employment and 

housing justified and deliverable and do they provide a 

sufficient supply? 

54. The SADMP includes one employment allocation (Policies DM7 and 

DM8).  For the reasons discussed at length above the allocation of 

this site is justified.   

55. Policy HSA1 allocates 29 sites for housing development.  Of those, 

at the time of the regulation 19 consultation 14 were without 

planning permission.  Site proformas to guide the development of 

Page 28



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

15 

 

such sites are included in Schedule 1 of the SADMP.  The Council 

has carried out an assessment of potential housing site options 

based on its Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

(EB004) which is explained in the Housing Topic Paper (EB003) and 

is reasonable and proportionate.  Robust reasons for selecting the 

allocated housing sites and rejecting others are set out in section 4 

of EB003. 

56. The site assessment process has been informed by relevant 

technical evidence, SA and the need to locate development in 

accordance with the spatial strategy.  I consider that the site 

selection process is robust and has led to an appropriate selection of 

allocations.  All of the site allocations in the SADMP have 

landowners and or developers who are engaged with the Council to 

bring them forward for development.    

57. Having considered all the evidence and representations, I am 

satisfied that the site allocations within the SADMP are soundly 

based and capable of being developed, subject to some site-specific 

modifications.  These are necessary to ensure that the Policies 

adequately reflect the evidence, would be effective and accord with 

national policy.  On this basis it is not necessary for me to refer to 

every site, only those that require modifying, which I deal with 

below.  

58. Policy DM8 – BAEZ –This policy seeks to support and guide the 

delivery of development in the BAEZ over the plan period.  

However, the BAEZ also includes land in Fylde and it is not clear 

from the policy or its justification that Policy DM8 relates only to 

land within the BAEZ which is within Blackpool.   

59. The delivery of the BAEZ is guided by a detailed masterplan and 

relies on a number of items of critical infrastructure improvements 

for it be delivered.  However, the relationship of the Local Plan with 

the masterplan for the BAEZ and the dependence on critical 

infrastructure should be specified in Policy DM8 and explained in the 

justification for effectiveness.     

60. The boundary of the BAEZ is detailed on the submission policies 

map and covers existing commercial premises and mainly playing 

fields, some of which would be removed from the Green Belt to 

accommodate new development necessary to realise the economic 

growth potential of the BAEZ as detailed above.   However, the 

Page 29



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

16 

 

Council have granted planning permission1 for schemes which would 

collectively provide a new sports and social facilities building, 

carparking and a range of sports pitches leading to improved 

provision overall.  These facilities are on the southern extent of the 

BAEZ and would effectively form the new Green Belt edge, as I have 

already found their removal from the Green Belt is not justified in 

principle.    

61. Nevertheless, the Council’s Local Green Belt Assessment (EB021) 

did recommend the site at the BAEZ is released from the Green 

Belt.  It notes the relevant section of the Green Belt punches into 

Blackpool’s urban area and is surrounded by established business / 

industrial sites including an airport.  I concur, and subject to 

appropriate mitigation and detailed design, the harm to the Green 

Belt associated with the removal of the land from the Green Belt to 

facilitate development at the BAEZ could be reduced to acceptable 

levels through landscaping and other mitigation.  Furthermore, the 

presence of Blackpool Airfield will inevitably ensure that a significant 

amount of land surrounding the proposed Green Belt release 

remains open.   Thus, when balanced against the economic 

development need discussed above, I am led to conclude that the 

proposed development can be accommodated without having 

significant effects on the purposes of the Green Belt and the overall 

integrity of the Green Belt within the Borough.  Overall, I find 

exceptional circumstances exist to justify the site’s removal from 

the Green Belt.   

62. Green Belt compensatory improvements would be required and 

there are a number of opportunities for Green Belt enhancement 

nearby specifically as part of a package of measures associated with 

the sports facilities, within the BAEZ to be retained within the Green 

Belt.  However, to ensure consistency with national policy and in the 

interests of effectiveness these measures will need to be specified in 

Policy DM8.      

63. MM11 would address all these issues, thus subject to such, the 

allocation is effective, justified and consistent with national policy.  

With this allocation as detailed under Issue one, the SADMP would 

provide a sufficient supply of employment land increasing the 

prospect of achieving the economic growth objectives of the CS and 

the BAEZ.  

                                    
1 Council Reference 20/0564 & 20/0108 

Page 30



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

17 

 

64. HSA1.1 – Former Mariners Public House, Norbeck Road – Planning 

permission has been granted for a scheme including 34 dwellings, 

and MM35 is therefore necessary to adjust the site capacity in 

Schedule 1, in the interests of effectiveness. 

65. HSA1.2 - Former Bispham High School, Bispham Road, Blackpool – 

This site consists of a demolished school with associated playing 

fields.  It is located in the Greenlands Ward where the Council’s 

Open Space Assessment (EB022) notes a quantitative surplus of 

this type of open space. The Council have worked with Sport 

England on a Playing Pitch Strategy which contains measures to 

compensate for playing pitch losses to result in an overall improved 

provision in the area.  However, MM36 is necessary to add wording 

to ensure the loss of playing fields is replaced by equivalent or 

better provision in the area in the interests of effectiveness and to 

ensure consistency with national policy. 

66. HSA1.4 - Land rear of 307-339 Warley Road, Blackpool - An area of 

open land to the rear of existing dwellings in a residential area.  For 

effectiveness the development considerations in Schedule 1 should 

make clear that access to the rear of the existing dwellings must be 

retained (MM37). 

67. HSA1.5 - Land at Chepstow Road/Gateside Drive and land at 

Dinmore Avenue/Bathurst Avenue, Grange Park – Since submission, 

planning permission has been granted for a development including 

131 dwellings.  Part of the site is playing fields and open space.  

However, there is a quantitative surplus of the relevant types in the 

Park Ward.  Subject to MM38 which would update the delivery 

details to reflect the planning permission and make clear that open 

space must be replaced with equivalent or better provision, the 

allocation is effective and consistent with national policy.   

68. HSA1.6 – Land at Coleridge Road / George Street, Blackpool – 

Planning permission has been granted for a scheme including 8 

dwellings, and MM39 is therefore necessary to adjust the site 

capacity in Schedule 1, in the interests of effectiveness. 

69. HSA1.7 – 190 – 194 Promenade, Blackpool – This site is within the 

setting of a number of heritage assets.  MM40 is necessary for 

effectiveness and consistency with national policy to ensure a 

heritage impact assessment is undertaken and taken into account in 

any scheme.   

Page 31



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

18 

 

70. HSA1.9 – Car Park, Bethesda Road, Blackpool – MMs are necessary 

to adjust the schedule text to recognise the site’s existing car park 

use in the interests of effectiveness (MM41 & MM42). 

71. HSA1.13 – Land at Jepson Way / Common Edge Road, Blackpool – 

This site is enabling housing associated with the BAEZ also 

referenced and directly related to Policy DM8 as discussed above.  

However, a MM is needed to add wording to ensure the loss of 

playing fields is replaced by equivalent or better provision in the 

area in the interests of effectiveness and to ensure consistency with 

national policy (MM43). 

72. Including all these housing sites, the SADMP would provide the 

borough with way in-excess of 5 years of deliverable housing land 
supply as detailed in the Council’s updated housing topic paper 

(EL4.006).  At least 10% of the housing requirement has been 
provided to date on sites no larger than one hectare, particularly 

from windfall conversions and changes of use sites as required by 
Policy CS2 of the CS and the evidence (EB003 & EL4.006) indicates 

this is likely to continue.    
 

Conclusion 

73. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the sites 

allocated for employment and housing are justified and deliverable 

and provide a sufficient supply.   

Issue 3 - Are the SADMP’s development management 

policies justified, effective and consistent with national 

policies 

 

Housing 

74. Policy DM1 seeks to secure 20% of any new housing to meet the 

needs of elderly or disabled residents or be easily adaptable in line 

with the Optional Standard M4(2) or M4(3) of the Building 

Regulations.   

75. Blackpool has an above average percentage of households which 

include persons with a form of disability and the Council’s housing 

register shows a disproportionate amount of housing need among 

elderly and disabled residents.  Whilst the Plan would still not meet 

the need estimated for such accommodation, the requirement for 

Page 32



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

19 

 

20% has been shown generally to not prejudice the viability of 

development through the Council’s Viability Assessment (EB002) 

and will therefore optimise delivery without being a barrier to 

development.   

76. The needs for adaptable housing and the mix of M4(2), M4(3) a and 

b will be informed by the Council’s housing strategy with advice 

from relevant Officers sought on a scheme-by-scheme basis.  

However, this is not made clear in the SADMP and it will require 

evidence to be provided in support of proposals.  Furthermore, the 

costs associated with meeting each of these standards can vary 

significantly and thus the Council will need to apply this policy 

requirement flexibly based on exceptional site-specific 

circumstances so as not to prejudice the delivery of development.   

77. Policy DM1 also seeks to ensure 20% of all new homes meet the 

national described space standard (NDSS).  The relevant Planning 

Practice Guidance (PPG) says evidence should be provided on the 

size and type of dwellings currently being built in the area, to 

ensure the impacts of adopting space standards can be properly 

assessed.   

78. The CS notes there is an extremely unbalanced and dysfunctional 

housing supply, with significant over supply of small, poor-quality 

bedsits, flats or housing in multiple occupation, with much of the 

accommodation in the inner area unsuitable for families and 

undesirable to anyone who can afford to choose better.  Therefore, 

internal space and reasonably sized rooms, such that they offer 

quality family accommodation, is clearly a particular issue in 

Blackpool.   

79. The Council assessed all housing schemes granted planning 

permission since 2013 (some 30 schemes) and found that only 

3.1% of all those dwellings met the NDSS.  This is a reasonable 

sample irrespective of when the NDSS was introduced, and it shows 

that without intervention the types of homes delivered in Blackpool 

could result in cramped living accommodation and fail to address 

the need for quality family accommodation noted in the CS.  

80. On this basis, a proportion of 20% of all new housing would go 

some way towards ensuring at least some properties are delivered 

which meet the NDSS and is justified.  However, for effectiveness a 

threshold of five dwellings is needed because this is the minimum 

Page 33



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

20 

 

number for a site to deliver one dwelling to the required standard.  

Furthermore, for the same reasons as the adaptable standard, 

flexibility is also needed to ensure that the requirement is applied 

exceptionally subject to site specific viability.  MM06 would address 

all these issues, subject to it, Policy DM1 is justified, effective and 

consistent with national policy. 

81. Policy DM3 seeks to ensure supported accommodation and housing 

for older people is appropriately designed and located.  The 

approach is justified in terms of seeking to achieve balanced 

communities where housing provides an appropriate quality of life 

for its intended occupants.  However, MM07 is needed for 

effectiveness, to clarify the definition of a block in part 2 a of the 

policy and to make clear in the justification how the Council will 

determine the level of accessibility, as referred to in part 1 c of the 

policy.  Amendment is also necessary for effectiveness to the 

justification text to explain how 400 metres will be measured in 

relation to part 2 b of the policy.  Thus, subject to MM07, Policy 

DM3 is justified and effective.   

82. The Council’s approach to managing development involving student 

accommodation is set out in Policy DM4.  However, part b of the 

policy requires proposals for such accommodation to be within 800 

metres of a learning centre or, if not, a sequential approach is to be 

applied considering sites close to public transport routes.   

83. However, clarification is necessary as to what is meant by a public 

transport route, how 800 metres would be measured and how a 

sequential assessment would be undertaken.  Furthermore, part 1 e 

of Policy DM4 seeks to deal with the effect of limited floorspace by 

requiring proposals to accord with the Council’s Student Advice 

Note.  Additionally, that note does not form part of the 

Development Plan and instead, the policy should be amended to 

address the issue, which is to ensure developments provide internal 

spaces which through their layout and size lead to acceptable living 

conditions.  MM08 would overcome these issues and is therefore 

necessary for effectiveness.  

84. In Blackpool there are many buildings, particularly older holiday 

accommodation which have the potential to be converted to 

dwellings.  Policy DM5 seeks to ensure such conversions deliver high 

quality accommodation and do not lead to over concentrations of 

small poor-quality housing in the inner area.  However, part b of 

Page 34



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

21 

 

Policy DM5 should be amended to require proposals to provide 

internal spaces which through their layout and size lead to 

acceptable living conditions, removing reference to adhering to the 

NDSS and the Council’s adopted floorspace and amenity standards.  

The justification should be amended to only have regard to these 

standards as they do not form part of the development Plan.  MM09 

would address these issues and make clear this policy applies only 

to conversions and sub-divisions and is therefore needed to ensure 

Policy DM5 is justified and effective. 

Economy 

85. Policy DM9 sets out a positive framework for development at 

Blackpool Zoo as identified on the submission policies map.  

However, whilst it is justifiable to seek to ensure any new 

development does not harm the setting of the adjoining Stanley 

Park Conservation Area, MM12 is necessary in the interests of 

effectiveness and consistency with national policy to ensure the 

policy also recognises Stanley Park is a registered park and garden. 

86. The Promenade and Seafront are the focal point for tourists and the 

Promenade is the town’s largest outdoor recreational space.  Policy 

DM10 seeks to improve the appearance and economic function of 

the Promenade and Seafront including among other things 

supporting development that involves new high quality landmark 

features.  However, a MM is necessary in the interests of 

effectiveness to clarify that a landmark feature is one which is easily 

recognised and can assist with way finding.  It is also necessary to 

ensure the policy wording is consistent with paragraph 197 of the 

NPPF and to note the geographical application of the policy on the 

policies map.  MM13 would address all these issues in the interests 

of consistency with national policy and effectiveness. 

87. Policy CS4 of the CS identifies Blackpool Town Centre as defined on 

the policies map as the focus for new retail and other town centre 

uses.  Policies DM11 and DM12 specify the uses which will be 

permitted in the primary and secondary frontages consistent with 

paragraph 86(b) of the NPPF.  The primary and secondary frontages 

are defined on the Council’s submission policies map and follow the 

recommendations of the Council’s Retail Study (EB017 and 

EB017a).  Policies DM11 and DM12 are soundly based. 

88. The Council’s evidence (EB010) shows high concentrations of 

betting shops, adult gaming centres and pawnbrokers in parts of 

Page 35



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

22 

 

Blackpool.  This evidence demonstrates this can have negative 

consequences for the vitality and viability of centres and the well-

being of communities.  Policy DM13 therefore, justifiably seeks to 

manage these concentrations outside of the defined primary and 

secondary frontages.  However, for effectiveness a MM is needed to 

make clear that 400 metres would be measured as the crow flies to 

clarify how the policy would be applied.  Subject to MM14, Policy 

DM13 is justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 

89. In line with Policy CS4 of the CS Policy DM14 of the SADMP sets out 

a positive framework for managing new development in Blackpool’s 

District and Local Centres.  Clifton Retail Park does not fulfil the 

same function as either a Local or District Centre and therefore does 

not need to be explicitly recognised in Policy DM14.  Policy DM14 is 

sound. 

90. Policy DM16 seeks to promote healthier communities by restricting 

new hot food takeaways in or within 400 metres of wards where 

there are more than 15% of year 6 pupils or 10% of reception age 

pupils which are classified as obese by Public Health England.  

91. The 2015 and 2019 Indices of Deprivation ranked Blackpool as the 

most deprived local authority area in the country (EB001).  This is 

based on data indicators used from seven domains which include 

income and health and is compelling.  The Local Authority Health 

Profile 2019 shows the health of people in Blackpool is generally 

worse than the England average.  It shows life expectancy for men 

is 12.3 years lower and for women 10.1 years lower than the 

national average with obesity among the local population being a 

contributory factor.   The Blackpool Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment confirms that 75% of adults in Blackpool are 

overweight (compared to 63% in England) and 31% of adults in 

Blackpool are obese (compared to 27% in England) and confirms 

that obesity is an important factor contributing to the inequality gap 

in life expectancy in Blackpool residents. 

92. The Council’s Healthy Weight Declaration (EL4.001) commits the 

Council to working with other bodies on a range of actions including 

reducing unhealthy weight in Blackpool.  It also recognises the 

potential for the planning system to contribute towards such as part 

of a broad multi-disciplinary package of measures. 

Page 36



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

23 

 

93. Paragraph 92 of the NPPF states that planning policies should aim to 

achieve healthy places which enable and support healthy lifestyles 

through a range of measures including access to healthier food.   

The PPG says planning policies may need to have regard to issues 

which include evidence indicating high levels of obesity, deprivation, 

health inequalities and general poor health in specific locations and 

over-concentration of certain uses within a specified area. 

94. Public Health England has identified on average that there are 

around 96 hot food takeaways per 100K population, whereas EB009 

shows 217 or 196 (excluding the Promenade) per 100K population 

in Blackpool with 12 of its 21 wards having more than 10% more 

hot food takeaways than the national average.  However, that 

evidence indicates there is no direct correlation or clustering around 

schools and therefore supports the Council’s approach.  Setting 

thresholds based on the obesity of reception age and year 6 

children is reasonable as the choices and behaviours learned are 

more likely than not to be carried through to later adult life.   

95. Public Health England maintain data on child excess weight and 

obesity at ward-level which is freely available and updated annually, 

the thresholds are reasonably set at a level that should Policy DM16 

be effective alongside other measures, obesity levels could 

reasonably be expected to fall below the threshold making hot food 

takeaways permissible in some wards over the plan period.  In any 

event, the evidence shows the borough is already very well served.  

Moreover, Policies DM11, DM12 and DM14 permit restaurants and 

cafes within use class E(b) within the primary and secondary 

frontages of Blackpool Town Centre, District Centres and Local 

Centres.  

96. However, the effects of Policy DM16 will need to be closely 

monitored to understand whether or not the policy is effective and 

the monitoring framework does not currently include clear 

mechanisms for achieving such.  MM15 and MM45 are therefore 

necessary for effectiveness to include clear indicators necessary to 

measure its effectiveness over the plan period and to inform any 

review of the policy approach.  MM15 is also needed for 

effectiveness to make clear how 400 metres is to be measured. 

Subject to these main modifications Policy DM16 is justified by the 

unique challenges facing Blackpool.  Subject to these MMs it is 

effective and consistent with national policy.      

Page 37



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

24 

 

Design 

97. The Council’s key design principles for development in the borough 

are set out in Policy DM17.  However, MM16 is necessary to ensure 

proposals have regard to heritage assets and their settings to 

ensure consistency with national policy. 

98. Policy DM18 seeks to ensure new development facilitates high speed 

broadband connections where possible.  However, the reference to 

commercial development is unclear.  MM17 would address this by 

specifying the relevant use classes and is therefore necessary in the 

interests of effectiveness. 

99. Views, such as those of Blackpool Tower, shape the unique identity 

of the borough.  Policy DM19 justifiably seeks to protect and 

enhance such views and others which give Blackpool its distinctive 

character.  However, MMs are needed to the justification text and 

policy to clarify what constitutes a strategic view and remove 

reference to a number of specific features so as to ensure each 

scheme responds to its context.  Furthermore, criteria c, d and e 

unnecessarily duplicate the provisions of Policies DM26, DM27 and 

DM28.  MM18 would resolve all these issues in the interests of 

effectiveness.  

100. Policy DM21 aims to ensure new development provides appropriate 

landscaping to contribute towards enhancing the borough’s green 

and blue infrastructure network where practicable.  However, for 

reasons already given requiring development to accord with a 

supplementary planning document is not justified.  MM19 would 

address this and subject to such Policy DM21 is sound. 

101. Criteria for development involving shopfronts and advertisements 

are set out in Policies DM22 and DM24 respectively.  However, the 

display of advertisements is regulated by The Town and Country 

Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 

(as amended) with considerations of such confined to issues of 

amenity and public safety.  MMs are therefore needed to fully 

recognise the advertisement consent regime in both these policies 

and their justifications to ensure Policies DM22 and DM24 are legally 

compliant, justified, effective and consistent with national policy 

(MM20 and MM21).  MM20 would also clarify, in the interests of 

effectiveness, what is meant by principal signage in part 1 d of 

Policy DM22.   

Page 38



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

25 

 

102. Policy DM25 requires new appropriate development to deliver or 

make contributions to public art projects.  However, flexibility 

through the addition of a viability and feasibility clause is needed to 

ensure that such does not prejudice the delivery of development.  

MM22 would address this in the interests of effectiveness. 

103. Policies DM27, DM29 and DM30 set out requirements for proposals 

which affect Conservation Areas, Stanley Park a grade II registered 

historic park and garden and archaeology respectively.  However, 

MMs are needed to ensure the detailed wording of Policies DM27 

and DM30 reflect national policy and legislation with regard to 

heritage assets and that Policies DM27 and DM29 note their 

geographical application on the policies map.  MM23, MM24 and 

MM25 would overcome these issues and are necessary to ensure 

legal compliance, consistency with national policy and effectiveness. 

Environment 

104. Much of Blackpool is served by combined sewerage systems of some 

age.  This means sewerage infrastructure regularly reaches 

capacity, leaving water unable to drain and other problems such as 

drainage into the sea affecting bathing water quality among other 

things.  Policy DM31 justifiably seeks to ensure new development is 

designed following the surface water drainage hierarchy.  However, 

the maximum surface water run-off rates specified in the 

justification text are development requirements which should be 

clearly set out in policy for effectiveness (MM26).   

105. Policy DM32 identifies the borough as an area of search for small 

scale wind turbines (up to 20 metres tall) subject to a number of 

criteria which is justified by the evidence (EB030 and EB031) and 

consistent with the approach in the CS.  However, criteria d and g 

only require developers to assess impact on heritage assets and air 

traffic safety and radar.  Instead, for effectiveness, these criteria 

should also require mitigation if any harmful impacts are identified 

following assessment.  MM27 would address these issues and is 

therefore necessary in the interests of effectiveness. 

106. Policy DM33 seeks to protect Blackpool’s coast and foreshore from 

harm.  However, MM28 is necessary to reference the associated 

geographic application on the policies map as well as to clarify the 

relationship with the Marine Plan in the justification text, in the 

interests of legal compliance and effectiveness. 

Page 39



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

26 

 

107. Policy DM35 aims to ensure development proposals appropriately 

assess and mitigate any biodiversity impacts.  However, the Policy 

should make reference to best and most versatile agricultural land 

and biodiversity net gain both to ensure consistency with national 

policy and legislation and effectiveness (MM29). 

108. The Council’s approach to controlling pollution and contamination is 

set out in Policy DM36.  However, the policy should make reference 

to and clarify the extent of the existing Blackpool Air Quality 

Management Area in the interests of effectiveness.  It should also 

make reference to biodiversity impacts off site and make clear that 

impacts must not be to unacceptable levels after mitigation.  MM30 

and MM47 would address these issues for effectiveness.   

109. Policy DM37 seeks to guard against the unnecessary loss of valued 

facilities and services where loss would reduce the ability to meet 

community day to day needs subject to specific criteria.  This is 

consistent with paragraph 93 of the NPPF.  However, criterion b 

requires proposals for redevelopment to non-community facilities to 

be supported by a demonstration that there is no longer a need for 

such without explaining the type and detail of the evidence the 

Council will require.  MM31 would address this by adding further 

detail to the justification text and is therefore necessary for Policy 

DM37 to be effective.       

110. Policy DM38 applies to proposals which would result in the loss of 

allotments or community gardens.  However, both are identified on 

the policies map which should be referenced in the policy in the 

interests of effectiveness (MM32).  

Transport 

111. Transport requirements for new development are set out in Policy 

DM41. However, there may be circumstances where new 

development cannot meet all specific requirements.  For example 

due to site-specific constraints.  In which case some flexibility will 

be required on a case-by-case basis so as to ensure the policy does 

not prejudice the delivery of development in the interests of 

effectiveness (MM33). 

112. Policy DM42 makes clear proposals within the aerodrome 

safeguarding area will be subject to consultation with the Ministry of 

Defence.  However, it is ineffective as it does not specify that 

Page 40



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

27 

 

account should be taken of such consultation and that there should 

be no adverse impact on safety or interference with communication 

systems.  MM34 would address this by adding further detail to the 

justification text and policy.      

Conclusion 

113. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the 

SADMP sets out positively prepared development management 

policies which are consistent with the CS, justified, effective and 

consistent with national policy. 

Issue 4 - Is the SADMP based on a robust assessment of 

required supporting infrastructure, does it set out 

effective mechanisms for monitoring and 

implementation and is it viable? 

 

Infrastructure 

114. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update (2020) and the 2022 

update (SD008 and EL4.003) set out a range of projects which can 

reasonably be expected to be delivered when envisaged to support 

the delivery of the development proposed in the SADMP.  The 

delivery of infrastructure projects will be closely monitored over the 

plan period through the arrangements which govern the BAEZ and 

the Council’s overall approach to monitoring the delivery of its Local 

Plan.  Overall, the Council’s approach makes sufficient provision for 

infrastructure, and is justified, effective and consistent with national 

policy, particularly paragraph 20(b) and (c) of the NPPF.   

Monitoring 

115. In accordance with paragraph 33 of the NPPF, the Monitoring and 

Implementation section of the Local Plan sets out clear performance 

indicators against which the effectiveness of the policies will be 

monitored.  It also clearly explains the need to keep the SADMP 

under review and what actions will be taken if policies are not being 

implemented as expected.  Reasonable targets and trigger points 

for action are specified where practicable.  The actions identified if 

policies are not being implemented as expected are reasonable and 

proportionate.  Subject to MM45 which would add additional 

indicators necessary to monitor the effectiveness of Policy DM16 

(see issue 3) the Council’s monitoring framework is effective.   

Page 41



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

28 

 

Viability 

116. The Local Plan Viability Assessment (2020) (EB002) assesses a 

range of appropriate housing sites and development scenarios which 

are reflective of the sites included in the SADMP.  It shows a mixed 

picture, particularly that residential development is generally viable 

in the urban edge, but less so in the urban inner core with variation 

between brownfield and greenfield sites in the urban edge. It also 

demonstrates through sensitivity analysis that modest changes to 

value and / or cost will result in significant changes to viability and 

any potential surplus for planning policy requirements or planning 

contributions.   

117. The findings also identify that commercial development in the 

borough also has viability challenges.  However, the unique 

circumstances of the BAEZ with incentives for businesses such as 

rate relief and enhanced Capital Allowance will assist viability.  The 

Council is also committed to seeking public sector funding to 

enhance the viability of sites over the plan period.  On this basis, 

subject to flexibility on site-specific requirements where necessary 

and proactivity in seeking public sector funds, I am satisfied the 

development sites proposed in the SADMP could be viably 

developed over the plan period.      

118. Overall, the SADMP’s policies, incorporating the MMs discussed 

above are sufficiently flexible in that they will allow requirements to 

be relaxed if they are shown to be undermining the delivery of 

development in the borough.  The Council’s viability assessment 

robustly demonstrates based on reasonable and available 

information that the cumulative impact of the policies in the SADMP 

will not compromise development viability.    

Conclusion 

119. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the Plan 

is based on a robust assessment of required supporting 

infrastructure, it sets out effective mechanisms for monitoring and 

implementation and is viable. 

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

120. The SADMP has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness 

and legal compliance for the reasons set out above, which mean 

that I recommend non-adoption of it as submitted, in accordance 

Page 42



Blackpool Council, Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 4 November 2022 
 

29 

 

with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.  These deficiencies have been 

explained in the main issues set out above. 

121. The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the 

SADMP sound and/or legally compliant and capable of adoption.  I 

conclude that the duty to cooperate has been met and that with the 

recommended MMs set out in the Appendix, the SADMP satisfies the 

requirements referred to in Section 20(5)(a) of the 2004 Act and is 

sound. 

 

L Fleming 

Inspector 

 

This report is accompanied by an Appendix containing the Main 

Modifications. 

Page 43



1 
 

Blackpool Local Plan Part 2:  Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
 
Appendix – Main Modifications 
 

The modifications below are expressed either in the conventional form of strikethrough for deletions and bold underlining for additions of text. 

The paragraph numbering below refers to the submission local plan and does not take account of the deletion or addition of text. 

 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

MM01 1.1 The Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document is Part 2 of the Blackpool Local Plan and is a key 
planning document which allocates sites for development, safeguarding or protection and sets out a suite of development 
management policies to guide appropriate development. This document does not contain any strategic policies and 
supersedes all saved policies within the Blackpool Local Plan 2006, as detailed in Appendix A. 
 

MM02 1.15 The Local Plan Evidence Base helps us to develop a detailed understanding of key issues and characteristics of Blackpool 
and the Fylde Coast, and is used to inform and justify the policies in the plan. Additional evidence base has been 
developed to support the allocations and development management polices set out in the Local Plan Part 2. These 
documents along with other supporting documents are listed at Appendix A and can be found at evidence base [opens a 
new window]. In addition other Council strategies and declarations have been taken into account including:  

 Blackpool Council Plan 2019-2024  
 Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy (2019)  
 Blackpool Council Declaration on healthy weight (2016)  
 Blackpool Council Declaration of a climate emergency (2019)  
 Blackpool’s Climate Emergency Action Plan (2021) 

 
MM03 HSA1  

Site Reference Site Area 
(ha) 

No. of dwellings 
expected to be 
delivered 2021 19 
-2027 

HSA1.1  Former Mariners Public House, Norbreck 
Road 

0.20 34 35 

P
age 44



2 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

HSA1.2  Former Bispham High School & land off 
Regency Gardens 

9.10 176 

HSA1.3  Land at Bromley Close 0.22 12 
HSA1.4  Land rear of 307-339 Warley Road 0.33 14 
HSA1.5  Land at Chepstow Road/Gateside Drive 

and land at Dinmore Avenue/Bathurst 
Avenue,  Grange Park 

5.62 131 160 

HSA1.6  Land at Coleridge Road/George Street 0.14 8 14 
HSA1.7  190-194 Promenade 0.12 15 
HSA1.8  South King Street 0.59 47 
HSA1.9  Bethesda Road Car Park 0.13 13 
HSA1.10  Whitegate Manor, Whitegate Drive 0.31 16 
HSA1.11  Land off Kipling Drive 0.27 14 
HSA1.12  Land at Rough Heys Lane 0.67 27 
HSA1.13  Land at Enterprise Zone, Jepson Way 1.42 57 
HSA1.14  Site B, Former NS & I Site, Preston New 

Road 
3.31 90 

HSA1.15  Land at Warren Drive 3.12 71 86 
HSA1.16  Land at Ryscar Way 2.06 47 
HSA1.17  Land at 50 Bispham Road 0.09 12 
HSA1.18  41 Bispham Road and land to the rear of 

39-41 Bispham Road 
0.35 16 

HSA1.19  Kings Christian Centre, Warley Road 0.12 15 
HSA1.20  Land off Coopers Way 1.22 45 
HSA1.21  Land at Coleridge Road/ Talbot Road 0.29 25 
HSA1.22  7-11 Alfred Street 0.04 14 
HSA1.23  Foxhall Village Phases 2(S), 3 & 4 2.97 192 
HSA1.24  Site A, Former NS & I Site, Preston New 

Road 
5.11 83 

HSA1.25  Site of Co-operative Sports and Social 
Club, Preston New Road 

1.57 22 45 

HSA1.26  9-15 Brun Grove (Blackpool Trim Shops) 0.18 10 
HSA1.27  Waterloo Road Methodist Church, 

Waterloo Road 
0.14 12 

HSA1.28  Land at 200 – 210 Watson Road 0.89 39 

P
age 45



3 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

HSA1.29  585 – 593 New South Promenade and 1 
Wimbourne Place 

0.40 88 

Total supply from allocated sites  1153 1419 
 
 

2.3-2.5 and Table 
1 

2.3 In addition to the sites allocated in Policy HSA1, the Core Strategy housing requirement will be met through 
completions over the period 01 April 2012 – 31 March 2021 19, sites with planning permission including sites at identified 
South Blackpool Housing Growth locations, apartments as part of mixed use proposals at Town Centre Strategic Sites and 
a windfall allowance.  
 
2.4 Table 1 shows the housing supply position. The identified supply is approximately 4338 4,544 dwellings, which 
exceeds the housing requirement and ensures that there is a flexible portfolio of housing sites that can be delivered 
throughout the plan period. The Housing Topic Paper provides further detail and includes a housing trajectory, which sets 
out the expected rate of housing delivery over the plan period.  
 
2.5 It is a requirement of the NPPF to identify a five year housing land supply from the intended date of adoption of the 
plan. A five year supply has been identified for the period 01 April 2021 19 – 31 March 2026 24 and will be updated 
annually to ensure that a five year supply is maintained over the plan period. 
 
Table 1: Housing Supply Summary 
 

P
age 46



4 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

Source Number of Dwellings 
Completions 1 April 2012 - 31 March 20211 19 1803 1,307 
New build dwellings with extant permission at 31 March 2021 
19 (including 541 584 dwellings on allocated sites) 1054 1,177 

New build dwellings with permission granted 01 April 19 - 30 
Sept 2019 (including 145 dwellings on allocated sites) 175 

Permitted conversions/changes of use (10 or more dwellings) 
at 31 March 2021 19 119 140 

Permitted conversions/changes of use granted 01 April 19 - 30 
Sept 2019 (10 or more dwellings) 105 

Windfall Allowance for conversions/changes of use (9 or less 
dwellings) and new build dwellings over period 1 April 2021 19 
- 31 March 2027 

600 800 

Allocated housing sites without planning permission 612 690 
Additional supply from Town Centre Strategic Sites 150 
Total Housing Supply 4338 4,544 

 
1 Completions during 2020-2021 have been significantly impacted due to the Covid-19 Pandemic 
 
 

MM04 ASA1 Land to the north of the Golf Driving Range, accessed from Fleetwood Road is allocated for a new allotment, as identified 
on the Policies Map. 
 

MM05 SLA1 2.20 In order that Green Belt boundaries should be long lasting, land at Faraday Way between the existing urban area and 
the Green Belt is safeguarded for future development needs beyond the plan period. Paragraph 139 of NPPF states that 
planning permission for the permanent development of safeguarded land will only be granted following a Local Plan 
Review.  
 
2.21 Paragraph 85 of NPPF require plans to identify areas of safeguarded land between the urban area and the Green 
Belt, in order to meet longer-term development needs stretching well beyond the plan period.  
 
2.22 This policy identifies one area of Safeguarded Land within Blackpool Borough and outlines the restrictions on 
development that will be pursued over the period of the Local Plan.  
 

                                                           
 

P
age 47



5 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

Policy SLA1: Land Safeguarded for Future Development Needs  
 
Development will not be permitted on Safeguarded Land as shown on the Policies Map until a review of the Local Plan is 
undertaken. 
 
2.23 The Local Green Belt Review Topic Paper (2020) highlighted several minor anomalies regarding the detailed local 
Green Belt boundaries. It recommended some amendments that relate to a very small proportion of the overall green belt 
across the Fylde Coast and does not amount to any strategic change to the Green Belt.  
 
2.24 One such amendment was to existing Green Belt at Faraday Way to follow natural field boundaries. Due to 
Blackpool’s highly constrained nature, there may be a need to allocate this land that is no longer Green Belt for 
development needs in the future. Therefore it is safeguarded until a review of the Blackpool Local Plan is carried out. 
 

MM06 DM1 1.  As a minimum, 20% of all new build dwellings on a site sites of five dwellings or more must meet the Nationally 
Described Space Standard (or any future successor); 
 
2.  Housing designs and layouts must: 

 
a. respond to the topography, local character and distinctiveness of a site the area and be well integrated into existing 
development by respecting the established streetscene, building lines and patterns of development, in order to maintain or 
establish a strong sense of place. Exceptions may be made for housing proposals of high quality and innovative design, 
which raises the overall design quality of an area and contributes positively to the distinctiveness of a place; 
 
8.  Proposals that are not in accordance with the above measures will only be permitted where there is clear 
evidence that it would not be feasible or it would directly prejudice viability. In such circumstances an application 
should be supported by an open book viability assessment. 
 

New sub-heading 
and paragraph 
after 3.28 

Accessible and Adaptable Housing 
 
Accessible and adaptable housing should be provided on schemes of ten dwellings or more, forming at least 10% 
of housing provision. This housing should be designed to meet technical standards M4(2) or M4(3) of the Building 
Regulations (or as updated). Housing meeting part M4(3) of Building Regulations should be secured through 
liaison with the Council’s Housing Manager and through developers working with Registered Providers on a 
case-by-case basis.  
 

MM07 DM3 1. Proposals for supported accommodation (falling under Sui Generis or Use Class C2) and housing for older people 
(falling under Use Class C2 or C3) will be permitted where the development meets all of the following criteria:  

P
age 48



6 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

 
c. the site has a good high level of accessibility to public transport, shops, services and community facilities appropriate to 
the intended occupiers  
 
2. In order to protect the character and amenities of residential areas and avoid any undue concentration of Supported 
Accommodation and/or Housing for Older People (other than older person independent living schemes (use class C3)): 
 
a. no more than 10% of any properties within one block will be permitted in such use  
 

3.45 Proposals for supported accommodation must have high levels of accessibility, which Ddepending on the needs of 
occupiers of specialist accommodation, generally means that they may need to be located close to or on bus routes to 
essential services such as education, health care and family support, having regard to the accessibility questionnaire 
in Appendix G3. Therefore it is important that the accommodation provided is situated in an area which will support the 
needs of the future occupiers. 
 

3.56 A Management Plan should be submitted with all applications to ensure that full consideration has been given to the 
proper management of the accommodation, in the interests of the future occupants, the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties. Details of what should be included in a Management Plan include: can be found in Appendix B. 
 
 an emergency contact;  
 waste management;  
 behaviour and noise management; 
  security;  
 travel management and cycle parking;  
 repairs and maintenance;  
 health and safety. 
 

3.57 To support the Council’s wider aims to create more balanced and healthy local communities and in order to avoid over-
concentrations of Supported Accommodation and/or Housing for Older People (excluding older person independent living 
schemes (use class C3)) which can impact on the character and function of residential areas, no more than 10% of 
properties in any one block will be permitted in such uses and no similar specialist uses will be permitted within 400 
metres, as the crow flies, of a similar existing premises. 
 

MM08 DM4 1. Proposals for student accommodation will be permitted subject to:  
 

P
age 49



7 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

b. being located within 800 metres walking distance of the relevant learning centre. Where an application site is beyond 
800m a sequential approach must be undertaken with preference given to sites on or close to public transport routes 
which provide a high level of accessibility to the relevant learning centre;  
 
e. the proposal providing internal spaces which through their layout and size lead to acceptable living conditions 
having regard to the relevant guidance; meeting the floorspace standards set out in the Student Accommodation 
Advice Note;  
 

3.62 Students tend to spend a significant amount of time in their bedrooms studying and in addition to standard bedroom 
furniture, a student bedroom requires study space. As such, a standard single bedroom size outlined in the National 
Technical Housing Standards is not appropriate for student accommodation. Proposals should have regard to Tthe 
minimum floorspace standards for student accommodation in Blackpool are set out in the Student Accommodation Advice 
Note and within the New Homes from Old Places SPD (or as updated). 
 

3.64 The University Centre is predominantly arts based and students often have to carry heavy or bulky equipment to and from 
their accommodation. With that in mind, 800 metres (1The Institution of Highways and Transportation - Providing for 
Journeys on foot, 2000 table 3.2) is considered to be a reasonable walking distance for students and this is the walking 
distance referred to in the Student Accommodation Advice Note which has successfully been implemented in the past.  
The 800 metres should be measured as the most direct and safe walking route.  Where an application is beyond 
the 800 metres, sites with a high level of public transport accessibility to the University Centre will be 
prioritised.   In accordance with the Residential Accessibility Questionnaire at Appendix G3, sites are considered 
to have a high level of public transport accessibility if they are within 200 metres of a bus stop. 
 

MM09 DM5 1. Proposals for the sub-division and/or change of use of existing buildings for residential use will only be permitted where:  
 
b. the proposed units are all fully self-contained and satisfy the Nationally Described Space Standards (or any future 
successor) and .  Proposals should also have regard to the Council’s adopted floorspace and amenity standards;  
 
2. Within the Inner Area as defined on the Policies Map, development proposals for the sub-division and/or change of 
use of existing buildings for residential use will not be permitted where: 
 

MM10 DM7 – Policy and 
supporting text 

 
Policy DM7: Provision of Employment Land and Existing Employment Sites 
 

1. Proposals for new development or redevelopment of existing premises will be permitted in accordance with the 
specified uses for each employment area as identified on the Policies Map: 

 

P
age 50



8 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Proposals for non B and E(g) uses will not be permitted except for those which are in accordance with Policy DM8: 
Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone. 
 

3. Employment land at the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone includes around 9 hectares released from the 
Green Belt justified by exceptional circumstances in line with NPPF (2021) Paragraph 140. 

 
 
3.83 The main industrial/business areas identified in the policy provide a range of employment related uses that make 
an important contribution to Blackpool’s employment offer and the local economy and will be retained as safeguarded 
employment land. Proposals for non-B or E(g) uses will not be permitted. The only exception to this is at the Enterprise 
Zone for proposals that accord with policy DM8. 
 
3.84 The Core Strategy sets out the requirement for 31.5 hectares of new employment land over the plan period from 
2012 to 2027. The sites to meet this need are included in this policy9. The Employment Land Update 2021 and 
Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Topic Paper (Feb 2022) recognises that significant safeguarded employment 
land has been developed for alternative uses since the start of the plan period. Furthermore, employment land 
take-up during this time has been around half of what was expected (0.62 ha per annum compared to 1.2 ha per 
annum). 

Employment Area Available Land (Ha) 
(as at March 2021 
19) 

Appropriate Use Classes 

Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone10 8 14.15 16.1 B2, B8, E(g) 

Vicarage Lane 0.02 B2, B8, E(g) 
Clifton Road 2.5 B2, B8, E(g) 

Preston New Road (NS&I) 0 E(g) 

Chiswick Grove 0 B2, B8, E(g) 
Mowbray Drive 0.3 B2, B8, E(g) 
Devonshire Rd / Mansfield Rd 0 B2, E(g) 
Moor Park 0 B2, B8, E(g) 
North Blackpool Technology Park 2 B2, B8, E(g) 
Warbreck Hill 0 E(g)(i) 
Total 18.97 

P
age 51

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/ELU-EZ-Topic-Paper-Final-Feb-22.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/ELU-EZ-Topic-Paper-Final-Feb-22.pdf


9 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

 
3.85 Taking account of the above, around nine hectares of additional employment land is identified at the Blackpool 
Airport Enterprise Zone which compensates for the loss of less attractive employment land and will stimulate an 
increase in annual employment land uptake by providing attractive and accessible employment land in the 
Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone. Robust justification for the additional employment land facilitated by the 
release of around 9ha of land from the Green Belt is set out in the Employment Land Update 2021 and Blackpool 
Airport Enterprise Zone Topic Paper (Feb 2022). This is set out in further detail within Policy DM8. 
 
10 8 Incorporates Blackpool Business Park; Squires Gate Industrial Estate and Sycamore Estate. 
11 9 Along with around 14 hectares of employment land in Fylde provided through the Duty to Co-operate and 
acknowledged in the adopted Fylde Local Plan (2018) 
 

MM11 DM8 – Policy and 
supporting text 

3.86 Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (EZ) was approved in November 2015 and the site became operational in April 
2016.  The status of the EZ is valid for 25 years and provides business incentives of rate relief up to £275,000 over a 
period of five years and Enhanced Capital Allowance.10 12  
 
3.87 The site covers 144 hectares of which around 62 hectares lie within Blackpool Borough and 82 hectares in Fylde 
(Figure 4).  The site and incorporates the existing Category III airport buildings and surrounding business and employment 
lands; areas of open space and sports playing fields.  The site also benefits from excellent access to the M55 via 
Progress Way and onward connectivity to the national motorway network and with local train, bus and tram 
routes connecting the Fylde Coast and beyond.  
  
Figure 4: Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone 

P
age 52

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/ELU-EZ-Topic-Paper-Final-Feb-22.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/ELU-EZ-Topic-Paper-Final-Feb-22.pdf


10 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

 
3.88 The area is already well-established as a hub for business and commercial activity and has a history in aviation 
engineering, having previously been the manufacturing site for Vickers Wellington and Hawker Hunter military aircraft.  
Today, one of the airfield’s key uses is in helicopter transportation to key energy generation sites in the Irish Sea, as well 
as being home for some 260 existing businesses including the Lancashire Energy HQ - a training base for the energy 
sector.   
3.89 The following policy relates to land within Blackpool’s administrative boundary; and protects the designation 
of the site and  supporting the delivery of the EZ. 
  

P
age 53



11 
 

Policy DM8:  Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone 
 

1. The That part boundary of the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (EZ) which lies within Blackpool Borough 
is identified on the Policies Map. 
 

2. The Council supports the sustainable development of the EZ to create more businesses and jobs and attract 
international investment with positive benefits for the sub-regional economy and increasing the contribution to 
national growth.  In supporting development at the EZ, the viable long-term operation of Blackpool Airport must 
be maintained.  
 

3.    The overall delivery of the EZ is guided by a masterplan, informed by local plan policy and establishing 
the development and design framework for the site determining the appropriate mix, quantum and 
location of development including landscaping, green infrastructure and biodiversity net gain to 
deliver the objectives of the EZ. 

 
3. 4.    Guided by the Masterplan, Tthe following uses at the EZ will be supported: 
 

a. Target sectors comprising energy industry, advanced manufacturing and engineering, aviation and 
aerospace, food and drink manufacture and the digital and creative sector; 
 

b. Outside the target sectors other B2, B8 and E(g) uses will be considered where this promotes job creation 
and industry diversification provided it does not compromise the development of the target sectors; 

 
 

c 5. In the south east quadrant supporting facilities and services, excluding hot food takeaway uses (sui generis), to serve 
the EZ business community in this location limited to: 

i. convenience store no greater than 275m² gross; 
ii. café or sandwich shop no greater than 275m² gross; 
iii. children’s day nursery. 

 
 

d. the relocation and enhancement of the existing playing pitches and associated new changing facilities  
e. Enabling housing development at site allocation HSA1.13 identified on the Policies Map ; 
 

P
age 54



12 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

4. The overall delivery of the EZ is guided by an agreed Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Masterplan.  In line 
with local plan policy, the Masterplan will establish the development and design framework for the site and 
determine the appropriate mix, quantum and location of development to deliver the objectives of the EZ; 

 
5. A Design Framework, including building, landscape, green infrastructure, sustainable urban drainage and 

incorporating cycle and pedestrian connectivity, will be required setting out the design principles for the site and 
taking into account the objectives of the Blackpool Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Action Plan; 
 

6. To enable the objectives of the EZ to be delivered, the Green Belt boundary is amended as identified in 
Appendix E to release around 10.3 hectares of land to allow the first phase of development to be undertaken by 
2027 to include:  

 
a. serviced plots for employment development in line with point 4 above and Policy DM7;  
b. enabling housing development (Site Allocation HSA1.13); 
c. a new link road and associated existing highways improvements to provide an eastern 

gateway access into the EZ from Common Edge Road; 
d. providing compensatory improvements to offset the impact of removing land from the 

Green Belt through improvements to the remaining Green Belt including:  
i. the relocation and enhancement of the existing playing pitches and provision of new 

changing facilities and vehicle parking, to remain within the Green Belt with improved 
access 

ii. new and/or enhanced green infrastructure including landscaping and biodiversity net 
gain; and 

 
e. supporting infrastructure. 

 
 
6. 7.    To aid the delivery process, if requested, Blackpool Council will work with Fylde Borough Council, Lancashire 
County Council, National Highways England and other stakeholders to produce a Local Development Order. 
 

 

P
age 55



13 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

3.90 Blackpool Airport EZ is located in the south of the Borough off Squires Gate Lane.  That part of the EZ, which lies 
within Blackpool, includes Sycamore Industrial Estate, Squires Gate Industrial Estate and Blackpool Business Park, as 
well as land used for sport playing fields in the southeast corner of the site.  Blackpool Retail Park, which fronts onto 
Squires Gate Lane, is not included in the EZ designation, nor is the airport runway; the latter is excluded so as not to 
preclude future development to accommodate larger commercial aircraft (Figure 4 refers).  

3.91  The EZ site has been a major business and industrial area for many years and has provided important 
employment opportunities with 1,800 employees already based on the site.  It is envisaged that EZ status will attract an 
additional 180 businesses and create 3,000 5,000 new jobs over its 25 year lifespan supporting the local and sub-regional 
economy; and  providing sustainable economic growth and prosperity within Lancashire which is fundamental to the 
Lancashire Enterprise Partnership’s ambitions. 
 
3.92 The site benefits from excellent access to the M55 via Progress Way. Whilst the site is well located its accessibility 
and connectivity to the local road network will be improved, with additional highway junctions on Squires Gate Lane and 
Common Edge Road, to further access the site and support its delivery.  In addition access by sustainable modes of 
transport is a key requirement of Core Strategy Policy CS27 South Blackpool Transport and Connectivity and the 
requirements of this policy will need to be met in delivering the masterplan for the site.  In support of the masterplan, both 
a Transport Assessment and Framework Travel Plan were produced in early 2019 covering all development phases.  The 
former addresses the traffic and transport implications of the proposal, including the access arrangements, and the latter 
has been drafted to encourage more sustainable travel patterns to the site.  The proposed internal link road will be 
designed to accommodate a potential bus route through the site.  A commitment to enable a bus service to route via the 
EZ link road is necessary to improve the public transport accessibility, particularly to some of the units within the EZ that 
are furthest from the nearest bus stops.  Walking and cycling connectivity will also be improved. 
 
3.92 A Masterplan11 has been developed to provide a strategic framework and direction for the development 
and delivery of the EZ over its lifespan.  The role of the Masterplan is to establish the development and design 
framework for the site including the appropriate mix, quantum and location of development; accessibility in and 
around the site including public transport, cycling and pedestrian connectivity; building design principles; 
landscaping and green infrastructure requirements which needs to include providing  opportunities for 
biodiversity net gain.  As the site evolves and develops, updated iterations of the Masterplan will be produced to 
ensure the Masterplan accurately reflects and supports EZ development and responds to the evolving economic 
climate. 

3.93 Over its 25 year lifespan the aim of the EZ is to transform the economic base of Blackpool & the Fylde 
Coast and position itself as a premier business location in the North West.  In line with EZ objectives, Policy DM8 

P
age 56



14 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

highlights the target sectors which will assist in this economic growth and diversification.  Other business and 
industrial uses will also be supported provided these uses do not undermine development related to the target 
sectors.    

3.93 3.94   In addition, Policy DM8 also allows for the provision of local scale shops and services to serve the expanding 
EZ business community in the southeast (SE) quadrant of the site.  Acceptable uses are a small convenience store, a café 
or sandwich shop, each unit no greater than 275 sqm gross; and a children’s day nursery.   Hot food takeaways (sui 
generis) will not be permitted, as reducing health inequalities in Blackpool, including reducing obesity is a key Council 
objective. and r Restricting the number of new hot food takeaways in the Borough is part of the overall policy approach by 
the Council to tackling obesity this matter and is justified in underpinned by the evidence base.2 the ‘Managing the 
Location of Hot Food Takeaways’ evidence base document (December 2020 update). 

3.94 The existing playing pitch facilities, which provide a valuable community resource, will be relocated further south 
within the site.  Supported by new changing facilities, the relocated pitches will provide upgraded playing facilities including 
a new 3G pitch increasing the carrying capacity for sport at this location.   These enhanced sporting facilities align with the 
health and wellbeing priorities of the Public Health Authority and key objectives in the Core Strategy. 

3.95 To assist in the timely delivery of the EZ and to ensure that the employment benefits across the EZ are 
realised, around 10.3 hectares of land has been released from the Green Belt in the southeast corner of the site.  
This released land will enable the first phase of EZ development identified in Point 6 of DM8 to be realised by 
2027, capitalising on currently available funding streams; and generating income from the employment and 
housing development to fund essential EZ infrastructure securing the long term financial viability of the site.   The 
employment development will also boost the uptake of employment land in the Borough and assist in meeting the 
Core Strategy employment land take-up target of 2.2ha per annum.  The detailed justification for the Green Belt 
release is set out in the Employment Land Update 2021 and Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Topic Paper (Feb 
2022).   

3.95 Residential development is located very close to the boundaries of the EZ to the east, north and west and has co-
existed alongside the existing employment area, in particular in the north and east, for many years.  Included in the 
business case  and the subsequent masterplan and to assist the delivery of the EZ, Site Allocation HSA1.13  (up to 57 

                                                           
 

P
age 57



15 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

dwellings) has been identified on the eastern boundary alongside existing residential development, providing the most 
suitable land use at this location and continuity of residential frontage to Common Edge Road. Any additional residential 
development over and above this specified allocation within the EZ will also have to clearly demonstrate that it is needed 
to deliver the EZ priorities and objectives. 

3.96 In addition to employment development, a housing site on the eastern boundary of the EZ has been 
allocated allowing up to 57 dwellings in proximity to existing residential development to be developed by 2027.  
This housing is enabling development contributing to underpinning the financial viability of the EZ.   

3.96 A design framework incorporating landscaping and green infrastructure  is required to ensure a key objective of 
the EZ Masterplan is realised in delivering  ‘a high quality and sustainable urban environment where cutting-edge 
architecture is complemented with healthy, safe and connected spaces to create an interesting, active and engaged place 
to work and do business’. 

3.97 As part of the first phase of development, a new link road and associated existing road improvements will 
be provided creating an eastern gateway from Common Edge Road into the EZ linking to Amy Johnston Way.  
This will open up access to the industrial heartland of the EZ and new development opportunities by providing 
access to new serviced employment plots and the housing site.  The new road will also link through to the EZ 
Business Hub to relieve existing traffic congestion at the current single point of entry into the EZ from Squires 
Gate Lane12 and provide the opportunity to improve public transport accessibility within and through the site.   
 
3.97 In developing the framework, policies DM21: Landscaping, DM25: Public Art along with Core Strategy policies 
CS6: Green Infrastructure, CS7: Quality of Design and CS9: Water Management in particular will need to inform the 
framework.  These policies clearly set out the advantages to the economy in providing quality design, green infrastructure 
and public realm, impacting positively through enhanced built and natural environment, whilst at the same time supporting 
the local health and cultural wellbeing.  In developing the framework sustainable urban drainage should be integral to the 
proposals. 

3.98 To allow the new link road, serviced employment plots and housing site to be brought forward, the 
existing playing pitches and changing facilities within the site at Common Edge Road, which provide a valuable 
community resource, will be relocated further south within the site but remaining within the Green Belt (Appendix 
E refers).  The new relocated sporting facilities will comprise enhanced playing pitches for football and rugby 

P
age 58



16 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

league including a new 3G football pitch as well as new and upgraded changing facilities.  Accessibility to the 
enhanced sporting facilities within the remaining Green Belt will also be improved including upgraded pedestrian 
access and cycling and parking facilities.   These enhanced sporting facilities and improved accessibility, along 
with improved green infrastructure and landscaping with biodiversity net gain within the remaining Green Belt 
will provide the appropriate required compensatory measures for the loss of Green Belt land within the EZ. 

3.99 The first phase of development to 2027 requires substantial supporting infrastructure.  The key elements 
of this infrastructure are set out in the updated Infrastructure and Delivery Plan (February 2022).  The 
infrastructure includes within the new link road, ducting capacity for a local district heating system and 
accommodating a major fibre optic telecommunications cable.  It also includes making provision for a Local Full 
Fibre Network (LFFN); extending the existing gas mains network; a new primary sub-station, the diversion of the 
33kva electricity cable and a series of smaller network sub-stations; a new water main and foul drainage 
connection and a surface water drainage system incorporating large scale drainage attenuation. 

10 12 ECA allows businesses to recuperate their investment in fixed plant and machinery by reductions in Corporation Tax 
of Euro 125 million currently available to November 2023. 

11 Blackpool Airport Masterplan 2018 and updated Masterplan Plan 2020 

12 Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Masterplan Plan 2020 refers 

MM12 DM9 1.  Development proposals for lands within Blackpool Zoo as identified on the Policies Map will only be permitted if they 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the parkland setting of the Zoo grounds and of the adjoining 
Stanley Park Conservation area and Registered Park and Garden. 
 

MM13 DM10 1.  Development proposals which further improve the appearance and economic function of the Promenade and Seafront 
east of the tram tracks, between the Pleasure Beach and North Pier, as identified on the Policies Map, will be 
supported where they involve: 

4.  Appropriate improvements and development on the pier decks and platforms which underpin the sustainable future of 
the piers and which  preserve or enhance their character or appearance and result in no harm to their significance 
will be supported in principle. 

P
age 59

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/10217-P102-Masterplan-2020-Plan.pdf


17 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

New footnote A landmark is a building or feature that is easily recognised and that can assist wayfinding 

MM14 3.121 In assessing the likely impacts of a proposal, regard will be given to the type of use, proposed opening hours, size of 
premises and operation and servicing. The Council will also consider whether the proposal is likely to increase or create 
a negative cumulative impact in the surrounding area. As such none of the specified uses in the policy will be permitted 
where they will be are adjacent to each other; and there must be at least two units in other uses between other betting 
shops, adult gaming centres or pawnbrokers. In addition there can be no more than three (in total) betting shops, adult 
gaming centres or pawnbrokers within 400m of each other, measured as the crow flies. 

3.122 These specified uses will not be permitted in the Town Centre’s primary and secondary frontages, as set out in policies 
DM12 11 and DM13 12. 

MM15 3.149 In 2018, the Government announced ambitions to reduce obesity in children nationally by 50% by 2030, which would 
result in approximately 5% of reception aged children and 10% of children in year 6 having obesity nationally in 2030. In 
order to support the Government in its ambitions to reduce obesity in childhood and to improve the health of children in 
Blackpool, the Council has adopted the approach taken by other authorities in restricting new hot food takeaways in or 
within 400m of wards where there are 10% of reception children and 15% of children in Year 6 with obesity. 400m is 
approximately a 5-10 minute walk and should be measured as the most direct and safe walking route. 
 
Planning applications will be assessed against the most up to date childhood obesity data by ward, which is 
published by Public Health England, as part of the National Child Measurement Programme. Along with other 
Local Plan Policies and Blackpool’s Public Health Strategies, the effectiveness of Policy DM16 along with the 
current childhood obesity levels, will be monitored through the Annual Authority Monitoring Report using the 
data gathered through the indicators set out in the Monitoring Framework at Appendix H.  
 

MM16 DM17 2. Development should have regard to the following characteristics of the local area:  

b. heritage assets and features their setting; 

MM17 DM18 1. Proposals for new build residential and commercial business (Class B2, B8 and E(g)) development must 
demonstrate how they will provide future occupiers with potential for full fibre broadband connectivity. Development 
proposals must therefore: 
 

3.167 In addition to the wider economic benefits of ensuring that residents and business occupiers (i.e. Class B2, B8 and E(g) 
employment uses) are able to access full fibre broadband when they move into new developments, there is also the 
issue of avoiding the costs and frustrations to occupiers of future retrofitting if the infrastructure is not fit for purpose. 
 
 

P
age 60



18 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

MM18 DM19 and 
supporting text 

3.168 Local Strategic views of assets of particular importance such as historic or distinctive buildings and landscapes 
help to shape the identity of a place. New development should safeguard and enhance important views of such landmark 
buildings and landscapes. , particularly listed and locally listed buildings and buildings and spaces within Conservation 
Areas.  
 
3.169 In and around Blackpool Town Centre, views of historic buildings such as (but not limited to) Views of Blackpool 
Tower and the seafront and coastline the Winter Gardens and the Grand Theatre are particularly sensitive to changes in 
their setting given that the Tower is the focal point of the Promenade and the seafront and coastline serves as a 
shop window to the resort. as are new landmark buildings like Festival House and public spaces such as the Tower 
Festival Headland and St John’s Square.  
 
3.170 This policy aims to enable appropriate development in locations which will enhance Blackpool’s offer without 
detracting from these established strategic views. 
 
Policy DM19: Strategic Views  
 
1. Development should protect and enhance views of the following buildings and features of strategic importance:  
 
a. Blackpool Tower – views from the seafront, from the piers and along main transport corridors leading into the Town 
Centre;  
b. along the seafront and coastline;  
c. into and within conservation areas;  
d. views of listed and locally listed buildings;  
e. views of buildings which provide a landmark and assist with wayfinding.  
 
2. Development that has a detrimental impact on these strategic views will not be permitted.  
 
3.171 The seafront and coastline provide the main focal point of Blackpool as a seaside resort and Blackpool 
Tower is a nationally recognised landmark of significant historical and cultural importance that dominates Blackpool’s 
skyline. It The Tower can be seen from many locations throughout the town and across the wider Fylde Coast area. Views 
of the Tower are particularly prominent from the seafront, from the three piers and on main transport routes leading into 
the Town Centre. New development should be sensitively designed and located so as not to obscure or interfere with 
these views and take into account the predominant height of surrounding buildings. 
 
3.172 Previous, inappropriate development has damaged views of significant historic buildings in the town such as views 
of St John’s Church in St John’s Square and views of the Winter Gardens on the approach from Victoria Street.  
 

P
age 61



19 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

3.172 New development can make a positive contribution to views of Blackpool Tower and the seafront and 
coastline but where development is likely to compromise these views, it will be resisted.  
 
3.173 The scale, mass or height of existing buildings and structures which detract from a strategic view an important view 
will not be accepted as a precedent for their redevelopment where there is an opportunity to improve the view with more 
sensitively scaled and massed development.  
 
3.174 New development which would improve and enhance strategic views will be supported, subject to other planning 
policy requirements. 
 

MM19 DM21  
 

e. where appropriate, contribute towards tree planting in the town in accordance with the Greening Blackpool SPD (or any 
subsequent update) 
 

MM20 
 

DM22 d. include principal signage only at fascia level, or within existing areas of principal signage within existing 
shopfronts, and in proportion to the shopfront and fascia; 
 

3.212 In order to improve the appearance of the Town Centre, District and Local Centres, the Council will seek a reduction in the 
size of fascia’s of excessive dimensions (height, width and depth), which are out of proportion or scale with the shopfront, 
cover original features or are considered to have a detrimental effect on the appearance of the building or the street scene.  
Principal (main) signage should normally comprise a fascia sign that is in proportion to the shopfront and fascia 
or where no fascia exists, in appropriate locations within existing shopfronts.  
 

MM21 3.225 This policy seeks to ensure that advertisements are well designed and placed and are appropriate in their setting and 
cause no harm to residential amenity or negatively impact on highway safety. The display of advertisements is subject 
to a separate consent process within the planning system. This is principally set out in the Town and Country 
Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 (or as amended). This policy is set within the 
context of these regulations.  
 

3.235 The Council takes a proactive approach to preserving or enhancing the townscape and public realm. Where existing 
advertisements with deemed consent are considered to harm have substantial injury to the character and amenity of a 
building or local area the Council will, where appropriate seek removal of these advertisements, which may include serving 
of discontinuance notices 
 

MM22 DM25  4.  Where it is not appropriate to deliver a public art project as part of a specific development, financial contributions will be 
sought to make appropriate provision for public art, unless it can be demonstrated that this would not be viable or 
feasible. 
 

P
age 62



20 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

MM23 DM27 1.  Proposals within or affecting the setting of any of Blackpool’s conservation areas as identified on the Policies Map, 
should preserve conserve or enhance those elements that make a positive contribution to their special character and  or 
appearance including its setting, having regard to the Council’s Conservation Area Appraisals. as identified within the 
conservation area appraisal. 
 
2.  Demolition, or other unacceptable harm to the significance of a building or feature that makes a positive contribution to 
the significance of the Conservation Area, will only be permitted where this harm is outweighed by the public benefits of 
the proposal. Such proposals must be accompanied by clear details of the proposal and justify the harm in line with 
national policy through a heritage statement. Where a heritage statement fails to adequately explain and justify the 
proposal and its impact on the significance of the heritage asset as a whole, this may be used by the Council as grounds 
to justify refusal of the scheme. 
 
3.  Proposals should: 
 
b.  Conserve Preserve or enhance features making a positive contribution. In particular, design, massing and height of 
any building should closely relate to adjacent buildings and should not have an unacceptable impact on townscape and 
landscape; 
 

MM24 DM29 1. Development proposals within or affecting the setting of Stanley Park, as identified on the Policies Map, should: 
 

MM25 DM30 1. Development which would result  in harm to or loss of the significance of archaeological sites including a scheduled 
monument (or a site of national significance) will not be permitted unless it can be clearly demonstrated that the public 
benefits which cannot be met in any other way     would clearly outweigh the harm.’ 
 

Paragraph 3.278 Where it can be demonstrated that the  substantial public benefits of any proposals outweigh the harm to a non- 
designated archaeological site scheduled monument (or site of national significance), consideration will be given to 
the significance of remains and measure sought to ensure mitigation of damage through preservation of the remains in 
situ as a preferred solution. Where this is not justified, the developer will be required to:  
a) make adequate provision for excavation and recording before and / or during development  
b) demonstrate how the public understanding c)  and appreciation of the site can be improved. 
 

MM26 DM31 2.  On greenfield sites applicants will be required to demonstrate that the current natural discharge rate is replicated as a 
minimum. The starting point for this will be a maximum greenfield run-off rate for greenfield sites. 
 
3.  On previously developed sites applicants should target a reduction from pre-existing discharges of surface water to a 
target of greenfield rates and volumes so far as reasonably practicable, with a starting point of a minimum of a 30% 

P
age 63



21 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

reduction in run-off rates. In critical drainage areas the greenfield standard will be expected, with a minimum of a 50% 
reduction in run-off rates. 
 

MM27 DM32  d.  the proposal would not lead to an adverse impact on any heritage asset and their setting, including strategic views; 
has been assessed; 
 
g. all assessments of impacts on air traffic safety, radar and communications have been assessed and consulted upon 
consultation with the appropriate bodies have not identified any adverse impacts; 
 

MM28 DM33 Development proposals will be supported which secure further improvements to bathing water quality or flood protection. 
Development proposals that would adversely affect the appearance, integrity or environmental quality of the beach and 
foreshore will be resisted. The Coast and Foreshore is identified on the Policies Map.  
 

3.311   The North West Marine Plan extends from the mean high water springs to the territorial limit At its landward extent, 
a marine plan will apply up to the mean high water mark. Marine plans are being developed on a rolling programme. The 
North West Marine Plan, which includes Blackpool, is currently being prepared and will be delivered by 2021, with a 20 
year view of activities. Each plan will be monitored with three yearly reviews. Planning applications within the Coast and 
Foreshore designation will also need to be considered against the North West Inshore Marine Plan.  All authorisation 
and enforcement decisions must be made in accordance with the marine plan, and all decisions which are 
capable of affecting the marine area must have regard to the marine plan. 
 

MM29 DM35 
 

1.  Development proposals will be required to: 
 
a. result in no loss or harm to biodiversity through avoidance, adequate mitigation either on site or off site or, as a last 
resort, compensatory measures secured through the establishment of a legally binding agreement;  
 
b. minimise the impact on biodiversity and provide net biodiversity gains through good design by incorporating biodiversity 
enhancement and habitat creation where opportunities exist in line with relevant legislation and guidance. 
 
SSSIs 
 
2.  Development will not be permitted in or adjacent to a Site of Special Scientific Interest where it would adversely affect, 
directly or indirectly, its wildlife and nature conservation importance. The only exception is where the benefits of the 
development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact on the features of the site that make 
it of special scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest. 
 

P
age 64



22 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

Protected Species 
 
4.  Development will not be permitted if after mitigation or compensation it would have an adverse impact on animal or 
plant species protected under national or international legislation.  Development proposals should ensure that species and 
habitats set out in the UK and Local Biodiversity Action Plans will be protected and where possible enhanced. Where  
development is permitted, adequate compensatory measures must be undertaken to sustain and enhance the species and 
its habitat. 
 
 
Agricultural Land  
 
5.  Development which is likely to lead to the loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 
3a) will not be permitted unless supported by other policies in the plan or it is demonstrated that the loss is 
outweighed by other planning considerations. 
 
 

3.320 The Environment Bill 2019 introduced the concept of Biodiversity Net Gain, which relates to the protection, preservation 
and enhancement of habitats. Developers will be required to consider the increase to existing biodiversity in respect of any 
new development in line with the relevant Biodiversity Net Gain legislation and guidance. 
 

Additional sub-
heading and text 
after paragraph 
3.331 

Agricultural Land  
 
Although Blackpool Borough is largely built up and urban in nature, there are some small areas of agricultural 
land (classed as the best and most versatile agricultural land) to the east of the Borough towards Staining and 
across the Marton Moss area. It is important that the loss of this best and most versatile agricultural land is 
minimised. 
 

MM30 DM36 1.  Development will be permitted where in isolation or in conjunction with other planned or committed developments it can 
be demonstrated that the development: 
 
a. Will be compatible with adjacent existing uses and would not lead to significant unacceptable adverse effects on 
health, amenity, safety and the operation of surrounding uses and for occupants, or users of the development itself or 
designated sites of importance for biodiversity, with reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or 
nuisance. Applications will be required to be accompanied, where appropriate by relevant impact assessments and 
mitigation proposals;  
 

P
age 65



23 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

c.  Will not give rise to a deterioration of air quality in a the defined Air Quality Management Area in Blackpool Town 
Centre  or result in the declaration of a new AQMA. Where appropriate an air quality impact assessment will be required 
to support development proposals; 
 
e.  Will not cause pose a any risk of pollution to controlled waters (surface or ground water) and will, where required, 
include mitigation and/or remediation to prevent any unacceptable levels of water pollution. 
to surface or ground water and mitigation will be required to prevent any harm where necessary. 
 

Paragraph 3.336 In considering planning applications for developments and uses that would have a potentially adverse impact on their 
surroundings, the Council will seek to control the location of such activities and land uses and restrict their development in 
close proximity to residential, educational, institutional, recreational and other environmentally sensitive areas such as 
designated sites of importance for biodiversity. Where necessary the Council will require measures to be undertaken 
to mitigate any unacceptable effects of development. These measures might include remediating contaminated land, 
screening, landscaping, sound insulation or changing the layout of the site. In certain circumstances the Council would 
expect an Air Quality Impact Assessment to accompany a planning application, which would identify any impacts 
on air quality and mitigation, as set out in national guidance. Whilst there isn’t a definitive guide to when such an 
impact would be required, this would typically be where a development is in an area where air quality is known to 
be of concern; and/or if the development would be likely to give rise to a negative impact on air quality. The 
requirement for an impact assessment should be agreed with the Council prior to the submission of an 
application. 
 

New paragraph 
after 3.336 

At the time of adoption there is one Air Quality Management Area declared in Blackpool Town Centre. This is 
located in the north of Blackpool Town Centre in the area around Talbot Road and Dickson Road (see Appendix F 
for map) 

MM31 New paragraph 
after 3.340 

The loss of a community facility will only be supported when the applicant has submitted evidence to 
demonstrate that there is no longer a need for the facility in its current use or as an alternative community use. 
The evidence required will depend on the nature of the community use and this must be agreed with the Council 
prior to the submission of an application.  The scope of evidence required will be determined by the nature of the 
use, but will generally look at how community needs are being met elsewhere, how long the property has been 
vacant, how long it is has been marketed for and the economic viability of the community use. 
 

MM32 DM38 1.  Planning permission will not be granted for development that would result in the loss of existing allotments and 
community gardens, as identified on the Policies Map, unless: 
 

MM33 DM41 2.  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans will be required in accordance with having regard to the thresholds set out 
in Appendix G2 D2. 
 

P
age 66



24 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

3.365 The thresholds for Transport Assessments and Travel Plans are set out in Appendix G2 D2 which provides guidance for 
when these are required. In certain circumstances flexibility around these thresholds can be considered on a 
case-by-case basis. Transport Statements will be required if below the Transport Assessment threshold, but above 
500m2 gross floor area. For both, the latest Planning Practice Guidance should be used and the scope should be agreed 
with the Local Highway Authority. All proposals over 500m2 gross floor area, or with ten or more residential units, will be 
expected to demonstrate through a Transport Assessment or Transport Statement how accessibility by walking, cycling 
and public transport can be enhanced to improve the accessibility and connectivity or address concerns in some other 
manner, for example by financially supporting a local bus service. 

MM34 New paragraph 
after 3.368 

Safeguarded areas for Warton Aerodrome are determined in accordance with The Town and Country Planning 
(Safeguarded Aerodromes, Technical Sites and Military Storage Areas) Direction 2002 (as updated). The relevant 
safeguarding areas for Warton Aerodrome (also located in Fylde Borough), are identified by the Ministry of 
Defence (MOD). The safeguarded area reflects the need to restrict the height of built development in wider zones, 
including in Blackpool, in order to ensure safety for both aircraft crew and people on the ground. It also reflects 
the need to prevent interference to communication systems. 
 

DM42 The Blackpool Airport Authority and the Ministry of Defence (MOD) will be consulted on all development proposals as 
appropriate within the aerodrome safeguarding area/zones shown on the Policies Map to ensure there is no adverse 
impact on airport safety at Blackpool Airport or Warton Aerodrome. 
 

New paragraph 
after 3.369 

The MOD statutory aerodrome safeguarding zones surrounding Warton Aerodrome, which extend across parts of 
Blackpool, are shown on the Policies Map. The aerodrome height consultation zone protects the aerodrome’s 
outer horizontal obstacle limitation surface and requires that the MOD is consulted upon applications for 
development that are 91.4m or greater in height. In addition to this, a significant area of Blackpool is covered by 
the statutory birdstrike safeguarding consultation zone. Within this the MOD should be consulted upon 
applications for waste management sites, the creation of water bodies, quarry restorations or other forms of 
development that would entail the creation of habitat that could be attractive to large or flocking birds hazardous 
to air traffic. 
 
 
 

Schedule 1 
MM35 HSA1.1  Former 

Mariners Public 
House 
 

 

Number of dwellings 
expected to be 
delivered 

35 34 

MM36 HSA1.2       Part of the eastern section of the site is identified as playing fields (albeit a lapsed site) that was associated with the 
previous school use.  Further information can be found in the Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) Update Draft - December) 

P
age 67



25 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

2020. Mitigation through a Section 106 agreement will be required. The monies to be invested informed by the draft PPS 
and Action Plan.  
 
Consideration of paragraph 99 of the NPPF and Sport England’s Playing Field Policy Exception E4 is required to 
secure appropriate mitigation, informed by the Council’s adopted Playing Pitch Strategy when the site comes 
forward through the planning process. 
 

MM37 HSA1.4 
 

Key Development Considerations  
Additional bullet point: 

 The development of the site is required to maintain access to the rear of the properties on Warley Road 
(nos. 307 – 339)  

MM38 HSA1.5  
Number of dwellings 
expected to be 
delivered 

160 131 

 
 
 Part of the site is identified as playing fields (albeit a lapsed site) that was associated with a previous school use. It has 

not had formal pitch marking for over 18 years. Further information can be found in the Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) 
Update Draft - December) 2020. Mitigation through a Section 106 agreement will be required. The monies to be 
invested informed by the draft PPS and Action Plan.  Consideration of paragraph 99 of the NPPF and Sport 
England’s Playing Field Policy Exception E4 is required to secure appropriate mitigation, informed by the 
Council’s adopted Playing Pitch Strategy when the site comes forward through the planning process.    

MM39 HSA1.6    
 
 
 
 

Number of dwellings 
expected to be 
delivered 

14 8 

MM40 HSA1.7 
Bullet 4:   Key 
Development 
Consideration
s 
 

The development of the site should be  carried out in accordance with the heritage impact assessment which 
includes  to an appropriate height and  design to enhance those views. 

MM41 HSA1.9 Housing Delivery:  
 

P
age 68



26 
 

 
Ref 

Policy/ 
Paragraph Main Modification 

The site is owned by the local authority. It is a small site where properties have been cleared currently in use as a car 
park and the site is considered developable over the plan period. 
 

MM42 HSA1.9 Key Development Considerations:  
 
 This is a cleared brownfield site currently used as a car park 
 

MM43 HSA1.13 Land at 
Jepson 
Way/Common 
Edge Road, 
Blackpool 

 The site currently has designations including protected playing fields and public open space. The playing fields and 
football club will be relocated to the south as identified in the Enterprise Zone masterplan. The re-provision of sporting 
facilities is detailed in the Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) Update Draft - December) 2020.  Consideration of paragraph 
99 of the NPPF and Sport England’s Playing Field Policy Exception E4 is required to secure appropriate 
mitigation for the existing playing field land informed by the Council’s adopted Playing Pitch Strategy.  
 

 

Appendices 
Ref Main Modification 

MM44 New Appendix A:  Replacement of Saved Blackpool Local Plan Policies 
 
 

Appendix A - Replacement of Saved Blackpool Local Plan Policies 
 

2006 Saved Local Plan Policy 
Superseded by 

adopted Core Strategy 

Policy 

Superseded by 

SADMP Policy 

Reshaping the Resort 

RR1  Visitor Attractions CS21 DM10 

RR2  Visitor Accommodation CS21, CS23  

RR4  Amusement Arcades and Funfairs CS21 DM10 

RR7  Promenade Frontages within the Resort Core CS17, CS21, CS23  

RR8 Resort Neighbourhoods CS12, CS23  

RR9 Resort Neighbourhoods - Development Proposals 

Involving the Loss of Holiday Accommodation 
CS12, CS23  

P
age 69



27 
 

RR10 Resort Neighbourhoods - Change of Use to Holiday 

Accommodation 
CS12, CS23  

RR11 Central Promenade and Seafront  DM10 

RR12 Other Promenade Areas  DM10 

RR13 Central Corridor CS5, CS22  

RR14 Lytham Road/Bloomfield Road, Chapel Street, Central 

Drive and Dickson Road 
CS5, CS22  

RR15 Blackpool Zoo  DM9 

RR16  Norbreck Castle CS23  

Establishing a Thriving Sub-Regional Centre 

SR1  Hounds Hill Deleted 

SR2  Winter Gardens CS18  

SR3  Blackpool North Transport Development Area CS19  

SR3A  New Car Park Deleted 

SR4  Cookson Street/King Street Deleted 

SR5  Principal Retail Core CS4 DM11 

SR6  Retail/Cafe Zone CS4 DM12 

SR7  Mixed Use Zone CS4  

SR8  Leisure Zone CS4 DM10 

SR9  Use of Upper Floors CS4 DM6, DM11, DM12  

SR10  Town Centre Traffic Distribution and Access to Car 

Parking 
CS5 DM41 

SR11  Pedestrian, Cyclist and Public Transport Priority CS5 DM41 

Lifting Quality in the Built Environment 

LQ1  Lifting the Quality of Design CS7 DM1, DM17 

LQ2  Site Context CS7 DM1, DM17 

LQ3  Layout of Streets and Spaces  DM17 

LQ4  Building Design  DM17 

LQ5  Public Realm Design  DM17 

LQ6  Landscape Design and Biodiversity  DM21, DM35 

LQ7  Strategic Views  DM19 

LQ8  Energy and Resource Conservation CS10  

P
age 70



28 
 

LQ9  Listed Buildings  DM26 

LQ10  Conservation Areas  DM27 

LQ11  Shopfronts  DM22 

LQ12  Security Shutters  DM23 

LQ13  Advertisements and Signs  DM24 

LQ14  Extensions and Alterations  DM20 

LQ15  Telecommunications Development Deleted 

 
Homes for Every Need 

HN2  New Housing Allocations CS2, CS25 HSA1 

HN3  Phasing CS2  

HN4  Windfall Sites CS2  

HN5  Conversions and Sub-divisions  DM5 

HN6  Housing Mix CS13  

HN7  Density CS13  

HN8  Affordable and Specialist Needs Housing CS14  

HN9  Gypsies and Travelling Showmen CS16  

Balanced and Healthy Communities 

BH1  Neighbourhoods CS12  

BH2  Talbot and Brunswick Priority Neighbourhood CS12  

BH3  Residential and Visitor Amenity CS7  

BH4  Public Health and Safety  DM36 

BH5  Protection of Public Open Space CS6  

BH6  New Open Space Provision CS6  

BH7  Playing Fields and Sports Grounds CS6  

BH8 Open Land Meeting Community and Recreational 

Needs 
CS6  

BH9  Allotments  DM38 

BH10  Open Space in New Housing Developments  DM1, DM21 

BH11  Shopping and Supporting Uses - Overall Approach CS4  

BH12 Retail Development and Supporting Town Centre Uses CS4  

BH13  District Centres  DM14 

BH14  Local Centres  DM14 

P
age 71



29 
 

BH15 Change of Use of Premise Outside the Defined Centres CS4  

BH16 Shopping Development Outside Existing Frontages CS4  

BH17 Restaurants, Cafes, Public Houses, Hot Food Take-

Aways 
CS4 DM14, DM16 

BH18  Amusement Centres  DM13 

BH19  Neighbourhood Community Facilities  DM37 

BH20  Provision of New Community Facilities CS11, CS12, CS15 DM37 

BH21  Protection of Community Facilities  DM37 

BH22  Victoria Hospital  DM39 

BH23  Blackpool and Fylde College  DM40 

BH24 Residential Institutions and Community Care 

Residential Use 
 DM3 

Diversifying the Local Economy 

DE1  Industrial and Business Land Provision CS3, CS24 DM7, DM8 

DE2  Industrial Improvement Zones Deleted 

DE3  Mixed Use Industrial Zones Deleted 

DE4  Outside the Defined Industrial/Business Estates Deleted 

Conserving the Natural Environment 

NE1  Development within Green Belt CS6  

NE2  Countryside Areas  DM34 

NE3 Replacement Dwellings and Extensions in the 

Countryside 
 DM34 

NE4 SSSIs  DM35 

NE5  Other Sites of Nature Conservation Value  DM35 

NE6  Protected Species  DM35 

NE7 Sites and Features of Landscape, Nature Conservation 

and Environmental Value 
 DM35 

NE8  Urban Greenspace CS6  

NE9  The Coast and Foreshore  DM33 

NE10  Flood Risk CS9 DM31 

Accessibility and Safe Journeys for All 

AS1  General Development Requirements  DM41 

P
age 72



30 
 

AS2 New Development with Significant Transport 

Implications 
 DM41 

AS3  Provision for Walking and Cycling  DM41 

AS4  Provision for Public Transport CS5 DM41 

AS5  Traffic Management  DM41 

AS6  Road Schemes Deleted 

AS7  Aerodrome Safeguarding  DM42 

Planning Obligations 

PO1  Planning Obligations CS11  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 73



31 
 

Ref Main Modification 
MM45 Appendix G: Monitoring Framework (was Appendix E) - New indicators to monitor DM16:  Hot Food Takeaways 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 74



32 
 

Ref Main Modification 
MM46 New Appendix E:  Green Belt Release Map 

Appendix E:  Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Green Belt Release Map 

P
age 75



33 
 

Ref Main Modification 
MM47 New Appendix F:  Map of Air Quality Management Area 

 

Appendix F:  Air Quality Management Area 

Page 76



34 
 

 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Schedule of Proposed Additional Modifications - July 2022 

1 

Blackpool Local Plan Part 2  

Schedule of Proposed Additional (Minor) Modifications 

July 2022 

Appendix 2(b)

P
age 79



Schedule of Proposed Additional Modifications - July 2022 

2 
 

Introduction 

 

This Schedule sets out a number of changes to the Blackpool Local Plan Part 2:  Site Allocation and Development Management Policies 

Publication Version (Proposed Submission) Regulation 19 – January 2021 (SD001). These changes are considered to be minor in nature and do 

not materially affect any of the Local Plan’s policies or interpretation of them.  They are additional modifications for the Council to make on 

adoption of the Local Plan and will not be considered by the Inspector.    

However, these are changes that the Council has identified as being necessary. Therefore, any comments relating to them can be provided for 

the Council’s attention using the unique ‘AdMod Ref’.  

This Schedule should be read alongside the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications, Schedule of Proposed Changes to the Publication 

Policies Map and the SA and HRA Addendums.  The deadline for making comments on this document is Wednesday 7th September at 5pm. 

  

P
age 80

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Local-plan-2021/CONSULTATION-VERSION-Publication-merged-with-Appendices.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Local-plan-2021/CONSULTATION-VERSION-Publication-merged-with-Appendices.pdf


Schedule of Proposed Additional Modifications - July 2022 

3 
 

 

 
Additional 
Modification 
Reference 

Section 
Policy/ 
Paragraph No. 

 
Proposed Changes 
Strikethrough - deleted text 
Bold Underline - New or amended text 
 

AdMod01 Contents Page List of 
Appendices 

Schedule 1: Housing Allocations without Planning Permission  
Appendix A:  Replacement of Saved Blackpool Local Plan Policies 
Appendix B A: Evidence Base List  
Appendix C B: Mixed Use Site Information  
Appendix D C: Allotment Site Allocation Information 
Appendix E:  Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Green Belt Release Map  
Appendix F:  Air Quality Management Area Map 
Appendix G1 D1: Parking Standards  
Appendix G2 D2: Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan (TP) Thresholds  
Appendix G3 D3: Residential Development Accessibility Questionnaire  
Appendix G4 D4: Non-Residential Development Accessibility Questionnaire  
Appendix H E: Monitoring and Implementation Framework 
 

AdMod02 Introduction 1.6-1.8 We consulted on the Regulation 18 Scoping Document during Sumer 2017 setting out the 
list of policies that we suggested should be included in the Local Plan Part 2.  We then 
consulted on an Informal Paper during January and February 2019 which set out proposed 
site allocations, designations and development management policies. All the 
representations received to the consultations, along with our response to the issues 
raised, can be found in the  Consultation Statement [opens a new window]. 
 
This Publication Document (Regulation 19) (Proposed Submission) has been informed 
by previous consultation as well as up-to-date evidence and policy guidance.  It is the 
version of the Local Plan Part 2 that the Council will seek to adopt, and therefore 
policies will be given weight in decision-taking in accordance with Paragraph 48 of NPPF 
2019. It represents the final consultation stage in the document's preparation. 
 

P
age 81

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Blackpool-local-plan/Site-allocations-and-development-management-policies.aspx


Schedule of Proposed Additional Modifications - July 2022 

4 
 

 
Additional 
Modification 
Reference 

Section 
Policy/ 
Paragraph No. 

 
Proposed Changes 
Strikethrough - deleted text 
Bold Underline - New or amended text 
 

After considering the comments received to this consultation, we will then submit Part 2 
and supporting documents to the Secretary of State for the Examination in Public (subject 
to any major issues), which will be chaired by an independently appointed Inspector. The 
Inspector’s report will inform the final Local Plan Part 2 document which we expect to 
adopt in 2021. Figure 2 highlights the key stages in the document’s preparation. 
 
There were a number of stages we had to follow in preparing the Local Plan Part 2 
(Figure 2).  Each stage presented an opportunity for the community and other 
stakeholders to be involved in the local plan process. 
 
*Figure 2 to be updated accordingly 
 

AdMod03 Introduction 1.9-1.14 Text deleted 
 

AdMod04 Introduction 1.15 The Local Plan Evidence Base helps us to develop a detailed understanding of key issues 
and characteristics of Blackpool and the Fylde Coast, and is used to inform and justify the 
policies in the plan. Additional evidence base has been developed to support the 
allocations and development management polices set out in the Local Plan Part 2. These 
documents along with other supporting documents are listed at Appendix B A and can be 
found at evidence base [opens a new window]……. 
 

AdMod05 Introduction 1.16 This Publication Document  The Local Plan Part 2 has been subject to a Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) by external consultants Arcadis, to ensure we meet the requirements of the 
plan making process.  This SA process has been continuous commencing with the 
production of a SA Scoping Document back in 2017, and including includes SA of the 
Informal Consultation Paper (January 2019), SA of the Publication Version (April 2021), 
and Main Modifications SA Addendum (July 2022). 
 

P
age 82



Schedule of Proposed Additional Modifications - July 2022 

5 
 

 
Additional 
Modification 
Reference 

Section 
Policy/ 
Paragraph No. 

 
Proposed Changes 
Strikethrough - deleted text 
Bold Underline - New or amended text 
 

AdMod06 Introduction 1.17 Arcadis also undertook the Habitats Regulation Assessment which is required by law to 
protect European Sites of Biological Importance in the region. The latest HRA Screening 
Report (November 2020 May 2021) and subsequent addendum (July 2022) has have 
been produced for the Publication document Local Plan Part 2 and required no further 
modifications to the Local Plan Part 2  concluded that none of the policies or associated 
allocation sites were considered to have a likely significant effect on any of the 
European sites. 
 

AdMod07 Introduction 1.22 The Monitoring and Implementation Framework set out in Appendix E of the Core 
Strategy has been updated to include links to relevant Development Management Policies 
and can now be found in Appendix H E of this document….. 
 

AdMod08 Policy MUSA1:  
Town Centre Mixed 
Use Site 

2.13 The former Syndicate site located on Church Street is identified as a mixed use site on the 
Policies Map. It is a 0.24 ha site for ground floor convenience retail with a multi-storey car 
park above. The site is currently in council ownership. Further detail on the site allocation 
can be found at Appendix C. 
 

AdMod09 Policy ASA1:  
Allotment Site 

2.18 The proposed site forms part of the Warren Drive/Deerhurst Road Natural and Semi-
natural greenspace category in the OSA. The quality assessment carried out as part of the 
OSA scores the site as poor in terms of various factors such as signage, entrances, access 
for all abilities, car parking, cycling provision, facilities and activities, clear sightline, 
shelter and lighting. The allocation will and have little effect on the open character of the 
wider area.  Further detail on the site allocation can be found at Appendix D. 
 

AdMod10 Development 
Management 
Policies – 
Introductory text 

3.1 The Development Management policies in this section provide a more detailed policy 
context for the consideration of development proposals, as well as setting out standards 
and principles against which planning applications can be assessed. These policies will 
help to deliver the vision and objectives of the Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy and 

P
age 83



Schedule of Proposed Additional Modifications - July 2022 

6 
 

 
Additional 
Modification 
Reference 

Section 
Policy/ 
Paragraph No. 

 
Proposed Changes 
Strikethrough - deleted text 
Bold Underline - New or amended text 
 

conform to the strategic policies in the Core Strategy, in many instances, strengthening 
and elaborating on them to provide for their practical application. The links between the 
strategic policies and the development management policies are shown in the Monitoring 
and Implementation Framework at Appendix H E. 
 

AdMod11 Design 
Requirements for 
New Housing 
Development  

3.19 3.19 Wall-mounted meter boxes in prominent positions will not be acceptable. Their 
obtrusive appearance is often made worse by associated pipes and cables and the 
inevitable loss, over time of the meter box doors. Meter boxes should be sunk into the 
ground - taking them out of sight or placed in visually secluded places. Electric Vehicle 
charging facilities should be provided in garages, car ports or on side elevations of 
properties with driveways. However, it is acknowledged that Electric Vehicle charging 
infrastructure may, in some cases need to be located on the front elevation (on a mid-
terraced house for example). DM41 and Appendix G1 D1 set out Electric Vehicle charging 
requirements in new developments, including changes of use. 
 

AdMod12 DM13:  Betting 
Shops, Adult 
Gaming Centres and 
Pawnbrokers in the 
Town  
Centre 

Header  Amusement Centres, Betting Shops and Pawnbrokers in the Town Centre Betting Shops, 
Adult Gaming Centres and Pawnbrokers in the Town Centre 

AdMod13 DM17:  Design 
Principles 

3.162 The quality and type of materials used in new development can make a significant 
difference to the appearance and quality of a building and whether it enhances or 
detracts from the character of an area. Materials should be carefully selected to ensure 
they are both fit for purpose in a harsh marine climate, particularly in areas close to the 
Promenade and that they help the building fit into the surrounding townscape. In order 
for new development to be as sustainable as possible and to keep as much material 

P
age 84



Schedule of Proposed Additional Modifications - July 2022 

7 
 

 
Additional 
Modification 
Reference 

Section 
Policy/ 
Paragraph No. 

 
Proposed Changes 
Strikethrough - deleted text 
Bold Underline - New or amended text 
 

out of landfill, wherever possible, materials should be re-claimed or be recycled and 
should be re-useable or recyclable at the end of the lifetime of the development. 
 

AdMod14 DM25:  Public Art 3.237 NPPG advises Government guidance has advised that ‘Public art and sculpture can play 
an important role in making interesting and exciting places that people can enjoy using’. 
 

AdMod15 DM25:  Public Art Footnotes 20 
and 21 

20 NPPF Paragraph 8 (July 2019  July 2021)  
21 NPPF paragraph 93 (July 2019  July 2021) 
 

AdMod16 DM41:  Transport 
Requirements for 
New Development 

Point 1e and 2 e. car, cycle and motorcycle parking is provided in accordance with the parking standards 
set out in Appendix G1 D1;  
 
2. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans will be required in accordance with the 
thresholds set out in Appendix G2 D2. 
 

AdMod17 DM41:  Transport 
Requirements for 
New Development 

3.357 Furthermore, developers should have high regard for highway safety, be mindful of traffic 
congestion, fully consider the access and parking needs (refer to Parking Standards in 
Appendix G1 D1) of all users by all modes; and the impact on the environment and on 
people’s health. The impact on local air quality should be taken into account in line with 
the requirements set out in policy Policy DM36: Controlling Pollution and Contamination. 
 

AdMod18 DM41:  Transport 
Requirements for 
New Development 

3.364 To help inform any mitigation measures, accessibility questionnaires, for both residential 
and non-residential development, should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
certain types development 31; or where requested as part of the pre-application process. 
Accessibility questionnaires should be completed as accurately as possible and can be 
found at Appendix G3 D3 for residential development and Appendix G4 D4 for non-
residential development. 

P
age 85



Schedule of Proposed Additional Modifications - July 2022 

8 
 

 
Additional 
Modification 
Reference 

Section 
Policy/ 
Paragraph No. 

 
Proposed Changes 
Strikethrough - deleted text 
Bold Underline - New or amended text 
 

AdMod19 DM41:  Transport 
Requirements for 
New Development 

3.365 The thresholds for Transport Assessments and Travel Plans are set out in Appendix G2 
D2…. 
 
 

AdMod20 Appendix A - New evidence base to add: 
 

2022 Employment Land Update 2021 and Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone 
Topic Paper (February 2022) 

2022 Infrastructure and Delivery Plan – Update (February 2022) 

2022 Addendum to the Housing Topic Paper 2021 (July 2022) 

 
 

AdMod21 Appendix D1 (now 
G1) Parking 
Standards 

2.05 In order to encourage the take-up of electric vehicles, the latest technology should be 
adopted in new development, as set out below. 

AdMod22 Appendix D1 (now 
G1) Parking 
Standards 

2.06 Provision of dedicated parking bays/charging infrastructure in new development 
(including conversions) is required as follows: 

 

AdMod23 Appendix D1 (now 
G1) Parking 
Standards 

Additional 
paragraph after 
2.08 

To ensure flexibility the quantum and specification of EV charging infrastructure should 
be agreed on a case-by-case basis. 

 

P
age 86



Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: 
Site Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies 

Adopted February 2023 

Appendix 2(c)(i)

Page 87



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 88



 

Contents 

1 Introduction ............................................................................................ 1 

2 Site Allocations ........................................................................................ 6 

Policy HSA1: Housing Site Allocations ............................................................................ 7 

Policy MUSA1: Town Centre Mixed Use Site .................................................................10 

Policy ASA1: Allotment Site ..........................................................................................12 

3 Development Management Policies ....................................................... 12 

Housing......................................................................................................... 13 

Policy DM1: Design Requirements for New Build Housing Developments .....................13 

Policy DM2: Residential Annexes .................................................................................20 

Policy DM3: Supported Accommodation and Housing for Older People ........................21 

Policy DM4: Student Accommodation ..........................................................................28 

Policy DM5: Residential Conversions and Sub-divisions ................................................30 

Policy DM6: Residential uses in the Town Centre .........................................................33 

Economy ....................................................................................................... 35 

Policy DM7: Provision of Employment Land and Existing Employment Sites .................35 

Policy DM8: Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone ............................................................38 

Policy DM9: Blackpool Zoo ...........................................................................................42 

Policy DM10: Promenade and Seafront ........................................................................43 

Policy DM11: Primary Frontages ..................................................................................48 

Policy DM12: Secondary Frontages ..............................................................................49 

Policy DM13: Betting Shops, Adult Gaming Centres and Pawnbrokers in the Town Centre

 ....................................................................................................................................50 

Policy DM14: District and Local Centres........................................................................52 

Policy DM15: Threshold for Impact Assessment ...........................................................54 

Policy DM16: Hot Food Takeaways ...............................................................................56 

Design ........................................................................................................... 59 

Policy DM17: Design Principles ....................................................................................59 

Policy DM18: High Speed Broadband for New Developments .......................................63 

Policy DM19: Strategic Views .......................................................................................65 

Page 89



 

Policy DM20: Extensions and Alterations .....................................................................67 

Policy DM21: Landscaping ............................................................................................69 

Policy DM22: Shopfronts..............................................................................................74 

Policy DM23: Security Shutters ....................................................................................77 

Policy DM24: Advertisements ......................................................................................80 

Policy DM25: Public Art ...............................................................................................83 

Heritage ........................................................................................................ 87 

Policy DM26: Listed Buildings .......................................................................................88 

Policy DM27: Conservation Areas .................................................................................90 

Policy DM28: Non-Designated Heritage Assets .............................................................92 

Policy DM29: Stanley Park ...........................................................................................94 

Policy DM30: Archaeology ...........................................................................................95 

Environment ................................................................................................. 97 

Policy DM31: Surface Water Management ...................................................................97 

Policy DM32: Wind Energy ......................................................................................... 100 

Policy DM33: Coast and Foreshore ............................................................................. 104 

Policy DM34: Development in the Countryside ........................................................... 105 

Policy DM35: Biodiversity .......................................................................................... 107 

Policy DM36: Controlling Pollution and Contamination .............................................. 111 

Community ................................................................................................. 113 

Policy DM37: Community Facilities ............................................................................ 113 

Policy DM38: Allotments and Community Gardens .................................................... 116 

Policy DM39: Blackpool Victoria Hospital ................................................................... 117 

Policy DM40: Blackpool and the Fylde College – Bispham Campus .............................. 118 

Transport .................................................................................................... 119 

Policy DM41:  Transport requirements for new development ..................................... 119 

Policy DM42: Aerodrome Safeguarding ...................................................................... 122 

 

Page 90



 

 

Appendices ......................................................................................................  

 

Schedule 1:  Housing Allocations without Planning Permission 

Appendix A:  Replacement of Saved Local Plan Policies 

Appendix B:  Evidence Base List 

Appendix C:  Mixed Use Site Information 

Appendix D:  Allotment Site Allocation Information 

Appendix E:  Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Green Belt Release Map 

Appendix F:  Air Quality Management Area 

Appendix G1:  Parking Standards 

Appendix G2:  Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan (TP) Thresholds 

Appendix G3:  Residential Development Accessibility Questionnaire 

Appendix G4:  Non-Residential Development Accessibility Questionnaire 

Appendix H:  Monitoring and Implementation Framework 

Page 91



   
 

1 
 

1  Introduction

 

What is the Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management 

Policies Document? 

1.1 The Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document is Part 2 of the 

Blackpool Local Plan and is a key planning document which allocates sites for development, 

safeguarding or protection and sets out a suite of development management policies to guide 

appropriate development.  This document does not contain any strategic policies and supersedes 

all saved policies within the Blackpool Local Plan 2006, as detailed in Appendix A. 

 

Blackpool’s Planning Policy Framework 

 

1.2 The Blackpool Local Plan 2012 – 2027 comprises two parts: 

 Part 1 is the Core Strategy [opens a new window] which was adopted 

January 2016 

 

 Part 2 is the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 

Document. 

1.3 The Local Plan is used to determine planning applications and priorities for the Borough 

over the 15 year plan period (2012-2027). 

 

1.4 Alongside the Blackpool Local Plan, Lancashire County Council and the two Unitary 

Authorities of Blackpool and Blackburn with Darwen have prepared a Joint Lancashire Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan [opens a new window], which consists of a number of documents.  

 

1.5 In addition to the above, the Council formally designated the Marton Moss Neighbourhood 

Area and Marton Moss Neighbourhood Forum on 26th March 2019.  Preparation of the Marton 

Moss Neighbourhood Plan is currently being undertaken.  Once the neighbourhood plan is made, it 

will form part of the Development Plan.  

Page 92

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Blackpool-local-plan/Core-strategy.aspx
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Minerals-and-waste.aspx
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Minerals-and-waste.aspx


 

2 
 

Figure 1:  Blackpool’s Planning Policy Framework 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Preparing the Local Plan Part 2  

1.6 There were a number of stages we had to follow in preparing the Local Plan Part 2 (Figure 

2).  Each stage presented an opportunity for the community and other stakeholders to be involved 

in the local plan process.  

Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2009-

2021 

 Core Strategy 

 Site Allocation and Development Management 

Policies 

 Supplementary Planning Documents 

 

Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 

 Part 1: Core Strategy 

 Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies 

 Supplementary Planning Documents 

 

Marton Moss Neighbourhood Plan – under preparation 

 

Page 93



 

3 
 

 Figure 2: Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 Preparation Stages and Milestones 

 

Supporting Documents 

1.7 The Local Plan evidence base helps us to develop a detailed understanding of key issues and 

characteristics of Blackpool and the Fylde Coast, and is used to inform and justify the policies in the 

plan.  Additional evidence base has been developed to support the allocations and development 

management policies set out in the Local Plan Part 2.  These documents along with other 

supporting documents are listed at Appendix B and can be found at evidence base [opens a new 

window].  In addition other Council strategies and declarations have been taken into account 

including: 

 Blackpool Council Plan 2019-2024 

 Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy (2019) 

 Blackpool Council Declaration on healthy weight (2016) 

 Blackpool Council Declaration of a climate emergency (2019) 

 Blackpool’s Climate Emergency Action Plan (2021) 

 

Page 94

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Blackpool-local-plan/Evidence-base.aspx


 

4 
 

Sustainability Appraisal 

1.8 This Local Plan Part 2 has been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) by external 

consultants Arcadis, to ensure we meet the requirements of the plan making process.  This SA 

process has been continuous commencing with the production of a SA Scoping Document back in 

2017, and includes SA of the Informal Consultation Paper (January 2019), SA of the Publication 

Version (April 2021) and Main Modifications SA Addendum (July 2022). 

Habitats Regulation Assessment 

1.9 Arcadis also undertook the Habitats Regulation Assessment which is required by law to 

protect European Sites of Biological Importance in the region.  The HRA Screening Report (May 

2021) and subsequent addendum (July 2022) have been produced for the Local Plan Part 2 and 

concluded that none of the policies or associated allocation sites were considered to have a likely 

significant effect on any of the European sites. 

Wider Policy and Strategy Context  

1.10 Blackpool lies within the Fylde Coast sub-region, along with Fylde and Wyre (two-tier areas 

covered by Lancashire County Council and the Borough Councils of Fylde and Wyre). The sub-region 

demonstrates a high level of self-containment in terms of housing markets, travel to work patterns 

and economic functionality; and the Fylde Coast authorities have been working together on 

strategic planning issues for many years.  It has been important to address cross-boundary issues in 

a collaborative way, to ensure Blackpool’s Local Plan aligns with the policy framework of 

neighbouring authorities, and co-operate with them on strategic planning issues. 

1.11 As part of the Duty to Co-operate, a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) (2015 update) 

is a document jointly created by Blackpool Council, Wyre Council, Fylde Council and Lancashire 

County Council which formalises the dialogue that takes place between the four authorities, 

providing for cross-border co-operation and collaboration regarding relevant strategic matters to 

the area and ensuring that the requirements of the statutory Duty to Co-operate are met. 

1.12 A Statement of Common Ground accompanies the Local Plan Part 2 and sets out how the 

Council has co-operated with neighbouring authorities and prescribed bodies set out in the Local 

Planning Regulations (2012). 

1.13 Beyond the sub-region, Blackpool and the Fylde Coast area is part of the Lancashire 

Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  The LEP was established in April 2011, to provide strategic leadership 

for directing economic growth and priorities across Lancashire.  Blackpool Council works with the 

LEP as part of the Duty to Co-operate.  This has included the preparation of the Lancashire Growth 

Plan and the Lancashire Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), which sets out the growth ambitions for 

Lancashire as a whole for the next 10 years.  The three Fylde Coast authorities established the 

Blackpool Fylde and Wyre Economic Prosperity Board for the Fylde Coast in 2018 with a remit to 

help shape and drive economic development across the sub-area. 

Page 95

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Planning-policy.aspx


 

5 
 

Monitoring and Implementation  

1.14 The Monitoring and Implementation Framework set out in Appendix E of the Core Strategy 

has been updated to include links to relevant Development Management Policies and can now be 

found in Appendix H of this document.  It will be used to determine whether the Blackpool Local 

Plan is effective in meeting its spatial vision, goals and objectives and that it can deliver its intended 

outcomes.  It sets out key indicators, targets or intended policy outcomes, potential risks to 

delivery, contingencies to address changes or shortfalls, and also identifies the implementation and 

delivery mechanisms and partners that will help to achieve the Core Strategy Spatial Vision. 

  

Page 96



 

6 
 

2 Site Allocations  

Housing  

 

2.1 Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy, sets out Blackpool’s housing requirement to build 4,200 new 

homes between 2012 and 2027.  It states that these homes will be located on: 

 

 Sites within the existing urban area, including major regeneration sites; 

 Sites within the South Blackpool Growth area; and  

 Windfall sites (sites which become available unexpectedly and are not specifically identified 

as part of the Local Plan process. They normally comprise previously developed sites) 

2.2 The Local Plan Part 2 ensures that a sufficient supply of sites is available to deliver these 

homes, in accordance with Policy CS2.  Policy HSA1 sets out housing allocations located within the 

existing urban area that will contribute towards meeting this requirement.  The allocations 

comprise sites with and without planning permission.  In the case of the former, this is to ensure 

that the principle of housing development is maintained over the plan period.  The NPPF requires 

local authorities to take a proactive role in identifying and helping to bring forward land that may 

be suitable for meeting development needs, including sites held in public ownership.  Reflecting 

national policy, the Council has been proactive in the selection of sites and has identified land in 

both public and private ownership for allocation.  The Housing Topic Paper (2019) provides further 

detail on the approach taken to selecting the housing sites.  

  

Page 97



 

7 
 

 

Policy HSA1: Housing Site Allocations 
 
The following sites identified on the Policies Map are allocated for residential 
development over the plan period.  The allocations without planning permission are 
subject to the key development considerations set out in Schedule 1. 
 

Site Reference Site Area 
(ha) 

No. of dwellings 
expected to be 
delivered 2021-
2027 

HSA1.1  Former Mariners Public House, 
Norbreck Road 

0.20 34 

HSA1.2  Former Bispham High School & land 
off Regency Gardens 

9.10 176 

HSA1.3  Land at Bromley Close 0.22 12 

HSA1.4  Land rear of 307-339 Warley Road 0.33 14 

HSA1.5  Land at Chepstow Road/Gateside 
Drive and land at Dinmore 
Avenue/Bathurst Avenue,  Grange 
Park 

5.62 131 

HSA1.6  Land at Coleridge Road/George Street 0.14 8 

HSA1.7  190-194 Promenade 0.12 15 

HSA1.8  South King Street 0.59 47 

HSA1.9  Bethesda Road Car Park 0.13 13 

HSA1.10  Whitegate Manor, Whitegate Drive 0.31 16 

HSA1.11  Land off Kipling Drive 0.27 14 

HSA1.12  Land at Rough Heys Lane 0.67 27 

HSA1.13  Land at Enterprise Zone, Jepson Way 1.42 57 

HSA1.14  Site B, Former NS & I Site, Preston 
New Road 

3.31 90 

HSA1.15  Land at Warren Drive 3.12 71 

HSA1.16  Land at Ryscar Way 2.06 47 

HSA1.17  Land at 50 Bispham Road 0.09 12 

HSA1.18  41 Bispham Road and land to the rear 
of 39-41 Bispham Road 

0.35 16 

HSA1.19  Kings Christian Centre, Warley Road 0.12 15 

HSA1.22  7-11 Alfred Street 0.04 14 

HSA1.23  Foxhall Village Phases 2(S), 3 & 4 2.97 192 

HSA1.25  Site of Co-operative Sports and Social 
Club, Preston New Road 

1.57 22 

HSA1.26  9-15 Brun Grove (Blackpool Trim 
Shops) 

0.18 10 

HSA1.27  Waterloo Road Methodist Church, 
Waterloo Road 

0.14 12 

Page 98



 

8 
 

HSA1.29  585 – 593 New South Promenade and 
1 Wimbourne Place 

0.40 88 

Total supply from allocated sites  1153 

 
 

 

2.3 In addition to the sites allocated in Policy HSA1, the Core Strategy housing requirement will 

be met through completions over the period 01 April 2012 – 31 March 2021, sites with planning 

permission including sites at identified South Blackpool Housing Growth locations, apartments as 

part of mixed use proposals at Town Centre Strategic Sites and a windfall allowance.  

2.4 Table 1 shows the housing supply position.  The identified supply is approximately 4338 

dwellings, which exceeds the housing requirement and ensures that there is a flexible portfolio of 

housing sites that can be delivered throughout the plan period.  The Housing Topic Paper provides 

further detail and includes a housing trajectory, which sets out the expected rate of housing 

delivery over the plan period.  

2.5 It is a requirement of the NPPF to identify a five year housing land supply from the intended 

date of adoption of the plan.  A five year supply has been identified for the period 01 April 2021 – 

31 March 2026 and will be updated annually to ensure that a five year supply is maintained over 

the plan period. 

Table 1: Housing Supply Summary 

Source Number of Dwellings 

Completions 1 April 2012 - 31 March 20211 1803 

New build dwellings with extant permission at 31 March 
2021 (including 541 dwellings on allocated sites) 

1054 

Permitted conversions/changes of use (10 or more 
dwellings) at 31 March 2021 

119 

Windfall Allowance for conversions/changes of use (9 or 
less dwellings) and new build dwellings over period 1 
April 2021 – 31 March 2027 

600 

Allocated housing sites without planning permission 612 

Additional supply from Town Centre Strategic Sites 150 

Total Housing Supply 4338 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
1 Completions during 2020-2021 have been significantly impacted due to the Covid-19 Pandemic 

Page 99



 

9 
 

Self-build and Custom Housebuilding 

2.6 The Government is committed to increasing housing supply and wants to see greater 

diversity in the housing market.  As part of this ambition, it wants to enable more people to 

commission or build their own home. 

2.7 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 requires local authorities to keep a 

register of individuals and associations of individuals who are seeking to acquire serviced plots of 

land in their area in order to build homes for those individuals to occupy.  There is a duty on the 

Council to grant sufficient development permissions in respect of serviced plots of land to meet the 

demand evidenced by the register.  Demand for self and custom build plots in the Borough is 

currently limited, as evidenced by the Blackpool Self and Custom Build Register.  The Council is 

meeting the demand as evidenced by the register and this is reported on annually in the Housing 

Monitoring Report and Authority Monitoring Report.  Further information can be found on the 

Council’s website [opens a new window]. 

Providing for the Needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

2.8 Local planning authorities are required to make provision for traveller sites to meet 

objectively assessed needs, working collaboratively with neighbouring authorities.  The Fylde Coast 

authorities jointly published a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) in 2014, 

which set out pitch and plot targets for the sub-region and for the individual authorities. Since 

adoption of the Core Strategy the Government have changed the definition of travellers2 and the 

GTAA was updated in 2016 to reflect this. 

2.9 Utilising the new definition, the updated Fylde Coast GTAA indicated that there was a need 

for five additional pitches for travellers in Blackpool and five additional plots for travelling 

showpeople over the period 2016 to 2031.  Since publication of the GTAA, this need has been 

addressed in the sub-region through additional permissions granted in Blackpool and Fylde for 

traveller pitches and travelling showpeople plots.  Further detail is provided in the Gypsy Traveller 

and Travelling Showpeople Topic Paper (2019). 

2.10 Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy sets out criteria to provide the basis for determining any 

subsequent planning applications for traveller pitches or travelling showpeople plots that come 

forward in Blackpool. 

  

                                                      
2 Governments Planning Policy for Traveller Sites [opens a new window] 

Page 100

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Planning/Planning-policy/Blackpool-Self-Build-and-Custom-Build-Register.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457420/Final_planning_and_travellers_policy.pdf


 

10 
 

Town Centre Mixed Use Site 

2.11 Paragraph 85 of NPPF states that planning policies should allocate a range of suitable sites in 

town centres to meet the scale and type of development likely to be needed.  

2.12 The Blackpool Retail, Leisure and Hotel Study (2018) identified the potential to provide an 

additional foodstore towards the northern periphery of Blackpool Town Centre should a site within 

or on the edge of the centre become available.  The scale of potential foodstore would fit within 

the 1,500 to 2,500 sq.m (gross) bracket, ensuring that the turnover of which would not untenably 

impact on the existing Sainsbury’s foodstore at Talbot Gateway.  

Policy MUSA1: Town Centre Mixed Use Site 
 
Land at Church Street (former Syndicate site) is allocated for a mixed use development including 

a discount food store (up to 2500 sq m gross) and a multi-storey car park. 

 

 

 

2.13 The former Syndicate site located on Church Street is identified as a mixed use site on the 

Policies Map.  It is a 0.24 ha site for ground floor convenience retail with a multi-storey car park 

above.  The site is currently in council ownership.  Further detail on the site allocation can be found 

at Appendix C. 

2.14 An impact assessment has been undertaken to ensure that this additional retail floorspace 

complements, rather than competes with the substantial investment made at Talbot Gateway 

whilst seeking to attract shoppers and residents nearby back into the town centre, instead of 

travelling to other foodstores in the Borough to meet their shopping needs.  

2.15 With respect to the multi-storey car park, the Council has committed to provide additional 

car parking capacity within Blackpool Town Centre responding to the recommendations of the 

Strategic Parking Review undertaken by AECOM in 2016.  

Page 101



 

11 
 

Allotment Site 

2.16 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive 

and safe places which enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address 

identified local health and well-being needs, for example through the provision of safe and 

accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local shops, access to healthier food, allotments 

and layouts that encourage walking and cycling. 

Policy ASA1: Allotment Site 

Land to the north of the Golf Driving Range, accessed from Fleetwood Road is allocated for a new 

allotment, as identified on the Policies Map. 

 

 

2.17 The Open Space Assessment (OSA) (2019) recognises a lack of allotment provision in the 

north of the Borough. In response, the Council is allocating an additional allotment site.  This aligns 

with the Council’s health and well-being agenda promoting outdoor activity and healthy eating. 

2.18 The proposed site forms part of the Warren Drive/Deerhurst Road Natural and Semi-natural 

greenspace category in the OSA.  The quality assessment carried out as part of the OSA scores the 

site as poor in terms of various factors such as signage, entrances, access for all abilities, car 

parking, cycling provision, facilities and activities, clear sightline, shelter and lighting.  The allocation 

will and have little effect on the open character of the wider area.  Further detail on the site 

allocation can be found at Appendix D. 

2.19 This new allotment will be delivered by Blackpool Council in partnership with the Allotments 

Federation [opens a new window].  

Page 102

http://www.bfaa.btck.co.uk/
http://www.bfaa.btck.co.uk/


 

12 
 

3 Development Management Policies 

 

3.1 The Development Management policies in this section provide a more detailed policy 

context for the consideration of development proposals, as well as setting out standards and 

principles against which planning applications can be assessed.  These policies will help to deliver 

the vision and objectives of the Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy and conform to the strategic 

policies in the Core Strategy, in many instances, strengthening and elaborating on them to provide 

for their practical application.  The links between the strategic policies and the development 

management policies are shown in the Monitoring and Implementation Framework at Appendix H. 

  

Page 103



 

13 
 

Housing 

Design Requirements for New Build Housing Developments 

3.2 Good housing design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 

which to live and helps to make development more acceptable to local communities.  This issue has 

been recognised nationally with the recent establishment of the ‘Building Better, Building Beautiful 

Commission’ to tackle the challenge of poor-quality design and build of homes and places.  

3.3 It is essential that new housing developments make a positive contribution towards 

Blackpool’s overall housing stock.  Blackpool has an over-supply of sub-standard smaller dwellings 

and a limited choice of good quality accommodation suitable for families.  One of the Council’s key 

priorities is to rebalance the housing market and lift the quality of all new accommodation that 

comes forward in Blackpool, with a focus on good quality family housing in neighbourhoods where 

people want to live. 

3.4 Core Strategy Policy CS7: Quality of Design sets out the requirements for all new 

development to achieve high quality design.  This policy provides further detail in relation to new 

build housing developments.  

 

Policy DM1: Design Requirements for New Build Housing Developments 
 

1. As a minimum, 20% of all new build dwellings on sites of five dwellings or more 

must meet the Nationally Described Space Standard (or any future successor); 

 
2. Housing designs and layouts must: 

a. respond to the topography, local character and distinctiveness of the area and 

be well integrated into existing development by respecting the established 

streetscene, building lines and patterns of development, in order to maintain 

or establish a strong sense of place. Exceptions may be made for housing 

proposals of high quality and innovative design, which raises the overall design 

quality of an area and contributes positively to the distinctiveness of a place; 

b. safeguard the privacy, sunlight, daylight, outlook and amenity of the occupiers 

of neighbouring properties and future occupiers of the development; 

c. provide adequate private, defined and useable amenity space for existing and 

new occupants. Private amenity space should be at least the equivalent size of 

the footprint of the house or reflect garden sizes in the area. Depending on the 

character of the wider area, where possible, all new build dwellings should 

include amenity space at the front of the property;  

 

Page 104



 

14 
 

d. provide appropriate secure waste and recycling storage at the rear of all 

dwellings or within a garage. Housing development with excessive bin drag 

distances will not be permitted3; 

e. provide a water butt of at least 200 litres for each dwelling, which will collect 

water from the main roof. The water butt should not be located where it 

would be visible from the highway. Grey water harvesting in new flat 

development will be negotiated on a case by case basis; 

f. sensitively incorporate utilities infrastructure into the development. Other 

than electric vehicle infrastructure, utilities infrastructure will not normally be 

acceptable on a prominent elevation in the streetscene. 

 

3. Where provided, garages must have minimum internal dimensions of 6 metres by 

3 metres and driveways must be at least 5.5 metres long and at least 3 metres 

wide. New dwellings without garages should have secure cycle storage provision 

internally or at the rear of the property. Car parking spaces should be provided at 

the side of the dwelling if not integral. Where this is not possible, car parking 

spaces at the front of a property must be less than half the width of the plot or 

less than 50% of the front garden area. All car parking spaces and on-street 

parking bays must be enhanced by landscaping. 

 
4. The design and orientation of roofs should assist the potential siting and efficient 

operation of solar technology and the layout and orientation of dwellings should 

take account of the need to minimise energy consumption. 

 
5. It is the expectation that renewable low carbon energy generation will be explored 

for all new housing development with consideration given to the incorporation of  

renewable energy technology including solar technology and/or air or ground 

source heat pumps. 

 
6. On new build sites of 10 dwellings or more, at least 10% of dwellings should be 

designed to be accessible and adaptable in accordance with technical standard 

M4(2) or suitable for wheelchair users in accordance with  M4(3) of the Building 

Regulations (or as updated). 

 

7. New housing development should be tenure-blind so that affordable housing 
cannot be distinguished from market homes in terms of size, design and materials 
and should not be clustered. 
 

8. Proposals that are not in accordance with the above measures will only be 
permitted where there is clear evidence that it would not be feasible or it would 

                                                      
3 Manual for Streets states that refuse stores shouldn’t be more than 30m from collection point 

Page 105



 

15 
 

directly prejudice viability.  In such circumstances an application should be 
supported by an open book viability assessment. 

 
 

3.5 The NPPF states that planning policies should ensure that new developments are 

sympathetic to the local character and history of a place.  This is often overlooked in residential 

developments where standard house types and layouts are often used throughout the country, 

with little regard to local character and distinctiveness.  The NPPF also states that the planning 

system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate and should help 

to shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise 

vulnerability and improve resilience. 

Nationally Described Space Standard (NDSS) 

3.6 The Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) set out minimum gross internal floor areas 

and associated requirements, including for storage and takes into account commonly required 

furniture and the spaces needed for different activities and moving around. In some new housing 

developments in Blackpool, the bedroom sizes in some standard house types fail to meet the NDSS 

resulting in three bed homes without an adequately sized double bedroom and single bedrooms 

unsuitable for a full size single bed and other furniture or space to play or study.  Using the 

minimum bedroom sizes in the NDSS, some standard house types in recent developments would 

provide a 3 bedroom dwelling only suitable for 2 people as only 2 of the bedrooms meets the 

minimum floorspace standards in the NDSS for single bedrooms. 

3.7 New homes should have adequately sized rooms and efficient room layouts which are 

functional and fit for purpose to meet the changing needs of occupiers.  To ensure that new build 

housing development is of a good quality and suitable for all types of families at any stage in their 

lives, as a minimum, 20% of new build dwellings on a site are required to meet the NDSS or any 

future successor. 

Local Character and Distinctiveness 

3.8 The NPPF and the Building for Life 12 standards confirm that development should establish 

or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types, 

boundary treatments, details and landscaping features and materials to create attractive, 

welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit. 

3.9 New housing development must take account of the local context, character and 

distinctiveness which includes brickwork, stonework, materials, building lines and patterns of 

development and other relevant local details such as the scale and density of existing dwellings in 

the area and the topography of the site.  For example, the Inner Area of Blackpool is characterised 

by terraced housing with stone ground floor bays, red Accrington brick or rendered elevations and 

slate roofs arranged in a grid iron pattern.  These characteristics should be taken into account when 

Page 106



 

16 
 

justifying the scheme’s design, pattern and scale of development and materials being proposed.  

However, housing proposals which demonstrate innovative design may be appropriate, where they 

would raise standards of design, enhance the immediate setting and respond sensitively to any 

defining characteristics of the surrounding area such as the housing schemes at Rigby Road and 

Queens Park. 

3.10 Housing designs and layouts that fail to respond appropriately to their context will not be 

permitted.  A lack of existing positive local character will not be justification for nondescript or 

placeless development. 

Safeguard privacy, sunlight, daylight, outlook and amenity  

3.11 Being overlooked, having insufficient sunlight and daylight, having poor outlook and poor 

amenity generally can have a detrimental impact on mental health and wellbeing.  In order to 

provide acceptable living standards for both occupiers of existing neighbouring development and 

the future occupiers of the proposed development, regard should be given to the amenities of all in 

relation to these issues. 

3.12 Private amenity space such as rear gardens and balconies should be screened to give a 

reasonable level of privacy for the occupiers and their neighbours.  Good levels of sunlight and 

daylight reduces the reliance of electric lighting and mechanical extraction or ventilation, reducing 

energy consumption.  Main habitable rooms should have an outlook over a street or a landscaped 

garden area rather than a back alley or onto a wall in close proximity.  Access to backland sites 

should not be directly adjacent to an existing dwelling as noise from vehicular movements is likely 

to be detrimental to residential amenity, even if the access meets the requirements of Policy DM41 

in terms of highway safety and other traffic considerations. 

Gardens and Amenity Space 

3.13 Gardens can have a positive impact on health and wellbeing and often contribute positively 

to the character and appearance of the built environment, as well as making an important 

contribution towards Green and Blue Infrastructure (GBI).  Private domestic gardens can perform a 

wide variety of GBI functions such as providing habitats for wildlife and areas for private recreation, 

trapping air pollutants, absorbing noise and infiltrating/intercepting water to reduce surface water 

flooding. 

3.14 In accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS6, where possible, all new build dwellings should 

include front (where appropriate depending on the character of the wider area) and rear gardens 

which are practical and useable in terms of their size and shape.  Care should also be taken to 

ensure the space offers good amenity which is not overshadowed by neighbouring development.  

Requiring private amenity space of an equivalent size to the footprint of the house or which reflects 

garden sizes in the area, will ensure that sufficient and meaningful amenity space is available to 

meet the needs of future residents and will contribute towards the development’s green 

infrastructure.  Housing development will also be expected to provide public open space and green 

Page 107



 

17 
 

infrastructure such as SuDS and trees in accordance with Policy DM21 and the Greening Blackpool 

SPD. 

Waste Provision 

3.15 Waste and recycling bins stored at the front of properties detract from the street scene and 

in some parts of Blackpool, particularly in the higher density areas, there is a proliferation of waste 

and recycling storage bins left unsecured in front gardens. 

3.16 Insufficient or unsecure refuse storage leads to overflowing bins or bins which have blown 

over, creating opportunities for scavenging gulls, a particular problem in seaside towns, resulting in 

litter on the pavements and backstreets, which is both unsightly and a risk to the environment and 

to public health. 

3.17 These issues can be designed out in new development, if appropriate secure waste and 

recycling storage provision is made to the rear of properties, or garages are designed to 

accommodate such storage.  Housing designs and layouts that are likely to result in waste and 

recycling bins being left at the front of properties will not be permitted. 

Domestic Grey Water Storage  

3.18 Installing water butts in housing development allows the collection and re-use of grey water 

which can be used to wash a car or water the garden, lowering the demand on mains water 

supplies, reducing surface water runoff flowing into the drains and reducing metered bills.  Water 

butts should be installed at the side or rear of the property depending on the design of the roof. 

Utilities Infrastructure  

3.19 Wall-mounted meter boxes in prominent positions will not be acceptable. Their obtrusive 

appearance is often made worse by associated pipes and cables and the inevitable loss, over time 

of the meter box doors.  Meter boxes should be sunk into the ground - taking them out of sight or 

placed in visually secluded places.  Electric Vehicle charging facilities should be provided in garages, 

car ports or on side elevations of properties with driveways.  However, it is acknowledged that 

Electric Vehicle charging infrastructure may, in some cases need to be located on the front 

elevation (on a mid-terraced house for example).  DM41 and Appendix G1 set out Electric Vehicle 

charging requirements in new developments, including changes of use.  

3.20 Soil pipes and rainwater goods and other plant must also be sensitively integrated into the 

development at the initial design stage.  Details of the siting of meter boxes, soil pipes and 

rainwater goods and plant should be submitted with a planning application.  In the absence of this 

information, conditions may be imposed on a planning permission requiring that these details are 

provided prior to the commencement of development. 

 

 

Page 108



 

18 
 

Affordable Housing 

3.21 Core Strategy Policy CS14 and the Affordable Housing SPD sets out the requirement for 

affordable housing.  Far too often, affordable housing in new development is clustered in poorer 

quality, higher density terraces, tucked away at the back of a housing site. 

3.22 In order to create inclusive, balanced and sustainable communities, affordable housing 

should be indistinguishable from market housing, should provide an appropriate housing mix and 

should occur throughout the development rather than being clustered together in one location. 

Garages and Driveways 

3.23 In recent decades, car sizes have increased noticeably whilst the size of domestic garages 

have remained unchanged.  For example the average family car and larger cars have increased by 

over 20% over the last 38 years, with smaller cars increasing by over 40% in size. 

3.24 With the growing size of cars, garages have had insufficient space to accommodate them.  

This has resulted in garages being used for general storage or converted into additional living space, 

putting pressures on on-street parking and having cars parked in front of the building line, to the 

detriment of visual amenity and highway safety.  Similarly, driveways of insufficient depth and 

width are either underused or result in vehicles overhanging the pavement. 

3.25 In order to ensure that garages and driveways are fit for purpose and can accommodate 

modern cars, bicycles, facilitate the charging of electric vehicles and allow for bin storage and 

access to collection points, the internal dimensions of garages in new build housing development 

must be at least 6m x 3m and driveways must be at least 5.5m x 3m.  The minimum dimensions for 

garages and the length of driveways has been required and implemented successfully in the 

Extending Your Home SPD for garage side extensions, across all three of the Fylde Coast authorities 

since 2007 and the same standards should be applied for new build housing. 

3.26 It is important that car parking spaces in front of a dwelling do not dominate the front 

elevation in the interests of good design, residential amenity and to allow space for a front garden.  

Front gardens not only improve the appearance of an area, they also function as green 

infrastructure, which is beneficial to health and well-being, assist in reducing surface water run-off 

and provide habitats for wildlife.  As such, car parking spaces should normally be less than half the 

width of the front elevation.  Where this isn’t possible, alternative on or off-site green 

infrastructure provision will be negotiated in mitigation, on a case by case basis. 

Sustainable Design and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation 

3.27 Reducing the energy requirements of new development can be achieved through all stages 

of design, from the site layout and the orientation of buildings to the efficient design of the 

buildings themselves.  Careful design of a building and the design and specification of built 

elements can balance heat loss and overheating in new buildings.  Mitigation measures such as 

building orientation, external shutters, the correct shading of windows on south and west 

Page 109



 

19 
 

elevations, using passive stack or cross ventilation, green-roofs for thermal mass and the choice of 

materials and design of outer walls can all assist in reducing the need and use of energy. 

3.28 Opportunities for renewable and low carbon energy generation should be explored for all 

housing development with consideration given to incorporating renewable energy technology 

including solar technology and/or ground source heat pumps.  

Accessible and Adaptable Housing 

3.29 Accessible and adaptable housing should be provided on schemes of ten dwellings or more, 

forming at least 10% of housing provision.  This housing should be designed to meet technical 

standards M4(2) or M4(3) of the Building Regulations (or as updated).  Housing meeting part M4(3) 

of Building Regulations should be secured through liaison with the Council’s Housing Manager and 

through developers working with Registered Providers on a case-by-case basis. 

  

Page 110



 

20 
 

Residential Annexes 

 

3.30 Residential annexes are a form of development that allows relatives to live with their family 

with a degree of independence.  An annexe can provide future security as families plan for ageing 

relatives and young adults who, for example, return to live at home after university.  However, the 

Council acknowledges that this type of accommodation needs to be carefully controlled. 

 

Policy DM2: Residential Annexes 
 

1. Proposals for residential annexes must take into account the layout, design and 

physical relationship with the main dwelling and must: 

 

a. be subservient / subordinate to the main dwelling in terms of size and scale;  

b. have design and layout which provides a functional link with the main 

dwelling; 

c. be within the curtilage as the main dwelling and share its vehicular access;  

d. be designed in such a manner easily to enable the annex to be used at a later 

date as an integral part of the main dwelling;  

e. have no boundary demarcation or sub division of garden areas between the 

annex and main dwelling;  

f. have adequate parking and amenity space and bin storage for the needs of the 

annex occupants and existing residents; 

g. use materials sympathetic to the main dwelling. 

 

2.  A Section 106 agreement, tying the occupation of the annexe to the existing 

dwelling will be required.  

 

  
 

3.31 A residential annex is accommodation ancillary to the main dwelling within a residential 

curtilage and must be used for this purpose.  It is acknowledged that an extension of the house or 

conversion of an outbuilding may provide an opportunity to accommodate elderly or sick relatives 

whilst giving them some degree of independence.  However, the annex should form part of the 

same planning unit and should not be used as a self-contained dwelling, separate from the original 

dwelling house, (i.e. the occupants should be a dependant relative(s) or be employed at the main 

dwelling, perhaps sharing facilities such as a kitchen).  The annex should also remain in the same 

ownership as the main dwelling and this will be secured through a Section 106 Agreement. 

3.32 The layout, design and physical relationship between the house and the proposed annex will 

be important considerations in determining such planning applications, as will the size and scale of 

the accommodation to be provided. 

Page 111



 

21 
 

Supported Accommodation and Housing for Older People 

 

3.33 Supported Accommodation ensures those with support needs can lead a healthy and 

fulfilling life within their own home and community.  Supported housing services range widely, but 

they all play a crucial role in providing a safe and secure home with support for people to live 

independently.  Housing for Older People refers to those people over or approaching retirement 

age, including the active, newly retired, through to the very frail.  This type of housing can include 

accessible adaptable general needs homes, specialised housing with support and nursing homes. 

 

3.34 Policy DM3 provides specific criteria to ensure that there is a sufficient supply of a range of 

good quality and well managed accommodation for older people and people with specialist needs 

close to their own communities. 

 
 

Policy DM3: Supported Accommodation and Housing for Older People 
  

1. Proposals for supported accommodation (falling under Sui Generis or Use Class 

C2) and housing for older people (falling under Use Class C2 or C3) will be 

permitted where the development meets all of the following criteria: 

 

a. there is a demonstrable need for the type of accommodation in Blackpool and 

is targeted at meeting the needs of local residents and supported by the 

relevant commissioning managers where appropriate; 

b. the site or property is suitable to meet the needs of the intended occupiers, 

carers and visitors; 

c. the site has a high level of accessibility to public transport, shops, services and 

community facilities appropriate to the intended occupiers; 

d. sufficient good quality and accessible landscaped amenity areas for residents 

and visitors to enjoy; 

e. contributes positively to the creation and maintenance of healthy and 

balanced communities; 

f. the scale and intensity of the use would not have a harmful effect on the 

amenities of the occupiers of adjacent properties; 

g. the proposal maintains or enhances the residential character of the 

surrounding neighbourhood; 

h. a detailed Management Plan is submitted. 

 

2. In order to protect the character and amenities of residential areas and avoid any 

undue concentration of Supported Accommodation and/or Housing for Older 

People (other than older person independent living schemes (use class C3)): 

 

 

Page 112



 

22 
 

a. no more than 10% of any properties within one block will be permitted in 

such use  

b. no supported accommodation or housing for older people will be permitted 

where there is evidence of an existing property meeting similar needs within 

400 metres. 

 

Supported Accommodation  

3.35 Supported Accommodation is any housing where accommodation is provided alongside 

care, support or supervision to help people live as independently as possible in the community.  

This includes:  

 Accommodation for young people, e.g. children’s residential care homes and semi-

independent living for 16-18yr olds 

 Accommodation for older persons 

 People with learning, mental health and physical disabilities  

 Emergency accommodation, e.g. for people at risk of homelessness or domestic abuse 

 Rehabilitation accommodation, e.g. for people recovering from homelessness or drug or 

alcohol dependency; or offenders and ex-offenders  

3.36 Supported accommodation also includes include hostels, care homes and other types of 

accommodation that is built, adapted or managed to meet specialist needs.  This type of 

development may also offer accommodation on a temporary or longer term basis. 

3.37 C2 uses and hostels4 (Use Class sui generis) are typically more intensive than C3 residential 

uses and over concentrations of C2 and sui generis uses can also be detrimental in residential areas 

due to increased pressures on parking, increased comings and goings and increased noise and 

refuse.  

  

                                                      
4 Hostels are a sui generis use which means they are a use class of their own.  Hostels provide short term, shared, and 
often specialist accommodation with an element of care or management and are usually aimed at specific groups of 
people. 

Page 113



 

23 
 

Housing for Older People 

3.38 In the UK, the number of people living over and above the age of 65 is increasing at a faster 

rate than all other age groups5 and in Blackpool is projected to rise from 28,700 in 2017 to 33,200 in 

2030.  This equates to almost a quarter of Blackpool’s total population6. 

3.39 Blackpool Council’s published older person’s accommodation strategy – Blackpool Council’s 

Housing Plan for the Ageing Population (2017-’20)7, identifies a shortage of specialist housing stock 

for older people in the Borough. 

3.40 The term ‘older people’ usually  refers to those  people over or approaching retirement age, 

including the active, newly retired, through to the very frail.  Housing needs can range from 

accessible adaptable general needs homes to the full range of retirement homes, specialised 

housing with support through to nursing homes (see figure 3). 

Figure 3:  Different Types of Housing for Older People

 

Demonstrating local need 

3.41 The Care Act 20148 places a duty on all local authorities to meet the need for residential 

care and nursing home bed spaces within their own community and this is also the preferred 

                                                      
5 The Office of National Statistics (ONS) projects an increase of 39% in people aged 65 and over living in England by 
2030 (v’s 2014).  It is projected the number of people aged 80 and above will more than double by 2037 and the 
number of people aged over 90 will triple. 
6Projecting Older People Population Information  
7Blackpool Councils Housing Plan for the Ageing Population June 2017 
8 Care Act 2014 [opens a new window] 

Page 114

https://www.poppi.org.uk/
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Your-Council/The-Council/Documents/Blackpool-Councils-Housing-Plan-for-the-Ageing-Population-Final-June-17.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted


 

24 
 

approach as set out in the care home market study 20179.  The level of provision of Supported 

Accommodation and Housing for Older People should therefore reflect the needs of the community 

they serve. 

Housing for Older People 

3.42 Any new proposals for Housing for Older People should support the aims and objectives of 

the Council’s Older Persons Strategy.  

3.43 Proposals to provide residential care homes for the elderly should be supported by the 

relevant Commissioning Manager (health and social care or local authority) and align to 

Commissioning Plans and relevant standards. 

Supported Housing 

3.44 Applications for supported housing must demonstrate that the facility is necessary to meet 

the needs of existing Blackpool residents to ensure that local areas do not make a disproportionate 

level of provision to meet needs which arise from outside the Blackpool area.  The abundance of 

large inexpensive property in Blackpool has encouraged an increased number of such properties 

accommodating adults and children with specialist needs from other local authority areas and this 

is having significant financial implications for the Council and other service providers. 

3.45 It is the developer’s responsibility to provide evidence of local need and early consultation 

with the Council’s Adult or Children’s Services Department (or any other relevant authority) is 

required. 

Accessibility to public transport, shops, services and community facilities  

3.46 Proposals for supported accommodation must have high levels of accessibility, which 

depending on the needs of occupiers of specialist accommodation, generally means that they may 

need to be located close to or on bus routes to essential services such as education, health care and 

family support, having regards to the accessibility questionnaire in Appendix G3.  Therefore it is 

important that the accommodation provided is situated in an area which will support the needs of 

the future occupiers. 

3.47 Accommodation for older or less mobile people should be located close to local amenities in 

order to enable and support residents to continue living independently.  Developers are 

encouraged to take into account Housing our Ageing Population Panel for Innovation (HAPPI)10 

design principles when developing accommodation for older people. 

 

                                                      
9 Care Home Market Study [opens a new window] 
 
10 HAPPI report 

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-homes-market-study-summary-of-final-report/care-homes-market-study-summary-of-final-report
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/type/The-Housing-our-Ageing-Population-Panel-for-Innovation-HAPPI-Report-2009/


 

25 
 

Meeting the needs of the intended occupiers, carers and visitors 

3.48 Living in supported accommodation can lead to social isolation, so it is important that there 

are sufficient on-site facilities such as communal space, communal kitchen and dining facilities, 

laundry and drying facilities, opportunities for recreation and sufficient car parking for residents, 

staff and visitors. 

3.49 Homes designed with older people in mind might include a secure place to park and charge 

a mobility scooter, sufficient circulation space, accessible bathrooms and door widths that can 

accommodate a wheelchair or a hoist. 

Amenity areas  

3.50 Good quality communal amenity areas which include green infrastructure and soft 

landscaping, are important elements in ensuring the quality of the overall development and assist 

in establishing residential character. 

3.51 It is also important for people to have access to good quality amenity spaces as they are 

beneficial to both physical and mental wellbeing.  This is of particular importance in supported 

accommodation and housing for older people, where poor physical health or trauma can impact 

negatively on mental health. 

Healthy and balanced communities 

3.52 The Inner Area of Blackpool is already densely populated and experiences a high 

concentration of acute deprivation levels with extreme social, health and economic inequalities.  

The housing stock in the Inner Area is heavily skewed towards single person occupancy in the form 

of bedsits, HMO type accommodation, hostels and small one-bedroom flats and a lack of family 

housing.  This has led to an extremely dense and unbalanced housing stock which attracts low 

income and vulnerable households, leading to high levels of deprivation, crime, anti-social 

behaviour and unstable, fragmented and transient communities.  All new development in the Inner 

Area, including C2 uses and hostels, should contribute positively to the creation and maintenance 

of healthy and balanced communities.  

Amenities of neighbours and residential character 

3.53 This policy recognises the desirability of integrating such uses within the community, but 

aims to ensure that Use Class C2 uses and hostels are not located where they would be 

inappropriate and cause undue harm to the existing character of an area or residential amenity. 

3.54 Proposals should not cause harm to the residential amenity of occupiers of nearby 

properties by reason of noise and disturbance nuisance.  Supported accommodation and care 

homes are normally most appropriately located in larger detached properties set in their own 

grounds.  The development of such uses in smaller detached or large semidetached or terraced 

Page 116



 

26 
 

houses will not be acceptable, unless the amenity of adjoining occupiers can be safeguarded 

against loss of amenity due to noise and disturbance. 

3.55 Where a proposal relates to a site in an area which already contains premises in similar use, 

and/or houses in multiple occupation and/or properties converted into self-contained flats, account 

will be taken of the cumulative effect of such uses upon the residential character and appearance 

of the area. 

3.56 Boundary walls should be re-instated and external alterations may be required to establish 

residential character. 

Management Plan  

3.57 A Management Plan should be submitted with all applications to ensure that full 

consideration has been given to the proper management of the accommodation, in the interests of 

the future occupants, the residential amenity of neighbouring properties.  Details of what should be 

included in a Management Plan include: 

 an emergency contact;  

 waste management;  

 behaviour and noise management; 

 security;  

 travel management and cycle parking;  

 repairs and maintenance;  

 health and safety. 

 
Safeguarding the character and amenities of residential areas 

 

3.58 To support the Council’s wider aims to create more balanced and healthy local communities 

and in order to avoid over-concentrations of Supported Accommodation and/or Housing for Older 

People (excluding older person independent living schemes (use class C3)) which can impact on the 

character and function of residential areas, no more than 10% of properties in any one block will be 

permitted in such uses and no similar specialist uses will be permitted within 400 metres, as the 

crow flies,  of a similar existing premises. 

 

3.59 The block is defined as the following: 

 The frontage in which the application property is located within. 

 Street frontages can vary greatly in length.  A block is therefore considered as a maximum 

should not extend beyond 100 metres in either direction from any proposed development 

application site. 

Page 117



 

27 
 

 Where there are clear breaks in the property frontage, such as adjoining roads or other 

major intervening uses, then the definition of the length of a block may be less – but as a 

minimum should not be less than 75 metres.  

Page 118



 

28 
 

Student Accommodation 

3.60 The demand for student accommodation in Blackpool is principally generated by the 

Blackpool and the Fylde College’s University Centre on Bennett Avenue which offers higher 

education arts based courses.  The Bispham and Gateway Campuses offer further education 

courses to students who typically already live in or around Blackpool.  Existing student 

accommodation focused around the University Centre is typically converted holiday 

accommodation and house shares. 

3.61 This policy sets out how applications for new student accommodation will be assessed. 

Policy DM4: Student Accommodation 
 

1. Proposals for student accommodation will be permitted subject to: 

 

a. a demonstration of quantitative and qualitative need; 

b. being located within 800 metres walking distance of the relevant learning 
centre.  Where an application site is beyond 800m a sequential approach must 
be undertaken with preference given to sites on or close to public transport 
routes which provide a high level of accessibility to the relevant learning 
centre; 

c. the suitability of the premises and the proposed layout; 

d. the effect on the character of the local area and adjacent properties, including 

the impact of the intensity of the use; 

e. the proposal providing internal spaces which through their layout and size lead 

to acceptable living conditions having regard to the relevant guidance;  

f. the submission of a management plan for the operation of the premises; and 

g. an occupancy condition to protect the accommodation from becoming an 

HMO. 

 

 

 

3.62 Within this local context and to ensure we manage the provision of new student 

accommodation applications must demonstrate that there is both a quantitative and qualitative 

need. It is the developer’s responsibility to provide evidence of need and early consultation with 

Blackpool and Fylde College (or alternative learning centre) is recommended.  To demonstrate 

need, the developer must provide a written statement from the learning centre, which confirms the 

willingness of the Accommodation Officer to add the property to the learning centres accredited 

register.   

3.63 Students tend to spend a significant amount of time in their bedrooms studying and in 

addition to standard bedroom furniture, a student bedroom requires study space.  As such, a 

standard single bedroom size outlined in the National Technical Housing Standards is not 

appropriate for student accommodation.  Proposals should have regard to the minimum floorspace 

Page 119



 

29 
 

standards for student accommodation in Blackpool set out in the Student Accommodation Advice 

Note and within the New Homes from Old Places SPD (or as updated). 

3.64 A Management Plan should be submitted with an application for new student 

accommodation to ensure that full consideration has been given to the proper management of the 

accommodation, in the interests of the future student occupants, the residential amenity of 

neighbouring properties and the appearance of the streetscene.  The Management Plan should 

include details relating to the following: 

 An emergency contact 

 Waste management 

 Behaviour and noise management 

 Security 

 Travel management and parking  

 Repairs and Maintenance 

 Health and Safety  

 

3.65 The University Centre is predominantly arts based and students often have to carry heavy or 

bulky equipment to and from their accommodation.  With that in mind, 800 metres (1The 

Institution of Highways and Transportation - Providing for Journeys on foot, 2000 table 3.2) is 

considered to be a reasonable walking distance for students and this is the walking distance 

referred to in the Student Accommodation Advice Note which has successfully been implemented 

in the past.  The 800 metres should be measured as the most direct and safe walking route.  Where 

an application is beyond the 800 metres, sites with a high level of public transport accessibility to 

the University Centre will be prioritised.   In accordance with the Residential Accessibility 

Questionnaire at Appendix G3, sites are considered to have a high level of public transport 

accessibility if they are within 200 metres of a bus stop. 

 

3.66 Existing properties in the area around the University Centre are generally larger than the 

average house, given that many were purpose built holiday accommodation.  It is therefore 

considered that these types of properties close to the University Centre are more suitable for use as 

student accommodation than established family homes further afield. 

3.67 Whilst ‘studentification’ isn’t a particular problem in Blackpool, surplus student 

accommodation is vulnerable to being used more intensively as poor quality housing for general 

occupation by vulnerable transient people whose chaotic lifestyles and social problems can 

destabilise local communities. 

  

Page 120

http://www.hwa.uk.com/site/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/NR.4.3F-CIHT-Guidelines-for-Providing-Journeys-on-Foot-Chapter-3.pdf
http://www.hwa.uk.com/site/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/NR.4.3F-CIHT-Guidelines-for-Providing-Journeys-on-Foot-Chapter-3.pdf


 

30 
 

Residential Conversions and Sub-divisions 

3.68 Blackpool has a significant number of older properties where there is potential for 

conversion to residential use, particularly the existing large stock of holiday accommodation.  The 

Council recognises that conversions to residential use provide an important source of additional 

housing and the Core Strategy housing requirement figure (Policy CS2) includes an allowance for 

100 dwellings per annum for residential conversions.  It is important that any new conversion that 

comes forward is of a high quality and provides a good standard of residential accommodation. 

 

Policy DM5: Residential Conversions and Sub-divisions 
 

1. Proposals for the sub-division and/or change of use of existing buildings for 

residential use will only be permitted where:  

 

a. the building is not safeguarded for an alternative use under another policy in 

the Local Plan;  

b. the proposed units are all fully self-contained and satisfy the Nationally 

Described Space Standards (or any future successor).  Proposals should also 

have regard to the Council’s adopted standards; 

c. the size and layout of properties proposed for single family use is consistent 

with such occupation;  

d. applications for the conversion of properties from non-residential uses to 

residential use include appropriate proposals to establish residential character 

and maximise residential amenity; 

e. utilities infrastructure is sensitively positioned avoiding any front elevation. 

 
Inner Area:  

 

2. Within the Inner Area as defined on the Policies Map, proposals for the sub-division 
and/or change of use of existing buildings for residential use will not be permitted 
where: 

 
a. the proposal involves extensions to the property or utilising  the roof space or 

basement for residential use; or  

 

b. it would  further intensify existing over-concentrations of flat accommodation.  
 

Houses in Multiple Occupation: 

 

3. Proposals for the conversion of existing dwellings or other buildings into houses in 

multiple occupation (HMOs) will not be permitted in any part of the Borough.  

 

Page 121



 

31 
 

3.69 All planning applications for conversion to residential use must accord with Policy CS13 of 

the Core Strategy which sets out the requirements for new housing including conversions in terms 

of housing mix, density and floorspace standards.  

3.70 The New Homes from Old Places (Residential Conversions) SPD and the Nationally Described 

Housing Standards define the Council’s standards for accommodation including floorspace, layout 

and amenity space, ensuring  any changes to residential use result in good quality, self-contained 

living accommodation.  

3.71 Applications for the conversion of properties from non-residential uses such as from holiday 

accommodation, will need to include appropriate proposals to establish residential character and 

maximise residential amenity.  This includes the removal of inappropriate additions, reinstatement 

of bay windows, erection of boundary walls, creation of front and rear garden space and 

appropriate green infrastructure.  

3.72 New utilities infrastructure such as meter boxes, soil pipes and rainwater goods must be 

sensitively positioned, particularly avoiding any front elevation so as not to detract from the 

appearance of the building.  Details should be submitted with a planning application or conditions 

may be imposed requiring that these details are provided prior to the commencement of 

development.   

Inner Area 

3.73 Blackpool’s Inner Area is characterised by a significant oversupply of poor quality one-

person accommodation in the form of HMOs, bedsits and small flats (Fylde Coast Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment 2013).  This concentration of small, poor quality housing in the Inner Area has 

resulted in an extremely dysfunctional and unbalanced housing supply and led to a wide variety of 

social problems including high levels of crime, anti-social behaviour and unstable, fragmented 

communities with high levels of transience.  The Inner Area of Blackpool presents one of the most 

testing social and economic challenges in the country. 

3.74 A key aim of the Core Strategy is to rebalance the housing stock within the inner areas.  

Therefore to tackle the oversupply of bedsits and small flats and to promote the development of 

sustainable neighbourhoods, detailed assessments will be made of the existing mix of properties in 

the area where the proposed conversion is located and a review undertaken of the most up to date 

census information.  Proposals which would further intensify existing over-concentrations of flat 

accommodation will be resisted. 

3.75 In addition, given the already intensively developed nature of the Inner Area, property 

extension including roof-lifts, dormers and the use of basements for the purposes of creating 

additional flat accommodation is considered unacceptable as it leads to a further intensification of 

such uses in these densely developed neighbourhoods.  

 

Page 122



 

32 
 

Houses in Multiple Occupation - HMOs 

3.76 HMOs represent a poor standard of residential accommodation which greatly contributes to 

the issues identified in paragraph 3.73.  The majority of this building stock is poor quality and in 

need of investment and renewal.  This type of accommodation is unsuitable for families and 

undesirable to anyone who can afford to choose better.  Due to the existing predominance of 

HMOs and the key objectives of the overall housing strategy to rebalance the housing market in 

Blackpool, any new proposals for HMOs across the Borough will be refused other than in 

exceptional circumstances.   

  

Page 123



 

33 
 

Residential Use in the Town Centre 

3.77 Residential use can make an important contribution to the vitality and viability of a town 

centre, increasing footfall rates throughout the day and into the evening providing a walking 

catchment that can help sustain the town’s retail, commercial and leisure offer more effectively.  

Policy DM6 sets out additional locations within the wider town centre where residential 

development will be encouraged. 

3.78 Blackpool is in an enviable situation with significant regeneration projects taking place in the 

Town Centre.  These include new conference facilities at the Winter Gardens; cinema development 

in the heart of the town centre; major leisure development on the former Central Station site and 

potential additional office development within the Talbot Gateway Central Business District.  All 

these major projects are adding to the existing cultural offer of the Winter Gardens and Grand 

Theatre and an improving restaurant and café sector. In addition, the town centre is supported by 

excellent links to rail, tram, bus networks and cycle routes. 

3.79 To build economic resilience, increase the town centre’s vitality and viability and the 

delivery of additional homes, residential development is identified as an acceptable use on upper 

floors in the primary and secondary frontages (refer to policies DM11 and DM12); and an element 

of residential is proposed as part of the mixed-use development within the Leisure Quarter and 

Central Business District Strategic Sites.  To further promote residential development DM6 

identifies additional locations in the Town Centre where residential use is acceptable in principle. 

 

Policy DM6: Residential uses in the Town Centre 
 

1. Proposals for upper floor residential use will be supported within the Town Centre 

as defined on the Policies Map provided they are in accordance with other policies 

in the Local Plan. 

 

2. Proposals for residential development in the Town Centre which includes the 
ground floor frontage will be supported in the following locations provided they 
meet the policy requirements of the remainder of the Local Plan: 

 Springfield Road 

 Cookson Street 

 Edward Street 

 Caunce Street – North Side only 

 Milbourne Street 

 Lord Street (1-15) 

 Abingdon Street (north of Talbot Road) 

 Queen Street (east of Abingdon Street) 
 

 

 

Page 124



 

34 
 

3.80 The streets referred to in the policy are in the periphery of the town centre and are 

considered the most appropriate to convert to residential, including the ground floors.  This 

approach is further supported by the town centre health check in the Blackpool Retail, Leisure and 

Hotel Study 2018 which acknowledged that many of the retail units located towards the Cookson 

Street and King Street areas are limited in their commercial contribution to the town centre and 

suggested that consideration could be given to promoting alternative land uses such as residential. 

3.81 It is vital that high quality residential accommodation is provided and where this involves 

conversion this should be in accordance with the Council’s New Homes from Old Places 

Supplementary Planning Document and other policies in the Local Plan.  Proposals which do not 

satisfy these standards and do not result in good quality living accommodation will be 

unacceptable.  Where new build residential development is proposed this will need to accord with 

relevant policies in the Local Plan and associated guidance. 

  

Page 125



 

35 
 

Economy 

 

Provision of Employment Land and Existing Employment Sites 

3.82 Policy CS3 of the Core Strategy identifies the requirement to safeguard around 180 hectares 

of existing business/industrial land for Use Class B2, B8 and E(g) employment use.  In addition, the 

policy promotes enhancement of these sites with new B and E(g) Class employment development 

on remaining available land and through opportunities for redevelopment.  These areas are 

identified on the Policies Map. 

3.83 In support of Policy CS3, Policy DM7 provides detail on the appropriate use classes within 

these identified business/industrial areas. 

 

Policy DM7: Provision of Employment Land and Existing Employment Sites 
 

1. Proposals for new development or redevelopment of existing premises will be 

permitted in accordance with the specified uses for each employment area as 

identified on the Policies Map: 

 
2. Proposals for non B and E(g) uses will not be permitted except for those which are 

in accordance with Policy DM8: Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone. 

 

Employment Area Available Land (Ha) 

(as at March 2021) 

Appropriate Use Classes 

Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone11 14.15 B2, B8, E(g) 

Vicarage Lane 0.02 B2, B8, E(g) 

Clifton Road 2.5 B2, B8, E(g) 

Preston New Road (NS&I) 0 E(g) 

Chiswick Grove 0 B2, B8, E(g) 

Mowbray Drive 0.3 B2, B8, E(g) 

Devonshire Rd / Mansfield Rd 0 B2, E(g) 

Moor Park 0 B2, B8, E(g) 

North Blackpool Technology Park 2 B2, B8, E(g) 

Warbreck Hill 0 E(g)(i) 

Total 18.97 

 

                                                      
11 Incorporates Blackpool Business Park; Squires Gate Industrial Estate and Sycamore Estate. 

Page 126



 

36 
 

3. Employment land at the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone includes around 9 

hectares released from the Green Belt justified by exceptional circumstances in 

line with NPPF (2021) Paragraph 140. 

 
 

3.84 The main industrial/business areas identified in the policy provide a range of employment 

related uses that make an important contribution to Blackpool’s employment offer and the local 

economy and will be retained as safeguarded employment land.  Proposals for non-B or E(g) uses 

will not be permitted. The only exception to this is at the Enterprise Zone for proposals that accord 

with policy DM8. 

3.85 The Core Strategy sets out the requirement for 31.5 hectares of new employment land over 

the plan period from 2012 to 2027. The sites to meet this need are included in this policy12.  The 

Employment Land Update 2021 and Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Topic Paper (Feb 2022) 

recognises that significant safeguarded employment land has been developed for alternative uses 

since the start of the plan period.  Furthermore, employment land take-up during this time has 

been around half of what was expected (0.62 ha per annum compared to 1.2 ha per annum). 

3.86 Taking account of the above, around nine hectares of additional employment land is 

identified at the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone which compensates for the loss of less attractive 

employment land and will stimulate an increase in annual employment land uptake by providing 

attractive and accessible employment land in the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone. Robust 

justification for the additional employment land facilitated by the release of around 9ha of land 

from the Green Belt is set out in the Employment Land Update 2021 and Blackpool Airport 

Enterprise Zone Topic Paper (Feb 2022).   

  

                                                      
12 Along with around 14 hectares of employment land in Fylde provided through the Duty to Co-operate and 
acknowledged in the adopted Fylde Local Plan (2018) 

Page 127

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/ELU-EZ-Topic-Paper-Final-Feb-22.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/ELU-EZ-Topic-Paper-Final-Feb-22.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/ELU-EZ-Topic-Paper-Final-Feb-22.pdf


 

37 
 

Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone 

3.87 Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (EZ) was approved in November 2015 and the site 

became operational in April 2016.  The status of the EZ is valid for 25 years and provides business 

incentives of rate relief up to £275,000 over a period of five years and Enhanced Capital 

Allowance.13 

3.88 The site covers 144 hectares of which around 62 hectares lie within Blackpool Borough and 

82 hectares in Fylde (Figure 4) and incorporates the existing Category III airport buildings and 

surrounding business and employment lands; areas of open space and sports playing fields.  The 

site also benefits from excellent access to the M55 via Progress Way and onward connectivity to 

the national motorway network and with local train, bus and tram routes connecting the Fylde 

Coast and beyond. 

Figure 4: Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone 

 
3.89 The area is already well-established as a hub for business and commercial activity and has a 

history in aviation engineering, having previously been the manufacturing site for Vickers 

Wellington and Hawker Hunter military aircraft.  Today, one of the airfield’s key uses is in helicopter 

                                                      
13 ECA allows businesses to recuperate their investment in fixed plant and machinery by reductions in Corporation Tax 
of Euro 125 million currently available to November 2023. 

Page 128



 

38 
 

transportation to key energy generation sites in the Irish Sea as well as being home for some 260 

existing businesses including the Lancashire Energy HQ - a training base for the energy sector.  

3.90 The following policy relates to land within Blackpool’s administrative boundary; and 

protects the designation of the site supporting the delivery of the EZ. 

 

Policy DM8: Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone 
 

1. That part of the boundary of Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (EZ) which lies 

within Blackpool Borough is identified on the Policies Map. 

 

2. The Council supports the sustainable development of the EZ to create more 

businesses and jobs and attract international investment with positive benefits for 

the sub-regional economy and increasing the contribution to national growth.  In 

supporting development at the EZ, the viable long term operation of Blackpool 

Airport must be maintained.  

 

3. The overall delivery of the EZ is guided by a masterplan, informed by local plan 

policy and establishing the development and design framework for the site 

determining the appropriate mix, quantum and location of development including 

landscaping, green infrastructure and biodiversity net gain to deliver the 

objectives of the EZ. 

 

4. Guided by the Masterplan, the following uses at the EZ will be supported: 

 

a. Target sectors comprising energy industry, advanced manufacturing and 

engineering, aviation and aerospace, food and drink manufacture and the 

digital and creative sector; 

b. Outside the target sectors other B2,B8 and E(g) uses will be considered where 

this promotes job creation and industry diversification provided it does not 

compromise the development of the target sectors; 

 

5. In the south east quadrant supporting facilities and services, excluding hot food 

takeaway uses (sui generis), to serve the EZ business community in this location 

limited to: 

i. convenience store no greater than 275m² gross; 

ii. café or sandwich shop no greater than 275m² gross; 

iii. children’s day nursery; 

 

 

Page 129



 

39 
 

6.  To enable the objective of the EZ to be delivered, the Green Belt boundary is 

amended as identified in Appendix E to release around 10.3 hectares of land to 

allow the first phase of development to be undertaken by 2027 to include: 

 

a. serviced plots for employment development in line with point 4 above and 

policy DM7; 

b. enabling housing development (Site Allocation HSA1.13); 

c. a new link road and associated existing highways improvements to provide 

an eastern gateway access into the EZ from Common Edge Road; 

d. providing compensatory improvements to offset the impact of removing 

land from the Green Belt through improvements to the remaining Green 

Belt including: 

i.  the relocation and enhancement of the existing playing pitches and 

provision of new changing facilities and vehicle parking, to remain 

within the Green Belt with improved access 

ii. new and/or enhanced green infrastructure including landscaping and 

biodiversity net gain;  and 

 
e.  supporting infrastructure. 

 

7. To aid the delivery process, if requested, Blackpool Council will work with Fylde 

Borough Council, Lancashire County Council, National Highways and other 

stakeholders to produce a Local Development Order. 

 

3.91 Blackpool Airport EZ is located in the south of the Borough off Squires Gate Lane.  That part 

of the EZ which lies within Blackpool includes Sycamore Industrial Estate, Squires Gate Industrial 

Estate and Blackpool Business Park, as well as land used for sport playing fields in the south east 

corner of the site.  Blackpool Retail Park which fronts onto Squires Gate Lane is not included in the 

EZ designation, nor is the airport runway, the latter is excluded so as not to preclude future 

development to accommodate larger commercial aircraft (Figure 4 refers). 

3.92 The EZ  site has been a major business and industrial area for many years and has provided 

important employment opportunities with 1,800 employees already based on the site.  It is 

envisaged that EZ status will attract an additional 180 businesses and create 5,000 new jobs over its 

25 year lifespan supporting the local and sub-regional economy; and  providing sustainable 

economic growth and prosperity within Lancashire which is fundamental to the Lancashire 

Enterprise Partnership’s ambitions. 

Page 130



 

40 
 

3.93 A Masterplan15 has been developed to provide a strategic framework and direction for the 

development and delivery of the EZ over its lifespan.  The role of the Masterplan is to establish the 

development and design framework for the site including the appropriate mix, quantum and 

location of development; accessibility in and around the site including public transport, cycling and 

pedestrian connectivity; building design principles; landscaping and green infrastructure 

requirements which needs to include providing  opportunities for biodiversity net gain.  As the site 

evolves and develops, updated iterations of the Masterplan will be produced to ensure the 

Masterplan accurately reflects and supports EZ development and responds to the evolving 

economic climate. 

3.94 Over its 25 year lifespan the aim of the EZ is to transform the economic base of Blackpool & 

the Fylde Coast and position itself as a premier business location in the North West.  In line with EZ 

objectives, Policy DM8 highlights the target sectors which will assist in this economic growth and 

diversification.  Other business and industrial uses will also be supported provided these uses do 

not undermine development related to the target sectors. 

3.95 In addition, Policy DM8 allows for the provision of local scale shops and services to serve the 

EZ business community in the south east (SE) quadrant of the site.  Acceptable uses are a small 

convenience store, a café or sandwich shop, each unit no greater than 275 sqm gross; and a 

children’s day nursery.   Hot food takeaways (sui generis) will not be permitted, as reducing health 

inequalities in Blackpool, including reducing obesity is a key Council objective.  Restricting the 

number of new hot food takeaways in the Borough is part of the overall policy approach by the 

Council to tackling obesity and is justified in the ‘Managing the Location of Hot Food Takeaways’ 

evidence base document (December 2020 update). 

3.96 To assist in the timely delivery of the EZ and to ensure that the employment benefits across 

the EZ are realised, around 10.3 hectares of land has been released from the Green Belt in the 

southeast corner of the site.  This released land will enable the first phase of EZ development 

identified in Point 6 of DM8 to be realised by 2027, capitalising on currently available funding 

streams; and generating income from the employment and housing development to fund essential 

EZ infrastructure securing the long term financial viability of the site.   The employment 

development will also boost the uptake of employment land in the Borough and assist in meeting 

the Core Strategy employment land take-up target of 2.2ha per annum.  The detailed justification 

for the Green Belt release is set out in the Employment Land Update 2021 and Blackpool Airport 

Enterprise Zone Topic Paper (Feb 2022). 

3.97 In addition to employment development, a housing site on the eastern boundary of the EZ 

has been allocated allowing up to 57 dwellings in proximity to existing residential development to 

be developed by 2027.  This housing is enabling development contributing to underpinning the 

financial viability of the EZ.   

                                                      
15 Blackpool Airport Masterplan 2018 and updated Masterplan Plan 2020 

Page 131



 

41 
 

3.98  As part of the first phase of development, a new link road and associated existing road 

improvements will be provided creating an eastern gateway from Common Edge Road into the EZ 

linking to Amy Johnston Way.  This will open up access to the industrial heartland of the EZ and new 

development opportunities by providing access to new serviced employment plots and the housing 

site.  The new road will also link through to the EZ Business Hub to relieve existing traffic congestion 

at the current single point of entry into the EZ from Squires Gate Lane17 and provide the 

opportunity to improve public transport accessibility within and through the site.   

3.99 To allow the new link road, serviced employment plots and housing site to be brought 

forward, the existing playing pitches and changing facilities within the site at Common Edge Road, 

which provide a valuable community resource, will be relocated further south within the site but 

remaining within the Green Belt (Appendix E refers).  The new relocated sporting facilities will 

comprise enhanced playing pitches for football and rugby league including a new 3G football pitch 

as well as new and upgraded changing facilities.  Accessibility to the enhanced sporting facilities 

within the remaining Green Belt will also be improved including upgraded pedestrian access and 

cycling and parking facilities.   These enhanced sporting facilities and improved accessibility, along 

with improved green infrastructure and landscaping with biodiversity net gain within the remaining 

Green Belt will provide the appropriate required compensatory measures for the loss of Green Belt 

land within the EZ. 

3.100 The first phase of development to 2027 requires substantial supporting infrastructure.  The 

key elements of this infrastructure are set out in the updated Infrastructure and Delivery Plan 

(February 2022).  The infrastructure includes within the new link road, ducting capacity for a local 

district heating system and accommodating a major fibre optic telecommunications cable.  It also 

includes making provision for a Local Full Fibre Network (LFFN); extending the existing gas mains 

network; a new primary sub-station, the diversion of the 33kva electricity cable and a series of 

smaller network sub-stations; a new water main and foul drainage connection and a surface water 

drainage system incorporating large scale drainage attenuation.  

                                                      
17 Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Masterplan Plan 2020 refers 

Page 132



 

42 
 

Blackpool Zoo 

3.101 Blackpool Zoo is one of Blackpool’s key visitor attractions and covers 13 hectares, providing 

a home to over 1,350 animals from all over the world. It has the only gorilla enclosure in the north-

west and one of the best sea lion displays in the UK.   The Zoo has undergone significant levels of 

investment in recent years including improved animal enclosures and entrance facilities which have 

substantially improved the visitor experience.  

 

Policy DM9: Blackpool Zoo 
 

1. Development proposals for lands within Blackpool Zoo as identified on the Policies 

Map will only be permitted if they preserve or enhance the character and 

appearance of the parkland setting of the Zoo grounds and of the adjoining 

Stanley Park Conservation area and Registered Park and Garden. 

 

2. The Council will promote and encourage proposals for the Zoo which provides for: 

 

a. an improved setting and facilities for the viewing of zoo animals; 

b. the proper care and welfare of zoo animals; 

c. visitor car parking and ancillary visitor facilities including refreshment and 

small-scale retail  outlets selling zoo related merchandise. 

 

3. Development for purposes not directly related to the main use of the site as a zoo 

will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances if it can be demonstrated that 

the proposed development is an appropriate adjunct to the zoo use, would 

enhance its appeal as a visitor attraction, and would not occupy land that might 

reasonably be required for essential zoo development and visitor facilities. 

 

 

 

3.102 Core Strategy policy CS21: Leisure and Business Tourism recognises the contribution the Zoo 

makes to the overall resort offer, complementing those leisure facilities that are in the Resort Core 

and Town Centre. 

3.103 Any new development at the Zoo must be integral and appropriate to the main zoo use and 

not detract from the parkland setting of the zoo and preserve and enhance the character and 

appearance of the wider Stanley Park Conservation Area and surrounding large areas of open 

space. The Zoo is located close to the Grade II* Listed Stanley Park and any potential impact will be 

assessed against policy DM29:  Stanley Park. 

Page 133



 

43 
 

Promenade and Seafront 

3.104 The Promenade can be viewed as the largest outdoor recreation space in the town and very 

much the public face of Blackpool. It is one of the town’s key leisure assets and is an important 

setting for a number of the towns’ major heritage buildings and structures.  The Promenade is also 

at the heart of the visitor economy in Blackpool along with the Resort Core and Town Centre.  It is 

the focus for visitors, both day-trippers and guests staying in the resort and is a highly sustainable 

location for tourism investment. 

3.105 Over the last decade there has been significant public sector investment on the Promenade 

including attractive new sea defences, public art and landscaping, an upgraded tramway and five 

new headlands which have created space for activities and events.  The Promenade is a focal point 

for popular events such as the Annual Air Show, World Fireworks Championships, various concerts, 

festivals, events and rallies and of course, the Promenade is home to the world famous Blackpool 

Illuminations and the Lightpool Festival. 

3.106 The Promenade between North and South Pier (including the Golden Mile) has an eclectic 

character of ice cream parlours, souvenir shops and stalls selling burgers, donuts and candy floss 

and this is all part of the seaside offer.  Despite the public sector interventions, three decades of 

decline in visitor numbers has meant that parts of the Promenade have become associated with a 

poor quality, low-value seasonal offer which does not appeal to the 21st Century tourist market.  It 

is therefore vitally important for the Council to continue to raise the quality of the built 

environment to improve all aspects of the visitor offer and people’s experience on the Promenade 

and DM10 sets out the requirements for future development along the Promenade and seafront. 

 

Policy DM10: Promenade and Seafront 
 

1. Development proposals which further improve the appearance and economic 

function of the Promenade and Seafront east of the tram tracks, between the 

Pleasure Beach and North Pier, as identified on the Policies Map, will be supported 

where they involve: 

 

a. re-development of existing poor quality, seasonal and transient uses with 

quality cultural and leisure facilities and holiday accommodation;   

b. quality improvements and enhancements to buildings and frontages; 

c. new high quality landmark buildings18; 

d. high quality public realm, landscaping and green infrastructure, lighting and 

security; 

e. conserving, enhancing and securing sustainable futures for the town’s heritage 

assets. 

  

                                                      
18 A landmark is a building or feature that is easily recognised and that can assist wayfinding. 

Page 134



 

44 
 

 

2. Piecemeal development on the forecourts of commercial buildings on the 
Promenade between the Pleasure Beach and North Pier will not be permitted. 

 
3. Excluding the pier heads, pier decks and platforms, new development on land to 

the west of the tram track will not be permitted, other than green infrastructure; 
essential infrastructure, ancillary shelters, seating, public art and public realm 
improvements. 
 

4. Appropriate improvements and development on the pier decks and platforms 
which underpin the sustainable future of the piers and which preserve or enhance 
their character or appearance and result in no harm to their significance will be 
supported. 
 

5. Appropriate high quality improvements and development at the pier heads will be 
supported provided the proposals are comprehensive. Piecemeal proposals will 
not be accepted. 
 
 

 

3.107 The character of the Promenade within the Resort Core, between the Pleasure Beach and 

Queens Square (refer Figure 5) changes in terms of land uses, density and scale of development and 

design quality. 

  

Page 135



 

45 
 

Figure 5: Map showing the Promenade and Seafront 

 

3.108 Between the Pleasure Beach and South Pier, the character is very much focused on tourism 

and leisure and is the location of the Pleasure Beach theme park, Sandcastle Water Park, South Pier 

and Promenade.  There is limited opportunity for development in this area other than extensions 

and alterations to the existing leisure assets.  Any such development should be of the highest 

quality and respect the setting of the Grade II listed White Tower building at the Pleasure Beach as 

appropriate.  

Page 136



 

46 
 

3.109 Between Withnell Road and Foxhall Square, the Promenade is dominated by independently 

owned hotels which help to sustain the resort’s tourism economy.  However many of these 

commercial properties over the decades have extended their businesses which has impacted on the 

integrity of the built form with in parts, poor quality rooflifts and front sun lounge extensions and 

other inappropriate additions or changes to architectural features.  The Council in striving to raise 

the quality of the built form will support the removal of inappropriate features and the 

development of high quality extensions.  Where upper floor bays have remained intact on the 

property, these need to be taken into account in the design of any proposal.   

3.110 The Promenade between Withnell Road and Wellington Road is characterised by a mix of 

three and four storey hotels with deep forecourts, many of which have been hard surfaced to 

provide car parking.  Between Withnell Road and Alexandra Road there are examples of past ad hoc 

development on hotel forecourts including burger bars, rock stalls, palm reader kiosks and fancy 

good stalls.  The majority of these facilities clutter the frontages, are of a poor quality and impact 

negatively on the visitor experience. To the north of Wellington Road, as far as Foxhall Square, the 

area is characterised by a mix of three and four storey hotels with smaller forecourts, most of which 

are enclosed by dwarf walls along the public footpath.  To improve the visual quality of this stretch 

of the Promenade, as well as contributing to a greener Blackpool, the Council will support the 

reinstatement of front boundary walls, the removal of poor quality kiosks and food vans and the re-

introduction of soft landscaping. 

3.111 North of Foxhall Square there is a mix of single, two and three storey buildings catering for 

the tourist economy, including cafés, amusement centres, bingo halls and fancy goods stalls. 

Development which improves the quality of the built form and tourism offer will be supported in 

principle in this area. 

3.112 On approach to the Town Centre, the scale of development increases and includes larger 

leisure and tourism facilities such as Madame Tussauds, the Sealife Centre, Coral Island and 

Blackpool Tower.  Proposals which improve the quality of the built environment and provide an 

appropriate setting to the Grade 1 Listed Blackpool Tower. 

3.113 North of Blackpool Tower to Queens Square the character of the Promenade changes again 

and is aimed more towards the evening economy including bars, clubs and restaurants.  Proposals 

which improve the quality of the built environment and provide an appropriate setting to the Town 

Centre Conservation Area will be supported in principle. 

3.114 The Promenade west of the tram tracks has a spacious and open feel with largely 

unrestricted views of the sea and the piers. However, there are incidences of inappropriate 

development, particularly around the pier heads.  Past development around the pier heads has 

generally been piecemeal and of poor quality, creating clutter and apart from detracting from the 

piers themselves, distracts from one of the towns major assets – the coastline and foreshore. 

Page 137



 

47 
 

3.115 In order to maintain the open character of the Promenade between the Pleasure Beach and 

North Pier and to maintain strategic views of the sea, coast and foreshore, new development on 

land to the west of the tram tracks will not be permitted other than essential infrastructure, 

ancillary shelters and seating for pedestrians and cyclists using the Promenade. 

3.116 Whilst the Promenade has recently been protected against flooding with the construction of 

the new sea defences, the three piers remain vulnerable to rising sea levels as a result of climate 

change.  This is an issue which has been recognised internationally when the piers were included on 

the World Monuments Watch List. Where possible, the Council will assist in protecting the piers 

and will support proposals which will conserve and enhance these assets.  

Page 138



 

48 
 

Primary and Secondary Frontages 

3.117 Blackpool Town Centre is the sub-regional centre for the Fylde Coast and provides Fylde 

Coast residents and visitors with shopping facilities to meet a wide range of needs.  The Core 

Strategy defines the Town Centre boundary with Policy CS4 identifying the Town Centre as the 

focus for new retail development and other town centre uses, whilst Policy CS17 sets the strategic 

planning framework for the Town Centre. 

3.118 The following policies guide development within the Town Centre’s defined Primary and 

Secondary Frontages. 

 

Policy DM11: Primary Frontages 
 

1. Proposals for the following uses will be permitted within the Primary Frontages as 

identified on the Policies Map:  

 

a. retail (E(a)); 

b. restaurants and cafes (E(b)); 

c. appropriate leisure, residential (C3), hotel (C1) or office (E(g)(i)) uses at upper 

floor level; 

d. civic space/open space.  

 

2. Uses that do not fall within (a) to (d) will not normally be permitted. 

 

 

 

3.119 The Blackpool Retail, Leisure and Hotel Study (June 2018) provides key evidence informing 

our retail policies in the Local Plan Part 219.  The Primary Frontages include Blackpool’s key 

shopping streets - Houndshill Shopping Centre, Victoria Street and some properties on Bank Hey 

Street.  These streets mainly comprise retail uses interspersed with complementary cafes and 

restaurants.  Proposals that would be detrimental to the retail function/character of these main 

shopping streets will not be permitted.  

                                                      
19 Blackpool Retail Study June 2018 [opens a new window] 

 

Page 139

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Planning-environment-and-community/Documents/Blackpool-Retail-Study-Final-Report-June-2018.pdf


 

49 
 

Policy DM12: Secondary Frontages 
 

1. Proposals for the following uses will be permitted within the Secondary Frontages 

as identified on the Policies Map:  

 

a. retail (E(a)); 

b. professional and financial services (E(c)); 

c. restaurants and cafes (E(b));  

d. leisure; 

e. hotel (C1); 

f. residential (C3) or office (E(g)(i)) uses at upper floor level; 

g. civic space/open space. 

 

2. Uses that do not fall within (a) to (g) will not normally be permitted.   

 

 

 
3.120 Blackpool’s secondary frontages include parts of Church Street, Bank Hey Street, Albert 

Road, and Corporation Street which accommodate a mix of uses with retail use less dominant.  

There are currently a significant number of vacancies within these streets and it is hoped that 

increasing the flexibility of uses in these areas will encourage and reposition the streets in terms of 

the offer that they provide and improve their vitality and viability. 

  

Page 140



 

50 
 

Betting Shops, Adult Gaming Centres and Pawnbrokers in the Town Centre 

3.121 Blackpool has a high concentration of betting shops, pawnbrokers and adult gaming centres 

per capita compared to national averages.  This over representation can restrict the retail choice 

available and can have an impact on the health and finances of more vulnerable members of the 

local community, particularly in the Inner Area which suffers from significant levels of deprivation.  

In response to this, Policy DM13 seeks to manage the number and concentration of such uses in the 

Town Centre. 

 

Policy DM13: Betting Shops, Adult Gaming Centres and Pawnbrokers in the Town 
Centre 
 

1. To ensure that Blackpool Town Centre’s shopping areas (beyond the primary and 

secondary frontages) provide a diverse and balanced range of shop units, the 

council will seek to manage the concentration of amusement centres, betting 

shops and pawnbrokers. 

 

2. Any proposal for a new betting shop, adult gaming centre or pawnbrokers will 

only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the proposal: 

 

a. will not impact adversely on the amenity, character and function of an area; 

b. will not have a detrimental impact on the vitality of the town centre;  

c. will not result in negative cumulative impacts due to an unacceptable 
concentration of such uses in one area, ensuring that: 

 

Linear concentrations: 
i. None of the specified uses in the policy are adjacent to each other; and  
ii.  There are at least two units in other uses between other betting shops, 
adult gaming centres or pawnbrokers; or 
 
Area concentrations: 
iii. There are no more than three (in total) betting shops, adult gaming centres 
or pawnbrokers within 400m of each other 
 

 

 

 

3.122 To ensure that the Town Centre shopping areas remain diverse and balanced, the Council is 

seeking to limit the amount and concentration of betting shops, adult gaming centres and 

pawnbrokers within the Town Centre.  It is recognised that these particular uses can impact on the 

vitality and viability of the high street and potentially on the health and wellbeing of a community.  

Further information can be found in the related Topic Paper. 

Page 141



 

51 
 

3.123 This approach will also help the Council address strategic and borough wide objectives in 

relation to improving health and well-being and wider regeneration.  The Council will resist 

applications for such uses where they would cause unacceptable harm to the character, function 

and amenity of an area or negatively impact on the health and well-being of the borough’s 

residents. 

3.124 In assessing the likely impacts of a proposal, regard will be given to the type of use, 

proposed opening hours, size of premises and operation and servicing.  The Council will also 

consider whether the proposal is likely to increase or create a negative cumulative impact in the 

surrounding area.  As such none of the specified uses in the policy will be permitted where they will 

be adjacent to each other; and there must be at least two units in other uses between other betting 

shops, adult gaming centres or pawnbrokers.  In addition there can be no more than three (in total) 

betting shops, adult gaming centres or pawnbrokers within 400m of each other, measured as the 

crow flies. 

3.125 These specified uses will not be permitted in the Town Centre’s primary and secondary 

frontages, as set out in policies DM11 and DM12.  

  

Page 142



 

52 
 

District and Local Centres 

3.126 Blackpool’s district and local centres play an important role in providing shopping facilities 

and other services to the communities they serve.  This is recognised in Policy CS4 of the Core 

Strategy which provides the overarching retail policy for the Borough and sets out the Council’s 

objectives to sustain and enhance the vitality and viability of these centres. 

 

 

Policy DM14: District and Local Centres 
 

1. The Council will support proposals that safeguard and enhance the role of the 

district and local centres defined on the Policies Map. 

 

2. Proposals for shops (Class E(a)), offices (falling under Class E(c)), cafes and 

restaurants (Class E(b)) and pubs/bars/drinking establishments (sui generis) 

appropriate to the scale and function of the centre and which would reinforce the 

centre’s role will be supported.  

 

3. The expansion of shopping and other commercial uses into adjoining residential 

streets by the piecemeal conversion of individual properties will not be permitted. 

Proposals to extend the shopping frontage of these centres will only be allowed if 

they involve frontages that are abutting an existing shopping frontage, are in scale 

with the existing centre and can be achieved without harming residential amenity. 

 

4. Proposals for uses not described in 2. above (including residential and sui generis 

uses) will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances where they would not 

undermine the retail function, role and character of the centre. Any proposal that 

creates an over-concentration of uses not identified in 2. above or has a significant 

adverse effect on the amenity of existing residents will not be permitted.  

 

5. The impact of any proposal on the retail function of a centre will consider:  

 

a. the use proposed and its compatibility with nearby uses;  

b. the current vitality and viability of the centre; 

c. the use proposed and whether it would lead to an over concentration of uses 

not described in 2. above ; 

d. the site’s location and prominence within the centre; 

e. the level of vacancies within the centre; 

f. the need to maintain a retail core within the centre; 

g. the viability of the continued use of the property as a use described in 2. above  

 

 

Page 143



 

53 
 

6. Any proposal for a Hot Food Takeaway use (sui generis) must also accord with 
Policy DM16 ‘Hot Food Takeaways’. 
 

 

3.127 Blackpool’s District and Local Centres are identified on the Policies Map.  These centres 

operate successfully and this policy seeks to protect and enhance them. 

3.128 District Centres provide for a range of convenience shopping, comparison shopping, 

pubs/restaurants, office uses and other service uses.  They are also a focus for social and 

community uses for Blackpool’s neighbourhoods.  

3.129 The district centres are:  

 South Shore (Waterloo Road) 

 Bispham  

 Highfield Road  

 Whitegate Drive   

 Layton  

3.130 Local Centres provide for day-to-day convenience shopping needs and other supportive 

uses readily accessible by a walk-in local catchment and the Council recognises their importance. 

Proposals that would lead to the loss of convenience and other retailing from local centres would 

particularly disadvantage the elderly and less mobile members of the community.  

3.131 There may be exceptional circumstances when an appropriate alternative use is considered 

within a District or Local Centre.  It must be robustly demonstrated that the proposal will not 

undermine the remaining retail/service function of the centre, having regard to the criteria set out 

in the policy. 

  

Page 144



 

54 
 

Threshold for Impact Assessment 

3.132 The Blackpool Retail, Leisure and Hotel Study (2018) recognises that out of centre retail 

developments are greatly impacting on the vitality and viability of Blackpool Town Centre.  This is 

reflected in the Town Centre’s 9% reduction in comparisons goods market share since 2011.  One of 

the reasons for this is the increased attractiveness of the Borough’s out of centre shopping 

destinations such as Blackpool Retail Park. 

3.133 The Study highlights the need to protect Blackpool’s Town, District and Local Centres from 

further trade diversion and to drive up the market share of the Town Centre to promote their 

vitality and viability and encourage more sustainable shopping patterns across the Borough.  To 

support this, the Study recommends the introduction of a requirement for Local Thresholds for 

Impact Assessment for new retail and leisure planning applications.  

 

Policy DM15: Threshold for Impact Assessment 
 

1. An Impact Assessment is required for retail and leisure proposals including the 

formation of mezzanine floors; changes of use and variations of condition to 

remove or amend restrictions which are not located in a defined centre where:   

 

a. the proposal provides a floorspace greater than 500 sq.m gross; or 

b. the proposal is located within 800 metres of the boundary of a District Centre 

and is greater than 300 sq.m gross; or 

c. the proposal is located within 800 metres of the boundary of a Local Centre and 

is greater than 200 sq.m gross.  

 

2. The scope and content of any Impact assessment shall be agreed with the Local 

Planning Authority. 

 

 

 

3.134 In accordance with the requirements of paragraph 89 of the NPPF, it is appropriate to 

identify thresholds for the scale of edge of centre and out of centre retail and leisure development 

which should be subject to an impact assessment.  

3.135 Based on the findings of the 2018 Study and the recommendations provided with regard to 

protecting Blackpool Town Centre from trade diversion and further shifts in shopping patterns to 

out of centre floorspace,  DM15 sets out appropriate local thresholds for impact assessment to be 

applied to Blackpool’s Town Centre, District Centres and Local Centres. 

 

Page 145



 

55 
 

3.136 In implementing a local threshold policy, it is considered more appropriate to apply a range 

of thresholds in accordance with the type of centre to which the proposed development is 

proximate.  The thresholds will not only apply to new floorspace, but also to changes of use and 

variations of condition to remove or amend restrictions on how units operate in practice. 

3.137 The supporting information and justification of the proposed thresholds can be found in the 

Blackpool Retail, Leisure and Hotel Study (2018) and the Local Centre Assessment Review (2018). 

3.138 The extent and content of an impact assessment will be agreed with the Local Planning 

Authority at pre-application stage to ensure that an appropriate level of information is submitted 

with a planning application.  

Page 146



 

56 
 

Hot Food Takeaways 

3.139 Reducing health inequalities in Blackpool, including reducing levels of obesity, is a key 

Council objective and one way this can be achieved is to encourage healthy eating.  Living in an 

environment with large concentrations of hot food takeaways that provide cheap, convenient, 

energy dense food, encourages unhealthy eating habits. 

3.140 In recognition of supporting the health and well-being of 

the resident population of Blackpool, the Council in 2016 signed 

a Healthy Weight Declaration and in doing so has shown a 

commitment to reducing unhealthy weight in Blackpool. 

3.141 Whilst it is acknowledged that Blackpool is a tourist 

destination and fast food such as fish and chips is synonymous 

with a popular seaside offer, local communities, particularly in 

and around the Inner Area, are exposed to exceptionally high 

numbers of hot food takeaways and this is having a detrimental 

impact on health. 

3.142 This policy sits alongside other planning policies and local authority and public health 

initiatives to reduce levels of obesity and improve the health and wellbeing of Blackpool’s residents. 

The policy seeks to prevent the establishment of new hot food takeaways in areas where there are 

high levels of childhood obesity. 

 

Policy DM16: Hot Food Takeaways 
 

To promote healthier communities, permission will not be granted for hot food 

takeaways in or within 400 metres of wards where there is more than 15% of the year 

6 pupils or 10% of reception pupils with obesity.20  

 
 

 

 

3.143 The Foresight report ‘Tackling obesities: future choices’ remains the most comprehensive 

investigation into obesity and its causes.  It confirms that changing dietary behaviours to reduce 

excess energy intake is central to tackling obesity.  Eating out of the home has been associated with 

higher intakes of energy and fat and lower intakes of micronutrients.  In particular, there is 

evidence that the consumption of hot food take-away foods and fast-foods are determinants of 

                                                      
20 Public Health Map [opens a new window] 
 

Page 147

http://www.localhealth.org.uk/#v=map13;i=t2.obese_child_year_r;l=en;z=324629,455252,18707,31557


 

57 
 

excess weight gain. The popularity and prevalence of eating out of home, including the 

consumption of take-away foods and fast-foods, has risen considerably over the last few decades. 

3.144 NICE (2010) Guidance on prevention of cardiovascular disease outlines that food from hot 

food takeaways and the ‘informal eating out sector’ comprises a significant part of many people's 

diet and indicates that local planning authorities should exercise their powers to prevent the 

establishment of new hot food takeaways, where there is local evidence that hot food takeaways 

are causing harm.  It recommends that local planning authorities should be encouraged to restrict 

planning permission for hot food takeaways as well as consider the concentration of hot food 

takeaways in specific areas to address disease prevention. 

3.145 The NPPF confirms that planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 

inclusive and safe places which enable and support healthy lifestyles where this would address 

identified local health and well-being needs. 

3.146 One of the key objectives in the Core Strategy is to improve the health and well-being of 

Blackpool’s residents and reduce health inequalities by maintaining good access to health care and 

encouraging healthy active lifestyles. 

3.147 The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) records children’s weight in Reception 

and Year 6 annually.  Nationally, obesity levels have trebled in the last 30 years and in Blackpool, a 

quarter of reception age children, over a third of Year 6 children and three quarters of adults are 

either overweight or obese and these levels are significantly worse than the national averages. 

3.148 Levels of obesity in childhood are greater in the most deprived areas and it is in these areas 

where there are clusters of hot food takeaways.  In Blackpool, rates of obesity in childhood are 

nearly double in the most deprived wards compared to the least deprived wards. 

3.149 In England, there is an average of 96.521 hot food takeaways per 100,000 head of 

population.  In Blackpool, excluding hot food takeaways on the Promenade which primarily cater 

for tourists, there are 196.5 hot food takeaways per 100,000 head of population (as of March 

2018). Including the units on the Promenade, Blackpool has 217 hot food takeaways per 100,000 

head of population (as of March 2018). 

3.150 Wards with the highest number of hot food takeaways (excluding units on the Promenade) 

include: 

• Talbot ward which has 54 units serving a population of 6461 population which equates to 

804 units per 100,000 

• Bloomfield ward which has 48 units serving a population of 6712 which equates to 715 units 

per 100,000. 

                                                      
21 2018 figures 

Page 148



 

58 
 

• Claremont ward which has 32 units serving a population of 7312 which equates to 438 units 

per 100,000 

3.151 These are the three most deprived wards in Blackpool and amongst the most deprived areas 

in England and the rates of obesity in childhood in these wards is significantly above the national 

average  of 19.3%22 by between 5 and 8%. 

3.152 In 2018, the Government announced ambitions to reduce obesity in children nationally by 

50% by 2030, which would result in approximately 5% of reception aged children and 10% of 

children in year 6 having obesity nationally in 2030.  In order to support the Government in its 

ambitions to reduce obesity in childhood and to improve the health of children in Blackpool, the 

Council has adopted the approach taken by other authorities in restricting new hot food takeaways 

in or within 400m of wards where there are 10% of reception children and 15% of children in Year 6 

with obesity.  400m is approximately a 5-10 minute walk and should be measured as the most 

direct and safe walking route. 

3.153 Planning applications will be assessed against the most up to date childhood obesity data by 

ward, which is published by Public Health England, as part of the National Child Measurement 

Programme.  Along with other Local Plan Policies and Blackpool’s Public Health Strategies, the 

effectiveness of Policy DM16 along with the current childhood obesity levels, will be monitored 

through the Annual Authority Monitoring Report using the data gathered through the indicators set 

out in the Monitoring Framework at Appendix H.   

                                                      
22 2019 figures 

Page 149



 

59 
 

Design 

 

Design Principles 

 

3.154 The National Design Guide was published in October 2019, and confirms that the long-

standing, fundamental principles for good design are that it is ‘fit for purpose, durable, and brings 

delight.’ 

3.155 Core Strategy Policy CS7 describes why securing high quality design in Blackpool is vital in 

creating attractive, successful and sustainable places in which people want to live, work and visit.  

Compromises in design quality are likely to have long term negative impacts on the town’s 

economic, social and environmental sustainability. 

3.156 All aspects of design in new development must be properly addressed from broad issues 

such as layout, scale and massing of buildings to more detailed issues such as architectural 

coherence, context and use of materials that are fundamental to the quality of the townscape.   In 

this context DM17 sets out further detailed design requirements in all new development. 

 

Policy DM17: Design Principles 
 

1.  All development should be of a high quality, and should enhance and respond to 

any positive character of the local area to create well designed, attractive and 

distinctive neighbourhoods in Blackpool. 

 

2.  Development should have regard to the following characteristics of the local area: 

a. the topography and landscape features; 

b. heritage assets and their setting; 

c. the pattern, size and arrangement of streets, buildings and building lines; 

d. the scale, height, massing and roofscapes; 

e. vertical and horizontal rhythms created by windows and other architectural 

features; 

f. materials, boundary treatments and landscaping. 

 

3.  New development should: 

a. have a consistent architectural style across the whole building; 

b. provide a human scale at street level; 

c. have sufficient texture, depth and detailing to provide visual interest; 

d. provide active frontages on all elevations with a street presence; 

 

Page 150



 

60 
 

e. not be dominated by car parking in front of the development; 

f. be designed to prevent crime or the fear of crime; 

g. not be less than four storeys in scale on the Promenade or within the Town 

Centre unless the character of the site and its surroundings suggests that four 

storeys would be inappropriate. 

 

4.  The materials used in developments should: 

a. be appropriate to the location and context in terms of their colour, texture, 

pattern and elements of detailing; 

b. maintain a high quality visual appearance in the long term; 

c. wherever possible be re-used or recycled and be re-usable or recyclable. 

 
5.  Particular attention should be paid to the design of new buildings:  

a. in sensitive locations such as those affecting heritage assets; or 

b. that would be highly visible due to the prominence of the location or the scale of 

the development proposed. 

  
 

Local character and distinctiveness 

3.157 The NPPF states that planning policy should ensure that new developments are sympathetic 

to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, 

while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change.  Policies should also require 

development to establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 

spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and instinctive places.  

3.158 It is important that developments are designed to protect and take advantage of any 

distinctive characteristics that make a positive contribution to an area. The first priority should be 

to contribute to a successful place overall, rather than considering the design of the development in 

isolation.  

3.159 Respecting local character will often involve reflecting factors such as the existing scale of 

buildings and their design features, materials and boundary treatments in new developments. 

However, this may not always be appropriate, for example where it would draw attention away 

from a listed building or any other important landmark that is distinctive and a contributor to local 

identity. There may also be situations where a contrast to prevailing characteristics can enhance 

appreciation of those characteristics rather than detract from them, but such developments need 

to be very carefully designed to ensure that they are a positive rather than a negative feature and 

do not appear incongruous. 

 

 

Page 151



 

61 
 

Architecture and the Built Form 

3.160 The architectural design of buildings should be of high quality which contributes to an 

attractive and useable townscape.  Individual elements of a building or a site may seem appropriate 

in isolation, but if they do not work together successfully then the building or site may detract from 

rather than enhance the area.  Providing a scale which people can relate to will be particularly 

important, and this may involve the size and shape of buildings, as well as the use of architectural 

detailing to break up the overall mass. 

3.161 Developments that create dead frontages tend to reduce the amount of natural 

surveillance, visual interest and activity in the street, affecting the usability and attractiveness of 

those spaces.  It is important that people can easily understand and navigate their way around the 

built environment without crime or fear of crime, and this is aided by locating entrances on main 

street frontages and by making all street frontages active. 

3.162 The placement of development on a site is also a critical consideration.  For example, 

locating a large building at the rear of the site, well behind the building line with car parking and 

delivery bays dominating the frontage and with no soft landscaping is considered to be poor design. 

3.163 The NPPF states that planning policy should seek to increase densities in Town Centres and 

other locations well served by public transport. In response to this and the local character of the 

town, Policy DM17 requires all new development within the town centre and on the Promenade 

(between Abercorn Place in the south to Carlin Gate in the north) to be four or more storeys (where 

appropriate).  As Blackpool is a town which is predominantly built up to its boundaries, this 

approach will maximise the efficient use of land and promote the vitality and viability of the resort, 

in particular emphasising the important function of Blackpool Town Centre through larger scale 

development driving economic growth and investment.  By ensuring that all new development in 

these locations is of such a scale this will diversify the range of uses including opportunities for new 

housing and employment on upper floors.  The use of taller buildings will require careful 

consideration in relation to the setting of heritage assets and strategic views (Policy DM26-30 and 

DM19 refer). 

Designing out Crime 

3.164 Crime and fear of crime have a considerable impact on both the life of individuals and their 

wider community.  It is well documented that good planning and design have a major role to play in 

reducing crime. Design is one element that can influence the occurrence of crime - both positively 

and negatively.  The aim of ‘Designing Out Crime’ is to reduce the vulnerability of people and 

property to crime by removing opportunities that may be provided inadvertently by the built 

environment.  It also aims to reduce fear of crime and in doing so, helps to improve people’s quality 

of life. 

Page 152



 

62 
 

3.165 Applicants are encouraged to approach the designing out crime officers from Lancashire 

Constabulary, at an early stage in the design process to ensure that development incorporates 

‘crime prevention through environmental design’ principles. 

Materials 

3.166 The quality and type of materials used in new development can make a significant 

difference to the appearance and quality of a building and whether it enhances or detracts from the 

character of an area.  Materials should be carefully selected to ensure they are both fit for purpose 

in a harsh marine climate, particularly in areas close to the Promenade and that they help the 

building fit into the surrounding townscape.  In order for new development to be as sustainable as 

possible and to keep as much material out of landfill, wherever possible, materials should be re-

claimed or be recycled and should be re-usable or recyclable at the end of the lifetime of the 

development. 

Design and Access Statements 

3.167 A Design and Access Statement is required to  accompany and support a planning 

application for major development23 and within a Conservation Area for proposals for new housing 

or development of more than 100sqm.  The Statement provides a framework for applicants to 

explain their design concept and accessibility approach and how a proposed development is a 

suitable response to the site and its setting.  It should also explain how relevant Local Plan policies 

have been taken into account, any consultation undertaken in relation to access issues and how the 

outcome of this consultation has informed the proposed development. 

                                                      
23 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (page 5) defines 
‘major development’ 

Page 153

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/pdfs/uksi_20150595_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/pdfs/uksi_20150595_en.pdf


 

63 
 

High Speed Broadband for New Developments 

3.168 Access to full fibre broadband is vital in today’s world. It is intrinsic to growing a sustainable 

local economy, vital for education and home working and increases community cohesion through 

digital communication.  

3.169 Paragraph 112 of NPPF identifies that advanced, high quality and reliable communications 

infrastructure is essential for economic growth and social well-being.  Planning policies should 

support the expansion of electronic communications networks, including full fibre broadband 

connections and prioritise full fibre connections to existing and new developments (as these 

connections will, in almost all cases, provide the optimum solution). 

 

Policy DM18: High Speed Broadband for New Developments 
 

1. Proposals for new build residential and business (Class B2, B8 and E(g)) 

development must demonstrate how they will provide future occupiers with 

potential for full fibre broadband connectivity.  Development proposals must 

therefore: 

 

a. Demonstrate early engagement with infrastructure providers 

b. Be accompanied by a ‘Broadband Statement’ that explains the current internet 

connectivity in the site’s locality and the potential for the site to be provided 

with full fibre broadband, including an assessment of the feasibility of 

providing full fibre infrastructure to each individual  premise/dwelling (FTTP). 

The level of detail required in the Broadband Statement should be 

proportionate to the scale of the development proposed; and  

c. Make provision for new premises to be provided with full fibre broadband, or 

if this is not feasible at the time of the application, undertake all reasonable 

actions to enable a full fibre connection at a future date. 

 

 

  
 

3.170 The overarching vision for Blackpool Council’s ICT/Digital Strategy 2017–2022 and mission 

for the Council’s ICT Service is to ‘make Blackpool digital’.  The Council seeks to enable Blackpool to 

be a digital place with thriving digital skills and access, digital services, high speed connectivity, 

smart infrastructure, smart sensors and strong cyber defences enabling Blackpool to have a thriving 

economy with a particular emphasis on tourism.  The Council is working in partnership with the 

Department of Culture Media and Sport (DCMS) to implement the recommendations of the recent 

publication of the Future Telecoms Infrastructure Review 2018 which is targeting Full Fibre 

Broadband to all UK properties by 2033. Blackpool Council has developed a Broadband co-operative 

Page 154



 

64 
 

through multiple Full Fibre Providers which will support the delivery of Full Fibre Broadband. 

Consultation with the co-operative before developers submit a planning application is strongly 

encouraged. 

 

3.171 In addition to the wider economic benefits of ensuring that residents and business occupiers 

(i.e. Class B2, B8 and E(g) employment uses) are able to access full fibre broadband when they 

move into new developments, there is also the issue of avoiding the costs and frustrations to 

occupiers of future retrofitting if the infrastructure is not fit for purpose.  

Page 155



 

65 
 

Strategic Views  

3.172 Strategic views of assets of particular importance such as historic or distinctive buildings and 

landscapes help to shape the identity of a place. New development should safeguard and enhance 

important views of such buildings and landscapes. 

3.173 Views of Blackpool Tower and the seafront and coastline are particularly sensitive to 

changes in their setting given that the Tower is the focal point of the Promenade and the seafront 

and coastline serves as the shop window to the resort. 

3.174 This policy aims to enable appropriate development in locations which will enhance 

Blackpool’s offer without detracting from these established strategic views. 

 

Policy DM19: Strategic Views 
 

1. Development should protect and enhance views of the following buildings and 
features of strategic importance: 

 

a. Blackpool Tower – views from the seafront, from the piers and along main 

transport corridors leading into the Town Centre; 

b. along the seafront and coastline; 

 

2. Development that has a detrimental impact on these strategic views will not be 
permitted. 

 
 

 

  
3.175 The seafront and coastline provide the main focal point of Blackpool as a seaside resort and 

Blackpool Tower is a nationally recognised landmark of significant historical and cultural 

importance that dominates Blackpool’s skyline.  The Tower can be seen from many locations 

throughout the town and across the wider Fylde Coast area.  Views of the Tower are particularly 

prominent from the seafront, from the three piers and on main transport routes leading into the 

Town Centre.  

3.176 New development can make a positive contribution to views of Blackpool Tower and the 

seafront and coastline but where development is likely to compromise these views, it will be 

resisted.  

3.177 The scale, mass or height of existing buildings and structures which detract from a strategic 

view will not be accepted as a precedent for their redevelopment where there is an opportunity to 

improve the view with more sensitively scaled and massed development. 

Page 156



 

66 
 

3.178 New development which would improve and enhance strategic views will be supported, 

subject to other planning policy requirements.  

Page 157



 

67 
 

Extensions and Alterations 

3.179 Extensions and alterations account for a significant proportion of planning applications in 

the Borough.  Well-designed extension and alterations can enhance the appearance and value of a 

property. On the other hand, an unsympathetic extension can detract from the property itself, 

create problems for neighbouring residents, and affect the general appearance of the whole area. 

3.180 Core Strategy Policy CS7 sets out the overarching policy in terms of general design 

requirements.  Policy DM20 provides further detail in relation to  extensions and alterations. 

 

Policy DM20: Extensions and Alterations 
 

1. Extensions and alterations must be well designed, sited and detailed in relation to 

the original building and adjoining properties. Past, unsympathetic alterations and 

extensions of other properties should not be regarded as a precedent for further 

similar proposals.  

 

2. Materials will need to match or be complementary to the original building.  

 

3. Roof lifts will not be permitted.  Roof extensions will be acceptable where they will 

not:  

a. be detrimental to the appearance or undermine the unity, roofscape or the 

townscape quality of the original and nearby buildings; 

b. result in over-intensive development of a property with inadequate levels of 

private amenity space.  

 

4. Rear extensions will not be permitted where they would result in inadequate 

levels of private amenity space being provided. 

 

5. Front extensions beyond the main front wall of a property will not be permitted 

where they would disrupt a uniform building line. 

 

6. Extensions which have an unacceptable impact on neighbour amenity in terms of 

loss of privacy, loss of outlook, loss of sunlight or daylight or have an overbearing 

impact will not be permitted. 

 
7.  Extensions which result in a loss of green infrastructure, car parking or servicing 

areas will need to be robustly justified and appropriately mitigated.  
 

 

 

Page 158



 

68 
 

3.181 The Council is committed to supporting development that allows everyone in Blackpool the 

opportunity to make the most of their property in a positive way.  However, extensions and 

alterations should be designed in a way that positively responds to the character of the host 

building and neighbouring properties and should respect locally distinct forms and detailing. 

3.182 Some areas of Blackpool, particularly in the Inner Area neighbourhoods, are intensively 

developed with little or no private amenity space to the rear of properties. Proposals should not 

result in an inadequate level of private amenity space or exacerbate an existing deficiency.  

3.183 Rooflifts have been used in the past as a way of extending holiday accommodation by the 

addition of an extra storey. Usually they consist of building up the outer walls of a property and 

replacing the pitched roof with a flat roof, sometimes at a higher level than the original ridge. 

Rooflifts are generally out of scale and character with the original property and particularly when 

used on front elevations, have a detrimental effect on the streetscene. Where upward extension of 

a property is acceptable, roof extensions should take the form of a dormer, where the use of roof 

space is allowed by the introduction of windows set within and framed by the existing roof. The 

dormer’s materials and design should be in character with the existing building and roof style. 

3.184 There are many examples of inappropriate front extensions and sun lounges in Blackpool, 

particularly on the Promenade and in current and former holiday accommodation areas.  This type 

of inappropriate extension to the front of properties can be visually obtrusive and detract from the 

appearance of the original building.  The existence of poor quality extensions and alterations will 

not be seen as a precedent for further poor quality development. 

3.185 For the case of house extensions the ‘Extending Your Home’ SPD (and any subsequent 

update) provides additional design guidance that should be followed. 

3.186 Green infrastructure which would be lost as a result of extensions will need to be replaced 

or mitigated, for example through the use of a green roof or wall or additional tree planting on or 

off site. Any loss of car parking or servicing areas should be justified and a demonstration that the 

loss will not increase pressures on street parking or the safe servicing of the development.  

Page 159



 

69 
 

Landscaping 

3.187 The protection and improvement of the natural environment is one of the core objectives of 

the planning system. The NPPF confirms that good quality landscaping and green infrastructure can 

create visually attractive places with multiple benefits to the economy, the environment and health 

and can avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change. 

3.188 Core Strategy Policy CS6 requires development to incorporate or enhance green 

infrastructure and where this is not possible, a financial contribution will be sought to make 

appropriate provision for open space and green infrastructure off-site. 

3.189 Policy DM21 requires new development to enhance the Borough’s green and blue 

infrastructure taking account of the requirements in the latest Green and Blue Infrastructure 

Strategy and Action Plan and the findings and recommendations in the Open Space Assessment 

2019.  

 

Policy DM21: Landscaping 
 

1. Development proposals are expected to contribute towards green and blue 

infrastructure and where appropriate, planning applications should include details 

of hard and soft landscaping. Development must: 

 

a. ensure that the design and layout of the site retains and protects the 

distinguishing landscape features, trees and hedgerows and wherever possible 

enhances them through increased tree and shrub cover including soft edge 

and transitional areas of planting, prioritising the use of native species. Where 

the loss of trees (category A, B or C of BS 5837) is unavoidable, at least two 

replacement trees of a suitable species and level of maturity will be required 

for each tree felled, over and above other tree planting requirements.  Where 

replacement trees would be inappropriate on site, a contribution towards the 

provision of trees off-site will be required; 

 

b. where appropriate, include a landscaped buffer of appropriate depth and 

length which prioritises native species, unless there are site specific constraints 

which indicate this requirement cannot be achieved. In such cases, the use of 

green walls and green roofs will be encouraged; 

 
c. use landscaping to screen and soften the appearance of hard surfaced areas, 

including surface level car parks and servicing areas; 

 

  

Page 160



 

70 
 

d. provide appropriate, high quality boundary treatments which encourage and 
enables the passage of wildlife and consider the inclusion of hedges rather 
than impenetrable fencing and walls 
 

e.  where appropriate, contribute towards tree planting in the town  
 

f. demonstrate, where appropriate, how the landscaping scheme connects to 

the wider green infrastructure and ecological networks in Blackpool and the 

neighbouring Authorities. 

 

2. Financial contributions towards creating and enhancing green and blue 

infrastructure in Blackpool will be sought from all development where adequate 

onsite provision is not possible, in accordance with the Greening Blackpool SPD (or 

any subsequent update). 

 

3. Proposals involving the hard surfacing of more than 50% of a residential garden 

will not normally be permitted. 

 

4. Proposals for major development and public spaces which will attract large crowds 

should include well designed Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) measures which are 

integrated sensitively and seamlessly into the townscape. 

 
  

 

Economic benefits 

3.190 To improve the desirability and attractiveness of Blackpool as a place to live, work and visit 

investment in the town’s green infrastructure will be a priority, particularly in the inner 

neighbourhoods and the town centre. This will involve maintaining and improving our major parks, 

and open space; creating new green spaces and green links, improving access to our green and 

open space including the promenade; and softening the streetscape of our residential areas with 

trees and pocket parks bringing nature back into the heart of the resort. 

3.191 The term landscape does not just include the wider countryside and green spaces, but urban 

spaces such as civic squares, public realm, street trees and all other outside spaces at every scale, 

including residential gardens.  Trees and other green infrastructure are integral in creating places 

with a sense of character and local distinctiveness. 

3.192 People are attracted to green and pleasant environments which  encourage them to stay 

longer, adding vibrancy to a place and increasing potential for commercial success.  Having a 

diverse, well managed landscape can also increase house and property values and attract 

investment. 

Page 161



 

71 
 

3.193 Quality landscaping goes hand in hand with good quality and sustainable design and 

landscaping should be included as an integral part of the overall design of a development and 

should not be an afterthought.   

3.194 Landscaping around buildings is important not only as a setting for the building in its context 

but also to provide amenity space, to soften the appearance of car parking and servicing areas and 

to assist with surface water drainage. The benefits of good quality landscapes which increase or 

introduces opportunities for biodiversity cannot be overstated and trees in particular are vital 

economic, environmental and social assets.  

3.195 Priority consideration should be given to trees and hedgerows that are present on or 

adjacent to a development site.  Development layouts should be designed to ensure that retained 

trees flourish and are able to reach maturity, thereby providing maximum environmental and 

amenity benefits, with minimum maintenance requirements. Retained trees, which are poorly 

related to buildings, can cause structural problems, distress or financial loss to occupants even if 

not affecting the trees directly.  Therefore, development layouts may not be acceptable if they 

would result in undue pressure for felling or unsightly, heavy pruning of trees in the future. 

Environmental benefits 

3.196 Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC) requires 

public authorities to have regard to the conservation of biodiversity, including restoring or 

enhancing a population or habitat.  The NPPF encourages environmental and biodiversity net gains 

from development and the Government has announced that net gain will become mandatory in the 

emerging Environment Bill, to ensure that new developments enhance biodiversity and help deliver 

thriving natural spaces for communities, which can improve human health and wellbeing.  

3.197 Biodiversity has historically been undervalued and population growth and climate change 

are likely to increase pressures on the  declining natural environment in Blackpool.  It is vital 

therefore that development acknowledges and addresses these pressures and that measures are 

put in place to protect and enhance the natural environment and minimise the impacts of 

development. 

3.198 Providing landscaping (including within residential curtilages) which includes native species, 

enhances biodiversity, encourages pollinators, creates habitats, improves health and wellbeing, 

reduces pollution and mitigates  the effects of climate change.  The connectivity of habitats via 

green corridors is a key consideration and areas where there are hedgerows are particularly 

important.  Every development should take opportunities to protect, improve, enhance and link 

existing green infrastructure and should introduce well designed and robust landscaping to help 

‘green’ the town, assist with surface water drainage and increase opportunities for biodiversity.   

3.199 Attempts to secure benefits to biodiversity on a site by site basis  will contribute to the 

protection and/or enhancement of green infrastructure in all appropriate development in 

Blackpool, with a cumulative ecosystem benefit. 

Page 162



 

72 
 

Social benefits 

3.200 The social benefits that green infrastructure can provide are substantial and a shortage of 

green infrastructure in Blackpool has had a negative impact on the physical and mental health of 

residents.   

3.201 Good quality landscaping  which incorporates public art and green and blue infrastructure, 

can encourage physical activity such as walking and cycling which benefits both physical and mental 

health and increase cognitive function and reduces stress. Providing adequate buffers between 

developments can also reduce the impacts of development on neighbouring uses and make 

proposals more acceptable in terms of visual and noise impacts. 

3.202 At their best, green spaces can promote a sense of civic pride and can help facilitate social 

interaction, inclusion and community cohesion and reduce anti-social behaviour. 

Tree planting and landscaping in new development 

3.203 The Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Action Plan 2018 confirms that Blackpool 

has less tree cover than any other town and identifies the need to plant 10,000 trees and to ‘green’ 

the town centre and the Inner Area.   

3.204 Given this significant shortfall in green infrastructure and tree cover in Blackpool and the 

high value of mature trees, where a development would unavoidably result in the loss of a category 

A, B or C of BS 5837 tree, it must be replaced by two trees of an appropriate maturity and species.  

Ideally the replacement trees would be planted on the development site but if this is not practical, 

the trees may be planted off-site. 

3.205 Protecting existing trees and requiring developers to provide onsite trees or contribute to 

the provision of offsite trees, will furnish towards the provision of an additional 10,000 trees locally 

and will also assist the Government to meet the objective of increasing overall tree cover to 12% in 

the UK by 2060, a policy which is outlined in the Government’s “A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan 

to Improve the Environment”. 

3.206 Consideration should be given to incorporating green or living roofs or walls into new 

development or retro-fitting to existing buildings in cases of change of use developments.  Not only 

are green roofs and walls attractive in terms of their aesthetic values and have obvious 

environmental benefits in terms of habitat creation, gains for biodiversity and improvements to air 

quality, but also have cost savings as they are highly insulating in terms of noise, heat loss and heat 

gain and will absorb rain water, reducing the amount of attenuation measures required in new 

developments. 

3.207 Not all landscape features are green but can assist in place making and wayfinding, such as 

public art and use of surfacing materials.  Also, hostile vehicle mitigation (HVM) measures, which 

are unfortunately necessary in town centres and around areas of high pedestrian traffic and 

congregation, have the potential to positively contribute to the quality of a place whilst keeping 

Page 163



 

73 
 

people safe from hostile vehicle attacks.  Highly visible HVM measures not only reduce the quality 

of the environment, they increase the public perception of risk which can reduce footfall and have a 

negative economic impact on the local economy. In the interests of public safety and good quality 

design, HVM measures should be designed sensitively around areas which will attract large crowds.  

A mixture of HVM Measures such as green and blue infrastructures including fountains and 

planters, street furniture, public art and retractable measures will be prioritised over more overtly 

defensive measures such as fixed bollards. 

3.208 The Greening Blackpool SPD provides further information and assists developers in 

incorporating, protecting and enhancing existing trees and landscaping in development.  

Page 164



 

74 
 

Shopfronts 

3.209 Shopfronts within the Town Centre and district and local shopping centres play a key part in 

establishing and defining the visual character of the street scene; they add to the overall visual 

quality of a centre and assist in establishing a strong sense of place and an attractive environment 

to visit.  In addition, good shop front design which respects the integrity of the existing buildings 

and the street scene as a whole can help to encourage further investment together with more 

visitors and shoppers, thereby boosting the local economy. 

3.210 A key component in the NPPF and the Core Strategy is quality of design and this emphasis 

has therefore been placed on ensuring high standards of design for all shopfronts, whether 

traditional or modern, to create streets which have a pleasing appearance and are attractive for 

residents and visitors. 

3.211 Policy DM22 aims to ensure that the town’s  centres and other shopping destinations are 

well designed, welcoming places with distinct characters, which encourage shopping locally.  

 

Policy DM22: Shopfronts 
 

1. Proposals for new shopfronts or alterations to existing shopfronts must: 

 

a. have regard to the character of the building and the streetscene and create a 

positive visual impact;  

b. have a complementary relationship with the upper floor(s) of the building 

where appropriate; 

c. have a fascia depth proportionate to the shopfront, adjacent properties and 

the wider streetscene which retains or reinstates vertical breaks between 

buildings; 

d. include principal signage only at fascia level, or within existing areas of 

principal signage within existing shopfronts,  and in proportion to the 

shopfront and fascia; 

e. retain features such as pilasters, mullions, toplights, canopies/awnings, doors 

and stall risers which contribute to the character of the building and the wider 

area; or introduce such features where appropriate and where they would not 

obscure architectural details; 

f. provide independent access to the upper floor(s) where appropriate; 

g. retain recessed doorways to provide a transition between the street and to 

provide disabled access; 

h. provide transparent display windows. 

 

 

Page 165



 

75 
 

2. Shop units in corner properties should include shopfronts which wrap around the 

corner and should be designed to have high quality elevations to both frontages to 

avoid blank walls in the streetscene.  

 

3. The use of uPVC on shopfronts, windows or doors will not be permitted within the 

Town Centre, District or Local Centres, on Listed or Locally Listed Buildings or in 

Conservation Areas. 

 

4. Automated Teller Machines (ATMs) will only be permitted in larger shopfronts.  An 

ATM on a shopfront that would be a dominant feature on the frontage will not be 

permitted. If the ATM is to be placed within a shop window, the ATM should be 

sensitively positioned and surrounded by clear glazing rather than a solid panel 

and should not interfere with or result in the removal of original or good quality 

design features.  Illuminated ATM surrounds will not normally be permitted in 

conservation areas or on listed or locally listed buildings. 

 
 

3.212 The Council is committed to improving the public realm in the Town Centre, but if the Town 

Centre is to remain a thriving destination, private sector investment is also required in improving 

the quality of the shoppers’ experience of the Town Centre.  In a climate where town centres and 

high streets are facing a multitude of challenges to their future and viability, including reduced 

footfall, empty units, on-line shopping and out of centre retail parks, it is imperative that town 

centres and high streets are attractive places to visit and this includes having quality shopping 

frontages.  

3.213 The unsympathetic replacement of shopfronts and poor quality designs weaken the 

architectural merit of existing buildings and can detract from the appearance of a street.  As a 

result, these changes can reduce the distinctiveness and appeal of the shopping environment. In 

parts of Blackpool, shopping units and shopfronts have been developed in a piecemeal fashion with 

poor quality design and this has led to parts of the town becoming unattractive to shoppers, visitors 

and potential investors and as a result attracting a high turnover of low end retail uses. 

3.214 Timber is the preferred option for new shopfronts, although powder-coated aluminium or 

steel frames are generally appropriate in more modern buildings.  Good quality, well designed and 

maintained timber shopfronts boost the value of a property, raises the quality and appearance of 

the area and are more durable and easy to maintain than uPVC. 

3.215 uPVC shopfronts are poorer quality and appear more chunky and clumsy compared to 

slimmer aluminium, steel or timber frames.  uPVC shopfronts are also the least sustainable option, 

they have a much shorter shelf-life than more sustainable alternatives and need replacing more 

often as they are difficult to repair and maintain and are more difficult to re-cycle than traditional 

materials.  

Page 166



 

76 
 

  

Examples of a good quality shopping frontages in Cedar Square and Abingdon Street. 

3.216 In order to improve the appearance of the Town Centre, District and Local Centres, the 

Council will seek a reduction in the size of fascia’s of excessive dimensions (height, width and 

depth), which are out of proportion or scale with the shopfront, cover original features or are 

considered to have a detrimental effect on the appearance of the building or the street scene.  

Principal (main) signage should normally comprise a fascia sign that is in proportion to the 

shopfront and fascia or where no fascia exists, in appropriate locations within existing shopfronts. 

 

Examples of a poor quality, cluttered shopfronts, excessive 

fascia sizes, inappropriately placed ATM, roller shutter 

housing boxes and refrigeration units.  

 

3.217 To enliven frontages, enable passive surveillance and create interest in the streetscene, all 

shop frontages should provide good visibility and glazing and should not be blanked out or 

obscured with vinyl or other advertisements or ATMs.  Providing and retaining display windows 

ensures visibility into the shop, provides animation at street level and assists in creating a pleasant 

and welcoming built environment which does not promote crime/fear of crime and anti-social 

behaviour. 

 

Page 167



 

77 
 

Security Shutters 

3.218 The Council is aware that shop owners and keepers and insurance companies take security 

very seriously.  Security measures, by their very nature, tend to be highly visible and therefore have 

the potential to impact upon the appearance of a building and the surrounding streetscene.  The 

Council seeks to enhance the appearance of Blackpool’s Town Centre, District and Local Centres 

and other shopping frontages in general to ensure they remain attractive and welcoming places, 

not just during the day but also during the evening and night time hours. 

3.219 Well-designed security measures do not detract from the design of a shop front, the 

building and the surrounding streetscene and will lead to the improved appearance of our Town 

and encourage investment. 

3.220 This policy seeks to assist in creating a pleasant and welcoming built environment in 

Blackpool which doesn’t promote crime/fear of crime and anti-social behaviour and to protect 

active frontages in Blackpool which encourage footfall in shopping areas. 

 

Policy DM23: Security Shutters 
 

1. External shutters will not be permitted: 

 

a. within the Town Centre, District Centres or Local Centres; 

b. on the Promenade; 

c. on listed or locally listed buildings; 

d. in Conservation Areas; 

e. in the Resort Core. 

 

2. Outside of these locations on street frontages, shutters and grilles will be 

permitted subject to the following criteria: 

 

a. the shutters are of an open brick bond design or similar which allow oblique 

views through the property; 

b. the shutter, housing box and guides are integrated sympathetically within the 

fascia; 

c. the shutter does  not obscure architectural features of the building such as 

stall risers. 

 

3. Solid roller shutters will only be permitted on industrial/ business estates, or 

where such shutters are appropriate to the character of the building and the wider 

area.  

 

 

Page 168



 

78 
 

3.221 As an attractive street frontage benefits trade and the local economy, it is essential that 

property owners use appropriate security measures which have the minimum adverse effect on the 

street scene. 

3.222 The NPPF confirms that new development should add to the overall quality of an area, be 

visually attractive, should be sympathetic to local character and history, establishing or maintaining 

a strong sense of place by creating attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live and visit.  

New development should also create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, 

and the fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 

3.223 Many modern security shutters were originally designed for the security of industrial 

premises. Whilst they can be fitted relatively easily and cheaply, they have a detrimental effect on 

townscape and the overall perception of an area and are not suitable in retail areas, on the 

Promenade, in conservation areas or on listed or locally listed buildings.  Solid, or almost solid, 

external roller shutters have a range of negative effects which outweigh the perceived security 

benefits. These negative effects include: 

 Creating a forbidding, hostile and fort like appearance that gives the impression that the 

area is a high-risk area prone to crime, creating ‘no-go’ zones for pedestrians, reducing trade 

and passive surveillance and making properties more vulnerable to attack. 

 The creation of unattractive blank frontages where window shopping is precluded during 

the evening and a deadening effect on the character of the property and the street. 

 The reduction or preclusion of internal/external inter-visibility making premises safer for 

criminals once inside. 

 Attraction of unsightly fly posting and graffiti, portraying an overall impression that the area 

is in decline. 

 The concealing of important architectural features of the premises, to the detriment of the 

character of the host building and the surrounding area. 

 Where security shutters are left down during the day, they can reduce the trading potential 

of surrounding businesses and reduce property values. 

 

3.224 These effects are also particularly damaging for the image of the resort, such as on the 

Promenade and in the Resort Core, where large concentrations of commercial properties are 

secured by solid shutters outside operational hours or out of season. 

3.225 The Council recognise that there may be instances where property has to be secured in the 

short term, either because the property is vacant, or due to acts of vandalism or storm damage. In 

such circumstances the Council is keen to work with the property owner to agree short term 

measures to secure the property. 

3.226 The Council promotes ‘Secured by Design’ principles which include for example, measures 

such as good lighting, CCTV cameras and alarms and toughened or laminated glazing.  Using 

toughened or laminated glass is a more appropriate security measure and the lighting of interiors 

Page 169



 

79 
 

allow the vitality of the street to continue out of hours. This improves the character and safety of 

the street to the benefit of the local community and retailers alike.  These measures can help to 

increase security and do not normally require planning permission. 

  

Page 170



 

80 
 

Advertisements 

3.227 Well-designed, proportioned and sited signs can complement both individual buildings and 

the overall character of the area.  They can add vitality and life to a building, and can be used to 

enhance architectural features. 

3.228 Blackpool has a large amount of poor quality signage and large panel advertisements which 

harms amenity and local distinctiveness.  Most of Blackpool Town Centre and parts of the 

Promenade are subject to conservation area designation and poor quality advertisements and 

signage are identified as problematic in conservation area character appraisals such as those for 

Blackpool Town Centre and Foxhall. 

3.229 This policy seeks to ensure that advertisements are well designed and placed and are 

appropriate in their setting and cause no harm to residential amenity or negatively impact on 

safety.  This is principally set out in the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) 

(England) Regulations 2007 (or as amended). This policy is set within the context of these 

regulations. 

 

Policy DM24: Advertisements 
 

1. Proposals for advertisements must preserve or enhance the character of their 

setting and host building and be of the highest design quality. 

 

2. Proposals for advertisements will be considered having regard to their size, design, 

position, range of visibility, illumination, location and any cumulative impacts with 

existing advertisements. 

 

3. Advertisements will be supported where they : 

 

a. preserve the character and amenity of the area; and  

b. preserve or enhance heritage assets and conservation areas. 

 

4. Advertisements will be resisted where they: 

 

a. contribute to an unsightly proliferation of signage in the area; 

b. contribute to street clutter in the public realm; 

c. cause light pollution to nearby residential properties or wildlife habitats; 

d. have flashing illuminated elements (other than on large leisure assets on the 

Promenade or within the Resort Core); 

e. would obscure more than 50% of otherwise transparent display windows; or 

f. impact upon public safety. 

 

Page 171



 

81 
 

 

5. Existing poor quality signage on the host property or other buildings in the area 

should not be regarded as a precedent for further similar proposals.  

  
 

3.230 It is acknowledged that outdoor advertising is essential for businesses in Blackpool and has a 

practical purpose of providing information about goods, services and events.  However, this must 

be balanced with the need for such signs to be well designed and in the right place so that they 

make a positive contribution to the appearance and character of the streetscene. 

3.231 The overall design of individual advertisements, their size, what they are made of, method 

of illumination, the style or type of the host building, positioning on the building, the appearance 

and setting of surrounding buildings and their cumulative effect are all important factors in 

assessing the impact of a single advertisement on amenity and public safety. 

3.232 A particular design may be appropriate in one location, on a particular building but the same 

design may appear discordant on a different building or in a different place. However, Blackpool is a 

family resort with a quirky character and so interesting and unique styles of advertisements and 

signs will be considered acceptable where they are compatible with the host buildings and 

surrounding environment. 

3.233 Poor quality advertisements will detract from the architectural or design merit of a building 

and the character of the wider streetscene where they: 

 constitute poor design, such as bulky, ‘stuck on’ internally illuminated box signs; 

 would obscure or cut across positive architectural features of a building; 

 are in the form of a continuous fascia spanning two or more distinct buildings; 

 are at a high level or are unrelated to the use of that floor of the building, unless this is in 

the interests of amenity and public safety; 

 would result in clutter; 

 would result in a top heavy fascia which distorts the proportions of the buildings frontage; 

 would obscure views into the building. 

3.234 Advertisements in conservation areas and on or near listed and locally listed buildings 

require particularly detailed consideration given the sensitivity and historic nature of these areas or 

buildings. Any advertisements on or near a listed or locally listed building or in a conservation area 

must not harm their character and appearance and must not obscure or damage specific 

architectural features of buildings. 

3.235 In certain circumstances safety can be prejudiced by signage that obstructs the highway or 

causes distraction to motorists. 

Page 172



 

82 
 

3.236 Advertisements will not be considered acceptable where they impact upon public safety, 

including when they:  

 obstruct or impair sight lines to road users at junctions and corners; 

 reduce the effectiveness of a traffic sign or signal; 

 result in glare and dazzle or distract road users; 

 distract road users because of their unusual nature; 

 disrupt the free flow of pedestrian movement; or 

 endanger pedestrians forcing them to step on to the road. 

3.237 Clutter on the forecourt of premises is a particular problem in Blackpool, as are poor quality 

shop frontages and signage which are harmful to visual amenity and local distinctiveness reducing 

the attractiveness of areas as shopping destinations. 

3.238 There is a clear commitment in the Core Strategy to arrest decline and restore confidence in 

the town centre and to regenerate its centres.  This includes securing positive improvements in the 

quality of the built, natural and historic environment and replacing poor design with better design. 

The control of advertisements has an important role in delivering these ambitions. 

3.239 The Council takes a proactive approach to preserving or enhancing the townscape and 

public realm.  Where existing advertisements with deemed consent are considered to have 

substantial injury to the character and amenity of a building or local area the Council will, where 

appropriate seek removal of these advertisements, which may include serving of discontinuance 

notices. 

3.240 The Council’s adopted Signage SPD provides more detailed guidance on advertisements. 

  

Page 173



 

83 
 

Public Art 

3.241 The NPPF recognises that supporting the cultural wellbeing of places is part of the social role 

of the planning system and its aim of achieving sustainable development24 and that policies and 

decisions should ‘take into account and support the delivery of local strategies to improve health, 

social and cultural wellbeing for all sections of the community’25.  Government guidance has 

advised that ‘Public art and sculpture can play an important role in making interesting and exciting 

places that people can enjoy using’.  

3.242 Blackpool is the home of British popular culture, with a proud heritage stretching back over 

150 years.  It is recognised historically as a place where all classes of society came to consume and 

enjoy the best culture of the day from variety theatre and the Illuminations to the circus. 

3.243 The Council is committed to developing a strong sustainable cultural economy recognising 

the benefits this can bring in terms of skills development and better paid jobs for local people, a 

unique and attractive tourism offer and ensuring the well-being of local people.  Investment in the 

town’s cultural infrastructure and home grown creative talent and production are key priorities. 

3.244 Blackpool is recognised nationally for the quality and reach of its cultural offer built on 

strong partnerships involving the Council, the cultural sector and key stakeholders locally, regionally 

and nationally, working together to benefit the town.  LeftCoast provides an example of this, one of 

the Arts Council England’s flagship Creative People and Places projects.   

3.245 Culture and well-being are embedded within the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy, 

inherent in the Spatial Vision and Objectives, recognising the key contribution they make to the 

economic, social and environmental well-being of the town and its residents and visitors. 

 

 

Policy DM25: Public Art  
 

1. New developments will be required to support the cultural well-being of Blackpool 

and contribute to addressing positive social, economic and environmental 

outcomes through the provision of public art projects. Such projects can be part of 

an individual site and/or part of public realm and/or other infrastructure that is 

related to a number of sites. 

 
2. Public Art projects will be delivered where appropriate, through the funding, 

management, development, implementation and maintenance of such projects by 

developers related to major development sites including: 

 

                                                      
24 NPPF Paragraph 8 (July 2021) 
25 NPPF paragraph 93 (July 2021) 

Page 174



 

84 
 

 

a. major development sites within the Strategic Locations of Development 

identified under Policy CS1 of the Council’s Local Plan, Part 1 Core Strategy; 

 
b. major development sites within the South Blackpool Growth Area. 

 

3. Public Art projects proposed by individuals and organisations, including the 

Council, that are not related to major development, will be encouraged and 

supported with a particular focus on the following areas: 

 

a. the inner area neighbourhoods of North Beach, Foxhall, South Beach, 

Claremont, Talbot and Brunswick, Revoe and St Heliers; and 

 
b. Marton Moss Strategic site. 

 

4. Where it is not appropriate to deliver a public art project as part of a specific 

development, financial contributions will be sought to make appropriate provision 

for public art, unless it can be demonstrated that this would not be viable or 

feasible.  

 
 

 

3.246 Policy DM25 supports the delivery of the requirements of the NPPF and National Planning 

Practice Guidance (NPPG), the Council Plan and Core Strategy by: 

 Socially contributing to health, education and community development initiatives and 

services; 

 Economically generating income from visitors and for the arts sector; 

 Environmentally enhancing the design of and access to buildings and the public realm. 

3.247 The strategic locations for development referred to in the policy are identified in Policy CS1 

of the Core Strategy and comprise Blackpool Town Centre,  The Resort Core and Neighbourhoods 

within the inner areas as a focus for regeneration with supporting growth in South Blackpool 

helping to meet wider housing and employment needs.  

3.248 Blackpool Town Centre with a strong cultural infrastructure, offering exciting public art 

activities to engage and participate in, has a pivotal role to play in driving the local economy.  A 

critical mass of vibrant cultural venues and organisations, such as the Grundy Art Gallery, Grand 

Theatre, Winter Gardens, LeftCoast, the new Art B&B and Blackpool Museum will attract visitors 

and locals into the town centre; with local businesses benefiting from the additional spend 

generated.  Commissioning investment will support these organisations in thriving and providing 

Page 175



 

85 
 

high quality public art programmes creating key memorable moments in Blackpool’s cycle of 

events. 

3.249 The three strategic sites within the town centre provide considerable opportunity for Public 

Art – the Talbot Gateway Central Business District, the Winter Gardens and the Leisure Quarter (the 

former Central Station Site). 

3.250 Commissioning ambitious new public art (both permanent and temporary) can contribute 

significantly to Blackpool’s reputation as a desirable place to live, work and visit.  Quality 

spectacular and experiential public art events raise Blackpool’s profile locally, regionally and 

nationally; making a major contribution to re-establishing Blackpool as the sub-regional centre for 

the Fylde Coast helping to boost the visitor economy. 

3.251 Within the Resort Core bold and imaginative public art could be commissioned to engage 

visitors, in particular families and young people through playful, provocative and sensory 

interventions making the most of up to date technologies.  In the Neighbourhoods within the inner 

area the Council with partners is actively addressing the social and economic challenges, to assist in 

making these neighbourhoods attractive sustainable places to live.  Public art projects can enable 

Blackpool residents (including young people) to experience high quality cultural activities and 

provide opportunities to develop themselves as makers, participants, audiences and leaders in their 

community. It can create a space for debate and discussion and provide a way of capturing 

residents’ ideas about the kind of neighbourhood they want to live in. 

3.252 In South Blackpool opportunities for Public Art projects exist in particular  within the 

Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone.  Public art can contribute to the re-invention of the EZ area 

which has a rich industrial heritage, including the former Wellington bomber factory. Public art can 

also contribute to the health and well-being of employees working on the site creating spaces that 

people can enjoy during work breaks.  

3.253 Examples of public art projects include:  

 projects that expand the tourism, arts, heritage and cultural offer supporting the 

development of a year-round visitor economy that will further the regeneration and 

prosperity of the town;   

 projects that are part of the planning and creation of places, buildings, spaces and routes 

supporting the protection and enhancement of the built and natural environment and the 

provision of high quality design;  and 

 projects that engage existing and new communities and enable them to celebrate and/or 

investigate local identity and/or local issues supporting social development, cohesion and 

wellbeing.  

3.254 There may be circumstances where it is not appropriate to deliver a public art project as 

part of a specific development in these cases the Council will seek a financial contribution.  The type 

of Public Art and level of contribution will depend on the nature of the development proposal, the 

Page 176



 

86 
 

characteristics of the site and its surroundings.  This will also enable the delivery of public art 

through complementary strategies such as the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Action 

Plan. 

3.255 To ensure the provision of public art projects, and to provide further guidance on off-site 

financial contributions, the Council will prepare an SPD providing additional advice for developers.  

Page 177



 

87 
 

Heritage 

 

3.256 The Council places great importance on preserving the historic environment.  Under the 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Are 

as) Act (1990) the Council has a responsibility to have special regard to preserving listed buildings 

and must pay special attention to preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 

conservation areas. The NPPF states that in decision making, local authorities should give great 

weight to conservation of designated heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance.   

The Council expects that development not only conserves, but also takes opportunities to enhance, 

or better reveal the significance of heritage assets and their settings.  

3.257 Policy CS8 of the Core Strategy sets out the Council’s strategic policy in relation to heritage 

and recognises Blackpool’s rich social and built heritage, with the town’s success founded on iconic 

Victorian landmarks. 

3.258 Further detailed policy is provided in this section for proposals affecting Listed Buildings, 

Conservation Areas, Non-Designated Heritage Assets, Stanley Park and sites with archaeological 

importance.  

Page 178



 

88 
 

Listed Buildings 

3.259 Blackpool has 49 buildings statutorily listed for their special historical or architectural 

interest that represent some of the most important seaside architecture in Britain. The Council’s 

approach to how development impacts on our listed buildings reflects the scarcity and national 

significance of these designated assets.   

 

Policy DM26: Listed Buildings 
 

1. The Council will support proposals which sustain and enhance the significance of 

Blackpool’s Listed Buildings including their setting.  Great weight will be given to 

the conservation of those elements that contribute to the significance of the listed 

building including its setting. 

 
2. Proposals which would cause harm to or loss of a listed building, will only be 

permitted where this is clearly justified and outweighed by the public benefits of 

the proposal.  Substantial harm or total loss to the significance of a listed building 

will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances. 

 
3. Applications for works to listed buildings including new development within its 

setting must be accompanied by a heritage statement.  Where a heritage 

statement fails to adequately explain and justify the proposal and its impact on 

the significance of the heritage asset this may be used by the Council as grounds 

to justify refusal of the scheme. 

 
 

 

 

3.260 Listed Buildings are protected by legislation and Historic England keeps an up-to-date 

register of all listed buildings and those at risk.  Listing protects an irreplaceable part of our cultural 

heritage from unsympathetic changes and unnecessary destruction. Only a small proportion of 

buildings in England (about 2.5%) are Listed as being of special architectural or historic interest.  

3.261  Applicants are required to submit a heritage statement in support of any application that 

directly or indirectly impacts on a designated heritage asset. Whilst the information provided 

should be proportionate to the significance of the asset and nature of the works proposed the 

statement should as a minimum:  

•  Explain and justify how the proposal has taken into account the historical significance of the 

asset.  

 An assessment of the impact the proposal will have on the significance of the listed building 

including its setting 

Page 179



 

89 
 

 The extent to which the proposed works would result in public benefits 

 The present or future economic viability of the proposal 

 Clear details of the proposed works including architectural detailing 

 Clear demonstration of how the proposal meets the requirements of national policy and 

legislation  

3.262 It is essential that the custodians of these buildings are aware of their statutory obligations 

in respect of any proposals.  The Council recommends that custodians of listed buildings seek 

advice from the planning department at an early stage regarding any proposed development or 

alterations to a listed building.  

Page 180



 

90 
 

Conservation Areas 

3.263 A conservation area as defined by the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 is ‘an area of special architectural or historic interest the character or appearance of which 

it is desirable to preserve or enhance’.  Conservation areas were first introduced with the Civic 

Amenities Act in 1967 which gave local authorities the power to designate conservation areas. 

3.264  Blackpool has seven conservation areas: 

 Blackpool Town Centre  

 Stanley Park  

 Foxhall  

 Raikes Hall  

 Marton Moss 

 North Promenade 

 Layton 

3.265 The Council has prepared conservation area appraisals and management plans that provide 

further guidance on the character of these areas, which are available from the Council’s website.  

These documents will be taken into account as material considerations when assessing planning 

applications within these areas. 

 

Policy DM27: Conservation Areas 
 

1. Proposals within or affecting the setting of any of Blackpool’s conservation areas 

as identified on the Policies Map, should preserve or enhance those elements that 

make a positive contribution to their special character or appearance including its 

setting, having regard to the Council’s Conservation Area Appraisals. 

 

2. Demolition, or other unacceptable harm to the significance of a building or feature 

that makes a positive contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area, 

will only be permitted where this harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the 

proposal. Such proposals must be accompanied by clear details of the proposal 

and justify the harm in line with national policy through a heritage statement.   

Where a heritage statement fails to adequately explain and justify the proposal 

and its impact on the significance of the heritage asset as a whole, this may be 

used by the Council as grounds to justify refusal of the scheme.   

 

 

Page 181



 

91 
 

3. Proposals should:  

 

a.  Be appropriate to their context including setting, scale, density and physical 

characteristics; 

  

b.    Preserve or enhance features making a positive contribution. In particular, 

design, massing and height of any building should closely relate to adjacent 

buildings and should not have an unacceptable impact on townscape and 

landscape; 

  

c. Not have an unacceptable impact on historic street patterns or roofscape;  

   

d. Not result in harm to public or open spaces; 

  

e. Retain individual features of interest, including  doorways, cobbles, trees, 

hedges, railings and garden walls; 

 

f. Reinforce distinctiveness of the area, reflecting the local pallet of materials 

and local building styles; 

 

g.   Retain, repair, reinstate and enhance traditional shopfronts. 

 

 

3.266 Whilst Conservation Areas may contain Listed Buildings, all elements that contribute 

positively to the special character of the conservation area, including amongst other features 

buildings, walls, railings, open spaces and trees should be protected and where appropriate 

enhanced. 

3.267 In this respect the Council will generally seek to retain buildings or other structures which 

make a positive contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation area.  Demolitions 

will only be allowed where the building or structure does not positively contribute to the character 

or appearance of the area, where it is beyond reasonable economic repair or where proposals 

would remove a negative element in the conservation area.  Even where demolition meets the 

tests of the NPPF, consent will not be given unless acceptable and detailed plans for a 

redevelopment or restoration scheme has been approved by the Council and a contract for the 

carrying out of those works has been entered in to.  

Page 182



 

92 
 

Non-Designated Heritage Assets 

3.268 The Council maintains a local list of over 200 non-designated heritage assets.  Impacts from 

development affecting non-designated heritage assets or their setting are material planning 

considerations. 

 

Policy DM28: Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
 

1. Proposals which would retain, reuse and repair the significance of Blackpool’s 

non-designated heritage assets will be supported. 

 
2. There will be a presumption in favour of their retention when considering 

development proposals.  Development which would remove, harm or undermine 

the significance of a non-designated heritage asset will only be permitted where 

robust evidence can demonstrate that the benefits of the development clearly 

outweigh the harm. 

 
3. Proposals must be accompanied by a heritage statement, the detail of which is 

proportionate to the heritage asset affected.  Where a heritage statement fails to 

adequately explain and justify the proposal and its impact on the significance of the 

heritage asset this may be used by the Council as grounds to justify refusal of the 

scheme. 

 
4. Where the loss of a non-designated heritage asset is proposed, the following 

information will be considered: 

 
a. The significance of the heritage asset, in isolation and as part of a group as 

appropriate, its contribution to the character or appearance of the area, and 

the degree of harm that would result; 

 
b. An appropriate level of survey and recording which may also include 

archaeological investigations; 

 
c. The condition of the asset and the cost of any repairs and enhancement works 

that need to be undertaken; 

 
d. The adequacy of efforts made to sustain existing uses or find viable new uses 

 
e. The reuse of materials and architectural features in the new development; and 

 
f. The public benefit arising from the proposals for the site; 
 

 

Page 183



 

93 
 

g. Demonstration that the design of the new proposal is of an increased quality 
than the one it is replacing.  

 
5. Where permission is granted for development which would result in the loss of a 

non-designated heritage asset, approval will be conditional upon the asset being 

fully recorded and the information deposited with the Local Planning Authority 

and the Historic Environment Record. 

 

 
 

3.269 Local lists are a way of helping conserve buildings of local, rather than national, importance 

which make a positive contribution to the character of our streets and the town’s history.  

Blackpool’s local list was initiated by the findings of the historic townscape characterisation 

exercise in 2008/9 which identified buildings of local architectural and/or historic interest in those 

areas covered by the project. 

3.270 Subsequently the decision was taken to extend the local list to cover the whole borough so 

that the special interest of all buildings of local significance could be taken into account in planning 

decisions. The process for local listing has now been established and the lists of buildings which 

have been formally adopted can be seen on the heritage pages on the Council’s website [opens a 

new window]. 

3.271 Applicants are required to submit a heritage statement in support of any application that 

directly or indirectly impacts on local heritage asset. Whilst the information provided should be 

proportionate to the significance of the asset and nature of the works proposed the statement 

should consider as a minimum:  

 The significance of the heritage asset, in isolation and as part of a group as appropriate, its 

contribution to the character or appearance of the area, and the degree of harm that would 

result; 

 The public benefit arising from the proposals for the site; 

 The condition of the asset and the cost of any repairs and enhancement works that need to 

be undertaken; 

 The adequacy of efforts made to sustain existing uses or find viable new uses; and 

 Appropriate marketing 

 

3.272 Where a heritage statement fails to adequately explain and justify the proposal and its 

impact on the significance of the heritage asset this may be used by the Council as grounds to 

justify refusal of the scheme. 

3.273  Early pre-application engagement with the Council’s Conservation Officer is encouraged. 

Page 184

https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Residents/Libraries-arts-and-heritage/Blackpool-heritage/Conservation-areas-and-listed-buildings/Locally-listed-buildings.aspx


 

94 
 

Stanley Park 

3.274 Stanley Park is listed as Grade II* on the Historic England Register of Parks and Gardens and 

was constructed between 1924 and 1926 to designs by Thomas Mawson. The Park is a superb 

example of an early 20th Century public park with contemporary integral sports and leisure 

facilities.  

 

Policy DM29: Stanley Park 
 
 

1. Development proposals within or affecting the setting of Stanley Park, as 
identified on the Policies Map, should: 

 
a. sustain and where appropriate, enhance its significance; 

b. not result in harm to the elements which contribute to its significance 

including its layout, built or landscape features key views or vistas, its 

character and appearance and its enjoyment; 

c. be accompanied by a robust heritage assessment which will demonstrate 

the impact the proposal will have on its significance including its setting 

and clear details of the proposed works and how it will sustain and provide 

opportunities to enhance the significance of the Park and its setting. 

 

  

  
 

3.275 A unique blend of architecture, horticulture and recreation, the park covers around 104 

hectares and boasts one of England’s finest examples of Art Deco style design in the café building at 

the centre of the park.  The original intention of providing the park was to extend visitor facilities in 

Blackpool and to control and plan the expansion of Blackpool.   

3.276 The Park was laid out in close conformity to the 1922 plans and retains all the principal 

features of the executed plans and remains relatively untouched with few changes to the overall 

layout and little change to the built structures within it.  In 2019 Stanley Park was voted the best 

park in the UK described as a ‘beautiful tranquil place away from the hustle and bustle of the 

Blackpool seafront…’  

3.277 To ensure this unique facility in Blackpool is conserved and enhanced Policy DM29 sets out 

clear requirements that development proposals need to meet in order to protect the significance of 

this historic park.  

 

Page 185



 

95 
 

Archaeology 

3.278 The Council is committed to protecting remains of archaeological importance by ensuring 

acceptable measures are taken proportionate to the significance of the heritage asset to preserve 

them and their setting, including physical preservation, where appropriate.  Despite being a 

predominately nineteenth century town, Blackpool does have sites of earlier development 

particularly around Foxhall and in Layton and Bispham.  The town has yielded archaeological 

material from the prehistoric, Roman and medieval periods.  

3.279 This policy sets out the requirements where there is known archaeology or reasonable 

grounds for the potential for archaeology. 

 

Policy DM30: Archaeology 
 

1. Development which would result in harm to or loss of the significance of a 

scheduled monument (or a site of national significance) will not be permitted 

unless it can be demonstrated that the public benefits which cannot be met in any 

other way would clearly outweigh the harm.  

 
2. Where there is knowledge of archaeological remains or reasonable grounds for the 

potential of archaeology, proposals will be expected to be accompanied by an 

assessment of the significance of any archaeology prior to the determination of an 

application for the site and how it will be affected by the proposed development. 

Where this demonstrates that it is of national significance (equal significance to a 

Scheduled Monument), proposals which cause harm to or loss will not be 

supported unless it can be demonstrated that the public benefits which cannot be 

met in any other way would clearly outweigh the harm.  

  
3. Where proposals affect non-designated archaeology of local significance, this will 

be a material consideration when determining any planning applications for 

development.  

 
 

 

 

3.280 Where buried heritage would be affected by development, planning permission is likely to 

be subject to a condition requiring the implementation of a scheme of archaeological investigation 

and recording approved by the Local Planning Authority.  This may include further stages of 

evaluation surveys, particularly if trial trenching has not been undertaken at the pre-consent stage; 

works to mitigate the loss of archaeological remains, such as a watching brief or excavation & 

mitigation; off-site analysis and publication of the results of the archaeological work; and 

deposition of the archive with a repository approved by the LPA. 

Page 186



 

96 
 

3.281 Where proposals affect non-designated archaeology of local significance, developers need 

to undertake research at an early stage to identify the significance of the archaeology on the site to 

inform development proposals and assist in development management decisions. 

3.282 Where it can be demonstrated that the substantial public benefits of any proposals 

outweigh the harm to a scheduled monument (or site of national significance), consideration will be 

given to the significance of remains and measure sought to ensure mitigation of damage through 

preservation of the remains in situ as a preferred solution.  Where this is not justified, the 

developer will be required to: 

a) make adequate provision for excavation and recording before and / or during development 

b) demonstrate how the public understanding and appreciation of the site can be improved.  

Page 187



 

97 
 

Environment 

 

Surface Water Management 

3.283 A significant proportion of Blackpool has surface water and combined sewerage systems 

with capacities that reflect historical levels of design storms.  However, the rates of runoff and the 

rainfall volumes have increased and are expected to continue to increase.  Surface water flooding 

occurs when rainwater does not drain away through natural or man-made drainage systems or soak 

into the ground, but lies on or flows over the ground. In addition, the amount of surface water that 

enters the sewer network during storm surges can cause spillage into the sea.  

3.284 These factors have a detrimental impact on Blackpool’s bathing water quality. Under the 

requirements of the Bathing Water Directive, signs will be required on the beaches providing 

information on bathing water quality, which could potentially have a detrimental impact upon on 

Blackpool as a seaside resort. It is therefore essential that runoff rates and volumes are minimised 

in new developments. 

3.285 Core Strategy policy CS9 Water Management sets out the strategic requirement to reduce 

flood risk, manage the impacts of flooding and mitigate the effects of climate change.  This policy 

provides further detailed policy specifically in relation to surface water management. 

 

Policy DM31: Surface Water Management 

 
1. Surface water from development sites will be discharged via the most sustainable 

drainage option available. The discharge of surface water should be in line with the 

following order of priority, in accordance with National Planning Practice Guidance:  

 

a.  into the ground (infiltration);  

b.  to a surface water body;  

c.  to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;  

d.  to a combined sewer. 

 

2. On greenfield sites applicants will be required to demonstrate that the current natural 

discharge rate is replicated as a minimum.  The starting point for this will be a 

maximum greenfield run-off rate for greenfield sites. 

 
3. On previously developed sites applicants should target a reduction from pre-existing 

discharges of surface water to a target of greenfield rates and volumes so far as 

reasonably practicable, with a starting point of a maximum of a 30% reduction in run-

 

Page 188



 

98 
 

off rates.  In critical drainage areas the greenfield standard will be expected, with a 

minimum of a 50% reduction in run-off rates. 

 

4. All new development should:  

a. include the use of sustainable drainage systems, unless demonstrated to be 

inappropriate; and 

b. reduce areas of existing impermeable surfaces. 

 

5. Approved development proposals will be required to be supplemented by appropriate 

maintenance and management regimes for surface water drainage schemes. 

 
 

 

3.286 Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) comprise a variety of interception and attenuation 

methods to manage surface water quantities and methods of treatment to improve water quality.   

They should be applied to new development in all cases. 

3.287 SuDS should be considered at the earliest possible opportunity when devising proposals to 

ensure that they can be fully incorporated into the scheme.  SuDS must be designed and installed in 

line with the latest national and local best practice and guidance in order to minimise demands on 

surface water sewerage systems and to prevent an increased risk of pollution to watercourses.  

They must be designed to meet these requirements over the lifetime of the development.  

3.288 Landscaping proposals should consider what contribution the landscaping of a site can make 

to reducing surface water discharge and improving water quality.  This can include hard and soft 

landscaping such as permeable surfaces at the plot level to reduce the volume and rate of surface 

water discharge. 

3.289 The treatment and processing of surface water is not a sustainable solution. Surface water 

should be managed at source and not transferred.  Every option should be investigated before 

discharging surface water into a public sewerage network.  There will be an expectation for surface 

water to be discharged to ground via infiltration in the first instance.  Applicants wishing to 

discharge to the public sewer will need to submit clear evidence demonstrating why alternative 

options are not available.  

3.290 In order to ensure that flood risk is not increased, it is expected that run-off rates will be 

minimised.  The starting point for this will be a maximum greenfield run-off rate for greenfield sites 

and a minimum 30% reduction in run-off rates on brownfield sites (50% in critical drainage areas). 

3.291 Water management solutions relying on surface water pumping are not considered a viable 

drainage solution option as mechanical failure will lead to surface water flooding. 

Page 189



 

99 
 

3.292 Developers must consider enabling a resilient development and support the 25 year 

environmental plan using natural processes and maximising natural capital benefits, providing 

evidence of natural capital benefit and biodiversity net gain. 

3.293 Once more details are known on development sites, such as the approach to surface water 

management and proposed connection points to the foul sewer network, it may be necessary to 

coordinate the delivery of development with timing for the delivery of infrastructure 

improvements.  It will be necessary to ensure that the delivery of development is guided by 

strategies for infrastructure which ensure coordination between phases of development over 

lengthy time periods and by numerous developers. 

3.294 Current best practice guidance such as the SUDS Manual and Planning for SUDS (CIRIA C697 

and C687) should be followed in the design of developments of all sizes, with design principles that 

are important to Blackpool set out in this policy.  Smaller, more resilient features distributed 

throughout a development should be used where possible, instead of one large management 

feature. 

  

Page 190



 

100 
 

Wind Energy 

3.295 Policy CS10 of the Core Strategy sets out the requirements for renewable and low carbon 

energy and the policy highlights that where deemed suitable, Part 2 of the Local Plan will identify 

areas suitable for wind energy development to reflect the Ministerial Statement of 18 June 201526. 

3.296 In response to this, and reflecting the specific reference in the NPPF that local planning 

authorities should recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable contribution to 

cutting greenhouse gas emissions, Policy DM32 identifies the whole of the Borough as an area of 

search for small scale wind turbines with proposals having to meet stringent criteria to gain 

planning permission. 

 

Policy DM32: Wind Energy 
 

1. The whole Borough is designated as an area of search suitable for small scale wind 

turbine development comprising up to 20m in height above ground level to blade 

tip.  Proposals for such development must meet the requirements of Core Strategy 

and Development Management policies and demonstrate that:  

 

a. the proposed scale of the wind turbine(s) is efficient on power output and that 

this efficiency is not compromised at the proposed location by turbulence at 

low levels;  

b. there is no unacceptable impact on residential and visitor accommodation 

amenity and other sensitive users in terms of noise, shadow flicker, vibration 

and visual dominance;   

c. the impact on the natural environment including designated sites and the 

countryside area has been assessed and where necessary appropriate 

mitigation or enhancement provided;  

d. the proposal would not lead to an adverse impact on any heritage asset and 

their setting, including strategic views;  

e. the proposal takes account of the cumulative effect that would result from the 

proposal  in conjunction with permitted and existing renewable energy 

schemes, including those in neighbouring authorities and there is found to be 

no significant adverse impact;  

f. the local road network can satisfactorily accommodate the development 

proposed;  

 

                                                      
26 Government guidance on renewable and low carbon energy [opens a new window] 
 

Page 191

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy#Do-local-people-have-the-final-say


 

101 
 

g. assessments of impacts on air traffic safety, radar and communications and 

consultation with the appropriate bodies have not identified any adverse 

impacts;  

h. there is support from the local community where required, informed by pre-

application consultation to ensure any planning impacts identified by the 

affected community have been fully addressed.  

 

2. Where mitigation measures can be achieved to make any identified impacts 

acceptable these will be secured through negotiation or the use of conditions or 

planning obligations. 

 

3. Where a proposal is permitted, a condition will be attached to the planning 

permission that will require the removal of redundant structures and/or 

equipment and for the restoration of the site should the site become non-

operational.   

 

4. In assessing wind energy proposals, the Council will give positive weight to 

community-led initiatives or where there is direct benefit to the community 

through their involvement. 

 
 

3.297 Government policy for wind energy is set out in Chapter 14 of the NPPF providing revised 

national policy on wind energy development.   

3.298 Opportunities for wind energy generation have been considered in the Blackpool Climate 

Change and Renewable Energy Study (2010) and in the Lancashire wide Renewable Energy Study 

undertaken by SQW and Maslen Environmental 2011/12.  

3.299 Wind speeds across the Borough are favourable for wind energy generation.  However, due 

to Blackpool’s dense urban form and particular local constraints, which includes Blackpool Airport 

and important strategic views of Blackpool Tower (a Grade 1* listed Building), the location of larger 

scale commercial wind turbines in the Borough is not appropriate.   

3.300 With respect to small scale turbines, Blackpool currently has six, two located at the Solaris 

Centre south Promenade27; one located south of the Sandcastle28, two located at the Enterprise 

Centre on Lytham Road29  and one (non-operational) at St Mary’s Catholic College30.  A further 2 

small wind turbines have been approved on the Promenade south of the Sandcastle31 

                                                      
27 11m to hub height, 13m to blade tip 
28 14m to blade tip 
29 6.6m to hub height, 8.4m to blade tip 
30  11.75m to blade tip 
31 2 turbines 15m to blade tip 

Page 192



 

102 
 

3.301 For the purpose of this policy, small scale wind installations are defined as having a height 

of up to 20m above ground level to blade tip; are viable at wind speeds of 4.5 m/s at 10m above 

ground level and typically produce enough energy to supply a small number of buildings.  

3.302 Any proposal must meet the requirements of Core Strategy policy including CS6 – Green 

Infrastructure; Policy CS8 – Heritage; CS9 Water Management; and CS10 – Sustainable Design and 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy.  Other development management policies provide guidance in 

relation to noise and vibration, the local road network and impact on strategic views.  A detailed 

assessment will need to be submitted as part of any wind turbine proposal thoroughly addressing 

the requirements of Policy DM32.  

3.303 The development of wind turbines has the potential to cause a variety of negative effects 

on aviation.  These include (but are not limited to) physical obstructions; the generation of 

unwanted returns on Primary Surveillance Radar (PSR); adverse effects on the overall performance 

of communication, navigation and surveillance equipment; and turbulence.  

3.304 Whilst it is generally the larger, commercial turbines that have the greatest impact on 

aviation, the installation of other equipment may also affect operations.  Smaller turbines can also 

have a negative impact on aviation and so require assessment.  Moreover, the cumulative effects of 

wind turbines on aviation need to be assessed if developments proliferate in specific areas.  Wind 

turbine developers must understand the potential impact of developments on aviation, and fully 

engage with the aviation industry at an early stage in the development process to address any 

potential problems and develop, where appropriate, suitable mitigation solutions.  Due to the 

proximity of Blackpool airport, all areas in Blackpool fall within a consultation zone where 

discussions should be had with the aviation authorities. 

3.305 Wind turbines can also affect Ministry of Defence operations including radar, seismology 

recording equipment, communications facilities, naval operations and low flying.  Developers are 

required to consult with the Ministry of Defence if a proposed turbine is 11 metres to blade tip or 

taller and/or has a rotor diameter of 2m or more. 

3.306 In addition it is important to highlight the proximity of arable and pasture land which 

surrounds Blackpool, but lies outside the authority’s boundary.  Land surrounding Marton Mere 

and Whyndyke Farm are important for foraging birds including Pink Footed geese, Whooper swan 

and Bewick’s swan.  The impact of any proposals in proximity to these foraging lands will need to be 

assessed and consulted upon with Natural England.  

3.307 The Promenade is a key tourism asset for the resort and it has seen a multi-million pound 

programme of investment over the last decade to reconstruct the sea defences, provide high 

quality public realm and new event space.  The siting of any wind turbines on the seafront will need 

careful consideration to avoid impacts on the setting and important strategic views of Blackpool 

Tower and the Promenade as a recreational activity and events space.   Any proposal will need to 

Page 193



 

103 
 

enhance the Promenade contributing as a public realm feature including the integration of lighting 

to create visual effects. 

3.308 There is a legal requirement to carry out pre-application consultation with the local 

community for planning applications for wind turbine development involving one or more turbines 

and following consultation, it must be demonstrated that any planning impacts identified by the 

affected local community have been fully addressed and the proposal has their backing.  

3.309 Some sizes and types of wind turbines on domestic properties are covered by permitted 

development rights under Schedule2, Part 14, Class H of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.  This means that in some circumstances, they do 

not need planning permission to be installed.   

Page 194

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/schedule/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/schedule/2/made


 

104 
 

Coast and Foreshore 

3.310 Blackpool’s coastline and foreshore is one of the resort’s key assets, well used by both 

local residents and visitors.  Coastlines warrant special protection as they are often sensitive to 

development due to their open character and the fact that they provide habitats for certain species 

of plants, animals and birds.  

3.311 In order to meet the new Bathing Water Directive, a significant amount of work has been 

undertaken by the Council, United Utilities and other stakeholders to improve water quality and 

reduce the risk of flooding.  

 

Policy DM33: Coast and Foreshore 
 

Development proposals will be supported which secure further improvements to 

bathing water quality or flood protection.  Development proposals that would 

adversely affect the appearance, integrity or environmental quality of the beach 

and foreshore will be resisted.  The Coast and Foreshore is identified on the 

Policies Map. 

 

 

 

3.312 The Council is committed to protecting and enhancing the environment of the coast to 

ensure that its appearance and environmental quality is maintained or improved. Proposals that 

would have a detrimental impact on Blackpool’s coast and foreshore will be resisted. 

3.313 Shoreline Management Plans (SMPs) are part of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 

Management planning framework. The North West England and North Wales Shoreline 

Management Plan 2 (SMP) sets the long term policy for the management of the coast and is taken 

forward through shoreline strategies and schemes. The Management Plan seeks to ‘hold the line’ 

along the Fylde Coast which means maintaining the current standard of protection; and the 

Catchment Flood Management Plan seeks to manage run-off rates and minimise flood risk. 

3.314 The Marine Management Organisation (MMO) was established following the Marine and 

Coastal Access Act 2009. As the marine planning authority for England the MMO is responsible for 

preparing marine plans for English in-shore and off-shore waters. 

3.315 The North West Marine Plan extends from the mean high water springs to the territorial 

limit.  Marine plans are being developed on a rolling programme.  The North West Marine Plan, 

which includes Blackpool, is currently being prepared and will be delivered by 2021, with a 20 year 

view of activities. Each plan will be monitored with three yearly reviews.  All authorisation and 

enforcement decisions must be made in accordance with the marine plan, and all decisions which 

are capable of affecting the marine area must have regard to the marine plan. 

Page 195



 

105 
 

 

Development in the Countryside 

3.316 The only remaining countryside area in Blackpool is on the eastern edge of the Borough 

(between Newton Hall and Mythop Road) as identified on the Policies Map.  The area is 

predominantly in agricultural use and adjoins extensive areas of open countryside in neighbouring 

Fylde Borough.  It forms a buffer between Staining and Blackpool and has an open character 

comprising fields and Biological Heritage Sites. 

 

Policy DM34: Development in the Countryside 
 

1. The intrinsic value and rural character of Blackpool’s remaining area of 

countryside as shown on the Policies Map will be safeguarded. 

 

2. Development in the countryside, shown on the Policies Map, will be limited to: 

 

a. agricultural or horticultural purposes;  

b. outdoor recreational uses appropriate to a rural area;  

c. extensions and replacement dwellings providing they are in keeping with the 

scale and open character of the countryside.  Any extensions and replacement 

dwellings in excess of 33% of the original ground floor footprint of the building 

will not be permitted; 

d. isolated new homes in the countryside which meet the criteria set out in 

paragraph 79 of NPPF 2019 (or any future equivalent). 

 

 

 

3.317 It is important that the countryside is protected from unacceptable development that would 

harm its rural character.  The intrinsic value and rural character of this remaining small area of 

countryside in Blackpool Borough needs to be protected from inappropriate development and 

settlement encroachment.  However, certain forms of development are necessary to support rural 

life and maintain or enhance the rural economy. 

3.318 Outdoor recreational uses such as horse stabling and grazing appropriate to a rural area will 

only be permitted on sites where the use is unlikely to give the need for residential supervision or 

there is already a residential dwelling on site.  

3.319 Enhancements of the wildlife features of the countryside areas that will promote the 

enjoyment of the natural environment by the public will be encouraged. 

3.320 Modest extensions that are sensitively designed and relate well to the existing property and 

surrounding area will be permitted. Proposed developments that by virtue of their scale, design or 

Page 196



 

106 
 

materials would have an adverse impact on the visual amenities and remaining rural character of 

the designated Countryside Area will be resisted.  To avoid over large and conspicuous dwellings, 

no proposals will be permitted exceeding 33% of the original ground floor building footprint.  This 

approach aligns with that adopted by Fylde Council in their Local Plan bearing in mind that 

Blackpool Borough’s countryside area forms part of the wider expanse of countryside in Fylde 

Borough.  A restriction to the scale of extensions has been successfully applied since the adoption 

of the 2006 Local Plan and has consistently been supported by Inspectors at appeal. 

  

Page 197



 

107 
 

Biodiversity 

3.321 Biodiversity is an important component of a high quality natural and built environment 

which helps strengthen the connection between people and nature and contributes to health and 

well-being, improves air quality, provides resilience to climate change and adds amenity value.  The 

Council is committed to maintaining and enhancing the biodiversity and natural distinctiveness of 

sites with conservation value in Blackpool. 

3.322 Core Strategy Policy CS6 highlights that international, national and local sites of biological 

and geological conservation importance will be protected, having regard to the hierarchy of 

designated sites and the potential for appropriate mitigation.  Measures that seek to preserve, 

restore and enhance local ecological networks and priority habitats/ species will be required where 

necessary.  This policy expands on policy CS6 for development proposals affecting biodiversity 

including Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), Marton Mere Local Nature Reserve, Biological 

Heritage Sites and Protected Species. 

 

Policy DM35: Biodiversity 
 

1.  Development proposals will be required to: 

 

a. result in no loss or harm to biodiversity through avoidance, adequate 

mitigation either on site or off site or, as a last resort, compensatory measures 

secured through the establishment of a legally binding agreement; 

b. minimise the impact on biodiversity and provide net biodiversity gains through 

good design by incorporating biodiversity enhancements and habitat creation 

where opportunities exist in line with relevant legislation and guidance. 

 

SSSIs 

 

2.  Development will not be permitted in or adjacent to a Site of Special Scientific 

Interest where it would adversely affect, directly or indirectly, its wildlife and 

nature conservation importance.  The only exception is where the benefits of the 

development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact on 

the features of the site that make it of special scientific interest, and any broader 

impacts on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest. 

 

Other sites of nature conservation value (including Local Nature Reserve and Biological 

Heritage Sites)  

 

3. Development will not be permitted where it would adversely affect County 

Heritage Sites – biological or geological - and other sites of importance to nature 

 

Page 198



 

108 
 

conservation interests, including all ponds in the Borough.  Where in exceptional 

circumstances the benefits of development proposals clearly outweigh the extent 

of ecological or geological harm, developers will be required to compensate for 

such harm to the fullest practicable extent compatible with the conservation 

interests of the site. 

 

Protected Species 

 

4. Development will not be permitted if after mitigation or compensation it would 

have an adverse impact on animal or plant species protected under national or 

international legislation.  Development proposals should ensure that species and 

habitats set out in the UK and Local Biodiversity Action Plans will be protected and 

where possible enhanced.  Where development is permitted, adequate 

compensatory measures must be undertaken to sustain and enhance the species 

and its habitat. 

 
Agricultural Land  

 
5. Development which is likely to lead to the loss of the best and most versatile 

agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 3a) will not be permitted unless supported by 

other policies in the plan or it is demonstrated that the loss is outweighed by other 

planning considerations. 

 

 

3.323 It is vital that development proposals do not adversely impact on exiting biodiversity.  The 

Mitigation Hierarchy will therefore apply with a requirement to consider avoidance, mitigation and 

compensation in that order32. 

3.324 The Environment Bill 2019 introduced the concept of Biodiversity Net Gain, which relates to 

the protection, preservation and enhancement of habitats. Developers will be required to consider 

the increase to existing biodiversity in respect of any new development in line with relevant 

Biodiversity Net Gain legislation and guidance. 

SSSIs 

3.325 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) are statutory sites of nature conservation value 

designated by Natural England and represent the best of the country’s habitats. 

                                                      
32 A cross sector guide to implementing the Mitigation Hierarchy [opens a new page] -   
 

Page 199

http://www.csbi.org.uk/our-work/mitigation-hierarchy-guide/


 

109 
 

3.326 Presently there is only one such site within Blackpool at Marton Mere.  Marton Mere was 

declared an SSSI by the Nature Conservancy Council in 1979 and renotified in 1984 under the 

revised legislation contained in the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

3.327 There are strict controls on the operation and use of land within the Council owned SSSI. 

The site covers 39 hectares and the water area of the Mere itself covers 18 hectares, which is one 

of the few remaining natural freshwater sites in Lancashire, supporting a great many species of 

birds throughout the year.  The Council will seek to protect the SSSI and consult Natural England on 

any planning applications likely to affect land in the SSSI. 

Other sites of nature conservation value 

3.328 Due to the highly built up nature of Blackpool, there are a limited number of sites of nature 

conservation interest which increases the importance of protection of any sites where nature 

conservation interests are identified.  

3.329 Biological Heritage Sites make a significant contribution to the biodiversity of Blackpool and 

will be conserved and protected.  Blackpool’s Biological Heritage Sites are identified in the Nature 

Conservation Paper (2012).  The majority of the defined sites within Blackpool are within public 

open space or other areas of land allocated to remain open, many being ponds located on the 

periphery of the Borough along the town’s eastern boundary. 

3.330 The Council is committed to maintaining the biodiversity and local distinctiveness of sites of 

nature conservation interest and will endeavour to safeguard, conserve and enhance any further 

sites that are identified as adding to the wildlife and amenity value of the network of Biological 

Heritage Sites. 

3.331 Development that could damage or destroy ponds or other local conservation sites will only 

be permitted if it can be clearly shown that the benefits of development outweigh both the nature 

conservation value and amenity value of the site.  

3.332 Where in exceptional circumstances development is to be approved which could affect a 

conservation site, appropriate mitigation measures will be required to conserve, as far as possible, 

the biological value of the site and to provide for replacement habitats where damage is 

unavoidable. 

Protected Species 

3.333 Many species receive special protection under National, European and International 

legislation.  This includes both flora and fauna.  Protection by law is afforded to the species and new 

sites may be found or become important as habitats during the life of the Plan. 

3.334 The presence of certain newts, bats, butterflies or other protected species is a material 

planning consideration when considering development proposals that would be likely to harm the 

species or its habitat.  On such sites an expert on the relevant protected species should carry out a 

Page 200



 

110 
 

site survey, with recommendations on how to safeguard the site or how to mitigate the effects of 

development if this can be acceptably achieved without serious adverse harm to the species 

involved. 

3.335 In Blackpool, a substantial number of the already designated conservation sites are habitats 

of the Great Crested Newt and Water Vole, which are protected in the UK under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act, 1981 and identified as a Priority Species under the UK Post-2010 Biodiversity 

Framework.  The Great Crested Newt is also listed as a European Protected Species under Annex IV 

of the European Habitats Directive. 

 

Agricultural Land 

3.336 Although Blackpool Borough is largely built up and urban in nature, there are some small 

areas of agricultural land (classed as the best and most versatile agricultural land) to the east of the 

Borough towards Staining and across the Marton Moss area.  It is important that the loss of this 

best and most versatile agricultural land is minimised. 

   

Page 201



 

111 
 

Controlling Pollution and Contamination 

3.337 The planning system contributes to and enhances the natural and physical environment by 

preventing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from or being 

adversely affected by unacceptable levels of air, soil, water or noise pollution.  

3.338 Section 15 of the NPPF confirms that planning policies should seek opportunities to improve 

or mitigate impacts on air quality; should ensure development has no significant adverse noise 

impacts on health and quality of life; should limit the impact of light pollution on local amenity and 

landscapes; protect and provide net gains in biodiversity; and ensure that a site is suitable for its 

proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land instability and 

contamination.  The NPPF is clear that responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the 

developer and/or landowner. 

 

Policy DM36: Controlling Pollution and Contamination 
 

1. Development will be permitted where in isolation or in conjunction with other planned 

or committed developments it can be demonstrated that the development:  

 

a. Will be compatible with adjacent existing uses and would not lead to unacceptable 

adverse effects on health, amenity, safety and the operation of surrounding uses 

and for occupants, users of the development itself or designated sites of 

importance for biodiversity, with reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, 

other pollution or nuisance. Applications will be required to be accompanied, 

where appropriate by relevant impact assessments and mitigation proposals; 

 

b. In the case of previously developed, other potentially contaminated or unstable 

land, a land remediation scheme can be secured which will ensure that the land is 

remediated to a standard which provides a safe environment for occupants and 

users and does not displace contamination; 

 

c. Will not give rise to a deterioration of air quality in the defined Air Quality 

Management Area in Blackpool Town Centre or result in the declaration of a new 

AQMA. Where appropriate an air quality impact assessment will be required to 

support development proposals; 

 

d. Where development will result in, or contribute to, a deterioration in air quality, 

permission will only be granted where any such harm caused is significantly and 

demonstrably outweighed by other planning considerations and appropriate 

mitigation measures are provided to minimise any such harm. 

 

 

Page 202



 

112 
 

e. Will not pose a risk of pollution to controlled waters (surface or ground water) 

and will, where required, include mitigation and/or remediation to prevent any 

unacceptable levels of water pollution. 

 

2. Proposals for the development of hazardous installations/pipelines, modifications to 

existing sites, or development in the vicinity of hazardous installations or pipelines, will be 

permitted where it has been demonstrated that the amount, type and location of 

hazardous substances would not pose unacceptable health and/or safety risks. 

 
  

 

3.339 It is the Council’s duty to determine planning applications after taking account of advice on 

public health and safety.  Many aspects of pollution control are already regulated through other 

legislation and statutory bodies and the Council as local planning authority will not seek to 

duplicate the functions of any pollution control authority. 

3.340 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development is 

appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of 

pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment. 

3.341 In considering planning applications for developments and uses that would have a 

potentially adverse impact on their surroundings, the Council will seek to control the location of 

such activities and land uses and restrict their development in close proximity to residential, 

educational, institutional, recreational and other environmentally sensitive areas such as 

designated sites of importance for biodiversity .  Where necessary the Council will require measures 

to be undertaken to mitigate any unacceptable effects of development.  These measures might 

include remediating contaminated land, screening, landscaping, sound insulation or changing the 

layout of the site.  In certain circumstances the Council would expect an Air Quality Impact 

Assessment to accompany a planning application, which would identify any impacts on air quality 

and mitigation, as set out in national guidance.  Whilst there isn’t a definitive guide to when such an 

impact would be required, this would typically be where a development is in an area where air 

quality is known to be of concern; and/or if the development would be likely to give rise to a 

negative impact on air quality.  The requirement for an impact assessment should be agreed with 

the Council prior to the submission of an application. 

 

3.342 At the time of adoption there is only one Air Quality Management Area declared in 

Blackpool Town Centre.  This is located in the north of Blackpool Town Centre in the area around 

Talbot Road and Dickson Road (see Appendix F). 

 

  

Page 203



 

113 
 

Community  

 

Community Facilities 

3.343 Community facilities provide for the health and well-being, social, educational, recreational, 

leisure and cultural needs of the community. Such facilities can include libraries, community 

centres, educational and health centres and public houses.  These facilities and services have an 

important role in developing and maintaining community inclusion and cohesion and help to create 

and maintain sustainable neighbourhoods.  They provide the social infrastructure essential for day-

to-day needs as well as helping enrich people’s lives. 

3.344 The NPPF highlights the role the planning system has in facilitating social interaction and 

creating healthy, inclusive communities.  In this context national guidance seeks to guard against 

the loss of valued community facilities.  Core Strategy policy33 supports community facilities in 

order to secure a better quality of life for residents and to deliver sustainable neighbourhoods.   

3.345 Policy DM37  therefore seeks to ensure that where appropriate community facilities are 

protected and where a shortfall is identified that such facilities are encouraged.   

 

 

Policy DM37: Community Facilities 
 

Existing community facilities 

 

1. Proposals that would lead to the loss of a community facility through demolition 

or change of use will only be supported where: 

 

a. the existing facility would be relocated or replaced in a location to serve the 

same community, or; 

b. the applicant can demonstrate that there is no longer a need for the facility in 

its current use or as an alternative community use. 

 

2. Proposals that would lead to the reduction in size of a community facility will only 

be supported where there would be an overall benefit to the facility and the 

community and would ensure viability in the long term. 

 

 

                                                      
33 Core Strategy Policies CS11 – Planning Obligations, CS12 – Sustainable Neighbourhoods and CS15 – Health and 
Education  

Page 204



 

114 
 

New community facilities 

 

3. The Council will promote sites and encourage opportunities for new community 

facilities on appropriate sites, in areas where there is an identified shortfall of 

provision.  Proposals for new local community facilities should be located on sites 

accessible by sustainable modes of travel. 

 

Public Houses and Social Clubs 

 

4. Proposals that would lead to the loss of a public house or social club through 

demolition or change of use will only be supported where: 

 

a. the public house or social club is no longer economically viable when 

considered against CAMRA’s Public House Viability Test34 and that a range of 

measures have been undertaken to seek to improve viability; 

b. the public house or social club has been robustly marketed as such at a market 

rate for a continuous period of at least 18 months;  

c. no alternative community use has been identified; 

d. the proposal would not result in the loss of a facility of particular value to the 

local community in terms of its architectural, social, heritage or cultural 

importance; 

e. there is a diverse range of public house or social club provision within the 
locality;  

f. the redevelopment of the site would secure an overriding public benefit for 

the local community. 

 
 

3.346 Given the limited supply of land in Blackpool for facilities and competing pressures to meet 

a wide range of needs, it is important to ensure that decisions about community facilities are made 

in the interests of the communities which they serve.   Where development proposals would 

involve the loss or reduction in community provision, the first consideration should be whether 

there is still a need for the existing use and how suitable the facility would be for an alternative 

community use before a non-community use of the site is considered. 

3.347 The loss of a community facility will only be supported when the applicant has submitted 

evidence to demonstrate that there is no longer a need for the facility in its current use or as an 

alternative community use.  The evidence required will depend on the nature of the community use 

and this must be agreed with the Council prior to the submission of an application.  The scope of 

evidence required will be determined by the nature of the use, but will generally look at how 

                                                      
34 CAMRA Public House Viability Test  

Page 205

https://camra.org.uk/campaign_resources/public-house-viability-test/


 

115 
 

community needs are being met elsewhere, how long the property has been vacant, how long it 

has been marketed for and the economic viability of the community use. 

Public Houses and Social Clubs 

3.348 The loss of public houses over recent years has increased due to the attractiveness of such 

sites for alternative uses  and previous permitted development rights which allowed pubs to 

convert to retail use without planning permission.  However, the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 

and the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) Order 

2017 now prevents the demolition of public houses, or their conversion to a different use without 

planning permission. 

3.349 The importance of public houses as community assets has also been acknowledged through 

the NPPF which requires local authorities to ‘plan positively’ for such uses.  There is also a body of 

evidence produced by organisations such as CAMRA (The Campaign for Real Ale), the All Party 

Parliamentary Beer Group and the Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR) which also supports 

this view, the latter highlighting their social and community importance.  

3.350 With regards to Blackpool, the town has experienced increased pressure to convert public 

houses and social clubs, along with associated land such as bowling greens, to other uses.  This is of 

concern to the Council as such facilities  can make a valuable contribution to the community by 

adding character to the area, providing local employment opportunities and a place for social 

interaction and activity. Public Houses and social clubs provide important facilities/space for 

recreation and leisure such as live music performances and community events.  They have a valued 

and culturally important role and contribute positively to townscape and local identity and should 

be protected wherever possible. 

3.351 An application involving the loss of a public house or social club will need to be 

accompanied by CAMRA’s Public House Viability Test [opens a new window] which demonstrates 

that despite measures undertaken to improve the facility’s viability, it cannot be made viable in the 

long term. 

3.352 The viability test does not seek to protect the continued existence of each and every pub or 

social club. It does however provide a fact-based method to rigorously scrutinise and test the future 

viability against a set of well-accepted measures. 

  

Page 206

https://camra.org.uk/campaign_resources/public-house-viability-test/


 

116 
 

Allotments and Community Gardens 

3.353 Allotments and community gardens have important recreational and health benefits, 

promoting healthy eating, physical activity and mental wellbeing as well as having nature 

conservation value. 

 

Policy DM38: Allotments and Community Gardens 
 

1. Planning permission will not be granted for development that would result in the 

loss of existing allotments and community gardens, as identified on the Policies 

Map unless: 

 

a. there is no demonstrable need for the allotments/community garden in terms 

of quality, quantity and accessibility or there is a need but compensatory 

provision can be made elsewhere nearby; or 

 

b. where partial redevelopment of existing allotments/community garden is 

proposed, this would result in more efficient use and improvements to the 

remaining allotments in a specific location. 

 

 

 

3.354 The Council’s allotments and community gardens are identified on the Policies Map.  The 

majority of allotment sites in Blackpool are managed by the Blackpool Federation of Allotments. 

Community gardens are single pieces of land gardened collectively by a group of people, and 

include sites to the rear of Fulwood Avenue, rear of 3-15 Lostock Gardens and @theGrange. 

    

3.355 Development that results in the loss of allotments or community gardens will generally be 

resisted.  Any application for the loss of allotments/community gardens will be considered taking 

into account the impact of losing an allotment/community garden site on the quality, quantity and 

accessibility of allotments and any deficiency regarding access to allotments and community 

gardens. 

 

  

Page 207



 

117 
 

Blackpool Victoria Hospital 

3.356 Blackpool Victoria Hospital is the main hospital facility for Blackpool and the wider Fylde 

Coast and provides vital medical services to the community it serves.  This policy provides guidance 

on appropriate development within the hospital estate. 

 

Policy DM39: Blackpool Victoria Hospital 

 
1. Proposals for the further development and improvement of health facilities and 

supporting uses at Blackpool Victoria Hospital will be permitted within the area 

defined on the Policies Map.  

 

2. Any redevelopment proposals must consider the need for further improved 

accessibility and parking on the hospital site. 

 

 

 

3.357 The hospital has undergone a number of improvements over the past decade including a 

new modern entrance facility and Cardiac Unit.  The future strategy for the hospital includes the 

redevelopment and replacement of existing outdated facilities to make a more efficient use of the 

site.  This includes facilities that support the main function of the hospital including improved 

medical staff accommodation and supporting office accommodation. 

3.358 Parking improvements have been made in the form of two multi-storey car parks and 

improved circulation around the hospital site. It will remain a priority that any further phased 

redevelopment must consider the need for continued improved accessibility and parking.  

Page 208



 

118 
 

Blackpool and the Fylde College – Bispham Campus 

3.359 Blackpool and the Fylde College is a key education provider in Blackpool and delivers both 

further and higher education courses.  The Council recognises the importance of Blackpool and the 

Fylde College Bispham campus as a focus for further education and also as a social and recreational 

centre meeting the needs of Blackpool residents. 

 

Policy DM40: Blackpool and the Fylde College – Bispham Campus 
 

Land shown on the Policies Map will be safeguarded for the future development and 

improvement of facilities at Blackpool and the Fylde College. Development for other 

purposes will not be permitted. 

 

 

 

3.360 The further development and improvement of existing facilities and of remaining land 

within the site for continued educational use will be supported.  Development for other purposes 

not directly associated with the function of the College will not be permitted. 

  

Page 209



 

119 
 

Transport 

 

Transport Requirements for New Development 

3.361 Core Strategy policies CS5: Connectivity and CS27: South Blackpool Transport and 

Connectivity promote a sustainable and efficient transport network for Blackpool.  The following 

policy provides further highway and transport requirements for all new development. 

 

Policy DM41:  Transport Requirements for New Development 
 

1. New development will only be permitted where the access, travel and safety needs 

of all affected by the development are met.  Proposals must ensure that: 

 

a. safe and appropriate connection to the road network is secured for all transport 

modes requiring access to and within the development; 

 

b. convenient, safe and pleasant pedestrian access and cycle routes are provided.  

Where existing public rights of way, or cycle routes are severed, effective 

alternative routes must be provided; 

 

c. appropriate provision is made for public transport; 

 

d. traffic management measures are incorporated to reduce traffic speeds; give 

pedestrians, people with impaired mobility and cyclists priority; and allow the 

efficient provision of public transport; 

 

e. car, cycle and motorcycle parking is provided in accordance with the parking 

standards set out in Appendix G1; including the provision of electric vehicle (EV) 

charging infrastructure; and the layout provides for sufficient levels of servicing 

and operational space where required; 

 

f. additional mitigation measures are factored into the proposal where traffic  

generated will impact on the surrounding highway network. 

 

2. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans will be required having regard to the 

thresholds set out in Appendix G2. 

1.  

 

 

Page 210



 

120 
 

3.362 This policy establishes the main requirements relating to highways, transport and parking 

which will apply to all development.  Good accessibility to jobs, shops, education, community 

recreation and other facilities is fundamental to promoting sustainable communities and the ability 

to reach a site by different modes of transport and provide genuine choice is essential. 

3.363 Opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use should be prioritised to 

reduce congestion and maximise environmental quality.  Transport and highway issues should be 

considered from the earliest stages of the design process and should take into account the needs of 

all users, including people with disabilities, the elderly and parents with young children; be 

integrated with the surrounding road network and must adhere to best practice as agreed with the 

Local Highway Authority. 

3.364 Furthermore, developers should have high regard for highway safety, be mindful of traffic 

congestion, fully consider the access and parking needs (refer to Parking Standards in Appendix G1) 

of all users by all modes; and the impact on the environment and on people’s health. The impact on 

local air quality should be taken into account in line with the requirements set out in Policy DM36: 

Controlling Pollution and Contamination. 

3.365 Pedestrian access should be well designed to ensure that footways and crossing-points are 

safe, particularly for use by children and those with mobility impairments.  The development’s 

pedestrian network should connect to the surrounding built and natural environment, providing 

effective connectivity to public transport and other community facilities. 

3.366 Highway design should facilitate cycling by all potential users. This will mean in appropriate 

cases the provision of specific cycling facilities, or a speed limiting highway design. Such designs 

must be integrated with the surrounding road network, which should be improved if necessary, 

providing easy cycling to and from the site.  Appropriate provision for cycle storage for potential 

residents, staff and visitors will be required.  Covered and secure cycle parking is required for all 

developments, where appropriate.  Other complementary facilities including lockers, changing 

rooms, showers and drying rooms should be provided.  Where cycle routes or other rights of way 

are to be severed, these must be re-provided, including crossing facilities to a standard agreed with 

the Local Highway Authority. 

3.367 Traffic management designs within the proposed development should favour a low speed 

vehicle environment intended to allow pedestrians, cyclists and people with impaired mobility to 

move about freely and safely within its environs.  This is particularly relevant to children, principally 

but not solely, in residential developments. 

3.368 Design proposals should accommodate bus (and where appropriate tram) movements and 

operations including bus stop siting and supporting on-road parking control. Bus services are 

generally most effective when operating through developments using separate entry and exit 

points and this model should be assessed as part of the development design process, where 

deemed appropriate by the Local Highway Authority.  Larger developments need to consider the 

Page 211



 

121 
 

nature of existing bus routes and whether they provide sufficient connectivity to relevant 

destinations, particularly in urban fringe locations. 

3.369 To promote the use of electric vehicles, appropriate infrastructure should be 

accommodated in new development using the latest technology.  Such charging provision should 

be made both within the properties’ curtilage and in public parking areas. In the case of housing, all 

units must be fitted with the infrastructure to facilitate the charging of electric vehicles.  In the case 

of commercial or retail premises staff and visitors should reasonably expect to be able to re-charge 

(top up) an electric vehicle. 

3.370 Transport measures to mitigate the potential impacts of development will be required and 

developers will be expected to fund off-site works where this is deemed necessary and will be 

achieved through planning conditions and/or through Section 106/Section 278 agreements.  Any 

measures should be clear and agreed in writing with the Local Highway Authority and the Local 

Planning Authority as soon as possible in the planning process. Developers are strongly advised to 

seek pre-application advice from the Council on major proposals. 

3.371 To help inform any mitigation measures, accessibility questionnaires, for both residential 

and non-residential development, should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for certain 

types development35; or where requested as part of the pre-application process.  Accessibility 

questionnaires should be completed as accurately as possible and can be found at Appendix G3 for 

residential development and Appendix G4 for non-residential development. 

3.372 The thresholds for Transport Assessments and Travel Plans are set out in Appendix G2 which 

provides guidance for when these are required.  In certain circumstances flexibility around these 

thresholds can be considered on a case-by-case basis.  Transport Statements will be required if 

below the Transport Assessment threshold, but above 500m2 gross floor area.  For both, the latest 

Planning Practice Guidance should be used and the scope should be agreed with the Local Highway 

Authority. All proposals over 500m2 gross floor area, or with ten or more residential units, will be 

expected to demonstrate through a Transport Assessment or Transport Statement how accessibility 

by walking, cycling and public transport can be enhanced to improve the accessibility and 

connectivity or address concerns in some other manner, for example by financially supporting a 

local bus service. 

3.373 Through the travel planning process, businesses and other organisations can minimise car 

journeys in support of local and national objectives.  The developer must commit to the travel plan 

process, identify how the Travel Plan will be delivered and by whom, with a further commitment to 

monitor the plan and review it on a regular basis, which should be specified from the outset.  The 

latest Planning Practice Guidance should be used in drawing up Travel Plans. 

  

                                                      
35 All proposals of over 500m2 gross floor area, or with ten or more residential units 

Page 212



 

122 
 

Aerodrome Safeguarding 

3.374 Aviation makes a significant contribution to national economic growth, including in relation 

to small and medium sized airports and airfields (aerodromes). NPPF (paragraph 104) recognises 

the importance of maintaining a national network of aerodromes and their need to adapt and 

change over time – taking into account their economic value in serving business, leisure, training 

and emergency service needs.   

3.375 Blackpool Airport lies adjacent to Blackpool’s southern boundary within Fylde Borough and 

is an officially safeguarded civil aerodrome.  The safeguarded area for the aerodrome extends into 

Blackpool Borough and is determined in accordance with government circular 1/2003 - advice to 

local planning authorities on safeguarding aerodromes and military explosives storage areas (as 

updated). 

3.376 Safeguarded areas for Warton Aerodrome are determined in accordance with The Town and 

Country Planning (Safeguarded Aerodromes, Technical Sites and Military Storage Areas) Direction 

2002 (as updated).  The relevant safeguarding areas for Warton Aerodrome (also located in Fylde 

Borough), are identified by the Ministry of Defence (MOD).  The safeguarded area reflects the need 

to restrict the height of built development in wider zones, including in Blackpool, in order to ensure 

safety for both aircraft crew and people on the ground. It also reflects the need to prevent 

interference to communication systems. 

Policy DM42: Aerodrome Safeguarding 
 

The Blackpool Airport Authority and the Ministry of Defence (MOD) will be consulted on 

all development proposals as appropriate within the aerodrome safeguarding area/zones 

shown on the Policies Map to ensure there is no adverse impact on airport safety at 

Blackpool Airport or Warton Aerodrome. 

 

 

 

3.377 Aerodrome safeguarding is necessary to ensure that the operation and development of 

Blackpool Airport is not inhibited by buildings, structures, erections or works which would infringe 

on protected surfaces, obscure runway approach lights or have the potential to impair the 

performance of aerodrome navigation aids, radio aids or telecommunication systems; by lighting 

which has the potential to distract pilots; or by developments which have the potential to increase 

the number of birds or the bird hazard risk.  The safeguarded area has been certified by the Civil 

Aviation Authority.  Elsewhere in the Borough, proposed buildings and structures over a certain 

height will also be the subject of consultation with the airport authorities. 

 

3.378 The MOD statutory aerodrome safeguarding zones surrounding Warton Aerodrome, which 

extend across parts of Blackpool, are shown on the Policies Map.  The aerodrome height 

consultation zone protects the aerodrome’s outer horizontal obstacle limitation surface and 

Page 213



 

123 
 

requires that the MOD is consulted upon applications for development that are 91.4m or greater in 

height. In addition to this, a significant area of Blackpool is covered by the statutory birdstrike 

safeguarding consultation zone.  Within this the MOD should be consulted upon applications for 

waste management sites, the creation of water bodies, quarry restorations or other forms of 

development that would entail the creation of habitat that could be attractive to large or flocking 

birds hazardous to air traffic. 

  

Page 214



 

124 
 

Appendices 

 

 

Page 215



Appendix A: Replacement of Saved Local Plan Policies 

 

2006 Saved Local Plan Policy 
Superseded by 

adopted Core Strategy 

Policy 

Superseded by 

SADMP Policy 

Reshaping the Resort 

RR1  Visitor Attractions CS21 DM10 

RR2  Visitor Accommodation CS21, CS23  

RR4  Amusement Arcades and Funfairs CS21 DM10 

RR7  Promenade Frontages within the Resort Core CS17, CS21, CS23  

RR8 Resort Neighbourhoods CS12, CS23  

RR9 Resort Neighbourhoods - Development Proposals 

Involving the Loss of Holiday Accommodation 

CS12, CS23  

RR10 Resort Neighbourhoods - Change of Use to Holiday 

Accommodation 

CS12, CS23  

RR11 Central Promenade and Seafront  DM10 

RR12 Other Promenade Areas  DM10 

RR13 Central Corridor CS5, CS22  

RR14 Lytham Road/Bloomfield Road, Chapel Street, Central 

Drive and Dickson Road 

CS5, CS22  

RR15 Blackpool Zoo  DM9 

RR16  Norbreck Castle CS23  

Establishing a Thriving Sub-Regional Centre 

SR1  Hounds Hill Deleted 

SR2  Winter Gardens CS18  

SR3  Blackpool North Transport Development Area CS19  

SR3A  New Car Park Deleted 

SR4  Cookson Street/King Street Deleted 

SR5  Principal Retail Core CS4 DM11 

SR6  Retail/Cafe Zone CS4 DM12 

SR7  Mixed Use Zone CS4  

SR8  Leisure Zone CS4 DM10 

SR9  Use of Upper Floors CS4 DM6, DM11, DM12  

SR10  Town Centre Traffic Distribution and Access to Car 

Parking 

CS5 DM41 

SR11  Pedestrian, Cyclist and Public Transport Priority CS5 DM41 

Lifting Quality in the Built Environment 

LQ1  Lifting the Quality of Design CS7 DM1, DM17 

LQ2  Site Context CS7 DM1, DM17 

LQ3  Layout of Streets and Spaces  DM17 

LQ4  Building Design  DM17 

LQ5  Public Realm Design  DM17 

LQ6  Landscape Design and Biodiversity  DM21, DM35 

LQ7  Strategic Views  DM19 

LQ8  Energy and Resource Conservation CS10  

LQ9  Listed Buildings  DM26 

LQ10  Conservation Areas  DM27 

Page 216



LQ11  Shopfronts  DM22 

LQ12  Security Shutters  DM23 

LQ13  Advertisements and Signs  DM24 

LQ14  Extensions and Alterations  DM20 

LQ15  Telecommunications Development Deleted 

 
Homes for Every Need 

HN2  New Housing Allocations CS2, CS25 HSA1 

HN3  Phasing CS2  

HN4  Windfall Sites CS2  

HN5  Conversions and Sub-divisions  DM5 

HN6  Housing Mix CS13  

HN7  Density CS13  

HN8  Affordable and Specialist Needs Housing CS14  

HN9  Gypsies and Travelling Showmen CS16  

Balanced and Healthy Communities 

BH1  Neighbourhoods CS12  

BH2  Talbot and Brunswick Priority Neighbourhood CS12  

BH3  Residential and Visitor Amenity CS7  

BH4  Public Health and Safety  DM36 

BH5  Protection of Public Open Space CS6  

BH6  New Open Space Provision CS6  

BH7  Playing Fields and Sports Grounds CS6  

BH8 Open Land Meeting Community and Recreational 

Needs 

CS6  

BH9  Allotments  DM38 

BH10  Open Space in New Housing Developments  DM1, DM21 

BH11  Shopping and Supporting Uses - Overall Approach CS4  

BH12 Retail Development and Supporting Town Centre Uses CS4  

BH13  District Centres  DM14 

BH14  Local Centres  DM14 

BH15 Change of Use of Premise Outside the Defined Centres CS4  

BH16 Shopping Development Outside Existing Frontages CS4  

BH17 Restaurants, Cafes, Public Houses, Hot Food Take-

Aways 

CS4 DM14, DM16 

BH18  Amusement Centres  DM13 

BH19  Neighbourhood Community Facilities  DM37 

BH20  Provision of New Community Facilities CS11, CS12, CS15 DM37 

BH21  Protection of Community Facilities  DM37 

BH22  Victoria Hospital  DM39 

BH23  Blackpool and Fylde College  DM40 

BH24 Residential Institutions and Community Care 

Residential Use 

 DM3 

Diversifying the Local Economy 

DE1  Industrial and Business Land Provision CS3, CS24 DM7, DM8 

DE2  Industrial Improvement Zones Deleted 

DE3  Mixed Use Industrial Zones Deleted 

DE4  Outside the Defined Industrial/Business Estates Deleted 

Conserving the Natural Environment 

NE1  Development within Green Belt CS6  

Page 217



NE2  Countryside Areas  DM34 

NE3 Replacement Dwellings and Extensions in the 

Countryside 

 DM34 

NE4 SSSIs  DM35 

NE5  Other Sites of Nature Conservation Value  DM35 

NE6  Protected Species  DM35 

NE7 Sites and Features of Landscape, Nature Conservation 

and Environmental Value 

 DM35 

NE8  Urban Greenspace CS6  

NE9  The Coast and Foreshore  DM33 

NE10  Flood Risk CS9 DM31 

Accessibility and Safe Journeys for All 

AS1  General Development Requirements  DM41 

AS2 New Development with Significant Transport 

Implications 

 DM41 

AS3  Provision for Walking and Cycling  DM41 

AS4  Provision for Public Transport CS5 DM41 

AS5  Traffic Management  DM41 

AS6  Road Schemes Deleted 

AS7  Aerodrome Safeguarding  DM42 

Planning Obligations 

PO1  Planning Obligations CS11  

 

Page 218



Appendix B: Local Plan Part 2 Evidence Base Documents 

Year Evidence Base Documents 

2020 Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 - Sustainability Appraisal 

2020 Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 - Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening 

2020 Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 - Viability Assessment  

2020 Authority Monitoring Report 

2021 Duty to Co-operate Statement of Common Ground 

2015 Duty to Co-operate Fylde Coast Authorities’ Memorandum of Understanding 

Climate Change and Flooding 

2020 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Update 

2014 Blackpool Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

2011 Lancashire Sustainable Energy Study - Blackpool Renewable Energy Potential 

2010 Blackpool Climate Change and Renewable Energy Study 

Housing 

2022 Addendum to the Housing Topic Paper 2021 

2021 Housing Topic Paper 

2020 Space Standards and Accessible Homes Topic Paper  

2020 Blackpool Housing Monitoring Report 

2019 Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Topic Paper 

2019 Blackpool Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment Update 

2013 Fylde Coast Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (Published February 

2014) 

Retail 

2020 Retail Topic Paper – Future capacity 

2019 Local Centres Assessment 

2018 Blackpool Retail, Leisure and Hotel Study 

Employment and Economic Development 

2022 Employment Land Update 2021 and Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Topic Paper 

PPpPaperPP{{Paper 

Paper 

2020 Employment Land Update  

2014 Employment Land Technical Paper 

2014 Blackpool Employment Land Study 

Heritage 

2016 Built Heritage Strategy for Blackpool 

2009 Blackpool Heritage Characterisation Studies 

Transport and Infrastructure 

2022 Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update 

2020 Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update 

2011 Local Transport Plan Strategy 2011-2016 

Environment 

2020 Blackpool Playing Pitch Strategy Update  

2020 Indoor Sports Facilities Review 

2020 Green Infrastructure Topic Paper 

2019 Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy and Action Plan 

2019 Blackpool Open Space Assessment 

2012 Blackpool Nature and Conservation Statement  

Health  

2020 Managing the Location of Hot Food Takeaways Topic Paper 

2020 Betting Shops, Adult Gaming Centres and Pawnbrokers Topic Paper  

Page 219



 

Page 220



 

Site reference MUSA1 

 

 

Site address 
Land at Church Street 

(former Syndicate site) 

Ward Talbot 

Site area 0.24 ha 

Allocated Use 

Mixed use including 
discount food 

retailer and multi 
storey car park 

 
 

 

Appendix C:  Town Centre Mixed Use Site Information 

 

Page 221



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Site Description: 
 
The former Syndicate site located on the corner of Church Street and King Street.  It is a 
0.24 ha brownfield site currently used as a surface car park. 
  

Delivery: 
  
The site will be delivered by the Council, potentially working with private 

developers/retailers.  With respect to the multi-storey car park, the Council has 

committed to provide additional car parking capacity within Blackpool Town Centre 

responding to the recommendations of Strategic Parking Review undertaken by 

AECOM in 2016. 

 

Highways Considerations: 
 

 The Highway Authority consider there to be no issues with the proposed 
allocation in principle. With regards to access, it is important can ensure that this 
fits in with the wider town centre masterplan and highway network changes. 

 All issues should be addressed in a Transport Assessment in support of any future 
planning application. A Travel Plan will required for the retail element. 

 Pedestrian access/egress to and from the site is good, as is public transport 
provision due to the town centre location. 

 

Key Considerations: 
 

 The site is in council ownership.    
 The site is in Flood Zone 1 
 An impact assessment has been undertaken to  ensure that this additional retail 

floorspace complements, rather than competes with the substantial investment 
made at Talbot Gateway in the delivery of the Sainsbury’s, whilst seeking to 
attract shoppers and residents nearby back into the town centre, instead of 
travelling to other foodstores in the Borough to meet their shopping needs.  

 The scale of potential foodstore would fit within the 1,500 to 2,500 sq.m (gross) 
bracket, ensuring that the turnover of which would not untenably impact on 
the existing Sainsbury’s foodstore at Talbot Gateway. 

 

Page 222



 

Site reference ASA1 
 

 

Site address 

Land to the north of 
the Golf Driving 
Range, accessed 
from Fleetwood 

Road 

Ward Norbreck 

Site area 1.4 ha 

Allocated Use Allotments 

 
 

 

Appendix D:  Allotment Site Allocation Information 

 

Page 223



2 
 

 

Site Description: 
 
The 1.4ha site is current greenspace and forms part of the Warren Drive/Deerhurst 
Road Natural and Semi-natural greenspace category in the Open Space Assessment 
(OSA) (2018).   
  
Delivery: 
This new allotment will be delivered by Blackpool Council in partnership with the 
Allotments Federation and will provide for around 40 individual allotments (using the 
National Allotment Society standard of 250 square metres per allotment). 
 

Key Considerations: 
 

 The site is currently in council ownership.    
 The site is in Flood Zone 3.  Further detail is set out in the Council’s Strategic 

Flood Risk Assessment Update (2020) 
 Car parking is to be negotiated with the adjacent rugby club 

Page 224



Appendix E: Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone Green Belt Release Map 

 

 

P
age 225



Appendix F:  Air Quality Management Area 

 

 

Page 226



1 
 

Appendix G1: Parking Standards 

1.  Introduction 

1.01 These parking standards recognise the importance of providing convenient, safe and 

secure parking in association with new development.  The provision of adequate parking 

facilities and their design should be appropriate to the scale, nature, location and users of 

the proposed development and applicants must demonstrate that the proposed level of 

parking is appropriate. 

1.02 Car parking should be provided on site wherever possible, to ensure there is no 

detrimental effect on highway safety.  With no maximum or minimum car parking 

standards, a flexible approach to the level of car parking provision will be applied at both 

the pre-planning application stage and the decision-making stage, dependent on the 

location of the development being considered.  In highly accessible locations, parts of 

Blackpool Town Centre for example, due consideration to levels of parking provision will be 

given where proposals are deemed highly accessible, according to an accurately completed 

accessibility questionnaire (please see Policy DM41 and appendices D3/D4). 

1.03 Blackpool Council reserves its right to negotiate commuted sums, especially if 

proposed levels of car and coach parking are lower than the standard and are not agreeable 

to the Authority.  These commuted sums will be ring-fenced and pooled for improvements 

to car parking, both on-street and off-street, as close as possible to the approved 

development, or earmarked for improvements to public transport. 

1.04 Coach drop-off / pick up points should be provided as close to the development as 

practicable, with parking accommodated off-site (through agreement with the Authority).  

Cycle parking and motorcycle parking should be integrated into the development.  Spaces 

for electric vehicles should be provided, equipped with the latest charging technology.  

Mobility impaired parking, including parent and child spaces, should be conveniently placed 

where appropriate.  Consideration should be given to safe covered storage and charging 

points for mobility scooters, electric wheelchairs and similar mobility aids especially when 

designing retirement or warden-controlled developments. 

1.05 These parking standards are based on existing parking standards in the 2006 Local 

Plan and have been informed by those in the revoked Regional Spatial Strategy (2008), and 

also by other local authority approved parking standards. 

  

Page 227



2 
 

2. Car and coach parking standards 

These are for guidance and will be discussed/agreed on a case by case basis: 

Use Class/Description Per m2 gross floor area, 
unless otherwise stated 

F.2/E Shop 
- Food retail 
- Non-food retail 

 
1:17 
1:23 

E Financial and professional services (not 
medical) 

1:37 

E Café or restaurant 1:9 

Sui generis Pub or drinking establishment 1:9 

Sui generis Take away 1:9 

E Office 
 

Research and development of products or 
processes 
      
Industrial processes (which can be carried 
out in any residential area without causing 
detriment to the amenity of the area) 

1:30 
 
1:30 
 
 
1:37 

B2 Industrial 1:45 

B8 Storage or distribution 1:200 

C1 Hotels, boarding and guest houses  1 per bedroom, plus coach 
parking if more than 30 
bedrooms 

C2 Residential institutions:  
- residential care homes/nursing 

homes 
 

- residential 
schools/colleges/residential training 
centres/halls of residence 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- hospitals 

 
1 per 5 residents 
 
Training centres, colleges 
& schools – 1 per bed 
(short courses)/1 per 2 
beds (longer courses over 
1 month duration) & coach 
parking for training 
centres over 1000m2 gfa. 
Halls of residence – 1 per 2 
beds.  
 
1 per bed, including those 
used in short stay 
operations 

C3 
 

Dwelling houses  
- single bedroom housing  
- sheltered housing 
- 2-3 bedroom family housing 

 
1 per dwelling 
1 per 2 dwellings 
2 per dwelling 

Page 228



3 
 

- 4+ bedroom family housing 
- Flats and apartments/communal 

parking 

3 per dwelling 
average 1.5 per dwelling 

E/F.1 
 
 
 
 

Clinics and health centres 
 
Crèches/day nurseries/day centres 
 
 
 
Schools and sixth forms 

 
Non-residential education and training 
centres 

 
Training and conference centres 

 
Art galleries, museums and public libraries 

 
Public halls/exhibition halls/places of 
worship/law courts 

4 per consulting room 
 
1.5 per 2 staff plus drop-
off zone of 1 space per 10 
children. 
 
1 per classroom/activity 
area 
 
1 per 2 full-time staff 
 
1:37 
 
1:31 
 
1:10 

 Sui 
generis/E/F.2 

Cinemas, concert halls, bingo halls and 
dance halls 

 
Gymnasiums, indoor recreations not 
involving motorised vehicles or firearms 

 
Hall or meeting place for the principal use 
of the local community 

 
Indoor or outdoor swimming baths, skating 
rinks, and outdoor sports or recreations not 
involving motorised vehicles or firearms 

1 per 8 seats plus coach 
parking 
 
1:26 
 
 
1:26 
 
 
1 per 15 seats plus coach 
parking 

 

Notes for residential properties (dwelling houses): 

a) Individual garages, of minimum dimensions of 6m by 3m, count as one parking 

space.  Double garages (minimum dimensions 6m by 6.7m) count as two parking 

spaces.  Parking on driveways or under carports should be calculated on the basis of 

the number of vehicles that can easily be accommodated, allowing for opening of 

any gates.  Car parking space in front of a garage should be a minimum of 6m long to 

allow for opening/closing of an up and over door.  Private drives should have a 

minimum width of 3.2m where they are used for both vehicular and pedestrian 

access to the property. 

b) At least one secure cycle parking space should be provided for single bedroom 

residential properties and at least two where two or more bedrooms are to be 

Page 229



4 
 

provided.  These may be provided in cycle sheds strategically located within the 

development.  A standard size garage (6m by 3m) is considered capable of 

accommodating two cycles.  Where no garage is provided, alternative covered 

lockable provision should be made within the confines of the site.  In 

flats/apartments secure provision should be provided within the development for 

cycles (and mobility buggies as appropriate) at the ratio of one per flat/apartment. 

 

Explanatory note on mixed-use development: 

 Where mixed-use development is proposed, the total amount of parking should 

reflect the ratio of uses on the site, assuming uses have the same peaks of demand.  

Where peak demands occur at different times the dominant land use will form the 

basis for calculation. 

 

Operational parking 

2.01 The parking levels set out in the standards are for ‘non-operational’ use, i.e. for 

residents, staff and visitors.  Operational and service parking will be required for the day-to-

day operation of businesses, e.g. the delivery and dispatch of goods by light and heavy 

goods vehicles (delivery/loading bays).  This should be located appropriately and provided in 

addition to levels identified in the standards, and where required should be addressed in 

the Transport Statement/Transport Assessment. 

2.02 In relation to servicing, applicants will be required to demonstrate that there is 

adequate provision and space within the site for the parking, manoeuvring, loading and 

unloading to meet the operational servicing requirements of the development.  The space 

set aside for servicing should be of suitable size for the type and quantity of vehicles likely to 

be associated with the development.  Delivery vehicles should ideally be able to safely enter 

and exit the site in a forward gear. 

2.03 Reduced operational provision will be encouraged where opportunities are available 

for shared use of spaces.  This should be considered as part of a Travel Plan for the site, 

particularly where there are frequent visits by employees to satellite locations.  An example 

of this would be medical staff based at a hospital, but spending most of their time visiting 

clinics elsewhere in the area. 

Coach parking 

2.04 Coach parking is particularly important for certain land uses.  Examples include major 

tourist attractions, stadiums, concert halls and hotels.  Provision should be made as close to 

the development as practicable.  Coach parking may be provided off-site (through 

Page 230



5 
 

agreement with the Authority) subject to satisfactory drop-off / pick-up points being 

provided near to the development. 

Electric vehicle parking/provision 

2.05 In order to encourage the take-up of electric vehicles, the latest technology should 

be adopted in new development. 

2.06 Provision of dedicated parking bays/charging infrastructure in new development 

(including conversions) is required as follows: 

 Houses: For each house, appropriate vehicle charging infrastructure, within a garage 

or on the driveway. 

 All other developments, including flats/apartments/terraced housing with 

communal parking: at least 10% of parking bays marked out for use by electric 

vehicles, together with charging infrastructure and cabling, including for any future 

expansion. 

2.07 To future proof, the provision should be supplemented by the installation of 

groundwork/passive wiring as part of the development in order to enable further 

installation to match demand. 

2.08 Where charging facilities are shared, for example through the development of 

flats/apartments/terraced housing with communal parking, any provision of infrastructure 

should also include details of the arrangements for the future operation and maintenance 

of the facility. 

2.09 To ensure flexibility, the quantum and specification of EV charging infrastructure 

should be agreed on a case-by-case basis. 

 

3. Mobility impaired parking, cycle parking and motorcycle parking 

3.01 Standards for mobility impaired parking, bicycles and motorcycles are set at 

minimum levels.  Parking should therefore be provided at or above these standards.  This is 

to ensure that the needs of these groups are fully catered for and accessibility for all 

encouraged. 

Mobility impaired parking 

3.02 Parking for the mobility impaired and parent/child should be made at a minimum 

level of 1 per 10 car parking spaces as part of overall provision.  Parent/child parking should 

constitute approximately half of this provision.  Mobility impaired users, which for the 

purposes of this guidance includes ‘parent and child’ parking, have specific needs.  There 

may be situations where provision of greater than 10% would be valuable, e.g. at health 

Page 231



6 
 

centres.  Relaxations may be justified in circumstances where existing or future usage by 

mobility impaired users is likely to be significantly less than 10% of all vehicles. 

3.03 Mobility impaired spaces should be located close to the main entrance of the 

building and require wider parking bays (minimum width 3.6m).  Additional space may also 

be required at the rear of the vehicle to unload wheelchairs, etc. 

Cycle parking 

3.04 Appropriate cycle storage provision for potential residents, staff and visitors will be 

required.  The minimum level is 1 per 10 car parking spaces.  Long-stay, covered, secure 

cycle parking will be required for all developments, where appropriate.  Short-stay parking, 

defined as four hours or less duration, may be of ‘Sheffield stand’ variety but should be 

under cover.  Long-stay cycle parking, defined as over four hours, should be located in a 

secure shed or locker. 

3.05 Cycle parking should be located close to the main entrance of the building, be well lit, 

and preferably covered, with a clear, safe route from the facilities.  Other complementary 

facilities (lockers, changing rooms, showers and drying rooms) should be provided. 

3.06 New dwellings without garages (minimum dimensions 6m by 3m) should have secure 

cycle storage provision. 

Motorcycle parking 

3.07 Motorcycle parking, including infrastructure for locking machines to, should be 

provided at a minimum level of 1:25 car parking spaces in addition to car parking.  Long-

stay, covered, secure parking will be required for all developments as appropriate.  Bay size 

should be at least 2.1m by 1.4m. 

3.08 Provision should be located away from trees and areas susceptible to flooding, and 

be flat, well lit and visible.  Where possible, concrete or block paviors should be used in 

preference to tarmac as these surfaces are not prone to sinking in warm weather.  Secure 

anchorage points or railings, ideally around 60cm above the ground, should be provided.  

Locking points above drainage grates should be avoided to prevent loss of keys.  Parking or 

access routes should not be located close to oil traps.  Long-stay motorcycle parking (over 

four hours duration) should be provided in a secure covered structure, which may be shared 

with cycles. 

Page 232



Appendix G2: Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel 

Plan (TP) Thresholds 

 Land use TA/TP threshold (m2 gross floor area unless specified) 

Shop 1,000 

Financial and professional services  2,500 

Café or restaurant 1,000 

Pub or drinking establishment  1,000 

Hot Food Takeaway 1,000 

Office/Research and development 2,500 

Industrial 5,000 

Storage or distribution 10,000 

Hotels, boarding and guest houses 1,000 

Residential institutions 1,000 

Dwelling houses 50 dwellings 

Learning and non-residential 
institutions 

2,500 

Assembly and leisure 1,000 

 

 

Page 233



 

 

Appendix G3: Residential Development Accessibility Questionnaire  

Residential accessibility questionnaire 

Site description: 
Application reference: 

Access type Criteria Criteria scores Sub score 

Walking 
distance from 
centre of site 
to facilities 
using a safe, 
direct route 

Distance to 
nearest bus/tram 
stop 

<200m 5  

<400m 3 

<500m 1 

>500m 0 

Distance to 
nearest railway 
station 

<400m 3  

<800m 2 

>800-1000m 1 

>1km 0 

Distance to 
nearest primary 
school 

<200m 5  

<400m 3 

<600m 1 

>600m 0 

Distance to 
nearest food shop 

<200m 5  

<400m 3 

<600m 1 

>600m 0 

Cycling 
distance from 
centre of site 

Proximity to 
defined on- or off-
road cycle route 
(signed, with 
specific 
infrastructure) 

<100m 3  

<500m 2 

<1km 1 

Distance to 
nearest secondary 
school 

<400m 3  

<600m 2 

<1km 1 

>1km 0 

Distance to 
nearest town 
centre 

<1km 3  

<3km 2 

<4km 1 

Page 234



 

 

Distance to 
nearest business 
park or 
employment 
concentration 

<1km 3  

<3km 2 

<4km 1 

Public 
transport 

Bus/tram 
frequency from 
nearest bus/tram 
stop (Mon-Sat 
daytime) 

15 minutes or less  5  

30 minutes or less  3 

>30 minutes  1 

  

Train frequency 
from nearest 
station (Mon-Sat 
daytime) 

30 minutes or less 3  

30-59 minutes 2 

Hourly 1 

Accessibility 
to other basic 
services 

Accessibility to 
other basic 
services (GP, Post 
Office, Library, 
Bank and Pub) 

At least 3 within 
400m 

5  

At least 3 within 
800m 

3 

At least 3 within 1.5 
km 

1 

Accessibility to 
Play Area or Park 

<200m 5  

<400m 3 

<600m 1 

>600m 0 

Total aggregate score:  
 
 Accessibility level: 
 

 High  35-48 
 
 Medium 20-34 
 
 Low  Less than 20 
 

Page 235



 

 

Appendix G4: Non-Residential Development Accessibility 

Questionnaire  

 
 
 Accessibility Level 
 High:   24-30       Medium:  16-23       Low:  15 or less 

Accessibility Questionnaire (non-residential development) 

Site description: 

Application reference: 

Access type Criteria Criteria Scores Sub-Score 

Walking Distance to nearest 
bus/tram stop from main 
entrance to building (via 
direct, safe route) 

<200m 
<300m 
<500m 
>500m 

5 
3 
1 
0 

 

Distance to nearest railway 
station from main entrance 
to building 

<400m 
<1km 
>1km 

3 
2 
0 

 

Cycling Proximity to defined cycle 
routes 

<100m 
<500m 
<1km 

3 
2 
1 

 

Public 
Transport 

Bus/tram frequency of 
principal service from 
nearest bus/tram stop 
during operational hours of 
the development 

Urban/Suburban 
15 minutes or less 
30 minutes or less 
>30 minutes 

 
5 
3 
1 

 

    

Number of bus/tram 
services serving different 
localities stopping within 
200 metres of main 
entrance 

4 or more localities 
served  
3 
2 
1 

5 
 

3 
2 
1 

 

Train frequency from 
nearest station (Mon-Sat 
daytime) 

30 minutes or less 
30-59 minutes 
Hourly or less 

3 
2 
1 

 

Drive to nearest station 10 minutes or less 
15 minutes or less 

2 
1 

 

Other Travel reduction 
opportunities 

Facilities on site or 
within 100 metres 
that reduce the 
need to travel: 
* food shop/cafe 
* newsagent 
* crèche 
* other 

 
 
 
 

1 
1 
1 
1 

 

Total aggregate score:  

Page 236



Appendix H:  Monitoring and Implementation Plan

1. The purpose of this updated Monitoring and Implementation Plan is to determine whether the 
Blackpool Local Plan is effective in meeting its spatial vision, goals and objectives and that it can deliver 
its intended outcomes. It sets out key indicators, targets or intended policy outcomes, potential risks to 
delivery, contingencies to address changes or shortfalls, and also identifies the implementation and 
delivery mechanisms and partners that will help to achieve the Core Strategy Spatial Vision.  It updates 
the Monitoring and Implementation Plan set out Appendix C of the Core Strategy with links to the 
relevant Development Management Policies.    
 
Monitoring  
 
2. It is important that the effectiveness of the Local Plan can be monitored to establish if the policies 
contained within it are achieving the intended spatial vision, goals and objectives of the Part 1:  Core 
Strategy. The performance and effects of the Local Plan policies will be monitored and reported on 
annually as part of an Authority Monitoring Report. 

3. Blackpool Council and its partners are committed to creating a new Blackpool that truly lives up to its 
claim to be a great place to live.  Blackpool’s transformation will not be delivered unless appropriate 
objectives and targets are defined and the right planning policies are drawn up, effectively implemented 
and regularly reviewed. In this context effective monitoring is vital. 

4. The Core Strategy identifies 4 goals and 21 objectives. The following table (Table 1) identifies the Core 
Strategy policies that will contribute to delivering each of the goals and objectives. To monitor the 
effectiveness of policies, a number of indicators have been identified to measure the impact of the Core 
Strategy and demonstrate how things are changing. The Monitoring and Implementation Plan sets out 
appropriate targets and policy outcomes to establish if the policies are achieving their intended effect.  

5. For each policy a number of potential risks and contingencies have also been identified to 
demonstrate how the Core Strategy can deal robustly with changing circumstances. Where necessary 
the Authority Monitoring Report may identify any actions or contingencies that need to be taken to 
address issues identified as part of the monitoring process in order to improve the implementation and 
delivery of the Core Strategy. It may be the case that the process of monitoring may highlight the need 
for a timely partial or full review of the Core Strategy.
 
6. A review of the indicators monitored for the Blackpool Local Plan adopted in 2006 has been 
undertaken to inform which indicators should be included in the Monitoring and Implementation Plan. 
The indicators have been selected based on their appropriateness and the availability of data. 
Throughout the plan period, the indicators and targets will be reviewed to assess if they remain 
appropriate. It is recognised that in relation to some indicators the impact of the Core Strategy and its 
individual policies can only be determined after a number of years, therefore these will only be reported 
on at appropriate timescales.  
 
Implementation 
 
7. The Core Strategy must be capable of being implemented, to do so it is important that a clear and 
concise framework is established to provide a steer on the mechanisms for delivery and who is 
responsible. This will give greater confidence that the Core Strategy can be achieved.  

Page 237



 

  Page 2 of 15 

P
age 238



 

  Page 3 of 15 

Monitoring and Implementation of the Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

C
S2

: H
o

u
si

n
g 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

 

1
, 2

, 1
8

, 1
9

 

D
M

1
, D

M
2

, D
M

3
, D

M
4

, D
M

5
, D

M
6

, D
M

7
 Number of net completions 

per annum  against the 
phased housing requirement 

1,250 net completions in 1-5yrs; 1,400 in 
6-10yrs; 1,550 in 11-15yrs 

 Shortfall in number of 
completions against 
annual requirement 

 Continued slow recovery 
of the housing market  

 Developments not 
implemented or built-out 
as planned due to issues 
relating to viability, 
access to finance or 
unidentified site 
constraints etc. 

 

 Review reason for shortfall including planning 
permissions, lapsed / implemented permissions  

 Engage with applicants/developers to find out 
why sites are not being implemented 

 Work with key delivery partners / stakeholders 
to manage the delivery of development; and 
help to overcome any barriers and constraints 

 Review S106 agreements / contributions and re-
negotiate with developers as appropriate 

 Regular SHLAA updates and consider a ‘call for 
sites’ exercise to identify additional land 

 Development of Council initiatives / funding 
mechanisms to help bring forward additional 
housing supply and encourage investment 

 Consider a timely policy review and whether it is 
appropriate to change the phasing supply  

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Selective housing intervention and 
asset management programmes 

 Fylde Coast Housing Strategy 
 Strategic Housing Land Availability 

Assessment (SHLAA) 
 Holiday Accommodation SPD and 

New Homes from Old Places SPD 
(both adopted 2011)  

 Developer Contributions 
 Housing Implementation Strategy 
 NHB / Growing Places Fund / LIP 

 Blackpool Council 
 Blackpool Housing 

Company 
 Housing Developers 
 Landowners 
 Blackpool Coastal 

Housing/Registered 
Providers 

 Homes England 
 Lancashire 

Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) 

Amount of housing provided 
in the existing urban area 

1950 net completions over the plan 
period  

Amount of housing provided 
in South Blackpool 

750 net completions over the plan period 
(including Moss House Road, Whyndyke 
& Runnell Farm sites) 

Number of net completions 
on windfall sites 

1500 net completions on windfall sites 
over the plan period  

Proportion of net 
completions on previously 
developed land and 
Greenfield sites 

Continue to prioritise the reuse of 
previously developed land 

5year land supply including 
amount of committed 
development (with planning 
permission/ awaiting a S106 
agreement)  

Identify and update annually a supply of 
deliverable sites to provide 5years worth 
of housing (and a 5%/ 20% buffer in line 
with the requirements of NPPF)  

C
S3

: E
co

n
o

m
ic

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
an

d
 E

m
p

lo
ym

e
n

t 

1
, 3

, 1
7

 

D
M

7
, D

M
8

   Amount of existing industrial/ 
business land within the 
defined main employment 
areas redeveloped (or 
permitted for 
redevelopment) for new 
E(g)(i), B2, B8 employment 
and non-employment uses 
(Redeveloped sites include 
Brownfield Sites and 
Previously Developed Land) 

Safeguard around 180 ha of existing 
industrial / business land in the 13 main 
employment areas for employment use  
 
Secure qualitative improvements and 
improve occupancy levels of underused 
sites - in particular in South Blackpool to 
help strengthen the Fylde Coast economy 

 Loss of E(g)(i), B2, B8 land 
/ premises in the main 
employment areas to 
non-employment uses 
and increase in vacancy 
rates  

 Take-up of land supply 
for non-employment uses 

 Slow economic recovery 
making new investment 
more difficult to secure 

 Businesses wanting to 
locate / relocate outside 
Blackpool  

 Pressure for employment 
development on other 
sites in Blackpool 

 Loss of E(g)(i) use 
business space as a result 
of new regulations 
allowing more flexible 
permitted development 
(PD) rights  

 Identify reasons for any loss of allocated land / 
floorspace for non-employment uses and the 
impact (negative or positive) on the site affected 
and on overall employment provision 

 Monitor employment land supply v demand to 
ensure it meets market requirements; and 
consider a review of existing employment 
allocations or policy if necessary 

 Discuss with landowners and developers the 
likely delivery prospects of available sites and 
help to overcome any barriers / constraints to 
manage the delivery of new development 

 Identify any barriers to business investment / 
growth in Blackpool and consider incentives to 
encourage businesses to locate and/or remain  

 Identify key growth sectors to target and engage 
with potential investors / new businesses 
accordingly 

 Engage with the LEP/Fylde Coast authorities to 
monitor the sub-regional economy and develop 
measures to encourage sub-regional growth and 
inward investment  

 Monitor the local skill base and the gap between 
demand and supply profiles; and work with key 
delivery partners to address this by targeted 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 
 Blackpool Local Economy Action 

Plan (2011) 
 Blackpool Town Centre Strategy 

(2013) 
 Lancashire Growth Plan 2013/14 

(2013) and complementary Fylde 
Coast Local Growth Accelerator 
Strategy (to be developed) 

 Lancashire Strategic Economic 
Plan (2014) and Local Growth Deal 
(to be developed) 

 Fylde Coast Transport Masterplan 
(to be developed) 

 Skills Programmes  
 Enterprise pathways to support 

start-up businesses e.g. Get 
Started 
 Fylde Coast Investment Plan 
 Developer Contributions 

 Blackpool Council 
 LEP 
 Fylde Borough 

Council 
 Wyre Borough 

Council 
 Commercial 

Developers 
 Landowners 
 Key Employers 
 Education providers 

e.g. Blackpool and 
the Fylde College 

 Blackpool Town 
Centre BID 

Take-up of undeveloped, 
allocated industrial /business 
land for E(g)(i), B2, B8 
employment and non-
employment uses; and total 
amount of available land 
(supply) remaining  

Around 17.8ha of land developed for 
new employment uses; with the 
remaining baseline supply expected to 
deliver enabling development 

Number of vacant units and 
non-employment uses on 
allocated employment sites 

Improve occupancy levels and safeguard 
employment uses within the defined 
main employment areas 

Amount (sqm) and 
percentage of completed 
office development in 
Blackpool Town Centre 

Promote offices, enterprise and business 
start-ups in Blackpool Town Centre 

P
age 239



 

  Page 4 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

 
Economic activity / 
Employment rates of 
Blackpool residents 

 
Increase in the number of residents in 
employment or actively looking for work 

 No change in labour 
market participation and 
employment levels 

 Mismatch in skills supply 
and demand profiles so 
local residents not in a 
position to compete for 
new jobs created  

programmes to equip local people with the skills 
necessary to access future jobs  

Skills, qualifications and GCSE 
performance of Blackpool 
residents  

Improve local skill base, higher level 
qualifications and GCSE attainment 

Levels of young people not in 
employment, education or 
training (NEET) 

Reduce NEET levels 

Number of new business 
starts and associated survival 
rates 

Increase the number of and survival rate 
of start-up businesses in Blackpool 

C
S4

: R
e

ta
il 

an
d

 O
th

e
r 

To
w

n
 C

e
n

tr
e

 U
se

s  

3
, 8

, 1
5

  

D
M

1
1

, D
M

1
2

, D
M

1
3

, D
M

1
4

, D
M

1
5

, D
M

1
6

  Amount (sqm) of completed 
retail development (A1 use 
class) and percentages 
completed in the defined 
Town Centre, District 
Centres, and Local Centres 

Focus new major retail development in 
Blackpool Town Centre. Support retail / 
other town centre uses (as appropriate) 
in the Town, District and Local Centres 

 Further downturn in the 
economy may make new 
investment difficult to 
secure  

 Limited availability of 
suitable sites or units to 
accommodate future 
requirements 

 Pressure for out-of-
centre development 

 Expenditure captured by 
competing destinations 
(including  out-of-centre) 
and online shopping 

 Loss of retail space due to 
new regulations allowing 
more flexible PD rights  

 Work closer with key partners 
 Analyse cause of vacancies and identify measures 

to reduce the proportion of vacancies 
 In consultation with agents review the supply and 

demand for retail space and other uses in the 
Town Centre, District and Local Centres 

 Consider a review of the Blackpool Town Centre 
Strategy 

 Consider a review of policy 
 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Blackpool Town Centre Strategy 
(2013) 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Developer Contributions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Blackpool Council 
 Town Team 
 Blackpool Town 

Centre Business  
Improvement 
District (BID) 

 Town Centre 
Steering Group 

 Commercial 
Developers/ 
Agents 

 Property 
Landlords 

 Retailers and 
occupiers of units 

 Public Health 
Blackpool and the 
National Child 
Measurement 
Programme 

 

Amount (sqm) of completed 
other town centre uses1 (by 
use class) and percentages 
completed in the defined 
Town Centre, District 
Centres, and Local Centres 

Support other town centre uses (where 
appropriate to the scale, role and 
function of the centre) in Town, District 
and Local Centres 

Amount (sqm) of retail and 
other town centre use 
development completed in 
out-of-centre2 locations  

Focus new major retail development in 
Blackpool Town Centre 

Position of Blackpool Town 
Centre in the National (UK) 
retail rankings (linked to the 
number of national multiple 
retailers) 

Positive movement in the retail rankings 
/increase the number of higher end 
national multiple retailers  

Composition of units/ 
floorspace in the town centre 
(convenience/comparison/se
rvice) 
 

Allow for new comparison goods 
floorspace of up to 16,390 sqm to 2021 

                                                           
1 As stated in the NPPF, main town centre uses refer to “retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres); leisure, entertainment facilities the more intensive sport and recreation uses (including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, night-clubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor 
bowling centres, and bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference facilities” (page 53). 
2 As stated in the NPPF, “unless they are identified as centres in Local Plans, existing out-of-centre developments, comprising or including main town centre uses, do not constitute town centres” (page 57). 

P
age 240



 

  Page 5 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

Percentage of pupils in 
Reception and Year 6 per 
ward with obesity. 

A reduction in childhood obesity to no 
more than 10% of reception aged 
children and 15% of children in Year 6 
with obesity. 

C
S5

: C
o

n
n

ec
ti

vi
ty

 

1
, 4

, 8
, 1

1
, 2

1
 

D
M

4
1

, D
M

4
2

 Proportion of major 
developments receiving 
planning permission with an 
agreed travel plan 

Reducing car use, changing travel 
behaviour 

 Reduction in developer 
contributions 

 Reduction in public 
transport usage 

 Reduction in rail 
infrastructure spending 

 Reduction in Local 
Authority funding 

 
 
 

 Review at next revision of the Blackpool Local 
Transport Plan and if necessary review policy 

 Identify additional potential sources of funding 
 Review the implementation and effectiveness of 

travel plans submitted with major applications 
 Consider a review of policy 
 

 Blackpool Local Transport Plan 
2011-2016 (2011) and 
Implementation Plan 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Developer Contributions 
 Blackpool Town Centre Strategy 

(2013) 
 Parking Strategy 
 Promenade Movement Strategy 
 Blackpool Wayfinding Strategy 
 Emerging Fylde Coast Transport 

Masterplan 

 Blackpool Council 
 Lancashire County 

Council 
 Public Transport 

Operators 
 Network Rail 
 Developers 
 Highways Agency 

Effectiveness of travel plans 
submitted with major 
applications post completion 

Reducing car use, changing travel 
behaviour 

Number and type of 
transport improvements, 
including extensions and 
enhancements to cycle and 
pedestrian routes (length of 
new dedicated routes) 

Providing high quality convenient, safe 
and pleasant cycle and pedestrian routes 

C
S6

: G
re

en
 In

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re
 

5
, 8

, 1
1

, 2
0

 

D
M

1
0

, D
M

21
, D

M
29

, D
M

31
, D

M
3

3
, D

M
34

, D
M

35
, D

M
3

8
 Number of green spaces 

managed to ‘Green Flag 
Award’ standard 

Provide good quality and well-managed 
green spaces 

 Significant unmitigated 
loss of public open space 
to other uses. 

 Reduction in Local 
Authority and other 
public agency funding 

 Reduction in developer 
contributions for off-site  
provision of open space 
for new development 

 Review reason(s) for any loss of open space and 
where appropriate understand why exceptions 
have been made 

 Investigate potential additional funding streams 
to provide new or to maintain /enhance existing 
open space 

 Review supply and demand of open space 
 Review policy requirements for new 

development and effectiveness of securing 
financial contributions towards off-site provision 
of open space 

 Review policy and if necessary amend to 
strengthen protection 

 If negative impact is demonstrated asses and 
improve the role of key stakeholders in the 
development management process  

 Consider a review of policy 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Developer Contributions 
 Standards for open space 

provision for new residential 
development  

 Green Infrastructure Strategy and 
Action Plan 

 The North West England and 
North Wales Shoreline 
Management Plan (SMP2) (2010) 

 Surface Water Management Plan  
 Blackpool Active Lives Strategy  
 Blackpool Playing Pitch Strategy 
 ‘Woodlands from Waste’ 

Programme 
 Lancashire Biodiversity Action Plan 

 Blackpool Council 
 Developers 
 Neighbouring 

authorities Amount (sqm) of public open 
space and playing fields lost 
to other uses 

Protect existing green infrastructure 
(including open space and playing fields) 

Amount (£) invested in 
existing green infrastructure 
and where   

Secure qualitative improvements to 
existing green infrastructure provision  

Commuted sum payments 
received and spent 

Secure qualitative improvements to 
existing green infrastructure provision 

Area (ha) designated as 
Green Belt 

Protect the current Green Belt 
boundaries in Blackpool 

Number of developments 
approved in the Green Belt 

Protect the openness and character of 
the Green Belt, local distinctiveness and 
the physical separation of settlements 

Change in areas and 
populations of biodiversity 
importance including: 

i. Change in the priority 
habitats and species  by 
type and; 

Protect international, national and local 
sites of biological and geological 
conservation importance and enhance 
local ecological networks and priority 
habitats/species.  

P
age 241



 

  Page 6 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

ii. Changes in areas 
designated for their 
intrinsic environmental 
value including sites of 
international, national, 
regional or sub-regional 
significance  

Condition of Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest  

Maintain the ‘100% favourable’ condition 
of the Marton Mere SSSI 

C
S7

: Q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
D

e
si

gn
 

5
, 9

 

D
M

1
7

, D
M

1
8

, D
M

1
9

 Number of planning 
permissions refused on poor 
design grounds 

High quality, well designed developments 
that contribute positively to the 
character and appearance of the local, 
natural and built environment 

 Significant number of 
planning applications fail 
to meet the required 
standards and/or are 
refused on poor design 
grounds 

 Work closer with applicants to improve the 
quality of schemes 

 Identify reasons and if necessary review 
implementation of policies  

 Consider preparing development briefs 
incorporating design guidance for key sites 

 Consider a review of policy 
 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Sustainable Homes SPD  
 Commercial Street Frontages SPD  
 New Homes from Old Places SPD 

(2011) 
 Development Briefs (e.g. Talbot 

Gateway and Leisure Quarter) 
 Developer Contributions 
 

Blackpool Council 
Developers 
 
 

Amount of public realm 
improved (ha) 

Provide public (and private) spaces that 
are well-designed, safe, attractive, and 
complement the built form 

C
S8

: H
e

ri
ta

ge
 

5
, 1

4
 

D
M

 2
6

, D
M

2
7

, D
M

28
, D

M
29

, D
M

3
0 

  

Number and size (ha) of 
Conservation Areas 

Safeguard heritage assets from 
inappropriate development 

 An increase in the 
number of listed 
buildings on the  
Heritage at Risk Register 
due to issues of 
viability/lack of funding 

 Reduction in Local 
Authority funding 

 Proposals for 
inappropriate 
development that  
would affect  a listed or 
locally listed building 

 
 
 

 

 Review reasons and possible interventions 
 Prioritise conservation advice and provide 

assistance where appropriate  
 Investigate potential additional funding streams 

(e.g. English Heritage, Heritage Lottery Funding, 
CIL)  

 Consider  mitigation measures and if necessary 
review policy and strengthen protection 

 Consider a review of policy 

 Blackpool Conservation Areas 
 Blackpool Local List of Buildings of 

Architectural and/or Historic 
Interest 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Blackpool Council 
 Historic England 
 Blackpool Civic 

Trust 
 Developers 

Number of: 
i. Listed buildings 
ii. Locally listed buildings of 

architectural and/or 
historic interest 

Conserve buildings of architectural 
and/or historic interest and identify and 
adopt a local list of heritage assets 

Number of listed buildings on 
the Heritage at Risk Register 

No increase 

Number of applications for 
Listed Building Consent per 
annum  

Safeguard heritage assets from 
inappropriate development 

C
S9

: W
at

e
r 

M
an

ag
em

e
n

t 6 

D
M

3
1

, D
M

33
 Number of planning 

permissions granted  which 
incorporate Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

Minimise surface water flood risk  Physical constraints (e.g. 
ground conditions) may 
make certain sites 
inappropriate for SuDS 

 Significant number of 
planning applications 
failing to minimise 

  Identify reasons, and if necessary review 
guidance available to applicants 

 Work closer with applicants and key delivery 
partners to improve the quality of development 
schemes and where possible provide further 
guidance on incorporating or retrofitting SuDs 

 Consider a review of policy 

 Sites Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Blackpool Council 
(SuDS Approval 
Body) 

 Fylde Peninsula 
Water 
Management 
Group 

Number and type of 
sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) approved by the SuDS 

Minimise surface water flood risk 

P
age 242



 

  Page 7 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

Approval Body (including 
retro-fitted SuDS) 

surface water run-off or 
address flood risk issues  

  The North West England and 
North Wales Shoreline 
Management Plan (SMP2) (2010) 

 Lancashire & Blackpool Flood Risk 
Management Strategy 

 Surface Water Management Plan  
 

 Environment 
Agency 

 United Utilities 
 Developers 

Number of planning 
permissions granted contrary 
to the advice of the 
Environment Agency either 
on flood defence grounds or 
water quality. 

None granted in order to minimise 
surface water flood risk and improve the 
quality of Blackpool’s bathing water 

Compliance with the 
mandatory standards of the 
EU Bathing Water Directive  

Achieve compliance with the EU Bathing 
Water Directive’s Guideline Standards at 
all monitoring points  - maintain annually 

C
S1

0
: S

u
st

ai
n

ab
le

 D
e

si
gn

 a
n

d
 R

e
n

e
w

ab
le

 a
n

d
 

Lo
w

 C
ar

b
o

n
 E

n
e

rg
y 6

 

D
M

1
, D

M
3

2
 Number of new non-

residential development over 
1,000m2 completed to 
BREEAM ‘very good’ standard 
or above. 

All new non-residential development 
over 1,000m2 should achieve the 
BREEAM ‘very good’ standard. 

 Lack of viability in 
development schemes 
may make the policy 
difficult to implement 

 Spatial characteristics of 
the Borough may limit the 
scope for some types of 
energy generation 
schemes (e.g. wind 
turbines and biomass)  

 Investigate potential additional funding streams 
to support schemes such as community based 
energy generation. 
 Work with key delivery partners  and applicants 

to identify barriers to delivery and understand 
what further guidance or assistance could be 
provided by the authority to assist delivery 

 Review reasons and assess the impact of 
requirements on the viability of development 
schemes and if necessary review policy 

 Sites Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Sustainable Homes SPD  
 Building Regulations 
 BREEAM Standards 
 

 Blackpool Council 
 Developers 
 Renewable and low 

carbon energy 
providers 

 
 

Number of planning 
permissions granted  for 
developments incorporating 
renewable and low-carbon 
energy into their design 
 

Minimise carbon dioxide emissions from 
new developments and support the 
generation of energy from renewable 
and low carbon energy sources 

Number of renewable and 
low carbon energy 
generation schemes installed 
and operational 

Minimise carbon dioxide emissions from 
new developments and support the 
generation of energy from renewable 
and low carbon energy sources 

C
S1

1
: P

la
n

n
in

g 
O

b
lig

at
io

n
s 

7
, 1

8
, 2

1
 - Planning appeals dismissed 

for development not 
demonstrating adequate 
infrastructure capacity to 
serve the development  

100% of appeals dismissed  Reduction in S106 (and 
CIL if applicable) 
infrastructure funding 

 S106 agreements (and CIL 
if applicable) may make 
some developments 
unviable but overall 
should not threaten 
delivery of the Plan 

 Additional infrastructure 
requirements arising 

 Identify the reasons for a decrease in s106/CIL (if 
applicable) monies 

 Work closer with key partners, developers and 
landowners to better manage the delivery of 
development 

 Review viability and implementation of policy and 
CIL (if applicable) 

 Consider a review of the CIL Charging Schedule (if 
applicable) 

 Consider introducing a Development 
Management policy to prioritise delivery 

 Consider a review of policy 

 Developer Contributions 
 Individual planning applications 

and development management 
process 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Blackpool Council 
 Developers 
 Service and 

infrastructure 
providers 

List of infrastructure projects 
identified in the most recent 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(IDP) that have been 
committed, commenced or 
completed annually 

To achieve delivery of infrastructure in 
line with the Blackpool IDP 

Value of developer 
contributions collected from 
new development (and spent 
on infrastructure priorities) 

Regular monitoring of Section 106 (S106) 
agreements (and monies from CIL if 
applicable) 

P
age 243



 

  Page 8 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

C
S1

2
: 

Su
st

ai
n

ab
le

 N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
s 

2
, 8

, 1
6

, 1
9

  -    - Amount (sqm) of new local 
services and community 
facilities3 provided in each 
neighbourhood  

Provide high quality local services and 
community facilities accessible to all 
members of the community 

 Availability of finance/ 
funding to deliver housing 
investment in existing 
stock 

 Limited use, lack of 
viability or review of asset 
management 
properties/sites may 
result in the loss of 
community facilities and 
local services 

 Later phases of major 
housing development 
schemes do not come 
forward as planned 

 Introduction of HMOs 
through relaxed 
Government regulations 
on PD rights 

 Availability of 
enforcement resources 

 Review viability and implementation of policies 
 Consider introducing development management 

polices to prioritise retention of community 
facilities (in the case of viability) or improve 
policy implementation 

 Review supply and demand of facilities 
 Continue to work with developers, residents and 

other stakeholders to manage the delivery of 
redevelopment schemes; and help to overcome 
any barriers and constraints 

 Review the use of Article 4 Directions as 
appropriate 

 Continue to monitor enforcement activity and 
resources 

 Consider a review of policy 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Selective housing intervention and 
asset management programmes 

 Selective licensing scheme 
 Major housing developments (e.g. 

Rigby Road and Queens Park) 
 Article 4 Direction controlling the 

change of use from a house to a 
HMO  

 Developer Contributions 
 Fylde Coast Housing Strategy 
 Fylde Coast Local Investment Plan 
 Housing Implementation Strategy 
 Growing Places Fund 
 New Homes Bonus 
 Lancashire Strategic Economic 

Plan 

 Blackpool Council 
 Housing developers 

and sub-contractors  
 Private sector 

providers 
 Homes England 
 BCH 
 LEP 

Number of dwellings 
completed from major 
housing developments, 
including Rigby Road and 
Queens Park  

Around 410 new dwellings at Rigby Road 
and 198 (gross) new dwellings at Queens 
Park, providing high quality housing with 
an appropriate mix of types and tenures 
to meet the needs and aspirations of 
existing and future residents 

Number of de-conversions, 
empty homes brought back 
into use and Council homes 
improved by other housing 
investment  

Rebalance the existing housing stock by 
creating more high quality family homes.  
Reduce the number of vacant properties 
and single bed flats. 
To bring all Council homes up to meet 
the Decent Homes Standard 

Number of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) in the 
inner areas removed from the 
housing stock  

Reduce the number of HMOs in order to 
address the problems and challenges 
associated with their occupation 

Number of unlawful 
residential uses subject to 
successful enforcement 
action 

Continue to investigate unauthorised 
uses and take appropriate action   

C
S1

3
: 

H
o

u
si

n
g 

M
ix

, S
ta

n
d

ar
d

s 

an
d

 D
en

si
ty

 

2
, 5

, 9
, 1

6
, 1

9
 - New build completions by 

density i.e. less than 30 
dwellings per ha (dph); 
between 30-50 dph; and 
above 50 dph 

Make efficient use of land, seeking to 
achieve an optimum density appropriate 
to the character of the locality 

 Slow recovery of the 
housing market may 
delay achieving a more 
balanced housing stock  

 Planning applications not 
meeting the required 
housing mix or adopted 
minimum standards e.g. 
citing viability reasons 

  Larger flatted 
developments proposed 
across the inner area 

 Analyse why target mix or minimum standards 
have not been proposed; negotiate with 
developers as appropriate; and in the event of 
exceptions being made to permit such 
developments analyse why this was the case 

 Work with key stakeholders to identify 
development constraints  

 Review evidence base on viability, housing 
market conditions and future population need to 
ensure it remains appropriate and update if 
necessary 

 Consider a review of policy including the 
supporting SPDs on minimum standards  

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 New Homes from Old Places 
Residential Conversion and Sub-
division SPD (2011) 

 
 

 Blackpool Council 
 Housing developers 
 Private sector 

providers 
 BCH 
 Blackpool Housing 

Company  
 

Number of new homes 
meeting the relevant 
standards for conversions4  

100% of new dwellings created through 
conversions must meet the adopted 
minimum standards to provide quality 
homes. 

Number of new homes 
meeting the relevant 
standards for new build5  

As a minimum, on developments 
providing new build dwellings, 20% of all 
dwellings provided on a site must meet 
the Nationally Descried Space Standard 

                                                           
3 The NPPF suggests that community facilities can include local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship (paragraph 92a). The Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 suggests in Policy DM37: Community Facilities that community facilities include libraries, 
community centres, educational and health centres, public houses and social clubs. 
4 As set out in the Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standard and in part ‘New Homes from Old Places Residential Conversion and Sub-division’ Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
5 As set out in the Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standard  

P
age 244



 

  Page 9 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

(or any future successor) to provide 
quality homes.  

 Having no specific density 
targets may result in 
inefficient use of land  

 

New build completions by 
dwelling type i.e. detached, 
semi-detached, terraced and 
flatted properties 

New developments to include a mix of 
house types/sizes to rebalance the stock 
and provide more family homes. On sites 
> 1ha there should be a maximum of 
10% 1 bed units and at least 20% 2 
bed/20% 3+ bed units. On smaller sites a 
mix of sizes is required or it should 
contribute towards a balanced mix in the 
wider area. 
 
Developments of > 10 flats in the inner 
area should be directed to the town 
centre or seafront; and at least 70% of 
the flats should be 2bed units or more. 

New build and conversion 
completions by dwelling size 
i.e. 1/2/3/4+ bedrooms 

C
S1

4
: A

ff
o

rd
ab

le
 H

o
u

si
n

g 

2
, 1

0
, 1

9
 - Number of affordable 

housing completions (new 
build and conversion) in 
relation to permitted new 
housing stock 

Maximise affordable housing delivery to 
help address Blackpool’s assessed need 
(264 new affordable units per annum in 
the next five years) 
 
Developments creating 15+ net dwellings 
required to provide 30% affordable units 
 

 Slow recovery of the 
housing market may 
reduce ability to help 
address short-term 
affordable housing need 

 Availability of finance to 
acquire existing stock / 
create affordable units 

 Reduced viability in 
development schemes 
making policy targets 
difficult to achieve  

 Renegotiation of s106 
agreements may reduce 
developer contributions 
committed  

 Reliance on private 
housing rental market to 
meet affordable need 

 Review reasons for under delivery against 
identified need (may involve reviewing targets 
achieved by individual developments/S106 
agreements/developer contributions/viability of 
sites with planning permission)  

 Work with key stakeholders to secure finance to 
maximise the delivery of affordable homes from 
acquisitions; and identify potential additional 
funding streams e.g. New Homes Bonus and 
Growing Places Fund 

 Continue to negotiate with developers on S106 
agreements and encourage pre-application 
discussions 

 Work with registered providers to align 
affordable housing provision with future need 

 Council and its partners to explore improving 
the stock of affordable homes though other 
alternative sources   

 Consider a review of policy 

 Affordable Housing SPD 
 Site Allocations and Development 

Management document 
 Individual planning applications 

and development management 
process 

 Developer Contributions 
 Fylde Coast Local Investment Plan 
 Fylde Coast Housing Strategy 
 Housing Implementation Strategy 
 Growing Places Fund 
 New Homes Bonus 
 Lancashire Strategic Economic 

Plan 
 
 
 

 Blackpool Council 
 Housing developers 
 Registered 

Providers (RSL) 
 BCH 
 Homes England 
 Private sector 

providers 
 

Number of additional 
affordable housing units as a 
result of change in tenure of 
existing housing stock 
(acquisitions) 

Number of committed 
affordable units (i.e. with 
extant planning permission) 

Affordable housing 
completions by dwelling size 
i.e. 1/2/3/4+ bedrooms 

A mix of affordable homes which reflects 
the importance of family sized units to 
help rebalance the stock  

Affordable housing 
completions by tenure  

General requirement is for a mix of social 
rented and intermediate housing for sale 
or for rent (dependent on location) 

Developer contributions to 
affordable housing i.e. 
financial contributions from 
planning obligations (s106); 
or amount of discounted or 
free land received (ha) 

Off-site contributions from 
developments creating 3-14 net 
dwellings (as a % of the open market 
value of the dwellings) and from larger 
developments as appropriate (equivalent 
to 30% on-site provision) 

C
S1

5
: 

H
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 

8
, 1

1
, 1

2
 

D
M

3
9

, D
M

40
 Amount (sqm) of additional 

health and education facilities 
completed 

Provide new/enhance existing facilities 
to meet identified health/education 
needs 

 Reduction in developer 
contributions may limit 
the delivery of health 
and educational facilities 

 Examine potential additional funding streams 
 Work with education and health providers to 

establish reasons and address if necessary 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Blackpool Council 
 Blackpool and the 

Fylde College 
 Blackpool Sixth 

Form College 
Male and female life 
expectancy 

Improve the health and well-being of 
Blackpool’s residents 

P
age 245



 

  Page 10 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

Number of Lower Super 
Output Areas in the bottom 
10% for health deprivation 
and disability 

Reduce number of  Lower Super Output 
Areas in the bottom 10% for health 
deprivation and disability 

 No change in skill levels 
or educational 
attainment 

 No change or decline in 
the overall health and 
well-being of residents 

 

 If necessary, identify sites for additional 
education/health provision in partnership with 
providers/developers  

 Consider a review of policy 

 Developer Contributions 
 Blackpool Joint Health and Well-

being Strategy 
 

 Education and 
Training providers 

 NHS England 
 Blackpool Clinical 

Commissioning 
Group 
 

Percentage of pupils in local 
authority schools achieving 
five or more GCSEs at grade 
A* - C or equivalent 

Improve the overall education of 
Blackpool’s population 

Percentage of working age 
people with no qualifications 

Improve the overall education of 
Blackpool’s population 

C
S1

6
: T

ra
ve

lle
r 

Si
te

s 

1
3

 - Total number of traveller 
pitches/plots available (Gypsy 
and traveller pitches, 
Travelling Showpeople plots 
and transit pitches) 

Meet locally set pitch and plot targets 
(according to the most recent Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showperson  
Accommodation Needs Assessment 
agreed by the Council) 

 Shortfall in provision 
against identified need 

 Limited availability of  
suitable and affordable 
land/sites to meet 
identified need 

 Unauthorised 
encampments and 
developments 

 Identify reasons for any shortfall in plot/pitch 
provision against need, including delivery 
constraints 

 Review effectiveness of policy implementation 
 Consider identifying further sites for 

accommodating additional pitches/ plots  
 Consider a review of policy and amendment of 

assessment criteria for traveller sites 
 Work with neighbouring authorities to deliver 

the identified Fylde Coast need for Gypsy and 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Duty to Co-operate 

 Blackpool Council 
 Neighbouring 

Authorities 
 Land Owners 
 Gypsy and 

Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople 
 

Net additional traveller 
pitches/plots completed per 
annum (Gypsy and Traveller) 

Number of planning 
applications for new sites or 
extensions to existing sites 
that are refused for not 
meeting the Policy criteria  

Make adequate site provision of traveller 
sites that are sustainable economically, 
socially, and environmentally 

Number of unauthorised 
encampments or 
developments and 
enforcement actions carried 
out in relation to traveller 
sites 
 

Meet identified need and provide 
adequate traveller sites that are 
sustainable economically, socially, and 
environmentally 
 

 

  

C
S1

7
: 

B
la

ck
p

o
o

l T
o

w
n

 

C
e

n
tr

e
 

3
, 1

5
 

D
M

6
, D

M
1

1,
 D

M
1

2
, D

M
13

 Diversity of main town centre 
uses (by number, type and 
amount of floorspace) as 
identified from Town Centre 
Health Checks/GOAD surveys  

Introduce a more diverse town centre 
offer, including quality cafes/restaurants, 
leisure, cultural and entertainment 
activities and offices 

 Further downturn in the 
economy making new 
investment difficult to 
secure/causing 
increased vacancy levels 

 Configuration of units 
not attractive to 
potential town centre 
investors 

 Engagement with key stakeholders/businesses 
including public and private sector bodies 

 Analyse footfall and develop appropriate 
measures/incentives for improvement  

 Analyse vacancy levels, including any 
concentrations, and consider appropriate 
measures e.g. scope for redevelopment 

 Work with commercial agents to review the 
supply and demand for retail space and other 
town centre uses  

 Blackpool Town Centre Strategy 
(2013) 

 Town Centre Steering Group 
 Site Allocations and Development 

Management document 
 Individual planning applications 

and development management 
process 

 Developer Contributions 

 Blackpool Council 
 Town Team 
 Blackpool Town 

Centre BID  
 BFWEDC 
 LEP 
 Commercial 

developers / agents 
 Landlords Proportion of ground floor 

vacancy rates 
Reduce vacancy rates within the town 
centre and the Principal Retail Core 

P
age 246



 

  Page 11 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

Number of residential 
completions within Blackpool 
Town Centre 

Introduce a high quality residential offer 
in the longer term 

 Loss of town centre uses 
due to new regulations 
allowing more flexible 
PD rights  

 National chain 
operators scaling-back 
investment 

 Availability of finance to 
secure environmental 
improvements 

 Limited demand for 
town centre residential 
uses  

 Identify potential additional funding 
streams/developer contributions 

 Consider the need for an Article 4 Direction  
 Town centre marketing/promotional material  
 Consider a review of policy including the Town 

Centre Strategy 

 Town centre 
businesses 

Town Centre pedestrian 
flows (footfall) 

Increase in footfall 

State of the Town Centre 
environmental quality 

Enhance the quality of buildings, streets 
and spaces 

Presence of national 
operators  

Increase in the number of higher end, 
national retail, leisure, entertainment, 
cafe, restaurant and hotel chains in the 
town centre 

C
S1

8
: W

in
te

r 

G
ar

d
en

s 

1
4

, 1
5

 - Additional uses brought 
forward in the Winter 
Gardens  

Re-establish the Winter Gardens as a key 
leisure, entertainment and conferencing 
venue for the resort in accordance with 
an agreed business plan/model 

 Availability of public 
sector  finance / funding 

 Further downturn in the 
economy making new 
investment difficult to 
secure 

 

 Maximise engagement/buy-in to the business 
model from primary and secondary stakeholders 

 Identify potential additional funding streams 
(e.g. CIL (if applicable), English Heritage, 
Heritage Lottery Funding) or develop 
contingency methods 

 Consider a review of policy/business model 

 Winter Gardens Strategy and 
Business Plan 

 Three year repair programme  
 Site Allocations and Development 

Management document 
 Individual planning applications 

and development management 
process 

 Winter Gardens 
Project Board 

 Blackpool Council 
 Historic England 
 Use providers 
 Marketing 

Blackpool 

‘At risk’ status of the Winter 
Gardens 

Secure the future of the Winter Gardens  
so that it is no longer identified ‘at risk’ 

Number of events held per 
year 

Increase use of the Winter Gardens  

C
S1

9
: 

C
e

n
tr

al
 B

u
si

n
es

s 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

(T
al

b
o

t 
G

at
e

w
ay

) 

3
, 1

5
 - Type (Use Class) and amount 

(sqm) of completed 
development in the Central 
Business District  
 

Comprehensive redevelopment of the 
Central Business District with mixed-use 
development  

 Further downturn in the 
economy making new 
investment to deliver 
further phases difficult 
to secure 

 Engagement with key delivery partners to re-
examine constraints to development and develop 
contingency methods  

 Identify potential additional funding streams/ use 
of developer contributions 

 Consider a review of policy including the SPD 

 Talbot Gateway Planning Brief SPD 
(2006) 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Project Board 
 Blackpool Council 
 Muse 

Developments 
 Transport 

operators 
 Developers/ 

businesses 

C
S2

0
: 

Le
is

u
re

 Q
u

ar
te

r 
(F

o
rm

er
 

C
e

n
tr

al
 S

ta
ti

o
n

 S
it

e)
 

1
4

, 1
5

 - Amount (sqm) of leisure 
development completed on 
the site 

Comprehensive redevelopment of the 
entire site for major leisure development 

 Further downturn in the 
economy making new 
investment to deliver 
comprehensive 
redevelopment difficult 
to secure  

 Work closer with key partners to re-examine 
constraints to development and develop 
contingency methods 

 Market the site to an international audience 
 Consider a review of policy including the SPD  

 Leisure Quarter Development 
Brief SPD (2011) 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Blackpool Council 
 Developers and key 

leisure operators/ 
investors 

 Existing operators 
on site 

Type (Use Class) and amount 
(sqm) of complementary 
development completed on 
the site  

Complementary uses, including leisure, 
hotel, ancillary retail and parking, that 
would add value/support the major 
leisure development, and deliver 
comprehensive redevelopment of the 
entire site 

P
age 247



 

  Page 12 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

C
S2

1
: 

Le
is

u
re

 a
n

d
 B

u
si

n
es

s 
To

u
ri

sm
 

1
4

  

D
M

9
, D

M
1

0
 Amount (sqm) of completed 

leisure development over 
500m2 by location i.e. % 
completed in Blackpool Town 
Centre and the Resort Core 

Tourism attractions focused on the town 
centre and resort core  

 Further downturn in the 
economy making new 
investment difficult to 
secure  

 Pressure for non-leisure 
uses within the town 
centre and resort core 

 Pressure for major new 
leisure development 
outside the resort core  

 Engagement with key stakeholders/businesses 
including public and private sector bodies 

 Review resort marketing/promotion  
 Consider a review of policy 
 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development process  

 Leisure Quarter Development 
Brief SPD (2011) 

 Holiday Accommodation SPD 
(2011) 

 Blackpool Council 
 Key resort 
operators  
 Visitor  
accommodation 
providers 
 Visit Blackpool 

Amount (sqm) of new visitor 
accommodation by location 
i.e. % completed in the town 
centre, resort core and 
adjacent holiday 
accommodation areas 

Visitor accommodation focused on the 
town centre, resort core and holiday 
accommodation areas  

Number of visitors to the 
resort per year 

Increase in visitor numbers due to a 
stronger resort appeal  

C
S2

2
: K

ey
 R

es
o

rt
 G

at
e

w
ay

s 

2
, 4

, 1
4

, 1
6

 - Amount (sqm) of completed 
development on land within 
and adjoining Central 
Corridor 

Redevelopment of land within and 
adjoining Central Corridor to support 
further improvement/enhancement 

 Availability of funding/ 
developer contributions 
to deliver improvements 
and enhancements 

 Review at next revision of the Blackpool Local 
Transport Plan 

 Identify additional potential sources of funding 
 Consider a review of policy 
 

 Blackpool Local Transport Plan 
(Implementation Plan 2018 to 
2021) 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Developer Contributions 

 Blackpool Council 
 Developers 
 Transport providers 

Amount (sqm) of improved 
vehicular, pedestrian and 
cycling linkages through 
Central Corridor 

Improved linkages through the Corridor 
and extending the network of green ways 
to support further enhancement 

Number and type of 
improvements made to 
parking and reception 
facilities 

Improved parking and reception facilities 

Number and type of 
improvements made to 
landscaping, signage, lighting 
and security 

Enhanced landscaping, signage, lighting 
and security 
 
 
 
 
 

C
S2

3
: 

M
an

ag
in

g 
H

o
lid

ay
 B

ed
 S

p
ac

e
s 

2
, 8

, 1
4

, 1
6

 - Number of planning 
permissions/refusals for 
change of use from holiday 
accommodation within the 
main holiday accommodation 
areas  

Retain existing holiday accommodation 
unless exceptional circumstances are 
demonstrated as set out in policy  

 Continued fall in staying 
visitor numbers 

 Pressure for change of 
use from holiday 
accommodation to 
residential use within 
the main holiday 
accommodation areas 

 Planning permission not 
required for change of 
use in some instances  

 Change of use proposals 
not in line with the New 

 Analyse planning permissions to understand 
reasons behind pressure for change of use 
including any concentrations 

 Engagement with key stakeholders/ businesses 
including accommodation providers and market 
agents 

 Review wider resort marketing/promotion  
 Identify additional potential sources of funding 

e.g. to encourage accreditation or 
complementary public realm improvements 

 Consider a review of policy including the main 
holiday accommodation areas defined in the 
Holiday Accommodation SPD and the minimum 

 Holiday Accommodation SPD 
(2011) 

 New Homes from Old Places SPD 
(2011) 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Blackpool Council 
 Holiday 

accommodation 
providers  

 Stay Blackpool 
 Developers/ 

commercial agents 
 Marketing 

Blackpool 

Number of planning 
permissions/refusals for 
change of use from holiday 
accommodation outside the 
main holiday accommodation 
areas 

Encourage change of use from holiday 
accommodation to high quality homes 

Number of net new dwellings 
completed as a result of 

Encourage change of use from holiday 
accommodation to high quality homes 

P
age 248



 

  Page 13 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

change of use from holiday 
accommodation 

Homes from Old Places 
SPD 

standards set out in the New Homes from Old 
Places SPD  

Number of staying visitors to 
the resort per year 

Increase in staying visitors 

C
S2

4
: 

So
u

th
 B

la
ck

p
o

o
l E

m
p

lo
ym

en
t 

G
ro

w
th

 

3
, 1

7
 

D
M

7
, D

M
8

 Amount of new employment 
development (Class B and 
E(g)(i) uses) completed in South 
Blackpool at Blackpool Airport 
Corridor and lands close to 
Junction 4 of the M55 
(including take-up of available 
land supply and redevelopment 
of existing sites) 

Support major new business/industrial 
development at sustainable locations in 
South Blackpool 

 Further downturn in the 
economy making new 
investment difficult to 
secure  

 Planning permissions 
not implemented due to 
issues relating to 
viability/access to 
finance 

 Loss of allocated 
industrial/ business land 
(including undeveloped 
land) to non-
employment uses 

 Employment 
development attracted 
elsewhere  

 

 Identify reasons for lack of take-up and monitor 
employment land supply v demand to ensure it 
meets market requirements 

  Analyse any loss of allocated land for non-
employment uses and the impact on employment 
provision in South Blackpool (including 
regenerative benefits of enabling development) 

 Engage with landowners/developers on the likely 
delivery prospects of sites and help to overcome 
any barriers/constraints to manage the delivery 
of new development  

 Engage with the LEP/Fylde Coast authorities to 
develop measures to encourage inward 
investment in this location to support sub-
regional growth 

 Consider a review of policy including the 
flexibility given to enabling development and the 
existing employment allocations  

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Fylde Coast Investment Plan 
 Whitehills Development Brief 
 Blackpool International Airport 

Masterplan (currently being 
prepared) 

 Duty to Co-operate 
 Local Growth Accelerator Strategy 

 Blackpool Council 
 BFWEDC 
 Fylde Borough 

Council 
 Lancashire County 

Council  
 LEP 
 Blackpool Airport 
 Existing businesses/ 

landowners Amount of existing 
employment land redeveloped 
to provide business/industrial 
facilities (Class B and E(g)(i) 
uses) in South Blackpool 
(Redeveloped sites include 
Brownfield Sites and Previously 
Developed Land) 

Support the redevelopment of existing 
employment sites within South 
Blackpool 

C
S2

5
: 

So
u

th
 B

la
ck

p
o

o
l H

o
u

si
n

g 

G
ro

w
th

 

2
, 1

8
, 1

9,
 2

0
 

D
M

1
 Net dwellings completed per 

annum in South Blackpool  
 

750 net completions over the plan 
period (including Moss House Road, 
Whyndyke and Runnell Farm sites) 

 Shortfall in number of 
completions  

 Slow recovery of the 
housing market  

 Planning permissions not 
implemented or built-out 
as planned due to issues 
relating to viability, 
access to finance or 
unidentified constraints 
etc 

 Developments not 
meeting the required 
housing mix  

 

 Review reason for shortfall including planning 
permissions, lapsed permissions etc 

 Engage with applicants/developers to find out 
why sites are not being implemented 

 Work with key delivery partners and other 
stakeholders to manage the delivery of 
development and help to overcome any barriers 
and constraints 

 Review S106 agreements/contributions and re-
negotiate with developers as appropriate 

 Review why an appropriate housing mix has not 
been achieved and understand why exceptions 
have been made 

 Regular SHLAA updates and consider a ‘call for 
sites’ exercise to identify additional land 

 Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Individual planning applications 
and development management 
process 

 Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) 

 Sustainable Homes SPD (new 
build) 

 Developer Contributions 
 Housing Implementation Strategy 
 Duty to Co-operate 

 Blackpool Council 
 Housing Developers 
 Landowners 
 Fylde Borough 

Council 
 Lancashire County 

Council 
 

New build completions by 
dwelling type in South 
Blackpool i.e. detached, semi-
detached, terraced and flatted 
properties 

Dwelling type mix complements (rather 
than competes with) new housing 
being delivered in the inner area  

New build completions by 
dwelling size in South Blackpool 
i.e. 1/2/3/4+ bedrooms 

Dwelling size mix complements (rather 
than competes with) new housing 
being delivered in the inner area 

P
age 249



 

  Page 14 of 15 

Monitoring Implementation 

 C
o

re
 

St
ra

te
gy

 
P

o
lic

y 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

R
e

la
te

d
 

D
M

 
P

o
lic

ie
s 

Indicator Target / Policy Outcome Potential Risk Contingency 
Implementation / Delivery 

Mechanism 
Key Delivery 

Partners 

 Consider a timely policy review and whether it is 
appropriate to change the phasing supply 

C
S2

6
: 

M
ar

to
n

 M
o

ss
 

5
, 2

0
 - Development of 

neighbourhood policy 
supporting the retention and 
enhancement of the distinctive 
character of Marton Moss 
 

Pursue a neighbourhood planning 
approach for Marton Moss to retain 
and enhance the character of the Moss 
whilst identifying acceptable 
development.   
 
 

 Limited support or 
resources to bring 
forward a 
Neighbourhood Plan 

 Pressure for development 
that is not in accordance 
with the CS26 criteria 

 If the Marton Moss community do not wish to 
prepare a Neighbourhood Plan, the local planning 
policy for the area will be developed as part of 
the Site Allocations and Development 
Management document 

 Identify alternative sources of funding to assist 
with the neighbourhood planning approach 

 Consider a review of policy 

 Neighbourhood Plan/Site 
Allocations and Development 
Management document 

  

 Blackpool Council 
 Marton Moss 

Neighbourhood 
Forum  

 Marton Moss 
community 
(including residents 
and businesses) 

Number of applications 
received and % approved/ 
refused in line with part 2 of 
Policy CS26 

C
S2

7
: 

So
u

th
 B

la
ck

p
o

o
l 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
 a

n
d

 C
o

n
n

ec
ti

vi
ty

 

4
, 2

1
 

D
M

4
1

, D
M

4
2

 Projects that have helped to 
improve connectivity in South 
Blackpool 
 

A comprehensive public transport, 
pedestrian and cycle improvement 
strategy for South Blackpool 

 Availability of funding / 
developer contributions 

 Review at next revision of the Blackpool Local 
Transport Plan and if necessary review policy 

 Consider a review of policy 

 Blackpool Local Transport Plan 
(Implementation Plan 2018 to 
2021) 

 Blackpool Airport Masterplan  
 Fylde Coast Transport Masterplan 
 Site Allocations and Development 

Management document 
 Individual planning applications 

and development management 
process 

 Developer Contributions 
 Duty to Co-operate 

 Blackpool Council 
 Public Transport 

Operators 
 Developers 
 Key businesses in 

the area including 
Blackpool Airport 

 Fylde Borough 
Council 

 Lancashire County 
Council 

Developments permitted in 
South Blackpool with travel 
plans 

Major new housing and employment 
development to incorporate Green 
Travel Plans 

 

 

 

 

P
age 250



 

  Page 15 of 15 

 

P
age 251



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey Licence No.100019178. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 
Policies Map: Blackpool Borough

Blackpool Borough Boundary

CS1, CS21 Resort Core

CS6 Green Belt

CS6 Green Infrastructure

CS18 Winter Gardens

CS19 Central Business District

CS20 Leisure Quarter

CS25 South Blackpool Housing Growth

CS1, DM5 Inner Area

DM8 Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone

DM9 Blackpool Zoo

DM14 District Centre

DM14 Local Centre

DM27 Conservation Areas

DM29 Stanley Park

DM33 Coast and Foreshore

DM34 Countryside Area

DM38 Allotments and Community Gardens

DM39 Blackpool Victoria Hospital

DM40 B&F College - Bispham Campus

DM42 Aerodrome Safeguarding

DM10 Promenade & Seafront

HSA1 Housing Site Allocations

CS26 Marton Moss

Town Centre Inset Boundary

CS4, CS17, CS21 Blackpool Town Centre

DM35 Marton Mere SSSI

DM35 Marton Mere LNR

DM35 Sites with Biodiversity Value

Key to Policies Map

MUSA1 Town Centre Mixed Use Site

ASA1 New Allotment Site

M2 Mineral Safeguarding Areas

DM12 Secondary Shopping Frontages

DM11 Primary Shopping Frontages

DM11, DM12 Primary Shopping Area

Part 1:  Core Strategy

Part 2:  Site Allocations and Development Management Policies

Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan

DM7 Employment Land

Adopted February 2023

See Town Centre Inset Map

Appendix 2(c)(ii)

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey Licence No.100019178. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027
Policies Map: Town Centre Inset

Key to Policies Map
Part 1:  Core Strategy

Part 2:  Site Allocations and Development Management Policies

Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan

DM12 Secondary Shopping Frontage

DM11 Primary Shopping Frontage

HSA1 Housing Site Allocations

DM10 Promenade & Seafront

DM27 Conservation Areas

CS1, CS21 Resort Core

CS4, CS17, CS21 Blackpool Town Centre

DM11, DM12 Primary Shopping Area

M2 Mineral Safeguarding Areas

DM33 Coast and Foreshore

CS18 Winter Gardens

CS20 Leisure Quarter

CS19 Central Business District

CS6 Green Infrastructure

MUSA1 Town Centre Mixed Use Site

Adopted February 2023

Appendix 2(c)(ii)

Page 255



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: EXECUTIVE 
 

Relevant Officer: Steve Thompson, Director of Resources 

Relevant Cabinet Member: Councillor Neal Brookes, Cabinet Member for Enforcement, 

Public Safety, Transport and Highways 

Date of Meeting: 23 January 2023 

 

COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2023/2024 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To receive an update on the impact of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme since its 
introduction in 2013/14 and to recommend to Council the proposals for the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2023/24. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To note the impact of the Scheme to date as set out in paragraphs 6.7 and 6.8 of the 
Executive report. 
 

2.2  
 

To recommend Council to agree the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 as set out in 
Appendix 3c.  
 

2.3  To recommend to Council that the reduction applied to working age claimants remains the 
same as the 2022/23 Scheme agreed by Council on 9 February 2022 and that the main 
elements and method of calculating awards will be the same. 
 

2.4  To recommend that the Council agrees to continue to operate a Discretionary Discount Policy 
to be awarded in cases of exceptional hardship as set out at Appendix 3a.   
 

2.5  To note at this point in time the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities may 
still issue changes to the known position for the Pensioner National Scheme. Required 
changes would be incorporated into the final Scheme presented for adoption at Council on 1 
February 2023. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

To ensure a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is approved by 11 March 2023 and in place 
by 1 April 2023 avoiding the financial risks associated with the Government imposed default 
Scheme.  
 

Page 257

Agenda Item 3



3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  None, a Council Tax Reduction Scheme must be approved by the Council each year. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing 
resilience”. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished Council Tax Benefit (CTB); billing authorities were 
required to adopt a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) to take effect from 1 April 
2013.   
 

6.2  The Government grant for Council Tax Reduction Scheme was less than 90% of the 
Government forecast funding levels had Council Tax Benefit continued. This was expected to 
leave a shortfall in funding of £3.22m based on estimates of demand and assumptions 
regarding the basis of calculation for the central Government grant. The ongoing level of 
Government support meant the Council adopted a self-funding Scheme under which all 
working-age claimants had to pay at least 27.11% of their Council Tax in 2013/14. This has 
remained the case in subsequent years until the 2017/18 Scheme when it was agreed that 
additional support was provided to vulnerable groups and they had to pay 13.56%. These 
vulnerable groups are defined as: 
 

• where someone in the household receives Disability Living Allowance or 
Personal Independence Payments 

• where the applicant is a lone parent and who is responsible and resides with a 
child under 5 years old 

• where the applicant or their partner receives Carer’s Allowance 
• where the applicant or their partner is in receipt of a war pension, war widows 

pension, war disablement pension or equivalent. 
 

6.3  For the 2018-19 Scheme the 13.56% reduction was extended to the following low income 
groups:  

• applicants or partners receiving Income Support, or Income-Based Jobseekers 
Allowance, or Income-Related Employment Support Allowance. 

 

Page 258



6.4  For the 2019-20 Scheme, the 13.56% reduction was extended to the following groups and no 
further changes have been made since: 
 
Ensure that applicants who are protected under the current Scheme continue to be protected 
to the same level of support when they move to Universal Credit 
 

Extension of the group of customers who pay 13.56% to claimants or partners 
who are: 

• in receipt of  Jobseeker’s Allowance Contribution Based 
• in receipt of Main Phase Employment and Support Allowance and are in the 

Work Related Activity Group 
• in receipt of Maximum Universal Credit and is neither employed, self-

employed or in receipt of any other income which is taken into account when 
calculating their Universal Credit award (such as an Occupational Pension or 
other unearned income) 

• in receipt of Universal Credit which includes either the limited capability for 
work and/or work related activity 

 
6.5  The initial 2013/14 funding was separately identifiable, but since then the monies have 

formed part of the overall total Revenue Support Grant (RSG). Analysis of the RSG would 
suggest that the initial £17.58m allocated for the scheme would equate to approximately 
£5.2m in 2020/21 and £5.2m in 2021/22 due to the continued year-on-year changes in 
Settlement funding.  In order for the scheme to be self-funding now, the bottom-slice would 
need to be in excess of 100%. 
 

6.6  The Council Tax Reduction Scheme caseload has shown a downward trend for several years 
since the introduction of the Scheme in 2013/14 as shown below. However, 2020/21 saw an 
increase in caseload due to the impact of the pandemic.   
 

 Working Age Elderly Total 

    

2013/14 14,504 8,815 23,319 

2014/15 13,781 8,407 22,188 

2015/16 13,610 7,985 21,595 

2016/17 13,385 7,589 20,974 

2017/18 13,050 7,267 20,317 

2018/19 12,930 6,901 19,831 

2019/20 13,147 6,622 19,769 

2020/21 15,464 6,453 21,917 

2021/22 14,479 6,346 20,825 

2022/23 12,859 6,231 19,090 

 
 

Page 259



The change in caseload demographics is attributed to a number of factors. The Government’s 
increase in State Pension Age has meant that it is longer before a customer will be classed as 
“elderly” and there is traditionally a lower take-up of benefits by this age group and they are 
viewed as a group with a higher level of assets.  
 

6.7  Council Tax Reduction Scheme has had a very significant impact on in-year Council Tax 
collection rates. In the last year of Council Tax Benefit, 2012/13, in-year collection rate was 
95.5%. Since Council Tax Reduction Scheme was introduced and 10,000 low income working-
age households became liable to pay Council Tax, in-year collection has dropped each year. 
In 2020/21 collection was 87.76% with a 66.78% collection rate for Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme cases, although these rates are likely to be reflective of the impact of the pandemic 
and inability to take court action.  
 

6.8  Collection is marginally above 2021/22 rates at the moment but the overall increase in 
arrears has meant the Council’s share of the bad debt provision for Council Tax and Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme has increased annually since the introduction of the Scheme and was 
£8.433m at 31 March 2022. 
 

6.9  Court action can be taken against defaulting Council Tax payers. However, the numbers are 
limited at any hearing by restrictions placed by the court. Following the issue of a liability 
order at court an attachment of benefits can be requested. The amount that can be attached 
from benefits is restricted by legislation, currently £3.75 for most benefits except Universal 
Credit. This means that it is not usually possible to collect the Council Tax amount payable 
within the year it becomes due, which impacts on in-year collection rates. The attachment is 
administered by the Department for Work and Pensions and they can delay the process 
significantly.  
 

6.10  The Blackpool Scheme incorporates the national Pensioner Scheme decided by Government. 
This ensures that support continues at the same level as existed under Council Tax Benefit. In 
Blackpool pensioners currently account for 32.64% of the caseload. 
 

6.11  For working-age claims there is a means-tested assessment, predominantly based upon the 
former Council Tax Benefit rules, to establish entitlement. A percentage reduction of 27.11% 
(13.56% for the groups shown in 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4) is then applied to the award at the end of 
the assessment.  
 

6.12  The value of the percentage reduction is reviewed annually to ensure it remains fit for 
purpose taking account of ongoing changes in legislation, caseload and financial 
requirements. It is proposed that for 2022/23 the value of the percentage reduction for other 
working age customers, who do not fall into the vulnerable or low income categories shown 
at 6.2, 6.3 or 6.4, should remain at 27.11%. 
 

6.13  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? No 
 

Page 260



 
7.0  List of Appendices: 

 
7.1  Appendix 3a: Discretionary Discount Policy 

Appendix 3b: Equality Analysis 
Appendix 3c: Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 
 

8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
8.3 

For 2023/24 it is proposed that the percentage reduction made at the end of the assessment 
for working age claimants shall be 27.11% with the exception of those claimants who fall into 
the vulnerable or low income categories shown at 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4, who will be subject to a 
13.56% reduction. 
 
A review of the Scheme must be carried out annually to ensure it remains fit for purpose 
taking account of ongoing changes in legislation, caseload and financial requirements. The 
Council will be required to approve the Scheme each year. 
 
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 provided for a major overhaul of the benefits system. The 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme was implemented ahead of the commencement of Universal 
Credit. The new Scheme of Council Tax Reduction continues to run alongside Housing Benefit 
during the transition to Universal Credit. Housing Benefit administration will then gradually 
diminish. Wider changes to existing benefits over the last few years have meant customers 
on benefits have less money available to pay their Council Tax liability. Whilst there is still an 
ambition to achieve full collection, this is likely to take longer.   
 

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  
 
 
9.2 

A resolution by the full Council to adopt a Council Tax Reduction Scheme is required by 11 
March 2023. The Scheme will take effect from 1 April 2023. 
 
The Council Tax and Business Rates Discretionary Discount Policy has been reviewed and is 
attached at Appendix 3a.  
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  As part of the overall project management leading to the 2013/14 Scheme, a risk workshop 
identified a number of risks. Actions required to mitigate those risks have been identified and 
implemented where possible.  
 

11.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1  The Equality Analysis that has previously been carried out for the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme has been revisited and updated. This aims to mitigate the impact on protected 

Page 261



groups and includes the continued availability of a discretionary hardship fund which has 
been made available through the adoption of a Discretionary Discount Policy. As part of their 
consideration of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2023/24 an updated Equality Analysis 
is attached at Appendix 2b for Members to review. 
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  None directly. 
 

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  As the main elements and method of calculating awards will remain the same for 2022/23, 
no consultation exercise is required.  
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  None. 
 
15.0 0 Key decision information: 

 
15.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
Yes 

15.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

22/2023 

15.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0  Call-in information: 

 
16.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 13 January 2022 Date approved: 
 

      

Page 262



18.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1        
 

19.0  
 
19.1 
 

Summary of Discussion: 
 
 

20.0  Executive decision: 
 

20.1        
 

21.0  Date of Decision:    
 

21.1        
 

22.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1        
 

23.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1        
 

24.0  
 
24.1 
 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
 
 

25.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1        
 

26.0  Call-in:   
 

26.1        
 
 
 

27.0  Notes:   
 

27.1        
 

 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Tax and Business Rates Discretionary Discount Policy 2023/24 

Blackpool Council 
 
 

 

Page 265

tsplseob
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3a 



 

Contents 
 
Document Control.................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Record of Amendments ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Aims of the Discretionary Discount Policy ........................................................................................................... 6 

2. Policy Objectives and Action Plan ...................................................................................................................... 7 

Objective 1: To ensure that assistance is available and accessible to members of the community most in need 7 

Objective 2: To ensure discretionary discounts are only awarded when no other means of assistance is 

available. ............................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Objective 3: To monitor and evaluate the administration of the policy to ensure that the service reflects the 

needs of the community .................................................................................................................................... 8 

3. Discretionary Discount ‐ Customers in receipt of local Council Tax Reduction ...................................................... 9 

Responsible officer .......................................................................................................................................... 9 

Decision making process ................................................................................................................................. 9 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................... 9 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ............................................................................................. 10 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ......................................................................................... 10 

4. Discretionary Discounts – Customers not in receipt of local Council Tax Reduction ........................................... 11 

Responsible officer ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

Decision making process ............................................................................................................................... 11 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................. 11 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ............................................................................................. 11 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ......................................................................................... 11 

5. Discretionary Relief ‐ Business Rates .................................................................................................................. 12 

Responsible officer ........................................................................................................................................ 12 

Decision making process ............................................................................................................................... 12 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................. 12 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ............................................................................................. 12 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ......................................................................................... 12 

6. Relief relating to organisations established for Sporting and Community Purposes ...................................... 13 

Community Organisations ........................................................................................................................... 13 

Sporting Organisations (including Community Amateur Sports Clubs) ....................................................... 13 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 14 

Page 266



 
Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 14 

Review of decision/re-determination requests ........................................................................................... 14 

Notification of review/re-determination decision ....................................................................................... 14 

7. Hardship Relief ................................................................................................................................................. 15 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 15 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 15 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 15 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ........................................................................................... 16 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ....................................................................................... 16 

8. Temporary Part Occupation Relief ................................................................................................................... 17 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 17 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 17 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 17 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ........................................................................................... 17 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ....................................................................................... 17 

9. Expanded Retail Discount ................................................................................................................................ 18 

Which properties will benefit from relief? .................................................................................................. 18 

Amount of relief available ............................................................................................................................ 20 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 21 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 21 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 21 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ........................................................................................... 21 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ....................................................................................... 21 

10. Local Newspaper Relief .................................................................................................................................. 22 

Responsible officer ....................................................................................................................................... 22 

Decision making process .............................................................................................................................. 22 

Notification of decision ................................................................................................................................ 22 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests ........................................................................................... 22 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision ....................................................................................... 22 

11. Fraud .............................................................................................................................................................. 23 

 
 
 

Page 267



 

Document Control 
 

Document owner:  Louise Jones 

Document number: 3.1 

Document category: Original copy held within the Revenues and Benefits 
Service 

Document location: Council Website 

Issued by: Louise Jones  

Last edited: 13th January 2023 

 

Record of Amendments 
 

Date Version Amended by Description of changes 
 

08/10/2014 1.2 A. Turpin  
19/12/2014 1.3 A. Turpin  
20/10/2015 1.4 G. Ruse Add Part Occupation Relief 
24/10/2016 1.5 G. Ruse Remove Re-Occupation Relief 
15/01/2018 1.6 G. Ruse Review Post titles 
18/06/2018 1.7 D. Holmes Reformatting of the document (no new content) 
17/07/2018 
03/09/2018 

1.8 
1.9 

D. Holmes 
L. Jones/ A. Turpin 

Clarify criteria and evidence for Hardship Relief 
Review of policy for 2019-20 

13/12/2018 
 
 
 
17/12/2018 
29/10/2019 
 
30/01/2020 

2.0 
 
 
 
2.1 
2.2 
 
2.3 

D. Holmes 
 
 
 
G. Ruse 
L. Jones / G. Ruse 
 
G. Ruse 

Added Retail Discount, Local Newspaper Relief, 
Relief for Community and Sporting Organisations, 
clarified part 5, and referenced Enterprise Zone 
relief 
Inclusion of Revaluation Relief and Fraud statement 
Review of Policy for 2020/21 
 
Amendments for 2020/21 Rate Relief Amendments 

20/03/2020 2.4 D. Holmes Amendments to Retail Discount following COVID-19 
advice.  

 2.5  Amendments to Council Tax Reduction following 
COVID-19 advice. 

08/03/2020 2.6 G. Ruse Amendments to Retail Discount following COVID-19 
advice.  

08/09/2020 2.7 D. Holmes Changes to policy following a re-structure and an 
update to introduce COVID-19 measures, including 
the Expanded Retail Discount and the OFSTED 
Registered Nursery Discount scheme.  

03/08/2021 2.8 G. Ruse Updated content for Expanded Retail Discount and 
Nursery Discount. 

20/10/2021 2.9 L Jones Review for 22/23 CTRS scheme 
09/11/2021 3.0 D. Holmes The removal of the OFSTED Registered Nursery 

Discount scheme and the removal of the Enterprise 
Zone Relief, as these have now ceased. Further 
updates to the Expanded Retail Discount scheme. 

13/01/2023 3.1 L Jones Review for 23/24 CTRS scheme 

Page 268



 

Approved By 

 
Name Title Signature Date 
Louise Jones 
 
 

Head of Revenues, 
Benefits and Customer 
Services  

 

13 January 2023 

Page 269



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 1. Introduction 6 

 

1. Introduction 
 
Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended) and sections 47, 48 and 49 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended) empowers a billing authority to reduce the amount of tax payable. 
 
Blackpool has adopted a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme since 1st April 2013, which replaced Council Tax 
Benefit. However it is likely that other circumstances will arise where the Council could consider a further 
discretionary reduction in exceptional circumstances. In addition local Businesses who are experiencing severe 
financial difficulties may request assistance in meeting the burden of local taxation. 
 
Funding for such reductions must be provided by the Council. This policy sets out how the Council will use these 
powers and the criteria that must be satisfied. 
 
The Council is committed to publishing the policy to ensure that the local taxpayers are aware of the policy and 
are able to quickly and easily apply for assistance. 
 

Aims of the Discretionary Discount Policy 
 

 Provide a mechanism for the Council to assist members of the community who are unable to meet the 
Financial burden of local taxation 

 Helping residents in receipt of Council Tax Reduction who are unable to increase their income 

 Alleviating poverty 

 Helping those who are trying to help themselves 

 Supporting people who are starting work 

 Supporting the most vulnerable in the local community 

 Helping customers through difficult personal events 

 To ensure that no claimant or charge payer suffers any undue short-term disadvantage resulting from 
circumstances beyond their control 

Page 270



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 2. Policy Objectives and Action Plan 7 

 

2. Policy Objectives and Action Plan 
 
 

Objective 1: To ensure that assistance is available and accessible to members of 
the community most in need 
 

 Ensure staff are aware of the policy and qualifying criteria 

 Regular refresher training for assessment staff to promote proactive identification of potential 
cases 

 Provide effective overview training on the policy and qualifying criteria on request to promote 
take-up and awareness in appropriate circumstances. 

 Promote access to the scheme through continued development of the Blackpool Council 
website to ensure that up to date information is provided and that relevant forms and 
information can be downloaded. 

 Ensure advice providers are aware of the policy and qualifying criteria. 

 Promoting awareness to Members 

 Promote the scheme to target groups, which may include: 
o Social and Private Sector Housing Tenants with significant arrears who may apply for a 

Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP). 
o Council Tax payers who have been issued with a summons. 
o People requiring assistance from the Emergency Planning response team. 
o Customers who are seeking Council assistance with debts 

 Providing a facility to visit customers to assist them in making an application and provide 
supporting documents. 

 Working closely with existing and new service partners and stakeholders to promote 
awareness of the policy. 

 
 
  

Page 271



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 2. Policy Objectives and Action Plan 8 

 

Objective 2: To ensure discretionary discounts are only awarded when no other 
means of assistance is available. 
 

 Ensure assessments of applications for local Council Tax Reduction incorporate a benefits 
maximization check. 

 Ensure the applicant does not have income or capital which should be used to meet the liability. 

 Signpost customers who do not meet the criteria to appropriate alternative advice services 

 Conduct a regular review of the policy to ensure it is fit for purpose. 

 Ensure a robust review procedure is in place to ensure decisions are independent, fair and 
consistent. 

 Ensure publicity is available to encourage customers to claim other benefits they are entitled 
to and where to access debt advice and money management tools. 

 Ensure other sums owed to the Council (e.g. sundry debts, Housing Benefit overpayments) are 
reviewed and reduced repayments agreed where appropriate 

 Ensure a Discretionary Housing Payment for Housing Benefit is awarded if appropriate 

 Ensure recovery action is delayed where appropriate 

 Awards will be tailored to match need. The period and amount of an award will be 
determined based upon the circumstances in each case. 

 Awards will only be made for a period relating to the financial year in which the application is 
made. 

 Awards may be reviewed at any time and may be revised, reduced or withdrawn if it is found 
that the circumstances of the applicant have changed and the award is no longer appropriate. 

 

Objective 3: To monitor and evaluate the administration of the policy to 
ensure that the service reflects the needs of the community 
 

 Monitor of fund spending by monthly recording and reporting of expenditure provided to Senior 
Management. 

 Conduct a regular review of income and expenditure forms used. 

 Conduct a regular review of the policy. 

 Review the outcome of requests for reconsideration to improve guidance and methodology. 

 Respond to feedback on processes and procedures from partners and stakeholders. 

Page 272



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 3. Discretionary Discount ‐ Customers in receipt 
of local Council Tax Reduction 

9 

 

3. Discretionary Discount ‐ Customers in receipt of local Council Tax Reduction 
 

Blackpool Council adopted a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme effective from 1st April 2013. During the 
development of the scheme the Councils’ Equality Analysis identified that certain groups affected by the 
reduction in support would be unlikely to be able to increase their income.  
 
For an award of this type of discretionary discount to be made, the applicant must be: 

 In receipt of Council Tax Reduction; and 

 Have a shortfall between the level of Council Tax Reduction and their council tax liability; and 

 In the opinion of the Council, be in need of further assistance with Council Tax in accordance with 
the qualifying criteria. 

 
Requests for further reductions in Council Tax liability will be required in writing from the customer, their 
advocate / appointee or a recognised third party acting on their behalf. 
 
Each case will be considered on ‘its merits’ however all of the following criteria should be met: 

 There must be evidence of hardship or personal circumstance that justifies a further reduction in 
Council Tax liability. 

 The Council must be satisfied that the customer has taken reasonable steps to resolve their 
situation prior to application. 

 The customer does not have access to other assets that could be realised and used to pay the 
Council Tax. 

 All other eligible discounts/reliefs have been awarded to the customer. 
 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 
 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The initial request will be dealt with by a Decision Maker (Senior Benefits Assistant, Senior 
Benefit Specialist or Team Manager) who will consider the application against the criteria set out in this 
policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the Council. 
 
Stage 2: A Senior Benefits Manager will authorise the decision. 
 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to 
make a decision. 

Page 273



 

Discretionary Discount Policy | 3. Discretionary Discount ‐ Customers in receipt 
of local Council Tax Reduction 

10 

 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests 

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision. 
 
Stage 1: The original decision and any additional information provided will be reviewed by a different 
Decision Maker who will recommend either to confirm or amend the original decision. 
 
Stage 2: The Head of Benefits and Customer Services will consider the application for review and the 
recommendation and determine whether to award a discretionary discount. 
 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision 

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re-
determination. 
 
A discretionary reduction made under section 13A(1)(a) or (c) of the Local Government Finance Act 
(LGFA) 1992 can be the subject of an appeal to the Valuation Tribunal under section 16 of the LGFA 1992. 

Page 274



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |4. Discretionary Discounts – Customers not in 
receipt of local Council Tax Reduction  

11 

 

4. Discretionary Discounts – Customers not in receipt of local Council Tax 
Reduction 
 
Requests for reductions in Council Tax liability will be required in writing from the customer or a recognised 
third party acting on their behalf. 
 
Each case will be considered on ‘its merits’ however all of the following criteria should be met: 

 There must be evidence of hardship or personal circumstance that justifies a reduction in Council Tax 
Liability. 

 The Council must be satisfied that the customer has taken reasonable steps to resolve their situation prior 
to application. 

 The customer does not have access to other assets that could be realised and used to pay the Council Tax. 

 The customer is not entitled to an award under the local Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

 All other eligible discounts/reliefs have been awarded to the customer. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The initial request will be dealt with by a Revenues Manager who will consider the application 
against the criteria set out in this policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to 
the Council. 
 
Stage 2: The decision will be authorised by a different Revenues Manager. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests 

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision if there is relevant new 
information available on which to reconsider the original decision.  
 
Stage 1: The original decision and any additional information provided will be reviewed by a different Revenues 
Manager who will recommend either confirming or amending the original decision. 
 
Stage 2: The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services will consider the application for review and the 
recommendation and determine whether to award a discretionary discount. 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision 

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re-determination. 
 
A discretionary reduction made under section 13A(1)(a) or (c) of the Local Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1992 
can be the subject of an appeal to the Valuation Tribunal under section 16 of the LGFA 1992.

Page 275



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |5. Discretionary Relief ‐ Business Rates  12 

 

5. Discretionary Relief ‐ Business Rates 
 
The Council may award Business Rates relief on any case where it has been asked to do so, and where 
the award would be clearly in the interest of the local Council Tax payer. 
 
The relief is available pursuant to s.47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, as amended by s.69 
of the Localism Act 2011, and decisions are to be made on a case by case basis and dependant on the 
individual facts. This is often referred to as ‘Localism Relief’. 
 
Each case will be considered on its merits however all of the following criteria should be met: 

 it must be in the interest of the Council and the community for the local authority to grant a 
reduction, and 

 all other eligible discounts/reliefs have been awarded to the ratepayer. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The Decision Maker (Principal Revenues Manager or Head of Revenues, Benefits & Customer 
Services) will make a recommendation to the Director of Resources, considering the application against 
the criteria set out in this policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the 
Council. 
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application and the recommendation to determine 
whether to award a discretionary discount. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to 
make a decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests 

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision only if there is 
relevant new information available on which to reconsider the original decision. 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision 

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re-
determination. 

Page 276



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |6. Relief relating to organisations established for 
Sporting and Community Purposes  

13 

 

6. Relief relating to organisations established for Sporting and Community 
Purposes 
 

Pursuant to s.47(3) and s.47(5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended) the billing authority 
may make an award of up to 100% for charities and other organisations, where the following conditions apply: 
 

 a ratepayer is a charity or trustees of a charity, and the hereditament is wholly or mainly used for 
charitable purposes, or 

 the ratepayer is a community amateur sports club and is wholly or mainly used for the purposes of the 
club and other such clubs, or 

 all or part of the hereditament is occupied for the purposes of one or more institutions or other 
organisations, none of which is established or conducted for profit and whose main objectives are 
charitable or are otherwise philanthropic or religious or concerned with education, social welfare, 
science, literature or the arts, or 

 the hereditament is wholly or mainly used for purposes of recreation, and all or part of it is occupied 
for the purposes of a club, society or other organisation not established or conducted for profit. 

 
The billing authority may make a decision to grant relief, only if it is satisfied that it would be reasonable to do 
so, having regard to the interests of the Blackpool Council Tax payers. 
 
The below is intended only as a guide when considering applications for discretionary relief, and each case will 
be considered on its own merit, but the Councils expects any application for relief to cover the following points: 

Community Organisations 

 

 the organisation is not part of a charging or precepting authority, and 

 the organisation has been specifically set up for the benefit of the young, the aged, the disabled or for 
ethnic minorities, or 

 the property is for the general use of the local community without any membership and/or subscription 
requirements and has no specific use except for the general benefit of the community, or 

 the property is used for the housing of vehicles used only for offshore emergency purpose, or 

 the aims of the organisation are to educate volunteers in emergency training for the benefit of the local 
community. 

 

Sporting Organisations (including Community Amateur Sports Clubs) 

 

 the membership is open to all sections of the community, and 

 they do not restrict membership on the grounds of ability or the availability or their facilities, and 

 whose membership levels are not set at such a rate to preclude membership by all sections of the 
community, and 

 who provide outside sporting activities, and 

 who actively encourage participation by young people, and 

 who make their facilities available to people other than members e.g. to schools or casual public 
sessions, and 

 whose main aim is sporting rather than social, and 

 whose membership mainly reside in the Blackpool Borough (e.g. more than 50%) 

Page 277



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |6. Relief relating to organisations established for 
Sporting and Community Purposes  

14 

 

Retail premises operated by a registered charity which have been granted mandatory rate relief may, in 
exceptional circumstances, receive a further discretionary award of up to 100%. The Council will consider the 
merits of each case but such an award will be the exception rather than the rule. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources, who will discharge 
this responsibility by the following process: 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The decision making process will involve the Principal Revenues Manager or the Head of Revenues, 
Benefits and Customer Services, considering the application against the criteria set out in this policy, based 
upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the Council.  
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application and the recommendation and determine 
whether to award a discretionary discount. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re-determination requests 

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision only if there is relevant 
new information available on which to reconsider the original decision. 
 
Stage 1: The original decision and any additional information provided will be reviewed and a recommendation 
made to either confirm or amend the original decision. 
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application for review and the recommendation and 
determine whether to award a discretionary discount. 
 

Notification of review/re-determination decision 

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re-determination. 
 
Following the redetermination of a request for discretionary discount, there is no further right of appeal. 

Page 278



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |7. Hardship Relief  15 

 

7. Hardship Relief 
 
In exceptional circumstances the Council may award relief where it is satisfied payment of the bill will cause a 
business severe financial hardship. 
 
This will only be considered where it is evident that doing so would be in the interests of the wider community.  
This can be because failure to grant the relief would result in the loss of a unique and regularly required service, 
and/or because the failure to grant relief would directly result in a significant loss of jobs in the local community. 
 
Hardship Relief is available pursuant to s.49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. The relief is designed 
for a local authority to provide discretionary assistance in exceptional and/or unexpected circumstance, but not 
to prop up a fundamentally failing business. Decisions are to be made on a case by case basis and dependant 
on the individual facts. 
 
The Council may award hardship relief as a percentage of the total amount due, or as a single monetary value. 
 
There are no time limits to the award of hardship relief, but the relief is considered to be a ‘one-time’ award. 
There is no requirement for the Council to award this relief periodically. 
 
In order to consider an award the applicants shall provide the following: 
 

 Details of the unique and regularly required service provided. 

 Details of how much is outstanding. 

 Details of their current financial circumstance, including details of any assets or security held, and 
including details of debts owed to other creditors. 

 Copies of their latest audited accounts, or if the business has not yet submitted accounts then an up to 
date income statement and/or balance sheet will be required. 

 Details of the company, such as the product sold, the customer base, numbers in the workforce. 

 The reason why they cannot pay their bill. 

 How much relief they require. 

 An assumption of what would happen if no assistance was provided by the Council. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The Principal Revenues Manager or The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services will make a 
recommendation to the Director of Resources, considering the application against the criteria set out in this 
policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the Council. 
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application and the recommendation to determine whether 
to award a hardship relief. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 
 

Page 279



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |7. Hardship Relief  16 

 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests  

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision where there is new 
information available on which to reconsider the original decision.  

Notification of review/re‐determination decision  

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re‐determination. 
Following the re‐determination of a request for a discretionary award there is no further right of appeal. 
 

  

Page 280



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |8. Temporary Part Occupation Relief  17 

 

8. Temporary Part Occupation Relief   
 
The Ratepayer is liable for the full non-domestic rate whether a property is wholly occupied or only partly 
occupied. Under s44A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, where a property is partly occupied for a short 
time the Council has discretion to request that the Valuation Office apportion the rateable value of a property 
between the occupied and unoccupied parts and apply an unoccupied property exemption on the unoccupied 
part; thereby reducing the amount payable. 
 
Applications must be made in writing and supported by: 

 a completed application form, and  

 detailed scaled plans which outline the whole property and indicate the partly occupied/unoccupied 
parts, and 

 details of the planned period of time for the part occupation, and  

 details of future intentions, and 

 details of the cause for the part occupation. 
 
A site visit will be required. Where necessary the ratepayer may be required to provide additional information to 
support their application. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
Stage 1: The Principal Revenues Manager or The Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services will make a 
recommendation to the Director of Resources, considering the application against the criteria set out in this 
policy, based upon the information provided by the applicant and known to the Council. 
 

Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application and the recommendation to determine whether 
to award a discretionary discount. 
 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests  

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision where there is new 
information available on which to reconsider the original decision.  

Notification of review/re‐determination decision  

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re‐determination. 
Following the re‐determination of a request for a discretionary award there is no further right of appeal.  

Page 281



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |9. Expanded Retail Discount  18 

 

9. Expanded Retail Discount 
 
The Government announced in the 2018 Budget that it will provide a Business Rates Retail Discount scheme for 
occupied retail properties in 2019/20 and this remains today, albeit the discount was re-branded as the 
‘expanded retail discount’ during the COVID19 pandemic and extended to additionally include businesses in the 
leisure and hospitality sectors. 
 
Since this discount was created the rules and amounts have varied, from an initial 33% discount in 2019/20 to 
a full discount during the COVID19 pandemic, irrespective of rateable value and with no award cap. During 
2021/22 a “cash cap” was introduced to limit the level of relief paid to £105,000 across all of the applicants 
businesses. During 2021/22 there was a split award of 100% for 3 months (April to June) and then a 66% rate 
for the remainder of the financial year. 
 
From 1 April 2022 until 31 March 2023 the expanded retail discount will be 50% for all occupied premises within 
the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors, subject to a “cash cap” of £110,000 per business.  
 
From 1 April 2023 until 31 March 2024 the expanded retail discount will be 75% for all occupied premises within 
the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors, subject to a “cash cap” of £110,000 per business.  
 
The discount is to be applied once mandatory reliefs and other discretionary reliefs have been applied. 
 

Which properties will benefit from relief? 

 
Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied hereditaments that are wholly or mainly being used: 

 as shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and live music venues, 

 for assembly and leisure; or 

 as hotels, guest & boarding premises and self-catering accommodation. 
 

We consider shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and live music venues to 

mean: 

 
Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of the public: 

 Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, stationers, off licences, 
chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, supermarkets, etc) 

 Charity shops 

 Opticians 

 Post offices 

 Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing, garage doors) 

 Car/caravan show rooms 

 Second-hand car lots 

 Markets 

 Petrol stations 

 Garden centres 

 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 
 
Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services to visiting members of the 
public: Hair and beauty services (such as: hairdressers, nail bars, beauty salons, tanning shops, etc) 
 

Page 282



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |9. Expanded Retail Discount  19 

 

 Shoe repairs/key cutting 

 Travel agents 

 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre 

 Dry cleaners 

 Launderettes 

 PC/TV/domestic appliance repair 

 Funeral directors 

 Photo processing 

 Tool hire 

 Car hire 

 Employment agencies 

 Estate agents and letting agents 

 Betting shops 

 
Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to visiting members of the public: 

 Restaurants 

 Takeaways 

 Sandwich shops 

 Coffee shops 

 Pubs 

 Bars 

 
Hereditaments which are being used as cinemas 

 
Hereditaments that are being used as live music venues: 

 Live music venues are hereditaments wholly or mainly used for the performance of live music for the 
purpose of entertaining an audience. Hereditaments cannot be considered a live music venue for the 
purpose of business rates relief where a venue is wholly or mainly used as a nightclub or a theatre, for 
the purposes of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). 

 Hereditaments can be a live music venue even if used for other activities, but only if those other 
activities (i) are merely ancillary or incidental to the performance of live music (e.g. the sale/supply of 
alcohol to audience members) or (ii) do not affect the fact that the primary activity for the premises is 
the performance of live music (e.g. because those other activities are insufficiently regular or frequent, 
such as a polling station or a fortnightly community event). 

 There may be circumstances in which it is difficult to tell whether an activity is a performance of live 
music or, instead, the playing of recorded music. Although we would expect this would be clear in most 
circumstances, guidance on this may be found in Chapter 16 of the statutory guidance issued in April 
2018 under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. 

We consider assembly and leisure to mean: 

 
Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of sport, leisure and facilities to visiting members of the 
public (including for the viewing of such activities). 

 Sports grounds and clubs 

 Museums and art galleries 

 Nightclubs 

 Sport and leisure facilities 

 Stately homes and historic houses 

 Theatres 

 Tourist attractions 

Page 283



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |9. Expanded Retail Discount  20 

 

 Gyms 

 Wellness centres, spas, massage parlours 

 Casinos, gambling clubs and bingo halls 
 
Hereditaments that are being used for the assembly of visiting members of the public. 

 Public halls 

 Clubhouses, clubs and institutions 

We consider hotels, guest and boarding premises and self-catering accommodation to mean: 

 
Hereditaments where the non-domestic part is being used for the provision of living accommodation as a 
business: 

 Hotels, Guest and Boarding Houses 

 Holiday homes 

 Caravan parks and sites 
 
This is a test on use rather than occupation, therefore hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or 
mainly used for the qualifying purpose will not qualify for the relief. 

What does not constitute retail, leisure or hospitality usage 

 
The list below sets out the types of uses which we do not consider as being eligible for the purpose of this 
discount, and will therefore not qualify under this scheme. 
 
Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services to visiting members of the 
public 

 Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux de change, short-term loan 
providers) 

 Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors) 

 Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/financial advisers) 

 Post office sorting offices 
 
Hereditaments which are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of the public 

 Premises where membership is required to gain entry (e.g. affiliated social clubs) 

 Premises where payment is required to gain entry 
 
Hereditaments which are inconsistent with the Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Blackpool 

 Premises used for the sale of psychoactive substances (also known as legal highs) 

Amount of relief available 

 
The total amount of government-funded relief available for each property under this scheme for 2019-20 was 
one third of the bill, and for 2020-21 the full bill.  For 2021-22 the amount was a 100% discount for 3 months 
from 1st April 2021 until 30th June 2021, and a 66% discount thereafter until 31 March 2022.  For the 2022/23 
financial year the applicable discount is 50%.  For the 2023/24 financial year the applicable discount is 75%; this 
is however subject to a “cash cap”. This relief is applied after mandatory reliefs and other discretionary reliefs 
funded by section 31 grants have been applied. There is no relief available under this scheme for unoccupied 
properties. 
 
A new hereditament created as a result of a split or merger during the financial year, or where there is a change 
of use, should be considered afresh for the relief on that day. 

Page 284



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |9. Expanded Retail Discount  21 

 

 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
The expanded retail discount was introduced as a financial package to assist those ratepayers who were expected 
to be adversely affected by the COVID19 pandemic, meaning awards were to be swift and without the normal 
requirement to complete forms and submit supplementary information in support of their application. With this 
in mind it was decided that: 
 

 Where the property is occupied and the ratepayer clearly meets at least one of the above criteria for 
retail, hospitality and leisure sectors then the relief will be paid automatically.  

 

 Where the ratepayer does not clearly meet at least one of the above criteria for retail, hospitality and 
leisure, or where the property is believed to be unoccupied, then the details will be passed to a Revenues 
Manager to determine whether the ratepayer is eligible for this relief. 

 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests  

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision only if there is relevant 
new information available on which to reconsider the original decision. 
 
Stage 1: The original decision and any additional information provided will be reviewed and a recommendation 
made to either confirm or amend the original decision. 
 
Stage 2: The Director of Resources will consider the application for review and the recommendation and 
determine whether to award a discretionary discount. 

Notification of review/re‐determination decision  

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re‐determination. 
Following the re‐determination of a request for a discretionary award there is no further right of appeal. 
 
  

Page 285



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |10. Local Newspaper Relief  22 

 

10. Local Newspaper Relief 
 
The Government introduced a £1,500 Business Rate discount for office space occupied by local newspapers in 
England, up to a maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, and up to state aid 
limits, for 2 years from 1 April 2017. This was extended in the 2018 budget and the 2020 budget and will now 
apply until 31st March 2025. 
 

The relief is to be specifically for local newspapers and by that we mean what would be considered to be a 
“traditional local newspaper.” The relief will not be available to magazines. 

Responsible officer 

 
The responsibility for making discretionary decisions will rest with the Director of Resources. 

Decision making process 

 
In accordance with Government Guidance for the administration of the scheme, and to assist local businesses, 
the s151 Officer has agreed that the Council may make a number of assumptions with regard to eligibility to 
ensure relief is awarded to qualifying businesses as soon as possible. 
 
Businesses awarded relief will be advised to inform the Council if they do not qualify for relief as a result of 
exceeding State Aid limits. Should a ratepayer believe they are entitled to the relief and it has not been awarded, 
an application form will be provided and relevant enquiries undertaken to determine eligibility. 
 
Where an application form is sent and a response is received, a Revenues Manager will confirm eligibility and 
seek a decision from the Director of Resources. 

Notification of decision 

 
The Council will notify the applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving sufficient information to make a 
decision. 

Review of decision/re‐determination requests  

 
The Council will accept an applicant’s written request for a redetermination of its decision where there is new 
information available on which to reconsider the original decision.  

Notification of review/re‐determination decision  

 
The Council will notify an applicant of its decision within 28 days of receiving a request for a re‐determination. 
Following the re‐determination of a request for a discretionary award there is no further right of appeal. 

 
  

Page 286



 

Discretionary Discount Policy |11. Fraud  23 

 

 

11. Fraud 
 

Where a ratepayer falsely applies for any relief or where the ratepayer provides false information, makes false 
representation, or deliberately withholds information in order to gain relief, prosecutions will be considered 
under the Fraud Act 2006.  

 

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 - - 

   Appendix 3b 

  
 

Equality Analysis (EA) (formally Equality Impact Assessment) Record Form 2023/24 
 
 
Department: Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services 

Team or Service Area Leading Assessment: Benefits 

Title of Policy/ Service or Function: Working Age Council Tax Reduction Scheme Equality Assessment 

Lead Officer: Louise Jones 
 
STEP 1 - IDENTIFYING THE PURPOSE OR AIMS 
 
1. What type of policy, service or function is this? 
 
New/ proposed policy  
 
2. What is the aim and purpose of the policy, service or function? 

 
From April 2013, as part of the government’s Welfare Reform agenda, Council Tax Benefit was abolished 
and replaced with a locally determined Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme. Pensioners continue to be 
protected at their existing levels of benefit under a national scheme whilst new schemes were set up for 
Working Age customers at a Local Authority level. Under this system, it is billing authorities who decide 
who is eligible to get support and the support will be awarded by way of a Section 13A Council Tax 
discount. The grant provided by the Government continues to be reduced; Local Authorities will therefore 
have to manage the reduction in funding in developing local Council Tax Reduction Schemes and will have 
to ensure that their scheme also covers the impact of any future increase in Council Tax Support 
recipients. 
 
Blackpool Council continues to operate under three major constraints: 
 
1.   The cut in funding (which may in practice be higher if demand for support increases in the future). 
 
2.   The desire to protect vulnerable groups and the exhortation to do this by the Government (as set out 
in “Localising Support for Council Tax: Vulnerable people – key local authority duties” published by the 
Department of Communities and Local Government in May 2012). 
 
3.   The desire to incentivise work and not contradict the incentives to work in the forthcoming Universal 
Credit (as set out in “Localising Support for Council Tax: Taking work incentives into account” published by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government in May 2012). 
 
The Government has stated (in the above document on vulnerable people) that they do not intend to 
prescribe the protection that local authorities should provide for vulnerable groups other than 
pensioners.  Rather the guidance reminds local authorities to have due regard to how their local scheme 
may impact on people based on the following: 

 Age 

 Disability 

 Sex and sexual orientation 

 Gender reassignment 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

Page 289



 

 - - 

 Religion or belief 
 
The above guidance refers to specific legislation that local authorities should have due regard to when 
designing their local scheme.  This includes: 

 The Equality Act 2010 (particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty) 

 The Child Poverty Act 2010 (duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty) 

 The Housing Act 1996 (duty to prevent homelessness) 
 

In addition, it advises that local authorities consider the impact under The Armed Forces covenant 
published in May 2011. 
 

   The local scheme will set out: 

 the classes of person who are entitled to a reduction 

 the reductions which are to apply to those classes 

 the procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction. 
 
The timetable for development of the 2023/24 Equality Analysis is shown below and is updated to 
consider the impact of the Scheme and any changes to it.  
 

Action Timescale 

  

Develop first draft of the scheme Jun 2022 -Jul 2022 

Start Equality Analysis based on proposed scheme Jul 2022 – Oct 2022 

Develop EA Action Plan to mitigate impact of the changes Oct 2022  

Send EA with Council Report to decide the scheme Nov 2022 
 

 
 

3. Please outline any proposals being considered. 

 
Continue with the existing 22/23 scheme, ensuring the scheme is cost neutral to the Council with continued 
reduced support for working age claimants of 27.11% except for people in the following categories, who 
have reduced support of 13.56%: 

 Where someone in the household receives Disability Living Allowance or Personal Independence 
Payments. 

 Where the applicant is a lone parent and who is responsible and resides with a child under 5 
years old. 

 Where the applicant or their partner receives Carer’s Allowance. 

 Where the applicant or their partner is in receipt of a war pension, war widows pension, war 
disablement pension or equivalent.  

 Where the applicant or their partner receives Income Support, or Income-Based Jobseekers 
Allowance, or Income-Related Employment Support Allowance. 

 Ensure that applicants who are protected under the current Scheme continue to be protected 
when they move to Universal Credit 

 Extension of the group of customers who pay 13.56% to claimants or partners who are: 
o in receipt of  Jobseeker’s Allowance Contribution Based 
o in receipt of Main Phase Employment and Support Allowance and are in the Work 

Related Activity Group 
o in receipt of Maximum Universal Credit and neither employed, self-employed or in 

receipt of any other income which is taken into account when calculating their 
Universal Credit award (such as an Occupational Pension or other unearned income) 

o in receipt of Universal Credit which includes either the limited capability for work and 
or/work related activity 

 

Page 290



 

 - - 

 
4. What outcomes do we want to achieve? 

 
A framework to provide Council Tax Reduction with the following objectives: 
 

 Continue with a scheme similar to the current scheme in terms of eligibility criteria to determine 
who will receive support. 

 Introduce a scheme to support work incentives and in particular, avoid disincentives to move into 
work. 

 Introduce a scheme which achieves the required savings and allows room for future take-up of the 
discount.  

 Introduce a scheme which is cost effective to administer. 

 Introduce a scheme where the impact can be assessed and future adjustments can be made. 

 

 
5. Who is the policy, service or function intended to help/ benefit? 

 
Each billing authority in England must design a scheme specifying the reductions which are to apply to 
amounts of council tax support payable  in respect of dwellings situated in its area by: 
 

 Persons of working age whom the authority considers to be in financial need; or 

 Persons of working age  in classes consisting of persons whom the authority considers to be, in 
general, in financial need 

 

 
6. Who are the main stakeholders/ customers/ communities of interest? 

 
The main stakeholders are: 

 
 The Preceptors e.g. Lancashire Fire & Rescue Service, Lancashire Police Authority 

 Any resident who is liable to pay Council Tax 

 Any current Working Age Council Tax Benefit customers  

 A range of 3rd party organisations providing support and advice to a wide range of customers 

 

 
7. Does the policy, service or function have any existing aims in relation to Equality/ Diversity or 

community cohesion? 

 
The main scheme will continue with the aims as set out in previous years Equality Analysis as no changes 

are proposed for 2023-24. 

 
STEP 2 - CONSIDERING EXISTING INFORMATION AND WHAT THIS TELLS YOU 
 
8. Please summarise the main data/ research and performance management information in the box 

below. 

  

Data/ information 
The main performance information to assist in the design of the Council Tax Reduction scheme will be 
databases and statistics held for the following purposes: 

 Billing and Recovery of Council Tax 

 Awarding Council Tax Reduction 

Page 291



 

 - - 

 Census data including index of deprivation 

 Benefits caseload data to establish trends  

 Information held by the Office of National Statistics 

 

Research or comparative information 
 
Local authorities have clearly defined responsibilities in relation to, and awareness of, the most vulnerable 
groups and individuals other than pensioners in their areas. This includes responsibilities under:   

 The Child Poverty Act 2010, which imposes a duty on local authorities to have regard to and address 
child poverty and their partners, to reduce and mitigate the effects of child poverty in their local areas. 

 The Disabled Persons Act 1986, and Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, which include a 
range of duties relating to the welfare needs of disabled people. 

 The Housing Act 1996, which gives local authorities a duty to prevent homelessness with special regard 
to vulnerable groups. 

 
Local evidence (as at Oct 21): 
 
Population 

Blackpool has a resident population of 138,381, some 37,372 (27%) of which are aged 60 and over. There are 

70,522 dwellings in Blackpool. It is a dense urban area with high levels of deprivation, workless households, and 

poor health in the resident population. 

Deprivation 

Blackpool ranks as the most deprived local authority in England in terms of average deprivation scores. 39 

(41.5%) of the 94 LSOAs in the local authority rank in the most deprived nationally. Health deprivation is much 

higher than average and over half of areas are in the most deprived 10% for health nationally. 

Housing  

There is a high percentage of private rented dwellings in Blackpool and a slightly lower owner-occupier rate 

than seen nationally: 

 63.8% - owner occupied (England: 65.7%) 

 25.9% - privately rented (England: 17.9%) 

 10.3% - social rented (England: 16.4%)  

 

Household Composition 

The households in Blackpool have a slightly higher proportion of lone parent families and lone adults (both over 

65 and under 65) than England.  

Household types 

 

 15% - lone adults over 65 years (England: 13.9%) 

 23% - lone adults under 65 years (England: 14.4%) 

 13% - lone parent families (England: 9.8%) 

 8% - single families with all adults over 65 (England: 8%) 

 35% - single families cohabiting/married with all adults under 65 (England: 43%) 

Page 292



 

 - - 

Disability 

As of February 2021, 7,393 (8.8%) of working age residents claim employment support allowance and a further 

1,155 of working age residents claim disability living allowance (1.4%). The ESA proportion is over double that 

for England as a whole.  

Universal Credit 

As of August 2021, 21,917 (26.1%) of working age residents are on universal credit. With 13,186 not in 

employment (60.2% of the total number of people on universal credit) and 8,731 in employment (39.8% of the 

total number of people on universal credit). The number of people on universal credit is over 10 percentage 

points higher than England as a whole.  

Child Poverty 

24.9% of all children aged under 16 in Blackpool live in relative low income families, around 6,522 children in 

total. 

19.8% of all children aged under 16 in Blackpool live in absolute low income families, around 5,205 children in 

total. 

Overall, 8,935 (34.1%) of children aged under 16 in Blackpool are living in households below 60% median 

income after housing costs. Which is higher than the national figure of 30.4% and North West figure of 30.8%. 

Pension Credit 

Blackpool has 2,864 claimants in receipt of Pension Credit Guarantee Credit only, and 1,976 claimants in receipt 

of both Guarantee Credit and Savings Credit, equivalent to 84.7% of claimants (in line with the national rate).  

Means-tested claimants in receipt of Pension Credit ‘Savings Credit’ Only is much lower at 876 claimants 

compared, equivalent to 15.3% of claimants (again in line with the national rate) 

As a proportion of the population, 20.1% of the 65+ age group claim pension credit, much higher than England 

at 11.7%. 

Blackpool Child Poverty (2021) 

Figures are provisional and subject to revision           
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-in-low-income-families-local-area-statistics-2014-to-2021  

 
6264 children in Blackpool live in low income families.  
This is ‘relative low income’ measure which is 60% lower than the median family income in UK.  
This accounts for 24.0% of all children in Blackpool.  
Blackpool is ranked the 50th highest percentage in UK (out of 193) 
 
Changes since 2015 
Blackpool has seen several years 2015 to 2019 where the percentage had increased year on year from 20.1% to 
26.1%. Since 2020 there has been yearly decreases to 25.6% and to 24% at the most recent count.  
 
Blackpool’s national rank has improved, in 2015 it ranked the 33rd highest percentage in the UK and is now 50th 
highest.  
 
 

Page 293

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-in-low-income-families-local-area-statistics-2014-to-2021


 

 - - 

Family Demographics  
53.8% of children in relative low income live in working households. 
44.5% of children in relative low income live in lone parent families. 
33.7% are young children aged 0-4, and 66.3% are school aged 5-15.  
 
Ward Distribution 
All wards have some children living in low income households 
Bloomfield and Claremont have more than 35% of children in relative low income households  
Bloomfield ward ranks as having the 110th highest level of children in relative low income households (out of 
501) 
The following graph illustrates the proportion of children in relative low-income families by ward. 
 

  
 
4792 children in Blackpool live in low income families.  
This is the ‘absolute low income’ measure which accounts for inflation and 60% lower than median family 
income in UK.  
This accounts for 18.4% of all children in Blackpool.  
Blackpool is ranked the 47th highest percentage in UK (out of 162) 
 
Changes since 2015 
Between 2015 and 2016 the percentage decreased from 20% to 19.1%.  
Then from 2017 to 2019 the percentages increased year on year peaking at 22.2%.  
Since 2020 the percentage have decreased to 21% then 18.4% at the most recent count.  
 
Blackpool’s national rank has improved, in 2015 it ranked the 57th highest percentage in the UK and is now 82nd 
highest.  
 
Family Demographics  
53% of children in absolute low income live in working households. 
42.6% of children in absolute low income live in lone parent families. 
34% are young children aged 0-4, and 66% are school aged 5-15.  

Page 294



 

 - - 

Ward Distribution 

All wards have some children living in poverty. 
Bloomfield and Claremont have more than 30% of children in absolute low income households 
Bloomfield ward ranks as having the 109th highest level of children in absolute low income households (out of 
438) 
The following graph illustrates the proportion of children in absolute low-income families by ward 
 
 

 
 
 

National Data 

As Council Tax Reduction is a locally administered scheme, no national statistics are collated so reference must 
be made to old Council Tax Benefit statistics. 
 
According to the Single Housing Benefit Extract, as at January 2011 there were 3.1 million Council Tax Benefit 
claimants under 65 in the United Kingdom. 
 
According to the Family Resources 2009/10 Survey data, of these: 

 48% of households have at least 1 adult or child who is disabled 

 18% of households have ay least 1 adult with caring responsibilities 

 17% of households have at least 1 adult requiring informal care 
 
Information from administrative sources can also provide more limited information on carers and disabled 
people and shows the number of Council Tax Benefit claimants who are carers or households in receipt of a 
disability premium and not pass ported onto full Council Tax Benefit.  At January 2011: 

 34,790 non-passported under 65 Council Tax Benefit claimants were carers 

 219,580 non-passported under 65 Council Tax Benefit claimants were in receipt of a disability premium 
 

Since some of the passported claimants are also likely to be carers or receiving a disability premium this 
underestimates the total number that could be affected. 
 

Page 295



 

 - - 

 
9. What are the impacts or effects for Key Protected Characteristics? 

 

Age 

Older People of pension age 
 
Potential Impact 
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s (formerly the Department for Communities 
and Local Government) has stated that pensioners must receive the same level of support under any new 
scheme as they received under the Council Tax Benefit scheme. They will therefore be treated more 
favourably than other groups under the proposed changes. 
 
In Blackpool we currently have 19,128 Council Tax Reduction recipients (as at 28/10/2022) of whom 4,809 
are single and of pension age. In addition we have 1,496 couples over 60 in receipt of Council Tax 
Reduction. Of those 60 have child dependents. 
 
Eligible ‘pensioners’ can be divided into the three groups below:  

PASSPORTED CLAIMANTS  

Those in receipt of Pension Credit Guarantee Credit.   
 
Pension Credit ‘Guarantee Credit’ acts as a passport to maximum Council Tax Reduction support. Pensioners 
apply to the Pension Service and if successful are prompted to apply for Council Tax Reduction. The Pension 
Service can take the claim on behalf of the local authority and will send an assessment direct to the relevant 
local authority.  

MEANS-TESTED CLAIMANTS  

Means-tested claimants in receipt of Pension Credit ‘Savings Credit’ Only   
 
Pension Credit applicants may be awarded ‘Savings Credit’ only. This group are also prompted to apply for 
Council Tax Reduction, and if they do the Pension Service will send appropriate data to the relevant local 
authority that complete the means-testing applying nationally set rules.  

Other means-tested claimants  
 
Customers can also apply directly. Claimants who have attained the qualifying age for State Pension Credit 
are means-tested by the Local Authority on application, to determine eligibility for support. The exact 
amount of support needed will depend on a range of factors, such as age, income, capital, the personal 
circumstances of the individual and the Council Tax band their home falls into.  
 
We currently do not have data that would allow us to break the Blackpool figures down into the categories 
above. 
 

People of Working Age (over 25) 
 
Potential Impact 
 
People under pension age will be treated less favourably under the new support scheme than pensioners. In 
addition it is possible that some people in this group will be affected more because of the greater difficulties 
they may face in finding paid employment e.g. over the age of 55. 

 

Page 296



 

 - - 

People of Working Age (under 25) 
 
Potential Impact 
 
Under the current Council Tax Reduction scheme the system of applicable amounts differentiate between 
those under and over 25. Claimants who are under 25 have a lower applicable amount as they are treated 
as having lower living costs than those aged 25 and over. In addition, young single people may be more at 
risk of becoming homeless and/or there will be pressure on these people to return or remain in the family 
home.  
 
Current Welfare Reforms in Housing Benefit affect the same group of Working Age customers. 
 
There is a recognition that Working Age customers in receipt of Council Tax Reduction have been, and 
continue to be, adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic e.g. working reduced hours, their businesses 
have closed, been furloughed etc.. Whilst financial assistance was provided to all Working Age recipients of 
Council Tax Reduction in 2020/21 by way of a grant of up to £150; this has not continued. If residents find 
themselves in financial difficulty, they could be assisted through the Council Tax Reduction hardship fund.     
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of these benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 

 

Disability 

Potential Impact 
 
The definition of disability used is based on entitlement to certain state benefits or to entitlement to a 
Council Tax disabled band reduction. This can reflect the circumstances of any member of the claimant’s 
household.  
The relevant benefits/additions to benefit include: 
 

 Disability Living Allowance 
 Employment Support Allowance 
 Personal Independence Payments 
 Universal Credit 
 Disability Premium 
 Severe Disability Premium 
 Enhanced Disability Premium 
 Disabled Child Premium 
 Disabled Earnings Disregard 
 Carers Allowance 
 War Disablement Pension 
 War Widows Pension 
 Council Tax Disability Reduction 

 
It is possible that some people in this group will be affected less favourably because of the greater 
difficulties they may face in coping with the changes, for example by finding paid employment.  This may 
result from their reduced capacity to work due to the nature of their disability and/or discrimination based 
on the perceptions of employers or the fact that the place of work has not been adapted to meet the needs 
of disabled people. 
 
Other welfare reforms may further impact on some members of this group and also some of the services 
that members of this group receive are being reduced under austerity measures. It should also be noted 
that in some cases (depending on the nature of the disability) there may be potential communication issues 
where information available in standard formats is not the best method of communicating with benefit 

Page 297



 

 - - 

recipients.  This may cause greater difficulty in understanding their changed liability.  This may lead some to 
fall into arrears more easily with all the associated problems this can cause. 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 
Some individuals will receive Social Care support from Blackpool Council may be able to have any extra 
Council Tax they pay deducted from their income for charging purposes (unless they pay the full cost 
because they have capital over the current threshold).  It is acknowledged that this will not help disabled 
people who do not receive chargeable support from Blackpool Council.  However, the most severely 
disabled are likely to receive this support.   
 
Extensive consultation was carried out prior to the introduction of the 2013/14 scheme with specific 
disabled stakeholder groups i.e. the Disability Partnership Forum, the Learning Disabilities Self Advocacy 
Forum and the Disability First open day in order to make them aware of the changes, help them to 
understand the potential impact and to discuss any support mechanisms that can be built in for affected 
groups. As the main basis of the 2023/24 scheme is the same as 2022/23 scheme, no further specific 
consultation has been carried out with these groups. 
 
It is recognised that the level of a customer’s disability could mean they are more disadvantaged over 
another disabled customer. There may be the opportunity for a less disabled person to increase their 
income in order to pay for the increase in Council Tax whereas this may not be an option for a more 
severely disabled person.  

 

Gender Reassignment 

 
Potential Impact 
 
No information is collected on the gender reassignment status of Council Tax Reduction claimants.  
However, it is acknowledged that transgender people experience higher levels of disadvantage and 
social/financial exclusion and therefore may face greater difficulties in responding to the changes, for 
example by finding work.  It is not thought that the proposed changes will have a negative impact on 
working age single people and couples who are recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of their 
gender identity. 

 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 

Potential Impact 
 
The latest figures show that there are 3,376 couples in receipt of Council Tax Reduction. Of these: 
1,221 (36%) had child dependents, and 2,155 (64%) had no child dependents. 

 
There are 2,326 couples in receipt of Council Tax Reduction who are of working age, of whom 1,207 (52%) 
had child dependents and 1119 (48%) had no child dependents. 
 
The main scheme impacts on working age families/couples whether they are living together/married or in 

civil partnerships but will not treat marriage or civil partnership any differently. Married couple and civil 

partnerships are recognised equally in the current Council Tax Reduction scheme as are people living 

together as if they are in such legal partnerships.  

Families with a large number of children are more likely to live in a bigger property and therefore one with a 

higher Council Tax Bend. The current scheme ensures that these customers would not be disadvantaged 

over smaller families as the Council Tax Reduction would be based on the actual Council Tax band for the 

property and the percentage reduction would be the same across all groups of claimants. 

Page 298



 

 - - 

It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity 

 
The main scheme will have a negative impact on all working age single people and couples who are 
recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of whether they are pregnant/recently given birth or not.   
 
Whilst at this moment we consider that this impact is unlikely to be disproportionately greater on 
households where a member is pregnant or recently given birth, we acknowledge that they may face 
greater difficulties in responding to the changes, for example by finding work.  
 
In addition, women on maternity leave may find that they now have to pay an increased amount of Council 
Tax Support on a reduced income with little prospect of increasing their income in the short term.  
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 

 

Race 

Potential Impact 
 
The current scheme will have a negative impact on all working age single people and couples who are 
recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of race or ethnicity.  We do not have any data regarding the 
ethnicity of Council Tax Reduction recipients in Blackpool. However, national data shows that 90% of 
households who received Council Tax Benefit were white, and 10% were ethnic minorities. This compares to 
a total population of 91% white and 9% ethnic minorities.  
 
At the moment we consider that the impact of the propose changes is unlikely to be disproportionately 
greater on households of different ethnicity within the working age group. There will be no difference in the 
way ethnic groups are treated under any Council Tax Reduction scheme. However, some ethnic groups 
experience different levels of disadvantage and therefore they may find it more difficult to cope with the 
changes.  This may be because they face unofficial discrimination in the job market and possibly because of 
access to skills including language skills are limited in some cases. There may also be potential 
communication issues where English is not the benefit recipient’s first language and where documents 
printed in Standard English is not the optimum method of communicating. 

 
Claimants whose first language is not English may have greater difficulty in understanding their changed 
level of Support, particularly if they are being asked to pay some Council Tax for the first time.  This may 
lead some to fall into arrears more easily leading to the associated problems this can cause.    
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 

 

Religion and Belief 

Potential Impact 
 
The current scheme has a negative impact on all working age single people and couples who are recipients 
of Council Tax Reduction regardless of religion or belief. We do not have any data regarding the religion or 
beliefs Council Tax Reduction recipients in Blackpool. We do not envisage the scheme proposal for 2023/24 
will adversely impact people with particular religions or beliefs.   
 

Sex 

Page 299



 

 - - 

Potential Impact 
 
The latest figures show that in Blackpool there are 15,752 single people in receipt of Council Tax Reduction. 
Of these, 9,360 (59%) are female, and 6,392 (41%) are male.  
 
Of the 9,360 female recipients, 3,312 (35%) are lone parents and of the 6,392 male recipients, 342 (5%) are 
lone parents. 
 
If we look only at those of working age, 49% of all single working age female recipients are lone parents. Of 
the male recipients 7% of all single working age male recipients are lone parents. Of all working age lone 
parents in Blackpool in receipt of Council Tax Reduction, 90% are female and 10% are male.  

 
On the face of it we will continue to treat both men and women equally in the proposed Council Tax 
Reduction scheme from 1st April 2023. However, given the higher number of female recipients (57%) in 
Blackpool, continuation of the current Council Tax Reduction scheme will impact on more women than 
men.  National data does confirm that more women than men experience financial deprivation.  In addition, 
because many more female claimants will be lone parents, they may be treated less favourably indirectly 
because lone parents may face greater difficulties in responding to the changes, including by finding work.   
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 

 

Sexual Orientation 
 

Potential Impact 
 
The proposed scheme will have the same level of impact on all working age single people and couples who 
are recipients of Council Tax Reduction regardless of their sexual orientation.  We have no data on the 
sexual orientation of Council Tax Reduction claimants locally and at this moment we consider that the 
impact is unlikely to be disproportionately greater on recipients with different sexual orientations.   
 
However, national data demonstrates that some Lesbian, Gay or Bisexual people experience higher levels of 
disadvantage and financial exclusion than other groups and therefore may face greater difficulties in 
responding to the changes, for example by finding work.  
 

 

 

Other Relevant Groups 

Potential Impact 
Carers 
 
It is not anticipated that the continuation of the scheme will have any other adverse effect on this group as 
any Working Age claimant in receipt of certain benefits will be paying less Council Tax. 
 
Child Poverty 
 
The impact of the proposed scheme on the Council’s Child Poverty Strategy has been considered and it is 
believed that by continuing to disregard Child Benefit and Child Maintenance consideration of this area has 
been sufficiently taken into account.  
 
Homelessness 
 
The impact of the proposed scheme on the Council’s Homelessness Strategy has been considered and by 

Page 300



 

 - - 

continuing to work with financial inclusion officers within the Council and Housing Options Support workers, 
sufficient promotion of how the scheme will work will be available.  
 
Armed Forces Covenant 
 
The impact of the proposed scheme on the Armed Forces has been considered and it is believed that by 
continuing to disregard War Disablement Pension, War Widow’s Pension and War Widower’s Pension 
consideration of this area has been sufficiently taken into account.  
 
Other relevant benefit changes that apply from April 2023  
 
The 2023/24 Council Tax Reduction scheme will come in from 1st April 2023.  At the same time continued and 
planned changes to the benefit and tax systems will continue to affect people in receipt of/potentially 
eligible for Council Tax Reduction. The other changes include the following: 
 

1. Working age benefit rates (Tax Credits, applicable amounts) continue to be frozen.  
2. The continued rollout of Universal Credit full service in Blackpool 

 

 
10. What do you know about how the proposals could affect community cohesion? 

 
o There may be an effect on community cohesion as pensioners are not being affected by the Council 

Tax Reduction scheme and will continue to receive the current levels of support as defined by 
Central Government whilst Working Age customers will have reduced levels of help. Whilst we 
recognise the inequalities of the two schemes (Working Age and Elderly), we are unable to do 
anything to change them but will monitor the impact of the scheme between age groups during 
consultation to ensure any comments are recorded.  

o If any other protections are made within the working age group, some groups may feel they are 
“shouldering the burden” of the scheme more than others. 

o There may be an increase in transience, as people move to more affordable accommodation in 
order to be able to afford to pay for their increased contribution to Council Tax.  

o There could be an increase in the number of people leaving Blackpool to move to a neighbouring 
authority with a more generous Council Tax Reduction scheme. 
 

 

 
 
STEP 3 - ANALYSING THE IMPACT 
 

13. Is there any evidence of higher or lower take-up by any group or community, and if so, how is this 
explained?  

 
 There was traditionally a lower take up of Council Tax Benefit from pensioners, however, as 

pensioner support will be delivered through a national framework of criteria & allowances and will 
be a discount rather than a benefit,  take up is likely to increase.  

 Within some other community groups there is traditionally a low take up because individuals either 
do not need support or do not like to claim benefit. To mitigate this, there will be continued 
marketing and communication which will include liaison to target hard to reach groups.  
 

 
 

Page 301



 

 - - 

14. Do any rules or requirements prevent any groups or communities from using or accessing the 
service? 

  
There will be an initial eligibility criteria for the Blackpool Council Tax Reduction scheme (in line with the 
Council Tax Benefit scheme), which will exclude the following: 
 

 Any person who is not a Council Tax payer as they do not need to pay Council Tax 

 Anyone who is not able to claim state benefits in accordance with the Central Government 
regulations in the Local Government Finance Bill  

 If the property is a second home 
 
Once the eligibility criteria have been established, there will be a means tested assessment of entitlement 
to Council Tax Reduction, which could mean that some people are not entitled but this is the case now also. 

15. Does the way a service is delivered/ or the policy create any additional barriers for any groups of 
disabled people?  

  
Access 
 
The new scheme will offer the same level of access to the service as there is within the current system of 
Council Tax Reduction, as follows: 
 

 Face to face access 

 Telephone access 

 Online access 
 
Policy 
 
Disabled people may not be exempt for the purposes of calculating Council Tax Reduction. The rationale 
behind this is: 
 

 The scheme will support people on a low income and is means tested. Disabled people receive 
additional income for disabilities and Blackpool’s preferred option allows for the continued 
disregard of disability incomes in the calculation. 

 Disability relief, which is a reduction in the amount of Council Tax payable, applies where 
adaptations have been made to a property to accommodate a disabled person. Exempting disability 
benefits in the calculation of Council Tax Reduction would put those people at a financial 
advantage. 

 The Council Tax Reduction Scheme must cost less than the Council Tax Benefit regime. The saving 
would be unachievable if disabled applicants were disregarded. 

 Disability Benefits are disregarded in DWP assessment therefore issues of vulnerability have been 
addressed prior to our calculation 

 
However, we recognise that even within the category of disability, some people will be more affected than 
others in that they will be unlikely to be able to increase their income and therefore policies need to be 
established to mitigate the impact of the scheme. The Council Tax Reduction Hardship Fund would provide 
a mechanism for additional support for disabled people. 

 

  
STEP 4 - DEALING WITH ADVERSE OR UNLAWFUL IMPACT 
 
16. What can be done to improve the policy, service, function or any proposals in order to reduce or 

remove any adverse impact or effects identified? 

  

Page 302



 

 - - 

No adverse impact has been identified for 2023/24 proposed scheme  

 
17. What would be needed to be able to do this? Are the resources likely to be available? 

  
Not applicable 

 
18. What other support or changes would be necessary to carry out these actions? 

  
Not applicable 

  

STEP 5 - CONSULTING THOSE AFFECTED FOR THEIR VIEWS 
 
19. What feedback or responses have you received to the findings and possible courses of action? 

Please give details below. 

 

2019/20 Scheme  
 
Comments on whether the current scheme should continue 

 
 As a single parent it is a big help as it pays for travel and meals 

 Scheme needs reforming to get people off benefits 

 People need pushing to work and not giving every penny they need.  They should receive a 
percentage discount on hours over 16 at work. This would push more people into work and 
less into their armchairs 

 I think from personal experience years ago me and my husband were on tax family’s credit 
and we never applied for housing benefits or council tax benefits cause we could still afford to 
live and afford food and still pay rent and out council tax. We lived in social housing so yes the 
rents cheaper than private housing. We both worked my husband 40 hrs and me 20 hrs. I 
work with a girl who is on 16hrs and they can afford more luxury than I could ever and they 
are always splashing the cash. I also see these girls working the rest of the hours cash in hand! 
They should be questioned why they are only working 20 hrs or below. So for this reason I 
think this area needs looking at. If I could afford to do it with 2 children at the time why can’t 
they. 

 As someone who is currently on universal credit I feel like I always have been disadvantaged 
as my council tax reduction is always increasing because of universal credit but it never 
decreases, which makes it harder for me as a single parent with a child in DLA. 

 The council should continue to protect low income families & those on universal credit 

 Council should ensure that it’s CTR scheme keeps aligned with Housing Benefit Scheme 

 Response: 
1) The current scheme does mirror the Housing Benefit scheme as much as possible but the 

introduction of Universal Credit will see this alignment ended in future years. 
2) In terms of the proposed additional support to low income groups, this will assist the Revenues team 

as they will not be trying to recover small debts from people who are struggling to pay and this will 
allow them to concentrate recovery efforts on people who should and are able to  pay but choose 
not to. 

3) The Council is unable to comment on working practices of employers  
4) Government policies are in place to assist customers back to work. 

 
Comments disagreeing with the proposal to ensure that all applicants who are ‘protected’ under the 
current scheme continue to be protected when they move to Universal Credit  
 

Page 303



 

 - - 

 Reducing the groups which get benefits 
 

Response: Comment noted  

 

 So long as the CTR scheme continues to align with Housing Benefit Scheme 
  
Response: The current scheme does mirror the Housing Benefit scheme as much as possible but the 
introduction of Universal Credit will see this alignment ended in future years.  
  

Comments disagreeing with the proposal to extend the protected group to include where the applicant, 
or their partner, is in receipt of Jobseeker’s Allowance Contribution Based; where the applicant, or their 
partner, is in receipt of Main Phase Employment and Support Allowance and are in the Work Related 
Activity Group; where the applicant is in receipt of Maximum Universal Credit and is neither employed, 
self-employed or in receipt of any other income which is taken into account when calculating their 
Universal Credit award (such as an Occupational Pension or other unearned income); and where the 
applicant is in receipt of Universal Credit which includes the limited capability for work element or the  

  limited capability for work & work related activity 
 

 Helps avoid recently unemployed people getting behind with paying bills 

 Agree to temporary help for unemployed 

 Finite period for receiving benefit to encourage people to work 
 

Response: Comments noted 

  Extend the benefits to other vulnerable groups 
 
Response: Considerable protection has been added into the scheme in previous years. 
 

 Leave it as it is 

 Leave it as it is currently 

 None, other than keeping it the same as now 

 Bill for this needs to be paid somehow so keep the scheme as it is 

 Worried about the cost 
 
Response: Additional costs are incurred by trying to recover small amounts of money from customers 
on low income. By providing this additional protection the administration costs will reduce.  
 

 I agree with the widowers and partly with the disabled and carers.  I do not agree that JSA 
should be protected or a lot of disability cases as they can work and earn a lot of money 
already. 

 
Response: Customers who are in receipt of Job Seekers Allowance are more likely to be unable to 
afford their Council Tax and were previously in receipt of full Council Tax Benefit under the old national 
scheme. Customers with disability income can have a higher level of disability related expenditure. 
 

 Does this not include children who receive DLA especially when it is single parent families. 
 
Response: Families with any disability component in their income , including children, are already protected 

 
Other Comments 
 

   Would like council to give cleaning streets a higher priority 

Page 304



 

 - - 

 Extend hours in which people can contact council with council tax queries , as 
3-5pm is inadequate 

 Consider lower business rates to keep shops and businesses in the town 
centre 

 Not happy with charge for green bins 

 If there is money to play with then fund more police 

 Would like to see help for FIN , the families in need group, which is charity funded 
 

Response: Comments noted but they are not directly related to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 
 

 

 Consider full 100% reductions for specific groups 

 Reduce the availability of protection and reduction from council tax 

 Happy as long as it is a means-tested scheme 
 

 
Response: The Council Tax Benefit scheme allowed fully funded means tested assessments enabling 100% 
protection for low income groups. However, the reduction in Government funding that accompanied the 
transfer of Council Tax Reduction schemes to Local Authorities has not enabled 100% reductions to be 
applied. Council Tax Reduction continues to be a means tested benefit with some additional protection for 
low income and vulnerable groups. 
 

2020/21 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

2021/22 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

2022/23 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

2023/24 Scheme  
 

No changes to scheme therefore no consultation required. 

 
20. If you have not been able to carry out any consultation, please indicate below how you intend to 

test out your findings and recommended actions. 

 
N/A 

 

Page 305



 

- 18 -  
 

STEP 6 - ACTION PLANNING 
 
Please outline your proposed action plan below. 
 
2023/24 
 
Issues/ adverse 
impact identified 

Proposed action/ 
objectives to deal 
with adverse impact 
 

Targets/Measure Timeframe Responsibility Indicate whether 
agreed 

Customers may 
end up suffering 
severe financial  
hardship  

Review Discretionary 
Discount Guidance 
for staff and provide 
training to staff to 
identify cases where 
there is an issue 

1.Ensure the Council’s hardship scheme is still 
available 
2.Review criteria to apply to the fund for Owner 
Occupiers 
3. Review criteria to apply to the fund for tenants 
4.Ensure debt advice and benefit maximisation 
assistance is available  
5.Review and possibly reduce recovery of  other 
Council bills  e.g. Sundry Debts, Housing Benefit 
overpayment 
6.Ensure a DHP award cannot be made 
7.Ensure all available help from Housing team has 
been explored    

 
Jan 23 
 
Jan 23 
Jan 23 
 
Apr 23 – Mar 24 
 
Apr 23 – Mar 24 
Apr 23 – Mar 24 
 
Apr 23 – Mar 24 

Benefits Service 
Discretionary 
Team 
Advice team 

Agreed 

Monitor 
legislation 
progress in case 
there are changes 
to the proposed 
amendments to 
Housing Benefit, in 
which case 
alignment to HB 
rules may not 
apply 

If this client group is 
no longer impacted 
by the changes the 
EA will need to be 
revisited  

1.Review Equality Analysis in light of any legislation 
changes 
 

Apr 23 – Mar 24 
 
 
 

Benefits Service Agreed 

P
age 306



 

- 19 -  
 

Issues/ adverse 
impact identified 

Proposed action/ 
objectives to deal 
with adverse impact 
 

Targets/Measure Timeframe Responsibility Indicate whether 
agreed 

Take Up Campaign There will be a 
number of customers 
who are not claiming 
the other Benefits 
they should be doing 
therefore a take-up 
campaign is 
proposed to help 
them increase their 
income. 

1. All frontline staff are aware of the potential that 
customers are not claiming all the benefits they are 
entitled to and where to signpost customers to.  
2. The Advice Team maximise the take up of 
Council Tax Reduction when the see a client 
3. Increased take up of Council Tax Reduction by 
Universal Credit customers by proactively working 
with other agencies and groups e.g. Job Centre 
Plus to ensure take up of all benefits is maximised  
 

Jan 2023 – Mar 
2024 

Benefits Service Agreed 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 307



 

- 20 -  
 

STEP 7 - ARRANGEMENTS FOR MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
Please outline your arrangements for future monitoring and review below. 
 

Agreed action Monitoring arrangements Timeframe Responsibility Added to Service Plan etc. 

Review of  scheme 
and it’s impact   
 
 
 
 

Establish baseline position for review 
Review impact of scheme on protected characteristic groups 
Review collection rates amongst affected customers 
Consider whether discretionary policy is sufficiently robust 
 

Apr 2023  - Mar 2024 Benefits 
Service 

 

Potentially propose 
changes to the 
scheme as a result of 
the review 
 
 
 
 

Consider consultation requirements 
Report to Full Council to formally adopt any recommended 
changes to the scheme 

May 2023 – Jul 2024  
 
Nov 2023 

Benefits 
Service 

 

 

Date completed: 28th October 2022     Signed:       
 
Name:   Louise Jones      Position: Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services 

P
age 308



        	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
    

        
  

Blackpool Council 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

S13A and Schedule 1a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 1 Page 309



        	

 

    

          

      

        

          

    

                 
       

      

       

        
    

        
     

     

                 

         
     

           

     

       

         

         

         

       

     

          

      

        

       

         

           

      

      

     

     

     

         

    

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme......................................................................6 

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme......................................12 

3.0 Definition of non-dependant ......................................................................................................19 

4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number..............................................................20 

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit.....................................20 

6.0 Remunerative work.....................................................................................................................20 

7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control......21 
Persons subject to immigration control........................................................................................23 

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) ....................................................................................24 

9.0 Membership of a family ..............................................................................................................28 

10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 
or young person. .........................................................................................................................28 

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a member 
of the household .........................................................................................................................29 

13.0 Polygamous marriages ................................................................................................................31 

14.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit ..32 

15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of claimant’s family and of a polygamous marriage 
.................................................................................................................................................34 

16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as claimant’s ..35 

17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis.....................................................................................35 

18.0 Treatment of child care charges .................................................................................................35 

19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners ..........................................................................39 

20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners ...................................................................40 

21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings..............................................................................40 

22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits .............................................................40 

23.0 Calculation of weekly income .....................................................................................................41 

24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc............................................................................41 

25.0 Earnings of employed earners ....................................................................................................41 

26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners .......................................................................42 

27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners..............................................................................................43 

28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners .....................................................................44 

29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners ...................................................45 

30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings.................................................................................46 

31.0 Capital treated as income ...........................................................................................................47 

32.0 Notional income..........................................................................................................................48 

33.0 Capital limit .................................................................................................................................52 

34.0 Calculation of capital...................................................................................................................52 

35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person...........................................................................52 

36.0 Income treated as capital............................................................................................................52 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 2 Page 310



        	

      

      

     

       

     

       

      

      

           

      

       

        

        

        

       

       

         

      

      

    

          

      

     

           

          

    

        

       

      

            
      

     

           

        

       

         
         

        

         

      

37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom..............................................................................52 

38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom.....................................................................53 

39.0 Notional capital ...........................................................................................................................53 

40.0 Diminishing notional capital rule ................................................................................................54 

41.0 Capital jointly held ......................................................................................................................57 

42.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital ....................................................................................57 

43.0 Student related definitions .........................................................................................................59 

44.0 Treatment of students ................................................................................................................62 

45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax support ........................................62 

46.0 Calculation of grant income ........................................................................................................63 

47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed ............................................64 

48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed .................................65 

49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard...................................................65 

50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded...............................................................................................65 

51.0 Treatment of student loans ........................................................................................................65 

51A.0 Treatment of fee loans................................................................................................................66 

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds.................................................................................67 

53.0 Disregard of contribution............................................................................................................67 

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income .......................................................................................67 

55.0 Income treated as capital............................................................................................................67 

56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation...........................................................68 

57.0 Maximum council tax support ....................................................................................................70 

58.0 Non-dependant deductions ........................................................................................................70 

59.0 Council tax support taper (applies to persons defined within Class E) .......................................72 

59A.0 Reduction of entitlement (Classes A & B) ...................................................................................72 

60.0 Extended reductions ...................................................................................................................73 

60A.0 Duration of extended reduction period ......................................................................................73 

60B.0 Amount of extended reduction...................................................................................................74 

60C Extended reductions – movers ...................................................................................................74 

60D.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to council tax support under the 
general conditions of entitlement ..............................................................................................74 

61.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) .............................................................74 

61A.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits)................................75 

61B.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) ............................................75 

61C.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) – movers .............................................76 

61D.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 
council tax support under the general conditions of entitlement ..............................................76 

61E.0 Extended reductions: - Movers Generally ..................................................................................76 

64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin........................................................................................79 

65.0 - 66.0 Not Used..............................................................................................................................79 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 3 Page 311



        	

          

      

                

        

       

         

     

         

         

    

           

      

      

        

           

       

         

    

      

                 
      

     

     

        

       

      

     

    

               

               
     

   

    

        

      

        

      

        

        

    

67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect...........................................................79 

68.0 Who may claim ...........................................................................................................................81 

69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under an authority’s scheme ............81 

69A.0 Date on which a claim made.......................................................................................................82 

70.0 Submission of evidence electronically ........................................................................................84 

71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence ..........................................................................................84 

72.0 Evidence and information ...........................................................................................................84 

73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of claim ........................................................................................85 

74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances ....................................................................................85 

Sections 75- 90 .......................................................................................................................................87 

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council Tax Support ............................................................87 

75.0 Decisions by the authority ..........................................................................................................88 

76.0 Notification of decision ...............................................................................................................88 

77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax support......................................................................88 

78.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid .....................................................................................89 

79.0 Shortfall in support / reduction ..................................................................................................90 

80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled.............................................................................90 

81.0 Offsetting ....................................................................................................................................90 

82 – 90.0 Not used .................................................................................................................................90 

91.0 Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s 
Revenues and Customs (HMRC)..................................................................................................92 

92.0 Collection of information ............................................................................................................92 

93.0 Recording and holding information ............................................................................................92 

94.0 Forwarding and Checking of information ...................................................................................92 

95.0 Persons affected by Decisions.....................................................................................................94 

96.0 Revisions of Decisions .................................................................................................................94 

97.0 Written Statements.....................................................................................................................94 

98.0 Terminations ...............................................................................................................................94 

99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority .96 

100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A (1) (a) section 
13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act ............................................................................................................98 

Electronic Communication .....................................................................................................................99 

101.0 Interpretation............................................................................................................................100 

102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication................................................................100 

103.0 Use of intermediaries................................................................................................................100 

104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication.................................100 

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information ............................................................101 

106.0 Proof of delivery of information ...............................................................................................101 

106A.0Proof of content of information ...............................................................................................101 

Section 107...........................................................................................................................................102 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 4 Page 312

https://authority.96


        	

    

    

    

    

    

    

   

    

        

     

   

     

    

        

         

     

    

    

      

    

    

    

          

    

            

    

    

    

     
  

Counter Fraud and Compliance............................................................................................................102 

107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance ..................................................................................................103 

Schedule 1 ............................................................................................................................................104 

Applicable Amounts .............................................................................................................................104 

Personal Allowance ..............................................................................................................................105 

Family Premiums..................................................................................................................................105 

Premiums .............................................................................................................................................106 

Disability Premium ...............................................................................................................................106 

Additional Condition for the Disability Premiums................................................................................106 

Severe Disability Premiums..................................................................................................................107 

Enhanced Disability Premium...............................................................................................................107 

Disabled Child Premium .......................................................................................................................107 

Carer Premium .....................................................................................................................................107 

Persons in receipt of concessionary payments ....................................................................................107 

Persons in receipt of benefit for another.............................................................................................107 

Amounts of Premium ...........................................................................................................................107 

The components...................................................................................................................................108 

Transitional Addition ............................................................................................................................108 

Amount of transitional addition...........................................................................................................108 

Schedule 2 ............................................................................................................................................109 

Not Used...............................................................................................................................................109 

Schedule 3 ............................................................................................................................................110 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings ........................................................................110 

Schedule 4 ............................................................................................................................................116 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings..........................................116 

Schedule 5 ............................................................................................................................................127 

Capital to be disregarded .....................................................................................................................127 

Schedule 6 ............................................................................................................................................138 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme ............................................................................................................138 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 5 Page 313



        	

        
 

         
       

 
             

         
              

           
 

           
 

       
        

  
         
      

   
       

   
          

    
          

   
          

  
         
          

  
           

  
          

    
          

   
          

    
         

 

        
       

 
            

            
              

         
        
  

      
    

    
 

      
 

        
 

             

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

1.1 The following has been adopted by the Council and details the Council Tax Reduction scheme 
for the period from 1st April 2023. 

1.2 This document details how the scheme will operate for both pension credit age and working age 
applicants and in accordance with Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
specifies the classes of person who are to be entitled to a reduction under the scheme and is 
effective from 1st April 2023 for a period of one financial year. 

1.3 The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the 
following: 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2012; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Transitional Provision) (England) Regulations 2013; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 

Regulations 2013; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2013; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

(No. 2) Regulations 2014; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2018; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2020; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2021; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2022; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2023; and 
• Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 

2012). 

The scheme for pension age applicants – Central Government’s scheme as defined by the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

1.4 There are three main classes under the prescribed pension credit age scheme, for each of which 
there are a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed class 
exempted from reduction, such as a person subject to immigration control with limited leave to 
remain. The definition of a pension credit age person is a person who; 

a. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
b. is not, or, if he has a partner, his partner is not; 

i. a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or 

ii. a person with an award of universal credit 

The three prescribed classes are as follows; 

Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount. 

On any day Class A consists of any person who is a pensioner: 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 6 Page 314



        	

                       
                

           
           

                  
             

  
                

     
        
              

 
        

 
         

                       
                

         
           

                  
           

  
               

         
  

            
   

                
      

         
              

 
      

 
             

            
                

         
  

   
                  

            
               
       

 
          

           
                  

          
 

        
              

   
                  

          
                   

               
                 

a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 

c. who does not fall within a class of persons prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme; 

d. whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount calculated 
in accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

e. not have capital savings above £16,000; and 
f. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme. 

Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount. 

On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner: 
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 

c. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme; 

d. whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 to the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

e. in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where; 
(i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case; and   
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount; 

g. not have capital savings above £16,000; and 
h. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme. 

Class C: alternative maximum Council Tax Reduction 

On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner: 
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; 

c. in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 
d. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
e. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme; and 
f. in relation to whom the condition below is met. 

The condition referred to in sub-paragraph f. is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to 
pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum Council 
Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the income, or 
aggregate income, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies. 

The above applies to any other resident of the dwelling who: 
a. is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for 

the purposes of discount; 
b. is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section 

9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax); 
c. is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage 

where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and— 
(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 7 Page 315



        	

         
    
                
         

      
                 

          
  

                   
               

           
    

  
 

              
          

         
    
       
        

         
               

        
   
            

       
        

         
        

                
  
       
 

          
 

            
           

            
        

    
         
               

     
       

 
                

                
             

          
 

  
       

        
              

        

	
     

accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes 
of discount; or 
(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage are 
not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount; 

d. is not a person who, jointly with the applicant, falls within the same paragraph of section 
6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the 
applicant; or 

e. is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the 
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for 
the purposes of discount. 

Disregard of certain incomes 

1.5 For those who have reached the qualifying age for state pension credit, the Council has resolved 
to enhance the government scheme (as defined by the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 to disregard in full the following: 
a. a war disablement pension; 
b. a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
c. a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about pensions 
for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence of service 
as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

d. a guaranteed income payment; 
e. a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
f. a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to 

any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
g. pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made 

by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 

The provisions outlined above, enhance the Central Government’s scheme. 

THE SCHEME FOR WORKING AGE APPLICANTS – THE COUNCIL’S LOCAL SCHEME 

1.6 The adopted scheme for working age applicants is a means test, which compares income against 
an assessment of applicable amounts (unless otherwise stated). Full details of the working age 
scheme of the authority are contained within this document from section 2 onwards. The 
authority is required to specify a scheme for working age and therefore this scheme only applies 
to a person who; 
a. has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
b. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 

on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or on universal credit. 

1.7 The Council has resolved that there will be two classes of persons who will receive a reduction 
in line with adopted scheme. There will be two main classes prescribed for, for each of which 
there will be a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed 
class exempted from reduction as specified within section 7 of this scheme. 

Class D 
To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must: 
a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit1; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 

1 Section 5 of this scheme 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 8 Page 316



        	

         
  

           
  
            

       
           

 
       
           

          
      

       
     

              
 

  
       

        
              

        
         

  
            

      
           

         
 

  
            

       
           

 
       

           
         

     
      

            
   

              
     

           

  
 

         
      

	
      
        
         
        
      
     
      
        
         
        
      

income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit. 

c. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is solely or mainly resident; 
d. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 
e. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
f. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction2 amount can be 

calculated; 
g. not have capital savings above £16,0003; 
h. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income4 is less than their applicable amount5 or 
the applicant or partner is in receipt of income support, jobseekers allowance (income 
based) or employment and support allowance (income related); and 

i. has made a valid application for reduction6. 
Maximum Council Tax Reduction stated above is defined within section 57 of this scheme 

Class E 
To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must: 
a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit7; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit. 

c. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 
on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or in receipt of an award Universal Credit; 

d. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are solely or mainly 
resident; 

e. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 
f. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
g. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction8 amount can be 

calculated; 
h. not have capital savings above £16,0009; 
i. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income10 is more than their applicable amount11; 
j. have made a valid application for reduction12; 
k. be a person in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where 

(i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case; and   

(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount. 

Maximum Council Tax Reduction stated above is defined within section 57 of this scheme 

The Standard Deduction 

• The standard deduction shall apply to the council tax support calculated for all working age 
claimants. The percentage deduction can be found in Schedule 6. 

2 Sections 57 to 63 of this scheme 
3 Sections 33 to 42 and Schedule 5 of this scheme 
4 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme 
5 Sections 12 to 14 and Schedule 1 of this scheme 
6 Sections 68 to 74a of this scheme 
7 Section 5 of this scheme 
8 Sections 57 to 63 of this scheme 
9 Sections 33 to 42 and Schedule 5 of this scheme 
10 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme 
11 Sections 12 to 14 and Schedule 1 of this scheme 
12 Sections 68 to 74a of this scheme 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 9 Page 317



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

         
  

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Details of support to be given for working age claimants 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 10 Page 318



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

Sections 2- 8 

Definitions and interpretation 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 11 Page 319



        	

 

        
   

            
           
           
           
          

             
     
              

           
         

    
               

             
        

               
    

    
        
           

           
      

             
      

            
    

                
 

            
        

              
       

   
                    

   
                

                  
              

 
              

           
              

         
         

          
  

                
            

        
              

            
   
           

            
           

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme 
2.1 In this scheme– 

‘the Act’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
‘the Administration Act’ means the Social Security Administration Act 1992; 
‘the 1973 Act’ means of Employment and Training Act 1973; 
‘the 1992 Act’ means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
‘the 2000 Act’ means the Electronic Communications Act 2000; 
‘Abbeyfield Home’ means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies 
corporate or incorporate which are affiliated to that Society; 
‘adoption leave’ means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave 
by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
‘applicable amounts’ means the weekly amount set by the Council which represents basic day 
to day living expenses; 
‘appropriate DWP office’ means an office of the Department for Work and Pensions dealing 
with state pension credit or claim office which is normally open to the public for the receipt of 
claims for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
‘assessment period’ means such period as is prescribed in sections 19 to 21 over which income 
falls to be calculated; 
‘attendance allowance’ means– 
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the Act; 
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of the Act; 
(c) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) 

of Part 2 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
(d) an increase of an allowance which is payable in respect of constant attendance under 
paragraph 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
(e) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 
1983or any analogous payment; or 
(f) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement 
pension; 
‘the authority’ means a billing authority in relation to whose area this scheme has effect by 
virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act; 
‘Back to Work scheme(s)’ means any scheme defined within the Jobseekers (Back to Work 
Schemes) Act 2013 or Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting Persons to Obtain 
Employment) Regulations 2013; 
‘basic rate’, where it relates to the rate of tax, has the same meaning as in the Income Tax Act 
2007 (see section 989 of that Act). 
‘the benefit Acts’ means the Act and the, the Jobseekers Act and the Welfare Reform Act; 
‘care home’ in England and Wales has the meaning assigned to it by section 3 of the Care 
Standards Act 2000 and in Scotland means a care home service within the meaning assigned to 
it by section 2(3) of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001; 
‘the Caxton Foundation’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 
2011 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering 
from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions; 
‘child’ means a person under the age of 16; 
‘child benefit’ has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA as amended by The Child 
Benefit (General), Child Tax Credit (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and The Child Benefit 
(General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015; 
‘child tax credit’ means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act; 
‘the Children Order’ means the Children (Northern Ireland) Order 1995; 
‘claim’ means a claim for council tax support; 
‘claimant’ means a person who the authority designates as able to claim Council Tax Support – 
for the purposes of this scheme all references are in the masculine gender but apply equally to 
male and female 
‘close relative’ means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter- in-law, step-
parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one 
member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 12 Page 320



        	

            
           
            

         
         

   
             

                 
             
                 

     
           

               
            

           
         
             
       

  
        

 
         

       
               

   
              

     
           
           
            
             
       

                 
   

      
          

  
           

  
            

 
           

      
          

              
         
          

                
              

   
           

                
             

         
 

          
         

          

‘concessionary payment’ means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund 
or to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the 
benefit Acts or the Tax Credits Act are charged; 
‘the Consequential Provisions Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit and Council tax support 
(Consequential Provisions) Regulations 2006; 
‘contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance under Part 1 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and Part 1 of Schedule 
14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-related allowance 
and a contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as that Part has 
effect apart from those provisions; 
‘converted employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support allowance 
which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a conversion decision 
within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations; 
‘council tax benefit’ means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
‘council tax reduction scheme’ has the same meaning as ‘council tax support or reduction’ 
‘council tax support (or reduction) ’ means council tax reduction as defined by S13a Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended); 
‘couple’ means; 

a. a man and a woman who are married to each other and are members of the same 
household; 

b. a man and a woman who are not married to each other but are living together as if 
they were a married couple or civil partners; 

c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of 
the same household; or 

d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living 
together as if they were civil partners, 
and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) Two people of the same sex are to be 
treated as living together as if they were civil partners if, and only if, they would be 
treated as living together as husband and wife were they of opposite sexes. The above 
includes the Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 and The Marriage (Same Sex 
Couples) Act 2013 (Commencement No. 3) Order 2014; 

‘date of claim’ means the date on which the claim is made, or treated as made, for the purposes 
of this scheme 
‘designated authority’ means any of the following; 
the local authority; or a person providing services to, or authorised to exercise any function of, 
any such authority; 
‘designated office’ means the office designated by the authority for the receipt of claims for 
council tax support; 
(a) by notice upon or with a form approved by it for the purpose of claiming council tax support; 

or 
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and sent 

by electronic means or otherwise on application; or 
(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above; 
‘disability living allowance’ means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 
‘dwelling’ has the same meaning in section 3 or 72 of the 1992 Act; 
‘earnings’ has the meaning prescribed in section 25 or, as the case may be, 27; 
‘the Eileen Trust’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out 
of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in 
accordance with its provisions; 
‘electronic communication’ has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the 2000 Act; 
‘employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the Act and also 
includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity 
pay; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance Regulations’ means the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 and the Employment and Support Regulations 2013 as appropriate; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations’ means the Employment 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 13 Page 321



        	

        
    

            
          

          
         

         
         

           
           

              
        

              
      

              
             

 
                

  
            

   
            

 
        

        
         

                
          

            
              
        

       
            

          
           

        
             

         
       

          
   

               
       

               
            

       
                

      
       

  
              

       
           

     
 

       
            
         

and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) 
(Existing Awards) Regulations 2010; 
‘the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme’ means a scheme under section 17A (schemes 
for assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the 
Secretary of State that is designed to assist applicants to obtain employment, including self-
employment, and which may include for any individual work-related activity (including work 
experience or job search). This also includes schemes covered by The Jobseekers Allowance 
(Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme) Regulations 2011 as amended by the Jobseekers 
(Back to Work Schemes) Act 2013 – see ‘Back to Work Schemes’; 
‘employment zone’ means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 
60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and 2014 and an ‘employment zone 
programme’ means a programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist 
applicants for a jobseeker’s allowance to obtain sustainable employment; 
‘employment zone contractor’ means a person who is undertaking the provision of facilities in 
respect of an employment zone programme on behalf of the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions; 
‘enactment’ includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of the 
Scottish Parliament; 
‘extended payment (or reduction)’ means a payment of council tax support payable pursuant 
to section 60; 
‘extended payment (or reduction) period’ means the period for which an extended reduction 
is payable in accordance with section 60A or 61A of this scheme; 
‘extended payment or extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)’ means a 
payment of council tax support payable pursuant to section 61; 
‘family’ has the meaning assigned to it by section 137(1) of the Act; 
‘the Fund’ means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the 
benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme 
established by him on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992; 
‘a guaranteed income payment’ means a payment made under article 14(1)(b) or article 21(1)(a) 
of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005(b); 
‘he, him, his’ also refers to the feminine within this scheme 
‘housing benefit’ means housing benefit under Part 7 of the Act; 
‘the Housing Benefit Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006; 
‘Immigration and Asylum Act’ means the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; 
‘an income-based jobseeker’s allowance’ and ‘a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance’ have the 
same meaning as they have in the Jobseekers Act by virtue of section 1(4) of that Act; 
‘income-related employment and support allowance’ means an income-related allowance 
under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act; 
‘Income Support Regulations’ means the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987(a); 
‘independent hospital’– 

(a) in England, means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 
(b) in Wales, has the meaning assigned to it by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
(c) in Scotland, means an independent health care service as defined in section 2(5)(a) and (b) 
of the Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001; 

‘the Independent Living Fund (2006)’ means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 
10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one part 
and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the 
other part; 
‘invalid carriage or other vehicle’ means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric 
power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 
‘Jobseekers Act’ means the Jobseekers Act 1995; ‘Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations’ means the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 2013 as 
appropriate; 
‘the LET’ means the London Emergencies Trust; 
‘limited capability for work’ has the meaning given in section 1(4) of the Welfare Reform Act; 
‘limited capability for work-related activity’ has the meaning given in section 2(5) of the 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 14 Page 322



        	

   
           

             
          

           
  

                  
       
             

           
   

             
         

    
              

            
    
           

            
          

             
          

           
         

         
   

               
          

                
  

            
             

         
                 

      
              

                
               

     
             
              

           
          

   
               

          
     

     
              

           
         

    
             

 
   
                  
           

     

Welfare Reform Act; 
‘the London Bombing Relief Charitable Fund’ means the company limited by guarantee 
(number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the 
purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of victims 
(including families or dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 7th 
July 2005; 
‘lone parent’ means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of 
the same household as a child or young person; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 29th 
January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No.2) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 
3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 
‘the Macfarlane Trust’ means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by 
the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among 
those suffering from haemophilia; 
‘main phase employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support 
allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the claimant includes a 
component under section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme’ means a scheme within section 17A (schemes for 
assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the Jobseekers 
Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State that is designed to provide work or work related activity for up to 30 hours per week 
over a period of four consecutive weeks with a view to assisting claimants to improve their 
prospect of obtaining employment; 
‘maternity leave’ means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is 
pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work 
either under the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights 
Act 1996; 
‘member of a couple’ means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
‘MFET Limited’ means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 
established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements 
made with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by 
the NHS with blood or blood products; 
‘mobility supplement’ means a supplement to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 refers; 
‘mover’ means a claimant who changes the dwelling in which the claimant is resident and in 
respect of which the claimant liable to pay council tax from a dwelling in the area of the 
appropriate authority to a dwelling in the area of the second authority; 
‘net earnings’ means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with section 26; 
‘net profit’ means such profit as is calculated in accordance with section 28; 
‘the New Deal options’ means the employment programmes specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) 
of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations and the training scheme specified in regulation 
75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
‘new dwelling’ means, for the purposes of the definition of ‘second authority’ and sections 60C, 
61C, 96 and 97, the dwelling to which a claimant has moved, or is about to move, in which the 
claimant is or will be resident; 
‘non-dependant’ has the meaning prescribed in section 3; 
‘non-dependant deduction’ means a deduction that is to be made under section 58; 
‘occupational pension’ means any pension or other periodical payment under an occupational 
pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a fund established for 
relieving hardship in particular cases; 
‘ordinary clothing or footwear’ means clothing or footwear for normal daily use, but does not 
include school uniforms, or clothing or footwear used solely for sporting activities; 
‘partner’ means– 
(a) where a claimant is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; or 
(b) where a claimant is polygamously married to two or more members of his household, 

any such member to whom he is married; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 15 Page 323



        	

                 
      

    
              

             
  

       
         

             
             

    
             

          
     
    

          
    

         
      

              
        

          
    

         
               

       
                 

  
              

              
 

               
    

       
                  
    

   
    
   

     
     

   
   
    

              
          

        
              

 
             
          
                 
  
      

               
          

	
        

‘paternity leave’ means a period of absence from work on leave by virtue of section 80A or 80B 
of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
‘payment’ includes part of a payment; 
‘pension fund holder’ means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational 
pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the 
scheme concerned; 
‘pensioner’ a person who has attained the age at which pension credit can be claimed; 
‘pensionable age’ has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the 
Pensions Act 1995 as amended by the Public Services Pension Act 2013 and Pensions Act 2014; 
‘person affected’ shall be construed as a person to whom the authority decides is affected by 
any decision on for council tax support 
‘person on income support’ means a person in receipt of income support; 
‘personal independence payment’ has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012 and the Social Security (Personal Independence Payments) 2013; 
’personal pension scheme’ means– 
a. a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 as 

amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013; 
b. an annuity contractor trust scheme approved under section 20 or 21of the Income and 

Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) 
or that Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of 
paragraph 1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004; 

c. a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme 
by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 200413;; 

‘policy of life insurance’ means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on 
death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on human 
life, or any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums for a term 
dependent on human life; 
‘polygamous marriage’ means a marriage to which section 133(1) of the Act refers; 
’public authority’ includes any person certain of whose functions are functions of a public 
nature; 
‘qualifying age for state pension credit’ means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of the 
State Pension Credit Act)– 
(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the 
same day as the man; 
’qualifying contributory benefit’ means; 
(a) severe disablement allowance; 
(b) incapacity benefit; 
(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
‘qualifying income-related benefit’ means 
(a) income support; 
(b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(c) income-related employment and support allowance; 
‘qualifying person’ means a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, 
the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation,the London Bombings 
Relief Charitable Fund, the WLMEF or the LET. 
‘reduction or support week’ means a period of 7 consecutive days commencing upon a Monday 
and ending on a Sunday; 
‘relative’ means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece; 
‘relevant authority’ means an authority administering council tax support; 
relevant week’ In relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in 
question falls; 
‘remunerative work’ has the meaning prescribed in section 6; 
‘rent’ means ‘eligible rent’ to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit Regulations refers less 
any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under regulation 74 (non-

13 As amended by the Finance Act 2014 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 16 Page 324



        	

     
           

                         
         

                  
        

                 
 

    
         

   
     
          

            
         

     
        

    
   

              
  

         
            

           
  

       
        

           
                 

      
               

      
         

          
                 

       
  

              
             

            
    

            
           

              
 

            
                    
   

             
 

             
         

           
             
               

             
        

dependant deductions) of those Regulations; 
‘resident’ has the meaning it has in Part 1 or 2 of the 1992 Act; 
‘Scottish basic rate’ means the rate of income tax of that name calculated in accordance 
with section 6A of the Income Tax Act 2007; 
‘Scottish taxpayer’ has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998 
‘second adult’ has the meaning given to it in Schedule 2; 
’second authority’ means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the new 
dwelling; 
‘self-employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the Act; 
‘self-employment route’ means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment 
whilst participating in– 
a. an employment zone programme; 
b. a programme provided or other arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act 

(functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) 
Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.); 

c. the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme; 
d. a scheme prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 

Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013; 
e. Back to Work scheme. 

‘Service User’ references in this scheme to an applicant participating as a service user are 
to 

a. a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 
(i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in 
the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973; or 
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving such functions in their capacity as a person affected or potentially 
affected by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or 

b. the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) where the carer is not 
being consulted as described in that sub-paragraph 

‘single claimant’ means a claimant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent; 
‘the Skipton Fund’ means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund 
Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from 
hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions. 
’special account’ means an account as defined for the purposes of Chapter 4A of Part 8 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or Chapter 5 of Part 10 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations; 
‘sports award’ means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of 
the National Lottery etc Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section; 
‘State Pension Credit Act’ means the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
‘student’ has the meaning prescribed in section 43; 
‘subsistence allowance’ means an allowance which an employment zone contractor has agreed 
to pay to a person who is participating in an employment zone programme; 
‘support or reduction week’ means a period of 7 consecutive days commencing upon a Monday 
and ending on a Sunday; 
‘the Tax Credits Act’ means the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April in 
the next; 
‘training allowance’ means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise) 
payable– 
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, the Young 
People’s Learning Agency for England, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or Welsh Ministers; 
(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or 
instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, the department or 
approved by the department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf of 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 17 Page 325



        	

        
           

            
        

   
             

      
          

           
      

        
   

          
        

                
        

              
         

   
               

 
  

         
      

                
         

            
  

              
     

            
              

          
          

         
           

        
 

  
                  

        
 

            
               

 
 

             
       

 
              

         
         

         
 

                    

	
               

 

the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers, but it does not include an allowance paid by any Government 
department to or in respect of a person by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-
time education, other than under arrangements made under section 2 of the 1973 Actor is 
training as a teacher; 
‘the Trusts’ means the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust; 
‘Universal Credit’ means any payment of Universal Credit payable under the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012, the Universal Credit Regulations 2013, The Universal Credit (Consequential, 
Supplementary, Incidental and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2013, Universal Credit 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 and the Universal Credit (Transitional 
Provisions) Regulations 2014; 
‘Uprating Act’ means the Welfare Benefit Up-rating Act 2013, the Welfare Benefits Up-rating 
Order 2014 and the Welfare Benefits Up-rating Order 2015; 
‘voluntary organisation’ means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of 
which are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
’war disablement pension’ means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect of 
disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003; 
‘war pension’ means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a war widower’s 
pension; 
‘war widow’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under 
an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in 
respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘war widower’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to 
a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘water charges’ means; 
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 
of the Water Industry Act 1991, 
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under 
a charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far 
as such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home; 
’Welfare Reform Act’ means the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘the WLMEF’ means the ‘We Love Manchester Emergency Fund’; 
‘Working Tax Credit Regulations’ means the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum 
Rate) Regulations 2002 as amended14; and ‘young person’ has the meaning prescribed in section 
9(1). 

2.2 In this scheme, references to a claimant occupying a dwelling or premises as his home shall be 
construed in accordance with regulation 7 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006. 

2.3 In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny 
shall be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and shall otherwise be treated as a whole 
penny. 

2.4 For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance on any 
day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him and on any 
day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- based 

jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with regulation 
27A of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made 
under section 17A of the Jobseekers Act (circumstances in which a jobseeker’s allowance 
is not payable); or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and which 

14 The Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2013; The Working Tax Credit 
(Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 18 Page 326



        	

           
             

       
     

                 
        

          
      

           
         

       
 

          
       

 
               

       
          

                    
            

            
 

 
             

        
 

                 
                 

       
 

   
 

          
       

 
    

       
                 

                  
           

      
              

               
    

             
             

 
            

               
        

 
           

      
         

   
       
        

falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- based jobseeker’s 
allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for regulation 27A of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under 
section 17A of that Act; 

(c) in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is payable in respect of that 
couple as a consequence of either member of that couple being subject to sanctions for 
the purposes of section 20A of that Act; 

(d) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or a joint-claim jobseeker’s 
allowance would be payable but for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 
9 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

2.4A For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment and support 
allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support allowance 
is payable to him and on any day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- related 

employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance 
with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act disqualification; or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act and which 
falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- related employment and 
support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 of that 
Act. 

2.5 For the purposes of this scheme, two persons shall be taken to be estranged only if their 
estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 

2.6 In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person who 
would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 

3.0 Definition of non-dependant 

3.1 In this scheme, ‘non-dependant’ means any person, except someone to whom paragraph 3.2 
applies, who normally resides with a claimant or with whom a claimant normally resides. 

3.2 This paragraph applies to; 
a. any member of the claimant’s family; 
b. if the claimant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child or young person 

who is a member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible; 
c. a child or young person who is living with the claimant but who is not a member of his 

household by virtue of section 11(membership of the same household); 
d. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who, with the claimant, is jointly and severally liable 

to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under sections 6, 7 or 75 of the 
1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 

e. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial 
basis to the claimant or the claimant’s partner in respect of the occupation of the 
dwelling; 

f. a person who lives with the claimant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who 
is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the claimant 
or his partner for the services provided by that person. 

3.3 Excepting persons to whom paragraph 3.2 a) to c) and f) refer, a person to whom any of the 
following sub-paragraphs applies shall be a non-dependant– 
a. a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect 

of the dwelling and either; 
i. that person is a close relative of his or her partner; or 

ii. the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 19 Page 327



        	

  
         

         
            

             
        

 
        

             
             

           
      

 
      

 
                 

                
  

 
    

       
          

         
           

    
         

           
 

     
  
     

   
             

 
                  
    

        
     

            
               
       

      
     

    
 

   
 

              
          
               

         
 

              
                
 

	
  

commercial basis; 
b. a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 

authority to have been created to take advantage of the council tax support scheme 
except someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of 
the agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to make 
payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling; 

c. a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the claimant for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to 
his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that 
dwelling who are so liable for the tax, unless the authority is satisfied that the change 
giving rise to the new liability was not made to take advantage of the support scheme. 

4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number15 

4.1 No person whose shall be entitled to support unless the criteria below in 4.2 is satisfied in 
relation both to the person making the claim and to any other person in respect of whom he is 
claiming support. 

4.2 This subsection is satisfied in relation to a person if– 
a. the claim for support is accompanied by; 

i. a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence 
establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 

ii. information or evidence enabling the national insurance number that has been 
allocated to the person to be ascertained; or 

b. the person makes an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him 
which is accompanied by information or evidence enabling such a number to be so allocated 

4.3 Paragraph 4.2 shall not apply– 
a. in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom council tax support is claimed; 
b. to a person who; 

i. is a person in respect of whom a claim for council tax support is made; 
ii. is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act; 
iii. is a person from abroad for the purposes of this scheme as defined in section 2.2; and 
iv. has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit 
5.1 This scheme applies to a person if: 

(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a 

partner, his partner, is; 
(a) a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 

income-related employment and support allowance; or 
(b) a person with an award of universal credit. 

6.0 Remunerative work 

6.1 Subject to the following provisions of this section, a person shall be treated for the purposes of 
this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his hours of work 
fluctuate, he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which 
payment is made or which is done in expectation of payment. 

6.2 Subject to paragraph 6.3, in determining the number of hours for which a person is engaged in 
work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard shall be had to the average of hours worked 
over; 

15 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 20 Page 328



        	

                
               

  
                   

            
     

 
                

             
            

          
                

 
                 

               
   

 
                 

                  
      

 
          

                
     

 
                  

             
 

                  
       

          
          

 
              

 
       

 
                 

          
   

 
               

               
 

 
              

                  
    

 
               

      
        
              

     
         

      
       

  

a. if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle (including, 
where the cycle involves periods in which the person does no work, those periods but 
disregarding any other absences); 

b. in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to that date of claim, or such 
other length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the person’s weekly average 
hours of work to be determined more accurately, 

6.3 Where, for the purposes of paragraph 6.2 a), a person’s recognisable cycle of work at a school, 
other educational establishment or other place of employment is one year and includes periods 
of school holidays or similar vacations during which he does not work, those periods and any 
other periods not forming part of such holidays or vacations during which he is not required to 
work shall be disregarded in establishing the average hours for which he is engaged in work. 

6.4 Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person’s work, regard shall be 
had to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the average of the hours, which 
he is expected to work in a week. 

6.5 A person shall be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for which he is 
absent from work referred to in paragraph 6.1 if the absence is either without good cause or by 
reason of a recognised customary or other holiday. 

6.6 A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any reduction week shall be treated 
as not being in remunerative work in that week. 

6.7 A person shall not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which the person 
is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave, or is absent from work because he is ill. 

6.8 A person shall not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which he is 
engaged in an activity in respect of which; 
a. a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
b. no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 

7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control 

Persons treated as not being in Great Britain 

7.1 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain are a class of person prescribed for the purposes 
of paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

7.2 Except where a person falls within paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as not being 
in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland. 

7.3 A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in one 
of those places. 

7.4 For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right, which exists by 
virtue of, or in accordance with— 
(a) regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations; 
(aa) regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under 

that regulation because the person is— 
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 

regulation 6(1) of those Regulations, or 
(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those Regulations) 

of such a jobseeker; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 21 Page 329



        	

             
          

              
              

        
 

                
        
       

         
  

               
        

        
            

               
 

 
           

           
   

                 
               

  
 

 
           

           
   

    
        

        
        

             
                  
  

        
      

     
                 
            

       
                

         
      

        
            

 
      
           

      
              

      
 

      

	
          

 

(b) regulation 15A(1) of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists 
under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph (5) of 
that regulation of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (in a case 
where the right to reside arises because a British citizen would otherwise be deprived 
of the genuine enjoyment of their rights as a European Union citizen). 

7.4A For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists by 
virtue of a person having been granted limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom 
under the Immigration Act 1971 by virtue of— 
(a) (Removed by the Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 
(b) Appendix EU to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; 
(c) being a person with a Zambrano right to reside as defined in Annex 1 of Appendix EU 

to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; or 
(d) having arrived in the United Kingdom with an entry clearance that was granted under 

Appendix EU (Family Permit) to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that 
Act. 

7.4B Paragraph (4A)(b) does not apply to a person who— 
(a) has a right to reside granted by virtue of being a family member of a relevant person of 

Northern Ireland; and 
(b) would have a right to reside under the EEA Regulations if the relevant person of Northern 

Ireland were an EEA national, provided that the right to reside does not fall within 
paragraph (4)(a) or (b) 

7.5 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is— 
(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a worker 

or a self-employed person; 
(b) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a); 
(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 

regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 
(ca) a family member of a relevant person of Northern Ireland, with a right to reside which 

falls within paragraph (4A)(b), provided that the relevant person of Northern Ireland 
falls within paragraph (5)(a), or would do so but for the fact that they are not an EEA 
national; 

(cb) a frontier worker within the meaning of regulation 3 of the Citizens’ Rights (Frontier 
Workers) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020; 

(cc) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (cb), who has been granted 
limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom by virtue of Appendix EU to 
the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971 

(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 
Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th 
July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of 
Refugees done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave 
outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 197116 where that 
leave is— 
(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, 
(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession which 

came into effect on 1st April 2012, or 
(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the 

Displaced Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005. 

(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules; 

16 As amended by the Immigration Act 2014 and the Immigration Act 2014 (Commencement No. 2) Order 2014 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 22 Page 330



        	

       
      

              
 

           
  

              
        

 
                 

     
 

          
             

              
   

 
   

          
   

        
        
         
               
        
     
            
            
             
    
               
   

        
 

     
 

              
         

  
                 

               
       
          

  
 

             
 

   

              

                    
          

                

 

    

                        

(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 
section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of 
law from another country to the United Kingdom; 

(h) in receipt of income support or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance; or 

(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside 
other than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4). 

7.6 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of Her 
Majesty’s forces posted overseas. 

7.7 A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing 
overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces and was, 
immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in the 
United Kingdom. 

7.8 In this regulation— 
“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and Asylum 
Act 1999; 
“Crown servant” means a person holding an office or employment under the Crown; 
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; and 
the Immigration (European Economic Area) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2014 and 
references to the EEA Regulations are to be read with Schedule 4 to the Immigration and Social 
Security Co-ordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 2020 (Consequential, Saving, Transitional and 
Transitory Provisions) Regulations 2020 
“EEA national” has the meaning given in regulation 2(1) of the EEA Regulations; 
“family member” has the meaning given in regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations, 
except that regulation 7(4) of the EEA Regulations does not apply for the purposes of 
paragraphs (4B) and (5)(ca); 
“relevant person of Northern Ireland” has the meaning given in Annex 1 of Appendix EU to the 
immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971; and 
“Her Majesty’s forces” has the same meaning as in the Armed Forces Act 2006. 

Persons subject to immigration control 

7.9 Persons subject to immigration control are a class of person prescribed for the purposes of 
paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

7.10 A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European Convention on Social and 
Medical Assistance (done in Paris on 11th December 1953) or a state which has ratified the 
Council of Europe Social Charter (signed in Turin on 18th October 1961) and who is lawfully 
present in the United Kingdom is not a person subject to immigration control for the purpose 
of paragraph 7.9 

7.11 “Person subject to immigration control” has the same meaning as in section 115(9) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

7A.0 Transitional provision 

7A.1 The above does not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2015— 

(a) is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax reduction under an 
authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Act; and 

(b) is entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, until the first of the events in paragraph 

7A.2 occurs. 

7A.2 The events are— 

(a) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 23 Page 331



        	

        

           
 

            

    
 

                 
 

                  
      

 
   

        
              
  

      
           
            

   
           
           

 
          

        
        
           
       

              
          
        
           
       
           

      

                 
            

          
      

          
             
    

       

                 
           

             
          

      

          
             
    

           

established under section 13A(2) of the Act; or 

(b) the person ceases to be entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 

7A.3 In this section “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) 

8.1 Where a person is absent from the dwelling throughout any day then no support shall be payable 

8.2 A person shall not, in relation to any day, which falls within a period of temporary absence from 
that dwelling, be a prescribed person under paragraph 8.1. 

8.3 In paragraph 8.2, a ‘period of temporary absence’ means– 
a. a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first 

whole day on which a person resides in residential accommodation in Great Britain where 
and for so long as; 

i. the person resides in that accommodation; 
ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 

iii. that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the 
dwelling of more than 52 weeks, 

where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it suits his 
needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his needs; 

b. a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence 
from the dwelling, where and for so long as; 

i. the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 

iii. that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and 
c. a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first 

whole day of absence, where and for so long as 
i. the person intends to return to the dwelling; 

ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
iii. the person is a person to whom paragraph 8.4 applies; and 
iv. the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional 

circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 

8.3A A person who is temporarily absent from a dwelling he occupies as his home and is absent 
outside Great Britain shall be treated as occupying that dwelling as his home whilst he is 
temporarily absent, for a period not exceeding 4 weeks beginning with the first day of that 
absence from Great Britain, provided that— 

(a) the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home; 
(b) the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the case 
may be, sub-let; and 
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks. 

8.3B A person who is temporarily absent from a dwelling he occupies as his home and is absent 
outside of Great Britain as a member of the armed forces away on operations, a mariner or a 
continental shelf worker shall be treated as occupying that dwelling as his home whilst he is 
temporarily absent, for a period not exceeding 26 weeks beginning with the first day of that 
absence from Great Britain, provided that— 

(a) the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home; 
(b) the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the case 
may be, sub-let; and 
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 24 Page 332



        	

      

      
              

              
     
         
        

  

           
             

    

         
            

 

            
         

  

 
    

 
        

   
              

   
           
            

        
   

        
      
           

       
      

            
   

  
        

   
            

             
 

    
     

         
             

          
         

    
        

           
 

8.3C This paragraph applies where— 

(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) the temporary absence from Great Britain is in connection with the death of the— 

(i) person’s partner or a child or young person for whom he or his partner is responsible; 
(ii) person’s close relative; 
(iii) close relative of the person’s partner; or 
(iv) close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or their partner is 
responsible; 

(c) the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home; and 
(d) the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the 

case may be, sub-let. 

8.3D person to whom paragraph (8.3C) applies shall be treated as occupying a dwelling he is 
absent from as his home whilst he is temporarily absent for a period not exceeding 4 weeks 
beginning with the first day of that absence from Great Britain. 

8.3E The period of absence in paragraph (8.3D) may be extended by up to 4 further weeks if the 
relevant authority considers it unreasonable to expect the person to return to Great Britain 
within the first 4 weeks 

8.4 This paragraph applies to a person who is; 

a. detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, to reside; 
i. in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in paragraph 8.1, or 

ii. in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007, or, 
detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction; 

b. resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 
c. undergoing, or his partner or his dependent child is undergoing, in Great Britain or 

elsewhere, medical treatment, or medically approved convalescence, in accommodation 
other than residential accommodation; 

d. following, in Great Britain or elsewhere, a training course; 
e. undertaking medically approved care of a person residing in Great Britain or elsewhere; 
f. undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from the 

dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving 
medically approved care of medical treatment; 

g. in Great Britain, receiving medically approved care provided in accommodation other 
than residential accommodation; 

h. a student; 
i. receiving care provided in residential accommodation other than a person to whom 

paragraph 8.3a) applies; or 
j. has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a person 

who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned. 

8.5 This paragraph applies to a person who is: 
a. detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by 

a court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the 
Mental Health Act 1983 (as amended by the Mental Health (Discrimination) Act 2013), 
or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) 
(Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995) or, in Northern 
Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986; and 

b. on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the 
provisions of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 25 Page 333



        	

                  
              

               
            

               
       

    
 

  
        
          

      
      

               
 

              
   

        
                  

  

        
        

            
            

              
        

   
   
   
  
             

        

         
             
             
                

       
               

             
       

     
 

 

 

 
  

8.6 Where paragraph 8.5 applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary release– 
a. if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence 

under paragraph 8.3 b) or c), he shall be treated, for the purposes of paragraph 8.1, as if 
he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling; 

b. for the purposes of paragraph 8.4 a), he shall be treated as if he remains in detention; 
c. If he does not fall within sub-paragraph a), he is not considered to be a person who is 

liable to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is resident 

8.7 In this section; 
• ‘medically approved’ means certified by a medical practitioner; 
• ‘continental shelf worker’ means a person who is employed, whether under a contract 

of service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any 
activity mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998 

• ‘designated area’ means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order 
in Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the 
United Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may 
be exercised; 

“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master or 
member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or 
vessel, where: 

a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its 
crew or any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and 

b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its 
performance (in whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage 

• ‘patient’ means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in- patient 
in any hospital or similar institution; ‘residential accommodation’ means accommodation 
which is provided; 
a. in a care home; 
b. in an independent hospital; 
c. in an Abbeyfield Home; or 
d. in an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter 

or constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority; 

• prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the 
United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and 
subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of 
Norway or such member State or any other area which is from time to time specified 
under section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998 

• ‘training course’ means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or on 
behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, Skills 
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government 
department or the Secretary of State. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 26 Page 334



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   
 

Sections 9 - 11 

The family for Council Tax Support purposes 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 27 Page 335



        	

     

 
          

   
                

 
                

     
                

        
             

              
 

                
         

        
 
            

                   
        

         
       

         
         

 
           

           
           

         
        

  
 

                
     
       

        
        

 
           

       
 

              
   

 
              

      
 

 
               

              
        

         
  

                 
     

  
 

9.0 Membership of a family 

9.1 Within the support scheme adopted by the Council ‘family’ means; 
a. a married or unmarried couple; 
b. married or unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them 

is or both are responsible and who is a child or a young person; 
c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 

same household (with or without children); 
d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 

as if they were civil partners (with or without children), 
e. and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) two people of the same sex are to be regarded 

as living together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as 
living together as husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex; 

f. except in prescribed circumstances, a person who is not a member of a married or 
unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom that person is 
responsible and who is a child or a young person; 

For the purposes of the scheme a child is further defined as a ‘child or young person’ 
A ‘child’ means a person under the age of 16 and a ‘Young Person’ is someone aged 16 or over 
but under 20 and who satisfies other conditions. These conditions are: 

• they are aged 16, have left 'relevant education' or training, and 31 August following 
the sixteenth birthday has not yet been passed; 

• they are aged 16 or 17, have left education or training, are registered for work, 
education or training, are not in remunerative work and are still within their 
'extension period'; 

• they are on a course of full-time non-advanced education, or are doing 'approved 
training', and they began that education or training before reaching the age of 19; 

• they have finished a course of full-time non-advanced education, but are enrolled on 
another such course (other than one provided as a result of their employment); 

• they have left 'relevant education' or 'approved training' but have not yet passed 
their 'terminal date'. 

9.2 Paragraph 9.1 the definition of child or young person shall not apply to a person who is; 
a. on income support ; 
b. an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income related employment and support 

allowance; or be entitled to an award of Universal Credit; or 
c. a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 applies. 

9.3 The definition also includes a child or young person in respect of whom there is an entitlement 
to child benefit but only for the period that Child Benefit is payable. 

. 
10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 

or young person. 

10.1 Subject to the following paragraphs a person shall be treated as responsible for a child or young 
person who is normally living with him and this includes a child or young person to whom 
paragraph 9.3 applies 

10.2 Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where 
there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person shall be 
treated for the purposes of paragraph 9.1 as normally living with; 
a. the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of him; or 
b. if there is no such person; 

i. where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the person 
who made that claim; or 

ii. in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 28 Page 336



        	

               
       

        
 

              
   

 
               

         
            

         
          

   
 

                  
 

           
         

          
            
         

       
 

                 
 

                   
  

         
  

       
     

        
  

 
                   

          
         

 
            

       
 

                
             

         
       

              
            

      
 
 
 
 
 
 

	
       
	

10.3 For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person shall be the responsibility of only one 
person in any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the 
child or young person under this section shall be treated as not so responsible. 

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a member 
of the household 

11.1 Subject to paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3, the claimant and any partner and, where the claimant or 
his partner is treated as responsible by virtue of section 10 (circumstances in which a person is 
to be treated as responsible or not responsible for a child or young person) for a child or young 
person, that child or young person and any child of that child or young person, shall be treated 
as members of the same household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent 
from that household. 

11.2 A child or young person shall not be treated as a member of the claimant’s household where he 
is– 
a. placed with the claimant or his partner by a local authority under section 23(2)(a) of the 

Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or in 
Scotland boarded out with the claimant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or 

b. placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the claimant or his partner prior to adoption; or 
c. placed for adoption with the claimant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption and 

Children Act 200217 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 

11.3 Subject to paragraph 11.4, paragraph 11.1 shall not apply to a child or young person who is not 
living with the claimant and he– 

a. is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant 
enactment; or 

b. has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the claimant prior 
to adoption; or 

c. has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or 
the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009; or in accordance with an adoption 
allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 
2007 (adoption allowances schemes). 

11.4 An authority shall treat a child or young person to whom paragraph 11.3 a) applies as being a 
member of the claimant’s household in any reduction week where; 
a. that child or young person lives with the claimant for part or all of that reduction week; 

and 
b. the authority considers that it is responsible to do so taking into account the nature and 

frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits. 

11.5 In this paragraph ‘relevant enactment’ means the Army Act 1955, the Air Force Act 1955, the 
Naval Discipline Act 1957, the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958, the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968, the Family Law Reform Act 1969, the Children and Young Persons Act 1969, 
the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, the Children Act 1975, the Domestic Proceedings and 
Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978, the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 1978, the Family Law 
Act 1986, the Children Act 1989 and the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and the Legal Aid, 
Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 

17 The Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Commencement No. 12) Order 2014 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 29 Page 337



        	

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

   
 
  

Sections 12 – 14 & Schedule 1 

Applicable Amounts for Council Tax Support purposes 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 30 Page 338



        	

               
        

              
             

    
        

         
     

      
           

               
      

                
  

              
 

        
     

    
   

        
 

         
         

            
             

    
     
       

     
              

            

   
 

             
            

 
            

            
            

    
        

              
         

                      
      

           
               

     
               
      
           

 
         

     
    

12.1 Subject to sections 13 and 14, an applicant’s weekly applicable amount shall be aggregate of 
such of the following amounts as may apply in his case: 
a. an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount in respect 

of both of them, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 as the case may be, of 
Schedule 1 of this scheme; 

b. an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of this scheme in 
respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family; 

c. if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an 
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 1 (family premium). No 
family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on or 
after 1st May 2016 or where the applicant would have become entitled to the family 
premium on or after 1st May 2016. 
i) Sub paragraph (c) shall not apply to a person who, on 30th April 2016, is entitled to 
Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member 
of the same household. 

(ii)  (i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 12.1 c (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction. 

d. (iii) For the purpose of this section “child”, “polygamous marriage” and “young 
person” have the same meaning as in section 2 of this scheme; 

e. the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance 
with paragraphs 4 to 16 of Schedule 1 of this document (premiums). 

f. the amount of either the 
i. work-related activity component; or 

ii. support component which may be applicable to him in accordance with paragraph 
17 and 18 of Schedule 1 of this document(the components) 

g. the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance 
with paragraph 19 to 20 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (transitional addition). 

13.0 Polygamous marriages 

13.1 Subject to section 14, where an applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage, his weekly 
applicable amount shall be the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his 
case: 
a. the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance with 

paragraph 1of Schedule 1 of this scheme as if he and that partner were a couple; 
b. an amount equal to the amount within paragraph 1 (3) (c) of Schedule 1 of this scheme in 

respect of each of his other partners; 
c. an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of this scheme 

(applicable amounts) in respect of any child or young person for whom he or a partner of 
his is responsible and who is a member of the same household; 

d. if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an 
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 1 (family premium). No 
family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on or after 
1st May 2016 or where the applicant would have become entitled to the family premium 
on or after 1st May 2016. 

i) Sub paragraph (d) shall not apply to a person who, on 30th April 2016, is entitled 
to Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member 
of the same household. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 31 Page 339



        	

    
        

 
        

          
              

       
    

    
            

  
             

          
 

           
   

     

      

        

            
              

        

           
  

             
              

  

(i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 13.1 d (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction. 
(ii) For the purpose of this section “child”, “polygamous marriage” and “young 
person” have the same meaning as in section 2 of this scheme; 

e. the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined in accordance with 
paragraphs 4 to 16 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (premiums). 

f. the amount of either the; 
i.work-related activity component; or 

ii.support component which may be applicable to him in accordance with paragraph 17 and 
18 of Schedule 1 (the components). 

g. the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in 
accordance with paragraphs 19 and 20 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (transitional 
addition) 

14.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit 
14.1 In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant 

(a) who has, or 

(b) whose partner has, or 

(c) who (jointly with his partner) has, 

an award of universal credit, the authority will use the calculation or estimate of the maximum 
amount of the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as 
the case may be), subject to the adjustment described in sub-paragraph (2). 

14.2 (2) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum amount by 
12 and divide the product by 52. 

14.3 In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the 
Secretary of State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 32 Page 340



        	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

           

Sections 15 – 32 & Schedules 3 & 4 

Definition and the treatment of income for Council Tax Support purposes 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 33 Page 341



        	

 

            
 

     
   
     

 
 

 
             

             
      
 

                 
      

          
    

              
       

 
             

  
 

  
  
     

          
            

               
    

 
          

         
       

               
       

            
            

   
           

        
 

            
        

 
             

         
 

          
           

          
 

  
  
     

             
                

15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of claimant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage 

15.1 The income and capital of: 
a. an applicant; and 
b. any partner of that applicant, 

is to be calculated in accordance with the following provisions. 

15.2 The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and 
capital of the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to 
any partner of that applicant. 

15.3 Where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is married polygamously to two or 
more members of his household: 
(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to 

each such member; and 
(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with 

the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 

15A.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of 
universal credit 

15A.1 In determining the income of an applicant 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit the authority must, subject to the following provisions of this 
paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the income of the applicant, or the applicant and 
his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of 
determining the award of universal credit. 

15A.2 The authority must adjust the amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1) to take account of 
(a) income consisting of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with 
subparagraph (3) net of the housing costs element; 
(b) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 3 to this scheme (sums to be 
disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners); 
(c) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 4 to this 
scheme (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners); 
(d) section 33 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be 
treated as applicant's), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the applicant's 
case; 
(e) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable). 

15A.3 The amount for the award of universal credit is to be determined by multiplying the amount of 
the award by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

15A.4 sections 33 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant’s) and 52 and 53 
(disregards from income) apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of determining any 
adjustments which fall to be made to the figure for income under sub-paragraph (2) 

15A.5 In determining the capital of an applicant; 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the capital of 
the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 34 Page 342



        	

        

            
           

           
            

           
         

       
     

 
               

         
              

        
           

 

      
          

       
  

            
                  

 
        

           
      

             
           

          
            

 
 

       
           

              
 

         
    

           
                

      
             
        

         
     
 

          
        

      

      
 

           
   

of State for the purpose of determining that award 

16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as claimant’s 
16.1 Where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant and the claimant have entered into 

arrangements in order to take advantage of the council tax support scheme and the non-
dependant has more capital and income than the claimant, that authority shall, except were the 
claimant is on income support, an income- based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance, treat the claimant as possessing capital and income 
belonging to that non-dependant, and, in such a case, shall disregard any capital and income 
which the claimant does possess.` 

16.2 Where a claimant is treated as possessing capital and income belonging to a non-dependant 
under paragraph 16.1 the capital and income of that non-dependant shall be calculated in 
accordance with the following provisions in like manner as for the claimant and any reference 
to the ‘claimant’ shall, except where the context otherwise requires, be construed for the 
purposes of this scheme as if it were a reference to that non-dependant. 

17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
17.1 For the purposes of this scheme and in line with regulation 34 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 

2006 (disregard to changes in tax, contributions etc.), the income of a claimant shall be 
calculated on a weekly basis; 

a. by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in accordance 
with this Section and in line with Sections 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006; 

b. by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated in line with regulation 52 of the 
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (calculation to tariff income from capital); and 

c. by then deducting any relevant child care charges to which section 18 (treatment of child 
care charges) applies from any earnings which form part of the average weekly income 
or, in a case where the conditions in paragraph 14.2 are met, from those earnings plus 
whichever credit specified in sub- paragraph (b) of that paragraph is appropriate, up to a 
maximum deduction in respect of the claimant’s family of whichever of the sums specified 
in paragraph (3) applies in his case. 

17.2 The conditions of this paragraph are that; 
a. the claimant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than the 

lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions specified 
in paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and 

b. that claimant or, if he is a member of a couple either the claimant or his partner, is in 
receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 

17.3 The maximum deduction to which paragraph 17.1 c) above refers shall be; 
a. where the claimant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant child care 

charges are paid, £175.00 per week. 
b. where the claimant’s family includes more than one child in respect of whom 
c. relevant child care charges are paid, £300.00 per week. 

The amounts stated in this paragraph shall be amended in accordance with the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

17.4 For the purposes of paragraph 17.1 ‘income’ includes capital treated as income under section 
31 (capital treated as income) and income, which a claimant is treated as possessing under 
section 32 (notional income) of this scheme. 

18.0 Treatment of child care charges 

18.1 This section applies where a claimant is incurring relevant child-care charges and; 
a. is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 35 Page 343



        	

  
                

 
   
    
             

  
 

            
     

    
  
            

 
  
                

          
                

         
 

      
              

        
    

              
 

                   
                    

    
 

           
     

 
          

             
       

         
               

       
        

 
              

   
  
           

           
    

                   
 

        
           

              
      

    
              

    
    

               

b. is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or 
c. is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and the 

other; 
i. is incapacitated; 

ii. is an in-patient in hospital; or 
iii. is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody awaiting 

trial or sentence). 

18.2 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 and subject to paragraph 18.4, a person to whom paragraph 
18.3 applies shall be treated as engaged in remunerative work for a period not exceeding 28 
weeks during which he– 
a. is paid statutory sick pay; 
b. is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E of the 

Act; 
c. is paid an employment and support allowance; 
d. is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 4ZA of, 

and paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support Regulations; or 
e. is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for 

work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 

18.3 This paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work immediately before 
a. the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, short-

term incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income support on 
the grounds of incapacity for work; or 

b. the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

18.4 In a case to which paragraph 18.2 c) or d) applies, the period of 28 weeks begins on the day on 
which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of the period in respect of which 
earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

18.5 Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which paragraphs 18.6 and 18.7 apply, 
and shall be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with paragraph 18.10. 

18.6 The charges are paid by the claimant for care, which is provided 
a. in the case of any child of the claimant’s family who is not disabled, in respect of the 

period beginning on that child’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that child’s fifteenth birthday; or 

b. in the case of any child of the claimant’s family who is disabled, in respect of the period 
beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

18.7 The charges are paid for care, which is provided by one, or more of the care providers listed in 
paragraph 18.8 and are not paid– 
a. in respect of the child’s compulsory education; 
b. by a claimant to a partner to a claimant in respect of any child for whom either or any of 

them is responsible in accordance with section 10 (circumstances in which a person is 
treated as responsible or not responsible for another); or 

c. in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 

18.8 The care to which paragraph 18.7 refers may be provided; 
a. out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority; 

i. for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eight 
birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their fifteenth birthday; or 

ii. for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eight 
birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their sixteenth birthday; or 

b. by a child care provider approved in accordance with by the Tax Credit (New Category of 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 36 Page 344



        	

   
          

  
        

              
         

      
  

         
    

            
        

         
  

              
         

           
         

         
            

         
         

           
            

           
       

                
     

           
       

          
 

                 
     

 
              

       
         

  
 

         
 

         
        
     

           
            

      
    

       
         

               
       

     
           

        
             

                  

Child Care Provider) Regulations 1999; 
c. by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010; 

or 
d. by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and Families 

(Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a school or 
establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and Day Care 
Exceptions (Wales) order 2010; or 

e. by; 
i. persons registered under section section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform 

Scotland Act 2010 or 
ii. local authorities registered under section 33(1) of that Act, where the care 

provided is child minding or daycare within the meaning of that Act; or 
f. by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax Credits 

Act or 
g. by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006; or 
h. by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 

circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that Act 
does not apply by virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or 

i. by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that Act 
does not apply by virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or 

j. by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of ‘childcare’ for the 
purposes of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or 

k. by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2002, the 
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children (Scotland) 
Regulations 2009 in relation to a child other than one whom the foster parent is fostering 
or kinship carer is looking after; or 

l. by a domiciliary care worker under the Domiciliary Care Agencies Regulations 2002 or the 
Domiciliary Care Agencies (Wales) Regulations 2004; or 

m. by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 

18.9 In paragraphs 18.6 and 18.8 a), ‘the first Monday in September’ means the Monday which first 
occurs in the month of September in any year. 

18.10 Relevant child care charges shall be estimated over such period, not exceeding a year, as is 
appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated accurately having regard 
to information as to the amount of that charge provided by the child minder or person providing 
the care. 

18.11 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 c) the other member of a couple is incapacitated where 

a. the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium on account of the other 
member’s incapacity or the support component or the work- related activity component 
on account of his having limited capability for work 

b. the applicant’s applicable amount would include a disability premium on account of the 
other member’s incapacity but for that other member being treated as capable of work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulation made under section 
171E of the Act; 

c. the applicant’s applicable amount would include the support component or the work-
related activity component on account of the other member having limited capability for 
work but for that other member being treated as not having limited capability for work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate; 

d. the applicant (within the meaning of this scheme) is, or is treated as, incapable of work 
and has been so incapable, or has been so treated as incapable, of work in accordance 
with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 12A of the Act (incapacity for 
work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for this purpose any two or 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 37 Page 345



        	

                 
   

               
        

        
           
            

            
    

       
    

        
         
      
          
  
  
          

            
       

       
            

                
     

            
           

     
         

       
        

 
            

      
   

            
         

       
              

       
 

              
            

        
          

      
 

           
          

              
                    

    
 

              
            

         
                

        
        

more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days shall be treated as 
one continuous period; 

e. the applicant (within the meaning of this scheme) has, or is treated as having, limited 
capability for work and has had, or been treated as having, limited capability for work in 
accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations for a continuous 
period of not less than 196 days and for this purpose any two or more separate periods 
separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

f. there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or 
allowances– 

i. long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher rate 
under Schedule 4 to the Act; 

ii. attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act; 
iii. severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the Act; 
iv. disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 
v. personal independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 

vi. an AFIP; 
vii. increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the Act; 

viii. a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under an industrial 
injuries scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of disablement 
pension under head (ii), (iv) or (v) above; 

ix. main phase employment and support allowance; 
g. a pension or allowance to which head (ii), (iv). (v) or (vi) of sub-paragraph (f) above refers 

was payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased to be payable in consequence of 
his becoming a patient, which in this section shall mean a person (other than a person 
who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) 
who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of social 
security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 

h. an AFIP would be payable to that person but for any suspension of payment in 
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which 
allow for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or 
similar institution; 

i. paragraphs (f) or (g) would apply to him if the legislative provisions referred to in those 
sub-paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; or 

j. he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State under 
section 5(2)(a) of and Schedule 2 to the National Health Service Act 1977 or under section 
46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 or provided by the Department of 
Health, Social Services and Public Safety in Northern Ireland under Article 30(1) of the 
Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 

18.12 For the purposes of paragraph 18.11 once paragraph 18.11d) applies to the claimant, if he then 
ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of work, 
that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at 
the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains incapable, 
or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

18.12AFor the purposes of paragraph 18.11, once paragraph 18.11e) applies to the claimant, if he then 
ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as having, limited capability for 
work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being treated as having, limited capability for 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he has, or is 
treated as having, limited capability for work. 

18.13 For the purposes of paragraphs 18.6 and 18.8 a), a person is disabled if he is a person– 
a. in respect of whom disability living allowance or personal independence payment is 

payable, or has ceased to be payable solely because he is a patient; 
b. who is registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the National 

Assistance Act 1948 welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in 
consequence he is registered as blind in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 38 Page 346



        	

         
       

            
    

 
           

                
    

            
    

          
  

            
         

           
 

 
               

        
     
                  

    
        

                  
      

           
    

     
 

  
           

        
          

        
 

     
   
      
    

       

 
               

          
           

       
       
       

            
        

           
  

 
                

   
                  

       

constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 
c. who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period beginning 28 

weeks before the first Monday in September following that person’s fifteenth birthday 
and ending on the day preceding that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

18.14 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 a person on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption 
leave shall be treated as if she is engaged in remunerative work for the period specified in 
paragraph 18.15 (‘the relevant period’) provided that– 
a. in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave began 

she was in remunerative work; 
b. the claimant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of paragraph 

18.5; and 
c. she is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the Act, statutory 

paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of the Act statutory adoption pay by of 
section 171ZL of the Act, maternity allowance under section 35 of the Act or qualifying 
support. 

18.15 For the purposes of paragraph 18.14 the relevant period shall begin on the day on which the 
person’s maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences and shall end on– 

a. the date that leave ends; 
b. if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement 

to maternity allowance, qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity 
pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement ends; or 

c. if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement 
to maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement to that award of the child care element of 
the working tax credits ends. 

whichever shall occur first. 

18.16 In paragraphs 18.14 and 18.15 
a. ‘qualifying support’ means income support to which that person is entitled by virtue of 

paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support Regulations; and 
b. ’child care element’ of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit prescribed 

under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act (child care element). 

18.17 In this section ‘applicant’ does not include an applicant; 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit 

19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners 

19.1 Where a claimant’s income consists of earnings from employment as an employed earner his 
average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment– 

a. over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or 
treated as made and being a period of 

i. 5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or 
ii. 2 months, if he is paid monthly; or 

b. whether or not sub-paragraph 19.1 a i) or ii) applies, where a claimant’s earnings fluctuate, 
over such other period preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or treated 
as made as may, in any particular case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated 
more accurately. 

19.2 Where the claimant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in paragraph 
19.1 a)(i) or (ii) 
a. if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment and 

those earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that employment 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 39 Page 347



        	

        
          

       
           

 
 

                
          

        
        

 
           

   

      
 

               
          

          
        

 
           

      

      
 

              
         

                  
     

       
 

              
      

 
           

        

      
 

      
 

                    
     

 
                

           
 

         
   

        
        

        
 

 
         

his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to those earnings; 
b. in any other case, the authority shall require the claimant’s employer to furnish an 

estimate of the claimant’s likely weekly earnings over such period as the authority may 
require and the claimant’s average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to 
that estimate. 

19.3 Where the amount of a claimant’s earnings changes during an award the authority shall estimate 
his average weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment over such 
period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated accurately 
but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 

19.4 For the purposes of this section the claimant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 
sections 25 and 26 

20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners 

20.1 Where a claimant’s income consists of earnings from employment as a self-employed earner his 
average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment 
over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated 
accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed a year. 

20.2 For the purposes of this section the claimant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 
section 27 to 29 of this scheme 

21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings 

21.1 A claimant’s income which does not consist of earnings shall, except where paragraph 18.2 
applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly income 
may be estimated accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks; 
and nothing in this paragraph shall authorise an authority to disregard any such income other 
than that specified in Schedule 4 of this scheme. 

21.2 The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account shall be the 
period in respect of which that support is payable. 

21.3 For the purposes of this section income other than earnings shall be calculated in accordance 
with paragraphs 30 to 32 of this scheme 

22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 

22.1 This section applies where a claimant received a tax credit. 

22.2 Where this section applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into account shall 
be the period set out in paragraph 22.3 

22.3 Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is; 
a. a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the instalment is 

paid; 
b. a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is 

due to be paid; 
c. a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day on 

which the instalment is due to be paid; 
d. a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the 

instalment is due to be paid. 

22.4 For the purposes of this section ‘tax credit’ means child tax credit or working tax credit. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 40 Page 348



        	

    
 

           
              

        
             
       

                 
   

                
          

 
 

            
           

         
   

       
 

             
 

   
  
               

            
            

       
                    

          
   

  
 

              
          

     
              

      
    
       

        
         

       
       

   
    
           

         
 

          
          

          
        

           
          

     

23.0 Calculation of weekly income 

23.1 For the purposes of sections 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 21 (average 
weekly income other than earnings) and 22 (calculation of average weekly income from tax 
credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made; 
a. does not exceed a week, the weekly amount shall be the amount of that payment; 
b. exceeds a week, the weekly amount shall be determined– 

i. in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment 
by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 

ii. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to 
the number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the quotient 
by 7. 

23.2 For the purpose of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the weekly 
amount of earnings of a claimant shall be determined by dividing his earnings over the 
assessment period by the number equal to the number of days in that period and multiplying 
the quotient by 7. 

24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 

24.1 In calculating the applicant’s income the appropriate authority may disregard any legislative 
change 
a. in the basic or other rates of income tax; 
b. in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
c. in the rates of national insurance contributions payable under the Act or in the lower 

earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under the Act, the lower 
or upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under the Act or the amount specified 
in section11(4) of the Act (small profits threshold in relation to Class 2 contributions); 

d. in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of Category A, 
B, C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated pension payable 
under the Act; 

e. in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, 

for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately 
following the date from which the change is effective 

25.0 Earnings of employed earners 
25.1 Subject to paragraph 25.2, ‘earnings’ means in the case of employment as an employed earner, 

any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and includes– 
a. any bonus or commission; 
b. any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to a claimant on 

account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
c. any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for 

the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 
d. any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or interruption 

of the employment; 
e. any payment by way of a retainer; 
f. any payment made by the claimant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, 
including any payment made by the claimant’s employer in respect of– 

g. travelling expenses incurred by the claimant under arrangements made for the case of a 
member of his family owing to the claimant’s absence from home; 

h. any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment 
Rights Act 199(remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 

i. any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension on medical 
or maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals); 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 41 Page 349



        	

           
  

    
      

  
          

         
    

         
         

     
 

      
       
         

      
   
          

 
 

         
 

        
 

            
        

 
 

           
   

 
             

            
  

         
  
  

        
  

        
    

              
          

            
             

   
   

 
               

   
 

          
           

           

	
           

       

j. any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the Act (certain sums to be earnings for 
social security purposes); 

k. any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; 

l. any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the claimant who for the time 
being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from work 
because he is ill; 

m. the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into 
account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 
3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001 as amended18. 

25.2 Earnings shall not include– 
a. subject to paragraph 25.3, any payment in kind; 
b. any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the 

performance of the duties of employment; 
c. any occupational pension 
d. any payment in respect of expenses arising out of an applicant participating as a service 

user. 

25.3 Paragraph 25.2 a) shall not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in paragraph 
25.1 m) 

26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners 

26.1 For the purposes of section 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), the earnings of 
a claimant derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed earner to be taken 
into account shall, subject to paragraph 26.2, be his net earnings. 

26.2 There shall be disregarded from a claimant’s net earnings, any sum, where applicable, specified 
in paragraphs 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 

26.3 For the purposes of paragraph 26.1 net earnings shall, except where paragraph 26.6 applies, be 
calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the claimant from that employment over 
the assessment period, less; 
a. any amount deducted from those earnings by way of 

i) income tax; 
ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the Act; 

b. one-half of any sum paid by the claimant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational pension scheme; 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 26.5 in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the claimant; and 

d. where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory 
maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted 
for those earnings by way of any contributions which are payable under any enactment 
having effect in Northern Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions 
under the Act. 

26.4 In this section ‘qualifying contribution’ means any sum which is payable periodically as a 
contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 

26.5 The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 

18 Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment) Regulations 2013, Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 
2013 and Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 42 Page 350



        	

   
          

   
                

        
 

              
        

        
        

               
           

          
         

               
              

     
           

            
  

         
         

  

     
 

               
                 

            
              

 
 

           
             

      
       
        

 
    

           
     

     
         
             

         
          

 
 

                
         

              
           

             
         

     

contribution shall be determined– 
a. where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number 

equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 

26.6 Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph 2) of 
the section 19 (average weekly earnings of employment earners), his net earnings shall be 
calculated by taking into account those earnings over the assessment period, less– 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic 
rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the 
applicant is entitled under sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 
1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish 
taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 
towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were 
actual earnings. 

27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners 

27.1 Subject to paragraph 27.2, ‘earnings’, in the case of employment as a self- employed earner, 
means the gross income of the employment any allowance paid under section 2 of the 1973 Act 
or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 to the claimant for the 
purpose of assisting him in carrying on his business unless at the date of claim the allowance has 
been terminated. 

27.2 ‘Earnings’ shall not include any payment to which paragraph 27 or 28 of Schedule 4 refers 
(payments in respect of a person accommodate with the claimant under arrangements made by 
a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to the claimant by a health 
authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the 
claimant’s care) nor shall it include any sports award. 

27.3 This paragraph applies to– 
a. royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 

copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or 
b. any payment in respect of any– 

(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to 
the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the claimant is the first owner of the 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an original contributor to the book of work 
concerned. 

27.4 Where the claimant’s earnings consist of any items to which paragraph 27.3 applies, those 
earnings shall be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks as is equal to 
the number obtained (and any fraction shall be treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) 
by dividing the earnings by the amount of council tax support which would be payable had the 
payment not been made plus an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be 
disregarded from the payment under Schedule 3 (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of 
earnings) as appropriate in the claimant’s case. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 43 Page 351



        	

       
 

             
      
                 

    
               

              
           

          
      

      
        

  
 

           
   

 
               

        
    

           
      

    
  

       
        

         
 

 
             

            
          
          
  

         
            

 
             

 
   
       
        

 
        
            
     
          

    
 

                  
 

         
          

    
 

          
                

28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 

28.1 For the purposes of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self- employed earners) the earnings 
of an applicant to be taken into account shall be 
a. in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account, 

the net profit derived from that employment; 
b. in the case of a self-employed earner whose employment is carried on in partnership or 

is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security (Mariners’ Benefits) 
Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less– 

i. an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions 
payable under the Act calculated in accordance with section 29 (deduction of 
tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

ii. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (11) in respect 
of any qualifying premium. 

28.2 There shall be disregarded from a claimant’s net profit, any sum, where applicable, specified in 
paragraph 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 

28.3 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1 a) the net profit of the employment must, except where 
paragraph 28.9 applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings for the employment 
over the assessment period less 
a. subject to paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that 

period for the purposes of that employment; 
b. an amount in respect of; 

(i) income tax, and 
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance with 
section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (28.11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium. 

28.4 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1a) the net profit of the employment shall be calculated; 
a. by taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less, 

subject to paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that 
period for the purposes of the employment (where self employed accounts can be 
provided); or 

b. as an amount determined by multiplying the national minimum wage by 16 hours per 
week or the number of hours shown on any Tax Credit letter. 

28.5 Subject to paragraph 28.6 no deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4, in 
respect of– 
a. any capital expenditure; 
b. the depreciation of any capital asset; 
c. any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the 

employment; 
d. any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
e. the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment; 
f. any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment, and 
g. any debts, except bad debts proved to be such, but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to 

any expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt. 

28.6 A deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of the repayment of capital 
on any loan used for– 
a. the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; and 
b. the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable under 

an insurance policy for its repair. 

28.7 The authority shall refuse to make deduction in respect of any expenses under paragraph 28.3 
a) or 28.4 where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 44 Page 352



        	

 
 

     
            

 
       

              
  

         
         

           
 

                 
        

 
  
         

            
        

 
 

          
             

             
      

 
         

             
              

 
              

    
              

            
 

               
            

       
 

                
           

              
                 

         
        

            
                  

           
 

 
           

   
          

      
          

           
         

been reasonably incurred. 

28.8 For the avoidance of doubt– 
a. deduction shall not be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of any sum unless 

it has been expended for the purposes of the business; 
b. a deduction shall be made thereunder in respect of– 

i. the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the 
assessment period; 

ii. any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the 
extent that any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 

iii. any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the employment 

28.9 Where an applicant is engaged in employment, as a child minder the net profit of the 
employment shall be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less an amount in respect 
of 

a. income tax; and 
b. national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance 

with section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 
c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 28.1 in respect of 

any qualifying contribution. 

28.10 For the avoidance of doubt where a claimant is engaged in employment as a self-employed 
earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or 
employed earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments shall not be offset against his 
earnings in any other of his employments. 

28.11 The amount in respect of any qualifying premium shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment 
period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying premium shall be 
determined 
a. where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying premium by 12 and divided the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal 

to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 

28.12 In this section, ‘qualifying premium’ means any premium which is payable periodically in respect 
of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of claim. 

29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 

29.1 The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under section 28.1b) i), 28.3 b) i) or 28.9 a) 
i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) shall be calculated on the basis of the 
amount of chargeable income and as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under section 
257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to 
his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the 
basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied 
and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this paragraph shall be calculated on a 
pro rata basis. 

29.2 The amount to be deducted in respect of national insurance contributions under paragraphs 
28.1 1 b)(i); 28.3 b) ii) or 28.9 a shall be the total of– 
a. the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the case may be, 

11(3) of the Act at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where the 
applicant’s chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) of the 
Act (small profits threshold) for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if 
the assessment period is less than a year, the amount specified for that tax year shall be 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 45 Page 353



        	

     
            

         
            

       
         

    
 

    
           

          
 

              
 

      
 

              
           

       
  

 
           

 
 

                    
           
 

 
                   

            
          

 
 

                     
                

                 
         

 
 

                   
  

 
                

          
          

 
                 

              
           

   
  
  

                
            

      
         

             

reduced pro rata; and 
b. the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of 

the Act (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the percentage 
rate applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable income as exceeds 
the lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains applicable for the 
tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment period is less than a 
year, those limits shall be reduced pro rata.. 

29.3 In this section ‘chargeable income’ means– 
a. except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less 

any expenses deducted under paragraph (28.3)(a) or, as the case may be, (28.4) of section 
28; 

b. in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that 
employment. 

30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings 

30.1 For the purposes of section 21 (average weekly income other than earnings), the income of a 
claimant which does not consist of earnings to be taken into account shall, subject to paragraphs 
27.2 to 27.8, be his gross income and any capital treated as income under section 31 (capital 
treated as income). 

30.2 There shall be disregarded from the calculation of a claimant’s gross income under paragraph 
30.2, any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 4. 

30.3 Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way of 
recovery the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 30.1 shall be the gross amount 
payable. 

30.4 Where the claimant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory 
employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of 
the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations, the amount of that benefit to be taken 
into account is the amount as if it had not been reduced. 

30.5 Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act is subject 
to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit 
which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 27.1 
shall be the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that 
deduction. 

30.6 In paragraph 30.5 ‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 
5th April in the next. 

30.7 Paragraph 30.8 and 30.9 apply where a relevant payment has been made to a person in an 
academic year; and that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the 
payment to him of the final instalment of the relevant payment. 

30.8 Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be taken 
into account for the assessment period for the purposes of paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person 
to whom paragraph 30.7 applies, shall be calculated by applying the formula– 
A - (BxC) 
D 
Where 
A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received had he 
remained a student until he last day of the academic term in which he abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 
B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that which 
includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes the day on 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 46 Page 354



        	

          
      

         
          

          
     

        
 

                   
             

       
    

           
                

     
 

     
        

                 
           

              
               

                
             

       
   
               

       
         

     
    

           
     
     
      
     

            
   

 
               

 
       
                  

           
         

                
      

     
 

                   
              

           
           

 
 

            
 

which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course; 
C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 disregard, 
which would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 51.2 had the person not 
abandoned or been dismissed from, his course and, in the case of a person who was not entitled 
to council tax support immediately before he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, had 
that person, at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 
D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 

30.9 Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount of a 
relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of 
paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person to whom paragraph (30.8) applies, shall be calculated by 
applying the formula in paragraph 30.8 but as if– 
A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have received, 
from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the course, or was 
dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 

30.10 In this section– ‘academic year’ and ‘student loan’ shall have the same meanings as for the 
purposes of sections 43 to 45, ‘assessment period’ means– 
a. in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the 

reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was dismissed 
from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes the last day of the 
last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable to that person; 

b. in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, 
the period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the 
person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction 
week which includes– 

i. the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the relevant 
payment would have been due had the payments continued; or 

ii. the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment 
was payable to that person. 

‘whichever of those dates’ is earlier 
‘quarter’ in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on; 
a. 1st January and ending on 31st March; 
b. 1st April and ending on 30th June; 
c. 1st July and ending on 31st August; or 
d. 1st September and ending on 31st December; 
‘relevant payment’ means either a student loan or an amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants referred to in paragraph 46.7 or both. 

30.11 For the avoidance of doubt there shall be included as income to be taken into account under 
paragraph 30.1 
a. any payment to which paragraph 25.2 (payments not earnings) applies; or 
b. in the case of a claimant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act including support provided by virtue of regulations made 
under Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of such support provided in respect of essential 
living needs of the claimant and his dependants (if any) as is specified in regulations made 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum Act. 

31.0 Capital treated as income 

31.1 Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the claim is made 
or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or supersession, shall, if the 
aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of the claimant’s capital otherwise 
calculated in accordance with sections 33 to 42 of this scheme exceeds £16,000, be treated as 
income. 

31.2 Any payment received under an annuity shall be treated as income. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 47 Page 355



        	

                
 

                  
 

 
                 

          
               

           

   
 

                
           

 
     

  
         
         

          
    

         
           

      
   
   
     

   
       

           
              

 
   

 
              

              
               

          
        

               
 

                
            

         
         

           
             

            
         

                 
         

 
            

            
        

         
        
         

31.3 Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income shall be treated as income. 

31.4 Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act shall be treated as 
income 

31.5 Where an agreement or court order provides that payments shall be made to the claimant in 
consequence of any personal injury to the claimant and that such payments are to be made, 
wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic payments received by the 
claimant (but not a payment which is treated as capital), shall be treated as income. 

32.0 Notional income 

32.1 A claimant shall be treated as possessing income of which he has deprived himself for the 
purpose of securing entitlement of support or increasing the amount of that support. 

32.2 Except in the case of– 
a. a discretionary trust; 
b. a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
c. a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund where the claimant has not attained the qualifying 
age for state pension credit; 

d. any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies 
which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); 

e. any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; 
f. rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the 1973 Act; 
g. child tax credit; or 
h. working tax credit, 
i. any sum to which paragraph 32.13 applies; 
any income which would become available to the claimant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by the claimant but only from 
the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

32.3 – 32.5 Not used 

32.6 Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in paragraph 32.7 made– 
a. to a third party in respect of a single claimant or a member of the family (but not a 

member of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under or by a 
personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection 
Fund, be treated as possessed by that single claimant or, as the case may be, by that 
member; 

b. to a third party in respect of a single claimant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred to in 
sub-paragraph a), be treated as possessed by that single claimant or by that member to 
the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or 
rent of that single claimant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is 
used for any council tax or water charges for which that claimant or member is liable; 

c. to a single claimant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single 
claimant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or 
used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

32.7 Paragraph 32.6 shall not apply in respect of a payment of income made– 
a. under the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane 

(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

b. pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
c. pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation– 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 48 Page 356



        	

         
  

         
          
           

  
          

      
         

           
    

           
           

       
      

               
    

               
      

 
                   

                     
         

            
              

    
 

      
      
        

          
            

            
 

     
            

             
       

  
           

            
      
        
            

       
               

        
  

              
            

 
        

  
 

                  
             

             
  

(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation75(1)(a)(iv)of those Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those 
Regulations or; 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

d. in respect of a previous participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
e. under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 

payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the 
Pension Protection Fund where– 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 
payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf 
of the creditors; and 
(iii) the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

32.8 Where a claimant is in receipt of any benefit (other than council tax support) under the benefit 
Acts and the rate of that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any 
year but not more than 14 days thereafter, the authority shall treat the claimant as possessing 
such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in that year, 
whichever date the authority shall select to apply in its area, to the date on which the altered 
rate is to take effect. 

32.9 Subject to paragraph 32.10, where– 
a. claimant performs a service for another person; and 
b. that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a comparable 

employment in the area, the authority shall treat the claimant as possessing such earnings 
(if any) as is reasonable for that employment unless the claimant satisfies the authority 
that the means of that person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for the service. 

32.10 Paragraph 32.9 shall not apply– 
a. to a claimant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a 

volunteer if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to 
provide those services free of charge; or 

b. in a case where the service is performed in connection with– 
(i) the claimant’s participation in an employment or training programme in accordance 
with regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations, other than where the 
service is performed in connection with the claimant’s participation in the Intense Activity 
Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations or 
(ii) the claimant’s or the claimant’s partner’s participation in an employment or training 
programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which a training 
allowance is not payable or, where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole 
purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to the person participating in 
that programme ; or 

c. to a claimant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary of State 
(or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement starts. 

32.10A In paragraph 32.10 (c) ‘work placement’ means practical work experience which is not 
undertaken in expectation of payment. 

32.11 Where a claimant is treated as possessing any income under any of paragraph 32.1 to (32.8), the 
foregoing provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of 
that income as if a payment has actually been made and as if it were actual income which he 
does possess. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 49 Page 357



        	

 
              

           
             

          
           
       

        
            

                 
         

         
                

             
      

           
            
  

         
    

 
                

          
   

  

32.12 Where an applicant is treated a possessing any earnings under paragraph 32.9 the foregoing 
provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those 
earnings as if a payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings which he 
does possess except that paragraph (3) of section 26 (calculation of net earnings of employed 
earners) shall not apply and his net earnings shall be calculated by taking into account those 
earnings which he is treated as possessing, less; 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the starting rate or, as the case may be, the starting rate and the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under 
sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (personal allowances) as 
is appropriate to his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the 
earnings to which the starting rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rate basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension scheme. 

32.13 Paragraphs (32.1), (32.2), (32.6) and (32.9) shall not apply in respect of any amount of income 
other than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant’s 
participation as a service user 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 50 Page 358



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

         

  

Sections 33 – 42 & Schedule 5 

Definition and the treatment of capital for Council Tax Support purposes 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 51 Page 359



        	

 

   
              

          

    
                

            
       

 
           

     

      
 
              

     

     
                

 
 

                 
         

 
               

    
 

              
              

          
 

              
       

 
                  

             
        

            
 

                
           

            
  

 
                   

  
 

                 

 

       
 

         
     

33.0 Capital limit 
33.1 For the purposes of section 134(1) of the Act as it applies to council tax support (no entitlement 

to support if capital exceeds prescribed amount), the prescribed amount is £16,000. 

34.0 Calculation of capital 
34.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the capital of a claimant to be taken into account shall, subject 

to paragraph (34.2), be the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this scheme and 
any income treated as capital under section 36 (income treated as capital). 

34.2 There shall be disregarded from the calculation of a claimant’s capital under paragraph (34.1), 
any capital, where applicable, specified in Schedule 5. 

35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person 

35.1 The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the claimant’s family shall not be 
treated as capital of the claimant. 

36.0 Income treated as capital 
36.1 Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 applies and paid at 

intervals of at least one year shall be treated as capital. 

36.2 Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments chargeable 
to income tax under Schedule D or E shall be treated as capital. 

36.3 Any holiday pay which is not earnings under section 25(1)(d) (earnings of employed earners) 
shall be treated as capital. 

36.4 Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28, 
47 or 48 of Schedule 5, any income derived from capital shall be treated as capital but only from 
the date it is normally due to be credited to the claimant’s account. 

36.5 In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan made 
by the claimant’s employer shall be treated as capital. 

36.6 Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular intervals, 
other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006), the 
London Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, the WLMEF or the LET shall be treated as capital. 

36.7 There shall be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by a 
person in respect of which assistance is received under the self- employment route, but only in 
so far as those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in which that 
person was receiving such assistance. 

36.8 Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to a claimant as a lump sum shall be treated 
as capital. 

36.9 Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit shall be treated as capital. 

37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 

37.1 Capital which a claimant possesses in the United Kingdom shall be calculated at its current 
market or surrender value less– 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 52 Page 360



        	

               
        

      
 
          

                  
               

 
                  

       
                

    

   
            

            
            

   
     

    
          
      

   
         

       
       

             
       
   
    

        
                   

     
 

                
              

              
         

         
         

               
            

         
       

           
             

              
         

                 
         

 
             

              
           

 
         

a. where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent.; and 
b. the amount of any encumbrance secured on it; 

38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 

38.1 Capital which a claimant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom shall be calculated 
a. in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United 

Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at 
that value. 

b. in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in 
the United Kingdom to a willing buyer, 

less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent. and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it. 

39.0 Notional capital 
39.1 A claimant shall be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement to council tax support or increasing the amount of that support 
except to the extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with section 40 (diminishing 
notional capital rule). 

39.2 Except in the case of 
(a) a discretionary trust; or 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under 

Schedule 5; or 
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund; or 
(e) any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies 

which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); or 
(f) any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; or 
(g) child tax credit; or 
(h) working tax credit, 
any capital which would become available to the claimant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by him but only from the date 
on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

39.3 Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in paragraph (39.4), made 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single claimant or a member of the family (but not a 

member of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal 
pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be 
treated as possessed by that single claimant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single claimant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred to in 
sub-paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single claimant or by that member to 
the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or 
rent of that single claimant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is 
used for any council tax or water charges for which that claimant or member is liable; 

(c) to a single claimant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single 
claimant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or 
used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

39.4 Paragraph 39.3 shall not apply in respect of a payment of capital made: 
a. under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent 

Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief 
Charitable Fund; 

b. pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation: 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 53 Page 361



        	

           
  

     
  
         

  
  

   
   
              

  
          

            
   

           
           

           
      

             
    

                 
     

 
                    

              
  

            
    

           
               

         
      

 
              

         
 

                
              

       

     
               

     
           

            
  

         
      

              
          
                
      

               
  

         
           

  
                

i. in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations; 

ii. in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
iii. in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; 
iv. in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation17A(7) of those 

Regulations; or 
v. in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

c. in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
d. Enterprise Scheme; 
e. in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 

or Back to Work Scheme; 
f. under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment 

made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund where– 
i. a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 

payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

ii. the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf 
of the creditors; and 

iii. the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

39.5 Where a claimant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole owner 
or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole owner or 
partner and in such a case 
(a) the value of his holding in that company shall, notwithstanding section 34 (calculation of 

capital) be disregarded; and 
(b) he shall, subject to paragraph 39.6, be treated as possessing an amount of capital equal 

to the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that company 
and the foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating 
that amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

39.6 For so long as the claimant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, 
the amount which, he is treated as possessing under paragraph 39.5 shall be disregarded. 

39.7 Where a claimant is treated as possessing capital under any of paragraphs 39.1 to 39.2 the 
foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it 
were actual capital, which he does possess. 

40.0 Diminishing notional capital rule 
40.1 Where a claimant is treated as possessing capital under section 39.1 (notional capital), the 

amount which he is treated as possessing; 
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to 

(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in paragraph 40.2 are 
satisfied; or 

(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, shall be 
reduced by an amount determined under paragraph 40.3; 

(b)in the case of a week in respect of which paragraph 40.1(a) does not apply but where 
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in paragraph 40.4 is satisfied, shall be 
reduced by the amount determined under paragraph 40.4. 

40.2 This paragraph applies to a reduction week or part-week where the claimant satisfies the 
conditions that 
(a) he is in receipt of council tax support; and 
(b) but for paragraph 39.1, he would have received an additional amount of council tax 

support in that week. 
40.3 In a case to which paragraph 40.2 applies, the amount of the reduction for the purposes of 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 54 Page 362



        	

       
       
          

         
           

       
               

                 
           

    
              

       
               

        
 

             
          

            
         

   
 

             
         

      
              

        
             
         

           
 

               
       

             
 

                 
  

             
  

              
           

             
         

               
         

           
           

            
        

             
  

            
      

               
               

            
      

           
          

paragraph 40.1(a) shall be equal to the aggregate of 
(a) the additional amount to which sub-paragraph 40.2 (b) refers; 
(b) where the claimant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit 

or any additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect 
of the whole or part of the reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the 
application of regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations (notional capital); 

(c) where the claimant has also claimed income support, the amount of income support to 
which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week 
to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the application of regulation 51(1) of the Income 
Support Regulations (notional capital); 

(d) where the claimant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount of an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the 
whole or part of the reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the 
application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations (notional capital) 
and 

(e) where the claimant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount 
of an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been 
entitled in respect of the whole or part of reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers 
but for the application of regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations (notional capital). 

40.4 Subject to paragraph 40.5, for the purposes of paragraph 40.1(b) the condition is that the 
claimant would have been entitled to council tax support in the relevant week but for paragraph 
39.1, and in such a case the amount of the reduction shall be equal to the aggregate of 
(a) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant would have been entitled in the 

relevant week but for paragraph 39.1; and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph is the 
amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be determined by dividing the 
amount of council tax support to which he would have been so entitled by the number 
equal to the number of days in the part-week and multiplying the quotient so obtained 
by 7; 

(b) if the claimant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations, have 
been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect 
of the reduction week which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount which 
is equal to– 
(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would have 

been entitled; or 
(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit 

to which he would have been entitled, 
and, for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, 
that amount shall be determined by dividing the amount of housing benefit to which he 
would have been so entitled by the number equal to that number of days in the part-
week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7; 

(c) if the claimant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support Regulations, have 
been entitled to income support in respect of the reduction week, within the meaning of 
regulation 2(1) of those Regulations, which includes the last day of the relevant week, 
the amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this sub-
paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be determined 
by dividing the amount of the income support to which he would have been so entitled 
by the number equal to the number of days in the part- week and multiplying the 
quotient so obtained by 7 

(d) if the claimant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations, 
have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance in respect of the reduction 
week, within the meaning of this scheme, which includes the last day of the relevant 
week, the amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this 
sub-paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be 
determined by dividing the amount of the income-based jobseeker’s allowance to which 
he would have been so entitled by the number equal to the number of days in the part-
week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7; and 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 55 Page 363



        	

               
       

         
       

         
             

        
                  

         
 

          
          
       

           
          

            
        

 
  

          
             

        
            

           
     

             
  

           
 

             
        
       

 
    

  
              

 
               

 
   
           

        
     

         
              

        
          

  
             

       
    

   
        

          
 

           
             

   

(e) if the claimant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support 
allowance in respect of the reduction week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of 
those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this sub-
paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount must be determined 
by dividing the amount of the income-related employment and support allowance to 
which he would have been so entitled by the number equal to the number of days in that 
part-week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7. 

40.5 The amount determined under paragraph 40.4 shall be re-determined under that paragraph if 
the claimant makes a further claim for council tax support and the conditions in paragraph 40.6 
are satisfied, and in such a case– 

(a) sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) of paragraph 40.4 shall apply as if for the words ‘relevant 
week’ there were substituted the words ‘relevant subsequent week’; and 
(b)subject to paragraph 40.7, the amount as re-determined shall have effect from the first 
week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 

40.6 The conditions are that 
(a) a further claim is made 26 or more weeks after 

(i) the date on which the claimant made a claim for council tax support in respect of which 
he was first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 39.1; 

(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with 
paragraph 40.5, the date on which he last made a claim for council tax support which 
resulted in the weekly amount being re-determined, or 

(iii) the date on which the last ceased to be entitled to council tax support, whichever last 
occurred; and 

(b) the claimant would have been entitled to council tax support for paragraph 39.1. 

40.7 The amount as re-determined pursuant to paragraph 40.5 shall not have effect if it is less than 
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a 
case the higher amount shall continue to have effect. 

40.8 For the purposes of this section 
(a) ‘part-week’ 

(i) in paragraph40.4(a)means a period of less than a week for which council tax support 
is allowed; 
(ii) in paragraph 40.4(b)means a period of less than a week for which housing benefit is 
payable; 
(iii) in paragraph 40.4 (c),(d)and(e)means– 

(aa) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support , an 
income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance is payable; and 

(bb) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
(b) ‘relevant week’ means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question 

of which the claimant has deprived himself within the meaning of section 39.1 
(i) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to council 
tax support; or 
(ii) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or 
re-determining his entitlement to council tax support on that subsequent occasion and 
that determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to 
receive, council tax support; 
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to heads (i) and (ii) 
of this sub-paragraph the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the 
later or latest such part-week; 

(c) ‘relevant subsequent risk’ means the reduction week or part-week which includes the 
day on which the further claim or, if more than one further claim has been made, the last 
such claim was made. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 56 Page 364



        	

   
 

         
             

              
       

            
                

  

      
               

          
   

 
                 

          
 

           
  

 
  

41.0 Capital jointly held 

41.1 Except where a claimant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 39(5) 
(notional capital) where a claimant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in 
possession to any capital asset they shall be treated as if each of them were entitled in 
possession to the whole beneficial interest therein in an equal share and the foregoing 
provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of capital 
which the claimant is treated as possessing as if it were actual capital which the claimant 
does possess 

42.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital 
42.1 Where the claimant’s capital calculated in accordance with this scheme exceeds £6,000 it shall 

be treated as equivalent to a weekly income of £1 for each complete £250 of in excess of £6,000 
but not exceeding £16,000 

42.2 Notwithstanding paragraph 42.1 where any part of the excess is not a complete £250 that part 
shall be treated as equivalent to a weekly tariff income of £1. 

42.3 For the purposes of paragraph 42.1, capital includes any income treated as capital under section 
36 (income treated as capital). 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 57 Page 365



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

         

  

Sections 43 - 56 

Definition and the treatment of students for Council Tax Support purposes 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 58 Page 366



        	

 

    
 

  
                 

          
           

        
                

   
          

      
          
       

              
          
            

          
        

    
        

          
           

             
     

  
         

       
     

        
         

      
         

  
      
   
     

                 
         

                
         

        
            

            
         

          
           

     
             

         
         

          
                

        

43.0 Student related definitions 

43.1 In this scheme the following definitions apply; 
‘academic year’ means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1st July 
or 1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, 
the summer or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the 
course during August or September and to continue attending through the autumn, the 
academic year of the course shall be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer; 
‘access funds’ means; 
a. grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the 

purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 
b. grants made under section 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
c. grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 

1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1997in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other 
payments as the case may be, for the purpose of assisting students in financial difficulties; 

d. discretionary payments, known as ‘learner support funds’, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Young People’s 
Learning Agency for England under sections 61 
and 62 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 or the Chief 
Executive of Skills Funding under section 100 and 101 of that Act; or 

e Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 
‘college of further education’ means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 
1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
’contribution’ means; 
a. any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary 

of State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in 
ascertaining the amount of a student’s grant or student loan; or 

b. any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or bursary in 
Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority takes into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority consider that it is reasonable for the following person to contribute towards 
the holder’s expenses; 
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
(ii) the holder’s parents; 
(iii) the holders parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the 

holder’s parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or 
(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner; ‘course of study’ means any course of study, 

whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether or not a grant is made for 
attending or undertaking it; ‘covenant income’ means the gross income payable 
to a full-time student under a Deed of Covenant by his parent; 

‘education authority’ means a government department, a local education authority as defined 
in section 12 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as defined 
in section 123 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 an education and library board 
established under Article 3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, any 
body which is a research council for the purposes of the Science and Technology Act 1965 or any 
analogous government department, authority, board or body of the Channel Island, Isle of Man 
or any other country outside Great Britain; 
‘full-time course of study’ means a full time course of study which; 
(a) is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 

Education Act 2002,, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a 
full-time course of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish 
Ministers at a college of further education or a full- time course of study which is a 
course of higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 59 Page 367



        	

             
           

             
      

 
                

          
         
    

                 
           
  

                    
   

          
         
             
           

              
          

        
       

               
  

           
        

                 
    

   
      
          

              
      

    
                   

           
    

                  
       

    
              

           
                      

           
             

 
               
        

                   
      
            

   
  

             
             
   

                  
  

(b) is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves 
more than 16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question, according to 
the number of guided learning hours per week for that student set out– 

(i) in the case of a course funded by the Young People’s Learning Agency for England 
or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student’s learning agreement signed 
on behalf of the establishment which is funded by either of those bodies for the 
delivery of that course; or 

(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on 
behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that 
course; or 

(c) is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a 
college of further education and involves; 

(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based 
programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the 
number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or 
(ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed 

learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using 
structured learning packages supported by the teaching staff where the combined 
total of hours exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the number of hours set 
out in a document signed on behalf of the college; 

‘full-time student’ means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and 
includes a student on a sandwich course; 

‘grant’ (except in the definition of ‘access funds’) means any kind of educational grant or 
award and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition allowance or bursary but does not 
include a payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 12 of Schedule 4 or 
paragraph 53 of Schedule 5 applies; 
‘grant income’ means 

(a) any income by way of a grant; 
(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid; 

‘higher education’ means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
‘last day of the course’ means; 

a. in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls 
or the date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, 
whichever is the later; 

b. in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in 
respect of the course in which the student is enrolled; 

‘period of study’ means– 
a. in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the 

start of the course and ending with the last day of the course; 
b. in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case may 

be, any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the 
period beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, the year’s start 
and ending with either– 
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student’s 
grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year, or, 
if he does not have a grant or loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a 
rate had he had one; or 
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation 
appropriate to his course; 

c. in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning 
with that year’s start and ending with the last day of the course; 

‘periods of experience’ means periods of work experience which form part of a 
sandwich course; 
‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 60 Page 368



        	

               
       

     
        

          
         

 
     
             

        
      

             
         

               
      

                 
        

          
               

       
          

         
              
        

 
 

                
  

       
   

             
        

          
       

      
 

            
              

                   
            
         

              
        

            
                 

          
           

 
        

  
               

             
           

         
     

            
        

               

‘modular course’ means a course of study which consists of two or more modules, the successful 
completion of a specified number of which is required before a person is considered by the 
educational establishment to have completed the course. 
’sandwich course’ has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans), (Scotland), 
Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern 
Ireland) 2007, as the case may be; 
‘standard maintenance grant’ means– 
(a) except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or 

undertaking a course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the 
area comprising the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount 
specified for the time being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education 
(Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) for such a student; 

(b) except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent’s home, 
the amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof; 

(c) in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, the amount of money specified as ‘standard maintenance allowance’ for the 
relevant year appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide 
issued by the student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case 
of a bursary provided by a college of further education or a local education authority; 

(d) discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of 
State under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding 
under sections 100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009; 
or 

‘student’ means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is 
attending or undertaking– 
(a) a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
(b) a qualifying course; 
‘student’ loan’ means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any regulations made 

under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1998 and shall include, in Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under 
regulation 4(1)(c) of the Student’s Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007 

43.2 For the purposes of the definition of ‘full-time student’, a person shall be regarded as attending 
or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being on a sandwich course 
(a) in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular course which would 

be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period beginning on 
the day on which that part of the course starts and ending; 
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as 
attending or undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or 
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it; 

(b) in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts 
attending or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such 
earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 

43.3 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph 43.2, the period referred to in that sub-
paragraph shall include; 
(a) where a person has failed examinations or has failed to successfully complete a module 

relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a full-
time course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course 
for the purpose of retaking those examinations or that module; 

(b) any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately 
following that period except where the person has registered with the educational 
establishment to attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation 
immediately follows the last day on which he is required to attend or undertake the 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 61 Page 369



        	

 

    
 

        

         
 

               
         

 
                

                  
          

 
     

          
   
     

           
   

              
          

    
               

           
            

             
     

             
       

                
        

   
            

      
            

        
        

  
               

             
     

   
             
      

            
        

           
          
  

              
        

 
           

        
      

course. 

44.0 Treatment of students 

44.1 The following sections relate to students who claim Council Tax Support 

45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax support 

45.1 Students (except those specified in paragraph 45.3) are not able to claim Council Tax Support 
under Classes D and E of the Council’s reduction scheme. 

45.2 To be eligible for support, the student must be liable for Council Tax under Section 6 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and they must not be deemed to be a full time student or a 
persons from abroad within the meaning of section 7 of this scheme (persons from aboard). 

45.3 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a student 
(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance; 
(b) who is a lone parent; 
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this section, include the disability premium or 
severe disability premium; 
(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being treated as 
capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made under 
section 171E of the Act; 
(e)who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated 
as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 
12A of the Act (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for 
this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days 
shall be treated as one continuous period; 
(ea) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated 
as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations for a continuous period of not less than 196 days, and for this purpose 
any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be 
treated as one continuous period. 
(f) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as 
responsible for a child or young person; 
(g)who is a single claimant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or voluntary 
organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989, or, in Scotland, boarded out within 
the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
(h) who is; 

(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education, or 
(ii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the Act 
(child and qualifying young person); 

(i) in respect of whom 
i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 2 
of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 
(ii) an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes 
a sum under paragraph (1)(d) or regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances 
(Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, as the case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of 
regulation 4 of the Education Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, in 
respect of expenses incurred; 
(iii) a payment has been made under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 or under 
or by virtue of regulations made under the Teaching and Higher Education Act 
1998; 
(iv) a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005 or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2000; or 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 62 Page 370



        	

        
        
         
         

 
          

         
 

         
               
                

                  
 

 
                

     
 

          
         

       
 

              
 

          
        

        
  
 

         
          

                 
 

             
          

                
          
          

      
    

 

     
 

            
   

 
         

 
  
  
           

     
            

  
             

         
  
   

(v) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of 
Schedule 6 to the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a 
payment has been made under Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1986, on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 

45.3A For the purposes of paragraph 45.3(h)(i) the student must have begun, or been enrolled or 
accepted onto the course before attaining the age of 19 

45.4 For the purposes of paragraph 45.3, once paragraph 45.3(e) applies to a full-time student, if he 
then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of 
work, that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

45.5 In paragraph 45.3(h) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a course of 
any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988. 

45.6 A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 45.3 applies, shall be treated as 
satisfying that sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary 
requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be. 

45.7 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in paragraph 45.8 
if; 
(a) at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational 

establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is; 
(i) engaged in caring for another person; or 
(ii) ill; 

(b) he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in engaging in caring for that person or, as the 
case may be, he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and 

(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in 
paragraph 45.8. 

45.8 The period specified for the purposes of paragraph 45.7 is the period, not exceeding one year, 
beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case 
may be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending on the day before; 
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may 

resume attending or undertaking the course, 
which shall first occur. 

46.0 Calculation of grant income 

46.1 The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account shall, subject to paragraphs 
46.2 and 46.3, be the whole of his grant income. 

46.2 There shall be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment; 

(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
(b) in respect of the student’s disability; 
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study 

away from the student’s educational establishment; 
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he 

resides during his course; 
(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside of the United 

Kingdom and there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 
(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 63 Page 371



        	

      
              

                    
        

        
         

    
 

              
          

         
    

 
            

 
               

              
               

         
      

                
                

         
            

 
                 

            
          

           
            
  

 
                    

          
             

           
          

 
                 

            
               

               
           

       
 

                     
          

            
        

 
          

                
      

      
 

              
         

(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant. 
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part III of the Children Act 1989. 

46.3 Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, 
there shall be excluded from the student’s grant income; 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b)the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, whether or 
not any such costs are incurred. 

46.4 There shall also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for dependants known as 
the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the 
Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998. 

46.5 Subject to paragraphs 46.6 and 46.7, a student’s grant income shall be apportioned; 

(a) subject to paragraph 46.8, in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally 
between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows the first day of the period of study and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the period of study; 

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction 
week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable. 

46.6 Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public 
Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of hospital 
authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of 
Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2004 shall be apportioned equally 
over the period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the 
year, 53. 

46.7 In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a 
student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants to which neither paragraph 46.6 nor section 50.0 (other amounts 
to be disregarded) apply, shall be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is 
apportioned or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned. 

46.8 In the case of a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of 
study shall be excluded and the student’s grant income shall be apportioned equally between 
the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately 
follows the last day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last day 
of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study. 

47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 

47.1 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a 
contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into account 
for that period and any summer vacation immediately following shall be the whole amount of 
the covenant income less, subject to paragraph 47.3, the amount of the contribution. 

47.2 The weekly amount of the student’s covenant shall be determined– 
(a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under paragraph 

47.1 by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and 
(b) by disregarding from the resulting amount, £5. 

47.3 For the purposes of paragraph 47.1, the contribution shall be treated as increased by the amount 
(if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 46.2(g) (calculation of grant income) 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 64 Page 372



        	

             
     

          
 

                     
    

               
             

            
             

             
      

        
             

          
 

                
            

     
                  

             
   

             
         

       
 

             
    

     
 

           
          

           
           

           
           

     

      
 

         
 

  
                     

        
 

             
             

              
           

              
            

      
 

falls short of the amount specified in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory 
Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel expenditure). 

48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed 

48.1 Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant income 
shall be calculated as follows; 
(a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 46.2 (a) to (e) (calculation 
of grant income) necessary as a result of his attendance on the course shall be disregarded; 
(b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which is not 

so disregarded, shall be apportioned equally between the weeks of the period of study; 
(c) there shall be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which would 

have been disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and 46.3 (calculation of grant income) 
had the student been in receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 

(d) the balance, if any, shall be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the 
circumstances and treated as weekly income of which £5 shall be disregarded. 

48.2 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been assessed, 
the amount of his covenanted income shall be calculated in accordance with sub-paragraphs (a) 
to (d) of paragraph 48.1, except that; 
(a) the value of the standard maintenance grant shall be abated by the amount of such grant 

income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 
46.2 (a) to (e); and 

(b) the amount to be disregarded under paragraph 48.1(c) shall be abated by an amount 
equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and (g) and 46.3 

49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard 

49.1 No part of a student’s covenant income or grant income shall be disregarded under paragraph 
15 of Schedule 4 to this scheme 

50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded 

50.1 For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and loans 
treated as income in accordance with section 51, any amounts intended for any expenditure 
specified in paragraph 46.2 (calculation of grant income), necessary as a result of his attendance 
on the course shall be disregarded but only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure 
exceeds or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraphs 46.2 or 
46.3, 47.3, 48.1(a) or (c) or 51.5 (calculation of grant income, covenant income and treatment 
of student loans) on like expenditure. 

51.0 Treatment of student loans 

51.1 A student loan shall be treated as income. 

51.2 In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income 
(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan which is 

payable in respect of that period shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week ,the first day of which coincides 

with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year; 
(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the 

course is less than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the course, and ending 
with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes with last day of the course, 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 65 Page 373



        	

                  
             

              
              

         
        

        
               

       
  

 
                   

          
    

            
           

           
           

      
          

      
 
                 

   
          
           
     

        
      

 
           
 

          
          
          

 
                 

           
                 

   
               

      
           

                 
         

                
 

              
 

            
          
             

     

    
                  

              
       

(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a 
loan which is payable in respect of that academic year shall be apportioned equally 
between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately 
precedes, the last day of that academic year but excluding any reduction weeks falling 
entirely within the quarter during which, in the opinion of the Secretary of State, the 
longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, ‘quarter’ shall 
have the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005; 

(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year’s 
duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year shall be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 

with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year; 
(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first 

day of which coincide with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or 
the first day of the autumn term, 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

(d) in any other case, the loan shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period 
beginning with the earlier of; 
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the 

first day of the autumn term, 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned there shall be disregarded £10. 

51.3 A student shall be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where; 
(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so. 

51.4 Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under paragraph 51.3, the amount of 
the student loan to be taken into account as income shall be, subject to paragraph 51.5 
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a 

sum equal to 
(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking 
reasonable steps to do so; and 
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year, 
the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if; 

(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire 
in respect of that year; and 
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test. 

51.5 There shall be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under paragraph 51.4 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, whether 

or not any such costs are incurred. 

51A.0 Treatment of fee loans 
51A. 1A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to regulations 

made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998, section 
22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 66 Page 374



        	

       
 

        
 

           
    

 
                

  
 

              
           

            
           

              
                

  
 
 

         
                

        
          

         
 

    
 

   
 
           

       
          

   
 

      
 

                  
            

   

     
 

                  
  

 
                      
 
                    

          
              
               

Act 1980, shall be disregarded as income. 

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds 

52.1 This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which paragraph 
55.2 or 52.3 (income treated as capital) applies. 

52.2 A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which paragraph 52.3 applies, shall be 
disregarded as income. 

52.3 Subject to paragraph 52.4 of this section and paragraph 35 of Schedule 4, 
a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, 

ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the case 
may be, of the applicant or any other member of his family and 

b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges for 
which that applicant or member is liable, shall be disregarded as income to the extent of 
£20 per week. 

52.4 Where a payment from access funds is made– 
(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but before 

receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended for the 
purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or 

(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person becoming a 
student, 

that payment shall be disregarded as income. 

53.0 Disregard of contribution 

53.1 Where the claimant or his partner is a student and for the purposes of assessing a contribution 
to the student’s grant or student loan, the other partner’s income has been taken into account, 
an amount equal to that contribution shall be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that 
other partner’s income. 

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income 

54.1 Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for the purpose of 
assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account shall be 
disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 

55.0 Income treated as capital 

55.1 Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant income shall be 
treated as capital. 

55.2 Any amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum shall be treated as capital. 

55.3 An amount paid from access fund as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an item 
other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is used for an 
item other than any council tax or water charges for which that claimant or member is liable, 
shall be disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 67 Page 375



        	

       
        

            
               
     

  

56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 
56.1 In calculating a student’s income the authority shall disregard any change in the standard 

maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student’s 
course, if that vacation does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the 
change occurred to the end of that vacation. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 68 Page 376



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

       

  

Sections 57 – 63 

The calculation and amount of Council Tax Support 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 69 Page 377



        	

 

     
 

              
                

  
                

              
           

 
              

         
 

                
                  

          
 

              
         

      
         

          
         

 
                   

      

   
           

       
         
            

   
 

              
         

               
 

         
    

            
    

 
                    

              
                 
              
        

 
                   

              
             

 
       

	
       

   

57.0 Maximum council tax support 

57.1 Subject to paragraphs 57.2 to 57.4, the amount of a person’s maximum council tax support in 
respect of a day for which he is liable to pay council tax, shall be 100 per cent, of the amount 
A/B where; 
(a) A is the amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant 

financial year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which he is liable, 
subject to any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; 
and 

(b) B is the number of days in that financial year, less any deductions in respect of non-
dependants which fall to be made under section 58 (non-dependant deductions). 

57.2 In calculating a person’s maximum council tax support any reduction in the amount that person 
is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of any enactment in, or 
made under, the 1992 Act, shall be taken into account. 

57.3 Subject to paragraph 57.4, where a claimant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons but excepting any 
person so residing with the claimant who is a student to whom paragraph 45.2 (students who 
are excluded from entitlement to council tax support) applies, in determining the maximum 
council tax support in his case in accordance with paragraph 57.1, the amount A shall be divided 
by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

57.4 Where a claimant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with only 
his partner, paragraph 57.3 shall not apply in his case 

58.0 Non-dependant deductions19 

58.1 Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant deductions in respect 
of a day referred to in section 57 (maximum council tax reduction) shall be; 
(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, £12.45 x 1/7; 
(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) does not 

apply, £4.05 x 1/7. 

58.2 In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom paragraph 58.1(a) applies, where it is 
shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross weekly income is– 
(a) less than £217.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph shall be that specified 

in paragraph 58.1(b); 
(b) not less than £217.00, but less than £377.00, the deduction to be made under this section 

shall be £8.30 x1/7 
(c) not less than £377.00, but less than £469.00, the deduction to be made under this section 

shall be £10.40 x 1/7; 

58.3 Only one deduction shall be made under this section in respect of a couple or, as the case may 
be, members of a polygamous marriage and, where, but for this paragraph, the amount that 
would fall to be deducted in respect of one member of a couple or polygamous marriage is 
higher than the amount (if any) that would fall to be deducted in respect of the other, or any 
other, member, the higher amount shall be deducted. 

58.4 In applying the provisions of paragraph 58.2 in the case of a couple or, as the case may be a 
polygamous marriage, regard shall be had, for the purpose of that paragraph, to the couple’s or, 
as the case may be, all members of the polygamous marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 

58.5 Where in respect of a day– 

19 The amounts shown within this section shall be uprated in line with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 70 Page 378



        	

            
  

            
              
        

              
           

   
 

            
 

         
   

     
          

           
    

         
            

   
           

    
         

          
       

         
              

             
              

 
 

 
            

             
  

        
            
  

          
              

   
        
                  

            
        

             
 

 
           

             
     

              
        

       

                 
          

              
      

a. a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect of that 
dwelling and that day; 

b. other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability for council 
tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of section 9 or 77 or 
77A of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and 

c. the person to whom sub-paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more of the 
liable persons, the deduction in respect of that non-dependant shall be apportioned equally 
between those liable persons. 

58.6 No deduction shall be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant’s dwelling 
if the applicant or his partner is– 
(a) blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 (additional condition for 

the disability premium); or 
(b) receiving in respect of himself 

(i) attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for 
(aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of 
The Act; or 
(bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

(ii) the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving that 
component but for 
(aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of 
The Act; or 
(bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

(iii) the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be receiving 
that allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

(iv) an AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in accordance 
with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allows 
for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or 
similar institution. 

; 

58.7 No deduction shall be made in respect of a non-dependant if: 
a. although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal home is 

elsewhere; or 
b. he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with a youth training established 

under section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 
1990; or 

c. he is a full time student within the meaning of section 43.0 (Students); or 
d. he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period of excess of 

52 weeks, and for these purposes; 
e. ‘patient’ has the meaning given within this scheme, and 
f. where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods separated by one or 

more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he shall be treated as having been a patient 
continuously for a period equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods; 

g. he is not residing with the claimant because he is a member of the armed forces away on 
operations 

58.8 No deduction shall be made in respect of a non-dependant; 
(a) who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance 

or an income-related employment and support allowance; 
(b) to whom Schedule 1 of the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of 

discount) but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to a non-dependant who is a student to 
whom paragraph 4 of that Schedule refers; 

(c) who is entitled to an award of universal credit where the award is calculated on the 
basis that the person does not have any earned income.”; 

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (c), “earned income” has the meaning given in regulation 52 
of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 71 Page 379



        	

 
         

         
    

               
            
            

       
       

       
 

            
 

            
            

          
          

             

       
 

                
           

     
 

              
 

            
    

                 
        

            
                 

     
        

   
  
  

              
        

   
        
  

             
 

              
          

             
           

   
               

  
    
        

58.9 In the application of paragraph 58.2 there shall be disregarded from his weekly gross income: 
a. any attendance allowance, disability living allowance or personal independence payment or an 

AFIP received by him; 
b. any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust , MFET Limited, the Skipton 

Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which had his income 
fallen to be calculated under section 30 (calculation of income other than earnings) would 
have been disregarded under paragraph 24 of Schedule 4 (income in kind); and 

c. any payment which had his income fallen to be calculated under section 30 would have been 
disregarded under paragraph 36 of Schedule 4 (payments made under certain trusts and 
certain other payments). 

59.0 Council tax support taper (applies to persons defined within Class E) 

59.1 The prescribed daily percentage for the purpose of calculating support as a percentage of excess 
of income over the applicable amount which is deducted from maximum council tax support, 
shall be 2 6/7 per cent. Where a claimant’s income exceeds their applicable amount, their 
council tax support shall be calculated by deducting their excess income multiplied by the taper 
from their maximum council tax support as defined within section 57 of this scheme 

59A.0 Reduction of entitlement (Classes A & B) 

59A.1 Any entitlement calculated in accordance with this scheme shall be reduced by a percentage as 
shown in Schedule 6. The standard deduction shall apply to the council tax support calculated 
for all working age claimants. 

59A.2 Where the following circumstances are met Schedule 6 outlines the deduction that shall apply: 

• Where the applicant or their partner receive, Disability Living Allowance or a 
Personal Independence Payment; or 

• An applicant who is a lone parent and who is responsible and resides with a child 
under 5 years old ; o r 

• Where the applicant or their partners receives carers allowance; or 
• Where the applicant or their partner is in receipt of a war pension, war widows 

pension, war disablement pension or equivalent; or 
• Where the applicant or their partner receive: 

o Income Support; or 
o Income Related Employment and Support Allowance; or 
o Income Based Jobseeker’s Allowance; 

• Where the applicant or their partner is in receipt of Universal Credit and 
immediately prior to receipt of that were in receipt of: 

o Income Support; or 
o Income Related Employment and Support Allowance; or 
o Income Based Jobseeker’s Allowance; 

• Where the applicant, or their partner, is in receipt of Jobseeker’s Allowance 
Contribution Based; 

• Where the applicant, or their partner, is in receipt of Main Phase Employment and 
Support Allowance and are in the Work Related Activity Group; 

• Where the applicant is in receipt of Maximum Universal Credit and is neither 
employed, self-employed or in receipt of any other income which is taken into 
account when calculating their Universal Credit award; and 

• Where the applicant is in receipt of Universal Credit which includes any of the 
following elements: 

o Limited capability for work 
o Limited capability for work & work related activity 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 72 Page 380



        	

    
 

              
        

           
         

  
        
    

  
           

         
           

        
           

  
 

                  
    

          
             

              
  

 
                 

         
  

 
                  

  
             

      
              

          
          

 
 

           
         

  

   

 
                

              
        

 
             

         
  

 
     

 
         
           

 
 

60.0 Extended reductions 

60.1 A claimant who is entitled to council tax support (by virtue of the general conditions of 
entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction where; 
(a) the claimant or the claimant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying income- related benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the claimant or the 

claimant’s partner– 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
and that employment is or, as the case may be, increased earnings or increased number 
of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and 

(c) the claimant or the claimant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
income-related benefit, jobseeker’s allowance or a combination of those benefits for a 
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a 
qualifying income-related benefit ceased. 

60.2 For the purpose of paragraph 60.1(c), a claimant or a claimant’s partner is to be treated as having 
been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit or jobseeker’s allowance 
during any period of less than five weeks in respect of which the claimant or the claimant’s 
partner was not entitled to any of those benefits because the claimant or the claimant’s partner 
was engaged in remunerative work as a consequence of their participation in an employment 
zone programme. 

60.3 For the purpose of this section, where a claimant or a claimant’s partner is entitled to and in 
receipt of joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance they shall be treated as being entitled to and in 
receipt of jobseeker’s allowance. 

60.4 A claimant must be treated as entitled to council tax support by virtue of the general conditions of 
entitlement where– 

(a) the claimant ceased to be entitled to council tax support because the claimant vacated 
the dwelling in which the claimant was resident; 

(b) the day on which the claimant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 
entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 
listed in paragraph 60.1(b). 

60.5 This section shall not apply where, on the day before a claimant’s entitlement to income support 
ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support Regulations (remunerative work: housing costs) 
applied to that claimant. 

60A.0 Duration of extended reduction period 

60A.1 Where a claimant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction period starts on 
the first day of the reduction week immediately following the reduction week in which the 
claimant, or the claimant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

60A.2 For the purpose of paragraph (60A.1), a claimant or a claimant’s partner ceases to be entitled to 
a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement 
to that benefit. 

60A.3 The extended reduction period ends; 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the claimant to whom the extended reduction is payable has no 
liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 73 Page 381



        	

    
 

              
       

            
         

     
            

           
       

            
    

         
 

       
              

    

     
   

      
           
 

           
            

             
    

 
                   

          
 

     
    
 

 
             

        
   

          
         

           
        

       
   

 
                

       
          

 
          

         
  

    
 

                

60B.0 Amount of extended reduction 

60B.1 For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 
payable to a claimant shall be the higher of– 
(a) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant was entitled under the general 

conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the claimant or the claimant’s 
partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income- related benefit; 

(b) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction 
period, if section 60 (extended reductions) did not apply to the claimant; or 

(c) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant’s partner would be entitled 
under the general conditions of entitlement, if section 60 did not apply to the claimant. 

60B.2 Paragraph 60B1 does not apply in the case of a mover. 

60B.3 Where a claimant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this section and the claimant’s 
partner makes a claim for council tax support, no amount of council tax support shall be payable 
by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction period. 

60C Extended reductions – movers 
60C.1 This section applies; 

(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

60C.2 The amount of the extended reduction payable from the Monday from which this section applies 
until the end of the extended reduction period shall be the amount of council tax support which 
was payable to the mover for the last reduction week before the mover, or the mover’s partner, 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

60C.3 Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to the second 
authority, the extended reduction may take the form of a payment from the appropriate 
authority to; 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

60C.4 Where– 
(a) a mover, or the mover’s partner, makes a claim for council tax support to the second 

authority after the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
income-related benefit; and 

(b) the mover, or the mover’s partner, is in receipt of an extended reduction from the 
appropriate authority, the second authority shall reduce the weekly amount of council 
tax support that the mover, or the mover’s partner, is entitled to by a sum equal to the 
amount of the extended reduction until the end of the extended reduction period. 

60D.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to council tax support under the 
general conditions of entitlement 

60D.1 Where a claimant’s council tax support award would have ended when the claimant ceased to 
be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 
60.1(b), that award will not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

60D.2 Changes of circumstances and increases for exceptional circumstances shall not apply to any 
extended reduction payable in accordance with paragraph 60B.1(a) or 60C.2 (amount of 
extended reduction – movers). 

61.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) 

61.1 A claimant who is entitled to council tax support (by virtue of the general conditions of 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 74 Page 382



        	

         
         
        

  
        
    

             
             

      
             

       
        

    
           

            
   

 
                 

   
        

      
              

    
         

 
 

     
 

               
        

             
 

 
        

       
 

 
   

        
       

            

      
               

          
           

           
   

            
     
        

   
           

          
 

          

entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where; 
(a) the claimant or the claimant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the claimant or the 

claimant’s partner; 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, and that employment 

is or, as the case may be, increased earnings or increased number of hours are 
expected to last five weeks or more; 

(c) the claimant or the claimant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a continuous 
period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying 
contributory benefit ceased; and 

(d) the claimant or the claimant’s partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a qualifying 
income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the claimant, or the claimant’s 
partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

61.2 A claimant must be treated as entitled to council tax support by virtue of the general conditions 
of entitlement where; 
(a) the claimant ceased to be entitled to council tax support because the claimant vacated 

the dwelling in which the claimant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the claimant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 
(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 

listed in paragraph 61.1(b). 

61A.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits) 

61A.1 Where a claimant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), the 
extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following 
the reduction week in which the claimant, or the claimant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a 
qualifying contributory benefit. 

61A.2 For the purpose of paragraph 61A.1, a claimant or a claimant’s partner ceases to be entitled to a 
qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to 
that benefit. 

61A.3 The extended reduction period ends; 
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the claimant to whom the extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) is payable has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

61B.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
61B.1 For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 

(qualifying contributory benefits) payable to a claimant shall be the higher of; 
(a) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant was entitled under the general 

conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the claimant or the claimant’s 
partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

(b) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction 
period, if section 61 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)) did not 
apply to the claimant; or 

(c) the amount of council tax support to which the claimant’s partner would be entitled 
under the general conditions of entitlement, if section 61 did not apply to the claimant. 

61B .2 Paragraph 61B.1 does not apply in the case of a mover. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 75 Page 383



        	

 
               

         
             
 

      
   

     
         

 
         

               
            

        
 

 
                   

             
     

     
    
 

  
              

        
   

         
          

       
          

         
 

    
        

 
                 

     
           

          
      

      
 

       
  

       
    

          
 

      
     
     

	
    

61B.3 Where a claimant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) under 
this section and the claimant’s partner makes a claim for council tax support, no amount of 
council tax support shall be payable by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction 
period. 

61C.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) – movers 
61C.1 This section applies; 

(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

61C.2 The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable from the 
Monday from which this section applies until the end of the extended reduction period shall be 
the amount of council tax support which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week 
before the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory 
benefit. 

61C.3 Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to the second 
authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a 
payment from the appropriate authority to– 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

61C.4 Where 
(a) a mover, or the mover’s partner, makes a claim for council tax support to the second 

authority after the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit; and 

(b) the mover, or the mover’s partner, is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) from the appropriate authority, the second authority shall reduce 
the weekly amount of council tax support that the mover, or the mover’s partner, is 
entitled to by a sum equal to the amount of the extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) until the end of the extended reduction period. 

61D.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement 
to council tax support under the general conditions of entitlement 

61D.1 Where a claimant’s council tax support award would have ended when the claimant ceased to 
be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 61.1 (b), 
that award will not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

61D.2 Changes of circumstances and increases for exceptional circumstances shall not apply to any 
extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 
61B.1(a) or 61C.2 (amount of extended reduction– movers). 

61E.0 Extended reductions: - Movers Generally 20 

61E.1 Where; 

a. an application is made to a billing authority (“the current authority”) for a reduction 
under this scheme, and 

b. the applicant, or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction 
from 

c. (i) another billing authority in England; 
(ii) a billing authority in Wales;  
(iii) a local authority in Scotland, or  

20 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 76 Page 384



        	

      

           
        

  

(iv) a local authority in Northern Ireland, 

the current billing authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled 
under this scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 77 Page 385



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   
  

Sections 64 – 67 

Changes of circumstances within Council Tax Support 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 78 Page 386



        	

 

     
 

               
           

           
 

              
                 

                    
 

    

        
 

              
  

           
            

          
     

               
            

          
     

  
 

               
         

 
                    

            
           
               

 
               

            
     

 
  

64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin 

64.1 Subject to paragraph 64.2, any person to whom or in respect of whom a claim for council tax 
support is made and who is otherwise entitled to that support shall be entitled from the 
reduction week following the date on which that application is made or treated as made. 

64.2 Where a person is otherwise entitled to council tax support and becomes liable for the first time 
for the authority’s council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident in the reduction 
week in which his claim is made or is treated as made, he shall be so entitled from that reduction 
week. 

65.0 - 66.0 Not Used 

67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 

67.1 For working age claimants, the effective date of change for any change in circumstances will be 
as follows; 

a. where the change increases the amount of support payable to the claimant and where 
the change has been notified to the authority in writing (or by any other method 
approved by the authority) within 21 days of the happening of the event , the Monday 
following the date of the change; 

b. where the change increases the amount of support payable to the claimant and where 
the change has been notified to the authority in writing (or by any other method 
approved by the authority) more than 21 days of the happening of the event, the 
Monday following the date notified of the change; 

c. In any other event, other than that specified in 67.2, the actual date of the change.. 

67.2 Subject to paragraph 67.3, where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of 
council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs. 

67.3 Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect 
of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts 
of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under sections 11 
or 12 of that Act, it shall take effect from the day on which the change in amount has effect. 

67.4 Any overpayment of Council Tax Support will be recoverable in full including any errors made 
by the claimant, their partner, family members, appointees, errors by the Council or its agent 
or any other areas of Government. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 79 Page 387



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

         

  

Sections 68– 74 

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council Tax Support purposes 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 80 Page 388



        	

 

    
 

                 
                  

    
 

                     
  

          
        

                
         

           
           

          
            

          
    

 
                     

      
                 

              
            
  

 
          

   
   
               

    
          

  
 

                    
          

           
           

  
 

                    
           

           
               

 

         
              

 
      

  
        

	
  
  

68.0 Who may claim21 

68.1 In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application shall be made by 
whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, by such one of 
them as the authority determines. 

68.2 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 
being to act, and; 
(a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to apply, or as the 

case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian acting or 

appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply 
or, as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

(c) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, that 
deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make an application 
on behalf of that person. 

68.3 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 
being to act and paragraph (2) does not apply to him, an authority may, upon written application 
made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, appoint that person to 
exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to which that person might be 
entitled under the authority’s scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf with any sums 
payable to him. 

68.4 Where the authority has made an appointment under paragraph (3) or treated a person as an 
appointee under paragraph (5); 
(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in writing to 

the authority of his intention to do so; 
(c) any such appointment shall terminate when the authority is notified of the appointment 

of a person mentioned in paragraph (2). 

68.5 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being 
unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf under 
regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable to 
act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by them 
under paragraph (3). 

68.6 Anything required by an authority’s scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the time 
being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned paragraph (2) above or by or 
to the person appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and the receipt of any 
such person so appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for any sum paid. 

69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under an authority’s scheme22 

69.1 Paragraphs 2 to 8 apply to an application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme. 

69.2 An application may be made— 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of Schedule 7 Council 

21 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
22 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 81 Page 389



        	

     
               

  
 

                  
 

              
               
   
 

            
                

    
                  

          
         

          
        

           
 

 
          

            
                    

         
            

          
   

             
             

 
 

             
           

            
     

 
           

        
  

 
            

        
              

  
 

             
              

               
         

    
         

    
       

        
        
             

Tax Reductions (Prescribed requirements) Regulations 2012 or 
(c) (where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving such 

applications) by telephone. 

69.3 (1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the offices of the authority on a 
properly completed form. 
(2) The form will be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 
(3) The authority may accept any notification of universal credit from the Secretary of State as 
an application for a reduction. 

69.4. Where an application received by the authority is defective because 
(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by the 

authority as being properly completed; or 
(b) it was made in writing but not on the form approved for the purpose and the authority 

does not accept the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the 
circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the written information and 
evidence, the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the 
applicant to complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph 
(b) applies, supply the applicant with the approved form or request further information 
and evidence. 

69.5. (1) Where an application made in writing is defective because— 
(a) the form provided by the authority has not been properly completed; or 
(b) if it is made in writing, but not on the form provided by the authority, and the authority 

does not consider the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the 
circumstances of the case, the authority may request the applicant to complete the 
defective application or (as the case may be) supply the applicant with the form to 
complete or request further information or evidence. 

(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if completed 
in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to provide 
information and evidence in connection with the application. 

69.6. (1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority will provide 
the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does not 
provide all the information the authority requires. 

69.7. In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is only 
valid if the person making the application approves a written statement of his circumstances 
provided by the authority. 

69.8. (1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority will provide the person making 
the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all the 
information the authority requests during the telephone call. 

69.9 Notwithstanding other paragraphs within this section, the authority will determine the method 
by which claims are to be made as well as where claims should be sent or delivered. Any letter 
received from the Secretary of State for Work & Pensions in respect of any claim for another 
benefit shall be treated as a claim for Council Tax Reduction. 

69A.0 Date on which a claim made 
69A.1 Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is 

(a) in a case where; 
(i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an 
income- related employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit 
has been made to the applicant or his partner, and 
(ii) the application for a reduction under this scheme is made within one month of 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 82 Page 390



        	

       
         

        
      

  
   

          
       

      
           

        
          
        

       
   

             
       

             
             

      
            

       
               

          
       

                
  

       
       

         
 

        
    

          
   

   
 

         
              

              
        

        
              

            
       

           
              

  
 

     
            

            
    

              
 

               
          

            

the date on which the claim for that income support, jobseeker's allowance, 
employment and support allowance or universal credit was received, 

the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance, an 
income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from that 
claim; 
(b) in a case where— 

(i) an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance 
or has an award of universal credit, 
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect 
of the dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 
(iii) the application to the authority is received at the authority’s offices within 
one month of the date of the change, 

the date on which the change takes place; 
(c) in a case where— 

(i) the applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his death 
or their separation, entitled to a reduction under this scheme, and 
(ii) where the applicant makes an application for a reduction under this scheme 
within one month of the date of the death or the separation, 

the date of the death or separation; 
(d) except where paragraph (a), (b) or (c) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed 
application is received within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date on which an application form was issued to the applicant following 
the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an 
application, the date of first notification; 
(e) in any other case, the date on which the application is received at the offices of the 
authority. 

69A.2 For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(a) a person who has been awarded an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance is to 
be treated as entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately precede the first day 
in that award and on which he would, but for regulations made under— 
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or 
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of Schedule 
2 to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), 
have been entitled to that allowance. 

69A.3 Where the defect in an application by telephone 
(a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority is to treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance; 
(b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority is to treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has 
sufficient information to decide on the application. 

69A.4 The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first 
instance if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or (c) 
are satisfied. 

69A.5 The conditions are that— 
(a) where the authority receives the properly completed application or the information 
requested to complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer 
period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
(b) where an application is not on approved form or further information requested by 
authority applies; 
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the offices of the authority properly 
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be; 
(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested within one month 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 83 Page 391



        	

     
  

              
           

               
 

        
              
              
            
          
         
 

         
                

                
             

   
               

          
                  

          
              

      
 

 
            

           
 

    
 

         
        

       
          

         

   
 

                
        

              
         

         
                  

 
 

           
     

 
          

 
                

	
     

of the request;  or, 
in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 

(d) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its offices 
the properly completed application or the information requested to complete it within one 
month of the request or within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable. 

69A.6 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in United 
Kingdom, where a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is 
anticipated that he will become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), 
he may apply for a reduction under this scheme at any time in that period in respect of that 
tax and, provided that liability arises within the relevant period, the authority is to treat the 
application as having been made on the day on which the liability for the tax arises. 

69A.7 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in United Kingdom, 
where the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this scheme in the reduction week 
immediately following the date of his application but the authority is of the opinion that unless 
there is a change of circumstances he will be entitled to a reduction under this scheme for a 
period beginning not later than 
(a) in the case of an application made by a pensioner, the seventeenth reduction week 
following the date on which the application is made, or 
(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the thirteenth 
reduction week following the date on which the application is made, 
the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week immediately 
preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and award a reduction 
accordingly. 

69A.8 Sub-paragraph (7) applies in the case of a person who has attained, or whose partner has 
attained, the age which is 17 weeks younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit. 

70.0 Submission of evidence electronically 

70.1 The authority may accept such evidence, documents and certificates to support the claim 
electronically where it feels that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence 
71.1 The authority may accept such evidence to support the claim by telephone where it feels 

that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

72.0 Evidence and information23 

72.1 Subject to paragraph (2), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a reduction 
under an authority’s scheme has been awarded, shall furnish such certificates, documents, 
information and evidence in connection with the application or the award, or any question 
arising out of the application or the award, as may reasonably be required by the authority in 
order to determine that person's entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to a reduction under 
its scheme and shall do so within one month of the authority requiring him to do so or such 
longer period as the authority may consider reasonable. 

72.2 Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, documents, information 
or evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (4) applies. 

72.3 Where a request is made under sub-paragraph (1), the authority shall; 

(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under its scheme has been 

23 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 84 Page 392



        	

        
                   

        
         

 

      

            
        

     

        
        

  

        
            

      

                 
         

      
         

         

    
        

      
 

                 
   
 

               
      

 
              

   
 

                  
           

 
               

      
 

                  
 

 

      
 

        
          

	
  
  

awarded of his duty to notify the authority of any change of circumstances; and 
(b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed, indicate to him either orally or by notice 

or by reference to some other document available to him on application and without 
charge, the kind of change of circumstances which is to be notified. 

72.4 This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments— 

(a) a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the London Bombings Relief Charitable 
Fund, the WLMEF or the LET; 

(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 9 (payments made 
under certain trusts and certain other payments), other than a payment under the 
Independent Living Fund (2006); 

(c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 29(9)(b) or (c) (non-dependant 
deductions) or paragraph 2(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 (second adult's gross income) other than a 
payment under the Independent Living Fund (2006). 

72.5 Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded 
or any partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a member of, or 
a person deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension scheme, he must 
where the authority so requires furnish the following information 

(a) the name and address of the pension fund holder; 

(b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to enable 
 the personal pension scheme to be identified. 

73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of claim 24 

73.1 A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has 
been made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the offices of the authority. 

73.2 Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with this scheme, the amendment 
may also be made by telephone. 

73.3 Any application amended in accordance with paragraph (1) or (2) will be treated as if it had been 
amended in the first instance. 

73.4 A person who has made an application may withdraw it at any time before a decision has been 
made on it by notice to the offices of the authority. 

73.5 Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with this scheme, the withdrawal 
may also be made by telephone. 

73.6 Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with paragraph (4) or (5) shall have effect when it 
is received. 

74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances25 

74.1 Subject to paragraph (2), if at any time between the making of an application to an authority 
and a decision being made on it there is a change of circumstances which the applicant (or any 

24 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
25 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 85 Page 393



        	

         
       
       

    
   

       
          

   
            

  
         
 

       
          
         
              

        
        

      
             

          
     

  
 

            
          
                    
   

  

person acting on his behalf) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his entitlement 
to, or the amount of, a reduction under that authority’s scheme, that person is under a duty to 
notify that change of circumstances by giving notice to the authority; 
(a) in writing; or 
(b) by telephone; 

(i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose unless the 
authority determines that in any particular case or class of case notification may not be 
given by telephone; or 
(ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be given 
by telephone; or 

(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case. 

74.2 The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying changes in; 
(a) the amount of a council tax payable to the authority; 
(b) the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
(c) in the case of an applicant on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or 

an income-related employment and support allowance, or who has an award of universal 
credit, in circumstances which affect the amount of income support, an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance, an income-related employment and support allowance or 
universal credit but not the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which he is 
entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to income support, an income-
based jobseeker's allowance, an income-related employment and support allowance or 
universal credit. 

74.3 Notwithstanding paragraph (2)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by paragraph (1) to notify the 
authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that a person 
who was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he ceases to be a 
child or young person. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 86 Page 394



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

     
  

Sections 75- 90 

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council Tax Support 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 87 Page 395



        	

 

     
                  

      
 

    
 

       
 

                 
 

                 
  

 
             

 
   
       

  
          

    
 

               
            

        
   

 
         

          
 

               
              

    
 

    
  

           
      
  

    
               

              
     

           
          

            
    
      

        
 

	
         
  
     

75.0 Decisions by the authority26 

75.1 An authority must make a decision on an application for a reduction under its scheme within 14 
days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

76.0 Notification of decision27 

76.1 The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under this 
scheme 
(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter; 
(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter. 

76.2 Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 
include a statement— 
(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 74.1; 
(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with that 
duty; and 
(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the reduction 
or its amount. 

76.3 A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, 
within one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the 
authority to provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any matter 
set out in the notice. 

76.4 The written statement referred to in paragraph 76.3 must be sent to the person requesting it 
within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

76.5 For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a decision 
of the authority under this scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that person are 
affected by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (6). 

76.6 This sub-paragraph applies to— 
a)the applicant; 
b)in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is unable 
for the time being to act— 
(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may be, 
receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the Adults with 
Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit 
on the person’s behalf; or 
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 
a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 68.2. 
c) a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 68.3 

77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax support28 

26 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
27 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
28 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 88 Page 396



        	

         
               

        
           

       
   
    

           
    

              
     

              
      

 
           

          
 

 
  

               
     

             
         

  
   

            
       

        
                

         
          

    
                

           
      

 
       

     
     

 

         
 

              
     

 
                 

           
         

   
 

	
  

77.1 Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s scheme in respect of his 
liability for the authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial year 
(“the chargeable year”), the authority must discharge his entitlement; 
(a) by reducing, so far as possible, the amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) of 

the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers; or 
(b) where; 

(i) such a reduction is not possible; or 
(ii) such a reduction would be insufficient to discharge the entitlement to a reduction 
under the authority’s scheme; or 
(iii) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council 
tax and the authority determines that such a reduction would be inappropriate, by 
making payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded 
where necessary to the nearest penny. 

77.2 The authority must notify the person entitled to a reduction under this scheme of the 
amount of that reduction and how his entitlement is to be discharged in pursuance of 
paragraph (1). 

77.3 In a case to which paragraph (1)(b) refers; 
(a) if the amount of the council tax for which he remains liable in respect of the 

chargeable year, after any reduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) refers has been 
made, is insufficient to enable his entitlement to a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme in respect thereof to be discharged, upon the final instalment of that tax 
becoming due any outstanding reduction; 
(i) must be paid to that person if he so requires; or 
(ii) in any other case must (as the authority determines) either be repaid or credited 
against any subsequent liability of the person to make a payment in respect of the 
authority's council tax as it has effect for any subsequent year; 

(b) if that person has ceased to be liable for the authority's council tax and has 
discharged the liability for that tax, the outstanding balance (if any) of the reduction 
under the authority’s scheme in respect thereof must be paid within 14 days or, if 
that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter 

(c) in any other case, the reduction under the authority’s scheme must be paid within 
14 days of the receipt of the application at the offices of the authority or, if that is 
not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter. 

77.4 For the purposes of this paragraph “instalment” means any instalment of the authority's 
council tax to which regulation 19 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 refers (council tax payments). 

78.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid 29 

78.1 Subject to section 80 (payment on death) and paragraph (2), any payment of the amount of 
a reduction must be made to that person. 

78.2 Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under an authority’s 
scheme made the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting 
pursuant to an appointment or is treated as having been so appointed, the amount of the 
reduction may be paid to that person. 

29 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 89 Page 397



        	

     
                 

           
      

                   
            

             
    

                
        

          
 

 

       
 

          
               
             

          
 

 

  
 

                   
        

            
              

    

    
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

	
  
    

79.0 Shortfall in support / reduction30 

79.1 Where, on the revision of a decision allowing a reduction under an authority’s scheme to a 
person, it is determined that the amount allowed was less than the amount to which that person 
was entitled, the authority must either; 
(a) make good any shortfall in reduction which is due to that person, by reducing so far as 

possible the next and any subsequent payments he is liable to make in respect of the 
council tax of the authority as it has effect for the chargeable financial year until that 
shortfall is made good; or 

(b) where this is not possible or the person concerned so requests, pay the amount of 
any shortfall in reduction due to that person within 14 days of the revision of the 
decision being made or if that is not reasonable practicable, as soon as possible 
afterwards. 

80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled31 

80.1 Where the person entitled to any reduction under this scheme has died and it is not possible 
to award the reduction which is due in the form of a reduction of the council tax for which 
he was liable, the authority must make payment of the amount of the reduction to his 
executor or administrator in accordance with regulation 58(4) of the Council Tax 
(Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992. 

. 

81.0 Offsetting 

81.1 Where a person has been allowed or paid a sum of council tax support under a decision which 
is subsequently revised or further revised, any sum allowed or paid in respect of a period covered 
by the subsequent decision shall be offset against arrears of entitlement under the subsequent 
decision except to the extent that the sum exceeds the arrears and shall be treated as properly 
awarded or paid on account of them. 

82 – 90.0 Not used 

30 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 
31 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 90 Page 398



        	

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

      
  

Sections 91 – 94 

Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council Tax Support purposes 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 91 Page 399



        	

 

             
     

 
           

      
              

            
    

 
                

              
   

     
 

       
          

        
     
     
        

 
     

 

    
 

   
        
            

             
 

    
 

        
          

    
         

              
 

 
          

           
         

             
    

 
  

	
             

91.0 Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her 
Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) 

91.1 The authority will use information provided by the DWP and HMRC for the purposes of Council 
Tax Reduction, council tax liability, billing, administration and enforcement as outlined within 
Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012 and the Social Security (Information-sharing in relation to Welfare Services 
etc.) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 

91.2 Where required by the relevant department and where required by law, the authority will share 
information obtained for Council Tax Reduction with the DWP or HMRC as appropriate and in 
accordance with Data Protections requirements32. 

92.0 Collection of information 

92.1 The authority may receive and obtain information and evidence relating to claims for council tax 
support, the council may receive or obtain the information or evidence from– 
(a) persons making claims for council tax support; 
(b) other persons in connection with such claims; 
(c) other local authorities; or 
(d) central government departments including the DWP and HMRC 

92.2 The authority may verify relevant information supplied to, or obtained. 

93.0 Recording and holding information 

93.1 The authority may 
(a) make a record of such information; and 
(b) hold that information, whether as supplied or obtained or recorded, for the purpose of 
forwarding it to the person or authority for the time being administering council tax support. 

94.0 Forwarding and Checking of information 

94.1 The authority may forward it to the person or authority for the time being administering claims 
to or awards of council tax support to which the relevant information relates, being 
(i) a local authority; 
(ii) a person providing services to a local authority; or 
(iii) a person authorised to exercise any function of a local authority relating to council tax 
support. 

94.2 By law, we may check the information you have provided, or information provided about you by 
someone else, against other information we already have. We may also ask other agencies, 
organisations, local authorities or government departments to give us information they have 
about you. This is to make sure the information you have given us is accurate, and to prevent or 
detect crime and to protect public funds. 

32 Data Retention and Investigatory Powers Act 2014 and Data Retention Regulations 2014 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 92 Page 400



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

       
  

Sections 95 – 98 

Revisions, Written Statements, Termination of Council Tax Support 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 93 Page 401



        	

 

    
                   

 
  
                     

      
           

       
            

       
                

          
           

     
 

    
             

             
       

          
         

            
            

         
  

          

   
               

              
   

 

  
             

     
               
               
                  

     
 
 
  

95.0 Persons affected by Decisions 
95.1 A person is to be treated as a person affected by a relevant decision of the authority where that 

person is; 
a. a claimant; 
b. in the case of a person who is liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling and is unable 

for the time being to act 
(i) a Deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may 
be, receive benefit or support on his behalf, 
(ii) in Scotland, a tutor, curator, judicial factor or other guardian acting or appointed in terms 
of law administering that person’s estate, or 
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to receive benefit or support appointed by 
the person liable to make those payments under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise; 

c. a person appointed by the authority under this scheme; 

96.0 Revisions of Decisions 
96.1 Subject to the provisions in this scheme, a relevant decision (the original decision) may be 

revised or further revised by the authority, which made the decision where the person affected 
makes an application for a revision within; 

(i) one month of the date of notification of the original decision; or 
(ii) such extended time as the authority may allow. 

96.2 The authority may revise or further revise that original decision at any time. Where further 
information is required from the person affected, the authority shall request such information 
and evidence as it feels is reasonable. Such information must be supplied within; 

i) one month of the date of notification of the additional information; or 
(ii) such extended time as the authority may allow 

97.0 Written Statements 
97.1 Subject to the provisions in the scheme, the authority may upon request issue a written 

statement to a person affected to further explain the decision of the authority in relation to 
Council Tax Support. 

98.0 Terminations 
98.1 The authority may terminate, in whole or in part the Council Tax Support where it appears to 

the authority that an issue arises; 
a. whether the conditions for entitlement to Council Tax Support are or were fulfilled; or 
b. whether a decision as to an award of such a support should be revised or superseded. 
c. where the person fails to provide information to the authority as requested in relation to 

any matter relating to their liability for Council Tax 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 94 Page 402



        	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     
 
  

Section 99 

Appeals against the authority’s decisions 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 95 Page 403



        	

 

         
 

            
        
         

             
     
 

   
     
   

      
          

 
 

            
       

                 
   

 
  

	
  
            	

99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority33 

99.1 A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority, which affects; 
a. the person’s entitlement to a reduction under its scheme, or 
b. the amount of any reduction to which that person is entitled, 

may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds 
on which, he is aggrieved. 

99.2 The authority must 
a. consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
b. notify the aggrieved person in writing; 

i. that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
ii. that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps 

taken. 

99.3 Where, following notification under sub-paragraph (2)(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, 
or if the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(b) 
within two months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to the valuation tribunal under 
section 16 of the 1992 Act34. 

33 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
34 As amended by the Tribunal Procedure (Amendment No 3 ) Rules 2014 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 96 Page 404



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   
  

Section 100 

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 97 Page 405



        	

 

          
    

 
               

       
 

        
 

 
  

	
  

100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A (1) (a) 
section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act35 

100.1 Full details of how of to apply for a discretionary reduction can be found in the Council’s 
Council Tax and Business Rates Discretionary Discount Scheme. 

100.2 The Council may make an additional discretionary award, which could be granted in accordance 
with either S13A (1)(a) or S13A (1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 

35 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 98 Page 406



        	

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  
  

	
  

Section 101 – 106A36 

Electronic Communication 

36 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 99 Page 407



        	

 

  
  

   
              
       

      
 

     
       
 

              
              
   
 

                
          
   
 

       
       
   
      

    
     

 
               

  
 

         
         
 

               
  
 

             
          

    
 

     
            
          

        

       
 

               
              
        

    
    

   
 

       

101.0 Interpretation 
101.1 In this Part; 

“information” includes an application, a certificate, notice or other evidence; and 
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of an 
authority for sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 

102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication 

102.1 The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and 
awards of, reductions under its scheme. 

102.2 A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with 
the matters referred to in paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in paragraphs (3) to (6) 
are satisfied. 

102.3 The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 
communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of 
the authority. 

102.4 The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of: 
a. authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
b. electronic communication; 
c. authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic 

communication; and 
d. subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 

102.5 The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is 
in a form approved for the purposes. 

102.6 The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form 
as may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 

102.7 Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 

102.8 In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief 
Executive of the authority for the purposes of this section. 

103.0 Use of intermediaries 

103.1 The authority may use intermediaries in connection with; 
a. the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
b. the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 

and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 

104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 

104.1 Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be 
treated as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of an 
authority’s scheme on the day the conditions imposed: 

a. by this section; and 
b. by or under an enactment, 

are satisfied. 

104.2 The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 100 Page 408



        	

          
 

                
                
  

         
 

   
             

    
      

     
              
  

      
 

                
            
     
             
  
             
  
 

                
           
           
    
 

               
               
          

      
 

                 
               

      

 

 

 
 

different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 

104.3 Information may not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by 
means of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is 
delivered. 

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 

105.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of: 
a. the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an 

official computer system; or 
b. the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic communication 

from an official computer system, 
the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name 
is recorded as such on that official computer system. 

106.0 Proof of delivery of information 

106.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this is presumed to 
have been the case where; 
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system. 

106.2 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this is 
presumed not to be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not 
been recorded on an official computer system. 

106.3 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such 
information sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time and 
date of receipt is presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 

106A.0 Proof of content of information 

106A.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any 
information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content is presumed to be that 
recorded on an official computer system. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 101 Page 409



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 
  

Section 107 

Counter Fraud and Compliance 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 102 Page 410



        	

 

  
 

                 
        

              
      
       

 
           

             
 

            
             
          

         
            

 
 

          
       
          
        
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance 

107.1 In order to protect the finances of the authority and also in the interests of all council taxpayers, 
the authority will undertake such actions as allowed by law to; 

a. Prevent and detect fraudulent claims and actions in respect of Council Tax Support; 
b. Carry out investigations fairly, professionally and in accordance with the law; and 
c. Ensure that sanctions are applied in appropriate cases 

107.2 The authority believes that it is important to minimise the opportunity for fraud and; 
a. will implement rigorous procedures for the verification of claims for council tax 

support; 
b. will employ sufficient Officers to fulfil the authority’s commitment to combat fraud; 
c. will actively tackle fraud where it occurs in accordance with this scheme; 
d. will co-operate with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), Her Majesty’s 

Revenues and Customs and take part in joint working including prosecutions; and 
e. will in all cases seek to recover all outstanding council tax. 

107.3 The authority shall put into place such administrative policies, procedures and processes as 
are necessary to ensure that the actions outlined within paragraph 107.1 and 107.2 can be 
carried out successfully. In particular the authority shall undertake actions provided by the 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 
2013. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 103 Page 411



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
  

	
                   

Schedule 1 

Applicable Amounts37 

37 The amounts in this schedule shall be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 104 Page 412



        	

 
 

  
 

         
         

 
  

   
  

    
     

 

 

      
         

   
  

         
     

 

 

           
    

 
            

  
           
       

 
              

 
   

 
 

  
 

     
       

   
   

 

 

       
      
    

 

 

       
        

 

 

 
             

           
 

 
                

         
               

      

1 

2 

Personal Allowance 

The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in 
column (1) shall be the amounts specified for the purposes the main scheme; 

Column 1 
Person or Couple 

Column 2 

1. A Single applicant who; 
a) is entitled to main phase employment and support 
allowance 

£74.70 

b) is aged not less than 25 £74.70 
c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25 £59.20 

2. Lone Parent £74.70 
3. Couple; 

a) Where the applicant is entitled to the main 
phase of employment and support allowance 

£117.40 

b) Where one member is aged not less than 18 £117.40 
c) Polygamous Addition £42.70 

For the purposes of paragraph 1 an applicant is entitled to main phase employment and 
support allowance if; 

a. Paragraph 17 or 18 is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or 
b. The applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance 

(1) The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) 
shall, for the relevant period specified in column (1), be the amounts specified for the purposes 
of the main scheme 

Column 1 
Child or Young Person 

Column 2 

Person in respect of the period– 
(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth and 
ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following that person’s sixteenth 
birthday; 

£68.60 

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September 
following that person’s sixteenth birthday and 
ending on the day preceding that person’s twentieth 
birthday. 

£68.60 

(c) third or subsequent dependent child or young 
person whose date of birth falls on or after 1st April 
2017 

NIL 

(2) In column (1) of the table in paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means the 
Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

Family Premiums 
3. (1) The amount for the purposes of this scheme in respect of a family of which at least one 

member is a child or young person shall be 
a. where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (3) of Schedule 3 of the 

Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 applies, £22.20; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 105 Page 413



        	

   
               

                
      

                
  

              
 

        
     

    
   

        
   

   

 
           

        
     

               
             
         

 
    

 
          
    
    
    

         
 

              
             
               

          
      

      
          

         
           

  
                

          
               

           
             

 

  
              

    
            

6 

b. in any other case, £17.65; 
c. No family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on 

or after 1st May 2016 or where the applicant would have become entitled to the family 
premium on or after 1st May 2016. 
i) Sub paragraph (c) shall not apply to a person who, on 30th April 2016, is entitled to 
Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member 
of the same household. 

(c)  (i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 3 c (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction; 

Premiums 
4. Except as provided in paragraph 5, the premiums specified this Schedule shall, for the purposes 

of this scheme, be applicable to an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in 
paragraphs 4 to 16 in respect of that premium. 

5. Subject to paragraph 6, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of more than one 
premium in this this Schedule, only one premium shall be applicable to him and, if they are 
different amounts, the higher or highest amount shall apply. 

(1) The following premiums, namely– 

a. severe disability premium to which paragraph 10 applies; 
b. an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 11 applies; 
c. a disabled child premium to which paragraph 12 applies; and a 
d. carer premium to which paragraph 13 applies, 

may be applicable in addition to any other premium which may apply under this Schedule 

7. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Schedule, once a premium is applicable 
to an applicant under this Part, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of any benefit for 
a. in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979 

applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those Regulations, he would 
be in receipt of that benefit; and 

b. any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or 
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the 1973 Act or by Skills Development 
Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise under or section 2 of the 
Enterprise and New Towns(Scotland) Act 1990 for any period during which he is in receipt 
of a training allowance. 

(2) For the purposes of the carer premium, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of carer’s 
allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so long as the person in respect of 
whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of attendance allowance, or the 
care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in 
accordance with section 72(3) of the Act or the daily living component of the personal 
independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP. 

Disability Premium 
8. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (12) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Additional Condition for the Disability Premiums 
9. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (13) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 106 Page 414



        	

 
            

  
            

 
            

  
            

 
     

              
      

            
 

       
                

                     
     

   
         

 
  
  

        
    

  
 

 

       
    

  

 

 
        

    
  

 

      
    

  
           

      
      

 

             
 

 

       
   

    
    

  
 

        
    

      
   

  

Severe Disability Premiums 
10. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (14) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Enhanced Disability Premium 
11. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (15) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Disabled Child Premium 
12. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (16) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
Carer Premium 
13. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (17) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
14. For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 

8 to 13, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment of 
any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs shall be treated as if it were a payment of that 
benefit. 

Persons in receipt of benefit for another 
15. For the purposes of this Schedule, a person shall be regarded as being in receipt of any benefit 

if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and shall be so regarded only for any period in respect 
of which that benefit is paid. 

Amounts of Premium 
16. For the purposes of this Schedule, the following amounts shall apply; 

Premium Amount 
Disability Premium 

a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£35.10 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£50.05 

Severe Disability Premium 
a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 

paragraph 14(2)(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£67.30 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 14(2)(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

i. in a case where there is someone in receipt of 
carer’s allowance or if he or any partner satisfies 
that condition only by virtue of paragraph 14(5); 

£67.30 

ii. in a case where there is no one in receipt of such 
an allowance 

£134.60 

Disabled Child Premium £65.94 in respect of each child or 
young person in respect of whom 
the condition specified in 
paragraph 16 of Part 3 of Schedule 
3 Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 

Carer Premium £37.70 in respect of each person 
who satisfies the condition 
specified in paragraph 17 of Part 3 
of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 107 Page 415



        	

  
        

   
     

    
  

 
     

  
     

       
   

    
 

      
      

   
 

     
  
     

 
 

 

 
            

       
 

         
           

         
  

 

  
        

            
        
   

 

    
          

       
 
  

Premium 
Enhanced Disability Premium 

The components 

Amount 
(a) £26.67 in respect of each child 
or young person in respect of 
whom the conditions specified in 
paragraph 15 of Part 3 of Schedule 
3 Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 are satisfied; 
(b) £17.20 in respect of each 
person who is neither– 
(i)a child or young person; nor 
(ii) a member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage, in respect 
of whom the conditions specified 
in paragraph 15 are satisfied; 
(c) £24.60 where the applicant is a 
member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage and the 
conditions specified in paragraph 
15 of Part 3 of Schedule 3 Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 are 
satisfied in respect of a member of 
that couple or polygamous 
marriage. 

17. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (21 -24) Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 as amended by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 

18. The amount of the work-related activity component is £29.70. The amount of the support 
component is £39.40. The component will not apply where the applicant has been awarded 
Employment and Support Allowance on or after 1st April 2017 and been placed in the Work 
Related Activity Group. 

Transitional Addition 
19. The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 30 

of Schedule 3 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 where the applicant or the applicant’s 
partner meets the conditions contained within paragraphs 27 – 29 of Schedule 3 of the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 

Amount of transitional addition 
20. The amount of any transitional addition is calculated in accordance with paragraphs 30 and 31 

of Schedule 3 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 108 Page 416



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Schedule 2 

Not Used 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 109 Page 417



        	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    
 
  

	
              

Schedule 3 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings38 

38 The amounts in this schedule shall be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 110 Page 418



        	

                  
       
   

        
           

      
               

     
   

 
                

             
  

 
      

    
 

          
      

 
         

 
        

    
              

     
      

      
 

            
 

    
      

    
          

         
   

 
   

 
          

          
      

            
  

         
          

   
       

          
    

 
                 

             
             

           
     

 

1. In the case of a claimant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an employed earner 
or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged– 

a) where– 
(i) the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
(ii) on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is not so 

entitled solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution conditions, any 
earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a 
period commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the 
employment was terminated; 

b) where before the first day of entitlement to council tax support the employment has been 
terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any earnings paid or due to be paid in 
respect of that employment except– 

(i) any payment of the nature described in 
(aa) paragraph 25.1(e), or 

(bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 
payments, suspension from work on medical or maternity grounds); and 

(ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in 

(aa) paragraph 25.1(g)or(h),or 

(bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments 
and suspension from work: complaints to employment tribunals), including 
any payment made following the settlement of a complaint to an 
employment tribunal or of court proceedings; 

c) where before the first day of entitlement to council tax support– 

(i) the employment has not been terminated, but 
(ii) the claimant is not engaged in remunerative work, 

any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any payment 
or remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii) (bb) or paragraph 
25.1(i), or (j). 

2. In the case of a claimant who, before first day of entitlement to council tax support; 

(a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the 
employment has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the 
employment been in Great Britain; and 

(b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment 
has been terminated, 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except; 
(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature 
described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb); 
(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or 
remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 
25.1(i), (i) or (j). 

2A. In the case of a claimant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part- time employment 
as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain would have been so 
engaged and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of the cessation of his 
employment any earnings derived from that employment except earnings to which paragraph 
27.3 and paragraph 27.4 (earnings of self-employed earners) apply. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 111 Page 419



        	

                  
       

           
            

            
 
         

          
   

 
     
           

     
              

      
 
   
 

          
 

                  
        

           
         

        
 
                 

       
       

 
 

             
                  
    

            
    

 
           

      
  

 
                       

        
            

           
               

 
 

                 
      

            
             
    

                
              

       
        
         

3. (1) In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 4 does not apply, £20; but 
notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of a claimant’s 
family and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies to a claimant it shall not 
apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the claimant 
which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 

(2) This paragraph applies where the claimant’s applicable amount includes an amount by 
way of the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity 
component or support component. 

(3) This paragraph applies where 
(a) the claimant is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an 

amount by way of the disability premium; and 
(b) he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and 

at least one is engaged in employment. 

(4)–(5) Not used 

4. In a case where the claimant is a lone parent, £25. 

5. (1) In a case to which neither paragraph 3 nor paragraph 4 applies to the claimant and, 
subject to sub-paragraph (2), where the claimant’s applicable amount includes an 
amount by way of the carer premium, £20 of the earnings of the person who is, or at any 
time in the preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of carer’s allowance or treated in 
accordance with this scheme as being in receipt of carer’s allowance. 

(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the claimant and of any partner of his, 
their earnings shall for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to 
be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) shall not exceed £20 of the 
aggregated amount. 

6. Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of a claimant who is a member of a couple and 
whose earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other member of the 
couple, and that other member is engaged in an employment; 
(a) specified in paragraph 8(1), so much of the other member’s earnings as would not when 

aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20; 

(b) other than one specified in paragraph 8(1), so much of the other member’s earnings from 
such other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with the amount 
disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20. 

7. In a case where paragraphs 3, 5, 6 and 8 do not apply to the claimant and he is one of a couple 
and a member of that couple is in employment, £10; but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation 
of income and capital of members of claimant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if this 
paragraph applies to a claimant it shall not apply to his partner except where, and to the extent 
that, the earnings of the claimant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than 
£10. 

8. (1) In a case where paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6 do not apply to the claimant, £20 of earnings derived 
from one or more employments as– 

(a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a 
scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which 
section 4 of that Act applies; 

(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 
1 of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005(a)) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by an 
amalgamation scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act; 

(c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
(d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 112 Page 420



        	

             
     

       
         

 
   

          
           

  
         

          
   

 
               

              
                   

             
    

 
   

 
   

         
     

          
  

    
       
 
                   

          
          

 
              

         
             

 
 
                 

               
          

          
 

 
     
         
     
    

       
         

 
        
           
     

        
  

           
            

(e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to 
the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 

but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
claimant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to a claimant 
it shall not apply to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) If the claimant’s partner is engaged in employment; 
(a) specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate 

with the amount of the claimant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph 
exceed £20; 

(b) other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that 
employment up to £10 as would not in aggregate with the claimant’s earnings 
disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20. 

9. Where the claimant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 8(1), but his 
earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and he is also engaged 
in any other employment so much of his earnings from that other employment, up to £5 if he is 
a single claimant, or up to £10 if he has a partner, as would not in aggregate with the amount of 
his earnings disregarded under paragraph 8 exceed £20. 

10. In a case to which none of the paragraphs 3 to 9 applies, £5. 

10A. (1) Where; 
(a) the claimant (or if the claimant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 

couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined 

in sub-paragraph (6); and 
(c) paragraph 12 does not apply, 
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (‘the specified amount’). 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 3 to 10 do not apply; but in any case where the 
claimant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount 
specified in paragraph 4, then paragraph 4 applies instead of this paragraph. 

(3) Notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of claimant’s 
family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a 
couple (‘A’) it shall not apply to the other member of that couple (‘B’) except to the extent 
provided in sub-paragraph (4). 

(4) Where A’s earnings are less than the specified amount, there shall also be disregarded so 
much of B’s earnings as would not when aggregated with A’s earnings exceed the specified 
amount; but the amount of B’s earnings which may be disregarded under this sub-
paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied that B 
is also undertaking exempt work. 

(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is; 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited 

capability for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 
1975 

(6) ‘Exempt work’ means work of the kind described in; 
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance 

Regulations; or (as the case may be) 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 
Regulations 1995, 
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether a claimant or a member 
of a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 113 Page 421



        	

      
 
           

    
             

          
 

                  
            

        
 

             
    

 
                

             
   

 
            

     
 

          
 

              
              

           
      

 
      

               
         

    
                

                
    

      
              

       
       

                
   

              
           

         
  

                  
       
       

            
              

          
                

 
       
        

      
          

  

or their partner is also undertaking other work. 

(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 
provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 

11. Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 
19 or 20 of Schedule 4 had the claimant’s income which does not consist of earnings been 
sufficient to entitle him to the full disregard thereunder. 

12. Where a claimant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, his earnings. 

13. Any earnings derived from employment, which are payable in a country outside the United 
Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United 
Kingdom of those earnings. 

14. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 

15. Any earnings of a child or young person. 

16. (1) In a case where the claimant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out 
in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in 
sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under paragraphs 3 to 
10A of this Schedule shall be increased by £17.10. 

(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that– 
(a) the claimant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the claimant or his partner, is a 
person to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit Regulations applies; or 
(b) the claimant– 

(i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at 
least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 hours 
per week; or 
(ii) is a member of a couple and 

(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for 
on average not less than 16 hours per week; and 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium; or 

(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 
than 16 hours per week; or 

(iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is 
engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and; 

(aa) the claimant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium, the work-
related activity component or the support component ; 
(bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple 
satisfies the qualifying conditions for the disability premium or either of the 
components referred to in sub-head (aa) above and is engaged in remunerative 
work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; or 

(c) the claimant is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, a person to whom regulation 
18(3) of the Working Tax Credit Regulations (eligibility for 50 plus element) applies, or 
would apply if an application for working tax credit were to be made in his case. 

(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1); 
(a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the claimant’s earnings under 
paragraphs 3 to 10A of this Schedule; 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 
17(1)(c); and 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 114 Page 422



        	

  
 
            

                 
      

 
            

     
  

(c) £17.10 

(4) The provisions of section 6 shall apply in determining whether or not a person works for 
on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in 
paragraph (1) of that section were a reference to 30 hours. 

17. In this Schedule ‘part-time employment’ means employment in which the person is engaged on 
average for less than 16 hours a week. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 115 Page 423



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

	
              

Schedule 4 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings39 

39 The amounts in this schedule shall be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 116 Page 424



        	

 
                    

     
 

                    
        

 
              

               
           

 
 

                  
         
    

                 
     

 
                 

 
              

       
 

            
        

 
                 

          
 

 
              

             
            

             
 

 
         

 
           

      
    
    
     
 

                
             

          
       

 
      

 
                    

   
   

          
         

    
          

1. Any amount paid by way of tax on income, which is to be taken into account under section 30 
(calculation of income other than earnings). 

A2. Any payment made to the claim and in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme. 

A3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 
or Back to Work Scheme, but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the 
payment. 

2. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by a claimant who is– 
(a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or 
(b) volunteer, 

if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be treated 
as possessing any earnings under paragraph 32.0 (notional income). 

2A. Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation as a service user 

3. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly, 
exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment. 

4. Where a claimant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance the whole of his income. 

5. Where the claimant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the claimant’s 
income. 

6. Where the claimant, or the person who was the partner of the claimant on 31st March 2003, 
was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker’s allowance but 
ceased to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing 
Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his 
income. 

7. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment 

8. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of; 
(a) any payment specified in paragraph 7 or 10; 
(b) income support; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 
(d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 

9. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other 
scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983or any 
payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

10. Any attendance allowance. 

11. Any payment to the claimant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 
analogous payment. 

12. (1) Any payment– 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to; 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996(d) (payment of 
school expenses; grant of scholarships etc); 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 117 Page 425



        	

         
         

        
 

         
         
        

       
          

           
 
              

 
           
            
           

         
               

            
  

 
             

       
 

                   
     

             
     

          
      

                   
        

            
      

          
 

           
           

            
          

 
       

      
    
            

             
  

      
            

  
              

 
          

         
   

 
             
               

(power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and 
paid under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section14 or section181 of the Education Act 2002(power of Secretary of State 
and National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related 
to education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or in England, by way of 
financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant 
to; 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 

under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, in 
respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who 
is in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made 
pursuant to any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

13. Any payment made to the claimant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the 
Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 

14 (1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise 
and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment; 

(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity benefit, 
severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 

(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the 1973 Act or section 2(5) of the Enterprise 
and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst a claimant is participating in an education, training 
or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is a 
Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of 
education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has been 
completed. 

(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the claimant or, where the 
claimant is a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or 
water charges for which that claimant or member is liable. 

15 (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments; 
(a) a charitable payment; 
(b) a voluntary payment; 
(c) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose 

funds are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to 
the claimant; 

(d) a payment under an annuity purchased; 
(i) pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the 

claimant; or 
(ii) from funds derived from a payment made, in consequence of any personal 

injury to the claimant; or 
(e) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) received by virtue of any 

agreement or court order to make payments to the claimant in consequence of 
any personal injury to the claimant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall not apply to a payment, which is made or due to be made by– 
(a) a former partner of the claimant, or a former partner of any member of the 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 118 Page 426



        	

   
              

     
 

            
         

  
        
          

        
         

           
    
             

       
         

          
          
               
     
 

         
              
             
 

            
           

            
               
   

            
       
              

           
 

           
           

       
 

                  
      

     
              

       
 

           
           

           
            

    
            

     
 

                
 

                
 

              

claimant’s family; or 
(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a 

member of the claimant’s family. 

16. 100% of a) and b) and £10 of any of the following, namely 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded under 

paragraph 9 or 10); 
(b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

(d) a guaranteed income payment; 
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous 

to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special 
provision made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or 
of the Republic of Austria. 

17. Subject to paragraph 35, £15 of any; 
(a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the Act; 
(b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the Act. 

18. (1) Any income derived from capital to which the claimant is or is treated under section 41 
(capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub- paragraph (2), not income 
derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5. 
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 2, 4 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5 but 
only to the extent of– 

(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the 
period during which that income accrued; or 

(b) any council tax or water charges which the claimant is liable to pay in respect of 
the dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that 
income accrued. 

(3) The definition of ‘water charges’ in paragraph 2(1) shall apply to sub-paragraph (2) of this 
paragraph with the omission of the words ‘in so far as such charges are in respect of the dwelling 
which a person occupies as his home’. 

19. Where the claimant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at 
an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, which 
contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating– 
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, sections 1 or 2 of the 
Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998(c), that 
student’s award; 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under 
that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 
(c) the student’s student loan, 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the 
period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 

20. (1) Where the claimant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 
either; 

(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; 
or 
(b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 119 Page 427



        	

        
          

           
   

        
     

        
           

      
            

           
   
   

 
              

 
                   

          
                  

    
             

           
             

               
 

              
     

          
               

      
  
              

     
        

            
          

    
         
  

 
            

              
  

 
             

              
   

 
                  

             
 

                    
        

        
        
          
           

    

awards) or an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, 
or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under 
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, 
and the claimant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student’s 
maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 19, an amount 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student’s term. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount shall be equal to– 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single claimant under 25 less the 

weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred 
to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 

whichever is less. 

21. Any payment made to the claimant by a child or young person or a non- dependant. 

22. Where the claimant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a 
person other than one to whom paragraph 21 or 23 refers and there is a contractual liability to 
make payments to the claimant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a 
member of his family– 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person 
and a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 

23. (1) Where the claimant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling 
board and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such 
accommodation is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to– 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect 
of such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20.00, 100 per cent. 
of such payments; 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20.00, £20.00 and 50 per 
cent. of the excess over £20.00. 

(2) In this paragraph, ‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided 
to a person or, if he is a member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, for 
a charge which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some 
cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the 
person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are 
consumed in that accommodation or associated premises. 

24. (1) Any income in kind, except where regulation 30(11)(b) (provision of support under 
section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act in the calculation of income other than 
earnings) applies. 

(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to ‘income in kind’ does not include a payment to a 
third party made in respect of the claimant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the claimant. 

25. Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during 
which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 

26. (1) Any payment made to the claimant in respect of a person who is a member of his family– 
(a)pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children 

Act 2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish 
Ministers under section 51A of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978(b) 
(schemes for payments of allowances to adopters); or in accordance with an 
Adoption Allowance Scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and 
Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (Adoption Allowances Schemes) 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 120 Page 428



        	

   
               

       
       

         
    

                
               

        
              

  
            

          
  

 
             

  
    

        
        

         
    

          
         

        
 

 
                  

          
   
           

 
    
             
           

          
  

          
     

  
 

            
        

         
    

 
           

              
           

              
   

     
         
        
        
 

        
        

(b)not used 
(ba) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) 

of, and paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority 
contribution to a child’s maintenance where the child is living with a person 
as a result of a residence order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 
1975 (payments towards maintenance of children); 

(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children 
Order, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that 
Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance); 

(d)in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 
1989(c) (special guardianship support services); 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made 
to the claimant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002. 

27. Any payment made to the claimant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 
arrangements made 
(a) by a local authority under– 

(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and 
maintenance for a child whom they are looking after), 
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of 
accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or 
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland)Regulations 2009 
(fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 

(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of 
accommodation by voluntary organisations). 

28. Any payment made to the claimant or his partner for a person (‘the person concerned’), who is 
not normally a member of the claimant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by– 
(a) a health authority; 
(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person 

concerned; 
(c) a voluntary organisation; 
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 1977 

or established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health Service Act 
2006; or 

(f) a Local Health Board established under section 16BA of the National Health Service Act 
1977 or established by an order made under section 11 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006 

29. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 

or section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for 
children and their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

29A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989(e) or section 29 of the Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995(local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant 
financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on 
to the claimant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 

(a) was formerly in the claimant’s care, and 
(b)is aged 18 or over, and 
(c)continues to live with the claimant. 

30. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out to 
insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 121 Page 429



        	

         
  

           
          
        

            
           

    
               

 
           
    

          
         

        
 

 
                    

  
 

                     
      

 
              

 
                   

     
 

                  
               
          

      
              

         
         

 
                

         
               

              
          

     
           

         
       

         
       

        
          

 
            

        
               

          
             

            
             

  

(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the claimant occupies as his 
home; or 
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit 
Act 1974 or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined 
for the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 

(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) shall only be disregarded to the extent that the 
payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a weekly basis, 
which are used to– 
(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, (b); 
and 
(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on– 

(i) that policy; or 
(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph(1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to insure 
against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied by the 
claimant as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred to in sub-
paragraph (1)(a). 

31. Any payment of income which, by virtue of section 36 (income treated as capital) is to be treated 
as capital. 

32. Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act (the Social Fund) or any local welfare 
provision as defined by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 

33. Any payment under Part 10 of the Act (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 

34. Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

35. The total of a claimant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s income and the 
income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 15.2 (calculation of 
income and capital of members of claimant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) to be 
disregarded under paragraph 47.2(b) and paragraph 48.1(d) (calculation of covenant income 
where a contribution assessed, covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is 
assessed), paragraph 51(2) (treatment of student loans), paragraph 52(3) (treatment of 
payments from access funds) and paragraphs 16 and 17 shall in no case exceed £20 per week. 

36. (1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the 
Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the claimant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the claimant’s family. 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed 
a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, 
had not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under 
or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the 
benefit of; 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 122 Page 430



        	

           
         

         
        

          
 

               
         
 

       
          
         

    
          
                 

       
  

               
   

         
          

   
              
            

        
     

    
        

               
           

  
         
 

                 
               

    
           

          
        

 
    

 
                     

    
 

       
 

                  
              

 
    

 
                    

      
 

    
 

      

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the claimant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the claimant’s family. 

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where; 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a 

student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where; 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had 
been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation, London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund, WLMEF and the LET. 

37. Any housing benefit. 

38. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 

39. - 40. not used 

41. Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation 
for loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts. 

42. Not used 

43. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or section 80 of the 
1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax). 

44. Not used 

45. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 123 Page 431



        	

             
         

  
             

       
    

             
       
      

             
        

 
 

                  
             

        
              

 
               

        
 

            
           

              
   

           
             

    
             

       
 

 
  

             
        

    
           

 
    
      
   
   
         
     

          
          

 
 

    
 

                  
         

     
 

     
 

                    
        

(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies). 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment or repayment, mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1). 

46. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 
under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins). 

47. Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under 
a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody. 

48. (1)Where a claimant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of a family premium, £15 
of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether under a court order or 
not, which is made or due to be made by the claimant’s former partner, or the claimant’s 
partner’s former partner. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to be 
taken into account in any week, all such payments such be aggregated and treated as if they 
were a single payment. 
(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance shall, for the purpose of 
sub-paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in sub-
paragraph (1). 

48A. (1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or 
young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the claimant’s family, 
except where the person making the payment is the claimant or the claimant’s partner. 
(2) In paragraph (1) 
‘child maintenance’ means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person, 
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under; 
(a) the Child Support Act 1991; 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
(c) a court order; 
(d) a consent order; 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session 
or the sheriff court books; 
‘liable relative’ means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that 
definition. 

49. Not used 

50. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

51. Any guardian’s allowance. 

52. (1) If the claimant is in receipt of any benefit under Parts 2, 3 or 5 of the Act, any increase in 
the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 124 Page 432



        	

            
 

 
                

              
          

       
 

             
           

            
            

 
                

        
           

 
     

            
      

            
         

           
           

    
            
        

      
 

                
 

             
          

     
 
     
 

                  
           

           
 

           
         

            
 

               
          

            
           

 
                 

        
         

               
             

 
           

        

(unemployability supplement) of the Act, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase 
is paid is not a member of the claimant’s family. 

(2) If the claimant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military 
and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any increase in the 
rate of that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant in respect of whom 
the increase is paid is not a member of the claimant’s family. 

53. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and 
surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence 
to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

54. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 
Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983(a) (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), 
the sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

55 (1) Any payment which is 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or 
(b)surviving civil partner of a person; 

(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 
member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and equal 
to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

(2) In this paragraph ‘the Dispensing Instruments’ means the Order in Council of 19th December 
1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 
1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

55A. Any council tax support or council tax benefit to which the claimant is entitled. 

56. Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 16 of Schedule 3, where the 
claimant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, 
any amount of working tax credit up to £17.10 

56A.–56B. Not used 

57. Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 
12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under 
regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments). 

58. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, 
assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person– 

(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial 
activity; 
(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out 
by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity, 

in respect of which such assistance is or was received. (2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall apply only in 
respect of payments, which are paid to that person from the special account 

59. (1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect 
of any one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing 
or footwear, household fuel or rent of the claimant or where the claimant is a member of 
a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which 
that claimant or member is liable. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or 
other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 125 Page 433



        	

       
 

                
       

         
 

            
          

 
 

              
         

   
 

                 
         

         
         

 
    

 
           

     
 

       

                    

 
 

  

the sport in respect of which the award was made. 

60. Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the 
amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have received in that 
reduction week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 

61. In the case of a claimant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the claimant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise. 

62. Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 as amended by the Welfare Reform Act 2012 
(Consequential Amendments) Regulations 2013. 

63. (1)Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers to or on behalf of the 
claimant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the claimant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes, in England, a county council. 

64. Not used 

65. Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
(personal budgets and direct payments) 

66. Any payment of child benefit. 

67. Any bereavement support payment under section 30 of the Pensions Act 2014 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 126 Page 434



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

	
           

Schedule 5 

Capital to be disregarded40 

40 The amounts in this schedule shall be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 127 Page 435



        	

 
      

               
        

             
          

 
 

                    
          

          
 

                    
            

            
         

 
                

                 
       

 
 

                 
          

              
       

 
         

             
           

 
              

           
      

 
             

       
 

                 
          

 
 

                 
        

 
                  

              
          

               
             

     
             

              
    

 
                 

             
             

1. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 
claimant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, in particular 5, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling 
is situated; but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
claimant’s family and of polygamous marriage), only one dwelling shall be disregarded under 
this paragraph. 

A2. Any payment made to the claimant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but only 
for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

A3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 
or Back to Work Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment 
but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of payment. 

2. Any premises acquired for occupation by the claimant, which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the claimant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the 
premises. 

3. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 
claimant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the claimant to complete the purchase. 

4. Any premises occupied in whole or in part– 
(a) by a partner or relative of a single claimant or any member of the family as his 
home where that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is 
incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the claimant as his home; but this provision shall not 
apply where the former partner is a person from whom the claimant is estranged or 
divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

5. Where a claimant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, the whole of his capital. 

6. Where the claimant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
1995 and his partner is on income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the claimant’s 
capital. 

7. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 
claimant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub- leases or sub-tenancies. 

8. (1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the claimant and for the purposes of 
which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the claimant where– 

(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease 
or bodily or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self-
employed earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or 
re-engaged in that business; 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the claim for council tax support is made, 
or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-
engaged in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 128 Page 436



        	

     
 

             
         

     
 

                
           

          
 

 
          

       
        
      
   
        

   
        
    

 
                

 
 

           
           
       

   
        

       
          

 
        

                
           

 
          

          
   

                
             

      
        
             

       
 

    
               

      
           

                 
           

          
  

 
    

             
              

circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 

(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the 
assets acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial 
activity in respect of which such assistance is being received. 

(3) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of 
which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that 
activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of 
any such asset. 

9. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to 
compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of;
(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 7, 9 or 10 of Schedule 4; 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the Act; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit; 
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary 
payment. 

(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or allowances 
amounts to £5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-paragraph (3) as ‘the 
relevant sum’) and is 

(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in 
regulation 1(2) of the Decisions and Appeals Regulations; and 
(b) received by the claimant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 

sub-paragraph (1) shall have effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its entirety 
during the award of council tax support, for the remainder of that award if that is a longer period. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph(2),’the award of council tax support’ means– 
(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof 
where it is paid in more than one instalment); and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of 
which, begins immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award 
provided that for that further award the claimant; 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that person’s 
partner at the date of his death. 

10. Any sum 
(a) paid to the claimant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal 

possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 
(b) acquired by the claimant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition that 

it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, which is to be 
used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it was so 
paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to effect the 
repairs, replacement or improvement. 

11. Any sum– 
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing 
Associations Act 1985 or section 338(1) of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 as a 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 129 Page 437



        	

    
                 
               

       
 

                
              

 
 

                 
   

 
                   

                   
    

 
             

 
 
   

        
          

          
 

            
   
             

        
        

                
    

 
           

   
 

                
 

            
       

 
          

 
                    

 
 

                  
         
          

       
 

           
           

               
           

 
 
     
           

condition of occupying the home; 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, 
for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the claimant to complete the purchase. 

12. Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the claimant with the 
intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to council tax support or to 
increase the amount of that support. 

13. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 
such an annuity. 

14. Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 
injury to the claimant or claimant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the right 
to receive any payment under that trust. 

14A. (1) Any payment made to the claimant or the claimant’s partner in consequence of any personal 
injury to the claimant or, as the case may be, the claimant’s partner. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) 
(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the 
claimant first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that 
injury (whether it is made by the same person or another); 
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which 
the claimant no longer possesses it; 
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are 
derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the claimant. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which a claimant no longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the claimant has used a payment or part of it 
to purchase an asset. 

(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the claimant are to be construed as including 
references to his partner (where applicable). 

15. The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 

16. The value of the right to receive any income, which is disregarded under paragraph 13 of 
Schedule 3 or paragraph 25 of Schedule 4. 

17. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 

18. Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive 
any outstanding instalments. 

19. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and 
their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

19A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) 
Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial 
assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on to the 
claimant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 
(a) was formerly in the claimant’s care, and 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 130 Page 438



        	

        
 

              
 

                
         

             
 

 
                   

 
 

                 
     

 
              

             
 

 
               

              
          

     
         

         
       

         
         

         
          

 
                

               
               

          
             

              
            

           
         

         
         

          
 

               
             

 
       

         
         
 

    
         

                 
           

 
              

  

(b) is aged 18 or over, and (c) continues to live with the claimant. 

20. Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act. 

21. Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan 
interest for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or 
improvements to the home. 

22. Any capital which, by virtue of sections 31 or 51 (capital treated as income, treatment of student 
loans) is to be treated as income. 

23. Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

24. (1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Charitable 
Fund. 

(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the 
Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the claimant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the claimant’s family. 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or 
who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the partner 
or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or 
divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil 
partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not 
been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by any of 
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the claimant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the claimant’s family. 

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where– 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; 
and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child ,a young person or a student 
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 131 Page 439



        	

 
               

         
   

              
          

       
      
    

         
             

           
  

        
 

                
              
     

 
           

            
       

 
               

            
                

           
 

 
         

               
             

     
 

                  
            

           
 

                    
        

         
            

         
    

 
                  

           
                
            

 
                     

   
 

    
 

            
 

          

(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a 
civil partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was 
or had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under 
or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited the Skipton Fund , the 
Caxton Foundation, the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund, the WLMEF and the LET. 

25. (1) Where a claimant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 
home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, his 
former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to 
occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who 
is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

(2) In this paragraph ‘dwelling’ includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were 
formerly occupied by the claimant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is 
impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on 
which the dwelling is situated. 

26. Any premises where the claimant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a 
period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises. 

27. Any premises which the claimant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 
taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal 
proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he first sought such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, 
or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession 
and commence occupation of those premises. 

28. Any premises which the claimant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 
alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks 
from the date on which the claimant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or 
such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 

29. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 

30. Not used 

31. The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 

32. The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 132 Page 440



        	

 
               

 
 

             
         

 
                     

             
   

 
    

 
                    

           
             

 
                  

           
      

 
      
           

   
                   

          
         

 
                

            
                  
         

 
       

           
         

  
           

       
    

           
         
      

 
            

        
               

 
 

               
          

        
             

          
 

                
 

           

33. The value of the right to receive any rent except where the claimant has a reversionary interest 
in the property in respect of which rent is due. 

34. Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 

35. Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New 
Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks beginning on the date of receipt 
of the payment. 

36. Not used. 

37. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or, as the case may 
be, section 80 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (reduction of liability for council tax), 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

38. Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 1988 
or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to assist local 

housing authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be 
used– 

(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for 
occupation as his home, 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such longer period 
as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs or alterations to be 
completed and the claimant to commence occupation of those premises as his home. 

39. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 53 of Schedule 4 
(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount 
which is disregarded under paragraph 54 or 55 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 
weeks from the date of receipt of the arrears. 

40. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies), 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment, or repayment mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment or 
repayment. 

41. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 
under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

41A. Any payment made under Part 8A of the Act (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant). 

42. Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 133 Page 441



        	

        
           

 
                  

         
     

 
    

 
                

          
 

             
            
              

            
       

 
         

                  
             

                  
            

      
         
          
          

 
 

                   
             
       

         
         

    
 

                 
 

    
 

                 
            

           
             

 
                  

                
   

 
           

             
               

   
 

             
             

     
 

scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only for 
a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

43. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

44. Not used 

45. Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons 
(Employment) Act 1958 to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 

46. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where a claimant satisfies the conditions in section 131(3) and 
(6) of the Act (entitlement to alternative maximum council tax support), the whole of his capital. 
(2) Where in addition to satisfying the conditions in section 131(3) and (6) of the Act the claimant 
also satisfies the conditions in section 131(4) and (5) of the Act (entitlement to the maximum 
council tax support), sub-paragraph (1) shall not have effect. 

47. (1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and 
(a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court 
under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 
(b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 
(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by 
order or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 

(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from; 
(a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned 
is under the age of 18. 

48. Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 
section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 
1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from 
(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under 

the age of 18. 

49. Any payment to the claimant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 

50. Not used 

51. In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self-
employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of 
establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was 
received but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired. 

52. (1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that 
payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 
footwear, household fuel or rent of the claimant or, where the claimant is a member of a family, 
any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that claimant or 
member is liable. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or other 
special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in 
respect of which the award was made. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 134 Page 442



        	

   
      

         
          
        

          
       

         
             

        
            

       
            

          
           

         
          

                    
             

 
 

   
 

               
          

              
 

                    
      

 
                 

         
  

   
       
       

     
 

             
       
   
        

        
          

          
 

           
              

      
         

      
         

    
    
               

     
    
               

53. (1) Any payment; 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to– 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the EducationAct2002(power of Secretary of State and 
National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related to education 
or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act ; or in England, by way of financial 
assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to; 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 
in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

53A.-53B. Not used 

54. In the case of a claimant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the claimant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

55. Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks 
from the date of receipt of the payment. 

56. Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 
February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of– 

(a) the claimant; 
(b) the claimant’s partner; 
(c) the claimant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the claimant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 
by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 

57. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to a claimant or a 
member of a claimant’s family who is 

(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s 

partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
or 

(d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person 
who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at 
the date of the diagnosed person’s death. 

(2) Where a trust payment is made to; 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall 
apply for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made 
and ending on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending two years after that date; 
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 135 Page 443



        	

 
      

          
     
      

    
           

             
         

  
        

         
          

         
   

         
       

      
          

   
             

       
               

    
    
               
  

    
              

       
           
       
        

     
   

     
      
      

         
           

            
 
              

        
    

           
             

            
       
 

              
         
     

           
        
           

   
 

ending– 
(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person– 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to a claimant or a member of a claimant’s family 
who is– 

(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed 
person’s partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed 
person’s parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death; or 
(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a 
person who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his 
partner) at the date of the diagnosed person’s death, 
but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of any 
trust payments made to that person. 

(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to– 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
two years after that date; or 
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending– 

(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person 

(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 

whichever is the latest. 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person– 

(a)being the diagnosed person’s partner; 
(b)being a member of a diagnosed person’s family; 
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 

at the date of the diagnosed person’s death shall include a person who would have been 
such a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person 
residing in a care home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date. 

(6) In this paragraph– ‘diagnosed person’ means a person who has been diagnosed as 
suffering from, or who, after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, 
variant Creutzfeld- Jakob disease; 
‘relevant trust’ means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State 
in respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob 
disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 
‘trust payment’ means a payment under a relevant trust. 

58. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 
claimant, the claimant’s partner, the claimant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or the 
claimant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner 

(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, 

during the Second World War. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 136 Page 444



        	

                    
           

         
 

        
 

               
              

         
 

              
     

 
                

       
 

                 
     

                    

 
 
  

59 (1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 
claimant or his partner relating to a service, which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the claimant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes in England a county council. 

60. Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under section 12A to 12D 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 

61. Any payment made to the claimant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

62. Any payment made to the claimant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 
14F of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 

63. Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
(personal budgets and direct payments). 

64. Any bereavement support payment under section 30 of the Pensions Act 2014 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 137 Page 445



        	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 6 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 138 Page 446



        	

          
             

    
 

For working age claimants , at the end of the assessment, a percentage reduction of 27.11% 
will be applied with the exception of the claimants listed in section 59A.2 who will have a 
percentage reduction of 13.56% applied. 

Blackpool Council - Council Tax Reduction 2023/24 DRAFT 139 Page 447



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to:  EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer:  John-Paul Lovie, Head of Waste Policy and Partnerships   

Relevant Cabinet Member: Councillor Jane Hugo, Cabinet Member for Climate Change 
and Environment  

Date of Decision: 23 January 2023 

 

COMMUNITY FLOOD RESILIENCE POLICY 2023-2025 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To seek approval for the adoption and implementation of Blackpool Council’s Community 
Flood Resilience Policy 2023-2025.  
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To adopt the draft Community Flood Resilience Policy 2023-2025 attached at Appendix 4a 
and any associated communications and work streams with effect until 31 December 2025. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

In order for Blackpool Council to develop a clear, robust and sustainable policy in relation to 
community flood resilience. This will enable a consistent response to requests for assistance 
in a flood event and provide clear lines of accountability and communication with residents 
and partners. It will also provide clear concise information around any other flood 
defence/protection and equipment used by residents, and to ensure consistent messaging by 
the Council and itsemergency partners during flood-event communications.  
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  Not to adopt the policy. Given the increasing prevalence of flood events as a result of climate 
change, this would leave communities who live in high flood risk areas more vulnerable and less 
resilient to flood risk.   
 
 

Page 449

Agenda Item 4



5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant council priority is: “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing 
resilience”.  
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  As part of the council’s duties under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004) and the work with the 
Lancashire Resilience Forums Flooding and Severe Weather Groups, a Multi-Agency Flood 
Plan (MAFP) has been developed.  
 

6.2  The plan consists of two parts:  
 
MAFP Part 1 – Generic Multi-Agency Response Arrangement for Lancashire  
MAFP Part 2 – Local Planning and Response Arrangements (based on Local Authority areas). 
 

6.3  As part of the review of the above plans, a Community Flood Resilience Policy is required 
within Part 2 for each individual authority.  
 

6.4  The Environment Agency is responsible for managing the flood risk from rivers and the sea, 
whereas Lead local flood authorities (LLFA) are responsible for managing the flood risk from 
surface water. For Blackpool, the Lead local flood authorities is Blackpool Council. The 
Environment Agency on behalf of government, have produced flood risks maps to show the 
potential risk and impacts of flooding in the flood risk areas. Flood risk maps showing the 
flood risk from rivers or the sea, from surface water and from reservoirs in Blackpool can be 
found at https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map . The flood risk maps show 
that most areas in Blackpool are low flood risk, with some medium and high flood risk areas. 
 

6.5  It should be noted that flooding has already taken place between the Blackpool and Wyre 
border in the Anchorsholme area in November 2017. A Section 19 investigation report in 
respect of the flooding in the Anchorsholme area was produced in order for Blackpool 
Council to discharge its’ statutory duty under the Flood and Water management Act (2010) 
(attached at Appendix 4b). Given the number and proximity of residential properties around 
this boundary, consideration has been given to the consequences of having a conflicting 
policy with Wyre and potential impact on any future community flood action groups. 
Therefore, the proposed policy is in line with Wyre’s policy and in addition Fylde’s, in order 
that the authorities’ approaches to developing community flood risk resilience are in keeping.  
 

6.6  Property owners themselves maintain the responsibility to protect their properties and 
should plan to reduce the impact through advice and mitigation measures such as:  

 Creating and completing a flood plan 

 Preparing a flood kit of essential items; 

 Obtaining appropriate insurance; 

 Purchasing or obtaining/installing flood defence equipment or other appropriate 

Page 450

https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map


protection products (including sandbags if desired)  

 Ensuring arrangement are in place for drains and watercourses, which they are 
responsible for, to be kept clear and properly maintained. 

 
6.7  Climate change is likely to mean more frequent and intense flooding. Intense storms are 

becoming more frequent and sea levels are also rising because of climate change. As the 
threat of flooding is increasing, it is important that people know their risk and are prepared 
to take action. Central to Blackpool Council’s proposed policy is ensuring residents are aware 
and able to reflect upon measures they can take to prepare prior to a flooding incident taking 
place. There are a number of products that local residents can purchase to make their home 
more resilient and prepare for flooding, details can be found on the council’s web pages and 
at www.thefloodhub.co.uk (example booklet attached at Appendix 4c), as well as the 
National Flood Forum at www.nationalfloodforum.or.ulk .  
 

6.8  Another key focus of the proposed policy is the assistance and support of establishing 
sustainable community based flood action groups or forums. Initial meetings have been 
arranged, work is ongoing to establish and develop these groups.  
 

6.9  Although the risk of flooding can never be entirely eliminated, the risk of water getting in to 
homes or businesses can be reduced, along with its impact if it does. The techniques come 
under many different names, including Property Level Resilience (PLR), Property Flood 
Resilience (PFR) and Property Level Protection (PLP). In addition to these measures the 
Council has also developed a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy including a live Business 
Plan which details what actions and activities the Council are undertaking with a view to 
reducing and mitigating flood risk, the non-technical version of this document can be found 
at www.blackpool.gov.uk . 
 

6.10  Resilience is about reducing the impact of flooding, should water get inside a property. The 
aim is to ensure that damage is minimised and people can get back in to their homes or 
business as quickly as possible. Measures should be tailored to each property, such as using 
porous plaster, fitting solid floors or tiled floor coverings, raising electrics and taking simple 
steps in a flood event to move furniture and valuable possessions upstairs. Structural 
measures need to take account of the building type and its fabric.  
 

6.11  The Six Steps to Flood Protection offers a step-by-step approach to ensure that you reduce 
the risk most effectively and are able to respond if there is a flood. See 
www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk for further detail and guidance around each of the following 
six steps:  
1. Understanding the Risk  
2. Planning a Scheme  
3. Property Surveying  
4. Design and Specification  
5. Product Installation  
6. Maintenance and Operation. 

Page 451

http://www.thefloodhub.co.uk/
http://www.nationalfloodforum.or.ulk/
http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/
http://www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk/


 
6.12  In further support of developing a Community Flood Resilience Policy, the council is 

supporting the establishment and development of local based Communiity Flood Action 
Groups or Forums. This will enable effective communication to those in high-risk areas as 
well as sharing of best practice and latest developments.  
 

6.13  Further to the above, in line with statutory obligations, Blackpool Council will not supply 
sandbags to individual domestic or commercial properties. This is in line with neighbouring 
districts across Lancashire ensuring a consistent approach. It is worth nothing that sandbags 
are not recommended by the Environment Agency and are often ineffective due to a lack of 
knowledge in their use and the limitations associated with them. Post flood use, sandbags are 
considered to be hazardous waste and as such require dedicated, specialist (and costly) 
remove and disposal arrangements. There are more appropriate flood protection measures 
that can be taken by property owners, depending on what is trying to be achieved.  
 

6.14  Additionally, it is worth noting that as part of the Blackpool Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) 
Investment Plan, a Community Flood Risk Reduction project has been proposed to increase 
flood resilience. The Shared Prosperity Fund project will have a portion of funding for 
communications to ensure communities in at risks areas are aware of flood risk, as well as 
£70,000 to deliver measures to assist. The proposed Community Flood Resilience Policy and 

Community Flood Risk Reduction project will have direct linkages as they are both centred on 
enabling communities who live in high flood risk areas to become more resilient in 
preparedness for a flood event. The Shared Prosperity Fund Investment plan was approved 
by government in December and further detail is included in the report on the Shared 
Prosperity Fund elsewhere on this Executive agenda.  
 

6.15  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? No 
   
7.0  List of Appendices: 

 
7.1  Appendix 4a – Draft Community Flood Resilience Policy 2023 

Appendix 4b – Section 19 Report (Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 2017) 
Appendix 4c– Flood Hub example (Property Flood Resilience (PFR) Booklet, September 2021) 
Appendix 4d – Equality Analysis Record Form 
 

8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  There are no associated financial impacts on the adoption and implementation of the draft 
policy.  
 

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  The Council is required to produce a Community Flood Resilience policy as part of the Multi-
Agency Flood Plan (MAFP). 

Page 452



10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  Potential reputation damage due to either a lack of, or a poorly implemented and 
communicated, community flood resilience policy.  
 

11.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1  As detailed throughout the Equality Analysis (EA) Record Form (Appendix 4d). 
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  The climate is changing and differences in weather patterns are resulting in more extreme 
weather events and an increased chance of flooding. While Blackpool Council has adopted a 
target of net-zero carbon emissions by 2030, in order to help mitigate the effects of climate 
change, the council also recognises the importance of adopting adaptation measures and 
building community resilience to the effects of climate change. The proposed Community 
Flood Resilience Policy is just one example of how the council will support communities to 
prepare for and cope with the likely increased prevalence of flood events in the future.  
 

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  This policy will be subject to discussion and agreement by the community flood groups 
referenced in this report. 
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  None.  
 

 
15.0  Key decision information: 

 
15.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
Yes 

15.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

         4/2023 

15.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.31 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency:                                                                        N/A 
 

16.0  Call-in information: 
 

16.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 
exempt from the call-in process?  
 

               No 
 
 

Page 453



16.2  If yes, please give reason:                                                                                               N/A 
 

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 13 January 
2023      

Date approved: 
 

      

18.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1        
 

19.0  Summary of Discussion: 
 

19.1 
 

 

20.0  Executive decision: 
 

20.1        
 

21.0  Date of Decision:    
 

21.1        
 

22.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1        
 

23.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1        
 

24.0  Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
 
24.1 
 

 

25.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1        
 

26.0  Call-in:   
 

26.1        

Page 454



 
27.0  Notes:   

 
27.1        

 
 

Page 455



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix 4a   

Community Flood Resilience Policy 2023-
2025 

Page 457



 

 

Introduction   

The responsibility for the direct protection to private property as a result of flooding falls to the owners or 
occupier of the effected premises and residents are encouraged to consider ways of protecting their 
properties and to ensure that they have adequate insurance cover in place.   

The Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been produced in order to help build flood resilience and 
reduce the impact of flooding on properties in Blackpool. This policy document sets out guidance to ensure 
that residents are aware of and able to reflect upon measures they can take to prepare prior to a flooding 
incident taking place.  

Objectives 

The objectives of the Blackpool Council Community Flood Resilience Policy are to: 

 Enable a consistent response to requests for assistance in a flood event. 
 Provide clear lines of accountability and communication with residents and partners.  
 Provide clear concise information around any other flood defence/protection and equipment used by 

residents. 
 Ensure consistent messaging by the council and its’ emergency partners during flood-event 

communications. 

Legal Context  

There is no legal requirement for Blackpool Council to provide direct protection to private property from 
flooding. As part of the council’s duties under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004) and the work with the 
Lancashire Resilience Forums Flooding and Severe Weather Groups, a Multi-Agency Flood Plan (MAFP) has 
been developed.  

The plan consists of two parts:  

 MAFP Part 1 – Generic Multi-Agency Response Arrangement for Lancashire  
 MAFP Part 2 – Local Planning and Response Arrangements (based on Local Authority areas). 

As part of the review of the above plans, a Community Flood Resilience Policy is required within Part 2 for 
each individual authority.  

Climate Change  

The climate is changing and differences in weather patterns are resulting in more extreme weather events 

and an increased chance of flooding. On 26 June 2019, Blackpool Council declared a climate emergency 

and in doing so, the council recognised the impact of climate change around the world and declared that 

action in Blackpool is needed. While Blackpool Council has adopted a target of net-zero carbon emissions 

by 2030, in order to help mitigate the effects of climate change, the council also recognises the importance 

of adopting adaptation measures and building resilience to the current and future effects of climate 

change such as sea level rise, increased storm intensity and flooding frequency.  

Page 458



 

 

Resilience refers to the capacity or ability to anticipate and cope with shocks, and to recover from their 

impacts in a timely and efficient manner. Flood resilience is about reducing the impact of flooding. The aim 

is to ensure that damage is minimised and people can get back into their homes or business as quickly as 

possible. Flood resilience does not just mean investments in flood defence/protection and equipment. It 

means improving education, raising awareness, better community planning, and putting in place natural 

solutions. Therefore, the Community Flood Resilience Policy is just one example of how the council will 

support communities to prepare for and cope with the likely increased prevalence and intensity of climate 

change induced flood events in the future. 

As floods and storms intensify, water must be moved away, absorbed or slowed. Soft infrastructure and 

natural features can offer water storage and can slow flows of water without the embodied carbon and 

high cost of hard, water infrastructure. Examples of nature-based flood solutions to reduce the impact of 

flooding include: 

 Sustainable Drainage System (SuDs): used to manage the flow of surface water. 

 Water Butts: method of capturing and storing rain water.  

 Roof Gardens: can increase water absorption, catch rainfall and slow down surface water run-off. 

Understanding Flood Risk  

It is important property owners and occupiers understand flood risk in order to make informed decisions 
on whether there is a need to protect their property and identify the most appropriate strategy for 
protecting their home.  

The Environment Agency has flood risk maps that demonstrate the risk from rivers, sea, and, in some 
places, from groundwater. They are updated on a regular basis and should be periodically reviewed, for 
example, when a home insurance policy is due for renewal. The flood risk maps show that most areas in 
Blackpool are low flood risk, with some medium and high flood risk areas. To view the flood risk maps, 
visit:  https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map.  

Responsibilities for Property Owners 

There is no legal requirement for the council to provide direct protection to private property from 

flooding. The responsibility falls to the owners or occupier of the premises and residents are encouraged 

to consider ways of protecting their properties and to ensure that they have adequate insurance cover.   

Therefore, property owners themselves maintain the responsibility to protect their properties from 

flooding and should plan to reduce the impact through advice and mitigation measures, such as:  

 Creating and completing a flood plan  

 Preparing a flood kit of essential items;  

 Obtaining appropriate insurance; 

 Purchasing or obtaining/installing flood defence equipment or other appropriate protection products 

(including sandbags if desired); 

 Ensuring arrangements are in place for drains and watercourses, which they are responsible for, to be 

key clear and properly maintained. 

Page 459

https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map


 

 

Property Flood Resilience (PFR) Measures 

Although the risk of flooding can never be entirely eliminated, the risk of water getting in to homes or 

businesses can be reduced, along with its impact if it does. The techniques come under different names, 

including Property Level Resilience (PLR), Property Flood Resilience (PFR) and Property Level Protection 

(PLP).

PFR is a term used to describe measures that reduce the risk of flood damage to a property and if water 

does enter, speed up recovery. PRF measures can be installed in/on homes to make them less vulnerable 

to flooding. When installing them, the aim is to identify the measures that are most appropriate for the 

property, the type of flooding and the need to minimise damage. Central to Blackpool Council’s policy is 

ensuring residents are aware and able to reflect upon measures they can take to prepare prior to a 

flooding incident taking place. Examples of PFR measures that property owners and occupiers can add to 

their property to increase its’ flood resilience and resistance are shown in figure 1 below.  

 

Figure 1 : Examples of PFR measures to increase property flood resilience and resistance (The Flood Hub, September 2021). 

Please note measures should be tailored to each property, such as using porous plaster, fitting solid floors 

or tiled floor covering, raising electrics and taking simple steps in a flood event to move furniture and 

valuable possessions upstairs. Structural measures need to take account of the building type and its fabric. 

Further details can be found on the council’s website (www.blackpool.gov.uk ), and on the Flood Hub 

Website (www.thefloodhub.co.uk ) and National Flood Forum (www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk)  

Page 460

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/
http://www.thefloodhub.co.uk/
http://www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk/


 

 

Six Steps to Flood Protection 

Property owners and occupiers should follow the Six Steps to Flood Protection. The Six Steps to Flood 
Protection offers a step-by-step approach to ensure that property owners and occupiers know how to 
reduce flood risk effectively and are able to respond if there is a flood.   

The six steps to Flood Protection are:  

1. Understand the Risk  
2. Planning a Scheme  
3. Property Surveying  
4. Design and Specification 
5. Product Installation  
6. Maintenance and Operation 

Visit www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk for further detail and guidance around each step. 

During a Flooding Event  

What property owners/residents should do:  

 Call 999 if in danger.  
 Listen to the advice of the emergency services and evacuate when told to do so. 
 Ensure important and valuable items are stored on shelving, within water-proof containers, or moved 

upstairs where possible. 
 Turn off gas, electricity and water supplies when flood water is about to enter their home if safe to do 

so. 
 Avoid walking or driving through flood water. 
 Put plugs in sinks and baths to help stop water entering their home.  

What property owners/residents should not do: 

 Do not touch sources of electricity when standing in flood water. 
 Do not approach any fast flowing water or deep standing water. 

What the council will do:  

 Work with emergency services in assisting and coordinating any required actions. 
 Assist in post-flood clean-up operations. 
 Produce a Section 19 Report as required. 
 Produce a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy which can be accessed via the Councils website at 

www.blackpool.gov.uk detailing a list of activities and objectives associated to the flood risk business 
plan.  

What the council will not do:  

 The council will not provide sandbags to individual private properties*.  

 The council will not deliver sandbags during a flood event.  

Page 461

http://www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk/
http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


 

 

* The council maintains a supply of sandbags for distribution to protect critical assets within the borough. 
The council will remind residents of the need to be resilient when it comes to flooding and to take steps in 
preparing for flooding.  

 

Community Flood Action Groups/Forums 

In further support of developing a Community Flood Resilient Policy, the council is supporting the 
establishment and development of local based Community Flood Action Groups or Forum. This will enable 
effective communication to those in high-risk areas, as well as sharing of best practice and latest 
developments. 

Please see figure 2 below for an outline of the multiple benefits of community flood groups.  

 

Figure 2 : Multiple Benefits of Community Flood Groups (The Flood Hub, January 2021). 

Resource Links:  

 Blackpool Council: www.blackpool.gov.uk  
 Environment Agency: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency  
 Environment Agency Flood Risk Maps: https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map  
 The Flood Hub: www.thefloodhub.co.uk   
 National Flood Forum: www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk  

Page 462

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency
https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map
http://www.thefloodhub.co.uk/
http://www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk/


 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Document Control 

Document owner: John-Paul Lovie 

Document number: 1.0 

Document category:  

Document location:  

Issued by:  

Last edited: 08/11/22 

Record of Amendments: 

Date Version Amended by Description of changes 

    

    

    

    

    

    

Approved By: 

Name Title Signature Date 

    

    

    

 

Page 463



This page is intentionally left blank



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 1 of 10 

 

Section 19 Report: 

Investigation into flooding on  

22nd November 2017  

Page 465

tsplseob_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4b



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 2 of 10 

Contents 

Problem Reported 03 

Background 04 

Investigation, Findings and Actions 06 

Conclusions 08 

United Utilities Report and Actions  

 

Flood Management Options and Recommendations  

09 

 

Page 466



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 3 of 10 

Problem Reported and Initial Response 

Following intense rainfall commencing in the early 

afternoon on the 22nd November 2017 a number of 

flooding incidents were reported to Blackpool Council 

via the Vitaline out-of-hours call centre.  

None of the risk management authorities had received 

Met office warnings of heavy rainfall. 

Due to a combination of factors, in particular that the 

Risk Management Authorities (RMA) were not aware of 

the extent of the incident in the Blackpool and 

Lancashire area, a major incident was not declared.  

Therefore, Blackpool Council emergency planning 

protocols were put in place.  

Council officers and staff from United Utilities attended 

the flood event on Thursday 22nd November 2017 and 

on Friday 23rd November 2017, with Vitaline providing 

out-of-hours communications service, keeping officers 

aware of the extent and locations of flooding.  

Officers were present on site from both organisations 

for a number of days after the event.  

Flooding was also reported to have caused a number of 

power failures in the Anchorsholme area. Welfare 

assistance was not required but Adult Social Care was 

available to provide assistance to residents if required 

and sports centres were on standby to provide refuge 

for residents should it be necessary.  

In addition United Utilities provided a customer bus in 

Morrison’s car park, which was available from Friday 

23rd November and attended by United Utilities staff for 

12 hours a day through to Sunday 26th November 2017.  

Blackpool Council is now aware that flooding occurred 

in the following locations: 

 

 

 

 

Anchorsholme Lane Marble Avenue 

Ashfield Road Moor Park Avenue 

Beryl Avenue Mossom Lane 

Bovington Avenue Munster Avenue 

Briarwood Drive New Lane 

Bridgewater Avenue Penswick Avenue 

Brisbane Close Perth Close 

Bromley Close Quarry Bank 

Camberra Close Radway Close 

Champagne Avenue Sevenoaks Drive 

Coriander Close Snowshill Crescent 

Cranbrook Avenue Valentia Road 

Dalby Close Warley Road 

Emerald Close Warren Drive 

Faraday Way White Carr Lane 

Fir Tree Place Wood Green Drive 

Gilford Avenue Wroxton Close 

Grassington Place  

Greenoak Place  

Hastings Avenue  

Hobart Place  

Kelverdale Road  

Lauderdale Avenue  

Limerick Road  

Lockhurst Avenue  

 

 

 

 
Page 467



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 4 of 10 

The number of properties affected by this event is 

approximately 300. 

There was also major flooding under Devonshire Road 

Bridge leading to a road closure. 

In addition, Anchorsholme Academy was subject to 

flooding.  

Plans A and B provide the location of some of the 

properties listed above that had flooding reported.  

The Environment Agency produce mapping of areas at 

risk of flooding, and although their information is 

intended as a guide only, some of the areas flooded on 

22nd November 2017 are shown to be at risk on the 

mapping but the majority of areas flooded on the 22nd 

November are not on the Environment Agency flood risk 

mapping. 

Plan A Bispham 

 

Plan B Anchorsholme  

 

Background  

Blackpool is a low lying highly urban town with a 

combined sewer system serving the whole of the town. 

Due to the volume of development many previously 

open watercourses have been culverted and now form 

part of the sewer system.  With the exception of some 

small sections, the highway drainage gullies also 

ultimately discharge into the combined sewer network. 

 Data from United Utilities and others suggests that the 

rainfall was of intensity with a return period of 1 in 64 

years. The storm return period is beyond the 

parameters to which highway drainage (typically 

designed to a range between 1 in 1 to 1 in 5 year events) 

and sewers (1 in 30) are designed. The storm would be 

classed as an exceptionally severe weather event and 

was the main cause of flooding in this instance. This 

relates to both the highway drainage and the sewers 

which the drainage outfalls into. 

Figure 1 below shows details of the rainfall measured 

in three locations  

 

United Utilities record that rain had been falling steadily 

from the 20th November 2017 and consequently their 

storm water tanks and Fylde Tunnel Sewer system were 

already at full capacity, in addition the ground was 

saturated.  

Page 468



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 5 of 10 

United Utilities data was obtained from a rainwater 

gauge installed at Fleetwood waste water treatment 

works. This rain gauge is a tipping bucket rain gauge that 

measures the intensity of the rainfall over time. These 

gauges are of high standard and meet industry best 

practice standards.  

United Utilities have informed Blackpool Council that 

the gauges are calibrated and that the data is reviewed 

regularly and therefore there is no reason to believe 

that the records are not accurate.   

 

Fylde Tunnel and associated pumping stations  

United Utilities have provided the following information 

in relation to the Fylde Tunnel and associated pumping 

stations to assist in the preparation of this report and 

any future actions that may be required to provide flood 

risk management: 

“The Fylde tunnel system starts at Manchester Square in 

Blackpool South and discharges at Fleetwood 

wastewater treatment works (WwTW). The tunnel 

system is the collection mechanism for Blackpool on a 

normal day of operation, but it is also designed to store 

wastewater at a number of locations in the event of a 

large rainfall event. The total storage capacity of the 

tunnel system is 200million litres of waste water at 

locations including Bloomfield Road, Fleetwood WwTW 

and the tunnel itself. This storage capacity must be full 

prior to discharge to sea to meet environmental 

protection standards set by the Environment Agency. 

The pump arrangement has been designed as such to 

meet environmental protection legislation, and is not 

physically able to discharge before this threshold has 

been met. 

The sewer network system is a combination of both foul 

and storm water, which is how all cities and towns 

across the British Isles have been designed and built 

since Victorian times, only in recent decades do we aim 

to separate storm water as part of developments. The 

water industry best practice standard for sewer design 

is to provide for a 1:30 storm rainfall event.  

The pumping stations along Fylde Coast at Manchester 

Square, Anchorsholme, and Chatsworth Avenue are only 

designed to operate in sequence after the tunnel system 

has reached its full storage capacity and additional flows 

are then pumped out to sea. All pumping stations and 

Fleetwood WwTW are monitored, operated and 

maintained as one system from Fleetwood by UU day 

and night shift teams throughout the year.  In the event 

of any predicted storm event along the Fylde coast, UU 

will deploy resources to all pumping stations to ensure 

any potential problems are rectified quickly by qualified 

Engineers located on site.  

The Anchorsholme pumping station will automatically 

operate when the level in the tunnel goes above the start 

height in the pipe that connects to this pumping station. 

The pumps operate sequentially to ensure the flows 

entering the station are dealt with efficiently, until the 

station reaches capacity for example in an extreme 

rainfall event, which is what happened on the night of 

22nd November 2017. The number of pumps operating 

at any one time will vary depending on the volume of 

storm water entering the pumping station. The pumping 

station cannot operate if the water level in the tunnel 

does not get above this start height and so the pumping 

station cannot be operated any earlier in terms of 

reducing levels in the tunnel, for example to manage and 

reduce levels prior to forecasted rainfall. 

The following abstract from United Utilities shows the 

operation of the five pumps at Anchorsholme pumping 

station during week commencing 20th November 2017 

and the spill data for that week.  These are facts 

provided by United Utilities.  

There are a total of 5 pumps at Anchorsholme Pumping 

Station, which are called into duty sequentially based on 

increasing levels of storm water arriving at the station 

from the main tunnel. Therefore as flow levels rise and 

fall in the Pumping Station, the number of pumps called 

into service will change to reflect these pre-set flow 

levels. Figure 3 below shows the level of flow (orange 

line) arriving at Anchorsholme Pumping Station from 

the 20th-27th November 2017.  As seen below, once the 
Page 469



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 6 of 10 

flow reaches “station start height” pumps are called into 

duty (grey Line).  The diagram also evidences that the 

flows arriving at the station were considerable, prior to 

the evening of the 22nd November 2017.   

 

Site Times of Spill Pump Duration 

Manchester Sq. 
PS 

17.25 21 Nov – 16.00 
22 Nov (intermittent) 

600 minutes of 1-3 
pumps operating as 
required. 

Anchorsholme PS 
4.50am 21 Nov. – 1600 
22 Nov (intermittent) 

1210 minutes of 1-3 
pumps operating as 
required. 

Chatswork 
Avenue PS 

17.00 21 Nov – 16.00 
22 Nov (intermittent) 

760 minutes of 1-3 
pumps operating as 
required. 

 
The table above highlights, that due to the amount of rainfall, which fell 
over the catchment there was a requirement for the three stations to pump 
out to sea due to the system already being full.  This is a flood prevention 
measure for all three catchments upstream of these facilities. 
 
The pumps at all three stations listed above, are automatically called upon 
(grey line), dependent on the station start height.  Up until the evening of 
22nd November 2017, the stations did not require to call upon the remaining 
pumps, as evidenced in figure 3.   
 
On the evening of the 22nd November and during the 23rd November 2017, 
due to the amount of flow arriving at Anchorsholme Pumping Station, the 
station automatically called upon the remaining two pumps; this is shown in 
the Anchorsholme Pump Operation graph shown below.   
 
It is noted that United Utilities reported intermitted tripping of pump five, 
throughout the evening of 22nd November 2017 but confirmed that without 
this pump failure the severity of the flooding would have remained the same. 
 

 

 

United Utilities also confirmed that the beach pumps 
were available to be called upon during the storm 
event.  
 
Unlike the data above on the five pumps, there is no 
specific data available in respect of the beach pumps. 
However, United Utilities confirmed that in the event 
that beach pumps are required they would  
have  activated as it would be classed as an emergency 
and would not require specific permission for that 
event.  United Utilities did not restrict the use of the 
beach pumps during this event as they open 
automatically as required by the levels in the culvert. 

 

Investigation, Findings and Actions 

Council Officers, United Utilities Officers and Elected 

Members attended a number of properties following 

the event on the 22nd November in the Anchorsholme, 

Norbreck and Bispham areas which resulted in this   

formal Section 19 Investigation.  This does not however 

mean that flooding did not occur in other areas.  

In order to collate the information for the investigation 

into this flood event the following initial actions were 

taken (as far as officers were aware): 

Page 470



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 7 of 10 

 Council officers visited all the properties where 

flooding was reported to allow investigations of the 

effect of the property level flooding.   

 Letters were delivered at all properties recorded as 

affected by flooding. 

 Data collected during the end of November and 

beginning of December found that over 74 

properties had property level flooding and 6 

garages have been reported as having flooding. 

In the Anchorsholme area identified in Plan B, as a result 

of the weather conditions during the week commencing 

20th November, the sewage system was already full to 

capacity, ground conditions were saturated and water 

course levels were high.  

The findings are that this flooding event resulted from 

the sewers systems not having enough capacity to 

convey the additional flows generated by the storm and 

the inability of water courses to pass forward water 

quickly enough due in the main to capacity issues 

resulting from classification as an exceptional severe 

weather event.  

Water was recorded to have receded from these 

properties during the morning of the 23rd November 

2017.  

The largest area recorded with flooding was East 

Anchorsholme, the area bounded by Warren Drive, 

Sevenoaks Drive, Wood Green Drive, North Drive and 

Snowhills Crescent, which was impassable due to water 

at a depth in the region of 500mm across the highway.  

In addition, some areas reported loss of electricity. 

Following a visit to 25 Fir Tree Place where property 

flooding was recorded the resident reported that water 

did not recede until 9.30am on the 23rd November 2017. 

Further investigation has taken place in respect of the 

cross boundary and other Risk Management 

Authorities’ operations during this event in particular 

United Utilities. United Utilities reported that following 

their investigations in respect of flooding on Sevenoaks 

Drive area, their team found a third party culvert 

blocked outside the Blackpool boundary and once they 

unblocked it on behalf of the third party owner the 

water receded extremely quickly in that area.  

In order to provide additional sewer capacity, United 

Utilities took the decision to divert flows from Skipool 

pumping station serving Poulton-le-Fylde and 

surrounding areas away from the Anchorsholme 

catchment. The volumes of flow generated by the storm 

meant most of United Utilities assets were continually 

spilling storm sewage to watercourses in accordance 

with consents issued by the Environment Agency. The 

diversion of storm water to the River Wyre will have 

undoubtedly mitigated flooding to areas of the 

Anchorsholme catchment.  

In the Bispham area, Blackpool Council officers 

attended but could not alleviate the water, similarly to 

Anchorsholme area ground conditions were saturated 

and sewage systems full to capacity.  

Highways teams recorded that on arrival at Valentia 

Road and Limerick Road there was evidence of 

surcharge into properties, over the carriageway and in 

gardens.   Water had entered properties largely under 

the floor. The road was flooded in parts up to 1m deep. 

In addition these properties had suffered electrical 

disruption.  

Blackpool Council deployed sandbags to divert water 

but these proved ineffective as water levels had risen 

quickly and sewer surcharge had entered the property 

under the floor.  

 The residents were advised to contact United Utilities 

to assist with the clean-up. 

Valentia Road was also visited after the event on 22nd 

November 2017.    

Residents were  informed along with others in the area 

that there was sewer surcharge in the flooding and as 

such United Utilities should be involved in the 

investigation.  It is understood that this area is a known 

area of risk of highway flooding and as such led to the 

road being closed on a number of previous occasions. 
Page 471



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 8 of 10 

(Property level flooding has not been previously 

recorded). 

One of the main issues for Valentia Road and Limerick 

Road is that Bispham Dyke which is classified as a main-

river and as such is the responsibility of the Environment 

Agency, is connected into the sewer network. In 

addition there is surface water runoff from network rail 

owned land.  

Investigations are now planned to look into the 

prevention of flooding and to identify resilience 

measures that can be provided.   

There was major flooding on Mossom Lane, manholes 

lifted which led to the road being closed. Initial 

investigation raised questions about the ability of  

Anchorsholme pumping station to operate  during this 

event which could be the reason that Mossom Lane 

flooded , however,  United Utilities have provided a 

report that states that the pumping station was 

operational on the evening of the 22nd November and 

that the pumps were operating intermittently as they 

would expect them to as previously highlighted and 

explained.  

Properties at numbers 393 to 373 and 398 to 378 

Warley Road were impassable due to 500mm depths of 

water. There was also electricity failure to properties in 

this area. The road was closed but water is reported to 

have receded at 3am.  

Residents have contacted the Flood Risk Manager and 

further investigations are taking place in respect of 

Warley Road and Bromley Close.  

Devonshire Road Bridge was closed due to flooding, this 

bridge has a history of closure during heavy rainfall. 

Officers are working with United Utilities to better 

understand what measures can be taken collectively to 

address the flooding in this location. 

 

Conclusions 

Given the rapid onset of this incident and the lack of Met 

office warning there was little opportunity for 

preparation. However the investigations by the Flood 

Risk Manager and close working with other risk 

management authorities (RMA’s) show that the  

undertaking of duties by Blackpool Council and United 

Utilities were deployed.  

It is concluded that the flooding was caused by an 

exceptionally severe weather event as the entire 

integrated drainage system including highway drainage 

system, watercourses, sewers, main-river and the water 

table was completely saturated.  

Given the speed with which the flood receded it is 

understood that gullies in the area were operational and 

not blocked.  With the intensity of the rainfall it is not 

suggested that there was any blockage in the sewer 

system other than that already noted impacting 

Sevenoaks Drive, with the capacity of water not allowing 

the highway gullies to drain away. 

 

Flood Management Options and 
recommendations  

Given the high intensity short rainfall it is not thought 
that any improvement in capacity of United Utilities 
sewers is required. 
 
However, options for flow management could be 
investigated to better manage the water flow away 
from properties. 
 
Further investigations are being made into 
improvements in the following areas: 
 

 Applications have been made to the Environment 
Agency so that a study and modelling can be carried 
out to better understand the causes of flooding and 
mitigation measures in all areas that were flooded; 
 

 In certain properties, particularly Valentia Road and 
Limerick Road, it may be advisable to investigate the 
potential for flood resilience; Page 472



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 9 of 10 

 

 Work with Highways England to ensure that their 
culverts are not impeding the flow of water; 
 

 Investigation and clearance of watercourses but 
more importantly better management of surface 
water in the catchment areas. This will include 
applications to the Environment Agency for funding 
to undertake studies on the impact of watercourses 
and projects to improve the efficiency including 
possible surface water separation; 

 

 In respect of Devonshire Road Bridge, discussion 
has already commenced with United Utilities on the 
impact of the continued disruption during heavy 
rainfall and the potential solutions or management 
of flooding at the bridge, with network rail needing 
to be included in these discussions;  

 

 Full review sandbag/flood response practical 
assistance tyre policy taking into account more 
modern methods of protection; 
 

 Information is provided on the Council’s web site to 
assist and update residents and direct residents to 
the flood hub; 

 

 Implement flood resilience forum in Blackpool;  
 

 Partnership work with Wyre Council and United 
Utilities to provide improvement to water storage 
and flow in the Hillyaide Brook and Royles Brook 
Rivers including ensuring other risk management 
authorities (RMA’s) are informed.  
 

 

Page 473



Section 19 Report: Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 
2017  
 

 
Page 10 of 10 

Document Control 

Document owner: Clare Nolan-Barnes 

Document number:  

Document category: Section 19 Report 

Document location: X:\02/Heads Folder/Floods and Water Management/Section 19 

Issued by: Clare Nolan-Barnes 

Last edited:  

 

Record of Amendments: 

Date Version Amended by Description of changes 

Dec D1.0 Clare Nolan-Barnes Created 

October 2018 D.1.1 Clare Nolan-Barnes Version 2 

July 2018  D1.2  Clare Nolan-Barnes Version 3  

Sept 2019 D1.3 Clare Nolan-Barnes Version 4 

    

    

 

Approved By: 

Name Title Signature Date 

    

    

    

 

Page 474



Last reviewed: Oct 2018

For more information visit:

www.thefloodhub.co.uk

@TheFloodHub

Property Flood
Resilience (PFR)

Booklet

This resource has been

produced by Newground who

work in partnership with the


Environment Agency

Last reviewed: September 2021

Flood barrier / Lakeside Flood Solutions

Page 475

http://www.newground.co.uk/flood
http://www.thefloodhub.co.uk/
tsplseob_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4c 



INTRODUCTION

3

Property Flood Resilience (PFR) is the term used to describe the ways in which a
property can be protected from flood damage. The two main strategies used are

‘resistance’ and ‘resilience’.



Flood Resistance

Flood Resilience

A flood 'resistance' approach aims to prevent water entry or reduce the amount of
floodwater that enters a property and it requires the purchase and installation of home
flood defence products. These products can be permanent or temporary. Permanent
products are fitted, left in place, and remain 'always ready' to work 24/7, with no action
needed to activate them in the event of a flood. Temporary measures are usually stored
away and then put in place when flooding is expected.

Government guidelines suggest 600mm (2ft) as a safe height to resist water entry, but
many buildings in flood risk areas are protected to around 900mm (3ft). Beyond this height,
it is advised that floodwater should be allowed to overtop barriers and enter a property to
prevent structural damage.

A successful resistance strategy ensures that every water entry point on the property is
protected. If a single point is missed or a flood defence product fails, the property will begin
to take on floodwater which compromises all other protection measures and results in a
failed package of works.

A flood ‘resilience’ approach aims to reduce the damage caused by floodwater when it
enters a property, resulting in quick and easy cleaning, drying, recovery and reoccupation
of the property. This could potentially eliminate the need for an insurance claim. Resilient
measures usually involve changes to the fabric of the building so no action is needed to
activate them in the event of a flood. Undertaking a resilience approach directly after your
home has flooded presents an opportunity to reinstate the property with water resilient
materials and design.

Page 476



Things to Consider

Understand your Flood Risk
Flooding can occur from rivers, ordinary watercourses, surface water, groundwater, sewers, and
reservoirs. Understanding your flood risk and where floodwater may affect your property from is
important for identifying the most appropriate strategy for protecting your home.

Professional Advice
Whilst not mandatory, a property flood resilience survey by an experienced professional would be
advised if you are unsure about how to proceed in protecting your property. There will be a
charge for a thorough survey and report, which help you make informed choices when choosing
resilience strategies.

Property Type
If your property is a listed building, or is located within a conservation area, certain products such
as PVC flood doors, or exterior works such as re-pointing or rendering may have additional
requirements or not be permitted.

Kitemarked Products
The BSI (British Standards Institute) Kitemark for Flood Protection
products is BS 851188, meaning the products have been independently
tested under specific flood conditions. Any flood protection products
used by you or a contractor should be Kitemarked where possible.

Maintenance
Many PFR products require maintenance and cleaning to ensure they continue to work. You can
check with the manufacturers product information as some installers may offer maintenance
services. Annual servicing may be required in order to maintain the warranty and guarantee of
certain products.

It is recommended that you make a regular maintenance schedule which includes testing
products, such as with ‘wet runs’ for pumps.

Mark of trust / BSI group

Page 477

https://www.bsigroup.com/


Th
is

 g
ra

ph
ic

 h
ig

hl
ig

ht
s 

so
m

e 
of

 th
e 

P
FR

 m
ea

su
re

s 
yo

u 
ca

n 
ad

d 
to

 y
ou

r p
ro

pe
rty

 to
 in

cr
ea

se
it'

s 
flo

od
 re

si
lie

nc
e 

an
d 

re
si

st
an

ce
. T

he
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

pa
ge

s 
gi

ve
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
on

 m
an

y 
of

 th
es

e
m

ea
su

re
s 

an
d 

m
or

e,
 to

 h
el

p 
yo

u 
to

 d
ec

id
e 

th
e 

rig
ht

 o
pt

io
ns

 fo
r y

ou
r p

ro
pe

rty
.

Page 478



Flood doors are available in a wide range of sizes,
designs, colours and finishes, including uPVC,
composite, hardwood as well as steel and security
doors for commercial premises. Appearance wise,
flood doors can look the same as standard,
ordinary non-flood doors. When closed and the
locking system engaged, a watertight seal is
created between the door and its frame.

Flood windows work in much the same way and
can be used to replace basement windows or
where floodwaters can reach significant depths
and the height of ground floor windows fall within
the property’s safe standard of protection.

Flood doors & windows

Offer round the clock protection.
Can restrict entry and exit in the event of a
flood.
Good option for elderly or disabled residents
or those who may be away from the property
for extended periods of time.
Requires annual servicing and maintenance to
maintain the doors warranty and ensure it
works as intended during a flood.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Starting at around £1,800 (Incl. VAT)
for a single uPVC Flood Door including
installation. French doors, composite, hardwood,
and bespoke designs will cost more.

Flood barriers can be fitted to external doorway
entrances and windows, garages, garden
gateways and driveway entrances. Most work by
having panels slotted into channels which remain
permanently installed on the doorway. The
channels can be installed on the face of the
entrance or within the doorway reveals.

Barriers come in a range of materials including
aluminium and uPVC. When not in use, colour-
matched channel covers can be used to hide the
channels and protect rubber seals.

Some barriers are designed to be installed within
the doorway reveal on inwards opening doors and
without the need for channels, and they expand to
create a seal with the floor and masonry.

Flood barriers

Maintenance required of rubber seals which
may perish over time and need replacing.
Barriers boards need to be stored correctly to
avoid damage to rubber seals.
Property owners need to be physically able to
carry out installation when a flood is expected.
Barriers can close off access to and from the
property on doors that open outwards.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £500 - £800 for a single doorway
aluminium barrier, wider barriers at an increased
cost.

Flood barrier / Lakeside Flood Solutions

Page 479



Affordable solution for air bricks or small holes.
Relatively easy to install but must be installed
correctly.
Must be installed when flooding is expected
and removed once floodwater has receded.
Adhesive patches designed for single use only.

A lower cost option to automatic air bricks are air
brick covers which can be placed on top of existing
traditional air bricks when flooding is expected.
Most work by pre-installing a frame around the air
brick which the cover is clipped onto.

Self-adhesive patches can also be applied. Kits are
available which include air brick patches and
patches that are designed to help seal around
pipes or other small apertures in an emergency.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £30 for a single cover and £20 for a
pack of 2 adhesive patches.

Offer round the clock protection.
Require maintenance and cleaning.

Automatic (self-closing) air bricks are designed to
replace traditional air bricks, allowing air flow under
normal conditions and self-closing when they come
in to contact with floodwater. The cartridges
contain floating balls which rise with floodwater to
create a watertight seal, preventing water from
entering the wall cavity and flooding the property.
Two units can be stacked to replace a double air
brick. They are available in different colours to
match brick work and masonry.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £60 (Incl. VAT) for a single unit, and
around £90 including installation.

Automatic air bricks Air brick covers

Prevents build-up of moisture within the cavity.
Requires maintenance and cleaning.

Est. Costs: £4-10 per valve.

One-way weep valves
Weep holes provide an outlet for moisture that
condenses within the cavity to drain away, but they
also allow floodwater inside. One-way weep hole
valves work in a similar way to NRVs and are
designed to allow condensation to escape, and
close off under flood conditions to prevent
floodwater from entering the cavity.

Cheap and easy to install.
Considerations:

Air brick exploded view / StormMeister Air brick cover / The Flood Company

Weep hole vents / M3 Global Floodtec

Page 480

https://www.stormmeister.com/
https://thefloodcompany.co.uk/
https://www.m3floodtec.com/


A close inspection of all external wall / floor
joins and masonry is required.
Listed buildings may require sampling/testing of
existing mortar to create a match for re-pointing.
On some older properties, a lime mortar
specialist may be required.

Gaps, cracks or holes in brick or stonework can be
repaired with a water-resistant mortar. Similarly,
any gaps in the wall-floor join of external walls can
allow water into the foundations or sub-floor areas
of the property.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Will vary.

Easy to apply with a brush, roller or spray
applicator.
Dry to a natural finish.
Odourless.
Allows masonry and mortar joints to breathe
whilst resisting water.

Different types of brick / stonework and mortar has
varying degrees of porosity which, when in contact
with floodwater, can absorb water into cracks and
fissures. The application of suitable waterproofing
wall sealant, such as a silicone or siloxane water
based sealant, can drastically reduce water ingress
and even prevent it altogether.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Will vary depending on the size of
property.

Wall re-pointing, sealants & rendering

Re-pointing External wall sealants

Water-resistant wall renders can help to slow
down water penetration or prevent ingress
altogether. Rendering from ground level upwards
may not be enough in some cases, and the
excavation of soil and earth to render sections of
wall below ground may be needed. Rendering
above any damp proof course may lead to damp
problems within the home.

Wall rendering

Not suitable for all properties and planning
permission may be required.
Seeking professional advice is recommended.
Can be very effective.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Will vary.

Repointing / The Spruce

Page 481

https://www.thespruce.com/


Silicone sealants will perish over time and
need renewing.
A thorough inspection around the property is
required to ensure all entry points are
identified.

Holes can be found within masonry for
wastewater outlet pipes, utility pipes and cables,
aerial and satellite cables, telephone cables etc.
Re-pointing mortar and silicone sealants can be
used to close off these entry points to prevent
floodwater entry. Adhesive patches can also be
purchased to wrap around pipework in an
emergency situation.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £15 - £40

Provides 24/7 round the clock protection.
A made-to-measure solution may be required.
Regular inspection and replacement of sealant
around the frame and door seals is required.

Standard meter boxes are not watertight, with
gaps in the frame and holes for supply pipes and
cables to enter the property. External gas, electric
and water meters that come into contact with
floodwater will need water entry points sealed.

In most cases, the meters themselves belong to
the utility service provider, but the housings in
which they are located belong to the property
owner. Flood-proof meter box covers are
available, or you can contact your service provider
to discuss replacing the housing.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £450 +VAT including installation.

Appliances must not be used when cover is in place.
Not suitable for all appliances.
Maintenance of seals is required.

Vent covers protect air vents and vents for some appliances such as tumble dryers. They comprise of a
surrounding frame which remains permanently in place, and the cover is clipped in place when floodwater
is expected to create a watertight seal. Specialist advice and guidance must be sought when looking to
protect a vent or flue for a gas or fuel burning appliance.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £60 – £80

Gaps around pipework & cable
entry points

Utility meter housings/covers

Vent covers

Vent covers / Floodguards

Page 482

http://www.floodguards.com/


Permanently protect against the backflow of
foul water, foul smells and rodents 24/7.
Large NRVs can require some external
excavation for installation.
Flap gates installed within the chamber can be
a quick and more affordable solution.
With NRVs installed, toilets should not be
flushed, and other appliances should not be
used during a flood.
Require periodic maintenance, cleaning, and
replacement of rubber seals etc.

In bungalows or properties with ground floor toilets,
foul sewer water can back up (surcharge) from the
main sewer system via the soil pipe and emerge
out of the toilet, flooding the home internally. Water
can also back up through other bathroom and
kitchen appliances to cause internal flooding.

Waste pipes can be protected from backflow with
non-return valves (NRVs) which can be installed in-
line to the pipe itself where access is available.
Where access is not available, they can be
installed in-line between the toilet and the
inspection chamber outside, though this requires
excavation works.

Alternatively, one-way ‘push-fit’ flap gates can be
installed within the inspection chamber itself to
prevent foul water backflow into the bathroom.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Small wastewater NRVs from £15 plus
installation, flap gates from £25, and in-line NRVs
from £200 plus installation.

Requires manual installation when flooding is
expected.
Quick and easy solution with minimal
installation.
Pan seals are not designed to work with square
toilet bowls.
Regular testing and inspection for puncture
marks is recommended.

To protect properties against the backflow of
sewage and floodwater through the toilet where
non-return valves cannot be easily installed,
inflatable toilet pan seals and bungs offer an
alternative solution. Both products can be inflated
with a standard bicycle tyre type pump.

Pan seals are designed to work with oval shaped
bowls and are placed into the bowl and inflated to
create a watertight seal beneath the rim of the
bowl. Bungs are designed to be pushed down in
the U-bend of the toilet and inflated when in place. 

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £40 - £50

Non-return valves (NRVs) Inflatable toilet pan seals / bungs

Non-return valve / drain depot

Toilet pan seal / JT Atkinson

Page 483

https://www.draindepot.co.uk/
https://www.jtatkinson.co.uk/


Moving utility meters and re-wiring the whole
ground floor can be complex and expensive.

Water, electricity, and gas meters and electrical
sockets that sit within the level of floodwater on
ground floors are subject to damage when
flooding occurs. The meters, wiring and sockets
can be raised or moved to a higher location above
the anticipated level of floodwater to prevent future
damage to electrical services. Electrics can also
be wired from the ceiling downwards instead of
coming up from under the floor.

Utility meters often remain the property of the
service provider, so it is recommended that you
contact them first to discuss moving the meter and
ensure a competent and qualified tradesperson
undertakes the work.

Boiler units and ancillary devices should be
installed above the predicted flood level and
preferably on the first floor of a building. Electrical
equipment such as TVs or PCs should be installed
above the flood level by wall mounting or placing
on raised cabinets.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Dependant on the works needed.

Replacing hinges is a cheaper option to
replacing the doors themselves.
Moving doors would need to be done before
floodwater enters.

Replacing doors with hardwood or other water-
resistant alternatives and replacing skirting
boards with a uPVC alternative reduces flood
damage as these materials will avoid absorbing
water or being warped. Following flooding they
can easily be cleaned and won't need to be
replaced.

Quick release hinges can be fitted to internal
doors allowing them to be lifted off their hinges
and easily moved to a higher location when
flooding occurs.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Quick release hinges £10-20.
Hardwood doors £50-100. uPVC skirting boards
£10-20 per board.

Raised utility meters and electrics Internal doors & skirting boards

Quick release door hinge / tttnet

Page 484

http://www.ttnet.net/


Using water-resistant paints an easier option to
tiling.
Extra consideration for the building fabric of
older properties.

Waterproof wall boards such as dragon board,
aqua board and magnesium oxide board are more
resilient to water than traditional gypsum-based
plaster boards. If using traditional gypsum plaster
boards, installing them horizontally can reduce the
amount of remedial work needed after flooding.
Materials such as lime plaster or cement render
with waterproof additive reduces the likelihood that
walls will be damaged by floodwater.

Walls can be painted with water-resistant paints or
tiled. Ceramic tiles and water-resistant grout should
be laid over sand or cement render, not gypsum-
based plaster. Closed cell insulation is more
resistant to water than traditional insulation
materials.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Waterproof boards £5-10 per square
metre. Water-resistant paints £20-30.

Water resilient internal walls & floors

Walls

Easily removable carpets and rugs can be
used to keep comfort.
Replacing flooring can be expensive.

Solid concrete, concrete-based stone, and ceramic
tiled flooring are resilient to floodwater and easy to
clean. Wood effect tiles are also available. All tiles
should be laid on cement-based adhesive using
water-resistant grout.

Replacing floorboards and joists with water-
resistant, treated timber will reduce water
absorption and allow the floor to dry out quicker,
reducing rot and distortion. Installing a chemical
damp-proof course below suspended timber floor
minimises sub-floor condensation, preventing
rotten joists and floorboards.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Dependant on material used and size
of flooring.

Floors

Page 485



Helps for a quick recovery following flooding.
Can look the same as "normal" kitchen units.
May be expensive to replace all kitchen units.

Water resistant materials such as stainless steel,
bio composite, hardwood, or waterproof
construction board can be sued for kitchen units.
These can easily be cleaned down following
flooding to avoid replacement.

Appliances such as fridges and washing machines
can be raised on plinths and electrics raised above
the likely flood level. Baskets can be used to store
kitchen utensils so they can be moved or taken
upstairs when flooding is expected.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Dependant on size of kitchen and
materials desired.

Professional advice and installation are
required.
Tanking systems can fail if not installed
correctly.
Cavity systems are designed to be completely
waterproof, often guaranteed for 20+ years.
Cavity systems are expensive and can be
susceptible to damage from future alterations to
the room.

For basements experiencing damp and small
puddles of water, applying a cementitious wet
tanking slurry to the floor and walls can help to seal
small gaps and cracks and create a waterproof
layer.

Basements prone to significant flooding from
groundwater that need to be made completely
waterproof can be protected by a cavity drain
membrane system. This is complex and involves
the installation of a sump chamber with pump
system to the floor, drainage channels, and a cavity
drain membrane for the walls and floor. 

Once in place, wall and floor insulation can be
installed, followed by a range of finished wall
surface options.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: Expensive and dependant on size of
basement.

Water resilient kitchens Basement tanking

Cavity drain membrane system / Preservation Treatments

Page 486

https://preservationtreatments.co.uk/


Specialist advice and professional installation is
recommended.
Servicing and maintenance required.
Electricity supply can be cut off during a flood
so a battery backup unit or a backup generator
may be needed for electric pumps.
Great for dealing with groundwater flooding.

Sump & pump systems remove water that has
accumulated in a collection sump. They are usually
installed in basements and sub-floor voids and self-
activate when water enters the sump pit. The water
is then pumped through a discharge pipe to the
outside of the building, with a non-return valve on
the discharge pipe to prevent backflow.

Pump systems reduce the amount floodwater
within properties and the length of time it remains
there, reducing damage and helping to speed up
the cleaning and drying process. The size of the
system will need to be large enough to cope with
the anticipated load and it is recommended that a
suitable system is installed by a competent
professional. The pump should be hard-wired on its
own circuit to prevent loss of power from a circuit
tripping out during a flood.

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £1,000 - £3,000

Sump & pump systems Puddle sucker pumps

Good to have as a failsafe or back up in the
event of water entry.
Can be used as part of a package of flood
resistance or resilience measures to help
remove minor water seepage and leaks.
Need to be manually installed and operated.
Only powered when in contact with floodwater.
These units are designed to be run dry.

Submersible / puddle sucker pumps are stand-
alone pump units which can be deployed to help
remove minor water ingress. Discharge hoses
need to be connected and placed through a
window, letter box, over a flood barrier etc. 

Considerations:

Est. Costs: £150 - £300

Puddle sucker pump / National tool hire shops

Page 487

https://www.nationaltoolhireshops.co.uk/


Further Considerations

3

It is worth noting that this list of property flood resilience options provides examples of the types of
products that can be used, and there may be different options available for your home or business
that are not listed here. As a last resort if flooding happens unexpectedly and you are unprepared,
the use of sandbags or alternative sandbags may provide some level of protection.

Flood alarms
For properties close to rivers or watercourses, private flood level alarm systems can provide an
audible alarm warning when water levels are raised or flooding is likely to occur, which provides
time to install temporary PFR measures.

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)
These improve the drainage of rainfall and surface water that accumulates around buildings to
reduce possible flooding. There are various SuDS options you can install on your property,
including water butts and retention ponds. Find a link to our SuDS booklet below.

Relocation of important or valuable items
Some things cannot be replaced as part of an insurance claim, so it is important that important or
valuable items such as photo albums, documents, certificates and antiques, are stored on
shelving, within water-proof containers, or moved upstairs where possible.

Property Flood Resilience Toolkit
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/property-flood-resilience-toolkit/

An Introduction to Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) booklet
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/An-Introduction-Sustainable-
Drainage-Systems-SuDS-booklet.pdf

Know Your Flood Risk: Homeowners Guide to Flood Resilience
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/KnowYourFloodRisk-Homeowners-
Guide-to-PFR.pdf

Explore our Knowledge Hub for many more flood related resources:
www.thefloodhub.co.uk/knowledge-hub

Useful Links

3 For more information visit:

www.thefloodhub.co.uk

@TheFloodHub

This resource has been

produced by Newground who

work in partnership with the


Environment Agency

Last reviewed: September 2021Page 488

https://thefloodhub.co.uk/property-flood-resilience-toolkit/
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/An-Introduction-Sustainable-Drainage-Systems-SuDS-booklet.pdf
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/KnowYourFloodRisk-Homeowners-Guide-to-PFR.pdf
http://www.thefloodhub.co.uk/knowledge-hub
http://www.newground.co.uk/flood
http://www.thefloodhub.co.uk/


 

 

Appendix 4d: Equality Analysis (EA) Record 
Form  
Formerly Equality Impact Assessment 

 
 
 
Revised February 2015 
 
Department: Community and Environmental Services  

Team or Service Area Leading Assessment: Corporate Delivery Unit 

Title of Policy/ Service or Function: Community Flood Resilience Policy 2023-25 

Proposals to introduce/ alter/ delete policy, service, expenditure etc.: Introduce 

Date of proposals: November 2022 

Committee/Team: Executive  

Lead Officer: John Blackledge, Director of Community and Environmental Services 
 
STEP 1 - IDENTIFYING THE PURPOSE OR AIMS 
 
1. What type of policy, service or function is this? 
 
 Existing  New/ proposed  Changing/ updated   
 
2. What is the aim and purpose of the policy, service or function? 
 

The Blackpool Council Community Flood Resilience Policy has been produced in 
order to help build flood resilience and reduce the impact of flooding on properties 
in Blackpool. This policy document sets out guidance to ensure that residents are 
aware of and able to reflect upon measures they can take to prepare prior to a 
flooding incident taking place. 
 

 
3. Please outline any proposals being considered. 

The policy proposes property flood resilience measures that property owners can 
adopt to reduce the impact of flooding, should water get inside their property.  
 
The policy also outlines plans for the council to support the establishment and 
development of local based Community Flood Action Groups or Forum, in order to 
enable effective communication to those in high-risk areas, as well as sharing of 
best practice and latest developments. 
 

4. What outcomes do we want to achieve? 
 

The objectives of the Blackpool Council Community Flood Resilience Policy are to: 

 Enable a consistent response to requests for assistance in a flood event. 

 Provide clear lines of accountability and communication with residents and 
partners.  

Page 489



 

 

 Provide clear concise information around any other flood 
defence/protection and equipment used by residents. 

 Ensure consistent messaging by the Council and its’ emergency partners 
during flood-event communications. 

 

 
 
5. Who is the policy, service or function intended to help/ benefit? 
 

The policy will help enable communities who live in high flood risk areas to become 
more resilient in preparedness for a flood event. 

 
6. Who are the main stakeholders/ customers/ communities of interest? 
 

Council staff, emergency partners, communities who live in high flood risk areas and 
the general public. 
 

 
7. Does the policy, service or function have any existing aims in relation to Equality/ Diversity 

or community cohesion? 
 

No. 

 
 
STEP 2 - CONSIDERING EXISTING INFORMATION AND WHAT THIS TELLS YOU 
 
8. Please summarise the main data/ research and performance management information in 

the box below. 
  

Data/ information 

General: 
Blackpool has a resident population of approximately 138,381. Blackpool is coastal 
town with a dense urban area.  
 
Flood Risk: 
The Environment Agency on behalf of government, have produced flood risks maps 
to show the potential risk and impacts of flooding in the flood risk areas. Flood risk 
maps showing the flood risk from rivers or the sea, from surface water and from 
reservoirs in Blackpool can be found at https://check-long-term-flood-
risk.service.gov.uk/map .The flood risk maps show that most areas in Blackpool are 
low flood risk, with some medium and high flood risk areas. 
 
Age:  
A larger proportion of residents are aged 65+ (20.5%) compared to the national age 
structure (18.5%). The working age population (16-64) in Blackpool is smaller than 
the national figure, additionally the 0-15 population in Blackpool is also slightly 
smaller than the national age structure. 
 
Health and Disability:  

Page 490

https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map
https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map


 

 

The health of people in Blackpool is generally worse than the national average. The 
town records one of the lowest life expectancy rates nationally and there are 
inequalities by deprivation and gender. The average life expectancy for males is 
74.1 years, and for females it is 79.5 years. The average life expectancy across the 
town is one of the lowest nationally. Health priorities for Blackpool include alcohol 
and drug misuse, mental health, smoking and obesity.  
 
25.6% of people in Blackpool reported a long-term health problem or disability at 
the last Census, which is eight percentage points higher than the national average. 
 
Gender and Transgender: 
50.3% of the Blackpool population are estimated to be female and 49.7% are male. 
Transgender data for Blackpool is currently unavailable.   
 
Race and Ethnicity: 
Residents are mostly of White British ethnicity (93.6%), which is significantly higher 
than across England and Wales (80.5%). Black and minority ethnic groups, including 
Irish and European residents, are estimated to make up 6.4% of the population 
(approximately 9,000 people), compared with the estimated population for England 
and Wales of 19.5%.  
  
Sexual Orientation: 
ONS estimates from Annual Population survey data that amongst adults in 
Blackpool, around 107,100 (94.9%) adults identify as heterosexual, 3,700 
(3.2%) people identify as gay or lesbian, around 600 (0.6%) people identify as 
bisexual and 500 (0.4%) adults whose sexual orientation is classified as ‘other’. 
 
For around 1,000 adults in Blackpool sexual orientation is unknown due to 
answering ‘don’t know’ or declining to answer the survey question. Other estimates 
have put Blackpool’s LGBTQ+ population as higher than the combined estimates 
from the data above. 
 
Housing  
There is a high percentage of private rented dwellings in Blackpool and a slightly 
lower owner-occupier rate than seen nationally: 

 63.8% - owner occupied (England: 65.7%) 

 25.9% - privately rented (England: 17.9%) 

 10.3% - social rented (England: 16.4%)  
 
Household Composition 
The households in Blackpool have a slightly higher proportion of lone parent 
families and lone adults (both over 65 and under 65) than England.  
 
Lone parents are more at risk of financial exclusion because they are at greatest risk 
of unemployment due to the demands of balancing working and home life, 
especially with younger children. 
 
Household types 

 15% - lone adults over 65 years (England: 13.9%) 

Page 491



 

 

 23% - lone adults under 65 years (England: 14.4%) 

 13% - lone parent families (England: 9.8%) 

 8% - single families with all adults over 65 (England: 8%) 

 35% - single families cohabiting/married with all adults under 65 (England: 
43%). 
 

Research or comparative information 

National Context  
General: 
The Environment Agency’s 2008 National Flood Risk Assessment shows there are 
2.4 million properties at risk of flooding from rivers and the sea in England. 
Preliminary assessment of surface water flood risk also suggests that one million of 
these are also susceptible to surface water flooding with a further 2.8 million 
properties susceptible to surface water flooding alone. In all, around 5.2 million 
properties in England, or one in six properties, are at risk of flooding. The expected 
annual damages to residential and non-residential properties in England at risk of 
flooding from rivers and the sea is estimated at more than £1 billioni. 
 
Age: 
According to the Environment Agency, research has shown that 18 to 34 year olds 
are least likely to perceive flood risk to their area, know how to protect their homes 
or where to go for information. They are also at highest risk of fatality as they are 
less likely to perceive their personal riskii. 
 
Older people also have a disproportionate vulnerability to the effect of disasters, 
with frail or disabled older people being particularly at risk. Vulnerability amongst 
older people is dependent upon state of health, personality characteristics and 
social support network. Those without nearby family and friends are at an increased 
vulnerability to flooding.  
 
Health and Disability: 
Those with physical or mental disability or long term illness may have particular 
difficulties receiving warnings and being able to respond to them. Special needs 
populations, for example, those in residential care homes, hospitals, schools etc. 
may experience particularly difficulty in evacuation.  
 
Pregnancy and Maternity: 
Flood-related stress can have a negative impact on pregnant mothers and their 
unborn babies. Research has shown that exposure to flooding can affect decreases 
in birth weight.  Individuals with sole responsibility for young children are especially 
vulnerable as they may have particular problems in responding quickly in the face of 
imminent flooding.  
 
Race and Ethnicity: 
Language differences may obstruct reception of flood warnings and cultural 
differences may exacerbate the impact of floods. 
 
Sex: 
Women tend to recover more slowly than men from natural disasters and play a 

Page 492



 

 

key role in the work of recovery after flood events. As primary care-givers women 
are more likely than men to have responsibility for dependants in the event of a 
flood and conversely are also more likely to be the sole adult householder (as lone 
parents or lone older people).  
 
Sexual Orientation: 
Research has shown that after a disaster, LGBTQ people are more likely to be 
isolated due to discrimination and social exclusion. High rates of social isolation for 
LGBTQI+ means they are more likely to be alone and less likely to have familial 
resources that can support receiving emergency messages and accessing assistance. 
The LGBTQI+ population also has a significant lack of trust in emergency responders 
and health care systems that have discriminated against them before. 
 
Socio-economic Factors:  
Poorer people are less likely to be adequately insured for flood damage, more likely 
to live in homes at particular risk of flooding (i.e. caravans) and to have lower levels 
of education which may impede the reception of warnings.  
 
Housing:  
Individuals living in rented properties are less likely to receive flood risk warnings 
and appropriate flood-related information.   
 
Individuals who also live alone are more vulnerable to flood risk. Those who live 
alone are reportedly more vulnerable partly because they may find it difficult or 
impossible to save furniture or other items in the event of a flood and partly 
because anxiety levels could be greater if not shared. Single householders are at 
even more at risk where there is no local network of family or friends 
 

Key findings of consultation and feedback 

Consultation has not taken place at this stage but engagement with flood action 
groups is planned in future. 
 

 
9. What are the impacts or effects for Key Protected Characteristics? 
 

General 

No overall general negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 
has been identified. 

Age 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with age. However, it is acknowledged that 18 to 34 year olds 
are least likely to perceive flood risk to their area, know how to protect their homes 
or where to go for information. They are also at highest risk of fatality as they are 
less likely to perceive their personal risk. 
 
Older people also have a disproportionate vulnerability to the effect of disasters, 
with frail or disabled older people being particularly at risk. Vulnerability amongst 
older people is dependent upon state of health, personality characteristics and 
social support network.  

Page 493



 

 

Disability 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with disability.  However, it is acknowledged that those with 
physical or mental disability or long term illness may have particular difficulties in 
understanding their responsibility to provide flood protection to their property and 
may struggle fitting property flood resilience measures themselves.  

Gender Reassignment 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with gender reassignment. However, it is acknowledged that 
transgender people experience higher levels of disadvantage and social/financial 
exclusion and therefore may face greater difficulties adopting flood resilience 
measures and attending Community Flood Action Groups or Forum. 

Marriage and Civil partnership 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with marriage and civil partnership. 

Pregnancy and Maternity 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with pregnancy and maternity. However, it is acknowledged 
that individuals with sole responsibility for young children are especially vulnerable 
to flooding as they may have particular problems in responding quickly in the face 
of imminent flooding. 

Race 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with race. However, it is acknowledged that people from 
ethnic minority backgrounds are more likely to be on low incomes, and have lower 
levels of education and employment which means they are less likely to be able to 
accumulate savings to purchase property flood resilience measures.  

There may also be potential communication issues where English is not the 
residents first language and where documents printed in Standard English is not the 
optimum method of communicating. Residents whose first language is not English 
may have greater difficulty in understanding their responsibility to provide flood 
protection to their property and attending the Community Flood Actions Groups or 
Forums, thereby exacerbating the impact of flooding.  

Religion and Belief 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with religion and belief. 

Sex 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with sex. However, it is acknowledged that as primary care-
givers women are more likely than men to have responsibility for dependants in the 
event of a flood. 

Sexual Orientation 

No overall negative impact of the Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022 has been 
identified associated with sexual orientation. It is recognised that LGBTQ+ people 
experience higher levels of disadvantage and social/financial exclusion than other 
groups and therefore may face barriers to adopting flood resilience measures and 

Page 494



 

 

attending Community Flood Action Groups or Forum.  

 
10.       What do you know about how the proposals could affect community cohesion? 
 

The establishment and development of local based community flood action groups/ 
forums could improve community cohesion by encouraging communities to work 
together to raise awareness of local flood issues as well as enabling communities to 
share their skills and knowledge to prepare for future flood events. The adoption of 
flood defence/protection and equipment by residents will also strengthen 
community resilience to flood risk.  

 
11. What do you know about how the proposals could impact on levels of socio –economic 

inequality, in particular Poverty? 
 

The Community Flood Resilience Policy should not have a negative impact on 
poverty in Blackpool. However, it is acknowledged that lower socio-economic groups 
may have lower levels of education which may impact their understanding of their 
responsibility to protect their property from flooding. Additionally, those in lower 
socio-economic groups may also lack the financial means needed to purchase 
property flood resilience measures. Nevertheless, if property owners and occupiers 
in flood risk areas purchase property flood resilience measures this can result in 
reduced insurance premiums and excesses, and can also prevent insurance claims 
being made and reduces recovery time and costs, avoiding having to relocate for 
months. Additionally, with property flood resilience measures in place, property 
sales prospects are improved as the buyer wouldn’t need to carry out additional 
property flood resilience works once they purchase the property.  

 
STEP 3 - ANALYSISING THE IMPACT 
 
12. Is there any evidence of higher or lower take-up by any group or community, and if so, 

how is this explained?  
 

 18 to 34 year olds are least likely to adopt property flood resilience measures. 
This is because this age group are least likely to perceive flood risk to their area, 
know how to protect their homes or where to go for information. They are also 
at highest risk of fatality as they are less likely to perceive their personal risk. 

 Language differences may obstruct reception of flood warnings and information 
around flood defence/protection.  

 Those with a physical or mental disability or long term illness may have 
particular difficulties in understanding their responsibility to provide flood 
protection to their property and may struggle fitting property flood resilience 
measures themselves. 

 
13. Do any rules or requirements prevent any groups or communities from using or accessing the 

service? 
  

No 

 

Page 495



 

 

14. Does the way a service is delivered/ or the policy create any additional barriers for any groups 
of disabled people?  

  

Potential to tailoring support and communications to vulnerable older people, and 
working with Wyre and the voluntary sector that supports older people. (Age UK, 
etc.) 

 
15. Are any of these limitations or differences “substantial” and likely to amount to unlawful 

discrimination? 
 
 Yes  No                       N/A 
 
 If yes, please explain (referring to relevant legislation) in the box below 
  

 
N/A 
 
 
 

 
16. If No, do they amount to a differential impact, which should be addressed? 
 
 Yes  No                       N/A 
 
 If yes, please give details below. 
 

 
N/A 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
STEP 4 - DEALING WITH ADVERSE OR UNLAWFUL IMPACT 
 
17. What can be done to improve the policy, service, function or any proposals in order to reduce 

or remove any adverse impact or effects identified? 
  

Potential to disaggregate neighbourhood statistics for the areas at high risk - and 
then tailor any communications accordingly. 
 

 
18. What would be needed to be able to do this? Are the resources likely to be available? 
  

Desk top study – yes. 
 

 

Page 496



 

 

19. What other support or changes would be necessary to carry out these actions? 
  

None 

  
 
STEP 5 - CONSULTING THOSE AFFECTED FOR THEIR VIEWS 
 
20. What feedback or responses have you received to the findings and possible courses of action? 

Please give details below. 
 

No specific feedback has been received on these issues at this stage but wider 
engagement of the flood action groups will be undertaken in due course. 
 

 
21. If you have not been able to carry out any consultation, please indicate below how you intend 

to test out your findings and recommended actions. 
 

N/A 
 

 
STEP 6 - ACTION PLANNING 
 
 
 
STEP 7 - ARRANGEMENTS FOR MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
As above 
 
Date completed: 09/11/2022   Signed:  JP Lovie    
  
 
Name: John-Paul Lovie    Position: Head of Waste Policy & Partnerships 
 

 
 
 
  

                                                 
i Environment Agency. (2009). Flooding in England: A National Assessment of Flood Risk. Link: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/flooding-in-england-national-assessment-of-flood-risk 
[Access 01/11/2022].  
ii Environment Agency (2018). Press Release: Climate change means more frequent flooding, warns Environment 
Agency. Link: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/climate-change-means-more-frequent-flooding-warns-
environment-agency [Accessed: 31/10/2022].  

Page 497

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/flooding-in-england-national-assessment-of-flood-risk
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/climate-change-means-more-frequent-flooding-warns-environment-agency
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/climate-change-means-more-frequent-flooding-warns-environment-agency


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Vicki Gent, Director of Children’s Services 

Relevant Cabinet Member  

 

Councillor Gillian Campbell, Cabinet Member for Inclusion, Youth, 
Schools and Transience 

Date of Meeting: 23 January 2023 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR EDUCATION SAFETY VALVE PROGRAMME 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To seek support for the principles that will form the basis of the Safety Valve agreement 
between Blackpool Council and the Department for Education, and to gain approval for the 
Council to enter into such an agreement. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To support the principles that will form the basis of the Safety Valve agreement between 
Blackpool Council and the Department for Education. 
 

2.2  To approve the entering into a Safety Valve agreement between the Council and the 
Department for Education on the basis of these principles. 
 

2.3  To note the amended funding streams for phase 1 of the Highfurlong expansion scheme, as 
set out in Appendix 5a to this report. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 
 
 
 

Blackpool Council has been invited by the Department for Education (DfE) to take part in the 
‘Safety Valve’ intervention programme for those local authorities with the highest 
percentage deficits against allocations of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The programme 
requires those local authorities to develop substantial plans for reform to their high needs 
systems and associated spending, with support and challenge from the Department for 
Education, to rapidly place them on a sustainable footing. The authorities are held to account 
for their reform and savings via regular reporting to the Department for Education. The 
Department for Education in turn helps the local authorities with additional funding over 
time to contribute to the writing off of historic deficits, contingent on delivery of the 
reforms.  Capital funding can also be made available to support the creation of local provision 
if projected revenue savings can be demonstrated.  
 

Page 499

Agenda Item 5



 
 The report to Executive on 5 December 2022 on the proposed Highfurlong expansion scheme 

contained a confidential appendix setting out the projected costs of the scheme, together 
with a schedule of the funding streams to be used towards phase 1 of the scheme.  Given 
that local authorities have to demonstrate that all of the High Needs Provision Capital 
Allocations have been fully committed in their Safety Valve capital bids, an adjustment is 
proposed to the funding makeup of the £4.8 million budget.  
 

3.3 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.4 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  Actions have already been taken to reduce the pressure on Dedicated Schools Grant, with a 
reduction to the deficit achieved in 2021/22, and a forecast in-year surplus 2022/23 resulting in a 
further writing off of part of the cumulative deficit.  While a Safety Valve agreement would help to 
accelerate these plans, if agreement cannot be achieved with the Department for Education the 
local authority will continue to take action to bring expenditure within available resources and to 
address the historic deficit.   
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing 
resilience”. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  Funding for pupils with Special Educations Needs and Disabilities (SEND) is largely provided 
through the High Needs block of Dedicated Schools Grant. Like many local authorities, 
Blackpool’s High Needs expenditure exceeded the funding allocations over a number of 
years, leading to a deficit against Dedicated Schools Grant.  More recently, funding allocations 
from the Department for Education have been increased at above-inflationary rates, and this 
– along with the actions taken by the local authority – have led to a position where an in-year 
surplus was achieved in 2021/22 and is anticipated for 2022/23.  The cumulative deficit from 
previous years, however, is forecast to be £4.6 million by March 2023. 
 

6.2  Over recent months, the local authority has worked closely with Department for Education 
advisors to develop a Dedicated Schools Grant management plan, using the Department for 
Education’s standard suite of spreadsheets. The Dedicated Schools Grant management plan 
allows local authorities to plot the financial impact of no action being taken, then add actions 
– or ‘mitigations’ – to the plan to demonstrate how savings can be achieved to arrive at an 
in-year balanced budget. It is essential that the mitigations put forward are deliverable, as 

Page 500



the local authority will be held to account for achieving the forecast level of savings, with the 
risk of funding being withheld if this is not the case.  At the same time, however, it is 
important that the plans demonstrate a realistic possibility of sustainable change. 

 
6.3  The mitigations incorporated into the Council’s draft Dedicated Schools Grant management 

plan fall within four broad themes: 
 
1) Reduce the number of pupils in independent special schools through the expansion of 

local specialist provision 
 
These schools, the vast majority of which are situated outside of Blackpool, provide 
specialist places for pupils with the most complex needs, and costs are typically much 
higher than in maintained special schools or special academies.  Furthermore, children 
usually have to spend long periods of time each day being transported to and from 
school, which can lead to a lack of connection with the local community.  The number of 
pupils in independent special schools, and consequently real-terms costs, have reduced in 
recent years as a result of the opening of Lotus special school, demonstrating the impact 
of creating local provision. 
 
The proposals planned for this theme include: 

a. Expansion of Highfurlong special school: this was the subject of a separate report 
to Executive Committee on 5 December 2022.  The expansion, part-funded by 
Blackpool Council capital funding, will cater for the increased number of pupils 
already in the school, as well as providing increased capacity for future pupils. 

b. Creation of an Intensive Support Centre at Park Community Academy: this 
purpose-built facility would provide education for a small number of pupils, whose 
complex needs currently cannot be met within Blackpool. 

c. Creation of SEND resourced provision at a mainstream secondary school: these 
types of bases ensure that limited places at Blackpool’s special schools are 
prioritised for pupils with more complex needs, thereby reducing the need for 
placements in independent special schools. 

 
A bid for capital funding will be made as part of the Safety Valve process for part of the 
Highfurlong scheme, and for the Intensive Support Centre.  Funding has been set aside 
within the education section of the Council’s Capital Programme for phase one of the 
Highfurlong scheme, and for the SEND resourced provision. 

 
2) Continue to increase the proportion of pupils with Education Health and Care Plans in 

mainstream schools 
 

Nationally, around 40% of all children and young people with Education Health and Care 
Plans are educated in mainstream schools. In Blackpool, rates have been much lower, 
with only 18.8% in mainstream schools in 2018. Through concerted efforts, this rate 
increased to 27.6% in January 2022, but further work remains to be done to continue to 

Page 501



close the gap on the national position.  This will be achieved by a combination of: 
 

 Consistency of advice and guidance 

 Realigning roles in Inclusion Team to provide right support at the right time 

 Introduction of inclusion initiatives 
 

3) Tighten management of demand and funding for Education Health and Care Plans 
 

Over recent years, Blackpool moved from a position of a relatively low proportion of the 
school-age population having Education Health and Care Plans, to levels that are in line 
with statistical neighbours. Processes have now been reviewed, and tighter controls put 
in place to ensure the appropriate application of criteria for agreeing plans. These 
changes are happening in parallel with development of the SEND workforce so that 
consistent practice becomes embedded across the service.  
 
Separately, the criteria for the allocation of some targeted High Needs funding have been 
tightened up: the previous methodology was allocating funding to over half of 
mainstream schools, which was deemed to be no longer “exceptional”, and many schools 
did not expect the funding or understand why it had been allocated. 
 

4) Rationalise Pupil Referral Unit estate and reduce budget in line with lower numbers 
 

Blackpool’s Pupil Referral Unit used to accommodate a high number of pupils, with a 
large proportion that were single-registered and remaining in the provision until the end 
of year 11. Tighter control has been exerted by the local authority over admissions over 
recent years, leading to a significant reduction in pupil numbers, with most of these now 
dual registered with schools contributing to costs, and reintegrations into mainstream 
becoming more common. 
 
Given the relatively rapid reduction in pupil numbers at the Pupil Referral Unit, the 
school’s budget has been protected over the last three years, with a fixed allocation given 
rather than top-up based on pupil numbers. Now that numbers are more stable, the local 
authority is working with the school to determine the level of budget required on an 
ongoing basis. Plans have been drawn up which could rationalise the building estate, as it 
is currently operating over three distinct sites, which is likely to deliver efficiency savings 
and operational benefits.  Capital funding is required to deliver the scheme, and this will 
be included in the Safety Valve capital bid. 
 

6.4  Blackpool Council is required to submit its Safety Valve proposals by 13 January 2023, and its 
capital bid by 23 January 2023.  A meeting with the Department for Education’s Safety Valve 
team is scheduled to take place on 26 January 2023, with final plans to be submitted by 
3 February 2023.  It is anticipated that a formal Safety Valve agreement would be entered 
into by March 2023.  Once an agreement has been reached, the Council would be subject to 
regular monitoring by the Department for Education, with the risk that funding could be 

Page 502



withheld if progress against the Dedicated Schools Grant management plan cannot be 
demonstrated. 
 

6.5  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 
 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 
Appendix 5a: Revised financial considerations for the Highfurlong expansion scheme 
(confidential). 
 

8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  Blackpool’s Dedicated Schools Grant deficit stood at £5 million at March 2022, but is forecast 
to reduce to £4.6 million by March 2023 through the realisation of an in-year surplus.  The 
draft Dedicated Schools Grant management plan estimates that the proposed actions could 
help to further reduce the deficit to around £2.8 million. 
 

8.2  If a Safety Valve agreement is reached, the Department for Education is likely to contribute to 
the writing off of the historic deficit, leaving the Council better placed to manage budgets 
within allocated funding levels each year.  Blackpool’s proposals will also include a request to 
use some of the High Needs budget in 2023/24 to clear a backlog of statutory assessment 
work in order to have up-to-date data on which to base commissioning decisions. 
 

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  In 2020, the government introduced a statutory override for a period of three years (up to 
end of March 2023) that meant that local authority’s Dedicated Schools Grant deficits could be 
separated from their wider accounts.  In response to a call for evidence over summer 2022, 
the government has agreed to the extension of the Dedicated Schools Grant statutory override 
for a further three years (up to March 2026), affording the short-term financial flexibility 
needed for authorities as they implement sustainable change. 
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  Capital funding available through the Safety Valve programme is limited, and there are 
around 20 other local authorities in this year’s programme.  Should all of the requested 
capital funding not be granted, other opportunities to seek alternative funding would be 
pursued, and plans modified where possible, without compromising delivery of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant management plan targets. 
 

10.2  The Dedicated Schools Grant management plan relies on the ability of mainstream schools to 
meet the needs of more pupils with Education Health and Care Plans.  Work is underway to 
ensure that training and support for schools is in place in order to further embed an inclusive 
culture in all schools.  This will increase the confidence of the school workforce, and in time 

Page 503



the confidence of parents, that outcomes for certain children can be better met within 
mainstream settings. 
 

10.3  Should the future financial position fall short of the Dedicated Schools Grant management plan 
projections, alternative savings will need to be identified.  There is the risk that some of the 
early intervention initiatives currently funded by the High Needs budget would be impacted, 
leading to a reversal of the successes that have been achieved recently with respect to 
inclusion. 
 

11.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1  The High Needs budget funds education provision and support for children with special 
education needs and disabilities.  Any actions proposed under the Safety Valve agreement 
will need to ensure that there is no detrimental impact on the quality of provision or support 
for children or their families. 
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  Any capital schemes delivered through the Safety Valve programme will be developed in line 
with Blackpool Council’s climate change declaration, for example, the provision of air source 
heat pumps in lieu of conventional gas boilers, installation of photovoltaic panels, and the 
achievement of a BREEAM rating of very good. 
 

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  Updates are discussed at each meeting of the SEND Partnership Board, whose membership 
includes the local authority, Health partners, schools, and the Parent and Carer Forum. 
Updates are also reported to Schools Forum at each meeting, with a High Needs sub-group 
convened specifically to consider the Dedicated Schools Grant Management Plan between 
formal meetings.  A Scrutiny Panel has also ensured that elected Members have had the 
opportunity to challenge and influence the Plan during its development.  Plans are in place to 
meet with advisory groups of parents/carers and young people early in 2023 to share plans 
and discuss how they can help to shape how the proposals are implemented. 
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  None. 
 
 
15.0 0 Key decision information: 

 
15.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
Yes 

15.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 10/2022 

Page 504



 
15.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 

 
No 

15.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0  Call-in information: 

 
16.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

 

 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 13 January 
2023      

Date approved: 
 

      

18.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1        
 

19.0  Summary of Discussion: 
 

19.1 
 

 

20.0  Executive decision: 
 

20.1        
 

21.0  Date of Decision:    
 

21.1        
 

22.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1        
 
 
 

Page 505



23.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1        
 

24.0  Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 

24.1 
 

 

25.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1        
 

26.0  Call-in:   
 

26.1        
 

27.0  Notes:   
 

27.1        
 

 

Page 506



 

Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Alan Cavill, Director of Communications and Regeneration  

Relevant Cabinet Member:  

 

Councillor Mark Smith, Cabinet Member for Business, 
Enterprise and Job Creation  

Date of Meeting  23 January 2023 

 

SHARED PROSPERITY FUND 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To provide an update on the Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) Investment Plan submitted 
by 1 August 2022 under the terms of delegation agreed by the Executive at its 
meeting on 16 May 2022(EX20/2022) and the subsequent approval received from the 
Government on 5 December 2022. 

  
2.0  Recommendations: 

 
2.1 
 
2.2 

 
 
 
 
 

2.3 
 

To note the report 
 
To delegate to the Chief Executive, the Director of Communications and Regeneration 
or the Director of Strategy ( Assistant Chief Executive) the authority to sign off any 
agreements within their area of responsibility, necessary for taking forward the 
Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan including any internal Service Level 
Agreements for Council led-projects. 
 
To authorise the Head of Legal Services to enter into any contracts necessitated by 
the successful funding approval. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendations: 
 

3.1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Blackpool had the opportunity to submit its Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan   
by 1 August 2022, (and Multiply Investment Plan by 30 June 2022) to secure essential 
resources to support investment in the town resulting in the need to move quickly to 
establish arrangements for formulating bid content with the maximum chance of 
success.  
 
The Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan outlined 13 capital and revenue projects 
(summarised in Appendix 6a) under the themes of Communities and Place, Local 

Page 509

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Business and People and Skills. Combined, these schemes will provides a wide range 
of support from physical town centre regeneration, through to direct business support 
encouraging existing and new business development, low carbon schemes and 
community skills and improved learning projects for residents The proposals will be 
led by the Council departments and other organisations such as Blackpool and The 
Fylde College, BITC and Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise 
organisations subject to procurement rules. 
 
On the 5 December 2022 Blackpool received confirmation that its Investment Plan 
had been approved for £5,114,423 from approval to the end of March 2025 so it is 
now necessary to move onto the implementation of the Investment Plan. 
 

3.2 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  The guidance for submission into the fund and the deadlines to be met were clearly 
set and immoveable. Whilst it was not a competitive bidding round, the Council had a 
designated funding allocation based on the submission of the Investment Plans to a 
set timetable. For Blackpool to benefit from this Fund the only options for 
consideration, were around the process for determining schemes for inclusion in the 
Investment Plans and the schemes themselves and this was undertaken as part of the 
proposal to ensure that the most eligible and viable projects were incorporated. Now 
that it has been approved it is incumbent upon the Council and its partners to ensure 
those benefits are delivered. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priorities are both: 

 The Economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool. 

 Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Executive considered a report on 16 May 2022 (with an update paper on 5th 
September) which highlighted the background to the fund and how it could be 
accessed and which agreed: 
 
a) To note the guidelines issued by Government for the Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF). 
 
b) To submit the required Blackpool Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan by 1 

Page 510



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 

 
 

August 2022 to access the pre-determined flexible allocation of £5,114,423 (capital 
and revenue), noting what scheme interventions it is choosing to prioritise and 
setting out measurable outcomes to be delivered, with the final content of the 
Investment Plan to be delegated to the Chief Executive after consultation after with 
the relevant Cabinet Member(s). 

 
c) To submit the required Multiply Investment Plan by 30 June 2022 to access the pre-

determined Multiply funding allocation of £770,711 with the final content of this 
Investment Plan to be delegated to the Chief Executive after consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member(s). 

 
d) To approve the proposed approach to utilise the Town Deal Board (which 

incorporates  representation from the public, private, community and voluntary 
sectors), with its sub-group, the Town Deal Investment Panel, as the basis of the 
required “Local Partnership Group” for engaging stakeholders (with the Council as 
the accountable body), with membership to be kept under review as necessary. 

 
e)  For the overall management of this process to be led by the Growth and Prosperity 

Team with support from other Departments as required and specifically for the 
Multiply Investment Plan to be led by Adult Services and the Economic Services 
Department. 

 
f)  To note that an external consultancy, Capita, is to be appointed from the existing 

Council framework panel, to support the development of the Investment Plan 
process with Government funding provided for this support. 

 
g)  For the Executive to receive a future report on the Investment Plans and progress in 

the implementation of the Shared Prosperity Fund 
 
The approach agreed at 16 May 2022 Executive has subsequently been followed, the 
Investment Plan was submitted on 28 July 2022and on 5 December 2022 the 
Investment Plan was approved for £5,114,423 from the approval date to the end of 
March 2025. This was subject to 2 conditions - 

 
 
 

 
Condition 1: 
“Lead local authority is to review the interventions selected in the investment 
plan and the expenditure and deliverables spreadsheets and ensure there is 
consistency. There are currently inconsistencies between these documents. 
Lead local authority to confirm the interventions to be used and if appropriate 
provide updated versions of the UKSPF expenditure and deliverables 
spreadsheets and a summary of the impact on the investment plan”. 
 

A response to this condition was provided on 7 December 2022 and the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities responded approving this on the 16 

Page 511



December 2022. As the Council also returned the signed Memorandum of 
Understanding (Appendix 6c) the 2022/23 grant payment was received before 
Christmas. 

 
Condition 2: 
“We also identified a further condition (below) that you will be required to 
meet; however, the nature of the condition(s) will not affect payment of the 
2022/2023 instalment of your allocation. You do not need to take any action 
regarding these conditions now, we will communicate to you in advance 
when we require further clarification for these conditions.  
 
 “Prior to committing funding to the people and skills bespoke intervention 
‘Personalised employment support for 16–24-year-olds who are not in 
employment, education or training (NEET)’, the lead local authority is to 
provide Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities with 
confirmation that, in finalising the detail of these activities, it has considered 
mainstream provision in relevant policy areas (as it exists at the time) and has 
taken steps to ensure UKSPF provision does not displace activity from 
mainstream provision. A statement is to be provided at least three months 
before funding is committed to the proposed activities”. 

 
This condition relates to The Platform (Youth Hub) project and a response will be 
provided in due course once required and is not anticipated to present a problem. 
 
The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities has allocated funding 
for 2022/23, as set out in the table below, with indicative allocations for the further 
two financial years up to and including 2024/25.  

 
The indicative allocations for 2023/24 and 2024/25 will be reviewed on submission 
of reports detailing progress on spend and confirmed in annual Grant 
Determinations. The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities will 
review progress on a regular basis to gain assurance that the expenditure, outputs 
and outcomes detailed in our Investment Plan are being achieved. For the avoidance 
of doubt, they reserve the right to reduce the Council’s funding allocation overall or 
for a specific year if the Council does not comply with the performance monitoring 
requirements or if it believes progress on project delivery is unsatisfactory.  
 
It appears that under certain conditions any underspend can be rolled forward to 
the following year but confirmation is awaited of what exactly the implications of 
these conditons would be. See Risk section in paragraph 10.1.  

Page 512



 
 
 
 

6.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Confirmation of Shared Prosperity Fund approval was originally anticipated in 
autumn and delays to the approval have raised concerns nationally about being 
able to achieve spending profiles by end of March 2023. As a consequence officers 
have done all that they can to be able to hit the ground running. As a consequence 
procurement activity has already commenced on 3 of the projects “subject to” 
confirmation of approval, although recognising all eligible Shared Prosperity Fund 
spend can be backdated to April 2022.  
 
Provision of Infrastructure Support in the Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social 
Enterprise (VCFSE) Sector  
 
On Thursday 22 September 2022 a tender for the “Provision of Infrastructure 
Support in the Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise (VCFSE) Sector” 
was placed on the Chest online procurement platform. 
 
As part of the Investment Plan it was determined that there is a need to increase 
the capacity of the local Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise sector 
to deliver support to the wider community.  Activities would incorporate, for 
example :- 

 delivery of a small grants programme to build capacity of the sector; 

 work with other funders and strategic partners to promote grants and 
encourage investment in the Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social 
Enterprise sector in Blackpool;  

 support activity to aid Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise 
organisations to submit funding applications; 

 supporting the development of new groups through governance advice and 
training; 

 develop volunteering activity, increasing volunteer numbers and good practice 
in volunteer management, leading and generating an expectation and culture 
in which volunteering can thrive;  

 support the development of community action networks to increase 
community engagement, provide networking, learning and peer support 
opportunities to develop the sector;  

 provide regular updates/briefings to the Blackpool Voluntary, Community, 
Faith and Social Enterprise sector regarding local, regional and national 
strategies, events and opportunities and bring together networks and connect 
local voluntary and community organisations with each other and with 
strategic and systems partners, to create, pursue and implement opportunities 
for joint working.  

Page 513



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3.3  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Tender submissions were required back by the 24 October 2022. An open (1 stage), 
above threshold tender was conducted via the Council’s electronic tendering 
portal, The Chest. Bids were received from: 

 Volunteer Centre Blackpool, Wyre and Fylde (in partnership with Blackpool 
Citizens Advice and Social Enterprise Solutions CIC, Blackpool. 

 Pulse Regeneration Ltd , Liverpool 
 
Volunteer Centre Blackpool, Wyre and Fylde (in partnership with Blackpool Citizens 
Advice and Social Enterprise Solutions CIC) provided the appraisers with the 
greater  confidence of understanding the needs of the Blackpool community and 
how, through the project funding, they would support the beneficiaries of the town 
whilst delivering the outlined Shared Prosperity Fund outputs and outcomes. It was 
the most economically advantageous tender (based on a combination of quality, 
price and social value) and it was therefore deemed appropriate to enter into a 
formal agreement with them subject to due diligence. The contract value is 
£294,445.  
 
Development and Collaboration Support Services to Blackpool’s Business and 
Community Sectors  
 
A separate tender exercise was issued with a closing date of 9 December 2022. 
Blackpool’s current social and economic issues are well-documented nationally. 
However, there remains a thriving business community with a strong social 
conscience, and opportunities are available to utilise the support of the business 
community in addressing some of those key social and economic issues within the 
town, as well as improving localised built and natural environments.  
 
In the current economic climate, the localised issues experienced in Blackpool are 
more apparent than ever. As a result, those within local communities remain in 
need of support with: 

 Development and promotion of an Employment Charter to drive diverse, 
equal and inclusive working conditions in Blackpool Businesses  

 Business support to existing and to encourage new start ups  

 Developing skills that make people more work-ready 

 Improving community facilities, and increasing the amount facilities are used  

 Mobilising volunteers and supporting community groups 

 Developing digital skills to support work opportunities 

 Supporting innovation and entrepreneurship amongst those looking to strike 
out on their own 

 Marrying local skills with business needs within the town 
 
Business in the Community provided the only submission. 

Page 514



 
 
6.3.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
The tender review process began week commencing 12 December 2022. Some 
queries were raised and responded to which gave the appraisers sufficient 
confidence of their understanding of the needs of the Blackpool community and 
how, through the project funding, they would support the beneficiaries of the town 
whilst delivering the outlined Shared Prosperity fund outputs and outcomes. The 
organisation have provided substantial activity in Blackpool for some time which 
provided additional confidence.  
 
Internal sign off via an Officer Non Key Decision was agreed on 21 December 2022 
awarding the contract for £199,934 to Business in the Community. 
 
Grundy Art Gallery and Central Library Extension Feasibility  
A commission to support this has also been approved, with Genecon and Amion 
Consulting appointed to undertake the activity, taken direct from the existing 
Framework Panel.  This will include a needs and options assessment which will lead 
to completion of architects’ designs (procurement undertaken previously in 2021 
whilst awaiting unsuccessful Community Renewal Fund project funding). £178,500 
total Shared Prosperity fund budget is available to the scheme.   
 
A placemaking vision and narrative will also be provided, including an analysis and 
articulated vision for how an expanded cultural and community offer could 
instigate wider placemaking moves around Queen Street and Claremont that 
would support the development of a creative cluster for Blackpool. 
 
The other projects commencing in 2022/23 are the Town Centre Interventions 
Scheme, Community Flood Risk, Eco Coaching, Eco-Hubs, Showtown, Business 
Support Team Capacity and the EDGE solar panel scheme, will all be delivered by 
Blackpool Council departments requiring no initial procurement activities. 
However, some projects will require additional tendering activity to support 
delivery where appropriate.  
 
The three People and Skills projects are not allowed to commence until 2024/25. 
The Platform project will be delivered directly by Blackpool Council. The Pathways 
to Employment scheme will be subject of a full tender commencing in 2023/24 to 
be ready for the 2024/5 delivery year. The Let’s Get Digital scheme is currently 
under discussion as to if it requires a full procurement process based on its low 
value. 
 
Moving forward the programme monitoring and assurance will be led by the 
Council’s Growth and Prosperity team who will report to Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities on performance. All schemes led by Council teams 
will be subject to a Service Level Agreement and external deliverers a Grant 

Page 515



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5 

Funding Agreement setting out their delivery requirements. Legal Team support 
will be required here.  A quarterly claims process is proposed which will require 
Finance team support around payment of grant etc. Some procurement support 
will be necessary on certain schemes. Up front provision of a small amount of 
project funding for any external deliverers is proposed to avoid any cash flow 
issues, while awaiting funding provided post claim periods. This is proposed up to a 
maximum of 10% of the total project allocation. This may be higher in 
extraordinary circumstances, subject to the approval of the Director Resources as 
the Council’s Section 151 officer. 
 

Does the information submitted include any exempt information?                    No 
 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

7.1  Appendix 6a - Summary of the proposed schemes 
Appendix 6b - Council Sustainability Impact Tool 
Appendix 6c - Memorandum of Understanding 
 

8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  
 
 
 
8.2 
 
8.3 

Without the Shared Prosperity Funding, the Investment Plan schemes would not be 
pursued. The Shared Prosperity Fund programme and its constituent projects can 
only now go ahead due to the approval of the Investment Plan.  
 
All projects have the necessary financial resources attributed to them.  
 
The 4% programme management allocation included will support additional 
programme oversight costs including an additional post in the Growth and 
Prosperity team to support the claims and monitoring activities.    
 

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  
 
 
 
9.2 
 
 
 
 
9.3 

As the Council has been successful with its submission, it was required to directly 
enter into a MOU funding agreement with Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities. This was signed on 6 December 2022  and is attached at Appendix 6c. 
 
The Council has a general power under Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to  
do anything that an individual may generally do provided it is not prohibited by  
other legislation and the power is exercised in accordance with the limitations  
specified in the Act which enables the Council to accept the funding. 
 
The Council, as noted in background information above needs to enter into legal 
agreements with local delivery partners (via direct appointment or further to tender) 
which was requested and approved by the Executive Approval EX20/2022. Any 

Page 516



subsequent onward grant agreements with key delivery partners will mirror down 
the grant terms between the Council and Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities. The Council’s Programme Monitoring Office (PMO) will undertake and 
oversee claims, monitoring and assurance activity.  As the accountable body, 
Blackpool Council would retain overall responsibility for the delivery of the Shared 
Prosperity Fund programme with reports to the Corporate Leadership Team, 
Executive and Government as required. The Town Deal Board and its sub group the 
Town Deal Investment Panel will also be provided with programme updates. 
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  
 
 
10.2 
 
 
 
10.3 

With all projects there are risks, and each scheme will have a risk assessment 
developed and allocated to it when in operation.   
 
There is also a risk that the Council will not receive the 2023/4 and 2024/5 annual 
fund allocations if it does not provide all monitoring and returns information in a 
timely manner or if the programme is not delivering against profile.  
 
The risk of not achieving the expenditure profile in 2022/23 is a concern given the 
approval being later than anticipated although current guidance appears to confirm 
that resource could be rolled over to future years under certain conditions. See 
extract from the Memorandum of Understanding below. Further confirmation is 
anticipated for Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on this 
matter.   
 

5.10 The Secretary of State retains the right to withhold annual instalments until 
receipt of credible plans demonstrating revised delivery to achieve expected targets. 
This might include requirements that set out how the Lead Local Authority will utilise 
underspends in the next year and/or appropriate milestones and spend have been 
achieved for the previous year. 
 
5.11. Further to this, if the Secretary of State has concerns around future spending 
plans based on the experience of local delivery to date, or wider financial issues or 
governance affecting delivery then the Secretary of State may pay in instalments, or 
withhold future funding. 
 

The claims and monitoring process will work to avoid any such issues, with timely 
returns and ongoing reviews of project delivery performance through the claims 
process.   
 

11.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1  There are no equalities issues with the Investment Plan programme outlined itself. 
With regard to individual Shared Prosperity Fund projects which are capital based, 
where any development requires new build or redesign, for example, full equalities 

Page 517



and accessibility requirements will be taken into account at the design stage.  
Revenue based schemes, will require confirmation that there will be no equalities 
issues or if there is the potential, how they will be addressed. Each project will be 
required to complete a Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) proforma which will be 
reviewed by the Council’s Equality and Diversity manager.  
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.2 
 
 
12.3 

Some projects as outlined, by their very nature, are not schemes that will make a 
major contribution to net zero per se. However, the EDGE low carbon heating 
scheme will obviously contribute via the proposed installation of solar panels to the 
existing Stanley Building. The Eco Coaching and Eco Hubs scheme will also have a 
direct impact on low carbon awareness raising and physical interventions. All 
projects will be encouraged to attempt to ensure sustainability will be taken into 
account in delivery.  The Community Flood Risk reduction scheme specifically relates 
to climate adaptation 
 
It will be the responsibility of the individual project managers (internal and external 
to the Council) to ensure any projects are delivered in the most sustainable way.    
 
The Council Sustainability Impact Tool has been considered for the Programme and 
can be found attached at Appendix 6b. 
 

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  Internal – Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Business, Enterprise and Job 
Creation Chief Executive, Director of Resources, Director of Communications and 
Regeneration, Growth and Prosperity Programme Director and Growth and  
Prosperity Board.  
 
External – Town Deal Board, Town Deal Investment Panel and the Department for 
Work and Pensions. 
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  None. 
 

15.0 0 Key decision information: 
 

15.1  Is this a key decision?                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
 

No 

15.2  
               

If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

 

15.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? No 

Page 518



 
15.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
  
16.0  Call-in information: 

 
16.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 

exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

17.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed:  Date approved: 
 

      

18.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

18.1        
 

19.0  Summary of Discussion: 
 

19.1 
 

 

20.0  Executive decision: 
 

20.1        
 

21.0  Date of Decision:    
 

21.1        
 

22.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1        
 

23.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1        
 

Page 519



 
24.0  Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

 
24.1 
 

 

25.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

25.1        
 

26.0  Call-in:   
 

26.1        
 

27.0  Notes:   
 

27.1        
 

Page 520



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 521



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                                                                 

APPENDIX 6a – SHARED PROSPERITY FUND SCHEME SUMMARIES  
 

SPF THEME: COMMUNITIES and PLACE 
Scheme Name / 

Activity Area 
Brief Outline 

Delivery organisation(s)/ 
Lead 

Total Value 
(c-capital;  r-revenue) 

Grundy Art Gallery, 
Library and Claremont 
Feasibility Study 

This scheme will include a needs and options assessment which will 
lead to completion of architects’ designs (procurement undertaken 
previously in 2021 whilst awaiting unsuccessful Community Renewal 
Fund project funding). £178,500 total SPF budget is available to the 
scheme.   
 
A placemaking vision and narrative will also be provided, including 
an analysis and articulated vision for how an expanded cultural and 
community offer could instigate wider placemaking moves around 
Queen Street and Claremont that would support the development 
of a creative cluster for Blackpool 
 

Carolyn Primett 

Blackpool Council 
alongside using tendered 
consultants 

£178,500 ( r ) 

Town Centre 
Interventions   

Interventions in line with the refreshed Town Centre Strategy and 
Action Plan , particularly covering the following priority Themes: 

1A.  Streetscape: Furniture and planting; Promenade gateways 

1B. Environment: Biophilia 

1C. Illuminate: Lighting enhancements 

  2C.  Signage and Wayfinding: Visual appearance; Key entry and           
 decision points; Pedestrian traffic flow 

Mark Gillingham 

Blackpool Council (with 

BID advisory support)   

Tendered contracts for 

works 

£1,500,000  
£1,200,000(c)  

& £300, 000 (r) 

P
age 523



VCFSE Capacity Building 
support 

The scheme would increase the capacity of the local VCSE sector to 
deliver support to the community by 

 delivering a small  grants programme to build capacity of the 
sector   

 working with other funders and strategic partners to promote 
grants and encourage investment in the VCFS sector;  

 supporting groups to submit funding applications; 

 supporting the development of new groups through governance 
advice and training; 

 developing volunteering and increasing volunteer numbers and 
good practice in volunteer management; 

 supporting the development of community engagement 

Volunteer Centre, 
Blackpool, Wyre and 
Fylde  
 
 

£295,000  
£5000 (c) 
£290,000 ( r) 

Community Flood Risk 
Reduction 

Provide property owners in areas of high risk of flooding a financial 
incentive to replace hard areas, with soft landscaping to reduce 
local flood risk. Providing £650 per domestic property with the 
potential to provide larger sums for larger reallocated areas such as 
business premises. 

Ruth Henshaw (Robert 
Snape and Scott 
Butterfield) 
Blackpool Council 
working alongside 
partners / tendered 
consultants 

£ 100,000  
 
£25,000 (r ) 
£75,000 (c )  

Eco Coaching 
(residents) 

Scaling up an existing project on the Grange Park estate, this 
scheme offers practical 1:1 support delivered within resident’s 
homes to help them understand domestic energy efficiency and 
how their behaviour can increase/decrease energy consumption. 
The project will include a complete domestic energy assessment to 
maximise the efficiency of the property. The visit also includes the 
installation of low cost energy saving devices such as draft proofing, 
low energy lightbulbs and radiator reflector panels. Beyond this 
households can be registered with the Priority Services Register and 
onward referrals made to large domestic energy saving schemes. 
Numbers of residents seeking help for the scheme have risen 
substantially in light of the cost of living crisis and this would 
provide a resource across the town. 

Ruth Henshaw (Robert 
Snape and Scott 
Butterfield) 
 
Council led project with 
contractors to be 
appointed 
 
 

  

£265,250 
( £251,750 (r) 
£13,500 ( c) 

Eco-Hubs • Establishment of 2x eco-hubs in Blackpool, covering both North 
and South Blackpool, retrofitting low carbon technologies to 2 
pre-existing building and developing local green spaces to 
engage local communities with nature and biodiversity 

Ruth Henshaw (Robert 
Snape and Scott 
Butterfield) 
 

£380,000 
£200k (c) 
£180k (r) 

P
age 524



• The Solaris Centre in the South of Blackpool has a history of 
being a centre for sustainability, and will be updated to renew its 
role as a sustainability hub. 

• The North Eco-Hub will serve as an exemplar project, 
demonstrating the steps homeowners, and businesses can take 
in order to achieve net-zero emissions, increase efficiency and 
reduce running costs. 

• Both hubs will including renewable power generation, high 
thermal efficiency, nature rich public green space and carbon 
free heating systems. 

• The hubs will be used to deliver courses to long-term 
unemployed, those currently in education, school leavers, 
business owners, entrepreneurs and others. 

• Delivering courses in green skills – Ecology, renewable energy 
generation, engineering, building management, Carbon 
accounting etc  

• Provide job seeking support 
• Serving as information points with multiple people providing 

energy saving advice and information on green grants 
• When the hubs are not in use renewable energy will be utilised 

in the local grid. 

Blackpool Council 
alongside other delivery 
organisations including 
some tendering of works 

Showtown: Laughter 
Programme 

This is a unique community engagement activity programme 
completely grounded and rooted in Blackpool and its incredible 
history. It encompasses a range of laughter-themed activities 
ranging from a laughter club and festival, a funny bones artist 
residency, a laughter-based schools programme, an exhibition and 
an app to guide people around Blackpool on a laughter-themed tour 
of discovery.  A dedicated officer would coordinate and deliver the 
programme. This programme would enable Showtown to continue 
and further develop its community engagement programme which 
is currently funded by the National Lottery Heritage Fund. This 
would include the extension of the hugely applauded Open Up the 
Mic programme. There is the potential for this to be matched 
against other sources e.g. Paul Hamlyn Foundation, National Lottery 
Heritage Fund. 

Kerry Vasiliou 
 
Showtown Museum, 
Blackpool Council , 
Tendered contracts to 
artists etc. 

£179,095(r) 

Total Allocation by theme : £ 2,897,845m 

 

P
age 525



SPF THEME: LOCAL BUSINESS 
Scheme Name / 
Activity Area 

Brief Outline Delivery organisation(s) 
Total Value  
(c-capital r- revenue) 

Development and 
Collaboration Support 
Services to Blackpool’s 
Business and 
Community Sectors 

 Work with Blackpool Council to bring forward an Employment 
Charter and support the rolling out of the initiative to Blackpool 
businesses; 

 Act as an advocate for Blackpool and its development amongst 
businesses and residents including activity to promote the town 
to visitors, for example through events; 

 Provide activity to support and encourage the use and 
development of existing community buildings and infrastructure 
and its enhancement for example through additional green 
space. This would be facilitated by co-ordinated business level 
input and expertise; 

 Provision of activity to develop life skills  either directly or 
through a delivery partner, to those who are disadvantaged 
across Blackpool, and upskill local residents, either directly or 
through a delivery partner, to provide localised digital support 
and advice in key community spaces; 

 Support and enhance existing local activity that looks to bring 
those furthest from the labour market in to access opportunities 
to secure work experience and placements; 

 Provide activity that will support and facilitate innovation and 
growth for business start-ups. It is anticipated this would be 
undertaken alongside the Council’s existing Economic 
Development Team making use of its existing and proposed new 
facilities e.g. the EDGE once complete;. 

 Provide networking opportunities for local businesses to share 
knowledge, expertise and resources, and work collaboratively to 
boost productivity, innovation and growth; 

 Co-ordinate and support activity including the above to deliver 
the specified Shared Prosperity Fund outputs an outcomes 

Business in the 
Community  

£200,000 (r ) 

P
age 526



Business Support Team 
Capacity 

Recruitment and resources to increase the capacity of the Business 
Support Team to increase entrepreneur and business engagement and to 
help realise the ambitions for The Edge and other Strategic projects.  
Blackpool needs a flexible place-driven business support service to 
complement and underpin strategic capital investment in the town. The 
service will aim to support and encourage business success and growth 
with a particular focus on more high quality jobs for local people. The 
Blackpool Business Support service will provide support for self-
employment, business start-up and business growth. It will also 
significantly contribute to the establishment of The Edge (a Town Deal 
project) as a focal point for small business in Blackpool. There are two key 
parts to the Blackpool Business Support service: 

1. To increase capacity of the existing Blackpool Council Business 
Support Team to enable greater entrepreneur and business 
engagement. This greater engagement is essential for more business 
start-up and growth, and to help realise the ambitions for Blackpool. 

2. To create a commissioning fund to bring in relevant external 
expertise to meet the needs of local businesses. Support is expected 
to include Incubation, Business Networks, Business Growth, Made 
Smarter, R&D, Innovation, Entrepreneurial Ecosystems, International 
Trade, Supporting Decarbonisation and Mentoring. 

Peter Legg/David Slater 
 
Blackpool Council 
Economic Development 
Dept. and some tendered 
consultancy delivered 

business support, driven 
by business need  

£900,000 (r) 

Purchase of low carbon 
heating system and 
solar panels for The 
Edge 

To enable a significantly lower carbon footprint for Stanley Buildings 
which is being renovated to create The Edge. Solar panels and 
ground source heat pumps would be incorporated.  

Peter Legg/David Slater 
 
Blackpool Council 
Economic Development 
Dept. and tendered 
equipment supply and 
contractors fees 

£100,000 (c) 

Total Allocation by theme : £ 1,200,000 

 

P
age 527



SPF THEME:  PEOPLE and SKILLS  
Scheme Name / 
Activity Area 

Brief Outline Delivery organisation(s) 
Total Value 
(c-capital; r- revenue) 

The Platform Extension of The Platform scheme post-Town Deal/CRF funding 
The scheme will support disadvantaged people to access the skills 
they need to progress in life and into work, for example, the long-
term unemployed and those with protected characteristics through 
funding life, and basic skills where this is not delivered through 
national or local employment and skills provision. To fund local skills 
needs and supplement local adult skills provision e.g. by delivering 
provision through a wider range of routes or enabling more 
intensive/innovative provision, both qualification based and non-
qualification based.  Reduce levels of economic inactivity and move 
those furthest from the labour market closer to employment, 
through investment in bespoke employment support tailored to 
local needs. Investment will facilitate the join-up of mainstream 
provision and local services within an area for participants, through 
the use of one-to-one keyworker support, improving employment 
outcomes for specific cohorts who face labour market barriers. 

Vanda DeFreitas/ 
Andrew Fletcher  
 

Blackpool Council led - 
some possible external 
providers via tendered 
work packages 

£450,000 (r ) 

Blackpool Pathways to 
Employment** 

Aim to provide intensive wrap around support via a team of 
dedicated individuals/”navigators”  to 200 economically inactive 
Blackpool residents  living in the most disadvantaged wards who are 
furthest away from the labour market, including help with practical 
issues and navigating systems, such as Welfare Benefits 

Full Tender Exercise 
required 

£250,000  ( r ) 

Lets Get Digital ** This project will develop the digital skills of a minimum of 100 
Blackpool residents who have not had the opportunity, access or 
finances to secure an understanding of technology and the benefits 
it can provide them in their daily lives, with training delivered in 
community venues.  

Ongoing discussion with 
Council procurement 
team on direct 
appointment or 
requirement for 
tendering. 

£112,000 (r ) 

Total Allocation by theme : £ 812,000 
**Note  
It is hoped that there is a compliant route to award funding directly for this scheme, but it is subject to internal due diligence with the Council procurement 
and legal teams. If there are issues, the Council would conduct a procurement exercise 
 
 

P
age 528



 

 

APPENDIX 6b : Shared Prosperity Fund Programme : Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 

Theme Review Questions Impact Description of Impact 
Actions to mitigate negative aspects and 
enhance positive impacts 

 

ENERGY – consider whether the 
strategy/decision leads to: 

 an increase, or decrease, in 
the amount of electricity 
used 

 an increase, or decrease, in 
the amount of heating/hot 
water required 

 an increase, or decrease, in 
carbon emissions from 
building energy use 

-1 - Negative 

The programme has 13 
projects in all, all of which, to 
a greater or lesser extent will 
have an impact on increase in 
energy usage but the projects 
are to support regeneration 
and community development 
and so are a necessary 
programme of activities. 

The Eco –hubs and Eco coaching projects to be 
funded by SPF will directly provide a positive 
impact on approaches to energy usage with 
training and course provision and net zero 
emission exemplar demonstrations etc. 

The purchase and use of solar panels in the EDGE 
project is also outlined.  

Project managers will be encouraged to use 
equipment which is most energy efficient where 
possible. Processes will be encouraged to be in 
place to ensure equipment is turned off when not 
in use and for staff to be trained on minimising 
energy use at induction. 

 

WATER – consider whether the 
strategy/decision leads to: 

 an increase/decrease in the 
amount of water used 

 an increase/decrease in 
substances to be disposed of 
to foul sewer 

 an increase/decrease in the 
health of the ocean and 
impact on coastal 
communities (e.g. via 
pollution) 

0 - Neutral 

Whilst the programme has 13 
projects in all, all of which, to 
a greater or lesser extent will 
have an impact on increase in 
water usage, on the whole 
they are deemed to be of 
minimal negative impact as 
the vast majority of projects 
are revenue based and not 
large water using capital 
schemes.  

The Community Flood Risk project will actually 
support flood risk issues and alleviate problems 
which will have a positive impact on reducing 
waste water and sewerage issues 

 

WASTE – consider whether the 
strategy/decision leads to:  

 an increase or decrease in 
the amount of waste 
generated 

 a variation in the type of 

0 - Neutral 

Whilst the programme has 13 
projects in all, all of which, to 
a greater or lesser extent will 
have an impact on an 
increase in waste generation, 
on the whole they are 

 
Project managers will be encouraged to be as 
energy efficient as possible and encourage waste 
reduction. 

P
age 529



 

APPENDIX 6b : Shared Prosperity Fund Programme : Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 

Theme Review Questions Impact Description of Impact 
Actions to mitigate negative aspects and 
enhance positive impacts 

waste to be disposed of, 
affecting segregation i.e. 
more/less hazardous 

deemed to be of minimal 
negative impact as the vast 
majority of projects are 
revenue based and not large 
waste using capital schemes. 

 

CAPITAL PROJECTS – building or 
refurbishment work should 
consider:  

 energy use, including natural 
light, ventilation and 
renewable energy 

 water use, including 
conservation measures 

 use of space as a community 
resource/social enterprise 

 enhancing green spaces and 
biodiversity 

0 - Neutral 

 
There will only be one project 
involving capital and that is 
the Town Centre Intervention 
scheme which may include 
some public realm works.  

 
A number of projects are intending to support 
green space for community usage, which is a 
positive. 

 

JOURNEYS - consider whether 
the strategy / decision leads to 
an increase/decrease in:  

 ‘care miles’ i.e. care closer 
to home 

 access to services for 
vulnerable or 
disadvantaged groups 

 sustainable travel options, 
i.e. walking, cycling, public 
transport, electric car 

0 - Neutral 

 
Staff travel will be minimised 
by effective planning of 
appointments.  

 
Any of the “green” projects will support the use of 
public transport but otherwise this is not a 
programme that impacts on travel really. .   

P
age 530



 

APPENDIX 6b : Shared Prosperity Fund Programme : Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 

Theme Review Questions Impact Description of Impact 
Actions to mitigate negative aspects and 
enhance positive impacts 

 

PROCUREMENT - all 
procurement related to the 
project should consider:  

 whole life costs, i.e. 
procurement vs. revenue 
costs (£ and carbon) 

 supporting local 
businesses, small 
businesses and social 
organisations 

 promotion of ethical 
procurement and labour 
standards 

 food/catering from local, 
seasonal and sustainable 
suppliers 

 social value, i.e. producing a 
local benefit through 
employment/training  

 wider health impacts, such 
as employment, air 
pollution, modern slavery 

0 - Neutral 

 
At least 3 of the schemes will 
be contracted and local 
community groups will be 
encouraged to deliver these 
services.  

 
 

 
Community groups will be invited in to find out 
more about the project, prior to tendering.  

 
Bidding companies will be asked to provide their 
Modern Slavery Statement and social value will be 
central to all tenders. 

 

MODELS OF CARE - consider 
the impact the 
strategy/decision may have on:  

 reducing inequalities in 
health 

 promoting prevention, 
healthy behaviours, mental 
wellbeing, living 
independently and self-
management 

N/A - Not 
Applicable 

 
 
N/A 

 
 
N/A  

P
age 531



 

APPENDIX 6b : Shared Prosperity Fund Programme : Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 

Theme Review Questions Impact Description of Impact 
Actions to mitigate negative aspects and 
enhance positive impacts 

 reducing avoidable hospital 
admissions or admissions to 
residential care  

 delivering integrated care, 
streamlining care pathways 

ADAPTATION - consider if the 
strategy/decision is impacted 
by climate change: 

 hotter, drier summers; 
milder, wetter winters; 
increased extreme 
weather events, including 
flooding and heatwaves 

 support for vulnerable 
groups, including the 
elderly, people with long-
term health conditions and 
those with mental health 
illnesses 

1 - Positive 

 
 

Project adaptation is a 
positive focus of a number 
of schemes.  

 

 
The eco coaching and, eco hubs schemes will 
directly provide advice and support around 
climate change and its impact and solutions to 
alleviate matters.  Vulnerable groups will be a 
key support area. 

 

PEOPLE: Consider whether 
the strategy/decision can 
support:  

 employment opportunities 
including disadvantaged 
groups, i.e. long-term 
unemployed, people with 
learning disabilities 

 training of existing staff or 
apprenticeship 
opportunities  

 health and wellbeing, 

1 - Positive 

 
 

The projects will lead to the 
creation of new roles and 
upskilling. 

 
 

 
 

There are numerous projects which are to 
directly support disadvantaged groups into 
employment or skills development including 
digital and volunteering.   

Community engagement and resilience support 
work will be central to many of the schemes.   

P
age 532



 

APPENDIX 6b : Shared Prosperity Fund Programme : Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 

Theme Review Questions Impact Description of Impact 
Actions to mitigate negative aspects and 
enhance positive impacts 

flexible hours or childcare / 
carer support 

 increasing community 
resilience and a reduction 
in social isolation  

 reduction in health 
inequalities and access to 
services 

 increasing participation of 
patients, the public and 
strategic partners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 533



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

Between 

The Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

-and- 

Blackpool Council 

 

1. Purpose 

 

1.1. This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) sets out the terms that will 

apply to the relationship between the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, 

Housing and Communities (the Secretary of State) and Blackpool 

Council (the Lead Local Authority) regarding the administration and 

delivery of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF). 

 

1.2. This MOU will be for the period April 2022 to March 2025. Changes will 

be made only where signatories deem it necessary.  If necessary the 

MOU will be amended for the period April 2023 to March 2025 to 

accommodate the inclusion of the Rural England Prosperity Fund, this 

will not apply in Scotland and Wales.  

 

1.3. The MOU sets out the universal fund wide conditions and expectations 

for appropriate spend of the UKSPF core allocations in England 

Scotland and Wales and Multiply allocations in Scotland and Wales. 

 

1.4. This MOU is not intended to create legal or binding obligations. It 

describes the understanding between both parties for the use of funding 

specified in section 3 of this agreement. 

 

2. Background 

 

2.1. The UKSPF was launched on the 13 April 2022. The Secretary of State 

has signed-off the Lead Local Authority’s investment plan. 

 

2.2. This MOU covers the funding commitments from the Secretary of State 

and the delivery, financial expenditure, agreed milestones, reporting and 

evaluation, communications and branding expectations between the 

Parties and the steps the Secretary of State could take in the event of 

underperformance if required.  

 

2.3. The Secretary of State has published guidance on the delivery of the 

UKSPF. Referred to in this document as the UKSPF Additional 

Information . References to the UKSPF Additional Information includes 

any updates that may be published from time to time.  The Secretary of 

Page 535

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information
tsplseob_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix 6c 



State will notify the Lead Local Authority of any changes to the 

Additional Information and, if necessary, provide guidance on how 

changes are to be managed. 

 

3. Purpose of the Funding 

 

3.1. The UKSPF allocation remains as set out in the published UKSPF 

allocations and is being provided to deliver the Fund’s priorities, outputs 

and outcomes as set out in the investment plan and accompanying 

expenditure and deliverables spreadsheets agreed by the Secretary of 

State or subsequently agreed by the Secretary of State as per section 9.  

 

3.2. Funding should be used to meet the costs of implementing your 

investment plan. The Lead Local Authority can make changes to the 

investment plan agreed by the Secretary of State. The scale, type and 

process for making changes is set out in published guidance.  

 

3.3. Details of the annual funding allocation, broken down into capital and   

revenue funding, will be confirmed in the annual grant determinations.  

  

4. Reporting  

 

4.1     As part of the delegated delivery model, the Lead Local Authority will 

provide ‘light touch’ reporting, as set out in the UKSPF Additional 

Information. 

5. Financial Arrangements  

 

5.1. The agreed funds will be issued to the Lead Local Authority as grant 

payments under Section 50 of the United Kingdom Internal Markets Act 

2020 (‘UKIM’).  

 

5.2. Payment of the funding for 2022-2023 will be made after investment 

plans have been agreed and this MoU is signed.   

 

5.3. Grant Determination Letters (GDL) will be provided following 

confirmation of the annual payment for each year until 2025.  

 

5.4. The Lead Local Authority will provide regular reporting using the process 

established by the Secretary of State and set out in the UKSPF 

Additional Information demonstrating expenditure and that outputs and 

outcomes are being met in line with the original investment plan, or 

investment plan amended under section 9. Or failing that, there is a 

realistic plan to address underperformance.  

Page 536

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/ukspf-allocations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/ukspf-allocations
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information


 

5.5. Funding for the years 2023-2024 and 2024-2025 will be paid annually,  

provided that the information provided under paragraph 5.4 

demonstrates delivery of forecast outputs, outcomes and spend for the 

previous financial year have been met, or failing that, there is a realistic 

plan to address underperformance.  

 

5.6. UKSPF capital grant funding, as set out in grant determinations, may be used 

only for capital expenditure. 

 

5.7. UKSPF revenue grant funding may be used for revenue or capital 

expenditure, in line with the Lead Local Authority’s  accounting practices 

 

5.8. Release of payments for the financial year 2023-24 and 2024-2025 is 

dependent on the submission of a Statement of Grant Usage for  2022-

23 and 2023-2024 spend and corresponding reporting and monitoring 

returns, signed by a  S151 Officer (appointed under the Local 

Government Act 1972) or S95 Officer (appointed under the Local 

Government (Scotland) Act 1973)  

 

5.9. This information will be taken into consideration by the Secretary of 

State before subsequent payments to the Lead Local Authority are 

finalised and paid. The Secretary of State reserves the right to reduce 

payments or withhold payments where there are concerns over delivery. 

 

5.10. The Secretary of State retains the right to withhold annual instalments 

until receipt of credible plans demonstrating revised delivery to achieve 

expected targets. This might include requirements that set out how the 

Lead Local Authority will utilise underspends in the next year and/or 

appropriate milestones and spend have been achieved for the previous 

year.  

 

5.11. Further to this, if the Secretary of State has concerns around future 

spending plans based on the experience of local delivery to date, or 

wider financial issues or governance affecting delivery then the 

Secretary of State may pay in instalments, or withhold future funding. 

           

5.12. In the circumstance that the Lead Local Authority is a Combined 

Authority or is managing the distribution of UKSPF funding to a group of 

other local authorities, where a member of the Combined Authority or the 

local authority group becomes subject to a S114 Notice of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988 or Statutory Commissioner Intervention 

of the Local Government Act 1999, the Lead Local Authority will be 

Page 537



responsible for decisions on how funds aligned to such a member 

Authority are controlled and utilised. 

          

5.13. No funding will be provided for activity after 31 March 2025. The Lead 

Local Authority must have spent all grant funding i.e. be able to include 

funding within the 2024-2025 accounts by the end of the funding period, 

31 March 2025. Underspends in the final year of the programme will 

need to be repaid to the Secretary of State. 

 

5.14. In accordance with the declaration signed by the Lead Local Authority’s 

Section 151 (appointed under the Local Government Act 1972) or S95 

Officer (appointed under the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973) as 

part of the investment plan, the Lead Local Authority accepts 

responsibility for meeting any costs over and above the Secretary of 

State’s contribution, agreed in the annual grant determination. This 

includes potential cost overruns and the underwriting of any funding 

contributions expected from third parties. 

 

6. Branding and Communication 

 

6.1. The Secretary of State has provided the Lead Local Authority with 

guidance on the Branding and Communication associated with UKSPF 

projects in the UKSPF Additional Information.  

 

6.2. The Parties agree to adhere to the guidance and any updates. 

subsequently released by the Secretary of State or HMG on 

communications linked to UKSPF or wider Levelling Up Funding.  

 

6.3. The Lead Local Authority should publish information regarding the 

delivery of the UKSPF in its area e.g. by publishing a summary of the 

investment plan and activities being funded in the area.  

 

7. Evaluation 

 

7.1. Monitoring and Evaluation will be carried out as set out in UKSPF 

Additional Information. 

 

7.2. The Lead Local Authority will support evaluation through capturing and 

providing relevant data and engaging with place and intervention level 

evaluations as stated within the UKSPF Additional Information. 

This will include but is not exclusive to the following main evaluation 

requirements: 

 7.2.1 Continuous monitoring and evaluation of progress aligned to the 

deliverables stated within the UKSPF Investment Plan submitted 

Page 538

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information


by the Lead Local Authority and approved by the Secretary of 

State; 

7.2.2 Engaging with our evaluation partners to collect and provide 

additional quantitative data as required to support, where relevant, 

intervention and place-specific evaluations 

 

7.3 As set out in the UKSPF Additional Information  the Lead Local Authority 

is encouraged to undertake its own place-based evaluations of how the 

UKSPF has worked in their area, particularly process evaluation on 

individual projects, alongside any place-based case studies 

commissioned by DLUHC. For those lead local authorities with large 

allocations, DLUHC require a robust evaluation to support the centrally 

coordinated evaluation.  

 

7.4 The Lead Local Authority agrees to undertake these activities using the 

administration costs for the Fund.  

 

8. Assurance 

 

8.1. The Secretary of State has set out the approach to assurance for the 

UKSPF in the UKSPF Additional Information.  

 

8.2. The Lead Local Authority is expected to have the necessary governance 

and assurance arrangements in place and that all legal and other 

statutory obligations and consents will be adhered to. The Lead Local 

Authority will provide the Secretary of State with the following via UKSPF 

reporting: 

 

8.2.1. Details of the checks that the Chief Finance Officer has taken to 

assure themselves that the Lead Local Authority has in place the 

processes that ensure proper administration of financial affairs 

relating to their UKSPF allocation.  

 

8.2.2. Confirmation that the lead local authority has applied 

management controls that:  

 mitigate the risk of fraud; 

 ensure funding has been used in accordance with UK 

subsidy control legislation; 

 ensure that any procurement undertaken by a 

Contracting Authority using UKSPF funds has complied 

with public procurement rules; 

 ensure compliance with its statutory obligations under 

the Public Sector Equality Duty; and 

Page 539

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information


 ensure that any personal data obtained in connection 

with UKSPF activities is handled in compliance with the 

Date Protection Act 2018. 

 

8.3   As part of the first monitoring return the Lead Local Authority will          

provide a summary statement of how it is: 

 mitigating the risk of fraud; 

 ensuring funding has been used in accordance with UK subsidy 

control legislation; and 

 ensuring that any procurement undertaken by a Contracting 

Authority using UKSPF funds has complied with public procurement 

rules. 

 

8.4. The Lead Local Authority will respond directly to questions addressing the 

local delivery of UKSPF and cooperate with the Secretary of State in any 

inquiries regarding the delivery of the UKSPF. 

 

8.5. On an annual basis the Lead Local Authority will complete and return the 

templated Statement of Grant Usage letter. 

 

9. Changes to agreed Investment Plan 

 

9.1. The Lead Local Authority will notify the Secretary of State of any 

proposed non-material changes to the investment plan through the 

regular monitoring returns. 

 

9.2. The Lead Local Authority will submit a change request if a change 

constitutes “A Material Change” as set out in the   UKSPF Additional 

Information .  

 

9.3. Requests for material changes can be made to the Secretary of State as 

and when required. A template will be provided for the Lead Local 

Authority to use. 

 

9.4. The Secretary of State recognises that not all change will meet the 

materiality threshold for a change request. However, the Lead Local 

Authority should report any change affecting the delivery of the funding 

as part of the usual reporting cycle. If the Lead Local Authority is not 

sure on whether a change meets the materiality threshold they should 

consult with the Secretary of State for guidance. 

 

9.5. All change requests must be signed off by the Lead Local Authority’s 

Section 151 (appointed under the Local Government Act 1972) or S95 

Page 540

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-additional-information


Officer (appointed under the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973) to 

testify that they are necessary and deliverable.  

 

10. Compliance with the MOU 

10.1   The Parties to this MOU are responsible for ensuring that they have the 

necessary systems and appropriate resources in place within their 

respective organisations to comply fully with the requirements of this 

MOU. 

 

11. Changes to the MOU 

 

11.1  The arrangements under this MOU will be kept under review. 

Amendments to this MOU may only be made upon written agreement 

between the Parties. 

 

12.  Resolution of Disputes  

12.1 Any dispute that may arise as to the interpretation or application of this  

MOU will be settled by consultation between the parties 

 

 

Signed on Behalf of the Lead Local Authority (by Chief Executive / Section 151/95 

Officer): 

 

 

 

Name:  Steve Thompson 

 

Job Title:   Director of Finance/Section 151 Officer 

 

Date:  6 December 2022 

 

 

 

Signed on Behalf of Secretary of State:  

 

 

Name: Jessica Blakely/Carmen Suarez Garcia   

 

Job Title: Directors: Levelling Up: Major Programmes  

 

Date: 5 December 2022 

 

Page 541



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 BLACKPOOL LOCAL PLAN PART 2: SITE ALLOCATIONS AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT POLICIES - ADOPTION
	Appendix 2a - Inspector’s Report  including Main Modifications
	Structure Bookmarks
	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	 
	Report to Blackpool Council 
	 
	 
	 
	by Luke Fleming B.Sc. (Hons) MRTPI  
	an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 
	Date: 4 November 2022 
	 
	 
	 
	Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
	Section 20 
	 
	 
	 
	Report on the Examination of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
	 
	 
	 
	The Plan was submitted for examination on 18 June 2021 
	The examination hearings were held between 6 and 10 December 2021 
	 
	File Ref: PINS/J2373/429/7
	Contents 
	 
	 
	Abbreviations used in this report ........................................................ 
	Abbreviations used in this report ........................................................ 
	3
	 

	Non-Technical Summary .................................................................... 
	Non-Technical Summary .................................................................... 
	4
	 

	Introduction ..................................................................................... 
	Introduction ..................................................................................... 
	5
	 

	Main Modifications ............................................................................ 
	Main Modifications ............................................................................ 
	5
	 

	Policies Map ..................................................................................... 
	Policies Map ..................................................................................... 
	5
	 

	Context of the Plan ........................................................................... 
	Context of the Plan ........................................................................... 
	6
	 

	Public Sector Equality Duty ................................................................ 
	Public Sector Equality Duty ................................................................ 
	7
	 

	Assessment of Duty to Co-operate ...................................................... 
	Assessment of Duty to Co-operate ...................................................... 
	7
	 

	Assessment of Other Aspects of Legal Compliance ................................ 
	Assessment of Other Aspects of Legal Compliance ................................ 
	7
	 

	Assessment of Soundness .................................................................. 
	Assessment of Soundness .................................................................. 
	9
	 

	Main Issues ..................................................................................... 
	Main Issues ..................................................................................... 
	9
	 

	Issue 1 - Is the overall approach to housing, economic growth, the  Green Belt, Retail, Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation and Allotments  in the SADMP consistent with the CS and national policy? ...................... 
	Issue 1 - Is the overall approach to housing, economic growth, the  Green Belt, Retail, Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation and Allotments  in the SADMP consistent with the CS and national policy? ...................... 
	9
	 

	Issue 2 - Are the sites allocated for employment and housing justified  and deliverable and do they provide a sufficient supply? ...................... 
	Issue 2 - Are the sites allocated for employment and housing justified  and deliverable and do they provide a sufficient supply? ...................... 
	14
	 

	Issue 3 - Are the SADMP’s development management policies justified, effective and consistent with national policies .................................... 
	Issue 3 - Are the SADMP’s development management policies justified, effective and consistent with national policies .................................... 
	18
	 

	Issue 4 - Is the SADMP based on a robust assessment of required supporting infrastructure, does it set out effective mechanisms for monitoring and implementation and is it viable? ................................. 
	Issue 4 - Is the SADMP based on a robust assessment of required supporting infrastructure, does it set out effective mechanisms for monitoring and implementation and is it viable? ................................. 
	27
	 

	Overall Conclusion and Recommendation ........................................... 
	Overall Conclusion and Recommendation ........................................... 
	28
	 

	 

	  
	Abbreviations used in this report  
	BAEZ Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone  
	CS  Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2012-2027) 
	HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 
	LCC Lancashire County Council 
	MM  Main Modification 
	NDSS National Described Space Standard   
	NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
	PPG Planning Practice Guidance 
	SA  Sustainability Appraisal 
	SADMP Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (Proposed Submission) Regulation 19 January 2021  
	 
	  
	Non-Technical Summary 
	This report concludes that the Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (Proposed Submission) Regulation 19 January 2021 (SADMP) provides an appropriate basis for the planning of Blackpool, provided that a number of main modifications (MMs) are made to it.  Blackpool Council has specifically requested that I recommend any MMs necessary to enable the Plan to be adopted. 
	Following the hearings, the Council prepared schedules of the proposed modifications and carried out sustainability appraisal (SA) and habitats regulations assessment (HRA) of them. The MMs were subject to public consultation over a six-week period.  I have recommended their inclusion in the Plan after considering the SA, HRA and all the representations made in response to consultation on them. 
	The MMs can be summarised as follows: 
	 
	 Deleting land safeguarded for future development needs in the Green Belt, deleting other minor Green Belt boundary alterations and reducing the amount of land released from the Green Belt for development at the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (BAEZ).  
	 Deleting land safeguarded for future development needs in the Green Belt, deleting other minor Green Belt boundary alterations and reducing the amount of land released from the Green Belt for development at the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (BAEZ).  
	 Deleting land safeguarded for future development needs in the Green Belt, deleting other minor Green Belt boundary alterations and reducing the amount of land released from the Green Belt for development at the Blackpool Airport Enterprise Zone (BAEZ).  

	 Rewording policies to ensure they are positively prepared, effective and consistent with the Council’s Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); and  
	 Rewording policies to ensure they are positively prepared, effective and consistent with the Council’s Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); and  

	 A number of other modifications to ensure that the Plan is positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 
	 A number of other modifications to ensure that the Plan is positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 


	  
	Introduction 
	1. This report contains my assessment of the SADMP in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).  It considers first whether SADMP’s preparation has complied with the duty to co-operate.  It then considers whether the SADMP is compliant with the legal requirements and whether it is sound.  Paragraph 35 of the NPPF makes it clear that in order to be sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  
	1. This report contains my assessment of the SADMP in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).  It considers first whether SADMP’s preparation has complied with the duty to co-operate.  It then considers whether the SADMP is compliant with the legal requirements and whether it is sound.  Paragraph 35 of the NPPF makes it clear that in order to be sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  
	1. This report contains my assessment of the SADMP in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).  It considers first whether SADMP’s preparation has complied with the duty to co-operate.  It then considers whether the SADMP is compliant with the legal requirements and whether it is sound.  Paragraph 35 of the NPPF makes it clear that in order to be sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  

	2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound and legally compliant plan.  The SADMP, submitted in June 2021 is the basis for my examination.  It is the same document as was published for consultation in February 2021.   
	2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound and legally compliant plan.  The SADMP, submitted in June 2021 is the basis for my examination.  It is the same document as was published for consultation in February 2021.   


	Main Modifications 
	3. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council requested (EL1.002a) that I should recommend any MMs necessary to rectify matters that make the SADMP unsound and /or not legally compliant and thus incapable of being adopted.  My report explains why the recommended MMs are necessary.  The MMs are referenced in bold in the report in the form MM01, MM02 etc, and are set out in full in the Appendix. 
	3. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council requested (EL1.002a) that I should recommend any MMs necessary to rectify matters that make the SADMP unsound and /or not legally compliant and thus incapable of being adopted.  My report explains why the recommended MMs are necessary.  The MMs are referenced in bold in the report in the form MM01, MM02 etc, and are set out in full in the Appendix. 
	3. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council requested (EL1.002a) that I should recommend any MMs necessary to rectify matters that make the SADMP unsound and /or not legally compliant and thus incapable of being adopted.  My report explains why the recommended MMs are necessary.  The MMs are referenced in bold in the report in the form MM01, MM02 etc, and are set out in full in the Appendix. 

	4. Following the examination hearing, the Council prepared a schedule of proposed MMs and carried out SA and HRA of them (EL5.002 to EL5.006).  The MM schedule was subject to public consultation for six weeks.  I have taken account of the consultation responses in coming to my conclusions in this report.  
	4. Following the examination hearing, the Council prepared a schedule of proposed MMs and carried out SA and HRA of them (EL5.002 to EL5.006).  The MM schedule was subject to public consultation for six weeks.  I have taken account of the consultation responses in coming to my conclusions in this report.  


	Policies Map 
	5. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan.  When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan.  In this case, the submission policies map comprises the plans identified as Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 Publication Policies Map Blackp
	5. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan.  When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan.  In this case, the submission policies map comprises the plans identified as Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 Publication Policies Map Blackp
	5. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan.  When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan.  In this case, the submission policies map comprises the plans identified as Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 Publication Policies Map Blackp


	(SD002) and Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 Publication Policies Map Blackpool Town Centre (SD003). 
	(SD002) and Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 Publication Policies Map Blackpool Town Centre (SD003). 
	(SD002) and Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027 Publication Policies Map Blackpool Town Centre (SD003). 

	6. The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan document and so I do not have the power to recommend MMs to it.  However, a number of the published MMs to the Plan’s policies require further corresponding changes to be made to the policies map.  In addition, there are some instances where the geographic illustration of policies on the submission policies map is not justified and changes to the policies map are needed to ensure that the relevant policies are effective.   
	6. The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan document and so I do not have the power to recommend MMs to it.  However, a number of the published MMs to the Plan’s policies require further corresponding changes to be made to the policies map.  In addition, there are some instances where the geographic illustration of policies on the submission policies map is not justified and changes to the policies map are needed to ensure that the relevant policies are effective.   

	7. These further changes to the policies map were published for consultation alongside the MMs (EL5.004).  When the SADMP is adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give effect to the SADMP’s policies, the Council will need to update the adopted policies map to include all the changes proposed in that document.   
	7. These further changes to the policies map were published for consultation alongside the MMs (EL5.004).  When the SADMP is adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give effect to the SADMP’s policies, the Council will need to update the adopted policies map to include all the changes proposed in that document.   


	Context of the Plan 
	8. The SADMP is a Part 2 Plan, its purpose is to meet the aims of the strategic Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2012-2027) (CS) and deliver the development identified within it.  The CS sets out the level and distribution of development in the borough.  As this is a Part 2 Plan, I am not required to re-examine the strategic issues addressed by and found sound in the CS.  The SADMP supersedes all of the saved policies of the Blackpool Local Plan (2006) and will be used to assess development propo
	8. The SADMP is a Part 2 Plan, its purpose is to meet the aims of the strategic Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2012-2027) (CS) and deliver the development identified within it.  The CS sets out the level and distribution of development in the borough.  As this is a Part 2 Plan, I am not required to re-examine the strategic issues addressed by and found sound in the CS.  The SADMP supersedes all of the saved policies of the Blackpool Local Plan (2006) and will be used to assess development propo
	8. The SADMP is a Part 2 Plan, its purpose is to meet the aims of the strategic Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2012-2027) (CS) and deliver the development identified within it.  The CS sets out the level and distribution of development in the borough.  As this is a Part 2 Plan, I am not required to re-examine the strategic issues addressed by and found sound in the CS.  The SADMP supersedes all of the saved policies of the Blackpool Local Plan (2006) and will be used to assess development propo

	9. Located on the northwest coast, the Plan area comprises the Blackpool resort, Promenade and Town Centre with adjoining urban areas and with relatively small areas of countryside and Green Belt on the inland edges of the borough.   
	9. Located on the northwest coast, the Plan area comprises the Blackpool resort, Promenade and Town Centre with adjoining urban areas and with relatively small areas of countryside and Green Belt on the inland edges of the borough.   

	10. Blackpool has good road, rail and air connections with Blackpool Airport located on the southern borough boundary with Fylde.  Rapid growth after the arrival of the railway, led to a rich variety of Victorian architecture including the Blackpool Tower, Blackpool Piers’ and areas of terraced housing.  However, decline in tourism in more recent years has led to significant economic challenges and high levels of deprivation in parts of the borough triggering the need for a number of policy interventions.  
	10. Blackpool has good road, rail and air connections with Blackpool Airport located on the southern borough boundary with Fylde.  Rapid growth after the arrival of the railway, led to a rich variety of Victorian architecture including the Blackpool Tower, Blackpool Piers’ and areas of terraced housing.  However, decline in tourism in more recent years has led to significant economic challenges and high levels of deprivation in parts of the borough triggering the need for a number of policy interventions.  


	11. The BAEZ, designated just after the CS was published under regulation 19 is one such intervention.  It represents a significant opportunity to enhance the economic prospects of the borough and the wider Fylde Coast.          
	11. The BAEZ, designated just after the CS was published under regulation 19 is one such intervention.  It represents a significant opportunity to enhance the economic prospects of the borough and the wider Fylde Coast.          
	11. The BAEZ, designated just after the CS was published under regulation 19 is one such intervention.  It represents a significant opportunity to enhance the economic prospects of the borough and the wider Fylde Coast.          


	Public Sector Equality Duty 
	12. I have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act 2010. This has included my consideration of several matters during the examination including amongst other things the approach to gypsies and travellers and accessible and adaptable housing. 
	12. I have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act 2010. This has included my consideration of several matters during the examination including amongst other things the approach to gypsies and travellers and accessible and adaptable housing. 
	12. I have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act 2010. This has included my consideration of several matters during the examination including amongst other things the approach to gypsies and travellers and accessible and adaptable housing. 


	Assessment of Duty to Co-operate 
	13. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council has complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of the SADMP’s preparation.  The SADMP seeks to implement the spatial vision, goals and key objectives of the CS.  As such, the strategic matters have already been appropriately considered within the CS (where the duty to cooperate was found to be met). 
	13. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council has complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of the SADMP’s preparation.  The SADMP seeks to implement the spatial vision, goals and key objectives of the CS.  As such, the strategic matters have already been appropriately considered within the CS (where the duty to cooperate was found to be met). 
	13. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council has complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of the SADMP’s preparation.  The SADMP seeks to implement the spatial vision, goals and key objectives of the CS.  As such, the strategic matters have already been appropriately considered within the CS (where the duty to cooperate was found to be met). 

	14. The SADMP has been prepared through constructive, active and ongoing engagement with Fylde and Wyre Borough Councils, Lancashire County Council (LCC) and all prescribed bodies.  The Council’s Duty to Cooperate Statement of Common Ground (DC001) includes an agreed Memorandum of Understanding which has guided on going cooperation on agreed strategic priorities which have informed the SADMP.   
	14. The SADMP has been prepared through constructive, active and ongoing engagement with Fylde and Wyre Borough Councils, Lancashire County Council (LCC) and all prescribed bodies.  The Council’s Duty to Cooperate Statement of Common Ground (DC001) includes an agreed Memorandum of Understanding which has guided on going cooperation on agreed strategic priorities which have informed the SADMP.   

	15. I am satisfied that where necessary the Council has engaged constructively, actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation of the Plan and that the duty to co-operate has therefore been met. 
	15. I am satisfied that where necessary the Council has engaged constructively, actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation of the Plan and that the duty to co-operate has therefore been met. 


	Assessment of Other Aspects of Legal Compliance 
	16. The SADMP has been prepared broadly in accordance with the Council’s Local Development Scheme (SD013).  This was updated (EL4.005) after the examination hearing to provide a more accurate timetable for the adoption of the SADMP and the review of the Council’s Development Plan, particularly its strategic policies.  
	16. The SADMP has been prepared broadly in accordance with the Council’s Local Development Scheme (SD013).  This was updated (EL4.005) after the examination hearing to provide a more accurate timetable for the adoption of the SADMP and the review of the Council’s Development Plan, particularly its strategic policies.  
	16. The SADMP has been prepared broadly in accordance with the Council’s Local Development Scheme (SD013).  This was updated (EL4.005) after the examination hearing to provide a more accurate timetable for the adoption of the SADMP and the review of the Council’s Development Plan, particularly its strategic policies.  


	17. Consultation on the SADMP and the MMs was carried out in compliance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SD012).  This was updated to reflect challenges and new regulations associated with Covid-19.   
	17. Consultation on the SADMP and the MMs was carried out in compliance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SD012).  This was updated to reflect challenges and new regulations associated with Covid-19.   
	17. Consultation on the SADMP and the MMs was carried out in compliance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SD012).  This was updated to reflect challenges and new regulations associated with Covid-19.   

	18. The Council carried out a SA of the SADMP, prepared a report of the findings of the appraisal, and published the report along with the SADMP and other submission documents under regulation 19 (SD005 and SD005a).  An addendum to the SA was produced to assess the MMs (EL5.005). 
	18. The Council carried out a SA of the SADMP, prepared a report of the findings of the appraisal, and published the report along with the SADMP and other submission documents under regulation 19 (SD005 and SD005a).  An addendum to the SA was produced to assess the MMs (EL5.005). 

	19. The Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment Screening Report May 2021 (SD006) has considered the implications of the SADMP’s policies and allocations on European sites in the vicinity of the borough.  It sets out why an Appropriate Assessment is not necessary concluding that none of the policies or associated allocation sites would have a likely significant effect on any of the relevant European sites alone, or in combination.  Natural England are satisfied with this position.  
	19. The Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment Screening Report May 2021 (SD006) has considered the implications of the SADMP’s policies and allocations on European sites in the vicinity of the borough.  It sets out why an Appropriate Assessment is not necessary concluding that none of the policies or associated allocation sites would have a likely significant effect on any of the relevant European sites alone, or in combination.  Natural England are satisfied with this position.  

	20. The Development Plan, taken as a whole, includes policies to address the strategic priorities for the development and use of land in the borough.  It also includes policies designed to secure that the development and use of land in the borough contributes to the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change.  
	20. The Development Plan, taken as a whole, includes policies to address the strategic priorities for the development and use of land in the borough.  It also includes policies designed to secure that the development and use of land in the borough contributes to the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change.  

	21. CS goal one seeks to achieve sustainable regeneration, diversification and growth.  This is supported by key objective six which seeks to address climate change issues by managing flood risk, protecting water quality, reducing energy use and encouraging renewable energy sources.  Specific CS Policies which seek to respond to climate change include CS5, CS6, CS9, CS10, CS13.  Relevant SADMP Policies include DM1, DM8, DM17, DM21, DM31, DM32, DM33, DM35 and DM41.   
	21. CS goal one seeks to achieve sustainable regeneration, diversification and growth.  This is supported by key objective six which seeks to address climate change issues by managing flood risk, protecting water quality, reducing energy use and encouraging renewable energy sources.  Specific CS Policies which seek to respond to climate change include CS5, CS6, CS9, CS10, CS13.  Relevant SADMP Policies include DM1, DM8, DM17, DM21, DM31, DM32, DM33, DM35 and DM41.   

	22. However, in the interests of effectiveness and legal compliance main modifications (MM01, MM02 & MM44) are needed to add an appendix to show how the saved policies will be replaced and include additional text to the introduction which makes clear the SADMP does not include any strategic policies and also make reference to the Climate Change Emergency Action Plan.  The SADMP complies with all other relevant legal requirements, including in the 2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 Regulations. 
	22. However, in the interests of effectiveness and legal compliance main modifications (MM01, MM02 & MM44) are needed to add an appendix to show how the saved policies will be replaced and include additional text to the introduction which makes clear the SADMP does not include any strategic policies and also make reference to the Climate Change Emergency Action Plan.  The SADMP complies with all other relevant legal requirements, including in the 2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 Regulations. 


	Assessment of Soundness 
	 
	Main Issues 
	23. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the discussions that took place at the examination hearing, I have identified four main issues upon which the soundness of this Plan depends.  This report deals with these main issues.  It does not respond to every point or issue raised by representors.  Nor does it refer to every policy, policy criterion or allocation in the SADMP. 
	23. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the discussions that took place at the examination hearing, I have identified four main issues upon which the soundness of this Plan depends.  This report deals with these main issues.  It does not respond to every point or issue raised by representors.  Nor does it refer to every policy, policy criterion or allocation in the SADMP. 
	23. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the discussions that took place at the examination hearing, I have identified four main issues upon which the soundness of this Plan depends.  This report deals with these main issues.  It does not respond to every point or issue raised by representors.  Nor does it refer to every policy, policy criterion or allocation in the SADMP. 


	Issue 1 – Is the overall approach to housing, economic growth, the Green Belt, Retail, Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation and Allotments in the SADMP consistent with the CS and national policy? 
	 Changes in circumstances since the adoption of the CS (the BAEZ) 
	 
	24. The BAEZ is located in South Blackpool and centred around Blackpool Airport.  It became operational in 2016 after the CS was published under regulation 19.  As such its implications and opportunities are not fully reflected in the CS.     
	24. The BAEZ is located in South Blackpool and centred around Blackpool Airport.  It became operational in 2016 after the CS was published under regulation 19.  As such its implications and opportunities are not fully reflected in the CS.     
	24. The BAEZ is located in South Blackpool and centred around Blackpool Airport.  It became operational in 2016 after the CS was published under regulation 19.  As such its implications and opportunities are not fully reflected in the CS.     


	 
	25. However, the BAEZ Topic Paper (EL4.002a) notes it is one of the largest enterprise zones in the UK.  With business incentives such as rate relief and enhanced Capital Allowance, it provides a major opportunity to encourage existing business expansion and attract new businesses to the area.     
	25. However, the BAEZ Topic Paper (EL4.002a) notes it is one of the largest enterprise zones in the UK.  With business incentives such as rate relief and enhanced Capital Allowance, it provides a major opportunity to encourage existing business expansion and attract new businesses to the area.     
	25. However, the BAEZ Topic Paper (EL4.002a) notes it is one of the largest enterprise zones in the UK.  With business incentives such as rate relief and enhanced Capital Allowance, it provides a major opportunity to encourage existing business expansion and attract new businesses to the area.     

	26. The BAEZ aims to be the premier business location in the northwest as part of the Lancashire Advanced Manufacturing and Energy cluster as noted in the Northern Powerhouse Industrial Strategy.  It is expected local business growth at the BAEZ will deliver much needed local long-term sustainable employment opportunities positively transforming the overall economic prospects of Blackpool and the Fylde Coast.    
	26. The BAEZ aims to be the premier business location in the northwest as part of the Lancashire Advanced Manufacturing and Energy cluster as noted in the Northern Powerhouse Industrial Strategy.  It is expected local business growth at the BAEZ will deliver much needed local long-term sustainable employment opportunities positively transforming the overall economic prospects of Blackpool and the Fylde Coast.    

	27. If this is to be achieved, accessible high-quality buildings with large footprints are needed (EL4.002a).  However, suitable serviced developable land for such buildings is not currently available in the borough or the BAEZ.  The evidence (EL4.002a, EL4.002b, EL4.002c, EL4.002d and EL4.003) also shows that significant access and highway infrastructure improvements are needed to relieve congestion and improve overall accessibility in and around the BAEZ 
	27. If this is to be achieved, accessible high-quality buildings with large footprints are needed (EL4.002a).  However, suitable serviced developable land for such buildings is not currently available in the borough or the BAEZ.  The evidence (EL4.002a, EL4.002b, EL4.002c, EL4.002d and EL4.003) also shows that significant access and highway infrastructure improvements are needed to relieve congestion and improve overall accessibility in and around the BAEZ 


	to enhance its attractiveness to enterprise.    
	to enhance its attractiveness to enterprise.    
	to enhance its attractiveness to enterprise.    

	28. The Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (EL4.003) and EL4.002a shows that accessibility issues could be overcome by a number of local highway upgrades.  However, the most substantial of these is the provision of a new link road connecting Amy Johnson Way with Common Edge Road.  This would create a new BAEZ Eastern Gateway which would improve connectivity to the strategic road network.    
	28. The Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (EL4.003) and EL4.002a shows that accessibility issues could be overcome by a number of local highway upgrades.  However, the most substantial of these is the provision of a new link road connecting Amy Johnson Way with Common Edge Road.  This would create a new BAEZ Eastern Gateway which would improve connectivity to the strategic road network.    

	29. Highway infrastructure investment and the associated provision of new suitably sized accessible serviced employment land in a timely manner are both integral to achieving the aims and objectives of the BAEZ and boosting the Blackpool economy.    
	29. Highway infrastructure investment and the associated provision of new suitably sized accessible serviced employment land in a timely manner are both integral to achieving the aims and objectives of the BAEZ and boosting the Blackpool economy.    


	       
	CS, National Policy and the SADMP’s Approach 
	 
	Spatial Strategy 
	 
	30. Policy CS1 of the CS makes clear that development will be focussed on inner area regeneration with supporting growth at South Blackpool.  The justification text of Policy CS1 of the CS, states that the town centre must be a focus for future economic growth, development and investment in order to successfully position it as the first-choice shopping destination for Fylde Coast residents and an attractive place to visit and do business.   
	30. Policy CS1 of the CS makes clear that development will be focussed on inner area regeneration with supporting growth at South Blackpool.  The justification text of Policy CS1 of the CS, states that the town centre must be a focus for future economic growth, development and investment in order to successfully position it as the first-choice shopping destination for Fylde Coast residents and an attractive place to visit and do business.   
	30. Policy CS1 of the CS makes clear that development will be focussed on inner area regeneration with supporting growth at South Blackpool.  The justification text of Policy CS1 of the CS, states that the town centre must be a focus for future economic growth, development and investment in order to successfully position it as the first-choice shopping destination for Fylde Coast residents and an attractive place to visit and do business.   


	 
	31. CS Policy CS3 identifies land in South Blackpool as a strategic priority and opportunity.  Policy CS24 of the CS promotes employment development in South Blackpool focussed on development at the Blackpool Airport Corridor which is now part of the BAEZ.  It identifies the opportunity for the redevelopment of existing employment sites within South Blackpool to provide high quality modern business / industrial facilities and proposals for major new business / industrial development to support sub-regional 
	31. CS Policy CS3 identifies land in South Blackpool as a strategic priority and opportunity.  Policy CS24 of the CS promotes employment development in South Blackpool focussed on development at the Blackpool Airport Corridor which is now part of the BAEZ.  It identifies the opportunity for the redevelopment of existing employment sites within South Blackpool to provide high quality modern business / industrial facilities and proposals for major new business / industrial development to support sub-regional 
	31. CS Policy CS3 identifies land in South Blackpool as a strategic priority and opportunity.  Policy CS24 of the CS promotes employment development in South Blackpool focussed on development at the Blackpool Airport Corridor which is now part of the BAEZ.  It identifies the opportunity for the redevelopment of existing employment sites within South Blackpool to provide high quality modern business / industrial facilities and proposals for major new business / industrial development to support sub-regional 


	 
	Housing 
	 
	32. Between 2012 and 2027, CS Policy CS2 requires the provision of 4,200 new homes on sites in the urban areas and within the South Blackpool Growth Area.   
	32. Between 2012 and 2027, CS Policy CS2 requires the provision of 4,200 new homes on sites in the urban areas and within the South Blackpool Growth Area.   
	32. Between 2012 and 2027, CS Policy CS2 requires the provision of 4,200 new homes on sites in the urban areas and within the South Blackpool Growth Area.   


	 
	33. Policy HSA1 of the SADMP allocates a range of sites to deliver 1,419 dwellings up to 2027.  Nine of the Council’s housing allocations are located in the inner areas, with three allocations in South Blackpool.  
	33. Policy HSA1 of the SADMP allocates a range of sites to deliver 1,419 dwellings up to 2027.  Nine of the Council’s housing allocations are located in the inner areas, with three allocations in South Blackpool.  
	33. Policy HSA1 of the SADMP allocates a range of sites to deliver 1,419 dwellings up to 2027.  Nine of the Council’s housing allocations are located in the inner areas, with three allocations in South Blackpool.  


	These are added to by other sites in the urban area which became available since the CS was adopted, such as surplus public open space and commercial and educational sites which are no longer needed for those purposes.  Overall, the distribution of housing proposed in the SADMP accords with the CS spatial strategy.    
	These are added to by other sites in the urban area which became available since the CS was adopted, such as surplus public open space and commercial and educational sites which are no longer needed for those purposes.  Overall, the distribution of housing proposed in the SADMP accords with the CS spatial strategy.    
	These are added to by other sites in the urban area which became available since the CS was adopted, such as surplus public open space and commercial and educational sites which are no longer needed for those purposes.  Overall, the distribution of housing proposed in the SADMP accords with the CS spatial strategy.    

	34. However, a number of the sites allocated and listed in Policy HSA1 have now either been completed or have had permission granted for a different capacity.  Thus, MM03 is necessary to amend the table in Policy HSA1 and the justification for effectiveness, to remove sites which have been completed and to reflect the most up to date evidence on site capacity and supply generally as detailed in the Council’s latest Housing Topic Paper (EL4.006).    
	34. However, a number of the sites allocated and listed in Policy HSA1 have now either been completed or have had permission granted for a different capacity.  Thus, MM03 is necessary to amend the table in Policy HSA1 and the justification for effectiveness, to remove sites which have been completed and to reflect the most up to date evidence on site capacity and supply generally as detailed in the Council’s latest Housing Topic Paper (EL4.006).    


	Employment Development, the BAEZ and the Green Belt 
	 
	35. CS Policy CS3 seeks to strengthen the local economy by safeguarding around 180 hectares of land in Blackpool for employment use.  Informed by the Employment Land Study (2013) 31.5 hectares of employment land was found to be needed for development up to 2027.  This was based upon a take up of 1.75 hectares per annum (including a 20% flexibility allowance).  However, the same evidence found the realistic supply in Blackpool was only around 17.8 hectares.  This left a shortfall of around 13.7 hectares whic
	35. CS Policy CS3 seeks to strengthen the local economy by safeguarding around 180 hectares of land in Blackpool for employment use.  Informed by the Employment Land Study (2013) 31.5 hectares of employment land was found to be needed for development up to 2027.  This was based upon a take up of 1.75 hectares per annum (including a 20% flexibility allowance).  However, the same evidence found the realistic supply in Blackpool was only around 17.8 hectares.  This left a shortfall of around 13.7 hectares whic
	35. CS Policy CS3 seeks to strengthen the local economy by safeguarding around 180 hectares of land in Blackpool for employment use.  Informed by the Employment Land Study (2013) 31.5 hectares of employment land was found to be needed for development up to 2027.  This was based upon a take up of 1.75 hectares per annum (including a 20% flexibility allowance).  However, the same evidence found the realistic supply in Blackpool was only around 17.8 hectares.  This left a shortfall of around 13.7 hectares whic


	 
	36. Policy CS6 of the CS makes clear that national policy will be used to protect the Green Belt and states that there will be no planned strategic review of the existing Green Belt boundary during the plan period.  However, as set out above, the BAEZ was not operational at the time the CS was published and the BAEZ boundary adjoins and overlaps the Green Belt to the south of Blackpool.   
	36. Policy CS6 of the CS makes clear that national policy will be used to protect the Green Belt and states that there will be no planned strategic review of the existing Green Belt boundary during the plan period.  However, as set out above, the BAEZ was not operational at the time the CS was published and the BAEZ boundary adjoins and overlaps the Green Belt to the south of Blackpool.   
	36. Policy CS6 of the CS makes clear that national policy will be used to protect the Green Belt and states that there will be no planned strategic review of the existing Green Belt boundary during the plan period.  However, as set out above, the BAEZ was not operational at the time the CS was published and the BAEZ boundary adjoins and overlaps the Green Belt to the south of Blackpool.   


	 
	37. Policy DM7 of the SADMP identifies the sites which would meet the need for employment land set out in the CS.  Those sites provide for around 21 hectares of available land and are located in accordance with the spatial strategy.  However, the sites include an allocation of 9 hectares of employment land in the BAEZ, in addition to that planned for in the CS and that provided for in Fylde.   
	37. Policy DM7 of the SADMP identifies the sites which would meet the need for employment land set out in the CS.  Those sites provide for around 21 hectares of available land and are located in accordance with the spatial strategy.  However, the sites include an allocation of 9 hectares of employment land in the BAEZ, in addition to that planned for in the CS and that provided for in Fylde.   
	37. Policy DM7 of the SADMP identifies the sites which would meet the need for employment land set out in the CS.  Those sites provide for around 21 hectares of available land and are located in accordance with the spatial strategy.  However, the sites include an allocation of 9 hectares of employment land in the BAEZ, in addition to that planned for in the CS and that provided for in Fylde.   


	 
	38. This proposed employment land allocation of 9 hectares is dealt with in detail in Policy DM8.  It is directly linked to an adjacent housing allocation of some 1.4 hectares (HSA1.13).  Both form part of a wider 14 hectare parcel of the land which is within the BAEZ which is proposed to be removed from the Green Belt to facilitate its development as part of the overall delivery objectives for the BAEZ.   
	38. This proposed employment land allocation of 9 hectares is dealt with in detail in Policy DM8.  It is directly linked to an adjacent housing allocation of some 1.4 hectares (HSA1.13).  Both form part of a wider 14 hectare parcel of the land which is within the BAEZ which is proposed to be removed from the Green Belt to facilitate its development as part of the overall delivery objectives for the BAEZ.   
	38. This proposed employment land allocation of 9 hectares is dealt with in detail in Policy DM8.  It is directly linked to an adjacent housing allocation of some 1.4 hectares (HSA1.13).  Both form part of a wider 14 hectare parcel of the land which is within the BAEZ which is proposed to be removed from the Green Belt to facilitate its development as part of the overall delivery objectives for the BAEZ.   


	 
	39. Paragraph 140 of the NPPF states Green Belt boundaries should only be altered where exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, through the preparation or updating of Plans.    
	39. Paragraph 140 of the NPPF states Green Belt boundaries should only be altered where exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, through the preparation or updating of Plans.    
	39. Paragraph 140 of the NPPF states Green Belt boundaries should only be altered where exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, through the preparation or updating of Plans.    

	40. The additional 9 hectare of employment land would compensate for the losses of employment land to other uses in Blackpool over the plan period. It would also provide land for serviced plots in a desirable location and of a size not available anywhere else in the borough or the BAEZ having the potential to increase annual employment land take up for the remainder of the plan period (EL4.002a).   
	40. The additional 9 hectare of employment land would compensate for the losses of employment land to other uses in Blackpool over the plan period. It would also provide land for serviced plots in a desirable location and of a size not available anywhere else in the borough or the BAEZ having the potential to increase annual employment land take up for the remainder of the plan period (EL4.002a).   


	 
	41. Furthermore, the specific parcel of land is essential to facilitate the creation of the link road connecting the BAEZ to Common Edge Road and the creation of the new Eastern Gateway.  The proposed 1.4 hectare housing allocation is necessary to support the viability of the required infrastructure investment.         
	41. Furthermore, the specific parcel of land is essential to facilitate the creation of the link road connecting the BAEZ to Common Edge Road and the creation of the new Eastern Gateway.  The proposed 1.4 hectare housing allocation is necessary to support the viability of the required infrastructure investment.         
	41. Furthermore, the specific parcel of land is essential to facilitate the creation of the link road connecting the BAEZ to Common Edge Road and the creation of the new Eastern Gateway.  The proposed 1.4 hectare housing allocation is necessary to support the viability of the required infrastructure investment.         

	42. Therefore, without this specific proposed release from the Green Belt of land at the BAEZ for employment, housing and associated infrastructure, the ability to achieve the overall aims and objectives of the BAEZ would be significantly compromised.  This would have significant negative economic consequences for Blackpool, one of the country’s most deprived boroughs and the wider Fylde Coast.  
	42. Therefore, without this specific proposed release from the Green Belt of land at the BAEZ for employment, housing and associated infrastructure, the ability to achieve the overall aims and objectives of the BAEZ would be significantly compromised.  This would have significant negative economic consequences for Blackpool, one of the country’s most deprived boroughs and the wider Fylde Coast.  

	43. Therefore, in the absence of reasonable alternatives, and given the benefits associated with local housing and economic growth at this particular location, it is concluded that exceptional circumstances exist in principle to justify the release of land from the Green Belt at the BAEZ.  I go on to consider environmental capacity and site-specific exceptional circumstances under issue 2 below.   
	43. Therefore, in the absence of reasonable alternatives, and given the benefits associated with local housing and economic growth at this particular location, it is concluded that exceptional circumstances exist in principle to justify the release of land from the Green Belt at the BAEZ.  I go on to consider environmental capacity and site-specific exceptional circumstances under issue 2 below.   

	44. However, part of the land proposed for release from the Green Belt at the BAEZ would not deliver housing, employment or highway infrastructure and instead would accommodate sports facilities, which already have the benefit of planning permission and are under construction (discussed in detail under issue 2).  There are no exceptional circumstances for this land to be removed from the Green Belt, instead this should remain part of the Green Belt and form the new permanent Green Belt edge of the settlemen
	44. However, part of the land proposed for release from the Green Belt at the BAEZ would not deliver housing, employment or highway infrastructure and instead would accommodate sports facilities, which already have the benefit of planning permission and are under construction (discussed in detail under issue 2).  There are no exceptional circumstances for this land to be removed from the Green Belt, instead this should remain part of the Green Belt and form the new permanent Green Belt edge of the settlemen

	45. Therefore, overall, I am satisfied, having considered the evidence, exceptional circumstances exist to justify altering the Green Belt boundary to facilitate the proposed employment, housing and infrastructure development in the BAEZ although it’s necessity should be more explicitly explained in the SADMP.  However, the 
	45. Therefore, overall, I am satisfied, having considered the evidence, exceptional circumstances exist to justify altering the Green Belt boundary to facilitate the proposed employment, housing and infrastructure development in the BAEZ although it’s necessity should be more explicitly explained in the SADMP.  However, the 


	same exceptional circumstances do not exist with regard to the land proposed to be used for recreational purposes at the BAEZ.     
	same exceptional circumstances do not exist with regard to the land proposed to be used for recreational purposes at the BAEZ.     
	same exceptional circumstances do not exist with regard to the land proposed to be used for recreational purposes at the BAEZ.     

	46. MMs are therefore necessary to Policies DM7 and DM8 and their associated justifications to explain why it is essential to remove land from the Green Belt to facilitate the delivery of economic development at the BAEZ and reduce the amount of land to be removed from the Green Belt at this location from around 14 hectares to approximately 10 hectares.  MM10 and MM11 would address these issues and are necessary in the interests of ensuring consistency with national policy, appropriate justification and eff
	46. MMs are therefore necessary to Policies DM7 and DM8 and their associated justifications to explain why it is essential to remove land from the Green Belt to facilitate the delivery of economic development at the BAEZ and reduce the amount of land to be removed from the Green Belt at this location from around 14 hectares to approximately 10 hectares.  MM10 and MM11 would address these issues and are necessary in the interests of ensuring consistency with national policy, appropriate justification and eff

	47. The adjusted Green Belt boundary at the BAEZ as reflected in the EL5.004 will need to be detailed on the Council’s policies map.  Furthermore, in the interests of clarity and effectiveness, the extent of the Green Belt release and its relationship with the BAEZ should also be detailed on a map appended to the SADMP (MM46). 
	47. The adjusted Green Belt boundary at the BAEZ as reflected in the EL5.004 will need to be detailed on the Council’s policies map.  Furthermore, in the interests of clarity and effectiveness, the extent of the Green Belt release and its relationship with the BAEZ should also be detailed on a map appended to the SADMP (MM46). 


	Other Green Belt Proposals 
	48. Policy SLA1 seeks to remove land from the Green Belt for it to be safeguarded for development beyond the plan period.  However, neither the SADMP nor the evidence in the Council’s Local Green Belt Review Assessment (EB021) demonstrates what it would be safeguarded for.  The exceptional circumstances identified above are specifically related to the BAEZ.  EB021 is not a comprehensive strategic review of the borough’s Green Belt and contains no justification for why this location has been selected when co
	48. Policy SLA1 seeks to remove land from the Green Belt for it to be safeguarded for development beyond the plan period.  However, neither the SADMP nor the evidence in the Council’s Local Green Belt Review Assessment (EB021) demonstrates what it would be safeguarded for.  The exceptional circumstances identified above are specifically related to the BAEZ.  EB021 is not a comprehensive strategic review of the borough’s Green Belt and contains no justification for why this location has been selected when co
	48. Policy SLA1 seeks to remove land from the Green Belt for it to be safeguarded for development beyond the plan period.  However, neither the SADMP nor the evidence in the Council’s Local Green Belt Review Assessment (EB021) demonstrates what it would be safeguarded for.  The exceptional circumstances identified above are specifically related to the BAEZ.  EB021 is not a comprehensive strategic review of the borough’s Green Belt and contains no justification for why this location has been selected when co

	49. Therefore, Policy SLA1 and the justification text is not justified or consistent with national policy.  MM05 is therefore necessary to delete Policy SLA1 and paragraphs 2.20 to 2.24 as they are not sound.  The Council will need to reflect these changes on its policies map.   
	49. Therefore, Policy SLA1 and the justification text is not justified or consistent with national policy.  MM05 is therefore necessary to delete Policy SLA1 and paragraphs 2.20 to 2.24 as they are not sound.  The Council will need to reflect these changes on its policies map.   


	Retail 
	50. The SADMP allocates a mixed-use site in Blackpool Town Centre for new retail development, a car park and other uses appropriate for the Town Centre location, following the recommendations in the Council’s retail study (EB017), and subject to an impact assessment (EB015) which found no harmful impact on Blackpool Town Centre overall.  This allocation is justified.   
	50. The SADMP allocates a mixed-use site in Blackpool Town Centre for new retail development, a car park and other uses appropriate for the Town Centre location, following the recommendations in the Council’s retail study (EB017), and subject to an impact assessment (EB015) which found no harmful impact on Blackpool Town Centre overall.  This allocation is justified.   
	50. The SADMP allocates a mixed-use site in Blackpool Town Centre for new retail development, a car park and other uses appropriate for the Town Centre location, following the recommendations in the Council’s retail study (EB017), and subject to an impact assessment (EB015) which found no harmful impact on Blackpool Town Centre overall.  This allocation is justified.   


	Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation  
	 
	51. The Fylde Coast Authorities agree that the need identified in the Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment Update (2016) (EB008) has been met by granting planning permissions and there is therefore no need to identify a site for such purposes in the SADMP.  I concur.  
	51. The Fylde Coast Authorities agree that the need identified in the Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment Update (2016) (EB008) has been met by granting planning permissions and there is therefore no need to identify a site for such purposes in the SADMP.  I concur.  
	51. The Fylde Coast Authorities agree that the need identified in the Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment Update (2016) (EB008) has been met by granting planning permissions and there is therefore no need to identify a site for such purposes in the SADMP.  I concur.  


	 
	Allotments 
	52. The Council’s Open Space Assessment (EB022) identifies a deficiency in allotment provision to the north of the borough.  Policy ASA1 addresses this by allocating land for this purpose and in that location.  However, MM04 is necessary in the interests of effectiveness to ensure the policy makes reference to the geographical application on the policies map.   
	52. The Council’s Open Space Assessment (EB022) identifies a deficiency in allotment provision to the north of the borough.  Policy ASA1 addresses this by allocating land for this purpose and in that location.  However, MM04 is necessary in the interests of effectiveness to ensure the policy makes reference to the geographical application on the policies map.   
	52. The Council’s Open Space Assessment (EB022) identifies a deficiency in allotment provision to the north of the borough.  Policy ASA1 addresses this by allocating land for this purpose and in that location.  However, MM04 is necessary in the interests of effectiveness to ensure the policy makes reference to the geographical application on the policies map.   


	Conclusion 
	53. In summary, it is concluded that subject to the above MMs the overall approach to housing, economic growth, the Green Belt, retail, gypsy and traveller accommodation and allotments in the SADMP is consistent with the CS and national policy. 
	53. In summary, it is concluded that subject to the above MMs the overall approach to housing, economic growth, the Green Belt, retail, gypsy and traveller accommodation and allotments in the SADMP is consistent with the CS and national policy. 
	53. In summary, it is concluded that subject to the above MMs the overall approach to housing, economic growth, the Green Belt, retail, gypsy and traveller accommodation and allotments in the SADMP is consistent with the CS and national policy. 


	Issue 2 - Are the sites allocated for employment and housing justified and deliverable and do they provide a sufficient supply? 
	54. The SADMP includes one employment allocation (Policies DM7 and DM8).  For the reasons discussed at length above the allocation of this site is justified.   
	54. The SADMP includes one employment allocation (Policies DM7 and DM8).  For the reasons discussed at length above the allocation of this site is justified.   
	54. The SADMP includes one employment allocation (Policies DM7 and DM8).  For the reasons discussed at length above the allocation of this site is justified.   

	55. Policy HSA1 allocates 29 sites for housing development.  Of those, at the time of the regulation 19 consultation 14 were without planning permission.  Site proformas to guide the development of 
	55. Policy HSA1 allocates 29 sites for housing development.  Of those, at the time of the regulation 19 consultation 14 were without planning permission.  Site proformas to guide the development of 


	such sites are included in Schedule 1 of the SADMP.  The Council has carried out an assessment of potential housing site options based on its Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (EB004) which is explained in the Housing Topic Paper (EB003) and is reasonable and proportionate.  Robust reasons for selecting the allocated housing sites and rejecting others are set out in section 4 of EB003. 
	such sites are included in Schedule 1 of the SADMP.  The Council has carried out an assessment of potential housing site options based on its Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (EB004) which is explained in the Housing Topic Paper (EB003) and is reasonable and proportionate.  Robust reasons for selecting the allocated housing sites and rejecting others are set out in section 4 of EB003. 
	such sites are included in Schedule 1 of the SADMP.  The Council has carried out an assessment of potential housing site options based on its Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (EB004) which is explained in the Housing Topic Paper (EB003) and is reasonable and proportionate.  Robust reasons for selecting the allocated housing sites and rejecting others are set out in section 4 of EB003. 

	56. The site assessment process has been informed by relevant technical evidence, SA and the need to locate development in accordance with the spatial strategy.  I consider that the site selection process is robust and has led to an appropriate selection of allocations.  All of the site allocations in the SADMP have landowners and or developers who are engaged with the Council to bring them forward for development.    
	56. The site assessment process has been informed by relevant technical evidence, SA and the need to locate development in accordance with the spatial strategy.  I consider that the site selection process is robust and has led to an appropriate selection of allocations.  All of the site allocations in the SADMP have landowners and or developers who are engaged with the Council to bring them forward for development.    

	57. Having considered all the evidence and representations, I am satisfied that the site allocations within the SADMP are soundly based and capable of being developed, subject to some site-specific modifications.  These are necessary to ensure that the Policies adequately reflect the evidence, would be effective and accord with national policy.  On this basis it is not necessary for me to refer to every site, only those that require modifying, which I deal with below.  
	57. Having considered all the evidence and representations, I am satisfied that the site allocations within the SADMP are soundly based and capable of being developed, subject to some site-specific modifications.  These are necessary to ensure that the Policies adequately reflect the evidence, would be effective and accord with national policy.  On this basis it is not necessary for me to refer to every site, only those that require modifying, which I deal with below.  

	58. Policy DM8 – BAEZ –This policy seeks to support and guide the delivery of development in the BAEZ over the plan period.  However, the BAEZ also includes land in Fylde and it is not clear from the policy or its justification that Policy DM8 relates only to land within the BAEZ which is within Blackpool.   
	58. Policy DM8 – BAEZ –This policy seeks to support and guide the delivery of development in the BAEZ over the plan period.  However, the BAEZ also includes land in Fylde and it is not clear from the policy or its justification that Policy DM8 relates only to land within the BAEZ which is within Blackpool.   

	59. The delivery of the BAEZ is guided by a detailed masterplan and relies on a number of items of critical infrastructure improvements for it be delivered.  However, the relationship of the Local Plan with the masterplan for the BAEZ and the dependence on critical infrastructure should be specified in Policy DM8 and explained in the justification for effectiveness.     
	59. The delivery of the BAEZ is guided by a detailed masterplan and relies on a number of items of critical infrastructure improvements for it be delivered.  However, the relationship of the Local Plan with the masterplan for the BAEZ and the dependence on critical infrastructure should be specified in Policy DM8 and explained in the justification for effectiveness.     

	60. The boundary of the BAEZ is detailed on the submission policies map and covers existing commercial premises and mainly playing fields, some of which would be removed from the Green Belt to accommodate new development necessary to realise the economic growth potential of the BAEZ as detailed above.   However, the 
	60. The boundary of the BAEZ is detailed on the submission policies map and covers existing commercial premises and mainly playing fields, some of which would be removed from the Green Belt to accommodate new development necessary to realise the economic growth potential of the BAEZ as detailed above.   However, the 


	Council have granted planning permission1 for schemes which would collectively provide a new sports and social facilities building, carparking and a range of sports pitches leading to improved provision overall.  These facilities are on the southern extent of the BAEZ and would effectively form the new Green Belt edge, as I have already found their removal from the Green Belt is not justified in principle.    
	Council have granted planning permission1 for schemes which would collectively provide a new sports and social facilities building, carparking and a range of sports pitches leading to improved provision overall.  These facilities are on the southern extent of the BAEZ and would effectively form the new Green Belt edge, as I have already found their removal from the Green Belt is not justified in principle.    
	Council have granted planning permission1 for schemes which would collectively provide a new sports and social facilities building, carparking and a range of sports pitches leading to improved provision overall.  These facilities are on the southern extent of the BAEZ and would effectively form the new Green Belt edge, as I have already found their removal from the Green Belt is not justified in principle.    

	61. Nevertheless, the Council’s Local Green Belt Assessment (EB021) did recommend the site at the BAEZ is released from the Green Belt.  It notes the relevant section of the Green Belt punches into Blackpool’s urban area and is surrounded by established business / industrial sites including an airport.  I concur, and subject to appropriate mitigation and detailed design, the harm to the Green Belt associated with the removal of the land from the Green Belt to facilitate development at the BAEZ could be redu
	61. Nevertheless, the Council’s Local Green Belt Assessment (EB021) did recommend the site at the BAEZ is released from the Green Belt.  It notes the relevant section of the Green Belt punches into Blackpool’s urban area and is surrounded by established business / industrial sites including an airport.  I concur, and subject to appropriate mitigation and detailed design, the harm to the Green Belt associated with the removal of the land from the Green Belt to facilitate development at the BAEZ could be redu

	62. Green Belt compensatory improvements would be required and there are a number of opportunities for Green Belt enhancement nearby specifically as part of a package of measures associated with the sports facilities, within the BAEZ to be retained within the Green Belt.  However, to ensure consistency with national policy and in the interests of effectiveness these measures will need to be specified in Policy DM8.      
	62. Green Belt compensatory improvements would be required and there are a number of opportunities for Green Belt enhancement nearby specifically as part of a package of measures associated with the sports facilities, within the BAEZ to be retained within the Green Belt.  However, to ensure consistency with national policy and in the interests of effectiveness these measures will need to be specified in Policy DM8.      

	63. MM11 would address all these issues, thus subject to such, the allocation is effective, justified and consistent with national policy.  With this allocation as detailed under Issue one, the SADMP would provide a sufficient supply of employment land increasing the prospect of achieving the economic growth objectives of the CS and the BAEZ.  
	63. MM11 would address all these issues, thus subject to such, the allocation is effective, justified and consistent with national policy.  With this allocation as detailed under Issue one, the SADMP would provide a sufficient supply of employment land increasing the prospect of achieving the economic growth objectives of the CS and the BAEZ.  


	1 Council Reference 20/0564 & 20/0108 
	1 Council Reference 20/0564 & 20/0108 

	64. HSA1.1 – Former Mariners Public House, Norbeck Road – Planning permission has been granted for a scheme including 34 dwellings, and MM35 is therefore necessary to adjust the site capacity in Schedule 1, in the interests of effectiveness. 
	64. HSA1.1 – Former Mariners Public House, Norbeck Road – Planning permission has been granted for a scheme including 34 dwellings, and MM35 is therefore necessary to adjust the site capacity in Schedule 1, in the interests of effectiveness. 
	64. HSA1.1 – Former Mariners Public House, Norbeck Road – Planning permission has been granted for a scheme including 34 dwellings, and MM35 is therefore necessary to adjust the site capacity in Schedule 1, in the interests of effectiveness. 

	65. HSA1.2 - Former Bispham High School, Bispham Road, Blackpool – This site consists of a demolished school with associated playing fields.  It is located in the Greenlands Ward where the Council’s Open Space Assessment (EB022) notes a quantitative surplus of this type of open space. The Council have worked with Sport England on a Playing Pitch Strategy which contains measures to compensate for playing pitch losses to result in an overall improved provision in the area.  However, MM36 is necessary to add w
	65. HSA1.2 - Former Bispham High School, Bispham Road, Blackpool – This site consists of a demolished school with associated playing fields.  It is located in the Greenlands Ward where the Council’s Open Space Assessment (EB022) notes a quantitative surplus of this type of open space. The Council have worked with Sport England on a Playing Pitch Strategy which contains measures to compensate for playing pitch losses to result in an overall improved provision in the area.  However, MM36 is necessary to add w

	66. HSA1.4 - Land rear of 307-339 Warley Road, Blackpool - An area of open land to the rear of existing dwellings in a residential area.  For effectiveness the development considerations in Schedule 1 should make clear that access to the rear of the existing dwellings must be retained (MM37). 
	66. HSA1.4 - Land rear of 307-339 Warley Road, Blackpool - An area of open land to the rear of existing dwellings in a residential area.  For effectiveness the development considerations in Schedule 1 should make clear that access to the rear of the existing dwellings must be retained (MM37). 

	67. HSA1.5 - Land at Chepstow Road/Gateside Drive and land at Dinmore Avenue/Bathurst Avenue, Grange Park – Since submission, planning permission has been granted for a development including 131 dwellings.  Part of the site is playing fields and open space.  However, there is a quantitative surplus of the relevant types in the Park Ward.  Subject to MM38 which would update the delivery details to reflect the planning permission and make clear that open space must be replaced with equivalent or better provis
	67. HSA1.5 - Land at Chepstow Road/Gateside Drive and land at Dinmore Avenue/Bathurst Avenue, Grange Park – Since submission, planning permission has been granted for a development including 131 dwellings.  Part of the site is playing fields and open space.  However, there is a quantitative surplus of the relevant types in the Park Ward.  Subject to MM38 which would update the delivery details to reflect the planning permission and make clear that open space must be replaced with equivalent or better provis

	68. HSA1.6 – Land at Coleridge Road / George Street, Blackpool – Planning permission has been granted for a scheme including 8 dwellings, and MM39 is therefore necessary to adjust the site capacity in Schedule 1, in the interests of effectiveness. 
	68. HSA1.6 – Land at Coleridge Road / George Street, Blackpool – Planning permission has been granted for a scheme including 8 dwellings, and MM39 is therefore necessary to adjust the site capacity in Schedule 1, in the interests of effectiveness. 

	69. HSA1.7 – 190 – 194 Promenade, Blackpool – This site is within the setting of a number of heritage assets.  MM40 is necessary for effectiveness and consistency with national policy to ensure a heritage impact assessment is undertaken and taken into account in any scheme.   
	69. HSA1.7 – 190 – 194 Promenade, Blackpool – This site is within the setting of a number of heritage assets.  MM40 is necessary for effectiveness and consistency with national policy to ensure a heritage impact assessment is undertaken and taken into account in any scheme.   


	70. HSA1.9 – Car Park, Bethesda Road, Blackpool – MMs are necessary to adjust the schedule text to recognise the site’s existing car park use in the interests of effectiveness (MM41 & MM42). 
	70. HSA1.9 – Car Park, Bethesda Road, Blackpool – MMs are necessary to adjust the schedule text to recognise the site’s existing car park use in the interests of effectiveness (MM41 & MM42). 
	70. HSA1.9 – Car Park, Bethesda Road, Blackpool – MMs are necessary to adjust the schedule text to recognise the site’s existing car park use in the interests of effectiveness (MM41 & MM42). 

	71. HSA1.13 – Land at Jepson Way / Common Edge Road, Blackpool – This site is enabling housing associated with the BAEZ also referenced and directly related to Policy DM8 as discussed above.  However, a MM is needed to add wording to ensure the loss of playing fields is replaced by equivalent or better provision in the area in the interests of effectiveness and to ensure consistency with national policy (MM43). 
	71. HSA1.13 – Land at Jepson Way / Common Edge Road, Blackpool – This site is enabling housing associated with the BAEZ also referenced and directly related to Policy DM8 as discussed above.  However, a MM is needed to add wording to ensure the loss of playing fields is replaced by equivalent or better provision in the area in the interests of effectiveness and to ensure consistency with national policy (MM43). 

	72. Including all these housing sites, the SADMP would provide the borough with way in-excess of 5 years of deliverable housing land supply as detailed in the Council’s updated housing topic paper (EL4.006).  At least 10% of the housing requirement has been provided to date on sites no larger than one hectare, particularly from windfall conversions and changes of use sites as required by Policy CS2 of the CS and the evidence (EB003 & EL4.006) indicates this is likely to continue.    
	72. Including all these housing sites, the SADMP would provide the borough with way in-excess of 5 years of deliverable housing land supply as detailed in the Council’s updated housing topic paper (EL4.006).  At least 10% of the housing requirement has been provided to date on sites no larger than one hectare, particularly from windfall conversions and changes of use sites as required by Policy CS2 of the CS and the evidence (EB003 & EL4.006) indicates this is likely to continue.    


	 
	Conclusion 
	73. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the sites allocated for employment and housing are justified and deliverable and provide a sufficient supply.   
	73. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the sites allocated for employment and housing are justified and deliverable and provide a sufficient supply.   
	73. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the sites allocated for employment and housing are justified and deliverable and provide a sufficient supply.   


	Issue 3 - Are the SADMP’s development management policies justified, effective and consistent with national policies 
	 
	Housing 
	74. Policy DM1 seeks to secure 20% of any new housing to meet the needs of elderly or disabled residents or be easily adaptable in line with the Optional Standard M4(2) or M4(3) of the Building Regulations.   
	74. Policy DM1 seeks to secure 20% of any new housing to meet the needs of elderly or disabled residents or be easily adaptable in line with the Optional Standard M4(2) or M4(3) of the Building Regulations.   
	74. Policy DM1 seeks to secure 20% of any new housing to meet the needs of elderly or disabled residents or be easily adaptable in line with the Optional Standard M4(2) or M4(3) of the Building Regulations.   

	75. Blackpool has an above average percentage of households which include persons with a form of disability and the Council’s housing register shows a disproportionate amount of housing need among elderly and disabled residents.  Whilst the Plan would still not meet the need estimated for such accommodation, the requirement for 
	75. Blackpool has an above average percentage of households which include persons with a form of disability and the Council’s housing register shows a disproportionate amount of housing need among elderly and disabled residents.  Whilst the Plan would still not meet the need estimated for such accommodation, the requirement for 


	20% has been shown generally to not prejudice the viability of development through the Council’s Viability Assessment (EB002) and will therefore optimise delivery without being a barrier to development.   
	20% has been shown generally to not prejudice the viability of development through the Council’s Viability Assessment (EB002) and will therefore optimise delivery without being a barrier to development.   
	20% has been shown generally to not prejudice the viability of development through the Council’s Viability Assessment (EB002) and will therefore optimise delivery without being a barrier to development.   

	76. The needs for adaptable housing and the mix of M4(2), M4(3) a and b will be informed by the Council’s housing strategy with advice from relevant Officers sought on a scheme-by-scheme basis.  However, this is not made clear in the SADMP and it will require evidence to be provided in support of proposals.  Furthermore, the costs associated with meeting each of these standards can vary significantly and thus the Council will need to apply this policy requirement flexibly based on exceptional site-specific 
	76. The needs for adaptable housing and the mix of M4(2), M4(3) a and b will be informed by the Council’s housing strategy with advice from relevant Officers sought on a scheme-by-scheme basis.  However, this is not made clear in the SADMP and it will require evidence to be provided in support of proposals.  Furthermore, the costs associated with meeting each of these standards can vary significantly and thus the Council will need to apply this policy requirement flexibly based on exceptional site-specific 

	77. Policy DM1 also seeks to ensure 20% of all new homes meet the national described space standard (NDSS).  The relevant Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) says evidence should be provided on the size and type of dwellings currently being built in the area, to ensure the impacts of adopting space standards can be properly assessed.   
	77. Policy DM1 also seeks to ensure 20% of all new homes meet the national described space standard (NDSS).  The relevant Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) says evidence should be provided on the size and type of dwellings currently being built in the area, to ensure the impacts of adopting space standards can be properly assessed.   

	78. The CS notes there is an extremely unbalanced and dysfunctional housing supply, with significant over supply of small, poor-quality bedsits, flats or housing in multiple occupation, with much of the accommodation in the inner area unsuitable for families and undesirable to anyone who can afford to choose better.  Therefore, internal space and reasonably sized rooms, such that they offer quality family accommodation, is clearly a particular issue in Blackpool.   
	78. The CS notes there is an extremely unbalanced and dysfunctional housing supply, with significant over supply of small, poor-quality bedsits, flats or housing in multiple occupation, with much of the accommodation in the inner area unsuitable for families and undesirable to anyone who can afford to choose better.  Therefore, internal space and reasonably sized rooms, such that they offer quality family accommodation, is clearly a particular issue in Blackpool.   

	79. The Council assessed all housing schemes granted planning permission since 2013 (some 30 schemes) and found that only 3.1% of all those dwellings met the NDSS.  This is a reasonable sample irrespective of when the NDSS was introduced, and it shows that without intervention the types of homes delivered in Blackpool could result in cramped living accommodation and fail to address the need for quality family accommodation noted in the CS.  
	79. The Council assessed all housing schemes granted planning permission since 2013 (some 30 schemes) and found that only 3.1% of all those dwellings met the NDSS.  This is a reasonable sample irrespective of when the NDSS was introduced, and it shows that without intervention the types of homes delivered in Blackpool could result in cramped living accommodation and fail to address the need for quality family accommodation noted in the CS.  

	80. On this basis, a proportion of 20% of all new housing would go some way towards ensuring at least some properties are delivered which meet the NDSS and is justified.  However, for effectiveness a threshold of five dwellings is needed because this is the minimum 
	80. On this basis, a proportion of 20% of all new housing would go some way towards ensuring at least some properties are delivered which meet the NDSS and is justified.  However, for effectiveness a threshold of five dwellings is needed because this is the minimum 


	number for a site to deliver one dwelling to the required standard.  Furthermore, for the same reasons as the adaptable standard, flexibility is also needed to ensure that the requirement is applied exceptionally subject to site specific viability.  MM06 would address all these issues, subject to it, Policy DM1 is justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 
	number for a site to deliver one dwelling to the required standard.  Furthermore, for the same reasons as the adaptable standard, flexibility is also needed to ensure that the requirement is applied exceptionally subject to site specific viability.  MM06 would address all these issues, subject to it, Policy DM1 is justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 
	number for a site to deliver one dwelling to the required standard.  Furthermore, for the same reasons as the adaptable standard, flexibility is also needed to ensure that the requirement is applied exceptionally subject to site specific viability.  MM06 would address all these issues, subject to it, Policy DM1 is justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 

	81. Policy DM3 seeks to ensure supported accommodation and housing for older people is appropriately designed and located.  The approach is justified in terms of seeking to achieve balanced communities where housing provides an appropriate quality of life for its intended occupants.  However, MM07 is needed for effectiveness, to clarify the definition of a block in part 2 a of the policy and to make clear in the justification how the Council will determine the level of accessibility, as referred to in part 
	81. Policy DM3 seeks to ensure supported accommodation and housing for older people is appropriately designed and located.  The approach is justified in terms of seeking to achieve balanced communities where housing provides an appropriate quality of life for its intended occupants.  However, MM07 is needed for effectiveness, to clarify the definition of a block in part 2 a of the policy and to make clear in the justification how the Council will determine the level of accessibility, as referred to in part 

	82. The Council’s approach to managing development involving student accommodation is set out in Policy DM4.  However, part b of the policy requires proposals for such accommodation to be within 800 metres of a learning centre or, if not, a sequential approach is to be applied considering sites close to public transport routes.   
	82. The Council’s approach to managing development involving student accommodation is set out in Policy DM4.  However, part b of the policy requires proposals for such accommodation to be within 800 metres of a learning centre or, if not, a sequential approach is to be applied considering sites close to public transport routes.   

	83. However, clarification is necessary as to what is meant by a public transport route, how 800 metres would be measured and how a sequential assessment would be undertaken.  Furthermore, part 1 e of Policy DM4 seeks to deal with the effect of limited floorspace by requiring proposals to accord with the Council’s Student Advice Note.  Additionally, that note does not form part of the Development Plan and instead, the policy should be amended to address the issue, which is to ensure developments provide int
	83. However, clarification is necessary as to what is meant by a public transport route, how 800 metres would be measured and how a sequential assessment would be undertaken.  Furthermore, part 1 e of Policy DM4 seeks to deal with the effect of limited floorspace by requiring proposals to accord with the Council’s Student Advice Note.  Additionally, that note does not form part of the Development Plan and instead, the policy should be amended to address the issue, which is to ensure developments provide int

	84. In Blackpool there are many buildings, particularly older holiday accommodation which have the potential to be converted to dwellings.  Policy DM5 seeks to ensure such conversions deliver high quality accommodation and do not lead to over concentrations of small poor-quality housing in the inner area.  However, part b of 
	84. In Blackpool there are many buildings, particularly older holiday accommodation which have the potential to be converted to dwellings.  Policy DM5 seeks to ensure such conversions deliver high quality accommodation and do not lead to over concentrations of small poor-quality housing in the inner area.  However, part b of 


	Policy DM5 should be amended to require proposals to provide internal spaces which through their layout and size lead to acceptable living conditions, removing reference to adhering to the NDSS and the Council’s adopted floorspace and amenity standards.  The justification should be amended to only have regard to these standards as they do not form part of the development Plan.  MM09 would address these issues and make clear this policy applies only to conversions and sub-divisions and is therefore needed to
	Policy DM5 should be amended to require proposals to provide internal spaces which through their layout and size lead to acceptable living conditions, removing reference to adhering to the NDSS and the Council’s adopted floorspace and amenity standards.  The justification should be amended to only have regard to these standards as they do not form part of the development Plan.  MM09 would address these issues and make clear this policy applies only to conversions and sub-divisions and is therefore needed to
	Policy DM5 should be amended to require proposals to provide internal spaces which through their layout and size lead to acceptable living conditions, removing reference to adhering to the NDSS and the Council’s adopted floorspace and amenity standards.  The justification should be amended to only have regard to these standards as they do not form part of the development Plan.  MM09 would address these issues and make clear this policy applies only to conversions and sub-divisions and is therefore needed to


	Economy 
	85. Policy DM9 sets out a positive framework for development at Blackpool Zoo as identified on the submission policies map.  However, whilst it is justifiable to seek to ensure any new development does not harm the setting of the adjoining Stanley Park Conservation Area, MM12 is necessary in the interests of effectiveness and consistency with national policy to ensure the policy also recognises Stanley Park is a registered park and garden. 
	85. Policy DM9 sets out a positive framework for development at Blackpool Zoo as identified on the submission policies map.  However, whilst it is justifiable to seek to ensure any new development does not harm the setting of the adjoining Stanley Park Conservation Area, MM12 is necessary in the interests of effectiveness and consistency with national policy to ensure the policy also recognises Stanley Park is a registered park and garden. 
	85. Policy DM9 sets out a positive framework for development at Blackpool Zoo as identified on the submission policies map.  However, whilst it is justifiable to seek to ensure any new development does not harm the setting of the adjoining Stanley Park Conservation Area, MM12 is necessary in the interests of effectiveness and consistency with national policy to ensure the policy also recognises Stanley Park is a registered park and garden. 

	86. The Promenade and Seafront are the focal point for tourists and the Promenade is the town’s largest outdoor recreational space.  Policy DM10 seeks to improve the appearance and economic function of the Promenade and Seafront including among other things supporting development that involves new high quality landmark features.  However, a MM is necessary in the interests of effectiveness to clarify that a landmark feature is one which is easily recognised and can assist with way finding.  It is also neces
	86. The Promenade and Seafront are the focal point for tourists and the Promenade is the town’s largest outdoor recreational space.  Policy DM10 seeks to improve the appearance and economic function of the Promenade and Seafront including among other things supporting development that involves new high quality landmark features.  However, a MM is necessary in the interests of effectiveness to clarify that a landmark feature is one which is easily recognised and can assist with way finding.  It is also neces

	87. Policy CS4 of the CS identifies Blackpool Town Centre as defined on the policies map as the focus for new retail and other town centre uses.  Policies DM11 and DM12 specify the uses which will be permitted in the primary and secondary frontages consistent with paragraph 86(b) of the NPPF.  The primary and secondary frontages are defined on the Council’s submission policies map and follow the recommendations of the Council’s Retail Study (EB017 and EB017a).  Policies DM11 and DM12 are soundly based. 
	87. Policy CS4 of the CS identifies Blackpool Town Centre as defined on the policies map as the focus for new retail and other town centre uses.  Policies DM11 and DM12 specify the uses which will be permitted in the primary and secondary frontages consistent with paragraph 86(b) of the NPPF.  The primary and secondary frontages are defined on the Council’s submission policies map and follow the recommendations of the Council’s Retail Study (EB017 and EB017a).  Policies DM11 and DM12 are soundly based. 

	88. The Council’s evidence (EB010) shows high concentrations of betting shops, adult gaming centres and pawnbrokers in parts of 
	88. The Council’s evidence (EB010) shows high concentrations of betting shops, adult gaming centres and pawnbrokers in parts of 


	Blackpool.  This evidence demonstrates this can have negative consequences for the vitality and viability of centres and the well-being of communities.  Policy DM13 therefore, justifiably seeks to manage these concentrations outside of the defined primary and secondary frontages.  However, for effectiveness a MM is needed to make clear that 400 metres would be measured as the crow flies to clarify how the policy would be applied.  Subject to MM14, Policy DM13 is justified, effective and consistent with nati
	Blackpool.  This evidence demonstrates this can have negative consequences for the vitality and viability of centres and the well-being of communities.  Policy DM13 therefore, justifiably seeks to manage these concentrations outside of the defined primary and secondary frontages.  However, for effectiveness a MM is needed to make clear that 400 metres would be measured as the crow flies to clarify how the policy would be applied.  Subject to MM14, Policy DM13 is justified, effective and consistent with nati
	Blackpool.  This evidence demonstrates this can have negative consequences for the vitality and viability of centres and the well-being of communities.  Policy DM13 therefore, justifiably seeks to manage these concentrations outside of the defined primary and secondary frontages.  However, for effectiveness a MM is needed to make clear that 400 metres would be measured as the crow flies to clarify how the policy would be applied.  Subject to MM14, Policy DM13 is justified, effective and consistent with nati

	89. In line with Policy CS4 of the CS Policy DM14 of the SADMP sets out a positive framework for managing new development in Blackpool’s District and Local Centres.  Clifton Retail Park does not fulfil the same function as either a Local or District Centre and therefore does not need to be explicitly recognised in Policy DM14.  Policy DM14 is sound. 
	89. In line with Policy CS4 of the CS Policy DM14 of the SADMP sets out a positive framework for managing new development in Blackpool’s District and Local Centres.  Clifton Retail Park does not fulfil the same function as either a Local or District Centre and therefore does not need to be explicitly recognised in Policy DM14.  Policy DM14 is sound. 

	90. Policy DM16 seeks to promote healthier communities by restricting new hot food takeaways in or within 400 metres of wards where there are more than 15% of year 6 pupils or 10% of reception age pupils which are classified as obese by Public Health England.  
	90. Policy DM16 seeks to promote healthier communities by restricting new hot food takeaways in or within 400 metres of wards where there are more than 15% of year 6 pupils or 10% of reception age pupils which are classified as obese by Public Health England.  

	91. The 2015 and 2019 Indices of Deprivation ranked Blackpool as the most deprived local authority area in the country (EB001).  This is based on data indicators used from seven domains which include income and health and is compelling.  The Local Authority Health Profile 2019 shows the health of people in Blackpool is generally worse than the England average.  It shows life expectancy for men is 12.3 years lower and for women 10.1 years lower than the national average with obesity among the local populatio
	91. The 2015 and 2019 Indices of Deprivation ranked Blackpool as the most deprived local authority area in the country (EB001).  This is based on data indicators used from seven domains which include income and health and is compelling.  The Local Authority Health Profile 2019 shows the health of people in Blackpool is generally worse than the England average.  It shows life expectancy for men is 12.3 years lower and for women 10.1 years lower than the national average with obesity among the local populatio

	92. The Council’s Healthy Weight Declaration (EL4.001) commits the Council to working with other bodies on a range of actions including reducing unhealthy weight in Blackpool.  It also recognises the potential for the planning system to contribute towards such as part of a broad multi-disciplinary package of measures. 
	92. The Council’s Healthy Weight Declaration (EL4.001) commits the Council to working with other bodies on a range of actions including reducing unhealthy weight in Blackpool.  It also recognises the potential for the planning system to contribute towards such as part of a broad multi-disciplinary package of measures. 


	93. Paragraph 92 of the NPPF states that planning policies should aim to achieve healthy places which enable and support healthy lifestyles through a range of measures including access to healthier food.   The PPG says planning policies may need to have regard to issues which include evidence indicating high levels of obesity, deprivation, health inequalities and general poor health in specific locations and over-concentration of certain uses within a specified area. 
	93. Paragraph 92 of the NPPF states that planning policies should aim to achieve healthy places which enable and support healthy lifestyles through a range of measures including access to healthier food.   The PPG says planning policies may need to have regard to issues which include evidence indicating high levels of obesity, deprivation, health inequalities and general poor health in specific locations and over-concentration of certain uses within a specified area. 
	93. Paragraph 92 of the NPPF states that planning policies should aim to achieve healthy places which enable and support healthy lifestyles through a range of measures including access to healthier food.   The PPG says planning policies may need to have regard to issues which include evidence indicating high levels of obesity, deprivation, health inequalities and general poor health in specific locations and over-concentration of certain uses within a specified area. 

	94. Public Health England has identified on average that there are around 96 hot food takeaways per 100K population, whereas EB009 shows 217 or 196 (excluding the Promenade) per 100K population in Blackpool with 12 of its 21 wards having more than 10% more hot food takeaways than the national average.  However, that evidence indicates there is no direct correlation or clustering around schools and therefore supports the Council’s approach.  Setting thresholds based on the obesity of reception age and year 6
	94. Public Health England has identified on average that there are around 96 hot food takeaways per 100K population, whereas EB009 shows 217 or 196 (excluding the Promenade) per 100K population in Blackpool with 12 of its 21 wards having more than 10% more hot food takeaways than the national average.  However, that evidence indicates there is no direct correlation or clustering around schools and therefore supports the Council’s approach.  Setting thresholds based on the obesity of reception age and year 6

	95. Public Health England maintain data on child excess weight and obesity at ward-level which is freely available and updated annually, the thresholds are reasonably set at a level that should Policy DM16 be effective alongside other measures, obesity levels could reasonably be expected to fall below the threshold making hot food takeaways permissible in some wards over the plan period.  In any event, the evidence shows the borough is already very well served.  Moreover, Policies DM11, DM12 and DM14 permit
	95. Public Health England maintain data on child excess weight and obesity at ward-level which is freely available and updated annually, the thresholds are reasonably set at a level that should Policy DM16 be effective alongside other measures, obesity levels could reasonably be expected to fall below the threshold making hot food takeaways permissible in some wards over the plan period.  In any event, the evidence shows the borough is already very well served.  Moreover, Policies DM11, DM12 and DM14 permit

	96. However, the effects of Policy DM16 will need to be closely monitored to understand whether or not the policy is effective and the monitoring framework does not currently include clear mechanisms for achieving such.  MM15 and MM45 are therefore necessary for effectiveness to include clear indicators necessary to measure its effectiveness over the plan period and to inform any review of the policy approach.  MM15 is also needed for effectiveness to make clear how 400 metres is to be measured. Subject to 
	96. However, the effects of Policy DM16 will need to be closely monitored to understand whether or not the policy is effective and the monitoring framework does not currently include clear mechanisms for achieving such.  MM15 and MM45 are therefore necessary for effectiveness to include clear indicators necessary to measure its effectiveness over the plan period and to inform any review of the policy approach.  MM15 is also needed for effectiveness to make clear how 400 metres is to be measured. Subject to 


	Design 
	97. The Council’s key design principles for development in the borough are set out in Policy DM17.  However, MM16 is necessary to ensure proposals have regard to heritage assets and their settings to ensure consistency with national policy. 
	97. The Council’s key design principles for development in the borough are set out in Policy DM17.  However, MM16 is necessary to ensure proposals have regard to heritage assets and their settings to ensure consistency with national policy. 
	97. The Council’s key design principles for development in the borough are set out in Policy DM17.  However, MM16 is necessary to ensure proposals have regard to heritage assets and their settings to ensure consistency with national policy. 

	98. Policy DM18 seeks to ensure new development facilitates high speed broadband connections where possible.  However, the reference to commercial development is unclear.  MM17 would address this by specifying the relevant use classes and is therefore necessary in the interests of effectiveness. 
	98. Policy DM18 seeks to ensure new development facilitates high speed broadband connections where possible.  However, the reference to commercial development is unclear.  MM17 would address this by specifying the relevant use classes and is therefore necessary in the interests of effectiveness. 

	99. Views, such as those of Blackpool Tower, shape the unique identity of the borough.  Policy DM19 justifiably seeks to protect and enhance such views and others which give Blackpool its distinctive character.  However, MMs are needed to the justification text and policy to clarify what constitutes a strategic view and remove reference to a number of specific features so as to ensure each scheme responds to its context.  Furthermore, criteria c, d and e unnecessarily duplicate the provisions of Policies DM
	99. Views, such as those of Blackpool Tower, shape the unique identity of the borough.  Policy DM19 justifiably seeks to protect and enhance such views and others which give Blackpool its distinctive character.  However, MMs are needed to the justification text and policy to clarify what constitutes a strategic view and remove reference to a number of specific features so as to ensure each scheme responds to its context.  Furthermore, criteria c, d and e unnecessarily duplicate the provisions of Policies DM

	100. Policy DM21 aims to ensure new development provides appropriate landscaping to contribute towards enhancing the borough’s green and blue infrastructure network where practicable.  However, for reasons already given requiring development to accord with a supplementary planning document is not justified.  MM19 would address this and subject to such Policy DM21 is sound. 
	100. Policy DM21 aims to ensure new development provides appropriate landscaping to contribute towards enhancing the borough’s green and blue infrastructure network where practicable.  However, for reasons already given requiring development to accord with a supplementary planning document is not justified.  MM19 would address this and subject to such Policy DM21 is sound. 

	101. Criteria for development involving shopfronts and advertisements are set out in Policies DM22 and DM24 respectively.  However, the display of advertisements is regulated by The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) with considerations of such confined to issues of amenity and public safety.  MMs are therefore needed to fully recognise the advertisement consent regime in both these policies and their justifications to ensure Policies DM22 and DM24 
	101. Criteria for development involving shopfronts and advertisements are set out in Policies DM22 and DM24 respectively.  However, the display of advertisements is regulated by The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) with considerations of such confined to issues of amenity and public safety.  MMs are therefore needed to fully recognise the advertisement consent regime in both these policies and their justifications to ensure Policies DM22 and DM24 


	102. Policy DM25 requires new appropriate development to deliver or make contributions to public art projects.  However, flexibility through the addition of a viability and feasibility clause is needed to ensure that such does not prejudice the delivery of development.  MM22 would address this in the interests of effectiveness. 
	102. Policy DM25 requires new appropriate development to deliver or make contributions to public art projects.  However, flexibility through the addition of a viability and feasibility clause is needed to ensure that such does not prejudice the delivery of development.  MM22 would address this in the interests of effectiveness. 
	102. Policy DM25 requires new appropriate development to deliver or make contributions to public art projects.  However, flexibility through the addition of a viability and feasibility clause is needed to ensure that such does not prejudice the delivery of development.  MM22 would address this in the interests of effectiveness. 

	103. Policies DM27, DM29 and DM30 set out requirements for proposals which affect Conservation Areas, Stanley Park a grade II registered historic park and garden and archaeology respectively.  However, MMs are needed to ensure the detailed wording of Policies DM27 and DM30 reflect national policy and legislation with regard to heritage assets and that Policies DM27 and DM29 note their geographical application on the policies map.  MM23, MM24 and MM25 would overcome these issues and are necessary to ensure l
	103. Policies DM27, DM29 and DM30 set out requirements for proposals which affect Conservation Areas, Stanley Park a grade II registered historic park and garden and archaeology respectively.  However, MMs are needed to ensure the detailed wording of Policies DM27 and DM30 reflect national policy and legislation with regard to heritage assets and that Policies DM27 and DM29 note their geographical application on the policies map.  MM23, MM24 and MM25 would overcome these issues and are necessary to ensure l


	Environment 
	104. Much of Blackpool is served by combined sewerage systems of some age.  This means sewerage infrastructure regularly reaches capacity, leaving water unable to drain and other problems such as drainage into the sea affecting bathing water quality among other things.  Policy DM31 justifiably seeks to ensure new development is designed following the surface water drainage hierarchy.  However, the maximum surface water run-off rates specified in the justification text are development requirements which shou
	104. Much of Blackpool is served by combined sewerage systems of some age.  This means sewerage infrastructure regularly reaches capacity, leaving water unable to drain and other problems such as drainage into the sea affecting bathing water quality among other things.  Policy DM31 justifiably seeks to ensure new development is designed following the surface water drainage hierarchy.  However, the maximum surface water run-off rates specified in the justification text are development requirements which shou
	104. Much of Blackpool is served by combined sewerage systems of some age.  This means sewerage infrastructure regularly reaches capacity, leaving water unable to drain and other problems such as drainage into the sea affecting bathing water quality among other things.  Policy DM31 justifiably seeks to ensure new development is designed following the surface water drainage hierarchy.  However, the maximum surface water run-off rates specified in the justification text are development requirements which shou

	105. Policy DM32 identifies the borough as an area of search for small scale wind turbines (up to 20 metres tall) subject to a number of criteria which is justified by the evidence (EB030 and EB031) and consistent with the approach in the CS.  However, criteria d and g only require developers to assess impact on heritage assets and air traffic safety and radar.  Instead, for effectiveness, these criteria should also require mitigation if any harmful impacts are identified following assessment.  MM27 would a
	105. Policy DM32 identifies the borough as an area of search for small scale wind turbines (up to 20 metres tall) subject to a number of criteria which is justified by the evidence (EB030 and EB031) and consistent with the approach in the CS.  However, criteria d and g only require developers to assess impact on heritage assets and air traffic safety and radar.  Instead, for effectiveness, these criteria should also require mitigation if any harmful impacts are identified following assessment.  MM27 would a

	106. Policy DM33 seeks to protect Blackpool’s coast and foreshore from harm.  However, MM28 is necessary to reference the associated geographic application on the policies map as well as to clarify the relationship with the Marine Plan in the justification text, in the interests of legal compliance and effectiveness. 
	106. Policy DM33 seeks to protect Blackpool’s coast and foreshore from harm.  However, MM28 is necessary to reference the associated geographic application on the policies map as well as to clarify the relationship with the Marine Plan in the justification text, in the interests of legal compliance and effectiveness. 


	107. Policy DM35 aims to ensure development proposals appropriately assess and mitigate any biodiversity impacts.  However, the Policy should make reference to best and most versatile agricultural land and biodiversity net gain both to ensure consistency with national policy and legislation and effectiveness (MM29). 
	107. Policy DM35 aims to ensure development proposals appropriately assess and mitigate any biodiversity impacts.  However, the Policy should make reference to best and most versatile agricultural land and biodiversity net gain both to ensure consistency with national policy and legislation and effectiveness (MM29). 
	107. Policy DM35 aims to ensure development proposals appropriately assess and mitigate any biodiversity impacts.  However, the Policy should make reference to best and most versatile agricultural land and biodiversity net gain both to ensure consistency with national policy and legislation and effectiveness (MM29). 

	108. The Council’s approach to controlling pollution and contamination is set out in Policy DM36.  However, the policy should make reference to and clarify the extent of the existing Blackpool Air Quality Management Area in the interests of effectiveness.  It should also make reference to biodiversity impacts off site and make clear that impacts must not be to unacceptable levels after mitigation.  MM30 and MM47 would address these issues for effectiveness.   
	108. The Council’s approach to controlling pollution and contamination is set out in Policy DM36.  However, the policy should make reference to and clarify the extent of the existing Blackpool Air Quality Management Area in the interests of effectiveness.  It should also make reference to biodiversity impacts off site and make clear that impacts must not be to unacceptable levels after mitigation.  MM30 and MM47 would address these issues for effectiveness.   

	109. Policy DM37 seeks to guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services where loss would reduce the ability to meet community day to day needs subject to specific criteria.  This is consistent with paragraph 93 of the NPPF.  However, criterion b requires proposals for redevelopment to non-community facilities to be supported by a demonstration that there is no longer a need for such without explaining the type and detail of the evidence the Council will require.  MM31 would address th
	109. Policy DM37 seeks to guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services where loss would reduce the ability to meet community day to day needs subject to specific criteria.  This is consistent with paragraph 93 of the NPPF.  However, criterion b requires proposals for redevelopment to non-community facilities to be supported by a demonstration that there is no longer a need for such without explaining the type and detail of the evidence the Council will require.  MM31 would address th

	110. Policy DM38 applies to proposals which would result in the loss of allotments or community gardens.  However, both are identified on the policies map which should be referenced in the policy in the interests of effectiveness (MM32).  
	110. Policy DM38 applies to proposals which would result in the loss of allotments or community gardens.  However, both are identified on the policies map which should be referenced in the policy in the interests of effectiveness (MM32).  


	Transport 
	111. Transport requirements for new development are set out in Policy DM41. However, there may be circumstances where new development cannot meet all specific requirements.  For example due to site-specific constraints.  In which case some flexibility will be required on a case-by-case basis so as to ensure the policy does not prejudice the delivery of development in the interests of effectiveness (MM33). 
	111. Transport requirements for new development are set out in Policy DM41. However, there may be circumstances where new development cannot meet all specific requirements.  For example due to site-specific constraints.  In which case some flexibility will be required on a case-by-case basis so as to ensure the policy does not prejudice the delivery of development in the interests of effectiveness (MM33). 
	111. Transport requirements for new development are set out in Policy DM41. However, there may be circumstances where new development cannot meet all specific requirements.  For example due to site-specific constraints.  In which case some flexibility will be required on a case-by-case basis so as to ensure the policy does not prejudice the delivery of development in the interests of effectiveness (MM33). 

	112. Policy DM42 makes clear proposals within the aerodrome safeguarding area will be subject to consultation with the Ministry of Defence.  However, it is ineffective as it does not specify that 
	112. Policy DM42 makes clear proposals within the aerodrome safeguarding area will be subject to consultation with the Ministry of Defence.  However, it is ineffective as it does not specify that 


	account should be taken of such consultation and that there should be no adverse impact on safety or interference with communication systems.  MM34 would address this by adding further detail to the justification text and policy.      
	account should be taken of such consultation and that there should be no adverse impact on safety or interference with communication systems.  MM34 would address this by adding further detail to the justification text and policy.      
	account should be taken of such consultation and that there should be no adverse impact on safety or interference with communication systems.  MM34 would address this by adding further detail to the justification text and policy.      


	Conclusion 
	113. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the SADMP sets out positively prepared development management policies which are consistent with the CS, justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 
	113. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the SADMP sets out positively prepared development management policies which are consistent with the CS, justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 
	113. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the SADMP sets out positively prepared development management policies which are consistent with the CS, justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 


	Issue 4 - Is the SADMP based on a robust assessment of required supporting infrastructure, does it set out effective mechanisms for monitoring and implementation and is it viable? 
	 
	Infrastructure 
	114. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update (2020) and the 2022 update (SD008 and EL4.003) set out a range of projects which can reasonably be expected to be delivered when envisaged to support the delivery of the development proposed in the SADMP.  The delivery of infrastructure projects will be closely monitored over the plan period through the arrangements which govern the BAEZ and the Council’s overall approach to monitoring the delivery of its Local Plan.  Overall, the Council’s approach makes suffici
	114. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update (2020) and the 2022 update (SD008 and EL4.003) set out a range of projects which can reasonably be expected to be delivered when envisaged to support the delivery of the development proposed in the SADMP.  The delivery of infrastructure projects will be closely monitored over the plan period through the arrangements which govern the BAEZ and the Council’s overall approach to monitoring the delivery of its Local Plan.  Overall, the Council’s approach makes suffici
	114. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update (2020) and the 2022 update (SD008 and EL4.003) set out a range of projects which can reasonably be expected to be delivered when envisaged to support the delivery of the development proposed in the SADMP.  The delivery of infrastructure projects will be closely monitored over the plan period through the arrangements which govern the BAEZ and the Council’s overall approach to monitoring the delivery of its Local Plan.  Overall, the Council’s approach makes suffici


	Monitoring 
	115. In accordance with paragraph 33 of the NPPF, the Monitoring and Implementation section of the Local Plan sets out clear performance indicators against which the effectiveness of the policies will be monitored.  It also clearly explains the need to keep the SADMP under review and what actions will be taken if policies are not being implemented as expected.  Reasonable targets and trigger points for action are specified where practicable.  The actions identified if policies are not being implemented as e
	115. In accordance with paragraph 33 of the NPPF, the Monitoring and Implementation section of the Local Plan sets out clear performance indicators against which the effectiveness of the policies will be monitored.  It also clearly explains the need to keep the SADMP under review and what actions will be taken if policies are not being implemented as expected.  Reasonable targets and trigger points for action are specified where practicable.  The actions identified if policies are not being implemented as e
	115. In accordance with paragraph 33 of the NPPF, the Monitoring and Implementation section of the Local Plan sets out clear performance indicators against which the effectiveness of the policies will be monitored.  It also clearly explains the need to keep the SADMP under review and what actions will be taken if policies are not being implemented as expected.  Reasonable targets and trigger points for action are specified where practicable.  The actions identified if policies are not being implemented as e


	Viability 
	116. The Local Plan Viability Assessment (2020) (EB002) assesses a range of appropriate housing sites and development scenarios which are reflective of the sites included in the SADMP.  It shows a mixed picture, particularly that residential development is generally viable in the urban edge, but less so in the urban inner core with variation between brownfield and greenfield sites in the urban edge. It also demonstrates through sensitivity analysis that modest changes to value and / or cost will result in s
	116. The Local Plan Viability Assessment (2020) (EB002) assesses a range of appropriate housing sites and development scenarios which are reflective of the sites included in the SADMP.  It shows a mixed picture, particularly that residential development is generally viable in the urban edge, but less so in the urban inner core with variation between brownfield and greenfield sites in the urban edge. It also demonstrates through sensitivity analysis that modest changes to value and / or cost will result in s
	116. The Local Plan Viability Assessment (2020) (EB002) assesses a range of appropriate housing sites and development scenarios which are reflective of the sites included in the SADMP.  It shows a mixed picture, particularly that residential development is generally viable in the urban edge, but less so in the urban inner core with variation between brownfield and greenfield sites in the urban edge. It also demonstrates through sensitivity analysis that modest changes to value and / or cost will result in s

	117. The findings also identify that commercial development in the borough also has viability challenges.  However, the unique circumstances of the BAEZ with incentives for businesses such as rate relief and enhanced Capital Allowance will assist viability.  The Council is also committed to seeking public sector funding to enhance the viability of sites over the plan period.  On this basis, subject to flexibility on site-specific requirements where necessary and proactivity in seeking public sector funds, I
	117. The findings also identify that commercial development in the borough also has viability challenges.  However, the unique circumstances of the BAEZ with incentives for businesses such as rate relief and enhanced Capital Allowance will assist viability.  The Council is also committed to seeking public sector funding to enhance the viability of sites over the plan period.  On this basis, subject to flexibility on site-specific requirements where necessary and proactivity in seeking public sector funds, I

	118. Overall, the SADMP’s policies, incorporating the MMs discussed above are sufficiently flexible in that they will allow requirements to be relaxed if they are shown to be undermining the delivery of development in the borough.  The Council’s viability assessment robustly demonstrates based on reasonable and available information that the cumulative impact of the policies in the SADMP will not compromise development viability.    
	118. Overall, the SADMP’s policies, incorporating the MMs discussed above are sufficiently flexible in that they will allow requirements to be relaxed if they are shown to be undermining the delivery of development in the borough.  The Council’s viability assessment robustly demonstrates based on reasonable and available information that the cumulative impact of the policies in the SADMP will not compromise development viability.    


	Conclusion 
	119. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the Plan is based on a robust assessment of required supporting infrastructure, it sets out effective mechanisms for monitoring and implementation and is viable. 
	119. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the Plan is based on a robust assessment of required supporting infrastructure, it sets out effective mechanisms for monitoring and implementation and is viable. 
	119. In conclusion, subject to the aforementioned modifications, the Plan is based on a robust assessment of required supporting infrastructure, it sets out effective mechanisms for monitoring and implementation and is viable. 


	Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 
	120. The SADMP has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness and legal compliance for the reasons set out above, which mean that I recommend non-adoption of it as submitted, in accordance 
	120. The SADMP has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness and legal compliance for the reasons set out above, which mean that I recommend non-adoption of it as submitted, in accordance 
	120. The SADMP has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness and legal compliance for the reasons set out above, which mean that I recommend non-adoption of it as submitted, in accordance 


	with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.  These deficiencies have been explained in the main issues set out above. 
	with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.  These deficiencies have been explained in the main issues set out above. 
	with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.  These deficiencies have been explained in the main issues set out above. 

	121. The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the SADMP sound and/or legally compliant and capable of adoption.  I conclude that the duty to cooperate has been met and that with the recommended MMs set out in the Appendix, the SADMP satisfies the requirements referred to in Section 20(5)(a) of the 2004 Act and is sound. 
	121. The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the SADMP sound and/or legally compliant and capable of adoption.  I conclude that the duty to cooperate has been met and that with the recommended MMs set out in the Appendix, the SADMP satisfies the requirements referred to in Section 20(5)(a) of the 2004 Act and is sound. 


	 
	L Fleming 
	Inspector 
	 
	This report is accompanied by an Appendix containing the Main Modifications. 



	Appendix 2b - Additional (Minor) Modifications
	Appendix 2c(i) - Blackpool Local Plan Part 2
	Appendix 2c(ii) - Local Plan Policies Map 2012-27 - Blackpool Borough
	Appendix 2c(ii) - Local Plan Policies Map 2012-27 - Town Centre Inset

	3 COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2023/2024
	Appendix 3a Council Tax and Business Rates Discretionary Discount Policy
	Appendix 3b Blackpool Equality Analysis 2023-24
	Appendix 3c Blackpool S13a Scheme 202324 DRAFT
	Structure Bookmarks


	4 COMMUNITY FLOOD RESILIENCE POLICY 2023-2025
	Appendix 4a - Draft Community Flood Resilience Policy 2022
	Appendix 4b -Section 19 Report (Investigation into flooding on 22nd November 2017)
	Appendix 4c – Flood Hub example (Property Flood Resilience (PFR) Booklet, September 2021)
	Appendix 4d - Equality Analysis Record Form

	5 DEPARTMENT FOR EDUCATION SAFETY VALVE PROGRAMME
	6 SHARED PROSPERITY FUND
	Appendix 6a SPF Projects
	Appendix 6b SPF Sustainability Appraisals
	Appendix 6c Shared Prosperity Fund




Accessibility Report



		Filename: 

		Blackpool S13a Scheme 202324 DRAFT.pdf






		Report created by: 

		ACS (c), ACS Consultancy , admin@acssupport.co.uk


		Organization: 

		ACS (c) 2022





 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.



		Needs manual check: 0


		Passed manually: 2


		Failed manually: 0


		Skipped: 0


		Passed: 30


		Failed: 0





Detailed Report



		Document




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set


		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF


		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF


		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order


		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified


		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar


		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents


		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast


		Page Content




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged


		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged


		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order


		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided


		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged


		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker


		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts


		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses


		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive


		Forms




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged


		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description


		Alternate Text




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text


		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read


		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content


		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation


		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text


		Tables




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot


		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR


		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers


		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column


		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary


		Lists




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L


		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI


		Headings




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting







Back to Top


